
 
 
 
 

AGENDA  
 
 
Meeting: Cabinet 

Place: Council Chamber - County Hall, Trowbridge BA14 8JN 

Date: Tuesday 16 December 2014 

Time: 10.30 am 

 

 
Membership: 
 
Cllr Jane Scott OBE Leader of the Council 

Cllr John Thomson Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Highways and 
Streetscene and Broadband 

Cllr Fleur de Rhé-Philipe Cabinet Member for Economic Development, Skills and 
Strategic Transport 

Cllr Keith Humphries Cabinet Member for Public Health, Protection Services, 
Adult Care and Housing (exc strategic housing) 

Cllr Laura Mayes Cabinet Member for Children’s Services 

Cllr Jonathon Seed Cabinet Member for Communities, Campuses, Area Boards, 
Leisure, Libraries and Flooding 

Cllr Toby Sturgis Cabinet Member for Strategic Planning, Development 
Management, Strategic Housing, Property, Waste 

Cllr Dick Tonge Cabinet Member for Finance, Performance, Risk, 
Procurement and Welfare Reform 

Cllr Stuart Wheeler Cabinet Member for Hubs, Heritage & Arts, Governance 
(including information management), Support Services (HR, 
Legal, ICT, Business Services, Democratic Services) 

 

 
Please direct any enquiries on this Agenda to Yamina Rhouati, of Democratic and 
Members’ Services, County Hall, Trowbridge, direct line 01225 718024 or email 
yamina.rhouati@wiltshire.gov.uk 
 
Press enquiries to Communications on direct lines (01225)713114/713115. 
 
All public reports referred to on this agenda are available on the Council’s website at 
www.wiltshire.gov.uk  
 



 Part I 

Items to be considered while the meeting is open to the public 
 
Key Decisions   Matters defined as 'Key' Decisions and included in the Council’s Forward Work 

Plan are shown as  

 
 

1   Apologies  

2   Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 1 - 14) 

 To confirm and sign the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 11 November 
2014. 

3   Declarations of Interest  

 To receive any declarations of disclosable interests or dispensations granted by 
the Standards Committee. 

4   Minutes - Capital Assets Committee (Pages 15 - 18) 

 To receive and note the minutes of the Capital Assets Committee held on 11 
November 2014. 

5   Leader's announcements  

6   Public participation and Questions from Councillors  

 The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public. This meeting is open to 
the public, who may ask a question or make a statement. Questions may also be asked by 
members of the Council.  Written notice of questions or statements should be given to 
Yamina Rhouati of Democratic Services by 12.00 noon on 10 December 2014. Anyone 
wishing to ask a question or make a statement should contact the officer named above. 

 

7   Adoption of Wiltshire Core Strategy (Pages 19 - 556) 

 Report by Dr Carlton Brand, Corporate Director 
 

8   Swindon and Wiltshire Local Enterprise Partnership Governance (Pages 
557 - 582) 

 Report by Dr Carlton Brand, Corporate Director. 

9   Wiltshire Local Flood Risk Management Strategy (Pages 583 - 638) 

 Report by Dr Carlton Brand, Corporate Director. 
 

10   Flood Operational Response Plan (Pages 639 - 666) 

 Report by Maggie Rae, Corporate Director.  



 
 

11   Adult Social Care  

 11(a)   CQC Inspection at Bradbury House and Shared Lives (Adult 
Placement) Service (Pages 667 - 696) 

 Report by Maggie Rae, Corporate Director.  
 

 11(b)   Independent Living Fund (Pages 697 - 708) 

   Report by Maggie Rae, Corporate Director.  
 

12   Council Tax Base 2015/16 (Pages 709 - 718) 

   Report by Carolyn Godfrey, Corporate Director.  
 

13   Budget Monitoring  

 13(a)   Revenue Budget Monitoring (Pages 719 - 744) 

 Report by Carolyn Godfrey, Corporate Director. 

 13(b)   Capital Budget Monitoring (Pages 745 - 758) 

 Report by Carolyn Godfrey, Corporate Director. 

14   Urgent Items  

 Any other items of business, which the Leader agrees to consider as a matter of 
urgency. 

 Part II 

Items during consideration of which it is recommended that the public 
should be excluded because of the likelihood that exempt 

information would be disclosed 
 

None 
 
 
 

 

 The items on this agenda reflect the key goals of Wiltshire Council, namely 'Work together to 
support Wiltshire's Communities', 'Deliver high quality, low cost, customer focused services and 

'Ensure local, open, honest decision making'. 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CABINET 
 

 
MINUTES of a MEETING held in KENNET ROOM - COUNTY HALL, TROWBRIDGE 
BA14 8JN on Tuesday, 11 November 2014. 
 
Cllr Keith Humphries Cabinet Member for Public Health, Protection Services, Adult 

Care and Housing (exc strategic housing) 
Cllr Laura Mayes Cabinet Member for Children’s Services 
Cllr Fleur de Rhé-Philipe Cabinet Member for Economic Development, Skills and 

Strategic Transport 
Cllr Jonathon Seed Cabinet Member for Communities, Campuses, Area Boards, 

Leisure, Libraries and Flooding 
Cllr Toby Sturgis Cabinet Member for Strategic Planning, Development 

Management, Strategic Housing, Property, Waste 
Cllr John Thomson Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Highways and 

Streetscene and Broadband 
Cllr Dick Tonge Cabinet Member for Finance, Performance, Risk, Procurement 

and Welfare Reform 
Cllr Stuart Wheeler Cabinet Member for Hubs, Heritage & Arts, Governance 

(including information management), Support Services (HR, 
Legal, ICT, Business Services, Democratic Services) 

 
 
Also in Attendance: Cllr Richard Britton, Cllr Chris Caswill, Cllr Christine Crisp 

Cllr Peter Evans, Cllr Richard Gamble, Cllr Alan Hill 
Cllr Jon Hubbard, Cllr David Jenkins, Cllr Simon Killane 
Cllr Linda Packard, Cllr Horace Prickett, Cllr Anthony Trotman 
Cllr Fred Westmoreland, Cllr Philip Whitehead and 
Cllr Jerry Wickham 
 

 
Key Decisions   Matters defined as 'Key' Decisions and included in the Council’s Forward 

Work Plan are shown as  

 
 
 

107 Apologies 
 
An apology for absence was received from the Leader, Councillor Jane Scott, 
OBE. 
 

Councillor John Thomson, Deputy Leader in the Chair 
 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

108 Minutes of the previous meeting 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 7 October 2014 were presented. 
 
Resolved: 
 
To approve as a correct record and sign the minutes of the meeting held 
on 7 October 2014. 
 

109 Declarations of Interest 
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

110 Deputy Leader's announcements 
 
The Deputy Leader made the following announcements: 
 
Order of agenda 
 
In view of the number of people in attendance for item 11 – Delivery of the 
Campus Programme (minute no. 113 refers), the Deputy Leader announced 
that he would be bringing the item forward to be taken after the item on 
specialist dementia hospital care. 
 
2 minute Silence – Armistice Day 
 
The Deputy Leader invited those in attendance to observe the 2 minute silence 
at 11am. 
 
 

111 Public participation and Questions from Councillors 
 
The Deputy Leader reminded those present that he would as usual, be happy 
for them to express their views on any items on the agenda by indicating they 
wished to speak. 
 
He reported receipt of questions as follows: 
 
In respect of the item on the Delivery of the Campus Programme (minute no. 
113 refers) from Councillors Mark Connolly and David Jenkins and members of 
the public Mr Jonathon Brown (presented by Mr Jim Lynch),  
 
from member of the public Mr Clive Owen in respect of Corsham railway station 
which was not on the agenda.  
 
A copy of the questions and responses provided by the relevant Cabinet 
member are attached to the signed copy of the minutes and available online 
with these minutes.  

Page 2



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
112 Specialist dementia hospital care 

 
Councillor Keith Humphries presented a report which updated Cabinet on the 
Wiltshire vision for specialist dementia hospital care. He explained that the 
Council had been working hard to raise awareness of dementia. He referred to 
Cabinet’s previous consideration of the subject in the development of the 
Dementia Strategy. Work had taken place with town and parish councils to 
introduce dementia friendly towns and parishes. The Council had also worked 
to include dementia into the Safe Places initiative.  
 
Although specialist dementia hospital care was commissioned by Wiltshire 
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), it was acknowledged that it was only one 
part of the dementia pathway, as outlined in the Wiltshire Dementia Strategy. 
The Strategy was jointly owned by Wiltshire Council and Wiltshire CCG as 
commissioning organisations. Furthermore, it was the role of Wiltshire Council 
to act as a community leader in consultation processes that affected its local 
communities and population. For these reasons, Wiltshire Council was acting as 
a partner with Wiltshire CCG, supporting them through their public consultation, 
pending approval from Cabinet. 
 
Cabinet was therefore asked for its approval to proceed to formal consultation 
on the future of specialist dementia hospital care in Wiltshire. 
 
Councillor Humphries invited Dr Celia Grummitt – GP Dementia Lead and Dr 
Ted Wilson – Community and Long-term Lead from the CCG to address 
Cabinet on the CCG’s proposals.  
 
They outlined the proposals contained in the Specialist Dementia Hospital Care 
consultation document, details of which were presented.   
 
The Dementia Strategy concentrated efforts to provide support for dementia 
patients and their carers mainly in their own homes. The proposals now before 
Cabinet were in relation to patients who required more specialist support and 
admission to a specialist dementia hospital during a severe phase of their 
illness to ensure they were kept safe and well. The consultation document also 
sought views on the future permanent location of 
specialist dementia hospital care in Wiltshire, with support from the Council.  
 
Three options for the future provision of countywide specialist dementia hospital 
care in Wiltshire had been developed and included in the consultation document 
as follows:   
 
Option 1: Undertake renovation/improvement work to Charter 
House, Trowbridge and move all specialist dementia hospital care 
from Amblescroft South, Salisbury to Trowbridge;  
 
Option 2: Undertake renovation/improvement work to Avebury ward 

Page 3



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

at Green Lane Hospital in Devizes and move all specialist dementia 
hospital care from Amblescroft South, Salisbury to Devizes or 
 
Option 3: Formalise the existing provision and location of services 
at Amblescroft South, at Fountain Way in Salisbury. 
Maggie Rae, Corporate Director emphasised that this was about the care 
pathway and the right outcomes for people with advanced dementia. This was 
aimed at the smaller group who needed extra specialist care to improve their 
physical as well as mental health and return them back to their communities.   
 
Councillor Christine Crisp, chairman of the Health Select Committee confirmed 
that her Committee would be happy to participate in the consultation process. It 
was noted that the Committee had provided a valuable contribution to this area 
of work.  
 
Councillor Humphries thanked all those present for their views and contributions 
and it was; 
 
Resolved: 
 
That Cabinet notes the recommendations and gives approval to proceed 
to formal consultation on the options developed for the future provision of 
specialist dementia hospital care in Wiltshire. 
 
Reason for decision: 
 
To ensure that people with dementia have access, when required, to specialist 
dementia hospital care that is fit for purpose and conforms to best practice 
standards. 
 

113 Delivery of the Campus Programme - Position Statement 
 
Public Participation 
 
Questions were received from Councillors Mark Connolly in respect of campus 
proposals for Tidworth and David Jenkins  in respect of campus proposals for 
Westbury and member of the public Mr Jonathon Brown (presented by Mr Jim 
Lynch) in respect of campus proposals for Bradford on Avon.  
 
A copy of the questions and responses provided by Councillor Seed are 
attached to the signed copy of the minutes and available online with these 
minutes. Supplementary questions were also raised by Councillor Jenkins and 
Mr Lynch to which Councillor Seed replied.  
 
 

   Councillor Jonathan Seed presented a report which updated Cabinet and 
provided a position statement on the delivery of the Council’s community 

Page 4



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

campus programme. It was noted that the campus programme is one of the first 
of its kind in the country. 
 
The campus programme is intrinsic to delivering the council’s vision to create 
stronger and more resilient communities and to provide more accessible 
services that reflect local needs. The report outlined the progress made in each 
of the seven approved campuses - Calne, Corsham, Cricklade, Melksham, 
Pewsey, Salisbury and Tisbury. It also provided cabinet with the current position 
and an indicative timeline for the completion of these campuses.  
 
Cabinet approval was sought for the provision of a community campus in 
Malmesbury. Initial plans were likely to include a multi-purpose community 
space tailored to local needs, a kitchen area, improved office space and hot 
desk and office facilities, located in Cotswold House. It was anticipated that all 
the approved campuses would be delivered by the end of 2017. 
 
In other community areas, it was suggested that the delivery of a campus be 
reviewed and aligned to other key factors including future development, 
economic development schemes, army basing and community needs and, 
where appropriate a community hub model could be implemented. It was 
therefore anticipated that some communities might bring forward smaller scale 
community hub proposals, approved by their area board, for consideration by 
cabinet on a case by case basis. 
 
Those present acknowledged that the campus programme was an extremely 
positive and ambitious one especially when set against the financial challenges 
faced by this council and the public sector generally. Councillor Jon Hubbard 
expressed some concern that the campus programme might be slipping from 
the original programme to provide a campus for every community area. He was 
also concerned that communities and COBs were working extremely hard on 
proposals which he feared might not come to fruition.  
 
Councillor Seed emphasised that even in the present economic climate, the 
campus programme was always projected as a 15 year programme.  The 
council had already approved more than £74 million out of a £120 million 
budget estimate for the programme.  
 
It was noted that the current estimated forecasts for the build costs for the 
seven campuses would be £76.857 million; this included the proposals for 
Malmesbury presented to this meeting for approval.  
 
It was noted that whilst this funding did not cover the cost for any further 
campuses at this stage, a community could bring forward proposals for a 
campus development or the creation of a community hub for cabinet to consider 
on a case by case basis. The council would also continue to support local 
communities and would be appointing community engagement roles to work 
with the local area boards and COBs to identify and maximise opportunities to 
strengthen the local communities.  

Page 5



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
Following questions being raised on the second phase of the campus 
programme, Councillor Seed emphasised that COBs could continue to bring 
proposals forward which would be assessed and be progressed at a pace  that 
communities, partners and the council could develop. Issues such as viability, 
community need, cost and current service provision would be taken into 
account.  
 
Councillor Linda Packard, Chairman of Chippenham Area Board conveyed the 
views of the area board from its meeting held on 10 November. The members 
requested to be appraised at the earliest opportunity of the implications for the 
Chippenham Campus proposal of being re-designated as part of a 
development/regeneration programme. They wanted to know exactly what this 
meant. The members also wanted to know how and when a budget requirement 
would be determined, where future funding would come from and the time scale 
within which commencement/completion of a campus for Chippenham was 
envisaged. 
 
On being asked, Councillor Fleur de Rhé-Philipe explained that it would be 
sensible to integrate development proposals for Chippenham either economic 
regeneration or campus with regard to the Chippenham masterplan. It was 
noted that arrangements were in hand for senior officers to meet with Councillor 
Packard to assist in resolving the area board’s concerns.  
 
On further questioning about how the campus programme would be developed, 
Councillor Seed emphasised that COBs could still bring forward proposals 
which could be considered with a view to commissioning feasibility studies. He 
explained that in some areas, proposals had not come forward.  
 
Maggie Rae, Corporate Director explained the purpose of the report presented 
was to provide an update on where we were and provide a realistic expectation 
of the second phase of the programme. She noted that further resources would 
be required and this would be addressed as part of the budget setting process.  
 
In the ensuing discussion, Councillor Seed responded to points raised by 
members and COB representatives.   
 
Resolved: 
 

1. Cabinet notes the progress made in each of the seven approved 
campuses - Calne, Corsham, Cricklade, Melksham, Pewsey, 
Salisbury and Tisbury - and notes the indicative timeline for the 
completion of these campuses.  
 

2. Cabinet approve the delivery of the first phase of a community 
campus in Malmesbury. 
 

Page 6



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

3. That Cabinet notes the update regarding the other community areas 
and the situation regarding future campus development and, where 
appropriate, community hubs. 
 

4. That Cabinet notes the initial learning to deliver a successful 
campus and approve the proposed way forward for developing the 
role and responsibilities of the community operations boards 
(COBs) and the provision of the appropriate community 
engagement support. 
 

5. That Cabinet notes that work to progress future governance models 
for fully operational campuses is underway and proposed options 
will be tabled at a future meeting for consideration. 

 
Reason for decision: 
 
To update cabinet and provide a position statement on the delivery of the 
council’s community campus programme. 
 

114 Personalisation Policy 
 

   Councillor Keith Humphries presented a report which sought to update 
Cabinet on the outcome of the consultation period and sought agreement of the 
personalisation policy and two related policies on Charging and Eligibility. 
 
He explained that this was one of a series of reports to come before Cabinet as 
we implement the provisions of the Care Act. Personalisation meant that every 
person receiving support, whether through Wiltshire Council or funded by 
themselves, has choice and control over the shape of that support.  
 
Personal budgets were a central part of the personalisation agenda to give 
service users choice and control over their care and support. Personal budgets 
could be defined as an allocation of funding given to users after an assessment 
which should be sufficient to meet their assessed needs. The Care Act would 
make personal budgets a mandatory part of all care plans, 
meaning they would apply to all council-funded users - including those in 
residential care from April 2015. Councillor Humphries explained the process 
which included an assessment of an individual’s need, agreeing a support plan 
for them which forms the basis of a personal budget to be used for council 
commissioned service or managed by the individual themselves.  
 
Details of the feedback from the consultation were included in the report 
presented. It was noted that from the relatively few responses received, there 
was strong support with the principles being proposed. Workshops had also 
been held where further clarity was sought on some areas.  Councillor 
Humphries responded to points raised by members. 
 
 

Page 7



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

Resolved: 
 
That Cabinet: 
 

1. agree to the personalisation policy setting out how the value of a 
personal budget will be calculated; 
 

2. agree to the Charging and Eligibility policies, granting the Cabinet 
member for Public Health, Protection Services, 
Adult Care and Housing permission to update with changes 
required for the Care Act 2014, due in April 2015 and 
 

3. agree for the Cabinet member for Public Health, Protection 
Services, Adult Care and Housing to agree variations required 
following Care Act implementation, if no major policy or financial 
implications. 

 
Reason for decision: 
 
The Care Act requires all Councils to offer people a personal budget. The 
Council needs a policy to enable personal budgets to be offered when the Care 
Act come into force in April 2015.  Charging and Eligibility polices need to be 
updated 
 

115 Wiltshire Education, Employment & Skills Strategy 
 
Councillor Fleur de Rhé-Philipe presented a report which updated Cabinet on 
the development and implementation planning of a new integrated Education, 
Employment & Skills Strategy for Wiltshire which had been developed on a 
multi-agency, cross-Council and inclusive partnership basis led by the Wiltshire 
Education, Employment & Skills Board.  It would help drive business 
development and economic growth and aimed to support development of a 
skilled and competitive workforce to meet the needs of employers both now and 
in the future. The range of support being provided through the Strategy was 
detailed to Cabinet.  
 
The Strategy would also support the development of an inclusive economy 
enabling the benefits of increasing economic prosperity to be maximised by 
Wiltshire’s communities and individuals.  
 
She congratulated those involved in producing such an extensive piece of work 
which built on the progress already made by the Council in this area. The 
Council was recognised as a leading authority in this area with innovative pilots 
informing and influencing national and European policies and having attracted 
significant amounts of external funding.  The Council had received national 
regional exemplar status for several of its programmes and outstripping national 
performance. The Council had received an award from Department for Works 

Page 8



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

and Pensions for effective partnership between a local authority and 
Government department.  
 
The report of the Education 16-19s Task Group was presented which included a 
number of recommendations for Cabinet’s consideration. Councillor de Rhé-
Philipe confirmed that recommendations h, j and k were particularly helpful and 
would be incorporated into the Strategy.  
 
Councillor Laura Mayes also commended the Strategy, commentating that it 
demonstrated how well the Council worked across its service areas and with its 
partners. She welcomed its focus on the employer, education and ensuring 
young people would have the right skills for the current and future job market.  
 
Councillor Jon Hubbard was very pleased with the report. He also commended 
the work and professionalism of the team involved, particularly the outstanding 
contribution made by Haylea Asadi in supporting the work of the Task Group.  
He guided members through the work and recommendations of the Task 
Group. The Task Group considered that transport was a key issue, particularly 
in rural areas which should be investigated further, perhaps in partnership with 
employers. The Task Group also considered that more could be done in helping 
young people in obtaining qualifications needed, not necessarily through the 
more traditional routes, to secure good employment opportunities. 
 
Councillor de Rhé-Philipe confirmed that the points raised by Councillor 
Hubbard would be looked into. It was noted that the report was scheduled to be 
considered by the Children’s Select Committee on 9 December, although 
Councillor Hubbard suggested it might be more appropriate for the Overview 
and Scrutiny Management Committee which had commissioned the work by the 
Task Group.  
 
Councillors de Rhé-Philipe and Mayes responded to members’ questions. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That Cabinet: 
 
1. note the progress made towards integration of the Education, 

Employment and Skills agenda to date and the strategic direction in 
place and proposed activity to further this; 

 
2. consider the Action Plans contained within the Full Version of the 

Strategy which outline the important role for Wiltshire Council in this 
agenda and directly influence the work programme for relevant 
services of Wiltshire Council and a number of strategic partners. 
Please refer to the Apprenticeship Growth Plan and the Increasing 
Participation & Employment Plan laid out as Appendix 2 and 
Appendix 3 of the Full Version of the Strategy document (Appendix 2 

Page 9



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

starts at page 53 and Appendix 3 starts at page 58). Please see 
Appendix 2 of this report for the Full Strategy document; 

 
3. endorse and champion the Strategy as key to improving the 

Education, Employment and Skills base in Wiltshire, to ensure a 
focus on Education, Employment & Skills priorities across all our 
work and 
 

4. recommend that this Strategy is taken to the Public Service Board for 
consideration/endorsement. 

 
Reason for decision: 
 
Wiltshire needs to position itself so it can respond to the education, employment 
and skills challenges it is facing and the fact that there has never been a busier 
time in relation to key policy developments impacting on this agenda area. The 
Strategy provides the clear strategic direction necessary to support shared 
ownership of this agenda and to build on existing strengths, maximise 
opportunities, affect change and improvement. 
 

116 Wiltshire Child Poverty Strategy 2014-2020 
 
Councillor Keith Humphries introduced a report which briefed members on the 
development of the Wiltshire Reducing Child Poverty Strategy 2014 – 2020. 
The strategy provided the strategic direction for Wiltshire Council and partner 
organisations in reducing the level of children living in poverty in Wiltshire, and 
mitigating the effects of child poverty across Wiltshire. Cabinet was asked to 
approve the Strategy and recommend its adoption to Council.  
 
The Strategy would support a number of public health strategic aims. It was 
noted that public health would be taking on commissioning responsibilities for 
health visiting services for children aged 0-5 in 2015 and would also be taking 
the family nurse partnership supporting teenage parents.  
 
Councillor Laura Mayes welcomed the Strategy. She highlighted the plight of 
those in poverty and the lasting impact it can have on their lives and the lives of 
their families. She urged members to review the local data which would enable 
more targeted and locally focussed support.  
 
Maggie Rae, Corporate Director referred to the collaborative and supportive 
work being undertaken through public health which worked closely with 
Children’s Services. She also offered to assist members with targeted support 
for their respective areas.  
 
Councillor Jon Hubbard explained that Children’s Select Committee had looked 
at how best it could monitor the implementation of this Strategy. He endorsed 
the aspirations of the Strategy and hoped it could be adopted by the Council at 
the earliest opportunity to ensure swift implementation. He stressed that the 

Page 10



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

Council should be doing all it could to help and support affected people in our 
communities. Councillor Mayes agreed with the monitoring of the Strategy to 
quickly identify what was working and what was not and needed to be changed.  
 
Carolyn Godfrey, Corporate Director noted that the Select Committee had 
appropriately made the link with the early intervention strategy. She referred to 
other strategies and initiatives and the involvement of public health which all 
made a positive and combined difference.  
 
Councillor Chris Caswill welcomed the report. He very much agreed with the 
concept of the needs assessment which he considered a very strong evidence 
based tool. He noted areas where the Strategy needed updating and the need 
to emphasise particular key areas and made a number of suggestions to further 
strengthen and refine the Strategy before its submission to Council. Cllr Caswill 
referred to the work of the Child Poverty Forum in Chippenham which he helped 
establish and brought together a number of organisations. He welcomed the 
opportunity to develop locally focussed solutions. In relation to the monitoring of 
the Strategy, he suggested the drawing up of a more simplified action plan with 
specific locally based action plans especially for Chippenham.  
 
Maggie Rae responded to the points raised. She considered that the document 
lent itself to the creation of a local checklist to focus on child poverty to ensure it 
remained focused which would also enable closer monitoring of its 
implementation.  
 
Councillor de Rhé-Philipe referred to the economic development measures to 
provide more good high quality jobs for the County. Councillor Mayes sought 
further information from Councillor Caswill on the Child Poverty Forums as this 
was something  positive that could be progressed by Area Boards in their 
respective areas.  
 
Carolyn Godfrey referred to the attainment gap and the work the Council was 
doing with school governing bodies to close those gaps.  
 
Resolved: 
 
That Cabinet approve the updated strategy and recommend its adoption 
to Council. 
 
Reason for decision: 
 

1. Part 2 of the Child Poverty Act 2010 places duties on local authorities 
and named partners to 'cooperate with a view to reducing and mitigating 
the effects of child poverty in their areas'. They are also required to 
prepare and publish local child poverty needs assessments and to 
develop joint child poverty strategies. 
 

Page 11



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

2. Child poverty features as a priority in key top-level Wiltshire documents. 
It is in the Wiltshire Assembly’s “People, Places and Promises: Wiltshire 
Community Plan 2011-2026” which was adopted in April 2011. It is 
included in Wiltshire Council’s 2013-2017 Business Plan through 
priorities to protect those who are most vulnerable, boost the local 
economy and bring communities together to enable and support them to 
do more for themselves.  In addition, the Wiltshire Children and Young 
People’s Trust (comprised of representatives from key children’s services 
in Wiltshire) specifically states in its vision a commitment to “reduce, 
prevent and mitigate the effects of child poverty” – and this is reflected in 
its Children & Young People’s Plan 2012-2015 and in the various 
commissioning strategies which sit underneath it. 
 

3. Once the Child Poverty Strategy has been approved by Cabinet the 
implementation plan can be signed off and work can begin to mitigate 
and reduce the effects of child poverty in Wiltshire in line with our 
responsibilities as laid out in the Child Poverty Act. 

 
117 Report on Treasury Management Strategy 2014-15 - Second Quarter 

ended 30 September 2014 
 
Councillor Richard Tonge presented a report which provided Cabinet with a 
quarterly report on the Treasury Management Strategy. This report covered the 
second quarter of 2014-15, ended 30 September 2014. 
 
The report reviewed management actions in relation to: 
 
a) the Prudential Indicators and Treasury Management Indicators originally   set 

for the year and the position at the 30 September 2014; 
b) other treasury management actions during the period; and 
c) the approved Annual Investment Strategy. 
 
There had been no further repayments from the Icelandic banks since those 
reported to Cabinet on 21 November 2013. To date the Council had recovered 
approximately £10.2 million of the original £12 million deposited in 2008. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That Cabinet note the contents of the report in line with the Treasury 
Management Strategy. 
 
Reason for decision: 
 
To give members of the Cabinet an opportunity to consider the performance of 
the Council in the period to the end of the quarter against the parameters set 
out in the approved Treasury Management Strategy for 2014-15. 
This report is a requirement of the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy. 
 

Page 12



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

118 Urgent Items 
 
There were no urgent items. 
 
Appendix to signed minutes 

 
Questions and responses 
 

 
(Duration of meeting:  10.30 am - 12.25 pm) 

 
 

 

These decisions were published on the 21 November 2014 and will come into force 
on 1 December 2014 

 
The Officer who has produced these minutes is Yamina Rhouati, of Democratic 
Services, direct line 01225 718024 or e-mail yamina.rhouati@wiltshire.gov.uk   
Press enquiries to Communications, direct line (01225) 713114/713115 
 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14



 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
CABINET CAPITAL ASSETS COMMITTEE 
 

 
DRAFT MINUTES of a MEETING held in KENNET ROOM - COUNTY HALL, 
TROWBRIDGE BA14 8JN on Tuesday, 11 November 2014. 
 
Cllr Fleur de Rhé-Philipe Cabinet Member for Economic Development, Skills and 

Strategic Transport 
Cllr Toby Sturgis Cabinet Member for Strategic Planning, Development 

Management, Strategic Housing, Property, Waste 
Cllr John Thomson Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Highways and 

Streetscene and Broadband 
Cllr Dick Tonge Cabinet Member for Finance, Performance, Risk, Procurement 

and Welfare Reform 

 
Also in Attendance: Cllr Stuart Wheeler 

Cllr Chris Caswill, Wiltshire Council 
Cllr Linda Packard, Wiltshire Council 
Cllr Bill Moss 
 

 
Key Decisions   Matters defined as 'Key' Decisions and included in the Council’s Forward 

Work Plan are shown as  

 
37 Apologies and Substitutions 

 
Apologies were received from Cllr Jane Scott. 
 

38 Minutes of the previous meeting 
 
The minutes of the previous meeting, held on the 16 September 2014, were 
agreed as a correct record for signing. 
 

39 Leader's Announcements 
 
There were no leaders announcements. 
 

40 Declarations of interest 
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

41 Public Participation and Questions from Councillors 
 
It was noted that a statement, circulated as a supplementary paper, had been 
submitted by TDP properties.  
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

42 Chippenham Vision - Bridge Centre & Bath Road Car Park site 
 
As there no members of the public present, it was agreed to consider the matter 
further in Part II of the meeting. 
 

43 Middlefields, Hungerdown Lane, Chippenham 
 
As there no members of the public present, it was agreed to consider the matter 
further in Part II of the meeting. 
 

44 Urgent items 
 
There were no urgent items. 
 

45 Exclusion of the Press and Public 
 
Resolved 
 
To agree that in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972 to exclude the public from the meeting for the following items of 
business because it is likely that if members of the public were present 
there would disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in 
paragraph 3 of Part I of Schedule 12A to the Act and the public interest in 
withholding the information outweighs the public interest in disclosing 
the information to the public. 
 
Reason for taking the item in private: 
 
Paragraph 3 – information relating to the financial information or business 
affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information) 
 
No representations have been received as to why this item should not be held 
in private. 
 

46 Chippenham Vision - Bridge Centre & Bath Road Car Park - Part II 
 
Cllr Toby Sturgis, Cabinet Member for Strategic Planning, Development 
Management, Strategic Housing, Property, Waste, presented the report 
(including information exempt from publication) that asked the Committee to 
consider options for the Bridge Centre & Bath Road Car Park sites. 
 
Resolved 

 
1. To allow the Development Agreement to end on the 18th of 

November without further extension. 
 

2. To authorise officers to work with local partners and the community 
to produce a development brief for the site which will meet the 

Page 16



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

needs of the town in the future as outlined in the Chippenham 
Masterplan. 

 
Reason for decision: 
 
It is now 8 years since the site was allocated and 3 years since the 
development agreement was signed. No planning application on the 
development has been made in that time. The earliest the developer has 
indicated that they could submit a planning application is Spring 2015, once a 
bat survey has been undertaken. 
 
The original brief for the site was produced before the draft Core Strategy, the 
Chippenham Masterplan and the Conservation Area Management Plan and is 
therefore out of alignment with the wider aspirations and plans for the town’s 
development, particularly with regard to the town’s future transport and 
highways requirements. 
 
The opportunity has arisen to reconsider options for the site as the existing 
Development Agreement is due to expire on 18th November 2014 
 

47 Middlefields - Part II 
 
Cllr Toby Sturgis, Cabinet Member for Strategic Planning, Development 
Management, Strategic Housing, Property, Waste, presented the report that 
informed Members of the current position in respect of the proposed sale of 
Middlefields, Hungerdown lane, Chippenham. Officers gave the Committee a 
verbal update on the bids that had been received. 
 
Resolved 
 
To delegate the decision, regarding which bids to accept on the 
Middlefield site, to the Corporate Director in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Strategic Planning, Development Management, Strategic 
Housing, Property, Waste, noting the views of the Committee and the local 
Member in support of care provision on the site. 
 
Reason for decision: 
 
To progress the sale of the site. 
 

48 Central Car Park and The Maltings  (Part II Item) 
 
Cllr Fleur de Rhe-Philipe, Cabinet Member for  Economic Development, Skills 
and Strategic Transport, and Cllr Dick Tonge, Cabinet Member for Finance, 
Performance, Risk, Procurement and Welfare Reform, presented the report 
which: 
 

Page 17



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

Provided a brief update on the ongoing dialogue between the council officers 
and the council’s development partner Stanhope plc and their respective 
advisers over mechanisms to address the issue of ground conditions and 
scheme viability within the parameters of the Development Agreement; and 
 
Advised members of the investment opportunity for the purchase of the Maltings 
Shopping Centre, Salisbury, and to propose that the Council proceeds with the 
purchase of this interest in line with the bid that the Council has submitted 
subject to satisfactory due diligence.  
 
Resolved 
 

1. Note the update; and 
 

2. To delegate authority to the Associate Director, Finance, Revenues 
and Benefits, and Pensions in consultation with the Cabinet 
Members for Economic Development, Skills and Strategic 
Transport, and Finance, Performance, Risk, Procurement and 
Welfare Reform, to conclude the purchase of the Harvest interest in 
the Maltings Shopping Centre which lies within the Central Car Park 
and Maltings regeneration area, in line with the offer submitted and 
subject to satisfactory due diligence, should the opportunity arise. 

 
Reason for decision: 
 
To facilitate the regeneration of the centre of Salisbury through the delivery of 
the Maltings and Central Car Park scheme while making a sound investment in 
a well performing secondary shopping centre which will generate a financial 
return for the council, should the opportunity arise. 
 

 
(Duration of meeting:  2.00  - 2.45 pm) 

 
 

 

These decisions were published on the 20 November 2014 and will come into force 
on 28 November 2014 

 
The Officer who has produced these minutes is Will Oulton, of Democratic Services, 
direct line 01225 713935 or e-mail william.oulton@wiltshire.gov.uk   
Press enquiries to Communications, direct line (01225) 713114/713115 
 

Page 18



CM09611/4  

Wiltshire Council 
 
Cabinet 
 
16 December 2014 
 

 
Subject:  Adoption of Wiltshire Core Strategy 

 
Cabinet Member:  Councillor Toby Sturgis – Strategic Planning, Development 
   Management, Strategic Housing, Property and Waste 
 
Key Decision: Yes 

 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Council has received the Inspector’s Report into the examination of the 
Wiltshire Core Strategy Development Plan Document (DPD). It concludes that, 
subject to the changes set out in the Report, the submitted Core Strategy is sound. 
The Inspector’s Report is final and the examination is now closed. This leaves this 
authority with the choice of adopting the Core Strategy, as amended in response to 
the Inspector’s recommendations, or not.  
 

If adopted by Council, an adoption notice will be published providing a six week 
period for legal challenge during which any person or organisation may make an 
application to the High Court on the grounds that preparation of the Plan did not 
comply with the correct procedures. 
 

Upon adoption, the Core Strategy will become part of the statutory development plan 
for Wiltshire and the authority is legally bound to take planning decisions in 
accordance with its policies unless there are other material considerations which merit 
setting them aside in any given case. It sets out key strategic planning policies for 
managing sustainable development across the county. 
 
 
 
Proposals 
 
That Cabinet: 
 
(i)   Notes the content of the Inspector’s report into the examination of the Wiltshire 

Core Strategy (Appendix 1) and his conclusions regarding legal compliance and 
soundness and accepts the modifications in the Appendix of the Inspector’s 
Report, which the Inspector considers are necessary to make the plan sound in 
accordance with legislation and other minor modifications that have arisen during 
the examination or made in the interest of accuracy and consistency. 
 

(ii)   Recommends to Council that the Wiltshire Core Strategy, as amended as set out 
in (i) above be adopted as part of the statutory development plan for Wiltshire 
(Appendix 2). 
 
 
 
 Page 19

Agenda Item 7



CM09611/4  

 
(iii)   Delegates authority to the Associate Director for Economic Development and 

Planning in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Strategic Planning, 
Development Management, Strategic Housing, Property and Waste for: the 
Policies Map to be amended in line with the modifications identified in (ii) and 
for further minor textual changes to be made to the Core Strategy prior to 
publication in the interests of accuracy and consistency. 
 

(iv)   Following approval of Council, agrees that the Associate Director for Economic, 
Development and Planning in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Strategic 
Planning, Development Management, Strategic Housing, Property and Waste, 
undertakes the final stages associated with the formal adoption and publication 
of the Core Strategy. 
 

 
 
 

 
Reason for Proposals  
 
The Wiltshire Core Strategy will form part of the Council’s Policy Framework. In 
accordance with the Local Government Acts 1972 and 2000, and the Council’s 
constitution it must first be approved by Cabinet before it is adopted by Council. As 
the document has been found sound by the Inspector its adoption by the Council 
would help ensure up to date planning policy is in place for Wiltshire and provide 
effective policies to ensure the sustainable development of Wiltshire.  
 

 

 
Dr Carlton Brand 
Corporate Director 
 

Page 20



CM09611/4  

Wiltshire Council 
 
Cabinet 
 
16 December 2014 
 

 
Subject:  Adoption of Wiltshire Core Strategy  

 
Cabinet Member:  Councillor Toby Sturgis – Strategic Planning, Development 
   Management, Strategic Housing, Property and Waste 
 
Key Decision: Yes 
 

 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. To:  
 

(i) Inform Cabinet of the Inspector’s Report into the examination of the 
Wiltshire Core Strategy and his conclusions regarding legal compliance and 
soundness. 
 

(ii) Seek approval that the Wiltshire Core Strategy, as amended by the 
modifications in the Inspector’s Report and other minor modifications that 
have arisen during the examination or been made in the interest of accuracy 
and consistency, be recommended to Council for adoption.  

 
(ii) Seek approval for the Associate Director for Economic Development and 

Planning, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Strategic Planning, 
Development Management, Strategic Housing, Property and Waste, to 
undertake the final stages associated with the formal adoption by the 
Council of the Wiltshire Core Strategy. 

 
Relevance to the Council’s Business Plan 
 
2. The adoption of a Core Strategy, as well as other planning policy documents, is 

fundamental to realising the overarching aims of the Business Plan 2013-2017 of 
delivering stronger and more resilient communities. In particular, it will help 
deliver the following key outcomes: 
 

• People work together, solve problems locally and participate in decisions 
that affect them by developing a neighbourhood plan with a shared vision 
for delivering the sustainable development they need. 
 

• Everyone lives in a high quality environment through a new suite of 
polices to guide the quality of new buildings and conserve the most 
sensitive areas. 
 

• There is a thriving and growing local economy through introducing an 
economy led policy document which facilitates inward investment and 
provides a sustainable framework for economic growth. 

Page 21



CM09611/4  

• Communities are inclusive where everyone can achieve their potential. 
 

• People have healthy, active and high quality lives, through setting a policy 
framework for the promotion of recreation, healthcare, enhancement of 
open space, introduction of a Green Infrastructure Strategy and protection 
of such facilities from loss. 
 

• People feel safe and are protected from avoidable harm as a result of 
good design. 
 

3. The Core Strategy is also central to delivering land use elements of the Wiltshire 
Council Business Plan 2013-2017, including those relating to the Local 
Enterprise Partnership, affordable housing and tackling climate change. It is also 
the basis for service and infrastructure investment by a wide range of business 
interests, government departments and public agencies beyond the Council 
itself. 

 
Background 
 
4. On 26 June 2012, Full Council resolved that the Wiltshire Core Strategy Pre-

Submission Document together with proposed changes, be submitted to the 
Secretary of State for Examination. The document was submitted on 10 July 
2012, following which the appointed Inspector requested that focused 
consultation be undertaken on the proposed changes (including those affecting 
Core Policy 42 in relation to wind turbine separation distances), changes made 
to the Sustainability Appraisal, publication of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and Planning Policy for Traveller Sites. The consultation response 
was submitted to the Inspector for his consideration. Formal hearing sessions 
(examination in public) took place between 8 May and 19 July 2013.   

 
5. Following these sessions, as requested by the Inspector, the Council published 

proposed changes to the Core Strategy that had arisen during the course of the 
examination. Public consultation took place from 27 August to 9 October 2013. 
 

6. As part of the examination, the Inspector sent a procedural letter to the Council on 
2 December 2013 requesting the Council’s response on a number of matters that 
he had identified with the Core Strategy relating to: Wiltshire’s housing requirement, 
level of affordable housing, Gypsy and Traveller accommodation, strategic 
allocations at Chippenham, settlement boundaries and town centre boundaries. The 
Council considered all matters raised by the Inspector and in response produced an 
additional schedule of proposed modifications to the Wiltshire Core Strategy, 
together with a revised Local Development Scheme (LDS). 

 

7. The LDS was approved by Cabinet on 21 January 2014. This includes two 
additional policy documents: Housing Site Allocations Development Plan 
Document (DPD) incorporating a review of settlement boundaries and the 
allocation of additional development sites to ensure supply of housing over the 
Plan period; and Chippenham Site Allocations DPD to identify sites for growth at 
the town. It also extended the scope of the Gypsy and Traveller DPD to include a 
review of pitch requirements. 

Page 22



CM09611/4  

8. These proposed modifications were subsequently published for public 
consultation over the period 14 April 2014 to 27 May 2014 together with the 
Inspector’s own modifications on the following: 

 

(i) Core Policy 42 ‘Standalone Renewable Energy Installations’ and its 
supporting text;  

(ii) Core Policy 48 ‘Supporting Rural Life’; and  
(iii) Replacement of ‘Saved’ Policy T1a ‘Westbury Bypass Package’ by Core 

Policy 66 ‘Strategic Transport Network’.  
  

At the same time, public consultation was undertaken on those proposed 
modifications made by the Council to address issues raised during the previous 
public consultation (August - October 2013), as well as the implications of the 
Government’s Planning Policy Guidance for the Wiltshire Core Strategy.  
 

9. The response to each public consultation was sent to the Inspector for his 
consideration.  
 

10. Prior to the report being issued, the Inspector held a supplementary hearing 
session on 30 September 2014. The agenda was limited to matters relating to 
housing land supply. 
 

11. The Inspector issued his Report to the Council on 1 December 2014. This is 
attached at Appendix 1. 

 
Main Considerations for the Council 

 
12. The Wiltshire Core Strategy Development Plan Document (DPD), once 

adopted, will form part of the development plan for Wiltshire. The process for 
the preparation of DPDs is prescribed by statute and regulation, including the 
examination stage by an independent Inspector appointed by the Secretary of 
State. The Inspector’s Report, as set out at paragraph 1: 
 
“…contains the Inspector’s assessment of the Wiltshire Core Strategy in 
terms of Section 20(5) of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as 
amended). It considers first whether the Plan’s preparation has complied with 
the duty to co-operate, in recognition that there is no scope to remedy any 
failure in this regard. It then considers whether the Plan is sound and whether 
it is compliant with the legal requirements. The National Planning Policy 
Framework (the Framework, paragraph 182) makes clear that to be sound a 
Local Plan should be positively prepared; justified; effective and consistent 
with national policy.” 
 

13. Appendix 1 of this report includes the Inspector’s Report in full, the Appendix 
of which contains his modifications. In summary the key modifications, as 
highlighted by the Inspector in his ‘Non-Technical Summary’, are: 

 

• An increase in the minimum number of houses to be provided over the 
plan period (to 2026), from 37,000 to at least 42,000 and revisions to 
their distribution;  

• A commitment to partially review the Core Strategy to enable an 
adequate development plan basis for decision making over the plan 
period to 2026; Page 23



CM09611/4  

• A commitment to produce additional Development Plan Documents to 
ensure the effective delivery of necessary development. Such documents 
will include a Housing Sites Allocation DPD, a Gypsy and Traveller DPD 
based upon updated needs evidence and a Chippenham Site Allocation 
DPD; 

• The creation of two different affordable housing targets across the county 
to reflect development viability; 

• Clarification of the approach to be taken towards renewable energy to be 
consistent with national policy; 

• Clarity of the approach to be taken towards natural and heritage assets 
to be effective and consistent with national policy. 

 
14. The Inspector has made recommendations about how the Core Strategy can 

be modified to make it sound. The majority of the modifications relate to those 
changes put forward by the Council, which have been the subject of public 
consultation during the course of the examination as identified above. All 
public consultation responses have been taken into account by the Inspector 
in writing his report. In addition to the Inspector’s own modifications that were 
consulted on in April to May this year (see paragraph 8), the Inspector has 
also now made a small number of other modifications, in particular, to: 

 
(i) Appropriately acknowledge the commitments for 900 homes on the 

west of Swindon in the Core Strategy, and clarify that as part of the 
planned early review of the Core Strategy, which will include a new joint 
Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) with Swindon Borough 
Council, that Wiltshire’s housing requirement will be met without relying 
on the delivery of these homes to the west of Swindon within Wiltshire 
(paragraph 4.29, Page 107, Inspector’s Report). 
 

(ii) Recognise that the diagram showing potential strategic areas for 
growth at Chippenham should be regarded as indicative until such time 
that further work has been undertaken on the Chippenham Site 
Allocations, and amend the wording so that the A350 may be 
considered as one such barrier to development (Page 147, Inspector’s 
Report).   

 
(iii) Increase flexibility in the Core Strategy to enable further review of the 

Station Road, Westbury strategic site allocation in the light of further 
evidence that may arise in terms of infrastructure and affordable 
housing requirements and any recovery in the housing market (MM70, 
Page 147, Inspector’s Report). 

 
15. The Inspector’s own modifications do not alter the overall substance of the 

plan and its policies or undermine the conclusions of the Sustainability 
Appraisal and Habitats Regulations Assessment, both of which have been 
updated during the examination and take into account the Council’s proposed 
modifications to the Core Strategy (see paragraph 21 below).   

 
16. Within the report the Inspector acknowledges in places that the Council has 

proposed a change(s) to the Core Strategy, but goes on to state that, he does 
not consider it to be essential to secure the soundness of the Core Strategy. 
The minor modifications have therefore been reviewed and incorporated into 
the Core Strategy where necessary to improve accuracy, clarity and 
consistency of the document. Page 24



CM09611/4  

17. The text version of the Wiltshire Core Strategy as proposed for adoption is 
attached at Appendix 2 (a graphically designed version will be prepared in due 
course).  Once adopted, the Wiltshire Core Strategy will replace a number of 
saved policies in the former Districts’ Local Plans and the South Wiltshire Core 
Strategy in full, and form part of the statutory development plan for the county. 

 
18. An important part of the Inspector’s considerations is the Council’s commitment 

to the preparation of the DPDs referred to in paragraph 7 above, as well as the 
Partial Review of the Core Strategy (to replace all saved policies and update 
town centre policies) that are all included in the Council’s Local Development 
Scheme January 2014 (LDS).  In addition, the Inspector, in his report, has 
drawn particular reference to a further commitment to partially review the Core 
Strategy in due course following a review of the SHMA. The LDS will be 
updated for Cabinet to consider at its meeting in January 2015 on adoption of 
the Wiltshire Core Strategy.  
 

Safeguarding Implications 
 
19. There are no safeguarding implications as a direct result of this proposal. 
 
Public Health Implications 
 
20. Planning for sustainable development to meet the employment, housing and 

infrastructure needs of communities helps foster their wellbeing. Well planned 
development, including appropriate infrastructure, supports health and well being 
of local communities, for example through the provision of green infrastructure, 
sports facilities and infrastructure to encourage walking and cycling as means of 
travel. 

 
Environmental and Climate Change Considerations 
 
21. Spatial Planning has implications for the natural, economic and social 

environment. A Sustainability Appraisal incorporating Strategic Environmental 
Assessment has been undertaken during the preparation of the Core Strategy. 
The Sustainability Appraisal has been undertaken iteratively at all stages of 
preparation and has informed the evolution of the Core Strategy. A Habitat 
Regulations Assessment has also been undertaken. Both have helped shape the 
Core Strategy, ensuring that negative environmental impacts are avoided and 
sustainable development can be delivered. They have been revisited on the 
issuing of the Inspector’s report to check whether any significant changes have 
occurred since the previous assessments that may affect their conclusions (See 
Appendices 3 and 4).  

 
22. Climate change is one of the cross cutting objectives of the Wiltshire Core 

Strategy. In particular, it seeks to deliver the most sustainable pattern of growth 
to promote self-containment as far as possible and minimise the need to travel, 
particularly by the private car. The Core Strategy includes specific policies to 
encourage the delivery of renewable energy sources and design measures to 
promote sustainable construction and low carbon buildings. A Strategic Flood 
Risk Assessment has also been undertaken as part of the process to ensure that 
future development is not vulnerable to flooding or increases the risk of flood 
elsewhere. 

 Page 25



CM09611/4  

Equalities Impact of the Proposal 
 
23. The Wiltshire Core Strategy aims to positively manage growth and 

development in Wiltshire. The public consultation processes and community 
involvement has ensured that everyone has had the opportunity to inform the 
preparation of the Core Strategy.  

 
24. The Core Strategy has been subject to Equalities and Diversity Impact 

Assessment which the Inspector concluded follows a “reasonable and robust 
methodology” (paragraph 17, Inspector’s Report). The Inspector goes on to 
state that “this broadly and reasonably concludes that the plan would have a 
positive and inclusive impact on equality and diversity throughout the county”. 

 
Risk Assessment 
 
Risks that may arise if the proposed decision and related work is not taken 
 
25. Once adopted, the Council can give full weight to the Wiltshire Core Strategy in 

planning decisions in order to deliver sustainable development in Wiltshire and 
provide greater certainty to local communities and the development industry on 
where and how development should take place.  
 

26. Rejection of the Inspector’s Report at this stage would result in a planning policy 
vacuum at a time when the Government has stated its intention (paragraph 14, 
National Planning Policy Framework) to ensure that there is a presumption in 
favour of sustainable development in the absence of up to date local planning 
policies, and which presumption would require the Council to grant planning 
permission in situations where it would not necessarily want to, or may allow 
Planning Inspector’s on appeal to overturn decisions by the Council to refuse 
planning permission. 
 

27. Adoption will enable the Council to make progress on the examination of the 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL), which should be in place April 2015 in 
order for the Council to maximise income for infrastructure from development. 

 
Risks that may arise if the proposed decision is taken and actions that will be 
taken to manage these risks 
 
28. See legal implications below. At the point of adoption of the Wiltshire Core 

Strategy by Council, there will follow a period of six weeks for legal challenge. 
 

Financial Implications 
 
29. The financial implications of adopting, publishing and meeting future 

commitments in relation to the Core Strategy are forecast to be circa £0.37m, 
this will need to be met from within the budget allocations and income from the 
Economic, Development and Planning budget.  
 

30. The increased housing provision will enable the Council to benefit from the 
Government’s New Homes Bonus regime by increasing receipts and by a 
contribution to the Council’s Council Tax base. This has been factored into the 
Medium Term Financial Plan. 

Page 26



CM09611/4  

31. In addition, Adoption of the Core Strategy, as referred to above, will enable the 
Council to become a CIL Charging Authority. The funding raised through CIL, will 
in part replace Section 106 funding from development that could no longer be 
secured from early April 2015 due to the Regulations governing CIL.  
 

32. The most significant financial risk associated with the adoption process stems 
from the potential for legal challenge. It is not possible to estimate the costs of 
such a challenge.  
 

Legal Implications 
 
33. Once adopted the Wiltshire Core Strategy will form part of the statutory 

development plan for the area and be used as such for the purpose of 
determining planning applications in the county. Its preparation has involved 
ensuring compliance with procedural requirements including: duty to co-
operate, Sustainability Appraisal and Habitats Regulations Assessment being 
undertaken at key stages during the preparation of the Plan, and consultation 
statements summarising how the Council has engaged with communities and 
other stakeholders during the process.  
 

34. The options open to the Council at this stage in the process are set out in the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) and the Town and 
Country Planning (Local Development) England Regulations 2004. If the 
Council rejects one or more of the Inspector’s recommended modifications it 
cannot then proceed to adopt the Core Strategy.  
 

35. There are legal implications associated with the adoption of the document. 
These are limited to the potential for judicial challenge in accordance with 
legislation. Any such challenge would be limited in terms of scope and could 
only challenge whether a procedural step in the process of preparing the 
document has been missed or not complied with fully. The Legal Section have 
been fully involved throughout the process 

 
36. When the Core Strategy is formally adopted by Council, an ‘Adoption 

Statement’ will be published in the local press advertising the availability of  
the Inspector’s Report and the adopted Wiltshire Core Strategy. If at this stage 
anyone wishes to lodge a judicial challenge to the document, they must do so 
within six weeks of the date it is adopted by the Council. 

 
Options Considered 
 
37. The options open to the Council are limited by the legislation (see legal 

implications above). The Council can either: 
 
(i) Adopt the Core Strategy with the modifications recommended by the 

Inspector; or  
 

(ii) Resolve not to adopt the Core Strategy. 
 
 
 
 

Page 27



CM09611/4  

38. In the case of (ii) the Council would need to withdraw the Wiltshire Core 
Strategy and begin preparation of a new plan that would take a number of 
years to put in place. This would have severe repercussions for the emerging 
DPDs and housing land supply in Wiltshire, paving the way for speculative 
rather than plan led development across Wiltshire for many years.  
 

Conclusions 
 
39. The Wiltshire Core Strategy has been in preparation over a number of years 

and involved considerable public consultation with local communities and other 
stakeholders. It has now reached the final stage in the process and on adoption 
will have full weight and provide certainty over how sustainable development 
can be delivered in Wiltshire. 
 

40. The Inspector’s Report on the examination into the Wiltshire Core Strategy 
Development Plan Document concludes that the document, subject to 
amendment, is ‘sound’. The Council can now formally adopt the plan in line with 
the Inspector’s Recommendations. 
 

41. Adoption of the plan will provide an up-to-date development plan for Wiltshire. 
This will enable the effective management of development and ensure that 
homes and jobs are provided in the most sustainable way that maximises 
benefits for local communities. 

 
42. Once formally adopted, the adopted Wiltshire Core Strategy, along with the 

Inspector’s Report, Adoption Statement and finalised Sustainability Appraisal, 
will be published and made available for inspection. 

 
Alistair Cunningham 
Associate Director Economic Development and Planning 
 
Report Authors:  

Georgina Clampitt-Dix 
Head of Spatial Planning  

Tel No. 01225 713472 

 

David Milton 
Spatial Planning Manager 
Tel No. 01722 434354 

 
Date of Report: 6 December 2014 
 

 
The following unpublished documents have been relied on in the preparation of 
this Report:   None  
 
Appendices: 
  

Appendix 1:  Inspector’s Report - Report on the Examination into the Wiltshire 
  Core Strategy, 1 December 2014 

 

Appendix 2:  Wiltshire Core Strategy (Adoption text) 
Appendix 3:  Sustainability Appraisal 
 
Appendix 4:  Addendum to Habitats Regulations Assessment 

Page 28



 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Report to Wiltshire Council 

by Andrew J Seaman BA (Hons) MA MRTPI 
an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 

Date 1st December 2014 

  
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PLANNING AND COMPULSORY PURCHASE ACT 2004 (AS AMENDED) 

SECTION 20 

 

REPORT ON THE EXAMINATION INTO THE 

WILTSHIRE CORE STRATEGY 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Document submitted for examination on 10th July 2012 

Examination hearings held between 7th May and 18th July 2013; 30th Sept 2014 
 

File Ref: PINS/Y3940/429/9 

Appendix 1

Page 29



 
 

1 

 
 
Index 
 

3  Non-Technical Summary 
4  Introduction 
5  Assessment of Duty to Cooperate 
6  Matter 1 – Procedural Matters, Legal Compliance and Vision 
10  Matter 2 – Settlement Hierarchy and Delivery (Polices CP1 & 2) 
14  Matter 3 – Economy (Policies CP2 & CP34 – 40) 
17  Matter 4 – Housing (Policies CP2 & CP43 – 47) 
31  Matter 5 – Resilient Communities (Policies CP2, CP48 & 49) 
32  Matter 6 – Climate Change (Policies CP41 & 42) 
35  Matter 7 – Natural Environment (Policies CP50 – 56) and Water Resources   

(Matter 10 - Core Policies 67 and 68) 
41  Matter 8 – Built Environment (Policies CP57 – 59) 
42  Matter 9 – Community Areas: 
42      Amesbury 
44      Bradford on Avon 
47      Chippenham 
54      Corsham 
56     Calne 
57     Devizes 
59      Malmesbury 
61      Marlborough 
65     Melksham 
67     Mere 
68     Salisbury 
70      Pewsey 
72      Royal Wootton Bassett and Cricklade 
75      Southern 
76      Tidworth 
77      Tisbury 
79      Trowbridge 
83     Warminster 
85     Westbury 
90     Wilton 
91  Matter 10 – Infrastructure, Monitoring and Delivery (Whole Document, IDP, 

CP3 and CP60 – 69) 
96  Assessment of Legal Compliance 
96  Conclusion 
98  Appendix – Main Modifications  

Appendix 1

Page 30



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 2 - 

Main Abbreviations Used in this Report 
 
 
AA Appropriate Assessment 
AHVA Affordable Housing Viability Assessment  
AONB Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
AQMA Air Quality Management Area 
CIL Community Infrastructure Levy 
CS Core Strategy 
Framework National Planning Policy Framework 
GTAA Gypsy and Travellers Needs Assessment 
GI Green Infrastructure 
IDP 
HLS 

Infrastructure Delivery Plan 
Housing Land Supply Statement 

HMA Housing Market Area 
HRA Habitats Regulations Assessment 
LCA Landscape Character Assessment 
LDS Local Development Scheme 
LEP Local Enterprise Partnership 
LP Local Plan 
MM 
PPG 

Main Modification 
Planning Practice Guidance 

PPTS Planning Policy for Travellers Sites 
RSS Regional Spatial Strategy 
SA Sustainability Appraisal 
SCI Statement of Community Involvement 
SCS Sustainable Community Strategy 
SHLAA Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment 
SHMA Strategic Housing Market Assessment 
SAC Special Area of Conservation 
SPA Special Protection Area 
 
  

Appendix 1

Page 31



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 3 - 

 

Non-Technical Summary 
 

 
This report concludes that Wiltshire Core Strategy provides an appropriate basis 
for the planning of the county over the plan period providing a number of 
modifications are made to the Plan. Such modifications have arisen over the 
course of the Examination and are provided in the Appendix at the end of this 
report.  The majority have been proposed by the Council who specifically 
requested that I recommend any modifications necessary to enable them to adopt 
the Plan.   
 
The modifications cover a wide range of matters and include:  
 

• An increase in the minimum number of houses to be provided over the plan 
period, from 37,000 to at least 42,000 and revisions to their distribution;  

• A commitment to partially review the Core Strategy to enable an adequate 
development plan basis for decision making over the plan period to 2026; 

• A commitment to produce additional Development Plan Documents to 
ensure the effective delivery of necessary development. Such documents 
will include a Housing Sites Allocation DPD, a Gypsy and Traveller DPD 
based upon updated needs evidence and a Chippenham Site Allocation 
DPD; 

• The creation of two different affordable housing targets across the county 
to reflect development viability; 

• Clarification of the approach to be taken towards renewable energy to be 
consistent with national policy; 

• Clarity of the approach to be taken towards natural and heritage assets to 
be effective and consistent with national policy. 

 
   
 

 
 
 
  

Appendix 1

Page 32



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 4 - 

Introduction  
1. This report contains my assessment of the Wiltshire Core Strategy (CS) in 

terms of Section 20(5) of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as 
amended).  It considers first whether the Plan’s preparation has complied with 
the duty to co-operate, in recognition that there is no scope to remedy any 
failure in this regard.  It then considers whether the Plan is sound and whether 
it is compliant with the legal requirements.  The National Planning Policy 
Framework (the Framework, paragraph 182) makes clear that to be sound a 
Local Plan should be positively prepared; justified; effective and consistent 
with national policy.  

2. The starting point for the examination is the assumption that the local 
authority has submitted what it considers to be a sound plan.  The basis for 
my examination is the Wiltshire Core Strategy Pre-Submission Document 
(February 2012) published for consultation in February 2012.  

3. Within the submission documentation, the Council identified a number of 
changes to be made to the Plan arising from the consultation1.  Subsequently, 
further focussed consultation was undertaken to incorporate the schedules of 
proposed changes (including that affecting Core Policy 42), the publication of 
the Framework and the Planning Policy for Traveller’s Sites, changes made to 
the Sustainability Appraisal (SA) report and to clarify that the previous 
consultation had been an opportunity to comment upon the Pre Submission 
document as a whole.  I have had regard to the consultation outcomes. 

4. Subsequent to the Hearings of 2013, post hearing consultation and 
correspondence, the Council produced additional evidence2 and proposed 
further modifications to the submitted plan, this included updates to the SA 
and Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA).  Public consultation3 upon these 
matters was undertaken in April and May 2014 in conjunction with an 
opportunity to comment upon the implications of the publication of the 
government’s Planning Practice Guidance (PPG published March 2014).  A 
further Hearing in relation to matters concerning Matter 4 was held on 30th 
September 2014.  I have had regard to the resulting evidence, including all 
consultation comments, in its totality. 

5. This report deals with the main modifications that are needed to make the CS 
sound and legally compliant and they are identified in bold in the report (MM).  
In accordance with section 20(7C) of the 2004 Act the Council requested that I 
should make any modifications needed to rectify matters that make the CS 
unsound/not legally compliant and thus incapable of being adopted.  These 
main modifications, predominantly derived from the Council’s own proposals, 
are set out in the Appendix. 

6.   The main modifications that go to soundness have been subject to public 
consultation and, where necessary, SA. I have taken the consultation 
responses into account in writing this report.   

                                       
1 WCS/02 Appendix 11  
2 EXAM/54, 72, 73, 74, 78 and 84 to 91. 
3 See EXAM/89A, 97A, 98, 99, 101 et al 

Appendix 1

Page 33



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 5 - 

Assessment of Duty to Co-operate  
7. Section s20(5)(c) of the  2004 Act requires that I consider whether the Council  

complied with any duty imposed on them by section 33A  of the 2004 Act  in 
relation to the Plan’s preparation. 

8. The Council’s Statement on the ‘Duty to Cooperate’4 sets out the principal 
activities undertaken in the preparation of the CS.  It recognises that at the 
time when the ‘Duty’ was enacted the CS was at an advanced stage of 
preparation yet also indicates that the work of the Council has sought 
consistently to build meaningful partnerships with appropriate parties to 
deliver solutions to common strategic issues.  Inevitably, this has necessitated 
working with a large number of adjacent and nearby local authorities5 which 
has provided due consideration of various matters, including those influenced 
by the proximity of key settlements such as Bath, Bristol and Swindon.  These 
matters are discussed further below.  I am mindful of the Statements of 
Common Ground6 which have been produced illustrating the nature of such 
work.  Similarly, the Council has worked with other prescribed bodies, 
including Natural England, English Heritage, the Highways Agency and the 
Environment Agency, to ensure suitable dialogue and actions upon relevant 
areas of interest.  The balance of evidence indicates that such partnership 
work is set to continue into the foreseeable future. 

9. Indeed, the evidence must be considered in its totality.  With due regard to 
SOCG/317, the Council’s actions are the product of the internal working 
relationships and processes between elected Members and Officers.  As such, 
Officers of the Council maintain the position that Section 33A has been 
discharged in its entirety and that the Council Members had been informed 
that ‘steps taken to prepare the draft Core Strategy are considered to be 
compliant with legislative requirements’.  Whilst the Council has detailed its 
working arrangements with prescribed bodies there is no single evidence 
source which baldly indicates how Section 33a)(6)(a) and (b) have been 
discharged.  Nevertheless, there is considerable information indicating the 
nature of engagement between neighbouring authorities. This includes the 
Borough of Swindon, whereby Appendix 3 of DEM/408 indicated the relative 
stages of plan preparation between the two authorities and the scope for joint 
working if necessary upon a joint site allocations plan.  I appreciate that 
progress upon the plans of both Council’s has been made and inevitably the 
effectiveness of any cooperation will need to reflect any changes in 
circumstance over time.  Whilst there is invariably scope for greater detail to 
be provided in the way in which legal requirements are discharged and the 
need for constant review of on-going processes, overall, such evidence is 
indicative that S33A has been addressed adequately. 

10. Notwithstanding the effectiveness of such cooperation which is discussed in 
greater detail elsewhere in this report, the evidence indicates that the Council 

                                       
4 WCS/07 (including EXAM/16) 
5 WCS/07 Section 3 
6 See Section 22 of Document Library List 
7 Statement of Common Ground with RPS re Duty to Cooperate 
8 Wiltshire Council – Submission of Wiltshire Core Strategy and Review of Local 
Development Scheme 

Appendix 1

Page 34



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 6 - 

has engaged constructively, actively and on an ongoing basis with necessary 
prescribed bodies so as to discharge the duty referenced in Section 33A. 

Assessment of Soundness  
Preamble  

11. A series of public hearing sessions was programmed to commence in May 
2013.  Each session was led by an agenda that followed the previous 
identification of a number of ‘Matters and Issues’ which I wished to examine 
further.  Each agenda enabled opportunity for submissions to be made as 
appropriate and also included ‘Other Matters’ which represented an 
opportunity to raise additional relevant matters for discussion at each session.  
Through this methodology a fair and transparent opportunity was provided for 
all interested parties to raise matters of relevance and concern. 

12. The Plan was prepared whilst the Regional Spatial Strategy9 (RSS) for the 
South West remained extant and whilst the replacement draft RSS was in 
production.  The subsequent revocation of the RSS was completed whilst the 
Hearings were in session. An opportunity for all interested parties to comment 
upon any potential implications arising from the revocation was provided and I 
have taken into account both the comments received and the revocation itself.  

13. Where references are made within this report to the ‘county’ of Wiltshire these 
are not intended to include the Borough of Swindon. 

Main Matters 

14. Taking account of all the representations, written evidence and the discussions 
that took place at the examination hearings I have identified ten main matters 
upon which the soundness of the Plan depends. These are addressed, 
primarily, in turn. 

Matter 1 – Procedural Matters, Legal Compliance and Vision  

Does the Core Strategy have a robust vision for Wiltshire and has it been 
positively prepared in compliance with all relevant legal requirements? 

15. The CS has been in preparation for some years and there is an extensive 
evidence base10 which has informed its content.  It has been produced in 
accord with the Council’s Local Development Scheme (LDS) albeit, due to a 
need for additional consultation, the examination process has been extended 
beyond the anticipated timeframe.  The LDS has been updated during the 
course of the Examination11 and the Council intends further updates upon 
adoption of the CS.  With due regard to the Framework12, I am satisfied that 
there is clear justification, based on the complexity of the issues and the scale 
of the county, for the adopted approach of the LDS which identifies the 
additional planning documents to be produced within Wiltshire13.  For reasons 

                                       
9 Formerly RPG10 
10 See Core Strategy Document List et al 
11 EXAM/78B 
12 Para 153 
13 EXAM/78B Table 2 

Appendix 1

Page 35



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 7 - 

of clarity and effectiveness, the revised intentions of the Council should be 
reflected within the CS and I recommend accordingly (MM1). On the balance 
of the available evidence, suitable regard would appear to have been had to 
the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement14 in the overall plan 
production process.   

16. The CS contains a Vision that is predicated upon sustainable patterns of 
development focussed on the settlement hierarchy of Wiltshire wherein 
partnership working with communities is key.  Underpinning the vision are six 
specific, albeit cross cutting, strategic objectives that encompass all policy 
areas deemed necessary for the document; these address economic, social 
and environmental considerations in the context of national policy.  These are 
set out clearly within Section 3 of the CS. I am mindful that the vision and the 
strategic objectives have been developed through an iterative process which 
has drawn upon the evolving evidence base and the various rounds of 
community consultation.  Whilst individual opinions may vary upon the specific 
wording of both the vision and the strategic objectives, I am satisfied that 
these embodied principles are justified adequately by the evidence.  With 
particular regard to transport issues, these can be incorporated reasonably 
into the broad heading of ‘Infrastructure’ within Strategic Objective 6 and such 
an approach does not represent a flaw in the plan.   

17. There is adequate evidence within the text of the CS, for example in relation 
to the community areas of Wiltshire, that the Council has had due regard to 
the existing Community Strategy15.  The CS has been subject to an Equalities 
and Diversity Impact Assessment16 which follows a reasonable and robust 
methodology. This broadly and reasonably concludes that the plan would have 
a positive and inclusive impact on equality and diversity throughout the 
county. 

18. The Council has confirmed17, with due regard to the publication and availability 
of documents, advertisements and notification, that it considers that the CS 
has been prepared in accordance with the statutory procedures and associated 
regulations.  In this regard, I am mindful of the range of information produced 
via the Council’s consultation processes and which are summarised in the 
Consultation Methodology Output Report18 and elsewhere19.  The body of 
evidence indicates adequate procedural compliance. 

19. Although the Framework was issued whilst the CS was being prepared, the 
Council has confirmed that the submitted plan, when considered as a whole, 
has been produced to be consistent with national policy.  Various concerns 
have been raised from the consultation processes as to whether the document 
places an undue emphasis upon economic priorities to the potential 
disadvantage of, for example, considerations affecting the natural 
environment.  The Council considers that the CS seeks a balanced approach to 
sustainable development in accordance with the Framework; such balance is 
important and, for the purposes of effective implementation, the addition of 

                                       
14 SCI/01 
15 CPP/08 Wiltshire Community Plan 2011-2026: ‘People, Places and Promises’ 
16 WCS/03 
17 WCS/PS/M1 
18 WCS/02 – Regulation 22(1)(c) Statement 
19 Section 5 of Document Library et al 

Appendix 1

Page 36



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 8 - 

text to the introduction of the document would ensure specific consistency 
with the Framework.  I have recommended accordingly (MM1).  

20. The CS plan period extends to 2026.  Whilst this is not the preferable 15 year 
horizon advised by the Framework, such a period is specifically supported by 
the available evidence and, on balance, is sufficient to be considered 
appropriate and does not run counter to the PPG.  Simple extrapolation of 
growth rates to extend the CS period would be a crude means to simply meet 
a 15 year aspiration; such an approach is not warranted in light of the 
Council’s intention to monitor the effect of the CS and to ensure it is subject to 
partial review at an early date. Indeed, the Council has clarified20 that it will be 
undertaking a planned early review of the CS to ensure “the development 
provision looks to an appropriately long term end date” which will be 
supported by an updated Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA). 
Further detailed matters relating to the Framework are discussed below.   

21. The Council confirms that Appendix D of the CS provides a clear indication of 
‘saved’ policies subject to its proposed changes21 deemed necessary following 
a post submission review. To ensure consistency and effectiveness, I 
recommend further in relation to Purton Brickworks (MM2).  The Council 
intends that the programmed CS Review will provide a suitable opportunity to 
reassess such saved policies with a view to their replacement.  Such an 
approach is a practical way forward albeit I recommend further with regard to 
Westbury (see below). 

22. The Policies Maps have been altered to reflect the content of the CS and there 
is no evidence to suggest that the Council’s commitment to ensuring they are 
updated, maintained and kept under review as necessary will not be met.   

23. The submitted CS has been informed by an iterative process of SA22 which the 
Council considers to have been inclusive23.  It is a matter of fact that the SA 
process has been undertaken with each consultation draft of the CS since 
2009 with the intention of satisfying the SEA Directive and associated 
regulations24.  Such ongoing work incorporates the post submission CS 
changes proposed by the Council.  As part of the SA process consideration has 
been given to reasonable alternatives to the submitted content of the CS and 
its policies.  The Council considers that the SA adequately summarises or 
repeats the reasons that were given for rejecting alternatives at the time when 
they were ruled out and that those reasons remain valid.  Whilst specific 
details of this process are analysed as necessary in subsequent sections of this 
report, including matters affecting strategic allocations and contingency, the 
evidence indicates that the Council has undertaken a proportionate and 
adequate degree of SA relevant to the CS and its content.   

24. The Council identifies25 that it has discharged its obligations under the Habitats 
Directive and associated Regulations such that it is satisfied that the Plan, 

                                       
20 EXAM/108 
21 As revised in EXAM/04 and EXAM/56 
22 See SUS/11 – 20, 26, 27, EXAM/05 – 5E, EXAM/57, EXAM/88, EXAM/99 et al 
23 WCS/PS/M1 
24 The Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004: Statutory 
Instrument 2004 No. 1633   
25 WCS/PS/M1 and SUS/36, EXAM /58, EXAM/89 et al 

Appendix 1

Page 37



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 9 - 

either alone or in combination, will not affect adversely the integrity of any 
Natura 2000 site.  In so doing, it relies heavily upon its ‘Assessment under the 
Habitats Regulations’26 which sets out a reasonable methodology27 for 
identifying sites that could be affected by the CS, the ‘key issues’ likely to 
cause significant effects, their analysis (alone and in combination) and 
appropriate assessment (AA) of all likely significant effects for each Natura 
2000 site. In support of its approach, the Council has published three specific 
further planning documents28 addressing Natura 2000 sites with the intention 
that adverse effects from development may be avoided. 

25. I am mindful that there is no outstanding objection from Natural England with 
regard to the approach taken by the Council to Natura 2000 sites.  In 
particular, the Council has completed a Statement of Common Ground with 
Natural England29 wherein “both parties agree that the Council has carried out 
a Habitats Regulations Assessment of the potential effects of the Plan upon the 
Natura 2000 network both alone and in combination with other plans and 
projects…”. Agreement is reached that the CS would not have any adverse 
effects upon the integrity of any European designated site subject to certain 
amendments shown within the schedule of preferred changes of the Council.  
Indeed, I also note SOCG/3330 which clarifies additional potential changes to 
the CS.  Natural England also states that it has no outstanding concerns with 
respect to the SA for the purpose of The Environmental Assessment of Plans 
and Programmes Regulations and European Directive 2001/42/EC. With due 
regard to the available evidence, nor do I. 

26. Submissions have been made to the Examination that the Council is failing to 
meet its obligations with regard to the HRA, the Habitats Directive and the 
associated regulations.  However, in considering the Habitats Directive et al, 
the Council has been mindful of the strategic nature of the CS which seeks to 
identify the broad strategic needs of the county and a broad delivery 
framework based on a clear settlement hierarchy.  The Council places reliance 
on the role of neighbourhood planning to assist in delivering the development 
required in addition to the strategic allocations identified for key settlements 
within individual Community Areas.  The Council will also be producing its 
Housing Sites Allocation DPD (Sites DPD) which will be subject to separate 
HRA.  Based upon this approach, the Council considers that its submitted HRA 
is a proportionate and adequate analysis of the CS in relation to Natura 2000 
sites and that, with the modifications proposed to the submitted plan, there 
will be no adverse effect upon their integrity.  With regard to the input of 
Natural England, including the Memorandum of Understanding31, I agree. 

27. There remains an evident need for project level work to be undertaken in 
relation, for example, to strategic allocations that are sensitively located in 
relation to Natura 2000 sites; these are discussed in greater detail below as 
necessary. However, the content of the CS and the safeguards it contains 
means that the plan, alone or in combination should not have a significant 

                                       
26 SUS/09 and SUS/36 and EXAM/58, EXAM/89 
27 SUS/36 Section 2 et al 
28 CPP/118; STU/207; STU/208 – Stone Curlew Mitigation Strategy; River Avon SAC 
Planning Procedure; Wiltshire Bats SAC Planning Guidance 
29 SoCG/5 (inc Addendum) 
30 Statement of Common Ground with Campaign to Protect Rural England 
31 EXAM/108 

Appendix 1

Page 38



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 10 - 

adverse effect upon the integrity of any Natura 2000 site.  

28. Wiltshire is a predominantly rural county.  It has areas of national significance 
as determined by the partial presence of three Areas of Outstanding National 
Beauty (AONBs) and part of the New Forest National Park; these factors are 
reflected specifically in Core Policies 51 and 25 respectively.  The Stonehenge 
and Avebury World Heritage Site is also present.  Submissions have been 
made that the CS has failed to consider adequately the presence of AONBs 
within the county and consequently their national significance32 has not been 
taken into account sufficiently in the distribution of development.  Concerns 
have been raised that the formulation of the CS and its evidence base has not 
sought to differentiate adequately between AONBs and other parts of the 
county.   

29. The Council considers that adequate regard has been had to the presence of 
AONBs although has subsequently proposed changes to the CS to clarify its 
approach, particularly in relation to Core Policy 51.  Such changes emphasise 
the statutory purpose of such designated areas.  Notwithstanding subsequent 
discussion below in relation to Marlborough, Warminster and Core Policy 51, I 
agree that the evidence base could have more clearly recognised the potential 
effect that AONB designation would have upon development proposals and its 
distribution at the general level, for example the Strategic Housing Land 
Availability Assessment (SHLAA)33.   

30. However, such evidence certainly does not prohibit the AONB designations 
from being a material consideration in subsequent decision making nor does it 
indicate that unsuitable development would necessarily be required or be 
acceptable in such sensitive landscape areas.  I recommend modifications 
which will ensure consistency with national policy and adequate effectiveness 
(MM 3).  Based upon the discussion at the hearings and the submissions 
made, it is apparent that all parties need to maintain a constructive dialogue 
to ensure a common understanding and compatibility of approach towards the 
AONBs and new development proposals.  Whilst further detailed matters are 
addressed below, the modified CS at a strategic level takes an approach 
towards such sensitive areas that is sufficiently consistent with national policy 
and is justified.  

Matter 2 – Settlement Hierarchy and Delivery (Polices CP1 & 2) 

Is the settlement strategy justified by the evidence base and will it be 
effective in realising the objectives and vision of the CS? 

Core Policy 1 Settlement Strategy 

31. Chapter 4 of the CS sets out how the Vision will be delivered through the 
spatial strategy for Wiltshire.  Fundamental to this process is the settlement 
strategy set out by Core Policy 1 which indicates the hierarchy of settlements 
within the county.  This hierarchy is informed adequately by the Council’s 
analysis of the role and function of settlements34 which takes into account the 
geographic position of each settlement and the surrounding area within which 

                                       
32 Framework paragraph 115 et al 
33 STU/05 
34 TOP/04 - Topic Paper 3 et al 

Appendix 1

Page 39



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 11 - 

it is located.  Consequently, the Principal Settlements are identified robustly 
alongside the Market Towns, Local Service Centres and, with only a few 
exceptions which are referenced further below, the Large and Small Villages. 

32. Market Towns are identified as settlements that have the potential for 
significant development.  Based on the Council’s analysis of the role and 
function of those identified, the approach of CP1 seems justified albeit that 
there is no automatic necessity that all market towns within Wiltshire should 
have strategic allocations identified.  Future development may occur in a 
potentially significant manner through other means; for example, allocations 
within the Sites DPD. 

33. Further analysis of relevant settlements is undertaken as necessary in each 
Community Area elsewhere in this report, however, the balance of the 
available evidence does not support the designation of Pewsey as a Market 
Town at this time due to its relatively limited size and employment base.  
Similarly, Purton occupies a somewhat unique position close to Swindon and 
Royal Wootton Bassett. Despite its secondary school, the evidence does not 
substantively indicate that it serves a wider rural hinterland in other regards 
and it has a somewhat limited role in terms of its employment provision and 
basic level of facilities.  I conclude that it is suitably referenced within the 
submitted CS. 

34. Large and Small villages are also indicated adequately within the CS on the 
basis of the analysis the Council has undertaken.  There is insufficient 
evidence to the contrary that warrants alterations other than the limited 
changes identified by the Council which are based upon updated information.  
For the reason of justification and effectiveness I recommend such 
modifications accordingly (MM 4). 

35. The CS refers to defined settlement boundaries for the hierarchy at the level of 
Large Villages and above.  By such means the Council intends to provide 
clarity on what forms of development may be carried out where in a manner 
consistent with the Framework.  There is no compelling evidence to suggest 
that such an approach is flawed, particularly in the context of the Planning 
Practice Guidance which indicates all settlements may play a role in delivering 
sustainable development in rural areas35. 

36. However, the Council has not reviewed the extent of the boundaries to inform 
the CS; instead relying upon the pre-existing development plan documents. 
Some of these were adopted several years ago, for example the Kennet Local 
Plan (2004), and it cannot be argued with great strength that the settlement 
boundaries contained therein are up to date for the purposes of the CS plan 
period.  Indeed, the Council concedes in Topic Paper 3 ‘Settlement Strategy’ 
that whilst existing boundaries offer protection to the countryside and guard 
against urban sprawl/ribbon development they are out of date, do not reflect 
current urban form and require review and updating … ‘a new boundary would 
be the ideal solution’36.  To review boundaries, the CS identifies community led 
planning as the vehicle to deliver the necessary updates.  However, there 
remains a considerable risk that, for example, Neighbourhood Plans will not be 

                                       
35 PPG Paragraph: 001   Reference ID: 50-001-20140306 
36 TOP/04 p46 

Appendix 1

Page 40



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 12 - 

delivered across the county in a comprehensive or timely fashion.  Such an 
outcome would, in the context of the CS Settlement and Delivery Strategy, 
potentially preclude development initiatives on the basis of an unjustified 
evidence base and therefore not represent a positive form of planning.  

37. The large geographic scale of Wiltshire and the sheer number and variety of its 
settlements does present challenges to the practical completion of an 
appropriate and swift review of settlement boundaries.  Rather than delay to a 
disproportionate extent the potential adoption of the submitted CS, there is 
scope to advance such a timely review through a subsequent development 
plan document. The Council proposes that such matters could be resolved 
adequately by the Sites DPD. In short, I agree.  Such work can complement 
that emerging from any advanced community led planning process and would 
not hinder the review of settlement boundaries in the future.  To facilitate the 
early and effective delivery of development based upon up-to-date evidence I 
modify the CS accordingly (MM 5). 

38. Many submissions to the Examination identified the need for CP1 to reference 
the presence of other settlements such as Bath and Swindon.  Clearly, the CS 
is intended to be the development plan pertinent to the administrative area of 
Wiltshire Council and therefore its focus is upon the relevant settlements of 
the area.  Nonetheless, the Council acknowledges, for example through the 
key diagram, its Statements of Common Ground and via joint working 
initiatives, that neighbouring settlements influence the role and function of 
settlements within Wiltshire and affect development pressures across the 
county. Whilst the CS could contain appropriate reference to neighbouring key 
settlements, for example in the supporting text to CP1, the absence of specific 
reference does not, in the overall context of the plan, render the document 
unsound. 

Core Policy 2 Delivery Strategy 

39. CP2 sets out the Council’s approach to delivering new development across the 
county.  As submitted, the policy has been somewhat overtaken by events and 
is consequently not well supported in its detail and is potentially ineffective.  
However, the Council has suggested changes to CP2 and its supporting text to 
clarify the indicative nature of the revised housing and employment land 
figures quoted and the positive manner in which the Council envisages 
development being brought forward across the county.  Whilst the specific 
amount of housing and employment land is discussed under Matters 3 and 4 
(below) and notwithstanding the way in which residual requirements are 
ultimately expressed, the revisions to CP2 provide a sufficiently clear 
indication of the levels of housing and employment land intended over the 
plan period.   

40. The overall indicated quantities of development provide a flexible and positive 
basis for provision to meet predominantly the needs of the area.  These are 
appropriately expressed as minimums.  The policy is underpinned by an 
aspiration to deliver sustainable patterns of development based upon the 
settlement hierarchy and through the appropriate use of, where suitable, 
previously developed land.  Furthermore, the policy enables strategic 
development for certain sites to occur which will be subject to individual 
masterplanning and community engagement; these sites are discussed in 

Appendix 1

Page 41



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 13 - 

greater detail in relation to individual community areas.  Overall, the general 
approach embodied in CP2, as proposed to be changed, is consistent with 
national policy, is justified and consequently sound.   

41. Within defined settlement limits the CS maintains a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development.  Outside of such limits, including Small Villages, 
development will be limited to that which meets certain criteria.  The 
exceptions policies of the CS may also be applied.  CP2 therefore relies heavily 
on the existence of settlement boundaries to manage growth.  Whilst the 
principle of such an approach may be justified in terms of providing plan led 
clarity to what development may go where, the efficacy of the plan is partially 
undermined by the absence of particularly robust evidence in support of the 
identified limits for each settlement.  Whilst a combination of commitments, 
windfalls and strategic allocations may ensure a supply of development land to 
meet needs in the shorter term, the effectiveness of CP2 in combination with 
CP1 is dependent upon a timely review of settlement limits as described in 
paragraph 37 above.  This factor reinforces the justification for MM5. 

42. Subject to a review of the settlement boundaries, the CS provides a clear 
framework for decision making in relation to new development.  CP2, as 
proposed to be altered by the Council, incorporates sufficient flexibility so as 
to be effective in its operation.  Thus the objective to develop on previously 
developed land is guided by an approximate and not prescriptive target of 
35%; furthermore, there remains scope to develop outside of current 
settlement boundaries subject to policy review/further development plan 
production or community led plans.  CP2 provides a clear yet flexible 
framework for delivering a range of development across Wiltshire that is not 
skewed unduly to the identified strategic sites.  The Sites DPD will provide a 
further opportunity to clarify and maintain the delivery of adequate housing. 

43. The CS is clear that the distribution of housing land in terms of ensuring 
adequate supply will be disaggregated in accordance with three housing 
market areas.  I am satisfied, based on the broad assessments of housing 
need, that such an approach is an appropriate scale for consideration rather 
than the smaller community areas which would limit the flexibility and 
effectiveness of the plan.  I am also satisfied that the identification of 
indicative levels of housing for Community Areas is not unduly rigid or 
prescriptive; such an approach will enable suitable flexibility to be applied by 
the Council in managing the effective delivery of necessary housing within the 
HMAs. 

44. As noted above the Council has proposed changes to CP2. These clarify the 
nature of the policy and its indicative ambitions for new development. For 
reasons of justification, effectiveness and consistency with national policy, I 
recommend accordingly (MM 6). 

Summary 

45. The settlement strategy, as proposed to be modified, is justified by the 
evidence base and will be effective in realising the objectives and Vision of the 
CS as a whole. 

 

Appendix 1

Page 42



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 14 - 

Matter 3 – Economy (Policies CP2 & CP34 – 40) 

Does the CS provide the most appropriate and robust strategy for the 
economy with due regard to cross border issues? Is the approach 
evidenced adequately and consistent with national policy? Will the 
approach be effective? 

Employment Land 

46. CS Strategic Objective 1 sets out the Council’s aim to secure a resilient, 
sustainable and competitive economy, characterised by higher value and 
higher skilled jobs aligned with the objectives of the Swindon and Wiltshire 
Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP).  The evidence base which underpins SO1 
and the delivery policies within the CS is comparatively extensive and 
incorporates both quantitative and qualitative considerations, including the 
Wiltshire Workspace and Employment Land Review37 and a range of 
information produced to inform the adopted South Wiltshire Core Strategy.  

47. Amongst other sources, the Council’s Topic Paper 738 ‘Economy’ and its 
position statement39 identify a range of economic issues affecting Wiltshire, 
including an historic outward facing economy and the impact that the 
proximity of major centres of economic activity, including the more distant 
effects of London, have upon the county and its settlements.  There is 
adequate evidence of joint working arrangements with nearby authorities such 
as Swindon, Bristol and Bath and North East Somerset such that the CS has 
been informed adequately by the wider regional context.  The Duty to 
Cooperate has been addressed adequately in this regard.  

48. The evidence provides an analysis of the character and sector influences within 
the Wiltshire economy with due regard to its regional and spatial context and, 
in essence, has led to a strategy which seeks to reduce net out commuting 
through the provision of increased numbers of local jobs.  The CS aims to 
increase the degree of self-containment within Wiltshire’s communities and 
deliver significant private sector employment opportunities. 

49. To do so, the CS contains a suite of related policies that intend to aid 
economic growth.  The provision of employment land throughout the county, 
reflecting the settlement hierarchy and the economic zones of the LEP, is 
intended to enable inward investment opportunities, particularly for small and 
medium sized businesses, whilst providing growth opportunities for indigenous 
employers.  The CS will provide at least 178 ha of new employment land 
spread throughout the community areas of Wiltshire. As set out in CP2, this 
will be delivered through a combination of new strategic allocations, through 
mixed use urban extensions and through retained Local/District Plan 
allocations.  This figure is ambitious but is broadly supported by the available 
evidence and I have no substantive reason to consider it is not justified 
adequately. 

 

                                       
37 STU/20 
38 TOP/11 
39 WCS/PS/M3 

Appendix 1

Page 43



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 15 - 

Additional Employment Land 

50. Core Policy 34 provides for the supply of employment land in addition to that 
allocated by the CS.  The policy is consistent with the thrust of the overall plan 
through its positive approach to development within larger settlements.   The 
Council has suggested changes to clarify the approach to be taken in relation 
to office development and to clarify the cited criteria.  Such alterations will aid 
the effectiveness of the policy in its operation, ensuring adequate flexibility for 
the consideration of a broad variety of potential developments.  The Council’s 
changes would also clarify the approach to be taken towards developments 
that may address the wider strategic interests of Wiltshire’s economy which 
necessitates a greater degree of flexibility.  I recommend such modifications 
accordingly (MM7) with a necessary addition to criteria ‘iii’ that recognises the 
role of existing businesses within villages. 

Existing Employment Sites 

51. The Council’s evidence base, including Topic Paper 7, its associated documents 
and the SA, provides an adequately robust assessment of existing 
employment sites throughout the county. It provides adequate justification, 
with due regard to alternatives, for the retention of Principal Employment 
Areas, particularly given the aim of Strategic Objective 1.  As indicated by the 
Framework, the Council will need to regularly review its land allocations 
particularly where local circumstances indicate a limited need for employment 
land or where specific constraints to delivery may exist.  This can be 
undertaken through the monitoring framework and potentially through either 
the review of the CS, the production of subsequent development plan 
documents or via community led planning initiatives.  Nonetheless, the 
Council’s proposed changes to the CS provide a degree of flexibility towards 
the release of employment land, including that within Principal Employment 
Areas and, subject to slightly alternative text, I recommend accordingly 
(MM8).  Overall the approach of CP35 is justified adequately and will be 
effective in operation. 

Economic Regeneration 

52. Core Policy 36 relates specifically to the regeneration of previously developed 
land within higher order settlements.  The policy seeks to take a positive 
approach to regeneration opportunities, subject to any proposals assisting the 
specific strategy for the relevant settlement and/or enhancing the viability and 
vitality of any affected town centre.  As such, and subject to the modification 
proposed by the Council, the policy accords with the thrust of Sections 1 and 2 
of the Framework.  I recommend accordingly (MM 9). 

53. The policy is less clear as to the approach to be adopted in relation to Large 
and Small Villages.  The Council has indicated that neighbourhood planning 
processes may address economic regeneration opportunities in other locations 
but, while such circumstances may not be common within smaller settlements, 
this is not contained within CP36 or its supporting text.  To provide clarity for 
reasons of effectiveness, I modify the CS accordingly (MM 10). 

Military Establishments 

54. Wiltshire has a history of military activity which is acknowledged within the 

Appendix 1

Page 44



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 16 - 

evidence base40.  Whilst many sites remain in active use, others have become 
surplus to requirements.  The Council appears to have effective working 
arrangements in place with the Ministry of Defence and Core Policy 37 aims to 
provide a strategic policy lead on two levels.  Firstly, it clarifies how new 
development and changes of use of operational facilities may be considered 
and, secondly, how the redevelopment, conversion or change of use of 
redundant sites and buildings will be resolved. 

55. The Council’s approach is sufficiently clear.  Whilst concerns have been raised 
as to the effectiveness of Core Policy 37 with regard to its flexibility, I am 
satisfied that the policy is consistent with the sustainability aims of the 
Framework and the overall thrust of the CS.  New development linked to 
operational capability will be supported.  Appropriate redevelopment, 
conversion or changes of use will be permitted subject to the proximity of sites 
to existing settlements and the nature of the end use; economic led 
development through a masterplanning process will be favoured.   

56. The Council has proposed a change to CS paragraph 6.23 which, whilst 
providing further clarity to the intentions of Core Policy 37, is not essential to 
secure the soundness of the CS.  Overall, the approach of Core Policy 37 is 
justified, consistent with national policy and will be effective. 

Retail and Leisure 

57. With regards to retail and leisure matters, the CS is informed by a reasonably 
broad evidence base which includes the Council’s Topic Paper 6 and the 
Wiltshire Town Centre and Retail Study41.  Such evidence undertakes a 
proportionate analysis of existing settlement functions and incorporates 
suitable consideration of both quantitative and qualitative requirements across 
the county; these are reflected as necessary in the relevant community area 
policies.   

58. Core Policy 38 seeks to enhance the vitality and viability of town centres in a 
positive manner that is consistent with the overarching thrust of the 
Framework. The Council has proposed a threshold for a retail impact 
assessment which, whilst low, is justified adequately by the available 
evidence; it provides a degree of protection for smaller centres from harm that 
may arise from more significant out of centre proposals. 

59. The Framework requires that plans should, amongst other matters, define the 
extent of town centres and primary shopping areas based on a clear definition 
of primary and secondary frontages in designated centres.  In this regard, the 
CS relies upon preceding policy documents and their saved policies.  Such 
plans are not up-to-date and therefore the robustness of the approach of the 
CS is undermined.  The evidence base cannot be considered to be strong with 
regard to designated frontages.  The Council proposes that the review of the 
CS will provide an early opportunity to update the designated town centres 
and their frontages.  Whilst it would be preferable to have undertaken such a 
review prior to the submission of the CS, I am satisfied, on balance, that 
provided the Council commits to update its evidence expeditiously then the 
submitted CS operating alongside the Framework and other material 

                                       
40 TOP/19 et al  
41 STU/95 and 94 

Appendix 1

Page 45



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 17 - 

considerations provides a proportionate approach whereby decisions can be 
made in the interim. I recommend a modification accordingly (MM 11). 

Tourist Development and Accommodation 

60. As indicated by the evidence base42, tourism plays a notable part within the 
Wiltshire economy. Core Policies 39 and 40 were consequently introduced to 
the CS to ensure its importance was reflected appropriately. 

61. Core Policy 39 refers to tourist development and, in a manner consistent with 
the overall document, places a locational emphasis upon the settlement 
hierarchy.  This supports the approach of the plan towards sustainable forms 
of development and is consistent with the Framework.  The policy provides 
adequate flexibility for development away from settlements and may be 
considered justified and effective. The Council’s suggested changes are not 
necessary for soundness. 

62. Core Policy 40 relates to accommodation.  The Council has proposed changes 
which will avoid an anti-competitive approach to new development and which 
will secure a suitably flexible policy basis for decision making both within and 
outside of settlements.  To ensure an effective and justified approach, I 
recommend such modifications accordingly (MM 12). 

Matter 4 – Housing (Policies CP2 & CP43 – 47) 

Is the Core Strategy’s approach to housing provision sufficiently justified 
and consistent with national planning policy? With particular regard to 
deliverability, has the Core Strategy been positively prepared and will it be 
effective in meeting the varied housing needs of the county over the plan 
period? 

63. Strategic Objective 3 of the CS seeks to provide everyone with access to a 
decent affordable home and Core Policies 2 and 43 to 47 specifically address 
how the Council envisage this would be achieved. 

64. With the aim of boosting significantly the supply of housing, the Framework is 
clear that an evidence based approach should be taken to ensure that any 
Local Plan meets the full objectively assessed needs for market and affordable 
housing in the housing market area (HMA) as far as is consistent with the 
other Framework policies.  It is consequently important that the full objectively 
assessed needs are quantified.  The Framework and the PPG indicate that 
Councils should plan for a mix of housing based on current and future 
demographic trends, market trends and the needs of different groups. 

65. The Council has produced a body of evidence which relates to the housing 
requirement for Wiltshire.  The majority of such evidence predates the 
publication of the PPG and understandably therefore has not been prepared in 
that context.  I am mindful that, notwithstanding the recommended 
methodology, the PPG states that there is no single methodological approach 
to the assessment of development needs.  Amongst others, the Council’s 
evidence includes Topic Paper 15 ‘Housing Requirement Technical Paper’, its 

                                       
42 TOP/11, TOP/12, STU/205, STU/93 et al 

Appendix 1

Page 46



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 18 - 

Housing Matters Paper43 and its Wiltshire Council draft Strategic Housing 
Market Assessment44 (Fordham). The Council considers its evidence to be PPG 
compliant.  Such evidence incorporates data and analysis of household 
projections, migration, employment trends, affordability and more limited 
references to what the PPG and the Framework refer to as ‘market signals’. In 
the context provided by the PPG on establishing the need for housing, I have 
also been mindful of the national statistics relating to household projections 
which were published in April 2013 upon which opportunity for public comment 
has been provided.  Even more recently the Council has produced additional 
evidence pertaining to housing matters which I have taken into account45. 

66. In devising its originally submitted housing figures, predating the publication 
of the PPG, the Council acknowledged the work it undertook during the 
preparation of the draft RS for the South West which did not reach final 
adoption.  The draft RS (Proposed Changes) indicated a total housing figure 
for Wiltshire of 44,400 homes (2006-2026). Following the government’s 
decision to revoke the RSS tier of plan making, the Council reassessed its 
housing requirements.  Topic Paper 15 provides an indication of the key 
considerations that led to the housing figure contained within the submitted 
CS; these include the economic aspirations of the county, population growth, 
changes affecting military deployment within the county and general housing 
need. 

67. The draft RS identified three HMAs within which parts of Wiltshire were 
located.  These were generally broader areas than those defined by the 
Council’s Fordham work and extended beyond Wiltshire’s boundaries to 
encompass settlements such as Swindon, Bath and Bristol.  Given travel to 
work patterns this is unsurprising. Subsequently, the Fordham work 
acknowledges the challenges faced in defining HMAs, particularly in a large 
rural county influenced by nearby urban conurbations and I accept that it is 
not a precise science.  The Council, following the Fordham analysis, has 
elected to define three main HMAs lying within the county that are informed by 
factors which include an estate agents survey and a search patterns analysis.  
This does address some of the contextual, migration, house price data and 
other market signals relevant to Wiltshire as referenced in the PPG.  

68. I have some reservations at the potential artificiality of delineating the 
Wiltshire HMAs in line with the county boundary, particularly where commuting 
information indicates the ‘pull’ of settlements such as Swindon and Bath.  
However, the Fordham work itself (Sections 3 and 4) does acknowledge the 
fact that the Wiltshire housing market is influenced by settlements further to 
the east, the west and the south.  On balance and with regard to the ongoing 
work of nearby authorities with whom Wiltshire Council is engaged as 
recommended by the PPG, the three HMAs defined by the Council are an 
adequate basis upon which the housing requirement for the county can be 
assessed. 

69. The Fordham evidence follows a reasonably comprehensive methodology in 
assessing aspects of housing need utilising a range of data which includes the 

                                       
43 EXAM/02B 
44 STU/21 
45 Including EXAM/84-91, 109 

Appendix 1

Page 47



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 19 - 

2008 ONS population and household projections. This document provides an 
initial estimate that the net annual future housing need across Wiltshire is 
3,724 households (disaggregated across the HMAs)46.   With due regard to the 
Long Term Balancing Household Model used, the Fordham work indicates that 
34,000 new dwellings are required over the 15 year period to 2026; dwelling 
completions to 2011 have been approximately 10,000.  

70. During the course of the Examination, the Council clarified its position that, for 
the purposes of assessing the housing need of the relevant Wiltshire HMAs, its 
Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) is actually comprised of two 
documents: the Fordham work47 (Dec 11) and Topic Paper 15 (Jan 12).  Whilst 
these two documents appear to have been prepared in parallel, they are not 
readily assimilated to provide simple clarity as to the objective housing needs 
of the locality as required by the Framework which was subsequently 
published in March 2012.   

71. In developing its preferred figure, the Council has applied a variety of 
considerations to the available data, for example assumptions relating to 
migration.  In its analysis of housing requirements (Topic Paper 15), a number 
of population projections for Wiltshire based on different assumptions was 
developed. This ultimately led the Council to identify a broad range of housing 
requirements over the plan period in the order of 35,900 to 57,800 dwellings.  
The upper figure was derived from an economic led scenario, the lower figure 
from a job alignment scenario and a mid-range figure of 43,200 was based on 
a population led scenario (43,900 if allowing for concealed households).  Topic 
Paper 15 indicates48 that the Council’s housing projections forecast the 
requirements for Wiltshire alone and make no allowance for neighbouring 
Swindon and that further development to the west of Swindon should be seen 
as being in addition to that required for Wiltshire. 

72. With regard to its mid-range figure the Council considers that past population 
and migration trends are a useful benchmark for housing needs driven by 
demographic factors but that these should not be relied upon and will not 
continue over the plan period due to changes, for example, in economic 
conditions (away from historic buoyancy) and the effect of the CS policies 
themselves over time.  However, there is little substantive evidence that such 
a change to past trends would necessarily occur.  Paragraph 50 of the 
Framework recognises the role of planning for a housing mix based on current 
and future demographic trends, market trends and the needs of different 
groups.  Consequently, I place some weight upon the demographic evidence 
which supports a housing need in the order of 44,000 over the plan period. 

73. The Council’s range is produced in the knowledge that the evidence, 
particularly the Fordham work, indicates a significant need for affordable 
housing. Indeed, the level of need appears so high that its delivery is not 
feasible based on historic completion rates for all housing or realistic 
projections.   

74. Against this background and in relatively simple terms, the Council considers 
that its objectively assessed housing need for the plan period is 37,000 net 

                                       
46 STU/21 para 10.7 
47 STU/21 
48 Para 5.6 

Appendix 1

Page 48



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 20 - 

additional dwellings, split across its three identified HMAs.  The Council further 
indicates that for the anticipated 26,670 net additional dwellings (2011-2026) 
14,700 should be for the open market, the remainder being shared ownership, 
affordable rent and social rented with a mix of housing size (see Tables 2 and 
3 EXAM/02B et al).  The submitted CS is consequently written to enable the 
delivery of at least 37,000 homes. 

75. The Council’s justification for the figure of 37,000 new dwellings is provided in 
the original Topic Paper 15 and elsewhere.  However, whilst it represents the 
Council’s preferred quantum of housing, I am not satisfied that it represents 
the objectively assessed housing need of the Wiltshire HMAs.  Such a figure is 
certainly challenging to derive but the balance of evidence indicates that it is 
greater than 37,000:   

• Based upon the Fordham work, allowing for completions and notwithstanding an 
affordable housing need that may exceed 1,100 dwellings per year49 , levels of 
housing need appear to be in the order of 44,000 dwellings over the plan 
period.   

• Based upon ONS population projections, the Council’s evidence suggests the 
need would appear to be in the order of 43,200 (43,900 allowing for concealed 
households).   

• Alternative assessments of housing need produced by interested parties have 
utilised the available data in different ways, for example employing the Chelmer 
methodology, to indicate that levels of need exist above 44,000 dwellings over 
the plan period50.  Such approaches incorporate consideration of 2nd home 
ownership, vacancy rates and the economic aspirations of the Council.  
Ultimately they support an objectively assessed need that is significantly 
greater than the minimum CS figure of 37,000 dwellings over the plan period. 

76. The 2011-2021 ‘Household interim projections in England’ provide an update 
on the previously available data.  However, I remain mindful that such data 
does not cover the plan period and therefore a degree of caution, due in part 
to its reliance upon trends observed over a comparatively short timeframe 
which includes a period of significant economic uncertainty, should be used in 
its application to the longer term housing needs of the county (ie beyond 
2021).  This data indicates a broadly similar rate of population change (2011-
2021) to that anticipated by the 2008 ONS data albeit based on a greater 
population baseline and with a reduced rate of household growth (informed by 
a slower than anticipated decrease in household size).  The way in which such 
trends are realised over the plan period is important and should be subject to 
review; meanwhile, more limited weight may be attributed to the 2011 data 
set as an indicator of longer term housing needs for the purposes of this CS.    

77. Migration rates will undoubtedly influence levels of housing need within the 
county.  The 2011 ONS projections are informed by mid-year population 
estimates which are lower than the 2011 census data subsequently produced.  
The 2011 ONS projections therefore make assumptions upon net migration 
that may bear further analysis in relation to the population figures recorded.  
Clearly reduced net migration will effect housing requirements and thus review 

                                       
49 STU/21 para 9.49 on 
50 See POS Barton Wilmore and Gladman and Redrow et al 

Appendix 1

Page 49



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 21 - 

is imperative to ensure adequate housing provision is made. The 2008 
projections assume slightly higher migration levels which support a housing 
requirement in excess of the Council’s minimum of 37,000 dwellings.  It may 
be the case that migration will be affected by policy decisions and economic 
factors but at this moment in time greater weight should be given to the 2008 
ONS projections and therefore I am not persuaded that other factors justify a 
housing need as low as 37,000 homes at this moment in time. 

78. Overall, the balance of evidence suggests that the objectively assessed 
housing need, to be disaggregated across the three Wiltshire HMAs, is 
currently in the region of 44,000 dwellings over the plan period.  

79. Paragraph 47 of the Framework indicates that a Local Plan should meet the full 
objectively assessed needs for market and affordable housing in the relevant 
HMA as far as is consistent with the other policies of the Framework.  With this 
in mind, the Council is aware that the Framework requires a Local Plan to be 
aspirational but realistic (paragraph 154) and I accept that setting a housing 
requirement which is undeliverable may compromise the ability of the Plan to 
effectively deliver sustainable forms of development supported by adequate 
infrastructure.  Topic Paper 15 indicates that past delivery rates have been 
able to average approximately 2,100 homes per annum during the period of 
2001-2008 albeit falling to 1,647 in 2009/10.  The Council considers that the 
potential deliverability of housing should result in a base for the dwelling 
requirement that does not exceed 43,200 new dwellings over the plan period 
which seems reasonable.   Indeed, the evidence indicates that a notable 
increase in average housing delivery over the remainder of the plan period 
would be required to deliver, for example, in excess of 44,000 homes.  

80. Nonetheless, the Framework calls for a significant boost to housing supply.  
Achieving an average delivery rate of 2,100 over the entire plan period, not 
merely the pre-recession period, would be significantly above recent annual 
performance and the longer term historic average as a whole; it would equate 
to some 42,000 homes.  Whilst the achievement of such a figure should be 
subject to careful monitoring, the evidence indicates the fluctuations that can 
occur in the delivery of housing but does not conclusively indicate that such a 
delivery rate cannot be met during the course of the plan period to deliver the 
significant boost in housing required to go some considerable way to meeting 
needs.  Against this context and mindful of the content of the LDS (partial CS 
Review), the subsequent intended early review of the CS, the Sites DPD, the 
Chippenham Site Allocation DPD and the neighbourhood planning processes 
will enable the Council to proactively seek to meet, and if necessary reassess, 
its objectively assessed housing need and plan for its provision accordingly.   

81. Indeed, I am particularly mindful that the Council intends to produce a new 
SHMA by early 2016 which may revise the objectively assessed needs for the 
relevant HMAs affecting the county and which will inform its plan making 
processes.  Consequently I consider that at this current time the minimum 
housing figure within the CS should reasonably equate to at least 42,000 
homes over the plan period with the flexibility to deliver more. The measured 
delivery of necessary housing over the plan period does not necessitate undue 
‘frontloading’ in the early years of the plan. Subject to monitoring and 
management, the approach contained within the CS appears to be appropriate 
within the Wiltshire context.  Planned review of the housing needs and any 

Appendix 1

Page 50



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 22 - 

new evidence, for example the joint SHMA with Swindon Borough Council, will 
enable the Council to maintain its plan led approach to the provision of 
sufficient homes to address needs which may investigate further the need to 
utilise land outside of the county as necessary. 

82. The Council has subjected its housing figures to SA.  It’s Option 1 related to a 
range of 35,800 – 42,100 which performed better in sustainability terms than 
its Option 2 of 56,800 dwellings which would have harmful negative effects in 
the sustainability balance.  I do not consider that Option 3 (20,900 dwellings) 
is a reasonable alternative in the face of the county housing need.  The SA 
indicates that “… even by providing housing at the higher end of the range, 
there will be opportunities to mitigate some of the impacts highlighted through 
strong policies promoting environmental protection within the Core 
Strategy…”51. However, whilst the SA considers that the mid-range housing 
scenario of Option 1 should be pursued, there is no substantive evidence that 
the upper range (42,100) would be unacceptably harmful in terms of 
sustainability.  Indeed, I am mindful that the draft RS proposed 44,400 new 
homes for Wiltshire to 2026 and identified no specific sustainability or 
environmental constraints to such delivery.  The subsequent evidence does not 
indicate a change in circumstance which would lead to a minimum figure of 
42,000 not being justified and reasonable.  This is not contradicted by the 
Council’s revisions to the SA and HRA and is supported by the Council’s update 
to Topic Paper 15. The relevant parts of modification MM6 are justified 
accordingly. 

83. The evidence supports the CS disaggregation of new housing across the three 
HMAs of the county which is sound and the effectiveness of the plan is 
maintained by not inflexibly distributing housing at the more micro level of 
each Community Planning Area.  

84. Building upon the submitted CS52 where 200 homes were identified, the 
Council currently proposes to include 900 homes53, allowed via appeals, to the 
west of Swindon54 within its modified minimum housing provision of 42,000 
homes over the plan period. However, the submitted CS indicates that homes 
in this location would not actually contribute towards the Wiltshire housing 
requirement, are consequently excluded from the HMA and should be 
considered as an allowance rather than a requirement whereby in the event of 
their non-delivery no alternatives would be need to be found.  The 900 homes 
is considerably greater than the 200 home allowance contained in the 
submitted CS and is proportionately significant. In the context of boosting 
housing supply and contributing towards meeting the objectively assessed 
needs of the county, this is a limiting approach.  I note that Swindon Borough 
Council does not rely on these homes to meet its own housing requirement as 
set out in its emerging Local Plan. 

85. Concerns have been raised through representations made to the Examination, 
that the 900 homes should not be counted as contributing towards the overall 
CS requirement as their occupation would essentially contribute towards 
meeting the housing needs of Swindon and that the overall Wiltshire 

                                       
51 EXAM/05  para 5.4.40 
52 WCS/01 para 4.29 
53 Now approximately 950 in actual permissions granted. 
54 Adjacent to the built edge of Swindon whilst within the administrative area of Wiltshire 

Appendix 1

Page 51



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 23 - 

requirement would remain to be met. Given that the 42,000 homes is a 
minimum to contribute towards meeting the needs of Wiltshire and that the 
Framework seeks to boost significantly the supply of housing, there is some 
validity to such concerns. 

86. As referenced within Topic Paper 15, the Council’s projections relate to the 
housing requirements for Wiltshire alone and exclude a Swindon allowance.  I 
consider that a requirement for at least 42,000 homes should consider 
carefully the likely role of the permitted homes to be provided west of 
Swindon.  Mindful of the appeal decisions themselves, the location of these 
permissions, and the methodology underpinning the disaggregation of housing 
across the HMAs, I consider that the practical reality would be that these 
homes must be considered as contributing towards meeting the housing needs 
of predominantly Swindon and to a much lesser extent Wiltshire, albeit the 
split between the two is unquantified.  I cannot conclude that the housing 
requirement contained within the Wiltshire CS should be partially met by 
relying upon the delivery of approximately 900 homes to the west of Swindon. 

87. I have considered whether the soundness of the CS as a whole is undermined 
by the approach taken towards these homes. Indeed, I have considered the 
necessity to modify the CS in order to specifically exclude either all or a 
proportion of the 900 homes from contributing towards the CS requirement of 
42,000 homes or, alternatively, to raise the minimum requirement above 
42,000. To do either would necessitate the identification of additional housing 
land within Wiltshire.  Given that the Council has committed itself to an early 
review of the CS, that over 200 of the west of Swindon homes are anticipated 
to be delivered later in the plan period, from 2019/20 onwards, and that a 
small proportion of the west of Swindon homes will likely and practically 
contribute towards the Wiltshire housing requirement, I consider that any 
necessary additional provision would be proportionately small. This matter can 
be dealt with most expeditiously through the planned early review of the CS 
which will include the new joint SHMA, without prejudice to the overall 
soundness of the CS.  As part of MM6 I recommend a change to CS Paragraph 
4.29 accordingly. 

88. The balance of the available evidence which includes the revised Housing Land 
Supply Statement (HLS) 201455 suggests, with due regard to a number of 
appeal decisions including at Malmesbury56 that the CS will ensure an 
adequate five year housing land supply that is consistent with the Framework.   

89. The supply of housing land at any given point in time is dependent upon a 
range of factors and the Council’s HLS will invariably alter accordingly.  
Comparisons based upon previous decisions made upon planning applications 
and appeals are rarely reasonable or particularly helpful, for example due to 
the passage of time or the intervening resolution of site constraints.  Indeed, 
with due regard to the appeal decision APP/Y3940/A/13/2200503, the 
Inspector’s reasoning was based upon evidence debated in April 2014 before 
the most recent updates to the Council’s HLS.  Similar circumstances exist 
with regard to appeal decision APP/Y3940/A/13/2206963 whereby I consider 
that the strategic housing site at Marlborough may form part of the 5 year HLS 

                                       
55 EXAM/91 and 109 and EXAM/114 
56 APP/Y3940/A/12/2183526 and APP/Y3940/A/13/2200503   

Appendix 1

Page 52



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 24 - 

and do not consider that the evidence I have been provided with in relation to 
housing sites at Tidworth and Ludgershall warrants an automatic reduction in 
the likely housing delivery arising.  Inevitably, rates of housing delivery will be 
subject to careful monitoring and, if necessary, prudent management by the 
Council. 

90. The Council’s most recent submissions, including those made to the discussion 
at the Hearing session of 30th September 2014, identify a deliverable supply of 
housing land in excess of five years for each HMA and the county as a whole.  
Whilst it is clear that the delivery intentions for some sites have slipped, for 
example Ashton Park, Trowbridge, the HLS has sought to take such factors 
into account through the Council’s engagement with the development industry 
as part of its data gathering processes. I have received no verbal or written 
submissions that lead me to find that the Council’s current HLS, as updated, is 
not sufficiently robust. 

91. I am mindful that the Council’s land supply data includes strategic sites at 
Chippenham that will no longer form part of the CS.  The deliverability of 
housing land at such sites will be further explored by the production of the 
Chippenham DPD that is intended to be adopted in 2015.  Nonetheless, it is 
evident that much preparatory work upon site suitability has been undertaken 
and there appears to be a clear commitment from development interests to 
submit outline planning applications upon various sites in the next 6 months. 
Without prejudgement of the Chippenham DPD production process and 
notwithstanding the absence of plan led clarity at this stage upon the merits of 
such sites and the lead in times which precede actual house building, I find 
that it is reasonable to include the delivery of housing upon Chippenham sites 
within the HLS which are currently known to be deliverable.  I agree with my 
colleague in the Malmesbury appeal decision57 that to disregard such sites 
would not be justified at this time. 

92. Therefore, whilst I have received submissions in relation to the five year 
housing land supply stated by the Council58 and indicated by the trajectories of 
the plan (as proposed to be changed), including upon the deliverability and 
availability of certain sites, the balance of the evidence leads me to find that 
the Council’s HLS, and consequently the CS, does demonstrate an adequate 
five year supply of housing land.   

93. I have considered, as indicated by paragraph 47 of the Framework, whether 
the Council should demonstrate an additional buffer of 5% or 20% of housing 
sites.  As illustrated by Table 1 of the HLS, housing completions have 
frequently met the annualised housing requirements of the extant 
development plans pertinent to each HMA over the last five years.  This would 
justify the use of an additional 5% ‘buffer’ within the housing land supply.  

94. However, it is clear that the CS plan period extends from 2006 and therefore it 
is not unreasonable to consider whether the Council has been able to secure 
housing completions against the requirements of the CS itself.  The submitted 
CS required the county wide delivery of 1850 homes per year across the three 
HMAs.  Housing completions at such a level were secured from 2006/7 to 

                                       
57 APP/Y3940/A/13/2200503 Para 125 
58 And as clarified within EXAM/103 Appendix Aiv June 2014 

Appendix 1

Page 53



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 25 - 

2008/9 and again in 2013/14, with 1802 homes delivered in 2012/13.  When 
considered across the county, this is not a record of persistent under delivery 
that warrants a five year housing land supply with a 20% buffer.  With the 
exception of South Wiltshire (which has delivered housing within 10% of 
requirements on five occasions), the breakdown across the HMAs does not 
lead me to any different conclusion. 

95. Nevertheless and even though I recognise that only recently has the Council 
proposed a change to the CS, the modifications referred to above indicate a 
requirement of 42,000 homes over the plan period, equating to 2100 per 
annum with disaggregated increases in each HMA.  Such a requirement was 
met county wide in 2007/8 and in 2013/14 whilst performance in the East 
HMA and the North and West HMA have, on occasions, met the indicative 
requirements. Against such requirements and when considered as a whole, the 
Council’s data does not confirm a persistent under supply of housing. In 
reaching this view I have had regard to the appeal decision at Malmesbury59 
where I am unaware of the detailed arguments presented to that Inquiry but 
which appear predicated on an earlier version of the HLS. 

96. Inevitably, a balanced decision must be reached with regard to the available 
evidence.  Mindful of the advice contained within the government’s Planning 
Practice Guide60, I take a pragmatic approach to the evidence.  The Council 
has committed itself to a producing a new SHMA, an updated SHLAA and a 
partial review of the CS in conjunction with a suite of DPDs.  Progress is being 
made in bringing forwards key strategic sites that will contribute significantly 
towards the housing requirements of the county and each HMA, including that 
in South Wiltshire.  On balance, I accept that the Council’s HLS adequately 
demonstrates a five year supply of deliverable sites in accordance with the 
objectives of national policy and that a 5% buffer is acceptable. 

97. In reaching this view I am mindful that windfalls are a not inconsiderable 
component of the five year housing land supply. Indeed, the Council 
promulgates three methods of calculating windfall allowances all of which have 
some credibility and which produce a county wide five year range of housing 
delivery between 940 and 2713 homes61.  The Council has elected to take a 
conservative estimate of likely windfalls yet the evidence is sufficiently 
compelling to suggest that the likely rate of housing delivery on such sites, 
both large and small, will be greater.  This factor supports my conclusion that 
the Council can demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable sites (+5%) in 
accordance with the Framework.  

98. As noted above, the increased housing requirement within the CS, equating to 
2100 homes per annum, has not been consistently delivered since 2006.  The 
consequent shortfall is relatively small and is intended to be addressed over 
the remaining plan period.  Whilst mindful of the government’s advice, I am 
also conscious of the Council’s planned early review of the CS, SHLAA updates 
and proposed SHMA work which will provide it with an opportunity to review 
both housing needs and the effectiveness of existing and proposed delivery 
intentions.  The CS is not unsound as a consequence. 

                                       
59 APP/Y3940/A/13/2200503 
60 Planning Practice Guide Paragraph 035 Reference ID:3-035-20140306 (Sept 2014) 
61 EXAM/109 Appendix 5 Table A.7 

Appendix 1

Page 54



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 26 - 

99. The balance of the evidence62 indicates that there is an adequate supply of 
housing land for years 6-10 and beyond consistent with the objectives of the 
national policy. 

100. The overall housing requirement over the plan period will, following the 
Council’s proposed changes as recommended, be disaggregated across the 
three HMAs and delivered through a combination of CS policy and DPD/ 
neighbourhood plan production wherein public consultation will be required.  
Given the geographic scale of Wiltshire and the volume of housing proposed, I 
consider such an approach to be robust and satisfactory.   

Affordable Housing 

101. The Council acknowledges that there is a considerable requirement for 
affordable forms of housing, of various tenures, and that the CS will deliver a 
shortfall when measured against need.  It should be recognised that an 
increase in overall housing provision will mitigate to some small degree such 
an eventuality and the Council indicates that the CS, as amended (MM14), will 
aim to deliver some 13,000 affordable homes over the plan period. 

102. Core Policy 43 establishes the Council’s in-principle approach to securing 
affordable housing provision or contributions on all sites.  Given the level of 
need throughout the county, such an approach, utilising market housing, is 
justified.   

103. The submitted policy contains a requirement for 40% (net) affordable housing 
provision upon sites of 5 or more dwellings with a financial contribution on 
smaller sites. The tenure of affordable housing will be determined on a site by 
site basis in the context of Core Policy 45 which seeks, in broad terms, a 
suitable range to meet local needs. The Council cites its Affordable Housing 
Viability Assessment63 as providing justification for the approach of the plan.  
Whilst the Assessment appears robust in its methodology and analysis, it does 
not however provide unqualified support for the content of Core Policy 43. 

104. Whilst STU/51 provides some support for the policy figure of 40% affordable 
housing for both the strategic sites and other notional sites, it does so 
primarily on the basis of tenure being affordable rent; if, for example, social 
rent were required, STU/51 indicates the likely need for flexibility to be 
necessary in securing other potential infrastructure, particularly in areas of 
lower economic value.  Similarly, STU/51 indicates that 40% affordable 
housing can only be required on the basis of the Code for Sustainable Homes 
Level 4 in the context of providing housing for affordable rent and that Code 5 
from 2016 would only be viable if supported by a proportionate increase in 
sales values in the intervening period. 

105. As referenced by the Home Builders Federation and others, the Framework 
requires a Local Plan to be produced with due consideration of relevant 
standards and policies together with their impact upon development 
throughout the economic cycle.  It would therefore appear that a range of 
tenures to deliver 40% affordable housing without subsidy (accommodating 
changes to the Code for Sustainable Homes) is most challenging to secure 

                                       
62 Including EXAM/108 
63 STU/51 

Appendix 1

Page 55



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 27 - 

under current and foreseeable circumstances.  The CS can reasonably be 
aspirational but must also be capable of effective delivery. 

106. The Council has proposed to delete its requirement for affordable housing to 
be constructed to the latest Housing Corporation Standards which would affect 
the costs of construction and I recommend this modification to aid the 
effectiveness of the Plan in its delivery (MM 13).   

107. The submitted CS was not supported by evidence which analysed alternative 
affordable housing proportions, for example those lower than 40%.  Whilst 
being progressed, the details of the Council’s intended Community 
Infrastructure Levy are yet to be Examined and finalised.  The Framework 
(para 173) is clear that the sites and scale of development in a plan should not 
be subject to such a scale of obligations and policy burdens that their ability to 
be developed viably is threatened.  With particular regard to STU/51, the CS 
approach to affordable housing does appear to threaten the delivery of key 
elements of the plan. 

108. Core Policy 43 acknowledges that the provision of affordable housing may vary 
on a site by site basis with regard to factors which include development 
viability.  This represents a degree of flexibility which can aid the effectiveness 
of the plan.  Nonetheless, the CS should be justified adequately and the 
balance of the evidence does not currently support the 40% figure as a 
minimum requirement for affordable housing on sites of five dwellings or 
more.   

109. Following the Hearing sessions, the Council usefully undertook further work 
with regard to affordable housing and development viability64 with due regard 
to the categorization of the county based upon four ‘price areas’.  Such 
evidence has been prepared in the knowledge of preceding work informing the 
Council’s CIL Schedule (eg BNP Paribas) and in light of advice such as 
provided by the Local Housing Delivery Group65.  I consider it to be 
proportionate to the strategic purpose of the CS.  Inevitably assumptions upon 
factors such as build costs, infrastructure requirements, contingency and 
market fluctuations will influence the recommendations arising from such 
work.  However, the evidence appears considered and underpinned by justified 
assumptions where necessary.  I am satisfied that the evidence provides 
further suitable and proportionate analysis of the matters affecting Core Policy 
43 and is sufficiently robust in its analysis for conclusions to be drawn.     

110. It has led the Council to propose a variety of changes to the CS, in particular 
to acknowledge a two tier approach to requiring the provision of affordable 
housing on sites of 5 or more dwellings which will be indicated upon the 
Policies Map.  I have been mindful of the submissions made to such changes.  
Whilst such a two tier approach does risk being a rather blunt tool to address 
the issue of appropriate affordable housing provision, Core Policy 43 does 
maintain an important flexibility to consider on a specific site basis the 
necessary provision of affordable housing.  Similarly, the 5 unit threshold is 
supported adequately by the Council’s evidence and there is insufficient 
justification to warrant any alternative threshold, for example 10 units.  Core 

                                       
64 EXAM/85 and 86 
65 Viability Testing Local Plans – Advice for Planning Practitioners June 2012 

Appendix 1

Page 56



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 28 - 

Policy 43 will enable the bespoke consideration of schemes which may involve 
more unusual circumstances and potentially higher development costs, for 
example the conversion of heritage assets.   

111. With due regard to the updated evidence, which also clarifies that smaller sites 
would not reasonably be required to contribute towards affordable housing 
provision, I am satisfied that the revised approach and policy content is 
justified adequately and robustly.  The practical effectiveness of Core Policy 43 
will be capable of being assessed through the Council’s monitoring processes 
and, if necessary, may be subject to review and amendment. 

112. For reasons of integration and social balance the intention of Core Policy 43 to 
disperse affordable housing throughout a development is sound. 

113. I therefore recommend a modification to Core Policy 43 and its supporting text 
(MM14).  The strategic site development templates are indicative and it is 
reasonable to maintain therein the appropriate percentage provision as a 
consequence albeit recognising that Core Policy 43 will apply.  Subject to the 
modifications outlined above, the approach of the CS is justified and will be 
effective. 

Exceptions Housing 

114. Core Policy 44 relates to ‘Rural exceptions sites’ and is broadly consistent with 
the Framework.  It seeks to facilitate the small scale provision of affordable 
housing linked to local needs following a criteria approach.  The policy enables 
the exceptional provision of a proportion of market housing as means of 
obtaining a financially viable form of development which is both justified and 
consistent with national policy. With due regard to the wording of the policy 
and its supporting text, there is no substantive evidence to suggest that the 
policy would necessarily cause harm to, for example, Areas of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty.  Subject to the Council’s proposed changes which are 
necessary to ensure an effective policy that is consistent with national policy, 
the aim and content of the Plan in this regard is justified (MM15). 

Meeting Wiltshire’s housing needs 

115. Core Policy 45 sets out the Council’s approach to meeting the housing needs 
of the county and, as with all policies, must be considered in the context of the 
CS as a whole.  As such, its content and justification draw suitably upon the 
available evidence sources such as the SHMA which addresses HMAs 
adequately.  In this regard the CS is consistent with the objectives of the 
Framework, as expressed for example by paragraph 50.  Adequate flexibility 
exists within the policy and its supporting text such that the strategic 
intentions of the policy will be capable of interpretation at the site specific level 
wherein viability, as provided for by Core Policy 43 for example, will be able to 
be taken into account. 

Vulnerable and Older People 

116. The CS sets out a positive approach to the housing needs of vulnerable and 
older people via Core Policy 46 which is informed by a range of evidence 
sources including the SHMA and Topic Paper 2 ‘Housing’. The approach would 
be suitably effective if its flexibility was increased through the suggested 

Appendix 1

Page 57



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 29 - 

changes of the Council, which also extend detailed consideration of landscape 
matters, and I recommend accordingly (MM 16). 

Gypsies and Travellers 

117. The ‘Planning policy for traveller sites’ (PPTS) was published in 2012 and, 
alongside the Framework, it sets out the Government’s planning policy for site 
provision.  The PPTS sets out the evidence based approach that local planning 
authorities should take in relation to gypsies and travellers; I am mindful of its 
content particularly paragraphs 8, 9 and 10. 

118. Core Policy 47 has two related parts; the first sets out the pitch requirement 
for each HMA to 2021.  The remainder of the policy establishes a criteria led 
approach to the consideration of proposals for development to accommodate 
gypsies and travellers which, with due regard to the PPTS (Policy B in 
particular), is broadly consistent with national policy. 

119. The minimum pitch requirements are established by CS Table 6.2.  As 
submitted, Core Policy 47 requires the provision of at least 82 permanent 
pitches, 25 transit pitches and 5 plots for travelling show people in the period 
2011-2021.  As indicated by the PPTS (para 6), there is an expectation that a 
robust evidence base exists to establish accommodation needs and inform the 
preparation of a local plan.  

120. By its own evidence, the Council acknowledges that the Gypsy and Travellers 
Needs Assessment (GTAA) undertaken in 2006 and which informed the draft 
RS had a number of weaknesses that led to an underestimation of need and a 
consistent understatement of the level of requirement for residential pitches. 
It relied too heavily on caravan count data, failed to provide an accurate 
estimate of the travelling community residing in bricks and mortar, produced a 
low estimate of need from unauthorised sites and included a high pitch 
turnover on the supply side and did not examine adequately the needs of 
Travelling Showpeople.  Furthermore, it also sought to provide an indication of 
requirements only between 2006 and 2011.  The subsequent Proposed 
Changes to the draft RS increased pitch provision and were used by the 
Council to inform its Wiltshire Core Strategy Consultation Document (core 
policy 31). 

121. Subsequent concerns as to the efficacy of the proposed pitch provisions led to 
what the Council has termed ‘a light touch’ review of the GTAA to provide 
revised pitch requirements for the period 2011-2021; it follows an approach 
which it considers to be based upon government guidance66.  The pitch 
provisions in the CS are lower than those in its Consultation Document. The 
Council’s Topic Paper 16 provided a review of the GTAA and used the July 
2011 caravan count as evidence of current need.  The Council considered that 
this Topic Paper represented an up to date statement of the need for traveller 
pitches in Wiltshire as of December 2011.   

122. During the Examination a number of issues have been raised in relation to the 
Council’s justification for Core Policy 47 and the content of Topic Paper 16.  In 
particular and with regards to the latter, concerns have been raised at the 

                                       
66 See Topic Paper 16 p17 - ‘Preparing RSS Reviews on Gypsies and Travellers by Regional 
Planning Bodies’ and ‘Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Needs Assessments: Guidance’ 

Appendix 1

Page 58



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 30 - 

validity of the figures contained in Table 6.  These concerns would appear to 
have some validity in as much as overcrowding on local authority sites and 
unauthorised developments/ encampments may have been underestimated 
with the consequent effect that there may be an additional need for pitches 
that exceeds the Council’s figure of 88 (2011-2016).  With regards to supply, 
the Council appears to countenance 10 pitches (Cricklade) which have 
unresolved issues of deliverability whilst a further 6 may have limitations as to 
their occupation (eg family members only).  The evidence is not conclusive on 
these matters but leads to a concern that the potential supply of additional 
pitches (2011-2016) is overestimated.  The net effect is that there is a degree 
of substantive doubt as to whether the figures within Topic Paper 16 justified 
robustly the pitch requirements within Core Policy 47.  The data contained and 
presented in the caravan count for 201367 does not aid clarity on this point. 

123. With regard to the PPTS (para 9) the submitted CS does not identify a supply 
of specific deliverable sites for the next 5 years nor does it identify a supply of 
specific developable sites or broad locations for growth for the remainder of 
the plan period.  Consistency with this aspect of national policy is not 
achieved.  

124. The justification for the pitch requirements of Core Policy 47, as originally 
submitted, is weak.  Given the content and subsequent analysis of the GTAA, a 
more robust approach for the purposes of informing the CS, may have been to 
pursue Alternative Option 468 to recalculate local need.  It may be considered 
unsatisfactory that the Council chose to merely undertake a limited review of a 
document which contained previously acknowledged flaws.   

125. Indeed, Topic Paper 16 acknowledges that the data relating to the needs of 
Travelling Showpeople is limited and not robust enough to extrapolate beyond 
2011.   The 5 plots identified within Core Policy 47 appear to have been 
derived from the draft RS which were required in the period to 2011 but not 
delivered.  At best this figure is that of an historic identified need; rolling it 
forwards is a simplistic approach which does not incorporate robust evidence 
of current or forecast needs for the immediate plan period.  The CS is not 
justified in such regards.  

126. Whilst the Topic Paper appropriately discounts the option of not making 
provision for transit sites, the subsequent CS approach is undermined by the 
absence of clear and substantive evidence. As Topic Paper 16 indicates: “Given 
the lack of consistent records the range indicated in Table 11 of between 17 … 
and 35 … unauthorised encampments may in reality be much higher than that 
recorded.” The figure of 25 (2011-2016) is consequently not particularly well 
founded and is itself inconsistent with Core Policy 47 which seeks 25 between 
2011 and 2021. 

127. Following the Hearings, the Council has usefully reviewed its position, 
responded to the above matters, produced an Addendum to Topic Paper 16 
and proposed further changes to Core Policy 4769.  Such changes indicate a 
clear and positive intention to make appropriate provision for gypsy and 
traveller pitches over a requisite time scale, including an increase in provision 

                                       
67 STU/225 
68 Topic Paper 16 p17 
69 EXAM/87 and 90 

Appendix 1

Page 59



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 31 - 

to 2021. The Council’s changes and revised LDS make clear that a full GTAA 
will be undertaken to inform a swift review of CP47 as part of a Gypsy and 
Traveller DPD and this will entail work with neighbouring authorities as 
necessary.  This will enable the Council to consider any alterations that may 
emerge in relation to national policy70.  Furthermore, the Council’s proposed 
changes to the text to CP47 clearly indicate a positive approach towards 
providing pitches for gypsy, travellers and travelling showpeople albeit 
recognising that, until the intended DPD is complete, there will be no 5 year 
supply of deliverable sites. 

128. Until such time as the intended DPD is complete and to ensure flexibility, the 
pitch requirements are best considered as minimums.  This would be prudent 
and would introduce flexibility within the plan which would aid the 
effectiveness of its delivery.  

129. As submitted, the CS approach towards gypsies, travellers and showpeople is 
not consistent with national policy and is not justified by the evidence base.  
As proposed to be changed, the CS would be framed positively towards 
securing consistency with national policy.  With due regard to the changes, the 
revised LDS, the intended DPD and a commitment to a full GTAA, I am minded 
to find that the shortcomings of the CS would not be so severe when 
considered as a whole as to warrant a finding of unsoundness. I recommend 
modifications to the plan accordingly (MM17). 

Summary 

130. Subject to the recommended main modifications, the Core Strategy’s approach 
to housing provision is sufficiently justified and is, when considered as a whole 
and with regard to the additional work programmed within the LDS, 
sufficiently consistent with national planning policy. With particular regard to 
deliverability, the modified Core Strategy takes a sufficiently positive approach 
and will be effective in meeting the varied housing needs of the county over 
the plan period. 

 

Matter 5 – Resilient Communities (Policies CP2, CP48 & 49) 

Does  the  Plan  take  a  balanced  and  justified  approach  to  the  rural  
communities  of Wiltshire? Will the Plan be effective in securing its 
objectives? 

131. The CS recognises clearly the large and diverse nature of Wiltshire.  In doing 
so and with regard to Strategic Objective 4 and Core Policy 2, the CS seeks to 
plan for what it terms ‘resilient communities’ throughout the county.   

132. Core Policy 48 aims to support rural life and its approach is supported by the 
evidence found within Topic Papers 4, 7, 14, the Joint Strategic Needs 
Survey71 and elsewhere.  Subject to my main modification (MM18) which is 
based on that suggested by the Council and has had regard to consultation 
responses received, Core Policy 48 takes a justified approach to dwellings in 

                                       
70 Consultation: planning and travellers DCLG Sept 2014 
71 STU/213 

Appendix 1

Page 60



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 32 - 

rural areas, access to services, improvements to infrastructure, the conversion 
of rural buildings and community ownership.   The modified policy will be 
consistent with national policy, is informed by local experience and there is no 
substantive evidence to suggest it will not be effective in operation.  
Residential conversions would not be precluded where justified and I am 
satisfied that the Council’s objective to focus in the first instance upon the 
economic re-use of rural buildings is justified and consistent with both the 
Framework72 and the overarching aims of the CS itself, particularly Strategic 
Objective 4.  For reasons of clarity and to be consistent with the Framework73, 
I have nevertheless deleted the use of the word ‘redundant’ as applicable to 
conversion proposals and amended, for reasons of clarity, how the criteria 
should be applied to individual schemes with due regard to national policy and 
viability. 

133. The Council’s evidence indicates a downwards trend in the availability of rural 
facilities and services across Wiltshire.  Such evidence includes Topic Paper 14 
and the Rural Facilities Survey which, whilst it became apparent during the 
Hearings was not fully accurate in all regards, is sufficiently informative and 
objectively collated so as to be adequately robust for the purposes of 
informing strategic policy.  The Council wishes, using Core Policy 49 but with 
due regard to other policies of the plan, to protect where appropriate those 
rural services and facilities which remain.  To do so, the policy establishes a 
criterion based approach towards proposals involving the loss of a community 
service or facility.  Whilst detailed, the criteria are clear thereby leading to 
their effective application.  The policy will still support justified schemes that 
involve the loss of any relevant facility.  I recommend the changes suggested 
by the Council to ensure the effectiveness of the policy in its implementation 
(MM19). 

134. Overall, the CS does take a balanced and justified approach to the rural 
communities of the county and will be effective in operation. 

 

Matter 6 – Climate Change (Policies CP41 & 42) 

Does the CS promote an adequate and evidence based approach to climate 
change considerations that is consistent with national planning policy and 
will be effective in its implementation? 

135. The Council’s position statement74 sets out the primary evidence sources 
which inform the content of the CS.  These include Topic Paper 1, its 
Addendum and STU/51 together with the SA which assessed adequately 
reasonable alternatives to the content of the CS itself. The CS seeks to make a 
positive contribution towards tackling climate change through a number of 
different policy areas which include the settlement strategy.  Renewable 
energy sources are seen as a key contributory factor to meeting national 
targets for carbon emissions.  The CS addresses explicitly the concepts of 
sustainable construction, low carbon energy and standalone renewable energy 
installations.  I am mindful of national policy and guidance on these matters 

                                       
72 The Framework para 55 
73 The Framework para 28 
74 WCS/PS/M6 

Appendix 1

Page 61



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 33 - 

and have considered the ministerial statements75 made during the course of 
the Examination.  A public opportunity to comment upon the implications of 
these considerations has been provided and responses have been taken into 
account. 

136. Core Policy 41 has four distinct elements.  Firstly, it sets a strategic basis for 
ensuring the adaptability of developments to climate change which is 
warranted by the underpinning evidence.  The Council has proposed changes 
to the policy and its supporting text. It is intended that these will link to 
detailed design guidance to be produced in due course as a Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD). This approach is both logical and reasonable. The 
SPD will provide a means to develop appropriate guidance on a range of 
matters including water consumption which is an issue also addressed through 
the application of Building Regulations and via the Code for Sustainable 
Homes.  I recommend the proposed changes as main modifications for 
reasons of clarity and effectiveness (MM20).   

137. Secondly, the policy addresses the notion of sustainable construction.  Once 
again the Council has proposed changes to the policy to reflect the passage of 
time and to clarify that the Code for Sustainable Homes Level 4 will need to be 
secured for new homes and BREEAM76 ‘Very Good’ standards in other 
circumstances.  I am satisfied that the evidence base, particularly Topic Paper 
1, establishes a sound basis for local policy to supplement national aspirations 
with regard to sustainable construction. 

138. With due regard to STU/51, the approach of Core Policy 41 provides a positive 
strategic lead.  However, the evidence indicates that mixed forms of 40% 
affordable housing in addition to the achievement of Code Level 4 and above is 
not readily viable.  Nonetheless, on the basis of more up-to-date evidence77 
pertaining to affordable housing targets and the reasonable potential for costs 
associated with delivering higher code levels to decrease in relative terms over 
time, there would consequently be adequate flexibility in the CS for Code Level 
4 and above to be secured.  There is insufficient substantive evidence that 
such requirements are therefore unreasonable and will stymie development 
coming forwards over the plan period.  Indeed, the CS is clear that viability of 
development will be a material consideration in the consideration of schemes.  
I recommend the Council’s changes as main modifications (MM20). 

139. The third element of Core Policy 41 takes an encouraging and justified stance 
towards the retro fitting of measures to improve the energy performance of 
existing buildings.   

140. The fourth part of the policy addresses renewable and low carbon energy 
whereby proponents of major development proposals are required to submit a 
Sustainable Energy Strategy to support any planning application addressing, 
specifically, how the scheme would address principles of low carbon energy 
consumption.  There is insufficient evidence to indicate that such an approach 
is contrary to the Framework (para 98).  The Council’s changes, which I 
recommend for reasons of effectiveness as main modifications (MM20), result 
in the appropriate deletion of the 500 home threshold for zero carbon 

                                       
75 EXAM/59, 60 and 61 
76 Building Research Establishment Environmental Assessment Methodology 
77 EXAM/85 

Appendix 1

Page 62



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 34 - 

standards to be met.  Each site will be considered on its individual merits 
within the context of national standards, the CS objectives and information 
sources such as the Wiltshire Sustainable Energy Planning Study78. 

141. I acknowledge that it is the intention of the government to simplify the way in 
which housing standards are applied and that this may lead to the 
consolidation of many of the Code for Sustainable Homes Standards into the 
Building Regulations79.  Until such time as this is enacted, the modifications to 
Core Policy 41 will ensure the CS takes a robust approach towards sustainable 
construction and low carbon energy.  Thereafter, the matter may be 
reassessed for consistency with national policy through the planned early 
review of the CS. 

142. Core Policy 42 sets out a criterion based approach towards standalone 
renewable energy installations.  In its evolution, the policy has been informed 
by a variety of evidence sources, including the Wiltshire Sustainable Energy 
Planning Study which identified the role of a mix of technologies in the 
effective delivery of renewable energy wherein the potential of wind energy 
throughout the county was, relative to other technologies, considerable.  
Indeed, Topic Paper 1 is clear that “… a positive policy supporting large scale 
standalone renewable energy in Wiltshire is needed …” (para 4.4.26).  The 
submitted CS was accompanied by a schedule of proposed changes to the plan 
that required post submission public consultation; the outcome has been taken 
into account. 

143. Wind energy and the use of turbines is a sensitive national issue.  The 
government recognises that appropriately sited onshore wind, as a cost 
effective and proven renewable energy technology, has an important part to 
play in the country’s national energy policy.  In this context, the government 
wishes to deliver balanced development as required by the Framework by 
ensuring the local environment is properly considered through a locally led 
planning system.  Local plan policies should ensure that adverse impacts from 
‘wind farms’ are capable of being addressed satisfactorily.  

144. The ‘Planning practice guidance for renewable and low carbon energy’ was 
published after submission of the CS for Examination.  This was subsequently 
superseded by the PPG.  With regard to this background, the CS and its 
evidence base does not identify specific suitable areas within the county where 
renewable energy technologies could be employed.  Nonetheless, the criteria 
approach of Core Policy 42 is positively expressed. The criteria are reasonable 
and appropriate, being capable of being applied to all forms of renewable 
energy generation throughout Wiltshire. Subject to a modification to the CS to 
acknowledge the need to consider the cumulative impacts (MM21 and MM22) 
of developments, I am satisfied that Core Policy 42 provides a suitable policy 
framework for decision making, is not contrary to national guidance (para 14 
onwards) and is justified adequately by the evidence base. 

145. National guidance, published after the ‘Wind Turbines (Minimum Distance from 
Residential Premises) Bill’ failed to progress,  is equally clear that local 
planning authorities should not rule out otherwise acceptable renewable 

                                       
78 STU/179 
79 EXAM/106 

Appendix 1

Page 63



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 35 - 

energy developments through inflexible rules on buffer zones or separation 
distances.  CS paragraph 6.38 (following the pre-submission changes) refers 
to the subsequent preparation of additional guidance to identify separation 
distances between wind turbines and residential premises in the interests of 
residential amenity and safety.  Until such time as the guidance is produced, 
paragraph 6.38 stipulates a range of minimum distances that will be applied.  
However, whilst I have noted the level of interest into this subject from all 
quarters, there is insufficient evidence to justify the distances contained within 
the CS.  The evidence which has been submitted is, at times, conflicting in 
terms of issues such as safety, noise and visual impact and I therefore turn to 
national guidance for the purposes of the assessment of Core Policy 42. The 
net effect of CS paragraph 6.38 would unduly restrict the scope for larger wind 
turbines to be located where justified in the majority of the county.  

146. National guidance identifies that neighbourhood plans have a key role in 
delivering renewable energy developments and that community initiatives on 
such matters are likely to be increasingly important.  Given the interest 
throughout Wiltshire in the neighbourhood planning process and the topic of 
renewable energy, there would seem to be considerable opportunity for local 
people to engage with, and influence, renewable energy principles at the local 
level.  Nonetheless, in the context of national guidance and in light of the 
unconvincing evidence submitted in support of the pre-submission changes, 
the approach of the submitted CS is unjustified, not positively prepared, 
inconsistent with the aims of national policy and would be ineffective in 
operation.  Whilst the Council made its changes to CS paragraph 6.38 upon 
submission, for the avoidance of doubt, I recommend modification of the CS to 
resolve this issue clearly (MM22). 

147. Overall, the CS, as modified, does take an adequate and evidence based 
approach to climate change considerations that is consistent with national 
planning policy and will be effective in its implementation. 

 

Matter 7 – Natural Environment (Policies CP50 – 56) and Water Resources 
(Matter 10 - Core Policies 67 and 68) 

Does the Plan take a justified approach towards the Natural Environment 
that is based on adequate robust evidence and is consistent with national 
planning policy? Will it be effective in operation? 

148. The content of the CS with regard to aspects of the natural environment has 
been informed by a broad evidence base.  As referenced within Topic Paper 
580, this includes an awareness of the international and national legal 
framework, an awareness of the national policy context, knowledge of the 
environmental assets of the county and its surrounds, the publication of the 
HRA (and addendums81), the SA and work with relevant partner organisations.  
I have been mindful of the various submissions that have been made in 
relation to the content of the CS before and during the course of the 
Examination. 

                                       
80 TOP/8 Natural Environment 
81 EXAM/28, EXAM/58, EXAM/89, EXAM/89A 

Appendix 1

Page 64



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 36 - 

Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

149. The CS acknowledges the great value of Wiltshire’s natural environment. It 
seeks to provide a framework for the protection and enhancement of the 
contributory ecological networks that maintain a healthy environment.  Policy 
50 sets out the intended approach towards biodiversity and geodiversity.  
Following discussions during the Examination, the Council has proposed 
significant changes to Core Policy 50 and its supporting text with the aim of 
ensuring its clarity and effectiveness. 

150. The evidence within Topic Paper 5 and elsewhere indicates that the Council 
has sought to work appropriately with statutory and other partners.  The 
outcomes of such work, which includes inputs from Natural England, are to be 
seen within the CS and with reference to initiatives such as the Wiltshire Bats 
SAC Planning Guidance and the River Avon SAC Planning Protocol.  The 
evidence base appears adequately comprehensive in providing an 
understanding of the existing assets within the county, including those areas 
afforded specific international and national protection such as the SACs, SPAs 
and SSSIs.  Indeed Natural England82 raises no in principle objections to the 
approach taken by Core Policy 50 towards biodiversity and geodiversity within 
the county. 

151. The CS aims to follow the ‘mitigation hierarchy’ with regard to new 
development and biodiversity issues. In essence the CS seeks to avoid impacts 
from development, if feasible, and then to mitigate or reduce them as far as 
possible before considering the potential compensation for any residual 
unavoidable effects.  Such an approach is consistent with the Framework (para 
118).  The Council has demonstrated through its HRA and the work with 
partners how it intends to address the Natura 2000 sites within the country.  
The evidence does not lead me to find that the proposed approach is legally 
flawed, inflexible, unclear or will not be effective in implementation.  The 
policy approach of the CS would not preclude ‘biodiversity offsetting’ albeit the 
evidence does not support a specific reference at this current time.  

152. As acknowledged by the Environment Agency83, the CS, including the 
supporting text to Core Policy 50, makes adequate reference to the Water 
Framework Directive such that the plan will be effective in its implementation. 

153. Subject to the changes proposed by the Council which I recommend for 
reasons of effectiveness (MM23), Core Policy 50 is justified by a robust 
evidence base and is consistent with national policy. 

Landscape 

154. Core Policy 51 seeks to protect, conserve and enhance Wiltshire’s distinctive 
landscape character through a criterion led approach to development 
proposals.  Such an approach is consistent with the principles of the 
Framework.  Underpinning the Council’s approach to landscape issues are the 
various Landscape Character Assessments (LCA) that cover the county.  This 
approach is warranted given the scale and varied landscape nature of 
Wiltshire.  Invariably there is scope for more detailed assessments of 

                                       
82 WCS/SoCG/05  
83 WCS/SoCG/04 

Appendix 1

Page 65



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 37 - 

landscape to be undertaken but the underlying evidence for Core Policy 51 is 
proportionate and acceptable.  Despite concerns raised at the potentially 
generic nature of the criteria within Core Policy 51, the wording is sufficiently 
encompassing to ensure that landscape considerations are assessed 
adequately where necessary.  I have recommended the Council’s proposed 
changes to Core Policy 51 which will resolve a potential tension in the 
submitted CS in relation to the mitigation of harmful impacts arising from 
development (MM3). 

155. The county contains a number of sensitive landscapes including three 
designated AONBs and a small part of the New Forest National Park.  Once 
again, concerns have been raised that the CS and its evidence base fails to 
differentiate adequately between such nationally designated landscapes and 
the remainder of the county.  I have noted the Statement of Common Ground 
(and addendum) between the Council and Natural England84 in relation to Core 
Policy 51. The Council has a clear commitment to establish a Landscape 
Strategy for Wiltshire by 2015; in the interim and for the strategic purposes of 
Core Policy 51, I am satisfied that the LCA approach taken by the Council 
provides an adequately robust basis for considering landscape issues.  Indeed, 
within its evidence the Council does refer to the various management plans for 
each AONB and the National Park and a commitment to positive partnership 
work.  I am particularly mindful of the Council’s suggested changes to the plan 
which provide more appropriate emphasis to the statutory purposes of each 
area thereby ensuring consistency with national policy.  I have recommended 
such modifications accordingly (MM3). 

156. Detailed concerns have been raised in relation to the potential for new 
development within nationally designated areas.  With the exception of 
Marlborough and Warminster (discussed further below within each Community 
Area), the CS identifies no strategic allocations within or particularly close to 
such areas and I am satisfied that Core Policy 51, when applied in conjunction 
with the remainder of the plan, will provide an effective means of assessing 
landscape impacts and protecting, conserving and potentially enhancing 
landscape character across the county and within protected landscapes.  The 
Council’s SHLAA is not intended to indicate that all potential sites identified in 
any protected landscape will be acceptable for development and it should not 
be read as such.  The balance of evidence, with particular regard to the 
development of previously developed land, existing settlements and the role of 
the neighbourhood planning process, suggests that there may be sufficient 
scope to accommodate potential non-strategic development without the use of 
greenfield sites that would be likely to harm any protected landscape. 

157. The Council has concluded that there is no current basis for any new local 
landscape protection or designations.  The intended Landscape Strategy will 
provide a suitable opportunity to review their necessity.  On the basis of the 
available evidence, I accept that the retention of existing Special Landscape 
Areas are warranted on an interim basis albeit their thorough review should 
form part of the Landscape Strategy in due course.  Future expansion of 
national designated areas may be feasible, eg Cranbourne Chase and West 
Wiltshire Downs AONB in the vicinity of the Wellhead Valley, but should be 
dealt with through the appropriate mechanisms which is not this current 

                                       
84 WCS/SoCG/05 and 05A 

Appendix 1

Page 66



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 38 - 

Examination. 

158. The CS clarifies that the approach to be taken towards Green Belt and 
development proposals will be in accordance with national policy and I have no 
reason to consider any alternative approach is warranted. 

Green Infrastructure 

159. Core Policy 52 provides a positive framework for the retention and 
reinforcement of the Green Infrastructure (GI) network of Wiltshire. It is 
informed by a range of evidence sources, notably Topic Paper 1185 and which 
includes the outcomes of the Council’s partnership working with appropriate 
agencies and interested bodies.  There is a sufficient assessment of the GI that 
currently exists within the county.  This provides a reasonable baseline against 
which the future performance of the policy may be assessed. 

160. The Council have provided clarification through a proposed change to the CS 
and its glossary in order that the meaning of GI is readily understood, this is 
useful although not strictly essential for soundness.  The Council is progressing 
the adoption of its separate GI Strategy in a relatively timely fashion which is 
referenced adequately by the CS and will be important in supplementing the 
strategic intentions of the plan. 

161. The Council has proposed changes to the CS in order to clarify that the 
operational Wiltshire Open Space Standards, based on the former District 
areas, will continue to apply until such time as comprehensive new standards 
are assessed in the course of the intended CS Partial Review (March 2016).  
Such standards are not universally based on particularly up-to-date 
information albeit the Council has undertaken a partial review of the existing 
arrangements and incorporated benchmarking against, for example, the 
standards and best practice of other authorities. However, and with due 
regard to the terms of the Framework (para 73), I have no substantive 
evidence to suggest that such an interim arrangement would be unreasonable 
nor that the approach provides anything other than a pragmatic solution 
towards open space provision.  On the balance of the available information, 
the content of the CS is based on proportionate evidence for the short term 
intended.  For reasons of effectiveness, I recommend the Council’s change to 
the CS text to clarify the commitment to review open space (MM24). 

162. The policy requires an audit of GI where major development is proposed which 
supports the strategic aims of the Council in this area; I have no substantive 
evidence that such a requirement would impose an unreasonable burden upon 
development viability so as not to be justified. With due regard to the Council’s 
position statement (para 16), there is insufficient evidence to support the 
inclusion of Rural Buffer Zones within the CS as previously contained in the 
North Wiltshire Local Plan. 

Canals and Cotswold Water Park 

163. Wiltshire has a rich history related to its canal network which is summarised in 
Topic Paper 11.  Core Policy 53 provides a positive framework for the 
restoration and improvement of relevant canals whilst acknowledging 

                                       
85 TOP/17 Green Infrastructure 

Appendix 1

Page 67



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 39 - 

adequately their cultural and historic functions as part of the broader 
landscape and the local environment.  The Council has proposed a change to 
the title of the policy to clarify that it applies to all relevant waterways, 
including the Kennet and Avon Canal. This is necessary for the purposes of an 
effective plan (MM25).  The saved policies referenced in CS paragraph 6.98 
will ensure that the development plan provides an adequate policy basis for 
decision making on schemes that affect the canal network until such time as a 
necessary revised strategic policy relevant to the Kennet and Avon Canal, 
based upon contemporary evidence, is derived as part of the CS Partial 
Review.  

164. The Council has proposed changes to the policy and its supporting text which 
refer to the role of the canals as part of the sustainable transport network and 
to the important role of the Canals and Rivers Trust.  These are useful but not 
essential for the overall soundness of the plan. 

165. The cross boundary importance of the Cotswold Water Park is recognised 
suitably by the CS and Core Policy 54.  The evidence, including Topic Paper 11 
and the Park’s Strategic Review and Implementation Plan86, indicates that the 
duty to cooperate has been discharged adequately and there is no substantive 
indication that the policy is neither justified nor effective. 

Air Quality and Contaminated Land 

166. The Council recognises its statutory duties in relation to air quality.  Despite 
the proportionately good air quality experienced across the whole county, the 
Council is fully aware of the purpose of its Air Quality Management Areas 
(AQMAs).  The evidence suggests that the Council is addressing issues of air 
quality on a number of levels which include its Air Quality Strategy, an 
emerging Air Quality SPD, Developer Guides and a broader Air Quality Action 
Plan which is intended to contain specific action plans to address the issues 
faced by the AQMAs.  As part of its overall approach, Core Policy 55 
specifically provides a basis for considering the implications of development 
proposals which may, for various potential reasons, exacerbate existing air 
quality issues. 

167. Participants to the Examination have expressed concerns that the strategy of 
the CS, particularly towards growth and the settlement hierarchy that may 
increase traffic and thereby pollution, will fail to satisfactorily address air 
quality issues.  However, the evidence indicates that the Council is addressing 
the issue through a cross-organisation approach. The SA supports the specific 
need for Core Policy 55 and whilst I recognise the concerns raised at how 
development locations in key areas might exacerbate air quality problems, I 
also note the amended wording of the Council which emphasises the role of 
the Air Quality Strategy and the intended Air Quality Action Plan.  Core Policy 
55 provides a positive framework for tackling as necessary the issue of air 
quality that may be relevant to development proposals. This is derived from 
an adequate evidence base which, as part of the Council’s strategic approach, 
will be effective and consistent with the Framework (para 124) subject to my 
modification derived from the Council’s suggestion (MM26).   

                                       
86 CPP/105-107 

Appendix 1

Page 68



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 40 - 

168. Core Policy 56 addresses the issue of contaminated land and draws upon the 
Council’s Inspection Strategy for Contaminated Land87.  The policy has 
sufficient flexibility within it to ensure that it can be applied on a proportionate 
basis thereby providing an effective means to address site specific instances of 
contamination that is consistent with the objectives of the Framework. 

Water Resources (discussed as part of Matter 10)  

169. The CS is supported by evidence pertaining to flood risk, particularly the 
Strategic Flood Risk Assessment, the SA and the manner in which the strategic 
allocations have been assessed.  The Environment Agency raises no objection 
in principle to the approach of the CS towards flood risk or towards Core Policy 
67.  The CS is consistent with national policy and the evidence, with due 
regard to the targets and indicators contained in the Monitoring Framework 
which include reference to Sustainable Urban Drainage, suggests the policy 
will be effective in operation. 

170. The issue of water resources within Wiltshire is addressed by the CS and 
specifically Core Policy 68.  The Council has drawn upon a range of evidence 
sources which include its SA, its HRA, its engagement with infrastructure 
providers and the EA.  Given that the CS extends to 2026, the consequent 
limitations of specific evidence relating to water supply and drainage over that 
period and the generally strategic nature of the plan itself, there is inevitably 
some scope for refining both the evidence and its analysis, particularly in the 
latter part of the plan period.  I have no reason to consider that the Council 
will not continue to discharge its Duty to Cooperate accordingly and I am 
satisfied that the evidence and the CS address adequately matters such as 
Water Protection Zones, the Water Framework Directive and River Basin 
Management Plans.  Changes have been proposed to clarify the policy and its 
approach toward groundwater quality which I recommend as main 
modifications to ensure an effective plan (MM27).  

171. Notwithstanding concerns that have been raised, there is no substantive 
evidence to indicate that the CS is not based on adequate proportionate 
evidence or that its objectives are not capable of being met during the course 
of the plan period.  The Infrastructure Delivery Plan88 (IDP) is an iterative 
document which is capable of effective review should any salient matter 
change, for example the investment and delivery plans of infrastructure 
providers.  The CS provides an adequately robust basis for addressing matters 
relating to water resources and new development. 

172. Core Policy 69 seeks to provide specific protection to the River Avon SAC and 
is a response to the available evidence which indicates the potential effects 
that new development can have upon riparian habitats and water quality.  The 
evidence, including STA/01 and EXAM/4289, indicates that a partnership 
approach, including the Environment Agency and Natural England, is seeking 
to tackle identified issues affecting the SAC appropriately.  The Council has 
proposed changes to clarify the wording of the policy which I recommend for 
reasons of effectiveness and legal compliance (MM27). Whilst the CS refers to 

                                       
87 CPP/116 
88 STU/41 
89 Nutrient Management in the Hampshire Avon Catchment, letter of intent by EA and NE 
and Note to the Inspector Regarding Phosphates and the River Avon SAC 

Appendix 1

Page 69



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 41 - 

the potential need for financial contributions arising from new development to 
help implement a longer term Nutrient Management Plan, there is considerable 
flexibility within the CS on this point and, as such, no substantive evidence 
that the approach is unjustified or would prejudice overall development 
viability. The River Kennet, while of value, is not a SAC and is offered 
protection by other elements of the CS, for example the Marlborough Area 
Strategy and via Core Policy 50.  A reference within Core Policy 69 is not 
warranted. 

Summary 

173. Subject to the modifications indicated, the CS does take a justified approach 
towards the Natural Environment that is based on adequate robust evidence 
and is consistent with national planning policy.  There is no substantive 
evidence to indicate that the CS will not be effective in such regards.  

Matter 8 – Built Environment (Policies CP57 – 59) 

Does the Plan take a suitably evidence based approach towards the built 
environment? Is the Plan consistent with national policy in such regards? 

174. The Framework makes clear that good design is a key aspect of sustainable 
development.  The Council’s Topic Paper 9 clarifies that the Council aims to 
ensure that new development throughout Wiltshire is of a good design 
standard and, where appropriate, that it maintains local identity whilst 
respecting important townscape and landscape settings through the sensitive 
design and appearance of new development. 

175. Core Policy 57 ‘Ensuring high quality design and place shaping’ draws on a 
reasonably comprehensive and broad evidence base that includes evolving 
national policy and documents such as the Urban Design Compendium, the 
Manual for Streets and the 2009 publication ‘Planning for places - delivering 
good design through core strategies’90.   

176. Core Policy 57 takes a detailed criterion led approach to design matters. Whilst 
this is a lengthy and potentially rather prescriptive approach, it will provide a 
solid basis for securing good design and there is no substantive reason why 
such level of detail should not form part of the CS at this time.  A variety of 
matters are addressed by each criterion which will need to be assessed on a 
proportionate basis in the application of the policy.  The issue of local 
distinctiveness and landscape character can be addressed adequately through 
the submitted approach notwithstanding the limited baseline evidence 
pertaining to characterisation.  Subject to the changes proposed by the 
Council which I recommend for reasons of effectiveness and consistency with 
national policy, the Policy will not preclude the potential use of innovative 
approaches towards new development and will ensure safety is an identified 
factor in the design process (MM28).  The Council’s other suggested changes 
have merit but are not necessary to secure soundness. 

177. With regard to the historic environment, the CS is underpinned by an 
awareness of the range of assets which exist within the county and has been 

                                       
90 Commission for Architecture and the Built Environment (now Design Council) 

Appendix 1

Page 70



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 42 - 

informed by evidence which includes the Historic Landscape Assessment91, the 
Salisbury Historic Environment Assessment92 and positive engagement with 
English Heritage. Indeed, I note the content of the Statement of Common 
Ground (amended) between the Council and English Heritage which has led in 
part to a range of proposed changes to the CS which include the use of 
accurate nomenclature and reference to existing and proposed supporting 
documents.  I recommend many of these changes for reasons of effectiveness 
and consistency with national policy (MM29).  On this basis, Core Policy 58 is 
justified adequately, consistent with national policy and will be effective. 

178. Core Policy 59 is entitled ‘The Stonehenge, Avebury and Associated Sites 
World Heritage Site and its setting’.  In the development of both the policy and 
its supporting text the CS has been informed by a range of evidence sources 
which are detailed in part within Topic Paper 9; these include the relevant 
Management Plans and the Stonehenge Statement of Significance.  
Constructive dialogue between the Council and interested parties, including 
the Avebury Society and the CPRE93, during the course of the Examination has 
led to a number of proposed changes to the CS which are designed to provide 
accuracy of terminology and clarity of intent.  Such changes are necessary to 
ensure the effectiveness of the CS and its overall consistency with national 
policy. I recommend them as main modifications accordingly (MM30). 

179. Overall, the CS does take a suitably proportionate evidence based approach 
towards the built environment that is consistent with national policy. 

 

Matter 9 – Community Areas  

Does the CS take a robust approach to the identified community areas of 
Wiltshire and  key settlements? Is the approach consistent with national 
policy and will the objectives of the plan be capable of effective delivery? 

Amesbury Community Area  

With due regard to the consideration of alternatives, does the CS take a 
justified approach towards the Amesbury Community Area and will it be 
effective in terms of delivery? 

180. The Amesbury Community Area is focussed upon the market town of 
Amesbury (including Bulford and Durrington) which lies north of Salisbury.  I 
am mindful that the South Wiltshire CS was adopted in 2012 and is currently 
applicable to this locality.  The Council acknowledges that the approach to 
Amesbury Community Area is derived from the South Wiltshire CS but, 
following review, is an approach that remains consistent with both the 
available evidence and the underlying objectives of the Wiltshire CS.  I have 
no substantive reason to disagree. 

181. Core Policy 4 identifies the settlement hierarchy for the community area which 
is justified adequately by the Council’s evidence and its analysis of the role 

                                       
91 STU/52 
92 STU/196 
93 Campaign to Protect Rural England 

Appendix 1

Page 71



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 43 - 

and function of settlements. As submitted, the policy indicated that at least 
2,395 homes were to be provided over the plan period, a significant proportion 
of which would be located at Amesbury including some 1,300 in a strategic 
allocation at Kings Gate.  Subsequent to its consideration of the overall 
housing provision for the county and its disaggregation across the three HMAs, 
the Council has proposed an indicative amount of housing for this, and other, 
Community Areas.  Consequently, the level of indicative housing contained in 
Core Policy 4 is proposed to be 2785 homes, of which some 2440 would be at 
Amesbury, Bulford and Durrington and 345 in the remainder of the 
Community Area.  With due regard to the updated evidence base, including 
the SA, the SHMA and the Council’s Topic Papers such an approach is justified 
adequately and I recommend accordingly (MM 31).  

182. The strategic allocation is detailed within Appendix A whereby a range of 
salient matters, including infrastructure provision, are considered adequately.  
There is insufficient evidence to indicate that the proximity of the military 
airfield is a constraint that would jeopardise development coming forwards and 
the balance of the evidence indicates that the site is viable and deliverable.  
There is no substantive evidence to suggest any alternative approach would be 
justified reasonably. 

183. Non-strategic housing is intended to be delivered throughout the community 
area wherein neighbourhood planning is envisaged to be a key delivery factor.  
As indicated by EXAM/29B, there is a limited degree of engagement at present 
and consequently the Council will need to monitor with care the rate at which 
any community planning process can facilitate the levels of development 
envisaged by the CS outside of Amesbury.  The identification of specific 
housing sites by the Council in its forthcoming Sites DPD as an adjunct to the 
neighbourhood planning process may be necessary to ensure a specific supply 
of housing land to meet identified needs.  

184. The supporting text to Core Policy 4, particularly paragraph 5.19, sets out a 
range of matters that may need to be addressed by specific development 
proposals within the community area.  These include retail matters, heritage 
interests, landscape and biodiversity considerations and transportation issues 
which include the role of the A303 and connectivity with and through 
Amesbury town centre.  All referenced matters have a basis in evidence, 
including the community strategy and aspects of the Amesbury Community 
Strategic Plan, which result in a justified and positive basis for planning until 
2026.  To ensure the suitable acknowledgement of the AONB, I recommend 
additional text as a main modification accordingly (MM31). 

185. With regards to employment land, Amesbury and its location close to the A303 
continues to be the focus for development.  Core Policy 4 establishes 17ha of 
new employment land for the community area.  Such a figure is derived 
reasonably from the work underpinning the South Wiltshire CS and with 
regard to currently extant policies.  It will complement the five identified 
Principal Employment Areas.  There is no substantive evidence to indicate any 
alternative approach is warranted. 

186. Core Policy 5 set out a positive approach towards further suitable development 
at the established campus of Porton Down.  The Council and the Policy 
acknowledges the wildlife and biodiversity issues arising from the location of 

Appendix 1

Page 72



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 44 - 

the site, particularly with regards to the chalk grassland habitat and stone 
curlew population.  I note the ongoing work between the Council and its 
partners with regard to the Integrated Business and Environmental 
Management Strategy which seeks to avoid the potentially adverse effects of 
future development upon the Natura 2000 sites.  Natural England maintain no 
objection to the policy and, subject to the changes proposed by the Council 
which are necessary for reasons of legal compliance and effectiveness, I have 
no substantive basis upon which to disagree.  I recommend the Council’s 
changes as main modifications accordingly (MM32). 

187. Core Policy 6 relates specifically to Stonehenge and must be considered in 
conjunction with the remainder of the CS, particularly Core Policy 59. The 
Council aims to protect and sustain the outstanding universal value of this 
World Heritage Site and its setting and, subject to the clarification of the policy 
for reasons of effectiveness, I have no reason to consider the approach taken 
to be unjustified (MM33). 

188. With due regard to the consideration of alternatives, the CS does take a 
justified approach towards the Amesbury Community Area and will be effective 
in its delivery. 

Bradford on Avon Community Area 

With due regard to the consideration of alternatives, does the CS take a 
justified approach towards the Bradford on Avon Community Area and will 
it be effective in terms of delivery? 

189. The Bradford on Avon Community Area is situated between Trowbridge and 
Bath on the western fringe of the county.  The area is centred upon the 
historic market town of Bradford on Avon itself, which serves a mix of large 
and small villages as identified robustly through the Council’s analysis of the 
role and functions of settlements.  Much of the area is influenced by the 
Western Wiltshire Greenbelt and the Cotswolds AONB and I recommend a 
modification to clarify the role of the latter within the CS (MM34). 

190. The Council has identified, for reasons which include its location, that the town 
experiences relatively high levels of out commuting.  The CS contains a 
consequent objective of increasing the degree of self-containment within the 
town through the modest provision of employment opportunities.  
Consequently, Core Policy 7 provides support for two Principal Employment 
Areas and indicates that 2 to 3 ha of employment land will be provided on land 
at Kingston Farm. 

191. The approach to employment land is set out by the Council’s evidence, 
particularly the Employment Land Review and Topic Paper 7 which latterly 
identifies the landscape, green belt and transport considerations that justify 
adequately the employment land provision for the town.  Given the proximity 
of the town to Trowbridge, with its capacity for growth, I am satisfied that the 
Council’s approach is robust albeit capable of ready review through the ‘plan, 
monitor, manage’ process.  The expression of requirements in terms of land 
rather than floorspace is not unreasonable and is consistent both with the 
evidence base and the CS when read as a whole. 

192. It would appear that the employment land allocated will facilitate the 

Appendix 1

Page 73



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 45 - 

consolidation of an existing business but that in itself does not invalidate the 
approach of the CS for the town.  As indicated by Topic Paper 7, additional 
employment land is anticipated to be required for the wider community area 
and, subject to monitoring, there is no substantive evidence to indicate that 
the neighbourhood planning process would not be capable of ensuring such 
land is identified as necessary. 

193. The Council’s housing evidence suggests that the capacity for growth in 
Bradford on Avon is limited by a range of factors which feasibly limit 
development towards the eastern fringe of the town. The Council has 
concluded that the strategic allocation at Kingston Farm for 150 dwellings, as 
part of a mixed use scheme, is the most appropriate when compared to 
alternatives.  A range of evidence, including the SA, the Strategic Sites 
Background Paper and Topic Paper 12 indicates how the submitted option of 
Kingston Farm was derived.  This evidence, particularly the SA, clarifies that 
the ‘golf course option’ would have a number of negative impacts and was not 
a suitable alternative to be pursued. Whilst I note the submissions made which 
seek to clarify the effects of a scheme involving land at the golf course, such 
details are not particularly well developed and do not lead me to disagree with 
the Council’s submitted position.  The Sites DPD will provide a suitable 
opportunity for the Council to consider further the housing land supply for this 
community area. 

194. For reasons set out in its analysis, the SA does not make a clear 
recommendation between the identified sites at Kingston Farm and nearby 
land to the north of Holt Road.  In terms of the sustainability objectives, the 
land to the north of Holt Road shares some similarities with that of Kingston 
Farm, particularly in terms of transport infrastructure and connectivity to the 
town centre albeit that Kingston Farm is marginally closer.  Development on 
either area of land would have landscape impacts and would potentially affect 
heritage assets of significance (archaeology and Conservation Areas) although 
English Heritage raise no objection in principle94 to Core Policy 7.  There is a 
degree of uncertainty as to the extent to which development upon either site 
would be affected by habitat considerations, especially bats albeit that the 
Council’s HRA and suggested changes (Core Policy 50 and reference to the 
Bats SAC Guidance) provide an acknowledgement of the issue and a means to 
avoid adverse effects on the integrity of the SAC.  Ultimately, there is no 
substantive evidence to clearly indicate that an alternative to the submitted 
strategic allocation, including an additional smaller housing allocation on land 
to the north of Holt Road, should have been reasonably identified.  
Consequently the approach taken by the Council is, on balance, justified 
adequately and will be effective. 

195. The details of the Kingston Farm strategic allocation are shown upon the 
development template at CS Appendix A.  Whilst aware that such details are 
not designed to be rigidly prescriptive and that a masterplanning exercise will 
be required, the content of the template appears justified adequately by the 
available evidence which includes the Statement of Common Ground between 
the Council and developer interests.  The template references a range of key 
matters which include transport, access, drainage, ecology, landscape, health 
care and education, thus providing a satisfactory means of ensuring a well-

                                       
94 WCS/SoCG/01 

Appendix 1

Page 74



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 46 - 

planned and cohesive development.  I have no substantive evidence to 
suggest such an approach is not robust.  Concerns have been expressed at the 
removal of an original Council intention to phase development at Bradford on 
Avon towards the end of the plan period; however, there is no convincing 
evidence to indicate that the strategic allocation should be deferred provided 
the requirements of the CS are satisfied and the matters referenced in the 
development template, for example transport infrastructure, are resolved 
adequately. 

196. The submitted CS expressed its housing figures as minimums.  The Council 
has subsequently proposed an indicative figure for the town and Community 
Area that shows approximately 595 homes to be provided in the town.  The 
balance of the evidence supports the strategic allocation as shown within the 
CS and this would not preclude other sites coming forward as justified in 
accordance with Core Policy 2 or through subsequent plans of the Council, 
such as the Sites DPD.  The balance of the available evidence supports the 
revised volume of housing which I have no reason to consider will not be 
capable of effective delivery over the life of the plan.   

197. As referenced above, the Council’s HRA acknowledges the location of the Bath 
and Bradford on Avon Bats SAC and is alert to the need to maintain the 
integrity of all Natura 2000 sites.  The HRA considers the effect of the CS and, 
where appropriate, Core Policy 7 upon such sites albeit at a broad strategic 
level beneath which further detailed assessment will need to be undertaken to 
ensure compliance with Core Policy 50 (as modified).  The balance of available 
evidence does not indicate that Core Policy 7 could not be implemented at this 
time. 

198. As submitted, Core Policy 7 indicated that there were 160 homes to be 
provided in the remainder of the Community Area over the plan period.  This 
is a relatively low figure in the context of the objectively assessed needs of the 
county as a whole.  However, the Council has suggested the figure be revised 
to 185.  The CS will be subject to subsequent review and that, complementary 
to any emerging neighbourhood planning process, the Sites DPD will be a 
suitable vehicle to review and detail the housing land supply for the locality.  
Such an arrangement is justified and I recommend accordingly (MM 34). 

199. Holt is designated appropriately as a Large Village based on its size, function 
and facilities.  The Holt Area of Opportunity (land at the Midlcands) is 
identified via saved policy C41 of the West Wiltshire Local Plan (1st Alteration) 
which enables proposals for the redevelopment and/or rehabilitation of the 
land for light industrial use, workshops, offices and residential purposes.  The 
extant Local Plan identifies the land as having an industrial characteristic with 
a range of buildings suitable for mix of uses albeit with a need to address 
potential land contamination.  Some development has occurred within the area 
and I have received confirmation of recent permissions which have been 
granted95. 

200. The Council does not consider that the potential for development at Holt, 
including the Area of Opportunity, is strategic. It therefore relies on Core 
Policies 1 and 2 to govern the location of new development in large villages.  

                                       
95 Wilts Council decision refs: W/13/1080/FUL; 1081/CAC; 1082/FUL 

Appendix 1

Page 75



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 47 - 

Consequently, development which would effectively extend the Area of 
Opportunity outside of the defined Holt settlement boundary would only be 
permitted where it derives from a community led planning process or 
subsequent plan, such as the Sites Allocation DPD.  Submissions have been 
made to the Examination which identify a consortium approach to developing 
an area of land which includes the Area of Opportunity in two phases.  Such 
development, for cited reasons which include viability and village parking 
provision, would extend beyond both the Area of Opportunity and the 
settlement boundary.   

201. The settlement boundary has been carried forwards from the extant Local Plan 
and, as referenced earlier in this report, has not been reviewed for the 
purposes of the CS; this weakens its veracity as a robust defined boundary.  
The neighbourhood planning process for Holt is at an early stage, albeit I note 
the views of the Parish Council in relation to the Area of Opportunity and the 
consultation processes which have been undertaken by the development 
consortium in promulgating its intentions for the land in question.  There is 
insufficient evidence to warrant modifying the defined settlement limits for 
Holt at this time or for the extension of the Area of Opportunity as has been 
suggested to the Examination.   I recognise that the speed of the 
neighbourhood planning process for Holt does not meet the current aspirations 
of the developer consortium, but it is a process which can be complemented 
by either a review of the CS or the Sites DPD which will review all settlement 
limits across the county.  Through such means the appropriateness or 
otherwise of the Holt Area of Opportunity and the mixed use development 
which is being promoted can be assessed with necessary public consultation.  
In the interim when assessing detailed proposals that may come forward, all 
material considerations will need to be considered and balanced with due 
regard to extant planning policy; an approach which would appear to have 
been undertaken in relation to recent proposals. 

202. With due regard to the consideration of alternatives and the modifications 
recommended, the CS does take a justified approach towards the Bradford on 
Avon Community Area and will be effective in terms of delivery. 

Chippenham Community Area 

With due regard to the consideration of alternatives, does the CS take a 
justified approach towards the Chippenham Community Area and will it be 
effective in terms of delivery? 

 
203. Core Policies 1 and 10 establish that the town of Chippenham is one of three 

Principal Settlements within Wiltshire. It is the urban focus of the Community 
Area. This designation is justified by a combination of factors that include its 
size, transport links, employment base and its range of services and functions.  
With regard to Chippenham, in common with the remainder of the county, the 
CS is informed by a range of evidence which includes key documents such as 
Topic Papers 3, 6, 7, 10 and 12 in addition to information provided by sources 
such as the Town Centre and Retail Study, the Workspace and Employment 
Land Review and the SA.  

204. The Council aims to deliver significant job growth within the town to improve 

Appendix 1

Page 76



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 48 - 

its degree of self-containment and thus contribute to securing the aspirations 
set out in the community Chippenham Vision Statement.  Such an approach is 
consistent with the sustainability aims of the CS as a whole and is supported 
by the thrust of the evidence base, including Topic Paper 7 and associated 
documents. 

205. The CS draws adequately upon work that has been undertaken at the 
community level, for example the Chippenham and Villages Community Plan96 
and CS paragraph 5.48 references a range of specific issues that the CS will 
seek to influence and address.  These reflect a range of matters many of 
which are drawn from community based discussions.   The balance of evidence 
particularly that provided by the HRA but including submissions made in 
relation to individual sites indicates that the Council has considered adequately 
the effects of the plan upon Natura 2000 sites and other environmental 
constraints. 

Core Policy 9 

206. Core Policy 9 relates to the Central Area of Opportunity and the CS references 
suitably both the saved content of the North Wiltshire Local Plan and the 
community/partnership approach to the Chippenham Central Area Masterplan 
that will provide a more detailed framework for the delivery of town centre 
development.  The location and types of development anticipated over the 
plan period are adequately stated within the CS subject to the Council’s 
proposed changes to paragraph 5.48 which, for reasons of clarity and 
effectiveness in relation to retail matters and flood risk, I recommend as a 
main modification (MM35). 

207. The Central Area Masterplan will assist in developing further how site 
opportunities may be brought forward, for example the residual elements of 
the historic ‘Flowers site’ or, if justified, could extend to the issues affecting 
the Westinghouse Sports Ground.  There is no necessity or evidence for 
detailed site considerations to form part of the CS at this time albeit noting 
that the Masterplan will not be capable of setting planning policy if brought 
forwards as a Supplementary Planning Document. The CS provides a suitable 
positive framework for town centre decision making that is justified adequately 
by the raft of available evidence which includes, for example, the Town Centre 
and Retail Study. 

Core Policy 10 

208. Core Policy 10 provides the broader spatial strategy for the Chippenham 
Community Area. The evidence base justifies sufficiently the various Large and 
Small villages (subject to MM36 which clarifies the designation of Grittleton) 
and the policy principles are consistent with the thrust of the CS as a whole. 

209. As the second largest settlement in the county, Chippenham is identified 
within the CS as being capable of accommodating a notable degree of growth 
over the plan period.  Given the role and function of the town in association 
with its transport links, the CS is justified adequately in this regard.   

210. In essence, the submitted CS showed that the Chippenham locality would 
                                       
96 CPP/121 

Appendix 1

Page 77



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 49 - 

accommodate at least 4,000 new homes and over 26ha of employment land.  
With regard to the overall levels of development, it is logical and consistent 
with the Framework that Chippenham is a focus for new development and 
growth.  On this basis, it would appear that the town provides some notable 
scope for increased levels of development, especially housing and employment 
land, to meet the identified needs of the county.   

211. I am mindful of the interest shown in the forward planning for both this 
Community Area and its affected neighbours.  It is evident that the submitted 
approach has evolved over time, particularly from the Council’s earlier 
Wiltshire 2026 evidence and the Consultation Document which identified a 
greater level of overall development for the community area, phased over the 
plan period.  As submitted, the volume of housing was expressed as a 
minimum and there was consequently scope for an increase in provision to 
meet needs; indeed, the evidence suggests that there are sufficient sites 
potentially available to provide a greater amount of overall development.  The 
volume of employment land is supported by the evidence base and, with 
regard to submissions made, I have no substantive reason to consider the 
figure either excessive or inadequate. 

212. Subsequent to the Examination Hearings, the Council has proposed an 
increase in the overall housing provision for the county with which I agree and 
have recommended accordingly.  This affects the strategy for Chippenham 
wherein, in addition to 26.5ha of employment land, approximately 5,090 new 
homes will be provided across the Community Area with at least 4,510 at 
Chippenham. The nomenclature of ‘approximately’ and ‘at least’ within the  
proposed revisions, with due regard to the addendum to Topic Paper 1597, 
provides sufficient clarity and flexibility for the effective implementation of the 
CS within Chippenham.  

213. As submitted, Core Policy 10 indicates three strategic sites around the existing 
town: North Chippenham, Rawlings Green and South West Chippenham and it 
is intended that these would be brought forward through a master planning 
process and with due regard to the development templates shown in CS 
Appendix A.  The strategic site selection process for Chippenham has been 
relatively complex.  A voluminous body of evidence has been produced from a 
variety of sources including the Council, the community and from developer 
interests.  I have had regard to its content.  Topic Paper 1298 reviews the 
Council’s site selection process (Appendix 3).  It acknowledges the evidence 
provided by the Strategic Transport Assessment99, that relating to 
infrastructure requirements, the input of the SA process and summarises the 
options and associated consultation undertaken. Ultimately, Topic Paper 12, 
albeit not exclusively, sets out the justification for the submitted content of 
Core Policy 10. 

214. The SA forms a key part of the justification for the CS and it provides an 
iterative source of evidence as to how reasonable alternatives to the submitted 
CS content have been considered and discounted.  With regards to 
Chippenham, the approach taken within the iterations of the SA is also 

                                       
97 EXAM/84 
98 TOP/18 - Site Selection Process 
99 STU/105 

Appendix 1

Page 78



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 50 - 

voluminous and, it has been argued, not unduly clear.  It is not aided by the 
way in which options have been identified, assessed, carried forward, 
amalgamated and introduced over time.  Nonetheless, the various versions of 
the SA, including for example SUS/26 and EXAM/05, indicate the Council’s 
approach to development in and around the town and have been subject to 
public consultation. 

215. The Council initially assessed four options for strategic sites as part of its 
Wiltshire 2026 work leading to a preferred ‘Option 1’ for a mixed use urban 
extension to the north and east of the town (3650 dwellings).  The Council 
amended its preferred approach within its subsequent consultation document, 
leading to a preferred approach which was maintained within submitted Core 
Policy 10.  As part of this work a number of potential strategic sites were 
assessed.  There is much useful evidence in the analysis which the Council has 
undertaken.  In broad terms, the evidence supports a more dispersed 
approach to the siting of significant developments in and around Chippenham.  

216. With regard to the content of submitted Core Policy 10, the intention to site 
2.5ha of employment land and 750 dwellings (and associated infrastructure) 
at ‘North Chippenham’ appears rational.  Whilst the concerns of some parts of 
the community are noted, the site is well related to the existing urban form of 
the town, appears capable of relatively early delivery, necessary transport 
infrastructure can realistically be delivered and, crucially, environmental 
constraints appear capable of being addressed adequately without 
unacceptable impacts upon existing interests, for example, Birds Marsh Wood.  

217. Submitted Core Policy 10 also indicates that 18ha of employment land and 
800 dwellings would be delivered on land at ‘South West Chippenham’.  The 
Council considers that this location offers scope for a sustainable urban 
extension to the town wherein the employment and housing benefits of its 
planned early (phased) development would outweigh the potential harm 
caused by an incursion into a greenfield location beyond the town and 
community area itself.   

218. Concerns have been expressed at the nature of the south west proposal, 
particularly its location, its impact upon the landscape and smaller settlements 
to the south of Chippenham, its constituent parts, its proximity and integration 
with the town centre, its effect upon infrastructure and its likelihood of 
delivery.  All such matters are areas of legitimate interest.  The Council is of 
the view that the considerations and constraints which affect the site, for 
example transport infrastructure, connectivity to the town centre and water 
management, are capable of adequate resolution; with regard to these 
matters and in acknowledgment of the Statement of Common Ground and the 
submitted planning application, I have found insufficient substantive evidence 
upon which to disagree.  

219. I have noted the particular concerns of various representors.  Whilst potential 
development in the vicinity of the south west proposal has been historically 
promoted without success, the submitted CS must be examined with regard to 
current evidence.  This evidence supports the levels of overall development for 
Chippenham.  The Council has submitted its intended approach.  
Notwithstanding my conclusions below, the evidence available to me does not 
indicate that development to the south west of Chippenham cannot be 

Appendix 1

Page 79



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 51 - 

assimilated reasonably into the landscape with due regard to connectivity to 
the town centre and the provision of necessary associated infrastructure. 

220. Submitted Core Policy 10 would also deliver 8ha of employment land and 700 
dwellings at ‘Rawlings Green, East Chippenham’.  The site is located east of 
the railway line and north of Monkton Park estate.  I am mindful of the 
Statement of Common Ground100 between the Council and the potential 
developer which indicates broad agreement of the principles to be adopted in 
bringing the site forward and the absence of insurmountable hurdles to its 
delivery.  The site is reasonably well located to the existing built form of the 
town and there is no evidence to indicate that the masterplanning process to 
be adopted in bringing the site forward would not provide an effective means 
of ensuring that considerations and constraints affecting the site cannot be 
resolved adequately and in a timely fashion.   

221. There is therefore a body of evidence which provides support for the strategic 
allocations identified in the submitted version of Core Policy 10.  However, the 
Council and I are obliged to consider whether reasonable alternatives exist in 
order to ensure that the submitted plan is justified adequately. 

222. During the preparation of the submitted CS, the Council considered there was 
positive scope for further strategic development to the east of Chippenham. 
The approach presented was amended, with reasoning supplied by the Council 
in draft Topic Paper 14, following consultation on the Wiltshire 2026 
publication.  In this context, yet not exclusively so, a number of concerns have 
been expressed at the way in which the Council has considered alternatives to 
the content of Core Policy 10 and the way in which options have been 
assessed. In short, I share some of those concerns.   

223. It is important, as indicated by case law101, that the SA can withstand scrutiny 
as an evidence source which assists in justifying the content of the CS.  With 
this in mind, the proponents of unallocated land to the east of Chippenham 
(the ‘2020 site’) have submitted detailed evidence identifying potential 
shortcomings in the Council’s SA and site selection process.  A primary 
concern is the way in which the Council has dealt with the 2020 site in relation 
to other options.   

224. Whilst recognising that professional judgements need to be made in 
undertaking the SA process, it is important that the SA process deals with 
reasonable alternatives in a fair and comparable manner.  The reasoning for 
the Council’s amended approach to strategic sites in Chippenham can be found 
within Topic Paper 12102 and elsewhere. The process of site selection has been 
informed by the iterative SA which has been updated on numerous occasions.  
Yet the evidence does not indicate that the Council considered equitably or 
clearly the reasonable alternative of a reduced East Chippenham allocation 
(compared to the Wiltshire 2026 proposal) against the preferred option that 
ultimately found its way to be part of Core Policy 10. 

225. The Council’s SA states that transport impacts are a key issue in the 
                                       
100 WCS/SoCG/07 and 07A 
101 Save Historic Newmarket Ltd v Forest Heath DC, SSCLG (2011) EWHC 606 (Admin); 
Heard v Broadland District Council (2012) EWHC (Admin) et al 
102 Topic Paper 12 Figure 1, Table 4 et al 

Appendix 1

Page 80



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 52 - 

consideration of Chippenham’s strategic site options.  However and amidst a 
wealth of other evidence, the assessment of Option 3103 that informed the SA 
and which included the 2020 site, was undertaken without an assumption that 
a completed eastern distributor road would be provided through developer 
contributions. This is in contrast to the consideration of Options 1 and 2 with 
their associated infrastructure, the latter of which was assessed with the 
assumption that a necessary road bridge would be provided through developer 
contributions.  The balance of evidence suggests both elements of 
infrastructure for Options 2 and 3 are capable of being delivered. 

226. Whilst the Council’s evidence acknowledges that mitigation in the form of a 
completed eastern distributor road for Option 3 was likely, the mitigation was 
not assumed to be in place for the testing/modelling of Option 3.  Instead, 
Option 3 was tested on the basis of a connection to the A4.  Such an approach 
is not equitable for the purposes of the SA; particularly when the evidence 
indicates that Option 3 could not be feasibly completed without the distributor 
road.  The manner in which this matter has been treated has affected the 
content of the SA. 

227. The consequence of such an approach risks the inaccurate identification of 
transport effects arising from development within the SA.  The basis for the SA 
assessment of Option 3, particularly in terms of the ‘Transport’ criterion, is 
therefore not well founded.  In this relatively narrow respect, it is unreliable 
evidence which does not accurately inform the identification of preferred 
options.  The ‘Entran’ report prepared in support of the 2020 site provides 
evidence which supports a conclusion contrary to that of the Council. The 
justification for the different approach taken by the Council in relation to 
Options 2 and 3 is unconvincing104; I do not accept that the omission of 
testing the evidentially required eastern distributor road was necessary to 
ensure a ‘level playing field’ with other alternative options. 

228. Furthermore, the evidence submitted by proponents of the 2020 site as part of 
the CS pre submission consultation, which includes specialist SA evidence, 
indicates that the 2020 site would perform better against the SA objectives 
than perceived by the Council.  Whilst I accept that different professional 
judgements can be exercised, this evidence is not countered specifically and 
fully by the Council, has some weight and consequently introduces a degree of 
substantive doubt as to whether the Council’s SA accurately assesses the 
effects of the 2020 site against the SA criteria.    

229. In totality and with regard to the strategic allocations at Chippenham, the SA 
does not inform robustly the equitable consideration of reasonable alternatives 
and the subsequent content of submitted Core Policy 10.  This is an 
unfortunate but fundamental shortcoming.  I am unable to conclude that the 
content of the CS with regard to the strategic allocations of Core Policy 10 is 
sound and can justifiably form part of a sound plan.   

230. To resolve this matter and following correspondence, the Council has 
suggested changes to the CS which would enable a Chippenham Site 
Allocations DPD to be produced and adopted based upon the strategic 

                                       
103 Transport Strategy for Chippenham – Land Allocation Report STU/11 
104 EXAM/09C  

Appendix 1

Page 81



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 53 - 

intentions of the CS.  The changes to Core Policy 10 would provide rational 
and adequate criteria to guide the Site Allocation DPD.  The Council’s proposed 
changes include a basic diagrammatic indication of where future mixed use 
strategic sites could be located within the text of the CS.  The diagram, which 
is informed by earlier evidence, should be considered as merely indicative and 
until such time as further preparatory work upon the Site Allocation DPD, 
including SA, is undertaken it should not be interpreted as specifically 
including or excluding potential reasonable locations for necessary 
development; for this reason and without any prejudice to the Council’s plan 
making process, I amend the specific reference to the A350 within my 
recommended modifications to ensure adequate flexibility within the plan. 

231. Such an approach would facilitate a transparent and equitable consideration of 
how the town and surrounding area should be developed to accommodate the 
level of growth anticipated.  The submitted content of Core Policy 10 would be 
altered and the strategic allocations identified therein would be removed from 
the CS.  The proposed changes to the CS also provide for an increase in 
housing provision above the submitted figure which, in the context of the 
town’s principal status, the increase in housing required across the county and 
within a context of realistic delivery, is justified adequately. The Council’s 
suggested changes to its housing trajectories acknowledge the effect of the 
Sites Allocation DPD.  I recommend accordingly (MM36).   

232. Submissions have been made to the Examination in relation to a large number 
of potential development sites in and around Chippenham.  It will be for the 
Council to ascertain, through the equitable consideration of alternatives 
against relevant factors, how best new development should be 
accommodated.  In the absence of a sufficiently robust SA, I have insufficient 
evidence upon which to base a recommendation as to which sites should be 
developed through until 2026.  Whilst noting the positive work undertaken to 
date upon the development templates in CS Appendix A, in light of my 
conclusion I do not comment further upon their content and MM36 would 
necessitate their removal from the plan. 

233. Land to the south west of Abbeyfield School is identified within Core Policy 10, 
as submitted, as a non-strategic site.  Such an allocation strikes a discordant 
note in the consistency of the CS which does not identify other non-strategic 
sites. The site may have potential for future development but inclusion with 
Core Policy 10 is not justified but would, in any event, be removed by the 
Council’s proposed changes embodied in MM36.  

Summary  

234. The broad strategic approach taken by the CS towards the principal settlement 
of Chippenham is supported by the evidence base.  Core Policy 9 is justified, 
positive and will be effective in implementation.  The thrust of Core Policy 10 
requires modification to provide a basis upon which the detailed delivery of 
development within the town and affected areas can be considered robustly 
through a specific Sites Allocation DPD.  Upon this basis the CS will be 
effective in securing its objectives.   

 

Appendix 1

Page 82



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 54 - 

Corsham Community Area 

With due regard to the consideration of alternatives, does the CS take a 
justified approach towards the Corsham Community Area and will it be 
effective in terms of delivery? 

235. The Corsham Community Area is located towards the west of the county and 
lies partly within the Cotswold AONB whilst forming part of the West Wiltshire 
Green Belt. It has a strong rural character.  The Council’s analysis of the role 
and function of settlements provides an adequate justification for the content 
of Core Policy 11 which establishes Corsham as a market town which provides 
a range of services and facilities for the surrounding area and a range of 
suitably designated Large and Small villages.  

236. The area is influenced by larger nearby settlements, such as Chippenham and 
Bath and this is recognised adequately by the CS, particularly at CS paragraph 
5.58.  Whilst I note the concerns which have been raised, there is no 
substantive evidence to indicate that the CS, when applied in its entirety, 
would be incapable of retaining the separation of Corsham and Chippenham.  
The Council propose an alteration in this section of the CS which is helpful but 
not essential to secure soundness.  

237. Within its evidence base, the Council identifies the environmental qualities of 
the area which have influenced the overall levels of development proposed.  
Furthermore, the Council appears conscious that Corsham itself has 
experienced relatively substantial levels of growth in recent years. As a 
consequence, the submitted CS identified the provision of at least 1,200 
homes in the area over the plan period, of which 1,050 should occur at 
Corsham.   The Council considered the scope for a strategic housing allocation 
at Corsham but concluded, for reasons summarised in the position paper105, 
that such provision was not required in this community area.  I am mindful 
that CS Table 5.5 indicated 475 homes remain to be identified for Corsham 
albeit permissions subsequent to publication had not been accounted for in 
this remainder figure. 

238. Subsequent to its consideration of the overall housing provision for the county 
and its disaggregation across the three HMAs, the Council has proposed a 
revised and indicative amount of housing for this, and other, Community 
Areas.  Consequently, the level of indicative housing contained in Core Policy 
11 is proposed to be 1395 homes, of which some 1220 would be at Corsham 
and 175 in the remainder of the Community Area.  With due regard to the 
updated evidence base, including the SA, the SHMA and the Council’s Topic 
Papers such an approach is justified adequately and I recommend accordingly 
(MM 37).  Such a modification does not fundamentally alter the 
considerations or conclusions upon the necessity for a strategic allocation. 

239. Submissions to the CS and the Examination, indicate that there is both 
developer interest and land potentially available to meet any housing and 
employment requirements of the locality, for example between the A4 and 
Bradford Road or land to the west or north of Corsham.  In this context, it 
would appear106 that only limited progress is being made on potentially 

                                       
105 WC/PS/WCS – M9D 
106 EXAM/29B 

Appendix 1

Page 83



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 55 - 

relevant neighbourhood plans and there is a risk that such progress may stifle 
the delivery of housing outside of schemes deemed acceptable under the 
provisions of Core Policies 1 and 2.  The absence of substantive and timely 
progress upon any neighbourhood plan increases the risk of an ineffective 
approach towards housing delivery.  Indeed, the recommended increase in 
housing provision across Wiltshire will require the Council to ascertain how 
provision is to be made and thus the identification of specific sites by the 
Council in its Sites DPD as a complementary adjunct to the neighbourhood 
planning process.  Such a process will ensure a specific supply of housing land 
to contribute towards identified needs and will include mechanisms that will 
enable due consideration, consultation and examination of the merits of all 
potential sites both within Corsham and elsewhere, such as Rudloe.  
Allocations within the CS at this specific moment in time are not warranted.  In 
the interim, the combination of commitments and likely ‘windfall’ sites will 
maintain a housing supply for the shorter term. 

240. With regard to employment land, Corsham has a number of distinct attributes; 
these include a relatively high proportion of MoD property and a relatively high 
number of existing commitments.  The town is identified in the Council’s 
evidence base107 as being a desirable employment location and that some 6ha 
of additional land is required to support the identified Principal Employment 
Area. Following consideration of options, particularly via the Employment Land 
Review and associated documents, the Council concluded that a specific 
allocation for the community area was not warranted.  On the basis of the 
available evidence, which includes submissions made to the Examination such 
as relates to Sands Quarry for example, I have no substantive reason to 
disagree.  The Employment Land Review emphasises the need for a ‘Plan, 
Monitor, Manage’ approach to employment requirements and, with regard to 
the Council’s revised monitoring framework, the review opportunities offered 
by the CS Review and the production of other planning documents, I am 
satisfied that such an approach can prove effective. A specific employment 
land allocation is not warranted at this time. 

241. In common with other community areas, the Council has worked with its 
partners in assessing the requirements and factors which will influence 
development of the community area, these include matters of essential 
infrastructure such as transportation.  In these regards, CS paragraph 5.59 is 
supported adequately by the available evidence which includes the Community 
Strategy and the Corsham Community Area Plan.  There is no substantive 
reason to consider the range of identified matters are not justified or capable 
of being effectively resolved where relevant in association with other elements 
of the CS.  I am satisfied that the CS, particularly paragraph 5.59, 
acknowledges the heritage significance and community value of Corsham and 
the surrounding area adequately and on a justified basis.   

242. The Council has suggested changes to CS paragraph 5.59.  These clarify a 
more flexible approach to retail provision in Corsham which is supported by 
the evidence referred to by Topic Paper 6. The changes also clarify the 
approach to be taken towards new development in order to maintain the 
integrity of the Bath and Bradford on Avon Bats SAC and relate to the AONB.  
I recommend such changes as main modifications to ensure the effectiveness 

                                       
107 Topic Paper 7 et al 

Appendix 1

Page 84



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 56 - 

of the plan (MM38). 

243. With due regard to the consideration of alternatives, the CS does take a 
justified approach towards the Corsham Community Area and will be effective 
in terms of delivery. 

Calne Community Area 

With due regard to the consideration of alternatives, does the CS take a 
justified approach towards the Calne Community Area and will it be 
effective in terms of delivery? 

244. The Calne Community Area lies to the north of the county.  As justified 
adequately by Topic Paper 3 and associated documents, Core Policy 8 
identifies the market town of Calne, with its range of services and facilities, as 
the primary settlement surrounded by a variety of designated Large and Small 
villages.  There is no robust evidence to suggest the CS policies for 
maintaining the integrity of individual settlements are flawed or that there is a 
need for specific countryside protection policies for land east of Chippenham. 

245. As throughout Wiltshire, the CS sets a strategy for the area that seeks to 
balance housing growth with job creation.  This is consistent with the CS as a 
whole.  In essence, the submitted Core Policy 8 indicated that a minimum of 
1,380 dwellings would be provided over the plan period with 1,240 occurring 
in Calne.  Allowing for commitments, CS Table 5.3 indicated the need for a 
further 410 homes to be identified, 370 of which would be within Calne.  The 
Council’s position paper108 summarises the justification for such figures.  
Subsequent to its consideration of the overall housing provision for the county 
and its disaggregation across the three HMAs, the Council has proposed a 
revised and indicative amount of housing for the Calne Community Area.  
Consequently, the level of indicative housing contained in Core Policy 8 is 
proposed to be 1605 homes, of which some 1440 would be at Calne and 165 
in the remainder of the Community Area.  With due regard to the updated 
evidence base, including the SA, the SHMA and the Council’s Topic Papers 
such an approach is justified adequately and I recommend accordingly (MM 
39).  

246. It is clear from the evidence that the Council has considered the need for a 
strategic allocation within the community area, indeed an early iteration of the 
CS contained a housing allocation to the north-east of Calne which was 
assessed against alternatives.  As set out in Topic Paper 12, a subsequent 
planning permission for 285 dwellings resulted in a lesser requirement for the 
town which was not deemed strategic within the context of the overall county 
and the CS.  Indeed, further subsequent permissions have reinforced the 
Council’s contention that a strategic allocation is not warranted.   

247. I agree with the thrust of the Council’s analysis.  Whilst the recommended 
increase in housing provision across Wiltshire as a whole will require the 
Council to ascertain how such provision is to be made within each HMA and 
will require the specific identification of sites, this will be secured reasonably 
via the Sites DPD as a complementary adjunct to the neighbourhood planning 

                                       
108 WC/PS/WCS/M9E 

Appendix 1

Page 85



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 57 - 

process which is underway within the town and elsewhere109.  I accept, based 
on submissions to the CS and the Examination, that there are areas of land 
around the town which have the potential for new development, for example 
to the south or east, but the balance of evidence does not support the 
essential need to make allocation within the CS at this moment in time. 

248. With regards to employment land, the evidence indicates that Calne has a 
reasonably established employment base, is influenced by the principal 
settlement of Chippenham and is not located on a strategic road corridor.  The 
Council proposes a change to the CS to provide 6ha of employment land over 
the plan period with 3.2ha identified on land east of Beverbrook Farm and 
Porte Marsh Industrial Estate that forms a saved North Wiltshire Local Plan 
policy.  The evidence, including the Employment Land Review and Topic Paper 
7, supports the adequacy of such a stance and I recommend a main 
modification accordingly (MM39).   

249. Working in partnership and with regard to the IDP, the Council has assessed 
the existing and likely required levels of infrastructure to support the 
community area and levels of development proposed over the plan period.  In 
so doing, the Council has had regard to the community strategy and the Calne 
Community Plan.  Indeed, as shown in the Council’s position statement, there 
is a proactive record of joint working on community initiatives within Calne.  
Such work is reflected in the content of CS paragraphs 5.41 and 5.42 albeit I 
recommend the Council’s proposed changes to ensure an appropriate 
recognition of the North Wessex Downs AONB and the designated Air Quality 
Management Area (MM40). 

250. Overall, and mindful that all relevant parts of the CS apply, the submitted plan 
takes a justified approach towards Calne with appropriate regard to 
alternatives and will be effective in terms of delivery. 

Devizes Community Area 

With due regard to the consideration of alternatives, does the CS take a 
justified approach towards the Devizes Community Area and will it be 
effective in terms of delivery? 

251. The Devizes Community Area could be described as occupying the rural heart 
of the county and lies partially within and predominantly to the west of the 
North Wessex Downs AONB.  Devizes itself is an appropriately designated 
market town that offers a broad range of services and facilities.  Similarly, the 
Council’s evidence, including Topic Paper 3, justifies the designation of Market 
Lavington as a Local Service Centre within Core Policy 12 whilst clarifications 
of the evidence base have led the Council to suggesting changes to the listed 
Large and Small villages (see MM4). 

252. The CS and its accompanying evidence, including the Employment Land 
Review and associated documents, identifies the varied nature of the Devizes’ 
employment base and the potential which exists for the town to fulfil a 
strategic role as a centre providing jobs, homes, retail facilities and other 
services.  Consequently, Core Policy indicates that approximately 10ha of 
employment land will be provided over the plan period upon two key sites 

                                       
109 EXAM/29B 

Appendix 1

Page 86



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 58 - 

which will in turn supplement the identified Principal Employment Areas.  I 
have noted the submissions made querying the necessity for a strategic 
employment land allocation, the potential for existing previously developed 
sites to accommodate employment growth and the potential for employment 
opportunities to be enhanced by broadband technology.  However, with regard 
to the supporting evidence which includes the Council’s Position Statement110 
and Topic Paper 7, the content of Core Policy 12 which includes strategic 
employment land provision is justified adequately. 

253. The saved local plan allocation at Nursteed Road will provide 1.5ha of 
employment land.  The 8.4ha of strategic employment land allocated by Core 
Policy 12 at Horton Road has been derived, as evidenced in part within the SA 
and Topic Paper 12, through an analysis of existing provision, strategic needs 
and through adequate consideration of alternatives.  It is logically located to 
the north east of the town close to existing commercial development at 
Hopton Park.  The SA identifies the sensitivity of the potential employment 
allocations in relation to the North Wessex Downs AONB.  However, such 
matters can be addressed adequately by the Council’s changes to the CS and 
the development template in CS Appendix A as supported by the available 
landscape and heritage evidence.  The template is not fully prescriptive and as 
such its content is justified and will be effective.  I note that Natural England 
does not object to the principle of the development and I have no reason to 
disagree or to consider that the issue of landscape and visual assessment 
cannot be met resolved satisfactorily.  On balance, I am satisfied that the 
integrity of the AONB and its statutory purposes will not be compromised by 
the content of Core Policy 12 and the Core Strategy as modified (MM41).   

254. Furthermore, the evidence provided by the Council indicates that it has 
considered adequately the infrastructure needs of the area, including 
transportation issues and the designated AQMA.  Such evidence identifies that 
Devizes experiences traffic congestion along certain road corridors and there is 
no dispute that air quality is a cause for concern and action. Against this 
context, the Devizes Transport Strategy indicates that the level of growth 
contained within Core Policy 12 can be accommodated adequately.  I am 
always mindful that the content of the CS must be considered as a whole and 
that Core Policy 12 must, for example, operate in tandem with Core Policies 55 
and 60-66 which specifically address matters of air quality and transportation.  
Whilst concerns have been raised as to the suitability of the proposed 
development within the locality, the balance of the evidence is sufficient to 
support the objectives of the CS and the content of Core Policy 12.   

255. The CS contains no strategic housing allocations for the Devizes Community 
Area. Alternatively and as submitted, Core Policy 12 indicated that at least 
2,150 new homes would be provided over the plan period with some 1,730 
within Devizes.  Of these, Table 5.6 showed that 406 homes remained to be 
identified within the town and some 205 in the remainder of the community 
area.    

256. A range of submissions to the CS and the Examination has suggested that 
there has been an underestimation of housing requirements for the community 
area and that there is a need for strategic housing provision.  Against this 

                                       
110 WCS/PS/M9F 

Appendix 1

Page 87



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 59 - 

context, I note that during the evolution of the submitted CS, the Council 
identified the potential for 700 homes to be accommodated in three sites 
effectively creating a strategic allocation for Devizes. Following a grant of 
permission and following consultation and review, the Council concluded that 
the necessary growth for the town could be accommodated without the need 
for any strategic allocation.   

257. The evidence certainly indicates the availability of potential housing sites for 
the town, such as to the east and north-east, and an increase in the housing 
provision for the county has been recommended.   Against such a background, 
I consider it reasonable in the interests of sustainable development to expect 
that any relatively self-contained market town, such as Devizes, will be able to 
accommodate proportionate and well planned housing growth. The Council has 
proposed a revised and indicative amount of housing for the Devizes 
Community Area.  Consequently, the level of indicative housing contained in 
Core Policy 12 is proposed to be 2,500 homes, of which some 2,010 would be 
at Devizes and 490 in the remainder of the Community Area.  With due regard 
to the updated evidence base, including the SA, the SHMA and the Council’s 
Topic Papers such an approach is justified adequately and I recommend 
accordingly (MM 42). 

258. As referenced previously, the Council and its communities will need to consider 
how best the necessary level of housing should be delivered.  I note that some 
progress is being made upon the Devizes Area Neighbourhood Plan.  Historic 
building rates should not solely dictate future plans at the community level.  
With due regard to Topic Paper 12 and the increase in housing to be provided, 
there is no compelling evidence to conclude that the Council’s decision to not 
identify a strategic housing site for Devizes is unjustified or that the immediate 
housing requirements for the community area are not capable of being met 
through a combination of existing commitments and the application of Core 
Policies 1 and 2.  By undertaking further planning documents, such as the 
Sites DPD and complementary neighbourhood plans, the Council and its 
partners will be able to advance additional housing development in appropriate 
locations, including previously developed land and addressing needs for both 
market and affordable homes, as may be warranted.  Such mechanisms apply 
equally to the community area beyond Devizes itself. 

259. With regard to retail matters, the CS is underpinned by an adequately robust 
evidence base that includes the Town Centre and Retail Study.  CS paragraph 
5.65 acknowledges the evidence base sufficiently, particularly in terms of 
ensuring a flexible approach towards the competitive retail offer of Devizes.  I 
am satisfied that there is adequate cross referencing between Core Policy 12 
and the intentions of paragraph 5.65. 

260. With due regard to the consideration of alternatives, the CS does take a 
justified approach towards the Devizes Community Area and will be effective 
in terms of delivery. 

Malmesbury Community Area 

With due regard to the consideration of alternatives, does the CS take a 
justified approach towards the Malmesbury Community Area and will it be 
effective in terms of delivery? 

Appendix 1

Page 88



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 60 - 

261. The Malmesbury Community Area lies in the north of Wiltshire.  It is 
essentially rural in character and contains part of the Cotswolds AONB.  Topic 
Paper 3 provides support for the settlement hierarchy contained within Core 
Policy 13 wherein the market town of Malmesbury provides the main focus for 
the locality and the more outlying range of justified Large and Small villages. 

262. In addition to the Community Strategy, the CS has had regard to the 
Malmesbury and Villages Community Plan in its formulation.  Furthermore, it 
would appear that the Council has worked proactively with Malmesbury Town 
Council in its advancement of its neighbourhood plan.  CS paragraphs 5.69 
and 5.70 capture a range of justified issues and considerations which affect 
the community area and which, as relevant, will be addressed by new 
development proposals which fall to be considered against the provisions of 
Core Policy 13.  These include the importance of the Cotswold AONB, albeit I 
recommend the Council’s proposed change to emphasise the AONB landscape 
as a consideration in development proposals (MM43). 

263. In terms of housing provision and as submitted, Core Policy 13 indicated that 
at least 1,200 new homes would be provided within the community area over 
the plan period without the need for any strategic housing allocation.  CS 
Table 5.7 identified the remaining need for some 270 homes to be identified 
within Malmesbury and some 135 elsewhere.   Such figures have evolved 
during the preparation of the CS from a higher requirement.   Subsequent to 
its consideration of the overall housing provision for the county and its 
disaggregation across the three HMAs, the Council has proposed a revised and 
indicative amount of housing for the Malmesbury Community Area.  
Consequently, the level of housing contained in Core Policy 13 is proposed to 
be indicatively 1,395 homes, of which some 885 would be at Malmesbury and 
510 in the remainder of the Community Area.  With due regard to the updated 
evidence base, including the SA, the SHMA, the Council’s Topic Papers and the 
consultation responses, such an approach is justified adequately.  Whilst I 
note that longer term phased employment proposals (Dyson) may affect and 
increase the need for housing in the immediate locality, this is a matter that 
can be kept under review through the process of ‘plan, monitor and manage’.  
There is no compelling justification for increasing further the indicative housing 
figures for Malmesbury at this particular time and I recommend accordingly 
(MM 44). 

264. Three sites to the north of Malmesbury were identified as a strategic housing 
site in the Wiltshire 2026 document following an options analysis referenced in 
the accompanying SA111.  Such work illustrates the potential land available for 
development around Malmesbury; further evidenced by the planning 
application at Filands and associated appeals.  The Council subsequently 
considered, as referenced within Topic Paper 12, that the required housing 
provision was not of a scale that made a notable impact on the strategic 
objectives for Wiltshire as a whole and thus no strategic site was allocated 
within the submitted CS.  The available evidence supports such a conclusion 
adequately. 

265. In the context of a recommended increase in the housing provision for the 
county and Community Area, it is for the Council and its communities to 

                                       
111 SUS/30 

Appendix 1

Page 89



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 61 - 

determine the final distribution of such housing.   There is no compelling 
reason to consider that a complementary combination of neighbourhood 
planning and the production of the Sites DPD will not be effective in clarifying 
the provision of housing in the medium and longer term.  In the shorter term, 
the operation of Core Policies 1 and 2 alongside existing commitments will 
provide a means to secure an adequate housing supply throughout the 
community area.  I recognise the attributes of Malmesbury in its range of 
services and facilities, its proportion of in-commuters and its need for 
increases in affordable housing.  However, such factors may be considered by 
the Council and its partners in any process of housing site identification and at 
this moment in time these matters do not justify the modification of the plan 
to secure a strategic housing allocation. 

266. Core Policy 13 takes a positive and adequately evidenced approach towards 
the provision of employment land.  Malmesbury has key established 
employment sites and is located on the strategic road network.  The Council’s 
evidence, including the Employment Land Review, indicates that 5ha of new 
land is capable of being delivered over the plan period across two sites: land 
north of Tetbury Hill and the Garden Centre.  These would supplement the 
three Principal Employment Areas.  Such an approach is justified. 

267. CS paragraph 5.70 addresses matters relating to retail provision in 
Malmesbury. Whilst not prescriptive, the approach provides some flexibility 
towards potential schemes that may come forward and is underpinned 
proportionately by sources such as the Council’s Town Centre and Retail Study 
and Topic Paper 6. The Malmesbury Neighbourhood Plan is being advanced 
and will provide one suitable means to review the identified primary retail 
frontages of the town. 

268. The Council, working as part of the broad Consultative Technical Group, has 
assessed the infrastructure requirements of the community area.  These 
include issues of education, the fire station and the heritage value of the 
locality.  These are reflected within CS paragraph 5.70 and the IDP.  The 
balance of the evidence supports the Council’s approach both in terms of 
content and viability.    

269. Overall and with due regard to alternatives, the CS does take a justified 
approach towards the Malmesbury Community Area and will be effective in 
terms of delivery. 

Marlborough Community Area 

With due regard to the consideration of alternatives, does the CS take a 
justified approach towards the Marlborough Community Area and will it be 
effective in terms of delivery? 

270. The Marlborough Community Area lies to the north eastern edge of the county. 
As identified by the Council’s evidence, particularly Topic Paper 3 and its 
Addendum, the settlement hierarchy is led by the market town of Marlborough 
with underlying Large and Small Villages defined with due regard to their 
respective role and function.  The detail of Core Policy 14 is justified in such 
regards. 

271. As submitted, the Council identified at least 850 new homes to be located in 

Appendix 1

Page 90



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 62 - 

the Marlborough Community Area over the plan period which forms part of the 
eastern HMA; 455 of which have either been completed or have specific 
permission.  Of the remainder, 220 are identified to form part of a strategic 
allocation on land to the west of Salisbury Road with a further 30 to be 
identified within the town. The remainder of the community area was intended 
to accommodate at least 145 new homes. Subsequent to its consideration of 
the overall housing provision for the county and its disaggregation across the 
three HMAs, the Council has proposed a revised and indicative amount of 
housing for the Marlborough Community Area.  Consequently, the level of 
indicative housing contained in Core Policy 14 is proposed to be 920 homes, of 
which some 680 would be at Marlborough and 240 in the remainder of the 
Community Area.  With due regard to the updated evidence base which 
indicates the potential for previously developed land to be utilised effectively, 
including the SA, the SHMA and the Council’s Topic Papers, such an approach 
is justified adequately and I recommend accordingly (MM 45). 

272. The Community Area is entirely located within the North Wessex Downs AONB.  
Setting aside the strategic allocation and as indicated by the SHLAA, there 
appears to be scope for a range of potential smaller scale housing sites to 
come forward across the community area to accommodate the housing 
identified in the CS, often upon previously developed land within settlements.  
With due regard to the concerns raised in relation to potential landscape 
impacts, the evidence indicates that adequate sites, but certainly not all those 
within the SHLAA, would feasibly be capable of coming forward with the likely 
potential to avoid harm to the purposes of designating the AONB.  Such 
evidence includes the work commissioned by the North Wessex Downs AONB 
unit in relation to its landscape assessment of the main uncommitted sites in 
the AONB as identified in the SHLAA.  The SHLAA represents a position in time 
which is likely to change over the plan period.  Potential sites, including a 
proportion of windfalls, will emerge that are as yet unforeseen and whilst not 
all will be suitable or capable of development, I do not consider that the 
landscape assessment undertaken on behalf of the AONB unit warrants an 
automatic reduction in housing numbers for the community area nor would it 
justify a limitation upon the changes to housing provision envisaged by MM45.   

273. The Council’s own SA, in relation to Core Policy 2, indicates the general need 
for large scale housing development to avoid areas with specific landscape 
designations.  In relation to Marlborough, the SA identifies the need for future 
development to give particular consideration to any potential impacts upon the 
AONB.  The CS subsequently identifies a strategic allocation to the south east 
of Marlborough centre upon currently undeveloped farmland.  As indicated by 
its Position Statement, the Council acknowledges the extent of the AONB but 
considers that such a strategic allocation is exceptionally necessary to ensure 
an adequate housing supply for Marlborough and the eastern HMA; the Council 
relies on the Framework (para 116) in support of its position.  In essence, the 
Council cites the particular need for an adequate housing land supply for the 
eastern HMA and to serve the town, the limited availability of previously 
developed land within Marlborough itself and the capacity of the landscape to 
accommodate change in the Salisbury Road location. In the interests of 
ensuring sustainable and balanced development for the town over the plan 
period, I note the concerns raised, the national importance of the AONB and 
its purposes of designation but ultimately do not disagree with the Council’s 
approach. 

Appendix 1

Page 91



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 63 - 

274. The evidence indicates that the Council has considered alternative approaches 
towards housing within the town, including alternative locations.  The Council’s 
Strategic Site Options – Landscape Assessment112 provides an indication of the 
extent to which site options may affect the landscape and the degree of visual 
change resulting.  In summary, the Salisbury Road site is identified113 as being 
capable of accommodating change without far reaching landscape impacts due 
to a combination of its valley topography and some existing mature 
vegetation.   

275. I saw the location of the site from various vantage points. Indeed, the effect of 
potential development upon the landscape character of the locality and the 
AONB should not be underestimated.  Whilst the site is reasonably well related 
to the town in terms of road access and proximity, the undeveloped nature of 
the fieldscape, the undulating public approaches and longer distance views 
from the west all increase the potential for notable adverse visual effects.  
However, with due regard to the CS Development Template and whilst I agree 
in part with the landscape assessment of the Salisbury Road site undertaken 
on behalf of the North Wessex Downs AONB Unit, specifically in the evident 
loss of arable land, the effect on the views from a footpath to the south and 
the development beyond the existing settlement, the effect appears capable of 
being contained into the immediate locality.   

276. As indicated by the Framework (para 116), a balance needs to be struck 
between the statutory purposes of AONB designation and other factors.  In 
this instance, I agree with the Council’s interpretation of the evidence which 
indicates that a limited degree of development upon the Salisbury Road site is 
both justified and clearly preferable to alternative locations such as Chopping 
Knife Lane in sustainability terms.  The undue limitation of housing for an 
existing market town, such as would be secured by not having a modest 
degree of growth, would not satisfy the strategic objectives of the Core 
Strategy as a whole. 

277. A number of representations have been made querying, amongst other 
matters, the principle, the scale and the deliverability of the Salisbury Road 
site.  Representations have been made suggesting that housing numbers 
should be curtailed for Marlborough such that a reduced, if any, scale of 
development should occur outside of the existing town boundary.  The balance 
of the evidence, including the SHMA and SHLAA, indicates that some degree of 
new development is warranted. The Council’s Landscape Assessment clarifies 
that there is some capacity for change at Salisbury Road and the nature of the 
development should be such that a meaningful contribution is made to the 
overall needs of the East HMA and the town itself.  Nonetheless, the figure of 
220 new homes should not be considered a minimum and any development 
must have regard to any appropriate site specific Landscape and Visual Impact 
Assessment which should inform the final scheme that is promoted.   

278. In essence, I have little reason to dispute the position of the Council and the 
land owner, that the site is capable of being brought forward broadly in line 
with the details found within CS template at Appendix A.  These details 
address adequately a range of matters such as infrastructure, including 

                                       
112 STU/42 
113 Ibid pp 72/73 

Appendix 1

Page 92



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 64 - 

transport, and landscape mitigation.  There is a degree of uncertainty as to 
what will be the effective built boundary of the proposed site.  Due to AONB 
considerations, I consider it desirable that the site should maximise its 
potential to mitigate any adverse landscape impacts as far as practicable.  
Thus the site area shown within CS Appendix A should not be considered as a 
means of fixing the built boundaries and the masterplanning process should be 
used to minimise effectively any landscape impacts within the available site 
envelope.  

279. Concerns have been raised at the level of water abstraction within the area 
and whether, with particular regard to the ecological value of the River 
Kennet114, there are adequate resources to cater for additional growth.  The 
evidence indicates that the Council and its partners are aware of the issue, in 
particular through the Council’s HRA (as updated and including EXAM/89A) 
and through the Thames Water – Water Resources Management Plan. Whilst 
continued monitoring may be required, there is no substantive evidence to 
indicate that the levels of proposed development would have a detrimental 
effect upon local water resources to the extent that an alternative strategy 
should be pursued.  Similarly, and with due regard to the Groundwater 
Protection Zone which is relevant to the Salisbury Road allocation, there is no 
substantive evidence that the strategic allocation should not be pursued for 
reasons of water resource impacts, such as inadequate supply or 
contamination.  The Council appears to be discharging its Duty to Cooperate 
adequately in these regards, ensuring that the issue of water resources is 
addressed suitably.  

280. The CS provides support for the three identified Principal Employment Areas 
and identifies scope for the provision of 3ha of non strategic employment land 
within Marlborough over the plan period.  While this is a lower figure than 
indicated by the Council’s Employment Land Review, the balance of the 
available evidence does not indicate that the Council’s approach is unsound in 
light of the current supply of land/premises, the AONB designation and 
Marlborough’s location away from an established economic corridor (eg the 
M4).  The Council foresees neighbourhood planning as the mechanism for 
delivering such land although I note very limited progress upon neighbourhood 
planning in this community area.  The monitoring of employment land and 
premises provision will be important to ensure the Council can consider 
alternative means of bringing forward necessary land/premises in the event 
that no Neighbourhood Plan emerges during the plan period.   

281. Whilst Marlborough benefits from tourism activity and notwithstanding local 
concerns in relation to hotel provision within the area, the content of CS Core 
Policies 39 and 40 provide an adequate framework for determining proposals 
which may arise and thereby a means of, in conjunction with any future 
neighbourhood planning process, addressing local issues as necessary. 

282. The Council has proposed changes to the CS (para 5.75) which recognise the 
issue of Air Quality Management Areas and which amends reference to nature 
conservation interests.  These provide very useful clarity but are not strictly 
necessary to secure soundness of the plan as a whole; indeed, with due regard 
to the comments of Natural England and the content of the Council’s HRA, 

                                       
114 Including the Kennet and Lambourn Floodplain SAC 

Appendix 1

Page 93



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 65 - 

there is insufficient contrary evidence to support a conclusion that the CS 
would have an adverse effect upon any Natura 2000 site or create a specific 
biodiversity conflict within this community area.  CS Core Policy 59 (as 
modified) and the clarifications of the Council within the supporting text to 
Core Policy 14 (see MM45) provide for an adequate approach to the 
Stonehenge and Avebury World Heritage Site which falls partly within the 
Marlborough Community Area.   

283. With due regard to the consideration of alternatives, the CS does take a 
justified approach towards the Marlborough Community Area and will be 
effective in terms of delivery. 

Melksham Community Area 

With due regard to the consideration of alternatives, does the CS take a 
justified approach towards the Melksham Community Area and will it be 
effective in terms of delivery? 

284. Melksham is the largest town of the community area which lies towards the 
west of the county.  The Council’s analysis of the role and function of 
settlements115 justifies adequately the hierarchy of settlements set out within 
Core Policy 15 albeit the Council’s suggested changes to the CS clarifies the 
status of Great Hinton as a Small village and the functional relationship 
between Melksham and Bowerhill village appropriately. I recommend 
accordingly (MM 46). 

285. The submitted CS indicated at least 2,040 new homes would be provided over 
the life of the plan of which 1,930 should be accommodated at Melksham.  No 
strategic sites were identified and the Council had an expectation that the 
neighbourhood planning process would provide a basis for delivering the 
remaining housing required. Subsequent to its consideration of the overall 
housing provision for the county and its disaggregation across the three HMAs, 
the Council has proposed a revised and indicative amount of housing for this 
Community Area.  Consequently, the level of indicative housing contained in 
Core Policy 15 is proposed to be 2,370 homes, of which some 2,240 would be 
at Melksham and 130 in the remainder of the Community Area.  With due 
regard to the updated evidence base, including the SA, the SHMA and the 
Council’s Topic Papers I have no specific evidence to suggest that such an 
approach would not deliver suitable levels of sustainable development and is 
not justified adequately. I recommend accordingly (MM 47). 

286. The principle of Core Policy 15 is consistent with the objectives of the Core 
Strategy as a whole.  The volume of intended housing is expressed indicatively 
and appropriately which provides some flexibility for the overall level of 
provision and I am mindful that the Council’s SA sets out the process which 
has led to the absence of any strategic site allocation for the town.   

287. The CS as proposed to be changed would enable the Sites DPD and the 
neighbourhood planning process to facilitate the provision of the required level 
of housing albeit, notwithstanding the early work between Melksham Town 
Council and Melksham Without Parish Council, there is some current 
uncertainty as to when any neighbourhood plan may emerge and what it may 

                                       
115 Topic Paper 3 et al 

Appendix 1

Page 94



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 66 - 

specifically address.  In such a context the absence of a strategic allocation 
does not aid the certainty or the Plan in delivering the housing required; 
indeed, the provision of a housing allocation capable of delivering, for 
example, in excess of 400 homes would contribute to the strategic objectives 
of the CS in terms of housing land supply and potentially, in the event of a 
mixed use scheme, a more balanced economy.   

288. Whilst, in the shorter term, there appears to be sufficient commitments to 
ensure an adequate supply of housing land for the town, there is a notable 
degree of uncertainty for the latter part of the plan period. The Council 
acknowledged in its Position Statement the scope for a Sites DPD to assist in 
delivering such housing which, given my earlier comments in relation to 
overall housing numbers for the county, seems to be the most pragmatic and 
efficient way of complementing the neighbourhood planning process to ensure 
the provision of sufficient housing to meet identified needs in a timely fashion.  
Such an approach may also provide an opportunity to facilitate the appropriate 
provision of smaller sites for the Large Villages within the community area in 
order to ensure the delivery of adequate housing to meet the needs of the 
area in a sustainable fashion.  By such means it will be feasible to deliver the 
housing numbers shown within modified Core Policy 15 as necessary.  
Notwithstanding the potential availability of land as promoted by submissions 
to the Examination, the Council’s decision to not identify a strategic allocation 
for Melksham at this time is, on balance, warranted.  

289. With regards to employment land, Core Policy 15 provides explicit support for 
Core Policy 35 and the 7 listed Principal Employment Areas.  Such an approach 
is justified by the evidence base which includes the Council’s Employment 
Land Review.   

290. I am mindful that the Employment Land Review identifies a shortage of 
employment land within Melksham and the likely need for a greater land 
supply than that contained within the CS; estimating as a guide the need for 
7.7ha of employment land.  However, the CS does make provision for 6ha of 
land to be provided at the Hampton Business Park and, as recommended by 
the Review, a process of ‘plan, monitor and manage’ would enable the Council 
to gauge what necessary actions may be necessary to ensure the employment 
land supply is sufficient to meet needs, for example through the Sites DPD or 
CS Review.  Therefore I am satisfied that Core Policy 15 is adequate and 
proportionately justified in such regards. 

291. The Council has considered the range of infrastructure available and required 
within the community area to support the levels of development planned. The 
balance of evidence does not indicate that such assessments are inadequate 
or flawed. 

292. The CS identifies in paragraph 5.80 a comprehensive range of issues to be 
addressed in planning for the Melksham Community Area. These are drawn 
from the available evidence and cross referenced within Core Policy 15.  The 
Council has proposed clarifications to these matters which are useful but not 
essential for the overall soundness of the plan as a whole.  As such and 
subject to my modifications to ensure the effectiveness of Core Policy 15 (MM 
46/47), the CS provides a positive basis for tackling such matters which may 
be supplemented by any community led plan that may emerge, for example 

Appendix 1

Page 95



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 67 - 

the vitality of the town centre through the work of the Town and Melksham 
Without Parish Councils. 

293. Core Policy 16 reflects work undertaken to provide a canal link between the 
River Avon and the Kennet and Avon Canal.   There are benefits to be derived 
from the initiative and the policy effectively safeguards the intended route.  
Based upon the available evidence there is no reason to consider the policy 
unjustified. 

294. Overall, and with due regard to the consideration of alternatives, the CS does 
take a justified approach towards the Melksham Community Area and will be 
effective in terms of delivery.  

 

Mere Community Area 

With due regard to the consideration of alternatives, does the CS take a 
justified approach towards the Mere Community Area and will it be 
effective in terms of delivery? 

295. The Mere Community Area lies to the western edge of county and forms part 
of the area covered by the adopted South Wiltshire Core Strategy.  Mere itself 
is the local service centre for the area with reasonable transport links provided 
by the A303 and A350.  The Council is clear that the adopted strategy for the 
area is intended to continue within the submitted CS.  The principle of the 
adopted approach appears founded in evidence, particularly in the Council’s 
analysis of the role and function of settlements and in its prior consideration of 
alternatives. 

296. As submitted, the level of anticipated housing growth is expressed as a 
modest 250 homes. Subsequent to its consideration of the overall housing 
provision for the county and its disaggregation across the three HMAs, the 
Council has proposed a revised and indicative amount of housing for the Mere 
Community Area.  Consequently, the level of indicative housing contained in 
Core Policy 17 is proposed to be 285 homes, of which some 235 would be at 
Mere and 50 in the remainder of the Community Area.  With due regard to the 
updated evidence base, including the SA, the SHMA and the Council’s Topic 
Papers such an approach is justified adequately and I recommend accordingly 
(MM 48).  Employment growth appears to be catered for by a proportionate 
allocation of 3ha of land and I have no reason to consider that this 
arrangement would be insufficient or is not justified. There are no strategic 
development allocations shown within the CS and there is no evidence to 
suggest that a contrary position should be taken. 

297. The community area lies partly within the Cranborne Chase and West Wiltshire 
Downs AONB which is reflected suitably within the Council’s proposed change 
to the CS (para 5.86).  The evidence indicates that adequate infrastructure 
exists to accommodate the levels of growth anticipated and I have no reason 
to disagree.  

298. Overall, the modified CS and Core Policy 17 take a justified approach towards 
the Mere Community Area and will be effective in terms of delivery. 

Appendix 1

Page 96



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 68 - 

Salisbury Community Area 

With due regard to the consideration of alternatives, does the CS take a 
justified approach towards the Salisbury Community Area and will it be 
effective in terms of delivery? 

299. Salisbury is one of the three Principal settlements within Wiltshire. Core 
Policies 20-22 flow directly from the strategy for the Salisbury Community 
Area which has been established by the adopted South Wiltshire Core 
Strategy. As referenced in its Position Statement116 and elsewhere, the Council 
considered whether the content of the South Wiltshire Core Strategy remained 
justified and the extent to which changes might be required prior to submitting 
the county wide CS for Examination.   

300. The CS, in summary, seeks to deliver a range of mixed use, strategic sites to 
establish more sustainable and self contained communities, building upon the 
relative health of the city centre whilst acknowledging issues which include 
inequalities, access to housing and the need to address climate change.  CS 
paragraph 5.109 sets out a number of specific planning issues relevant to the 
community area that is derived adequately from the available evidence which 
includes the Salisbury Vision117. 

301. I am mindful of the range of detailed evidence that was produced in support of 
the South Wiltshire Core Strategy and its examination.  Such evidence sets 
out the Council’s preferred approach towards the provision of some 29ha of 
employment land as indicated by Core Policy 20 which also supports the 
Principal Employment Areas at Old Sarum and Southampton Road.  The 
employment land is identified to be provided across a number of strategic sites 
(including UKLF at Wilton).  The balance of the evidence indicates that the 
approach is justified and capable of delivery. 

302. As submitted, Core Policy 20 allows for the provision of at least 6,060 new 
homes, nearly 4,000 of which will be located upon 6 strategic sites.  Allowing 
for commitments, CS Table 5.13 indicates that fewer than 350 homes remain 
to be identified.  Subsequent to its consideration of the overall housing 
provision for the county and its disaggregation across the three HMAs, the 
Council has proposed no change to these figures. Once again, with due regard 
to the available evidence which includes the grant of various planning 
permissions and the work underpinning the development templates in CS 
Appendix A, the strategic sites appear capable of effective delivery.  With due 
regard to the findings of the Examination into the South Wiltshire Core 
Strategy, the Council will need to keep its housing requirement and land 
supply under review utilising mechanisms such as the CS review and the Sites 
DPD. However, Core Policy 20 as submitted is clear that the volume of new 
homes is expressed as a minimum thus not precluding the delivery of 
additional homes over the plan period.  The Council has suggested changes to 
Core Policy 20 in relation to the way in which the level of new development 
and growth within the city are referenced.  Whilst relatively minor, such 
changes would ensure consistency within the CS when read as a whole. On 
balance, I consider that they are necessary to secure the soundness of the 

                                       
116 WCS/PS/M9K 
117 CPP/80 

Appendix 1

Page 97



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 69 - 

document as a whole and to clarify the way in which Core Policy 20 is 
expressed for the city which will remain the urban heart and focus for 
southern Wiltshire and the associated HMA. I recommend accordingly 
(MM29). 

303. Appendix A of the CS contains development templates for the Salisbury 
strategic sites.  The balance of evidence supports the level of detail which they 
contain and this includes due consideration of a range of infrastructure.  I 
have no substantive reason to consider the sites are not capable of being 
delivered effectively. 

304. Core Policies 20 and 21 identify the provision of additional retail and leisure 
floorspace within the city that is justified by a number of evidence sources, 
particularly the Council’s Town Centre and Retail Study and Topic Paper 6.  
The CS seeks to optimise the city centre location of The Maltings/Central Car 
Park.  There is no substantive evidence to indicate that the approach of the CS 
is not justified or capable of delivery.  As such, the objectives of Core Policy 
21, in combination with the detail contained in the development template 
which includes the appropriate albeit minor modification of the Council to 
reference an anchor store, provide a justified and positive framework for 
delivery that is consistent with national policy.  

305. The Council, working as part of the broad Consultative Technical Group, has 
assessed the infrastructure requirements of the community area and the 
developments proposed.  These include issues of education and water 
resources.  This is reflected, for example, within the CS development 
templates, CS paragraph 5.109 and the IDP.  The balance of the evidence 
supports the Council’s approach both in terms of content and viability.    

306. The CS acknowledges the transportation issues which affect the city and 
locality.  Whilst the CS contains a suite of specific policies relating to transport, 
CS paragraph 5.109 makes clear that all strategic development will need to 
consider their individual and cumulative effects. I heard much debate and 
some concerns at the way in which the Council was developing and 
implementing the city Transport Strategy and how the content of the South 
Wiltshire Core Strategy was reflected in the CS.  Whilst I am satisfied that 
specific reference to projects or details are not necessary to secure the 
soundness of the CS, I do accept that the Council’s proposed additions to the 
CS will make clear that transport solutions will need to be delivered in 
accordance with the evolving Salisbury Transport Strategy, based upon the 
radical option identified in the informative evidence of the ‘Options Assessment 
Report’.  Such an approach will enable due consideration of developing 
transport initiatives and, for example, how any necessary modal shift should 
be facilitated, such as by developing the theme of ‘Smarter Choices’. For 
reasons of clarity and effectiveness, I recommend this change as a main 
modification (MM49).  

307. The development templates are intended to be read in association with the 
IDP. There is recognition within the CS that the infrastructure requirements 
within the IDP may change over time and that the Council will need to be 
flexible and responsive to changes.  As such, the transportation requirements 
identified within the templates are not designed to be fully prescriptive.  The 
Council has proposed changes to the relevant templates to clarify the link with 

Appendix 1

Page 98



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 70 - 

the Salisbury Transport Strategy and more site specific transport assessments 
and travel plans.  Such an approach, in combination with the necessary 
masterplanning processes and community engagement, provide an adequate 
opportunity to address the transport requirements of sites on an individual and 
city wide basis. I recommend accordingly (MM50). 

308. The Council acknowledges adequately the presence of Natura 2000 sites albeit 
that a proposed change is necessary to ensure the effectiveness and accuracy 
of CS paragraph 5.109 (MM51). 

309. Core Policy 22 takes a criteria led approach towards the ‘Salisbury Skyline’ 
that is designed to preserve the character of the city and protect important 
views of the cathedral and the city’s roofscape.  Such an approach is justified. 

310. As referenced further below, Core Policy 23 relates to Old Sarum Airfield which 
resides in the Southern Wiltshire Community Area. The Council has proposed a 
change to the CS to relocate the policy within the document which, whilst 
logical, is not strictly necessary to secure the overall soundness of the CS. 

311. Overall and with due regard to the consideration of alternatives, the CS does 
take a justified approach towards the Salisbury Community Area and will be 
effective in terms of delivery. 

Pewsey Community Area 

With due regard to the consideration of alternatives, does the CS take a 
justified approach towards the Pewsey Community Area and will it be 
effective in terms of delivery? 

312. The Pewsey Community Area is predominantly rural in character and a 
significant proportion lies within the North Wessex Downs AONB.  As justified 
by the Council’s analysis of the role and functions of settlements, Pewsey is a 
large village which operates as a Local Service Centre and not, due to its 
limited employment base and relative size, as a Market Town.  The settlement 
hierarchy identified within Core Policy 18 is duly justified.   

313. The Council identify Pewsey as the focus for new development and modest 
growth over the plan period.  With regard to employment land, the Council has 
relied upon its evidence base, particularly the Employment Land Review, to 
inform Core Policy 18 which identifies the requirement for 2ha of land over the 
plan period.  As evidenced by the Employment Land Review, this is not a 
strategic priority.  I have no substantive reason to consider that this figure, 
which will supplement the identified locally important rural employment sites, 
is unjustified or that the overall approach is flawed.  The Council has clarified 
that 1.66ha of land will be provided via the saved Local Plan allocation at 
Marlborough Road wherein a change in ownership may facilitate its delivery.  
On the balance of the evidence I recommend this change for reasons of clarity 
and effectiveness accordingly (MM52).  

314. As submitted, Core Policy 18 identified the provision of at least 600 homes in 
the community area over the plan period whilst CS Table 5.11 indicated that 
285 homes remained to be identified.  Subsequent to its consideration of the 
overall housing provision for the county and its disaggregation across the 
three HMAs, the Council has proposed no change to these figures albeit the 

Appendix 1

Page 99



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 71 - 

number of homes is expressed in terms of ‘approximately 600’. This level of 
growth and approach appears justified by the available evidence, including the 
Spatial Strategy Background Paper and by the nature of the settlements within 
the Pewsey Community Area and their relationship to other locations within 
the HMA.  With due regard to the updated evidence base, including the SA, the 
SHMA and the Council’s Topic Papers such an approach is justified adequately. 

315. As is common to all community areas, the Council will need to keep its 
housing requirement and land supply under review utilising mechanisms such 
as the CS review and the Sites DPD. On this basis, the CS figure should not be 
viewed as a target and additional development above the approximate figure 
of 600 homes, contributing towards the housing needs of the HMA, may be 
justified.  Whilst submissions to the Examination have indicated that potential 
housing land is available, there is insufficient substantive evidence to support 
the need for a strategic allocation or for a specifically greater volume of 
housing at this particular moment in time.  There is undoubtedly a need for 
increased levels of affordable housing but of itself this is not a sufficient 
justification for an overall increase in housing volumes for either Pewsey or the 
wider community area; the CS provides other mechanisms whereby affordable 
housing provision can be secured. 

316. Indeed, the CS and its evidence base, particularly the SA, note the existence 
and implications of the AONB designation which covers much of the 
community area.  I have had regard to the submissions made and the work 
commissioned by the North Wessex Downs AONB Unit which assessed SHLAA 
sites in and adjacent to the AONB.  Such work is informative and indicates the 
potential challenges to be faced by the Council and others in realising the 
effective delivery of its housing intentions.  However, the work does indicate 
the potential acceptability of some sites in landscape terms and is predicated 
upon the SHLAA which, by its nature, is an iterative document that is subject 
to constant change as potential sites are identified, developed or are 
discounted.  The Council’s proposed changes to the CS identify appropriately 
the importance of the AONB designations across the county and, in relation to 
Core Policy 18, the importance of the North Wessex Downs AONB in particular.  
For reasons of effectiveness and consistency with national policy, I 
recommend a main modification accordingly (MM53).   

317. The required non-strategic forms of development will be secured through a 
combination of Core Policies 1 and 2 and, as necessary, through the 
community planning process and the Sites DPD. Indeed, I note that some 
progress is being made in the advancement of neighbourhood planning for 
some settlements. The balance of the evidence indicates the feasibility of such 
means in delivering necessary housing and employment land over the plan 
period whereby the consideration of specific sites, for example that promoted 
at Salisbury Road or to the north west of Pewsey, in conjunction with the 
AONB designation and any associated landscape impacts can be made.  Such 
an approach is justified adequately and there is no reason to consider that it 
will not be effective in delivery.   The CS has considered the AONB designation 
and its implications for this community area and I do not find the document 
flawed in such regards. 

318. The Council has proposed changes to the CS which update and clarify the 
intended approach to Natura 2000 sites.  I recommend these as main 

Appendix 1

Page 100



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 72 - 

modifications for reasons of effectiveness and legal compliance (MM54) and, 
with due regard to the Council’s HRA, am satisfied that CS approach is 
justified adequately. 

319. CS paragraph 5.92 identifies a range of issues and considerations pertinent to 
the community area which will need to be addressed, as necessary, through 
the application of Core Policy 18. These are derived reasonably from both the 
Community Strategy and from the Pewsey Community Plan.  Subject to the 
changes confirmed above, the CS is justified in such regards and will be 
effective. 

320. Overall, the CS does take a justified approach towards the Pewsey Community 
Area, with due regard to alternatives, and will be effective in delivery. 

Royal Wootton Bassett and Cricklade Community Area 

With due regard to the consideration of alternatives, does the CS take a 
justified approach towards the Royal Wootton Bassett and Cricklade 
Community Area? Will it be effective in terms of delivery? 

321. The Royal Wootton Bassett and Cricklade Community Area lies to the east of 
the county, in close proximity to Swindon.  The market town of Royal Wootton 
Bassett fulfils the role of the primary settlement with the Local Service Centre 
of Cricklade to the north.  With due regard to the Council’s analysis of 
settlements, the settlement hierarchy contained in Core Policy 19 is justified 
adequately. As indicated by Topic Paper 3, the Council considered the potential 
of Lyneham and Purton to constitute Local Service Centres but, with regard to 
their role and function, concluded that they were appropriately designated as 
Large Villages.  As shown within Topic Paper 3 (Appendices) Lyneham has a 
role influenced heavily by the presence of the military and a limited function in 
acting as a service centre for the wider area, which contains the nearby 
settlements of Royal Wootton Bassett and Calne.  Purton, despite its 
secondary school serving a wide catchment area, is relatively close to 
Swindon, Cricklade and Royal Wootton Bassett.  On such a basis there is 
insufficient robust evidence to support either settlement being designated as 
Local Service Centres.  As set out in the Council’s evidence, Bradenstoke is 
justified reasonably as a Small Village. 

322. In common with the other community areas, the CS sets out a strategy for 
employment and housing that is based on the settlement hierarchy and which 
reflects the Council’s evidence that Royal Wootton Bassett fulfils a dormitory 
function relative to Swindon.  Consequently, three Principal Employment Areas 
are identified to be supported in accordance with Core Policy 35 whilst 5ha of 
employment land is identified for the area over the plan period; 3.7ha of which 
will be on land west of Templars Way in Royal Wootton Bassett. 

323. The employment land provision is derived from the Council’s Employment 
Land Review which acknowledges the need for increased self-containment for 
Royal Wootton Bassett and its proximity to the M4 yet also an acceptance that 
the demand for new employment land is less likely to be for inward 
investment.  Given the location of the town, I have no substantive reasons to 
disagree.  The Council’s SA examined potential strategic employment land 
allocations and concluded that the land west of Templars Way would be 

Appendix 1

Page 101



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 73 - 

preferable to that at the former St Ivel factory for reasons of heritage impacts 
and preferable to the extension of the Interface Industrial Estate due to issues 
of flood risk.  Such an approach is sound. 

324. The Council confirmed during the Examination that the Purton Brickworks site 
is not, as it previously identified, ‘built out’ and therefore, as a saved North 
Wiltshire District Local Plan allocation, it should be retained in Core Policy 19.  
I agree and have recommended a main modification (MM2) which will clarify 
the identified employment land supply for the community area. 

325. In terms of housing, no strategic allocations are identified within the submitted 
CS albeit such options were considered and, following the granting of various 
planning permissions, discounted.  As seen by CS Table 5.12 which shows 
housing completions and commitments, Core Policy 19 requires no further 
housing sites to be identified for Royal Wootton Bassett over the plan period 
and only 115 units are required for the rest of the community area.  
Subsequent to its consideration of the overall housing provision for the county 
and its disaggregation across the three HMAs, the Council has proposed a 
revised and indicative amount of housing for this Community Area.  
Consequently, the level of indicative housing contained in Core Policy 19 is 
proposed to be 1,455 homes, of which some 1,070 would be at Royal Wootton 
Bassett and 385 in the remainder of the Community Area.  Given the levels of 
need across the wider county, I consider that these are relatively low figures. 
However, and with due regard to the updated evidence base, including the SA, 
the SHMA and the Council’s Topic Papers such an approach is justified 
adequately and I recommend accordingly (MM 55). The Council consider that 
non-strategic housing sites can come forward under the neighbourhood 
planning process (wherein Plans for Royal Wootton Bassett and other areas 
appear to be in preparation) and/or the Sites DPD.   

326. I have received contrary views from participants to the Examination in relation 
to the volume of housing proposed within the CS, a number of which suggest 
that the overall housing figure for the community area is too low and that 
there is available land, for example to the south or north of Royal Wootton 
Bassett, which could readily accommodate an increase in provision and a 
strategic allocation (potentially mixed use).  I am mindful of such submissions 
and I do not question the availability of land.  However, the Council’s strategy 
towards this community area is cogent, consistent with the objectives of the 
CS as a whole, is supported by evidence and the housing volumes are 
expressed indicatively thus not precluding additional provision.   

327. The Sites DPD will provide an opportune moment, working alongside any 
neighbourhood planning processes, to review the need for additional housing 
land in Royal Wootton Bassett and the Community Area as a whole.  With due 
regard to the representations made, there is insufficient justification for any 
altered approach towards Purton, Lyneham or other settlement at this time. 
The available evidence does not support the identification of strategic sites or 
specific contingency sites supplementing an alternative volume of housing. 

328. Core Policy 19 provides a suitable means to address adequately the justified 
range of issues and considerations detailed in CS paragraphs 5.98 and 5.99 
and potentially the IDP.  These include matters of infrastructure, retail 
provision, nature conservation, railways, landscape value and the AONB.  The 

Appendix 1

Page 102



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 74 - 

Council’s proposed changes to the CS provide useful clarity to aid the 
effectiveness of the approach and with regard to retail and AONB matters I 
recommend accordingly (MM56). The Council’s changes usefully include 
suitable recognition of the impacts of HGV traffic on the local road network, for 
example as affects Cricklade, which will complement the provisions of CS 
Policies 65 and 66 although are not strictly necessary to secure the overall 
soundness of the plan.  There is no substantive evidence to suggest that the 
approach of Core Policy 19 is not justified adequately in these regards. 

329. The Borough of Swindon abuts the community area.  As shown by the Duty to 
Cooperate Statement118 and the Statement of Common Ground119, Wiltshire 
Council and Swindon Borough Council have sought to engage and work 
constructively in planning for their respective areas and across common 
boundaries.  I have no reason to consider that this is not continuing 
effectively. Amongst other matters, this work has produced the Swindon Small 
Scale Urban Extensions Evidence Review Paper120.  Neither authority objects to 
the housing volumes proposed in the respective plans of their neighbour which 
are currently under examination.  Both authorities are content that the 
requirement for development within Swindon can be met sustainably within 
locations that do not currently require an extension into Wiltshire albeit there 
is an acknowledged need to keep this under review whereby a joint Site 
Allocations DPD may be undertaken.  In summary, both Councils consider that 
a western extension to Swindon is not required at this time to assist in 
meeting the objectively assessed housing needs of either authority. 

330. A variety of submissions relating to a variety of sites have been made to the 
Wiltshire CS indicating that provision should be made for new development to 
the west of Swindon, either as a strategic allocation or as a contingency.  I 
have been mindful of such matters, as referenced above in relation to Matter 
4, and the historic context whereby the draft RS envisaged the need for such 
provision.  I am also mindful that additional major development has been 
granted on appeal, such as at Ridgeway Farm and that at Moredon Bridge 
which is accounted for in CS Table 5.12.  

331. As submitted, the Council considers the CS provides adequate strategic sites, 
to be supplemented by non-strategic development, to meet the objectively 
assessed housing needs of the county over the plan period. Based upon its 
housing evidence, its joint working and the SA which appraises alternatives, 
the Council identifies no need or justification for additional site provision to the 
west of Swindon at this time.  This report identifies the need to increase the 
minimum housing provision over the plan period towards the upper limit of the 
Council’s preferred range.  To do so, the Council will need to consider, through 
mechanisms such as its planned early review of the CS, the Sites DPD and the 
neighbourhood planning process, how such housing will be secured.  Such a 
reassessment may also need to be informed by the progress of the 
examination into the Swindon Local Plan and any revised analysis of Borough 
housing needs which may occur and the interplay between the town and its 
surrounds.  Inevitably, and whilst mindful of the current content of CS 
Strategic Objective 3, this may necessitate a reassessment of the potential of 

                                       
118 WCS/07 
119 SoCG/15 
120 ATU/117 

Appendix 1

Page 103



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 75 - 

land to the west of Swindon.   

332. The evidence, such as the West of Swindon Strategic Background Paper 2009 
and related documents, has historically assessed and acknowledged the 
potential sustainability of sites to the west of Swindon, for example Pry Farm 
and Washpool.  Other sites also appear potentially available and have been 
promoted, for example in the vicinity of Hook Street.  At present however, 
even allowing for the proposed increase in housing required by the CS, there is 
insufficient evidence to justify the provision of specific strategic site allocations 
or contingency arrangements for land to the west of Swindon. 

333. With due regard to the consideration of alternatives whilst recognising the 
need to review the planning for increased housing volumes over the current 
plan period, the CS does take a justified approach towards the Royal Wootton 
Bassett and Cricklade Community Area and will be effective in terms of 
delivery. 

Southern Wiltshire Community Area 

With due regard to the consideration of alternatives, does the CS take a 
justified approach towards the Southern Wiltshire Community Area? Will it 
be effective in terms of delivery? 

334. The CS follows the strategy established for the Southern Wiltshire Community 
Area by the South Wiltshire Core Strategy which was adopted in 2012 
following examination.  As referenced in its Position Statement121 and 
elsewhere, the Council has considered whether the content of the South 
Wiltshire Core Strategy remains justified and the extent to which changes may 
be required prior to submitting the county wide CS for Examination.   

335. In relation to the Southern Wiltshire Community Area which is influenced 
considerably by the nearby presence of Salisbury, I have no substantive 
evidence to suggest that the strategy is unjustified or that it will be ineffective 
over the plan period. Consequently and with regard to the Community 
Strategy, Core Policy 24 sets out appropriately the settlement hierarchy of the 
community area and the broad levels of anticipated development distributed in 
the Local Service Centre of Downton and elsewhere.  Subsequent to its 
consideration of the overall housing provision for the county and its 
disaggregation across the three HMAs, the Council has proposed a revised and 
indicative amount of housing for the Southern Wiltshire Community Area.  
Consequently, the level of indicative housing contained in Core Policy 24 is 
proposed to be 615 homes, of which some 190 would be at Downton and 425 
in the remainder of the Community Area.  With due regard to the updated 
evidence base, including the SA, the SHMA and the Council’s Topic Papers 
such an approach is justified adequately and I recommend accordingly (MM 
57). 

336. Whilst there will be a requirement to keep the level of housing and its 
distribution under review, Core Policy 24 expresses the volume of housing 
indicatively and thus there is some flexibility to ensure an adequate supply of 
housing over the plan period.  Non-strategic housing may come forwards 
through the existing policy framework and/or through the Sites DPD and 

                                       
121 WCS/PS/M9N 

Appendix 1

Page 104



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 76 - 

community planning process.  There is no persuasive evidence which suggests 
a strategic allocation is required at this moment in time or that the housing 
distribution should be altered.   

337. Subject to changes proposed by the Council which I recommend as 
modifications to ensure effectiveness (MM58), the CS acknowledges a range 
of considerations which may act as a constraint to development, particularly 
the New Forest National Park, the New Forest SPA and SAC and the Cranborne 
Chase and West Wiltshire Downs AONB.  I have noted the partnership work 
undertaken by the Council with relevant bodies in these regards122. The HRA 
and related documents, including those prepared in support of the South 
Wiltshire Core Strategy, indicate that the content of both Core Policies 24 and 
25 are justified and, where appropriate, capable of delivery. 

338. The Council has undertaken an assessment of infrastructure requirements for 
this community area and I am mindful that the CS, including all policies, must 
be read as a whole.  Thus, whilst concerns have been raised at the transport 
linkages between Salisbury and the settlements of the community area, there 
is no clear evidence to indicate that the CS is flawed or would be incapable of 
ensuring the provision of adequate infrastructure to serve the area and new 
development which may occur. 

339. Core Policy 23 relates to Old Sarum Airfield, a heritage asset of some 
significance. The Council has clarified that this is situated within the Southern 
Wiltshire Community Area rather than the Salisbury Community Area and 
whilst the proposed change to the CS certainly aids clarity, it is not necessary 
to secure soundness.  The CS seeks to provide a positive framework to 
enhance and manage the airfield linked to the production of a development 
master plan.  The available evidence supports the contingent parts of the 
policy and I have no reason to consider the approach flawed or incapable of 
effective delivery.   

340. Overall and with due regard to the consideration of alternatives, the CS does 
take a justified approach towards the South Wiltshire Community Area and will 
be effective in terms of delivery. 

Tidworth Community Area 

With due regard to the consideration of alternatives, does the CS take a 
justified approach towards the Tidworth Community Area? Will it be 
effective in terms of delivery? 

341. The Tidworth Community Area is located in the eastern part of Wiltshire.  The 
CS draws suitably on the available evidence and seeks to promote a strategy 
which will redress the current dominant presence of the military as indicated 
by a range of information sources.  In so doing the CS has had regard to the 
Tidworth Community Area Plan. 

342. The settlement hierarchy as identified in Core Policy 26 is justified by the 
Council in its assessment of the role and function of settlements.  Thus 
Tidworth and Ludgershall are market towns serving a wider range of 
designated Large and Small Villages.   

                                       
122 WCS/PS/M9N, WCS/07 et al 

Appendix 1

Page 105



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 77 - 

343. As set out in the Council’s Position Statement123 and Topic Paper 7, the CS 
sets out an approach towards employment land that is intended to facilitate a 
more balanced economy.  Thus the 12ha of land north of Tidworth Road is a 
logical and reasonable provision, supported by empirical evidence such as the 
Council’s Employment Land Review, that will supplement the identified 
Principal Employment Area.  Adequate consideration has been given towards 
reasonable alternatives. 

344. With regard to housing, a strategic allocation at Drummond Park has been 
identified for 475 dwellings.  Topic Paper 12 provides a reasonable summary 
justification for the allocation with due regard to potential alternatives.   The 
balance of the available evidence supports the content of the CS in these 
regards.  The development template provides informed guidance upon the way 
in which the site should be brought forwards with adequate consideration of 
infrastructure requirements.  Whilst there will need to be an increase in past 
building rates with the careful monitoring of delivery and I am mindful of 
Appeal Decision APP/Y3940/A/13/2206963,, I have received no substantive 
evidence to indicate that the objectives of the CS cannot be met within this 
community area in a timely fashion. 

345. Similarly, there are a number of potential avenues which will enable the 
provision of non-strategic housing: through Core Policies 1 and 2, through the 
community planning processes and/or through the identification of sites within 
the Sites DPD.  The balance of evidence, which includes the SHLAA, suggests 
the delivery of adequate housing can be effectively achieved.  The Council has 
proposed a minimal increase in the indicative amount of new housing for the 
Community Area following its consideration of overall housing provision for the 
county and the HMAs.   With due regard to the availability of other potential 
housing sites there is insufficient justification for increasing the indicative 
housing figures further at this time.  For reasons of clarity and effectiveness, 
including the necessary reference to protected landscapes, I recommend 
accordingly (MM59). 

346. The Council remains cognisant of the military presence within the Tidworth 
Community Area and elsewhere and of the structural changes occurring within 
the MoD which may affect military deployment and requirements within 
Wiltshire. Through its existing partnership work, such matters are capable of 
adequate resolution to the extent that there is no necessity for any specific 
alterations to the CS to accommodate military needs, such as additional 
housing, in any alternative manner. 

347. With due regard to the consideration of alternatives, the CS does take a 
justified approach towards the Tidworth Community Area and there is no 
substantive reason to consider that it will not be effective in terms of delivery. 

Tisbury Community Area 

With due regard to the consideration of alternatives, does the CS take a 
justified approach towards the Tisbury Community Area? Will it be 
effective in terms of delivery? 

348. As in the Southern Wiltshire Community Area and others, the Tisbury 
                                       
123 WCS/PS/M9O 

Appendix 1

Page 106



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 78 - 

Community Area lies within the part of the county covered by the recently 
adopted South Wiltshire Core Strategy.  The CS follows this previously 
adopted strategy.  As referenced in its Position Statement124 and elsewhere, 
the Council has considered whether the content of the South Wiltshire Core 
Strategy remains justified and the extent to which changes may be required 
prior to submitting the countywide CS for Examination. 

349. The area lies predominantly within the Cranborne Chase and West Wiltshire 
Downs AONB and is rural in nature albeit with reasonable transport links 
provided by the A303, the A30 and the railway.  The Council has proposed 
changes to the CS to emphasise the presence of the AONB; for reasons of 
effectiveness I recommend such modifications accordingly (MM60). 

350. With the exception of the Tisbury Local Service Centre, the settlement 
structure is established by a range of Large and Small Villages which are 
designated appropriately within Core Policy 27 following the Council’s analysis 
of their role and function. 

351. Given the nature of the community area, its settlements, the adopted South 
Wiltshire CS and subsequent evidence, I am satisfied that there is no current 
necessity for a strategic housing allocation.  The non-strategic housing 
volumes appear capable of being realised through a combination of CS Core 
Policies 1 and 2 and through the production of subsequent planning 
documents which may include neighbourhood plans. Subsequent to its 
consideration of the overall housing provision for the county and its 
disaggregation across the three HMAs, the Council has proposed no change to 
the overall volume of housing proposed. The Council will need to keep its 
housing requirement and land supply under review utilising mechanisms such 
as the planned early review of the CS and Sites DPD.  However, Core Policy 27 
as submitted expresses the volume of new homes as a minimum.  The Council 
has suggested changes which would clarify the wording of the CS as regards 
the levels of development proposed. These have a limited effect upon the 
content of the policy although would provide a degree of consistency within 
the CS itself.  For reasons of clarity and effectiveness I recommend 
accordingly (MM60). 

352. Core Policy 27 retains 1.4ha of employment land at Hindon Lane, Tisbury 
which, with due regard to the available evidence that includes relevant Topic 
Papers125, is justified adequately. 

353. The CS, within Core Policy 27 and paragraph 5.143, addresses a range of 
specific issues which affect the Tisbury Community Area.  The Council’s 
changes to the CS aid the clarity of the plan in such regards and identify 
particular local concerns in relation to some narrow access roads, the 
sufficiency of parking in the vicinity of Tisbury rail station and the guidance 
relevant to the SAC.  Whilst useful, such modifications are not strictly 
necessary to secure the soundness of the CS overall.  

354. With due regard to the consideration of alternatives, the CS does take a 
justified approach towards the Tisbury Community Area which will be effective 
in terms of delivery.   

                                       
124 WCS/PS/M9P 
125 South Wiltshire Core Strategy Topic Papers 17 and 18 

Appendix 1

Page 107



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 79 - 

Trowbridge Community Area 

With due regard to the consideration of alternatives, does the CS take a 
justified approach towards the Trowbridge Community Area? Will it be 
effective in terms of delivery? 

355. Trowbridge is the county town of Wiltshire and is one of its three principal 
settlements providing a focus for the wider Community Area.  As set out in 
Topic Paper 3, it’s Position Statement126 and elsewhere, the Council is 
cognisant of the strengths and challenges facing the town.   

356. Core Policy 28 is a response to the identified need for suitable investment into 
the town. The CS prioritises the regeneration of the town centre. The Policy 
has been informed by a variety of evidence sources which include the 
partnership work of the ‘Transforming Trowbridge Vision Board’, their resulting 
Scoping and Vision Study and the emerging Trowbridge Masterplan.  Whilst 
Core Policy 28 contains an emphasis upon the Masterplan, which provides the 
main reference for the suitability of development proposals, there is no 
substantive evidence which suggests that its production process is not robust 
or that any alternative strategy should be pursued.  There remains a degree of 
uncertainty as to the way in which the final Masterplan may be produced and 
adopted by the Council and its partners, for example as an unexamined 
Supplementary Planning Document.  Consequently, Core Policy 28 should 
maintain some flexibility to ensure justified development may reasonably be 
considered. The Council has proposed a change to paragraph 5.150 which, to 
ensure the effectiveness of the CS, I recommend with further additions to Core 
Policy 28 as a main modification (MM61).  

357. The CS is supported by a proportionate retail evidence base. This includes the 
Council’s Town Centre and Retail Study which provides an adequate analysis of 
both quantitative and qualitative retail needs.  The delineation of the town 
centre is proposed by the Council to be informed by the emerging Master Plan.  
Such an approach is reasonable and will need to be assessed in association 
with the partial review of the CS which, as referenced by MM11, will provide 
the most practical opportunity to identify primary and secondary retail 
frontages.  The Policies Map will be amended accordingly.  MM61 incorporates 
the necessary modification on this matter. 

358. In common with other community areas, the settlement hierarchy identified in 
Core Policy 29 is based upon a range of evidence, including that contained in 
Topic Paper 3.  There is no persuasive reason to consider the listed villages to 
be incorrectly designated. 

359. The strategy taken by Core Policy 29 is consistent with the overall objectives 
of the CS; to seek an appropriate and justified scale of sustainable 
development that strengthens the principal service centre role of Trowbridge 
whilst delivering a balance of housing and employment opportunities in 
association with improved infrastructure and facilities.  The CS clearly 
identifies a range of specific issues to be addressed by Core Policy 29 in 
paragraph 5.147.  These are derived adequately from the evidence base and 
reflect community based work such as the Community Strategy and the 

                                       
126 WCS/PS/M9Q 

Appendix 1

Page 108



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 80 - 

emerging town Master Plan. 

360. The CS identifies five Principal Employment Areas and a requirement for some 
25ha of employment land for the plan period: 10ha at West Ashton Road and 
15ha as part of a mixed use scheme at Ashton Park Urban Extension.  
Trowbridge is a Principal Settlement that is seeking to increase its self 
containment and thereby reinforce its role in the county. With due regard to 
the Council’s employment land evidence, including Topic Paper 7 and the 
Employment Land Review, such figures are justified. 

361. In terms of housing and as submitted, Core Policy 29 indicated that at least 
6,000 new homes would be provided in the community area of which some 
2,600 would be located at the Ashton Park Urban Extension. Allowing for 
existing commitments, some 170 new homes subsequently remained to be 
identified over the plan period.  Subsequent to its consideration of the overall 
housing provision for the county and its disaggregation across the three HMAs, 
the Council has proposed a revised and indicative amount of housing for the 
Trowbridge Community Area.  Consequently, the level of indicative housing 
contained in Core Policy 29 is proposed to be 7,000 homes, of which some 
5,860 would be in Trowbridge supplemented by a further 950 when 
infrastructure and biodiversity matters have been addressed adequately. 
Approximately 165 homes would be built in the remainder of the Community 
Area.  With due regard to the updated evidence base, including the SA, the 
SHMA and the Council’s Topic Papers such an approach is justified adequately 
and I recommend accordingly (MM 62). 

362. Submissions to the Examination in conjunction with the SHLAA indicate the 
potential for non-strategic sites to come forward over the plan period such 
that I have no reason to doubt the deliverability of the housing intended, 
which, as necessary, can be resolved in its detail through the Sites DPD and/or 
neighbourhood planning process.  The CS contains sufficient flexibility within 
its distribution of housing across HMAs to ensure that should the anticipated 
levels of development at Trowbridge be unobtainable, redistribution within the 
HMA will be feasible, for example to other market towns.  The available 
evidence does not support the retention of land for housing at the ‘Staverton 
Triangle’ at this time. 

363. The key element of the strategy for Trowbridge is the Ashton Park Urban 
Extension.  This is a very significant addition to the south east of the town 
intended to deliver a mix of homes, employment land and key infrastructure 
that is integrated with the existing settlement.  Details of the allocation are 
shown in the Development Template found within CS Appendix A.  The 
Council’s evidence, including Topic Paper 12 and the SA, indicates how the 
allocation has evolved over time with due regard to alternatives.  Such 
evidence includes a reassessment of development viability which has led the 
Council to propose a change to the affordable housing target which I 
recommend accordingly (MM 63).  When taken as a whole, the evidence 
supports adequately the submitted strategic allocation.  

364. I am mindful of the Statement of Common Ground between the Council and 
the primary developer of the site and also that a detailed masterplanning 
process will be required.  With regards to infrastructure, accessibility and 
transport, the evidence indicates that the site is capable of being brought 

Appendix 1

Page 109



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 81 - 

forward viably to meet the objectives of Core Policy 29 albeit specific details 
will subsequently emerge. Such details will be subject to community 
involvement and should maximise the potential of the site to realise a 
sustainable form of development, for example in relation to connectivity and 
transport routes.  There is no substantive evidence that such an outcome is 
not achievable. 

365. The site is currently undeveloped countryside.  Inevitably, the development 
will impact upon the landscape. Nonetheless, the development template 
acknowledges the issues adequately through proposed mitigation and green 
infrastructure such that there is no justification for deleting the allocation.  
However, it is accepted by the Council, as shown within the CS template, that 
the urban extension must address matters of ecology satisfactorily.  Indeed, 
the CS template identifies the conservation and enhancement of the natural 
environment and any species associated with the Bath and Bradford on Avon 
Bats SAC as a key objective. 

366. The site lies near to the ancient woodlands of Biss Wood and Green Lane 
Wood, is in a woodland Strategic Nature Area, includes the riparian corridor of 
the River Biss and lies within 4km of the Bath and Bradford on Avon Bats SAC.  
Bechstein bats roost nearby.  I remain mindful of the available evidence which 
includes the Council’s HRA, the AA, the views of Natural England127 (which do 
not raise objection to the principle of the allocation) and the changes proposed 
by the Council which further address matters of ecology.  In summary, the 
Council considers that the strategic allocation can be brought forward 
acceptably in terms of its ecological effects.   

367. The CS as a whole and the template in particular, provides adequate 
acknowledgement and reasonable protection of the nearby and potentially 
affected woodlands together with a cogent approach towards the River Biss 
corridor.  The CS is sound in such regards.  

368. I heard in some detail and from qualified perspectives how protected species, 
especially Bechstein bats with nearby maternity roosts, may or not be affected 
by the strategic allocation at Ashton Park linked to improvements planned for 
the A350 at Yarnbrook.  With regard to the existing and historic species 
surveys, there is undoubtedly scope for ever more detailed data in relation to 
the presence and movement of protected species, especially bats in terms of 
roosting, breeding and foraging.  That certain protected species are present 
near to Ashton Park and are vulnerable to effects arising from development is 
not in dispute.  I received details and heard unresolved debate on the likely 
efficacy of potential mitigation and avoidance measures in relation to matters 
such as bat flight paths, the ‘barrier’ effect of roads, the effects of lighting and 
the potential pressures exerted by the proximity of new development, both 
residential and employment.   

369. A judgement needs to be reached as to the likely effect of the strategic 
allocation of the CS upon the SAC, protected species and the wider nature 
conservation value of the area.  In reaching such a judgement, I have had 
regard to a variety of cited national and international court judgements that 
have addressed the issue of the application of the Habitats Directive and 

                                       
127 WCS/SoCG/05 

Appendix 1

Page 110



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 82 - 

associated regulations, particularly in relation to policy planning.  Mindful of 
the judgement in Feeney v SSCLG & Oxford City Council128, the approach 
taken by the Council, as discussed during the Examination and expounded by 
the Council in document EXAM/28, appears both reasonable and justified and 
does not appear inconsistent with Advocate General Kokott’s opinion in 
Commission v UK129.  Even though these cases predate the issue of the 
Framework, the principles they embody remain relevant to the Wiltshire CS. 

370. The issue of potential effects upon the SAC and relevant species is 
acknowledged by the Council’s evidence (including the AA) and the suggested 
changes to the CS incorporate measures to ensure the integrity of the SAC 
and that the effect of proposed development can be addressed adequately.  A 
conclusion that the strategic allocation would not affect adversely the integrity 
of the SAC is consequently justified in terms of the submitted CS.  The balance 
of proportionate evidence, particularly with regard to the HRA and the 
comments of Natural England, indicates that the allocation could be brought 
forward acceptably and without harm to the integrity of the SAC and 
associated species.   

371. Nevertheless, subsequent project level surveys, screening and potential AA 
will be required and this is robustly incorporated into the CS following the 
Council’s proposed changes. For reasons of effectiveness and incorporating 
matters of flood risk, I recommend accordingly (MM64). 

372. The Council’s proposed changes to the CS indicate that land additional to the 
strategic site would only be capable of being brought forwards following the 
provision of improved secondary education facilities at the end of the plan 
period.  I agree that adequate infrastructure should be in place to support the 
development proposed by the CS albeit I have amended the Council’s wording 
to maximise the flexibility of the plan in these respects.   Overall, the Council 
has taken an informed approach to the infrastructure requirements of the 
community area, including education provision, transport and water 
management.  The IDP, the Development Template and other policies of the 
CS (such as Core Policies 65 and 66) address such matters adequately such 
that I have no substantive reason to consider the objectives of the CS are not 
capable of effective delivery. 

373. Core Policy 30 takes a positive approach towards the provision of a low carbon 
renewable energy network within Trowbridge.  The Policy is supported 
adequately by the available evidence, for example the CAMCO study130, and is 
consistent with other parts of the CS, such as Core Policies 41 and 28.  The CS 
is sound in these regards. 

374. With due regard to the consideration of alternatives and the modification 
indicated, the CS does take a justified approach towards the Trowbridge 
Community Area and will be effective in terms of delivery. 

 

                                       
128 [2011] EWHC 2699 Admin   
129 Commission of the European Communities v United Kingdom of Great Britain and 
Northern Ireland  2005 
130 STU/179 

Appendix 1

Page 111



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 83 - 

Warminster Community Area 

With due regard to the consideration of alternatives, does the CS take a 
justified approach towards the Warminster Community Area? Will it be 
effective in terms of delivery? 

375. Warminster is an historic market town situated towards the west of the 
county, south of Westbury and east of Frome.  The surrounding community 
area is rural in nature and is set in a high quality landscape.  Salisbury Plain 
lies to the east and, in particular, the Cranborne Chase and West Wiltshire 
Downs AONB designation covers a significant part of the southern community 
area.  The Council’s evidence assesses sufficiently the role and function of 
settlements within the wider community area and the range of Large and 
Small villages, including Chapmanslade, are reflected adequately within Core 
Policy 31. 

376. In setting its objectives for the Warminster area, the Council has had adequate 
regard to the community strategy for Wiltshire and to the existing Warminster 
and Villages Community Plan (2005-2015).  Due in part to such references, a 
range of issues and considerations are consequently identified within CS 
paragraphs 5.154 and 5.155 which are cross referenced further within Core 
Policy 31 itself.  The Council has proposed changes to the CS to highlight the 
importance of the Cranborne Chase and West Wiltshire Downs AONB, and to 
clarify the approaches towards Natura 2000 sites, the Bath and Bradford on 
Avon SAC and flood risk.  In light of the evidence and for reasons of 
effectiveness, I recommend such changes as main modifications (MM65).  
With due regard to the Council’s HRA and associated evidence, there is no 
compelling reason to consider that the CS fails to address adequately habitat 
and ecology issues within the Warminster area. 

377. Core Policy 31 indicates that, in addition to the robustly identified Principal 
Employment Areas, 6ha of new employment land will be provided through the 
strategic West Warminster Urban Extension (in conjunction with 900 homes).  
In deriving this figure, the Council draws upon the content of the Employment 
Land Review and associated documents, including Topic Paper 7, which 
identifies the strategic location of Warminster upon the A350 and the relative 
buoyancy of commercial activity.  With due regard to the consideration of 
alternatives as referenced within the SA, the balance of evidence supports 
adequately the employment land allocation to the west of the town. 

378. In terms of housing and as submitted, Core Policy 31 indicated the provision of 
at least 1,770 new homes over the plan period with 1,650 occurring at 
Warminster.  Of these and allowing for existing commitments, CS Table 5.18 
indicated that the siting for 180 in Warminster town (210 for the whole CA) 
had yet to be identified..  Subsequent to its consideration of the overall 
housing provision for the county and its disaggregation across the three HMAs, 
the Council has proposed a revised and indicative amount of housing for this 
Community Area.  Consequently, the level of indicative housing contained in 
Core Policy 31 is proposed to be 2,060 homes, of which some 1,920 would be 
at Warminster and 140 in the remainder of the Community Area.  With due 
regard to the updated evidence base, including the SA, the SHMA and the 
Council’s Topic Papers such an approach is justified adequately and I 
recommend accordingly (MM 66). 

Appendix 1

Page 112



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 84 - 

379. Subsequent details of housing distribution can reasonably emerge through the 
Sites DPD, complementing any neighbourhood plans which proceed.  In the 
interim, the balance of the available evidence supports the content of Core 
Policy 31 as regards the West Warminster Urban Extension.  Such evidence 
includes the Council’s Spatial Strategy Background Paper, the SA and Topic 
Paper 15.  

380. Whilst the merits of other sites have been explored both by the Council and 
through the CS Examination process, there are no reasonable alternatives to 
the strategic allocation which warrant modification of the submitted CS.  Non-
strategic housing, as promoted to the Examination on a range of other sites, 
can emerge reasonably in the context of Core Policies 1 and 2 and/or via the 
Sites DPD or neighbourhood planning processes.  There is no compelling need 
to identify additional development sites in the CS at this moment in time. 

381. The strategic allocation, as identified by the Council, offers a suitable 
opportunity to secure a coherent and sustainable urban extension to the town.  
It is supported, particularly by the IDP, by an adequate consideration of 
infrastructure requirements, including education, health, emergency services 
and transportation.  Such matters are reflected within the CS and in terms of 
the Development template in CS Appendix A.  The extent of the site is justified 
albeit any future reassessment of the County Wildlife Site at Grovelands Way 
may enable further complementary non-strategic development if justified in 
other regards. 

382. As noted, Warminster is located in an area of some landscape and heritage 
sensitivity and I have noted the submissions to the CS and the Examination 
which have queried the acceptability of the urban extension in terms of 
landscape and heritage impacts.  However, the site allocation is supported by 
a landscape character assessment which has identified the potentially sensitive 
views of the site, for example from Cley Hill, and the need to ensure such 
sensitivities are addressed.  The CS consequently plans for suitable mitigation, 
such as the large landscape buffer, which provides scope for ameliorating 
adverse effects that could arise.   The development template, including the 
Council’s proposed clarifications, indicates that the area of the land identified 
is purposefully larger than that required to merely accommodate the 
development levels proposed in order to provide scope for mitigation.  Indeed, 
the masterplanning process necessary for the urban extension to be brought 
forwards will enable due consideration of a range of detailed matters that are 
capable of resolution, including design and landscaping.  The CS development 
template, as proposed to be altered by the Council, will provide an adequate 
means of bringing the urban extension forwards satisfactorily, effectively and 
with due regard to ecological, landscape and heritage interests (MM67). 

383. With regard to flood risk, the Statement of Common Ground between the 
Council and the Environment Agency131 recommend alterations to the CS and I 
have recommended such changes accordingly (MM64).  Whilst there are flood 
risk issues to address, the balance of the evidence, which includes work 
emerging from the masterplanning process, indicates that these are capable of 
adequate resolution in relation to the urban extension.  The Council proposes a 
change to the template to reflect the viability evidence which indicates a 

                                       
131 WCS/SoCG/04 

Appendix 1

Page 113



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 85 - 

reduced affordable housing target. This is justified and encompassed in MM67 
albeit, as made clear by the Council, the requirement for affordable housing 
will be subject to CS Core Policy 43 thereby enabling specific viability evidence 
for a different proportion to be considered as necessary. There is no 
compelling evidence which supports the need for the allocation of contingency 
or alternative sites at this time.  In the event that the urban extension appears 
problematic to deliver in an expeditious manner, avenues such as the planned 
early review of the CS could enable an effective means of revising the planned 
approach towards Warminster.  The balance of evidence, which includes the 
progress being made upon the required masterplan and the IDP, indicates that 
the strategic allocation for the town is capable of effective delivery. 

384. The CS identifies the role of the Warminster Town Plan132, as a community led 
regeneration initiative, in strengthening and developing the retail core of the 
town centre.  To be effective, any such plan should be consistent with the 
strategy, objectives and policies of the CS and the Framework. The balance of 
available evidence suggests that positive progress is being made in such 
regards albeit the intended status of the document in relation to the 
development plan is yet to be determined.   Regardless, the suite of policies 
within the CS, subject to the necessary clarification upon primary and 
secondary frontages to be undertaken by the Council, provides an adequate 
basis for determining proposals within the town. 

385. With due regard to the consideration of alternatives, the CS as modified does 
take a justified approach towards the Warminster Community Area and will be 
effective in terms of delivery. 

Westbury Community Area 

With due regard to the consideration of alternatives, does the CS take a 
justified approach towards the Westbury Community Area? Will it be 
effective in terms of delivery? 

386. The Westbury Community Area is in the west of Wiltshire.  Following its 
analysis of the role and function of settlements, the Council has designated 
Westbury as a market town serving a limited range of Large and Small 
villages.  With due regard to the evidence which includes Topic Paper 3, such 
an approach is justified adequately. 

387. The town of Westbury is geographically positioned between the larger 
settlements of Trowbridge and Warminster with Frome to the east.  It retains 
a relatively significant employment base due in part to its position within the 
strategic road network and the existence of Westbury rail station.  As a 
consequence, the Council has identified the town as being a suitable location 
for strategic employment development and this is reflected in Core Policy 32. 
The remainder of the community area is rural in character. 

388. CS paragraph 5.163 identifies a number of specific issues which the Council 
considers need to be addressed throughout the community area. These include 
securing a balance between employment opportunities and housing provision, 
facilitating town centre enhancements, addressing traffic congestion and air 
quality whilst maintaining the integrity of the Salisbury Plain SPA.  Such 

                                       
132 CPP/126 

Appendix 1

Page 114



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 86 - 

matters have in part been derived from the Community Strategy and with 
regard to the Westbury Community Plan. Subject to further discussion below, 
these are justified. 

389. The Council’s evidence, which includes the Wiltshire Workspace and 
Employment Land Strategy, the Employment Land Review and Topic Paper 7, 
identifies that Westbury should accommodate around 18ha of employment 
land. The rationale for such a relatively significant figure includes the town’s 
west Wiltshire location upon the strategic road network, the demand for 
suitable premises in this location and to assist in meeting the objective of 
securing a greater degree of self-containment for the town as a whole.  I have 
no substantive evidence that weighs heavily against such factors. 

390. Whilst the amount of employment land earmarked for Westbury is significant, 
it has also been justified by the Council in response to the Future Employment 
Needs in Wiltshire – Employment Floorspace and Land Forecasts133 which 
identifies the need for growth in western Wiltshire.  The 18ha are therefore 
intended to contribute to the broader needs of the county and on such a basis 
there is no compelling reason to consider the content of the CS is unjustified.  

391. Core Policy 32 states that in addition to the justified Principal Employment 
Areas, 3.8ha of employment land will be provided at North Acre Industrial 
Estate and 14.7ha via a strategic allocation for Mill Lane.  The former is 
derived from a saved West Wiltshire Local Plan allocation and is a logical 
extension to the existing commercial development in its vicinity.  The latter 
site is predominantly agricultural land that lies to the north of the town. 

392. The SA provides details of the Council’s assessment process for the strategic 
employment allocations and the consideration of reasonable alternatives. 
There is no substantive evidence to suggest the Council’s conclusions upon the 
strategic allocation at Mill Lane, as informed by the SA and other evidence, is 
flawed so as to warrant significant modification or deletion.  As indicated by 
the SA, the site is well related to the commercial development of the West 
Wilts Trading Estate which lies to the west.  However, the site is 
predominantly agricultural land and is separated from the core of the town 
itself.  The scale of the development at Mill Lane will fundamentally affect the 
current character and appearance of the locality.  It is consequently 
imperative, as set out within the CS Development Template, that the 
masterplanning process for the site addresses thoroughly issues such as 
transport, access, landscaping, drainage, layout and design in order that the 
process of change is addressed comprehensively and adequately.  On such a 
basis the allocation is justified. 

393. The evidence base for the CS includes the Council’s Historic Landscape 
Assessment which has informed the strategic allocation process for Westbury.  
Following consultation, the Council has sought to clarify how it has addressed 
the issue of the heritage assets whose significance would be potentially 
affected by the Mill Lane allocation, particularly the setting of the listed 
building of Hawkeridge Farmhouse.  In this regard I am mindful of the various 
submissions made to the Examination, including the Hawkeridge Farmhouse 

                                       
133 STU/89 

Appendix 1

Page 115



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 87 - 

Setting Assessment134.   

394. Given the nature of the farmhouse, its position and historic relationship with 
the existing landscape and its subsequent proximity to the strategic allocation, 
I am in little doubt that the setting of the farmhouse would be affected by the 
employment land to be provided at Mill Lane.  However, it is also clear from 
the identified boundary, the content of the development template and the 
evidence base itself, that the evolution of the strategic allocation has been 
undertaken in the knowledge of the buildings which exist along Mill Lane.  
There is now no doubt as to the precise location of the listed building which 
can be considered fully as part of any masterplanning exercise to be 
undertaken. Whilst details of any employment development are currently 
unknown, the public benefit to be secured from the additional employment 
land, in terms of jobs and economic sustainability, would be potentially 
significant.  The potential harm to the setting of the listed building remains to 
be determined although may be less than substantial and would appear 
capable of at least partial mitigation.  The balance of the evidence leads me to 
conclude that the heritage considerations affecting the Mill Lane allocation do 
not warrant any modification or deletion of the allocation itself. 

395. As indicated by available evidence, including the Statement of Common 
Ground135, the promoter of the site136 and the Council anticipate that delivery 
of the site is feasible during the plan period, albeit with regard to a 
masterplanning process and, inevitably, the response of the market to the 
opportunities to be offered.  The Council, as evidenced by the development 
template and the IDP, has taken a proportionate approach in assessing the 
infrastructure implications of the strategic employment allocation and, overall, 
the approach taken by Core Policy 32 towards employment land is justified 
adequately and will be effective. I note that an outline planning permission has 
been granted137. 

396. With regards to housing and as submitted, Core Policy 32 indicated that at 
least 1,390 new homes would be provided in the community area over the 
plan period, with some 250 being provided via the strategic allocation at 
Station Road.  CS Table 5.19 showed that sites for some 350 homes remained 
to be identified. Subsequent to its consideration of the overall housing 
provision for the county and its disaggregation across the three HMAs, the 
Council has proposed a revised and indicative amount of housing for the 
Westbury Community Area.  Consequently, the level of indicative housing 
contained in Core Policy 32 is proposed to be 1,615 homes, of which some 
1,500 would be at Westbury and 115 elsewhere.  With due regard to the 
updated evidence base, including the SA, the SHMA and the Council’s Topic 
Papers such an approach is justified adequately and I recommend accordingly 
(MM68). 

397. Subsequent details of housing provision can emerge reasonably through the 
Sites DPD complementing any neighbourhood plans which arise.  In the 
interim the balance of the available evidence, which includes the SA, supports 
the modified content of Core Policy 32 as regards the Westbury Community 

                                       
134 Environmental Dimension Partnership Feb 2013 
135 WCS/SoCG/02 
136 PS/M9S/08 
137 14/03118/OUT 

Appendix 1

Page 116



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 88 - 

Area. 

398. The approach towards housing provision within Westbury has altered over 
time and it is clear from documents such as the SA, the Strategic Sites 
Background Paper and associated documents, that the Council has considered 
reasonable alternatives in allocating Station Road for development.  These 
include an option involving the relocation of Matravers School which was 
ultimately discounted due to deliverability concerns. The potential for the 
Station Road allocation, based in part upon a previous Local Plan intention, to 
contribute towards the strategic objectives of the Council in providing key 
infrastructure warrants the inclusion of the site as a strategic allocation. 

399. A number of other potential housing sites have been identified by promoters 
which may have individual merit; however, none would constitute strategic 
development as considered by the Council in Topic Paper 12 and none 
represent reasonable alternatives to the principles embodied in the strategic 
allocation at Station Road.  Such sites may come forward where justified 
through the provisions of Core Policies 1 and 2 or through the Sites DPD and 
neighbourhood planning processes.  Such available mechanisms negate the 
need for a specific reference within the submitted CS to a ‘direction of 
preferred growth’ upon which there is currently insufficient evidence to draw a 
robust conclusion. 

400. However, as seen by the submissions to the CS and the Examination138, there 
is some uncertainty as to the overall viability and deliverability of the Station 
Road site as contained in the CS. I consider that this is reinforced by the 
Council’s Affordable Housing Viability Study which notes the marginal viability 
of the site and a variety of scenarios whereby the returns on the site fall below 
indicative viability thresholds.  Indeed, the developer interest within the site 
considers that the land allocation should be increased in size and approached 
more flexibly to ensure a viable scheme is delivered: ‘Without a much more 
flexible approach to the provision of development at Westbury or additional 
funding, the viability of the strategic site is potentially marginal139’.  The 
evidence presents a degree of ambivalence as to the viability of the site, being 
dependent in part upon infrastructure costs and any housing recovery in the 
wider market. 

401. Whilst the developer interest has indicated the need for an enlarged strategic 
allocation to accommodate a greater volume of housing, this is resisted by the 
Council.  The evidence upon such a point is somewhat limited.  A succinct 
statement in relation to viability and the need for a greater net developable 
area is to be found within the site promoter’s Position Statement140.  The 
Council’s revised viability evidence has led to a proposed reduction in the 
affordable housing aspirations for the site which will enhance the likelihood of 
viable delivery.  For reasons of effectiveness I recommend accordingly 
(MM69). 

402. Thus, the Station Road site is justified as a strategic allocation. There are no 
reasonable alternatives which can be considered strategic in nature. Its 
effective and timely delivery will be assisted by MM69.  Consequently, the 

                                       
138 For example: PS/M9S/07 and 09, WCS/SoCG/03 and 3A 
139 PS/M9S/09 para 40.1 
140 PS/M9S/09 

Appendix 1

Page 117



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 89 - 

evidence in support of a specific enlargement of the allocation is insufficient, in 
terms of its precision and justification, to justify a modification of the CS by 
increasing the site area and volume of housing.  The developer and the 
Council have set out a delivery timetable for the site which shows, in any 
event, that commencement would not occur until 2017/18.  I therefore 
consider that the most pragmatic way forwards is to retain the strategic 
allocation as submitted within the CS but with increased flexibility to enable 
further review of the site in light of further evidence which may arise in terms 
of infrastructure and affordable housing requirements and any recovery in the 
housing market. Such evidence will become clearer over the next 12/18 
months during the preparation and consideration of the outline planning 
application anticipated in the Statement of Common Ground.  Such flexibility 
will enable the Council to work with all partners and the community, for 
example as part of the Sites DPD, planned early review of the CS or through 
the neighbourhood planning process, to confirm or revise the size and 
requirements of the site potentially in parallel with consideration of how 
additional housing land to meet the needs of the HMA may be required within 
Westbury.  I recommend accordingly (MM70). 

403. In terms of the strategic allocations and the wider community area, the 
Council has worked alongside its partners in assessing the likely infrastructure 
requirements and other issues which may affect development proposals over 
the plan period.  These are reflected adequately and flexibly within Core Policy 
32, the development template and CS paragraph 5.163 which reference 
adequately a range of matters including air quality, education, water 
management, transportation and access to the Westbury lakes.  In the 
interests of clarity and effectiveness, I recommend the Council’s proposed 
changes to paragraph 5.163 as they affect the Salisbury Plain SPA and the 
Bath and Bradford Bats SAC (MM71). 

404. The Council has responded to submissions to the CS and the Examination by 
proposing changes to the CS to clarify its approach to the LaFarge site, 
including the retention of the rail connection.  These are useful but not strictly 
necessary to secure the soundness of the plan as whole. 

405. Policy C3 of the West Wiltshire Local Plan (1st Alteration) is a saved policy that 
seeks to conserve and enhance the landscape character of defined Special 
Landscape Areas (SLA).  Such a designation applies, amongst others, to the 
Wellhead Valley at Westbury and I have no evidence to suggest that it should 
not be retained.  I heard during the course of the examination, that this 
landscape was of particular value and as such that it may have potential to 
become part of an AONB; the Council expressed a desire to be involved in any 
such discussions with Natural England and other bodies.   

406. It is partly against this context that I received submissions in relation to Policy 
T1A of the West Wiltshire Local Plan (1st Alteration) which the CS indicates 
would also be saved.  Policy T1A essentially seeks to safeguard an eastern 
A350 bypass route around Westbury and through the SLA.  A previous public 
inquiry into a specific bypass proposal141 concluded that the scheme was 
unacceptable.  Amongst much evidence which includes the Council’s notes142, 

                                       
141 Appeal Reference APP/K3930/V/07/1201863 
142 EXAM/08, 47 and 47A 

Appendix 1

Page 118



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 90 - 

it is reasonable to conclude that there is no current firm intention to deliver a 
bypass for Westbury (either east or west); certainly, such a scheme is not part 
of any foreseeable capital improvement programme and the evidence shows 
that there are no funding bids in place or intended.   

407. As a consequence, there is no justification for saving policy T1A.  The 
safeguarding elements of CS Core Policy 66 ‘Strategic Transport Network’ 
effectively replace policy T1A and in the interests of ensuring a justified, 
effective and legally compliant143 plan, I therefore modify CS Appendix D to 
make this point clear (MM72144).  Alternative mechanisms exist, for example 
the CS Review, to include transport infrastructure projects that may 
reasonably emerge for implementation during the existing or any extended 
plan period.  

408. The balance of evidence when considered as a whole, with due regard to the 
consideration of alternatives, indicates that the CS does take a justified 
approach towards the Westbury Community Area. Subject to the modifications 
referenced above, it will be effective in terms of delivery. 

Wilton Community Area 

With due regard to the consideration of alternatives, does the CS take a 
justified approach towards the Wilton Community Area? Will it be effective 
in terms of delivery? 

409. As in other community areas, the Wilton Community Area occupies a location 
covered by the recently adopted South Wiltshire Core Strategy.  The CS 
follows this previously adopted strategy.  As referenced in its Position 
Statement145 and elsewhere, the Council has considered whether the content 
of the South Wiltshire Core Strategy remains justified and the extent to which 
changes may be required prior to submitting the countywide CS for 
Examination. 

410. The Community Area lies partially within the Cranborne Chase and West 
Wiltshire Downs AONB and is situated to the west of Salisbury.  It is 
consequently affected considerably by the presence of the city which provides 
employment opportunities and a wide range of services and facilities.  Core 
Policy 33 defines Wilton itself as a Local Service Centre whilst the remainder of 
the community area contains a range of Large and Small Villages suitably 
designated following the Council’s analysis of their role and function. 

411. Due in part to the proximity of Salisbury, the community area contains no 
strategic allocations for housing or employment land albeit the housing 
provision for Salisbury does include land at the redundant Land Forces HQ site 
at Wilton.  The CS makes clear that the housing requirement for Wilton is 
included within the strategy for Salisbury. 

412. There is no compelling evidence to indicate that the absence of strategic 
allocations is flawed whilst the provision of non strategic housing appears 
capable of being realised through a combination of CS Core Policies 1 and 2 

                                       
143 Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 Schedule 8 (2) – as amended 
144 The Council will need to update the LDS to reflect this modification in due course 
145 WCS/PS/M9T 

Appendix 1

Page 119



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 91 - 

and potentially through the production of subsequent planning documents 
which may include neighbourhood plans. Subsequent to its consideration of 
the overall housing provision for the county and its disaggregation across the 
three HMAs, the Council has proposed a revised and indicative amount of 
housing for this Community Area.  Consequently, the level of indicative 
housing contained in Core Policy 33 is proposed to be 255 homes. With due 
regard to the updated evidence base, including the SA, the SHMA and the 
Council’s Topic Papers such an approach is justified adequately and I 
recommend accordingly (MM 73). Core Policy 33 expresses the volume of 
housing indicatively and thus there is reasonable flexibility to ensure an 
adequate supply of required housing over the plan period.   

413. The CS, within Core Policy 33 and paragraphs 5.170 and 5.171, addresses a 
range of specific issues which affect the Wilton Community Area and the 
balance of available evidence indicates that such an approach will be effective.  
The Council’s changes to the CS aid the clarity of the plan in such regards yet, 
whilst useful and with the exception of that which ensures an effective 
approach to Natura 2000 sites and the AONB (MM74), such modifications are 
not necessary to secure the soundness of the CS overall. 

414. With due regard to the consideration of alternatives, the CS does take a 
justified approach towards the Wilton Community Area and will be effective in 
terms of delivery. 

Matter 10 – Infrastructure, Monitoring and Delivery (Whole Document, 
IDP, CP3 and CP60 – 69) 

Does the CS address adequately the provision of necessary infrastructure 
to support the delivery of the strategic objectives and the Vision? Are the 
Core Strategy’s monitoring targets justified adequately and of a level of 
detail that is appropriate to a Core Strategy? How will the effectiveness of 
the Core Strategy be managed? 

415. Core Policy 3 provides a clear and justified approach towards the provision of 
infrastructure necessary to support new development; this policy must be 
considered in parallel with all other elements of the CS, such as Core Policy 52 
‘Green Infrastructure’ and the development templates in Appendix A.  The 
Council differentiates between ‘essential’ and ‘place-shaping’ infrastructure 
and, if necessary, prioritises the timely delivery of the former albeit states that 
the latter should not be viewed as being of lesser importance.  Such an 
approach incorporates flexibility in its implementation and is not, in itself, 
unreasonable. 

416. The CS is clear that the infrastructure requirements linked to any specific 
development proposal will need to be considered when sufficient details are 
known, for example at the point when a planning application is being prepared 
or submitted; thus the objectives of Core Policy 3 provide a non-prescriptive 
but adequate indication of how infrastructure matters should be resolved.  In 
so doing, the Council and the CS indicate a sufficient understanding and 
consideration of the interrelationship between the tools by which infrastructure 
may be secured, such as the use of planning obligations and/or the CIL. I note 
that there is a commitment within the CS to producing a supplementary 
planning document to aid the effective delivery of the CS intentions.  The 

Appendix 1

Page 120



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 92 - 

Council also remains committed to producing a CIL charging schedule which, 
whilst slipping in terms of its intended production, is subject to separate 
examination.   The principle of the Council’s approach appears sound.  Overall, 
I am satisfied that the approach of the CS is consistent with national policy 
and can be effective in operation. 

417. Inevitably the requirements for infrastructure, in all its guises, changes over 
time.  The Council recognises the need to be flexible in how it assesses and 
plans for infrastructure provision, particularly in relation to planned levels of 
new development.  As a consequence, the Council identifies the need to 
ensure its approach to infrastructure is capable of review and amendment. 
This is reflected in Core Policy 3. The IDP is the main iteration of infrastructure 
requirements relating to the CS and has been subject to update during the 
course of the Examination146.  The Council indicates an intention to review the 
IDP annually. The broad approach of the IDP, as updated, is to categorise 
infrastructure projects, prioritise their necessity, identify their timing, cost, 
funding and lead delivery agencies whilst quantifying the potential risk to 
effective implementation where necessary. With due regard to the Framework, 
I find such an approach justified and consistent with national policy. 

418. The IDP contains clear evidence of appropriate partnership working with key 
external organisations, for example the Environment and Highways Agencies, 
the emergency services and utility providers. It contains, as far as is 
practicable, proportionately detailed information on projects that will be 
necessary to support the CS in securing its objectives.  The production of the 
revised IDP during the course of the Examination is indicative that the Council 
is taking an up-to-date and robust approach towards the assessment and 
provision of necessary infrastructure, recognising that masterplans, proposals 
and subsequent plans where applicable, will enable further opportunity for 
refining and clarifying the specific details of what infrastructure will be 
required where and when. 

419. The IDP incorporates considerations of funding, development viability, risk and 
contingency for the plan as a whole and at a regional, county and community 
level.  A range of funding sources is identified albeit there is a degree of 
uncertainty as to what such sources may contribute specifically towards 
necessary infrastructure, for example CIL, Local and Regional Growth Funds.  
The Council’s CIL Schedule is not finalised and therefore provides somewhat 
limited evidence in support of the deliverability of key infrastructure at this 
time.  There is, in part as a consequence, some uncertainty within the IDP as 
to whether identified funding gaps may be overcome, for example where 
specific projects rely upon a combination of the Council and developer 
contributions to secure their delivery.  Nonetheless, the IDP illustrates a 
cognisance of how infrastructure planning is approached within Wiltshire and 
provides a most useful list of prioritised projects, their phasing and delivery 
intentions, their likely cost and the likely funding sources.  I recognise that in 
terms of strategic sites and in addition to the IDP and the Development 
Templates in Appendix A, detailed masterplanning will be undertaken with 
community involvement. This will provide an appropriate opportunity to refine 
the infrastructure requirements and delivery for such sites.  At a broader 
strategic level, the IDP provides adequate support for the approach of the CS.  

                                       
146 EXAM/66A - W 

Appendix 1

Page 121



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 93 - 

420. The IDP assesses the degree of risk of the identified infrastructure projects not 
being delivered and the consequent effect upon the objectives of the CS.  The 
need for contingency arrangements is referenced within the IDP although 
there are no specific measures promoted.  In essence the IDP recognises that 
as new development proposals come forward, there will be an increased 
awareness of which elements of infrastructure may be at particular risk of 
non-delivery; at such times the Council and its partners will seek to identify 
contingency measures or the review of its relevant objectives.  Such an 
arrangement is somewhat ad hoc but, given the pressures upon available 
funding sources, is one which is not capable of ready resolution.  On balance, 
the Council indicates an awareness of the risks to infrastructure delivery and 
the potential need for contingency actions which is adequate for the purposes 
of the CS. 

421. To be sound, the CS must be effective.  The effectiveness of any plan is partly 
dependent upon the means by which its implementation is managed.  The 
effective use of monitoring against suitable benchmarks is a key means by 
which the success of a plan may be gauged.  I view such matters of particular 
importance.  Following the 2013 hearings held as part of the Examination, the 
Council has reviewed and revised its approach towards the monitoring of the 
CS.  Whilst the monitoring criteria have been removed from each CS Policy 
within the main document, the Monitoring Framework for the Wiltshire Core 
Strategy147 has been updated and is clearly referenced within Section 7 of the 
CS wherein there is a commitment to prepare an Annual Monitoring Report 
that will assess the operation of Core Policies linked to both the IDP and the 
SA.  The updated Monitoring Framework provides a consistent and cogent 
means by which the links between Core Policies and the CS objectives are 
made.  Consequently, the Monitoring Framework provides a list of relevant 
targets and indicators which are specific to the Core Policies themselves and 
will provide a means of capturing relevant data, for example annual housing 
completions, that will inform the Council as to whether necessary management 
actions are required.   

422. The Monitoring Framework, being associated critically with the CS but not 
formally part of its content, will be capable of review and further revision in 
light of circumstances. Thus additional justified targets and indicators could be 
created to ensure the CS is being effective.  Such matters may be the subject 
of continuing dialogue within the Council and with interested parties on 
particular topic areas, for example biodiversity and the need to find a means 
of assessing the potential effects of development upon sensitive sites or 
species.  However, the balance of the available evidence suggests that, 
overall, the Council has in place a rational and adequate means of monitoring 
the effective implementation of the CS. 

Transport Related Policies 

423. Core Policies 60 to 66 relate to transport matters. They are underpinned by a 
broad variety of evidence, referenced within Topic Paper 10 ‘Transport’, which 
includes the Local Transport Plan148 and associated documents.  As with all 
elements of the CS, the content of the plan needs to be considered universally 

                                       
147 STU/227 
148 CPP/06 

Appendix 1

Page 122



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 94 - 

and as a whole.  Many of the transport policies will be jointly applicable to new 
development proposals. 

424. Core Policy 60 seeks to reduce the need to travel, particularly by the private 
car, whilst encouraging the safe movement of people and goods within and 
through Wiltshire.  The objectives of the policy are consistent with the 
Framework, reflect the Local Transport Plan and I am satisfied that adequate 
reference to the issue of road safety is incorporated.  The policy is also 
consistent with other elements of the CS, without replicating the transport 
considerations affecting individual Community Areas, for example Salisbury.  
Whilst the Council has proposed clarification changes to the Policy, these are 
not essential for the soundness of the plan.  

425. Core Policy 61 relates specifically to the potential effects of new development 
upon transport.  Whilst the content of Core Policies 60 and 61 complement one 
another and potentially could have been combined, there is no substantive 
reason why the Council’s approach should be considered flawed or unjustified.  
As such, Core Policy 61 provides some additional detail as to how transport 
assessments should reflect the transport hierarchy, which is appropriately 
identified within the policy, and incorporates references to rail within the broad 
term ‘public transport’.  In such regards, the CS is justified adequately. 

426. In line with the Council’s general approach to transport matters and in a 
manner consistent with the Local Transport Plan and the Framework, Core 
Policy 62 seeks to address the effects of development upon the transport 
network.  In essence the policy clarifies the need for developments to assess 
their network effects and to mitigate their adverse impacts.  Such an approach 
is reasonable.  The policy seeks to limit, but not to prohibit in all scenarios, 
access points onto the primary route network for reasons of safety and to 
maintain traffic flow.  On the balance of the available evidence such a stance is 
justified.   The Council has usefully suggested a change to paragraph 6.155 
which will clarify the interpretation of the policy but such a modification is not 
essential for the soundness of the plan as a whole.  

427. Core Policy 63 identifies the role of Transport Strategies in helping to facilitate 
sustainable development growth within Wiltshire and at Chippenham, 
Trowbridge and Salisbury in particular.  There is no necessity for this part of 
the CS to repeat the content of the plan in relation to these principal 
settlements.  During the course of the Examination, I heard that such 
strategies are essentially iterative intentions to deliver integrated transport 
measures tailored to each identified settlement. The general thrust of Core 
Policy 63 is justified and consistent both with the CS and the Framework.  The 
Council recognises within its iterative Monitoring Framework149 that the stated 
indicators may need to be updated and reviewed in partnership with interested 
bodies to ensure the efficacy of the policy; I agree and commend such an 
approach to ensure the objectives and criteria of the policy are met.  
Notwithstanding such work, the balance of evidence supports the Council’s 
view that Core Policy 63 will be effective in operation.  

428. Core Policy 64 represents an important element of the Council’s strategy 
towards increasing the use of sustainable modes of transport. As such, the 

                                       
149 STU/227 

Appendix 1

Page 123



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 95 - 

policy provides a positive framework for the deployment of ‘demand 
management’ measures focussed upon parking and traffic management which 
are derived in large part from evidence provided by the Local Transport Plan.  
Such measures are justified adequately and incorporate sufficient flexibility, 
for example in relation to unallocated car parking in residential developments, 
such that they will be effective in operation.  Cycle parking is a matter that is 
encompassed in the Council’s intended Cycle Parking Strategy and there is 
insufficient evidence to suggest that this is not an acceptable means by which 
provision should be assessed and made. 

429. Notwithstanding the above, it is also important that the role of what the 
Council term: ’smarter choices measures’, is recognised fully.  Such measures 
can incorporate the use of travel plans, car sharing and publicity which are 
capable of encouraging the modal shift in transportation use that the Council 
wishes to facilitate.  The Council has suggested a change to the CS to 
incorporate these matters and I recommend accordingly for reasons of 
effectiveness and compliance with national policy (MM75). 

430. Core Policy 65 seeks to address the movement of goods within and across 
Wiltshire in a sustainable and efficient manner. Once again, the CS has been 
informed by the Local Transport Plan and the existence of the Freight Strategy 
and the work emanating from the Wiltshire and Swindon Freight Quality 
Partnership and the South West Regional Freight Forum.  The intentions of the 
policy, essentially to facilitate a sustainable freight distribution system making 
efficient use of not only roads but also rail and water networks is sensible, 
supported by the available evidence and consistent with national policy.  The 
Council has proposed changes to Core Policy 65 and its supporting text to 
clarify the thrust of the CS which I recommend as main modifications for 
reasons of effectiveness (MM76). 

431. The role and function of the strategic transport network within Wiltshire is 
recognised by Core Policy 66.  The Council has proposed changes to the policy 
and its supporting text to recognise appropriately the role of the strategic bus 
network, Westbury rail station and the need to address issues potentially 
affecting protected species and Natura 2000 sites.  Such changes are 
necessary to ensure a balanced, justified and legally compliant policy and I 
recommend accordingly (MM77).   

432. Concern has been expressed during the course of the Examination at the way 
in which Core Policy 66 has been derived, particularly with regard to the SA 
and the consideration of reasonable alternatives.  The SA identifies two 
options for Core Policy 66 which are similar in some regards; indeed, the 
assessments are also similar albeit the discounted option 2 is identified as 
having potentially greater negative effects on three of the 17 criteria.  
Although this may, in part, be due to the consideration of a subsequently 
discounted road improvement scheme, the balance of the evidence does not 
weigh against the chosen option which informed the content of CS Core Policy 
66.  Evidence in support of any policy should be proportionate and, despite 
concerns aired at the justification for improvements to the A350, should 
consider only evidentially reasonable alternatives that may exist.  Core Policy 
66 takes a broad and balanced approach towards the strategic transport 
network and is justified adequately even though subsequent schemes will need 
to be assessed in some detail. 

Appendix 1

Page 124



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 96 - 

Summary 

433. The CS does address adequately the provision of necessary infrastructure to 
support the delivery of the strategic objectives and the vision. The monitoring 
targets are justified adequately and of a level of detail that is appropriate to a 
CS, such that the effectiveness of the CS will be secured. 

 

Assessment of Legal Compliance 
434. My examination of the compliance of the Plan with the legal requirements is 

summarised in the table below.  I conclude that the Plan meets them all.  

 

LEGAL REQUIREMENTS 

Local Development 
Scheme (LDS) 

The Core Strategy is identified within the approved 
LDS November 2011 that was updated in August 
2012 and January 2014. This sets out an expected 
adoption date of Summer 2014. The Core Strategy’s 
content and timing are broadly compliant with the 
LDS albeit subject to slippage in terms of final 
adoption.  

Statement of Community 
Involvement (SCI) and 
relevant regulations 

The SCI was adopted in February 2010 and 
consultation has been compliant with the 
requirements therein, including the consultation on 
the post-submission proposed ‘main modification’ 
changes (MM)  

Sustainability Appraisal 
(SA) 

SA has been carried out and, except where indicated 
and modifications to the CS are recommended 
accordingly, is adequate. 

Appropriate Assessment 
(AA) 

The Core Strategy has been subject to a Habitats 
Regulation Assessment as updated in 2014. 

National Policy The Core Strategy, when considered as a whole, 
complies with national policy except where indicated 
and modifications are recommended. 

Sustainable Community 
Strategy (SCS) 

Satisfactory regard has been paid to the SCS. 

Public Sector Equality Duty 
(PSED) 

The Local Plan complies with the Duty and is 
adequate  

2004 Act (as amended) 
and 2012 Regulations. 

The Core Strategy complies with the Act and the 
Regulations. 

 

 

Overall Conclusion and Recommendation 
435. The Council has requested that I recommend main modifications to 

make the Plan sound and legally compliant and capable of adoption.  I 
conclude that with the recommended main modifications set out in the 

Appendix 1

Page 125



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 97 - 

Appendix the Wiltshire Core Strategy satisfies the requirements of 
Section 20(5) of the 2004 Act and meets the criteria for soundness in 
the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 

Andrew Seaman 
Inspector 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This report is accompanied by the Appendix containing the Main Modifications  

Appendix 1

Page 126



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 98 - 

Appendix – Main Modifications 

The modifications below are expressed either in the conventional form of 
strikethrough for deletions and underlining for additions of text, or by specifying 
the modification in words in italics. 

The page numbers and paragraph numbering below refer to the submission local 
plan, and do not take account of the deletion or addition of text. 

Ref Page Policy 
Paragraph 

Main Modification 

MM 1  3 Paragraph 
1.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Paragraph 
1.3 

Insert: 
The purpose of the planning system is to contribute 
to the achievement of sustainable development. 
The policies and proposals contained within this 
strategy, taken as a whole, constitute what 
sustainable development in Wiltshire means in 
practice for land use planning. 
 
Additional text: 
A strategy that underpins a policy-led framework 
for facilitating sustainable, long-term growth 
 
The Core Strategy sets out the strategic vision for 
delivering sustainable growth over the period up to 
2026. However, it is not the only development plan 
document in the planning policy framework for 
Wiltshire. The Council is committed to bringing 
forward a suite of plans designed to support the 
Core Strategy which collectively deliver the 
aspirations for growth across Wiltshire. 
 
The Local Development Scheme includes a 
commitment to delivering site allocations plans for 
Chippenham and wider Wiltshire. These plans will 
address issues relating to housing delivery to 
ensure a surety of supply throughout the plan 
period in accordance with national policy; and help 
to compliment Neighbourhood Planning. 
 

MM 2  322 Appendix D Amend text in section BD1 Employment Land to 
indicate the following: 
Continue to save the following allocations - 
• Brickworks, Purton (3.1 ha) 
 

MM 3  196 CP51 Core Policy 51 
Landscape 
Development should protect, conserve and where 
possible enhance landscape character and must not 
have an unacceptable a harmful impact upon 
landscape character, while any negative impacts 
must be mitigated as far as possible through 
sensitive design and landscape measures. Proposals 

Appendix 1

Page 127



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 99 - 

should be informed by and sympathetic to the 
distinctive character areas identified in the relevant 
Landscape Character Assessment(s) and any other 
relevant assessments and studies. In particular, 
proposals will need to demonstrate that the 
following aspects of landscape character have been 
considered conserved and where possible enhanced 
through sensitive design, landscape mitigation and 
enhancement measures: 
i. the locally distinctive pattern and species 
composition of natural features such as trees, 
hedgerows, 
woodland, field boundaries, watercourses and 
waterbodies 
ii. the locally distinctive character of settlements 
and their landscape settings 
iii. the separate identity of settlements and the 
transition between man-made and natural 
landscapes at the urban fringe 
iv. visually sensitive skylines, soils, geological and 
topographical features 
v. landscape features of cultural, historic and 
heritage value 
vi. important views and visual amenity 
vii. tranquillity and the need to protect against 
intrusion from light pollution, noise, and motion and 
viii. landscape functions including places to live, 
work, relax and recreate and 
ix. special qualities of Areas of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty (AONBs) and the New Forest National Park, 
where great weight will be afforded to conserving 
and enhancing landscapes and scenic beauty. 
 
Proposals for development within or affecting the 
Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONBs), New 
Forest National Park (NFNP) or Stonehenge and 
Avebury World Heritage Site (WHS) shall 
demonstrate that they have taken account of the 
objectives, policies and actions set out in have 
regard to the relevant Management Plans for these 
areas. Proposals for development outside of an 
AONB that is sufficiently prominent (in terms of its 
siting or scale) to have an impact on the area’s 
special qualities (as set out in the relevant 
management plan) natural beauty, must also 
demonstrate that it would not adversely affect its 
setting. 
 
Targets: Minimise harmful impacts from 
development on landscape character. 
Monitoring and review: Percentage of 
developments approved against professional 
landscape advice 

Appendix 1

Page 128



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 100 - 

to be monitored through the Wiltshire Monitoring 
Framework. 
Delivery responsibility: Wiltshire Council, 
development industry. 
 

MM 4  73 Core Policy 
12 

Large Villages: Bromham, Great Cheverel, 
Potterne, Rowde, Urchfont, West 
Lavington/Littleton Pannell and Worton 
Small Villages: All Cannings, Bishop Cannings, 
Easterton, Erlestoke, Great Cheverall 
Etchilihampton and Marston. 
 

MM 5  22 Para 4.13 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Para 4.15 

4.13 At t The settlement boundaries of the Principal 
Settlements, Market Towns, Local Service Centres 
and Large Villages which have settlement 
boundaries, as defined by former District Local 
Plans, these will be carried into this strategy and 
retained. However, These settlement boundaries 
can will be reviewed as part of the Wiltshire 
Housing Site Allocations and Chippenham Site 
Allocations DPDs, as set out in the Council’s Local 
Development Scheme, in order to ensure they are 
up to date and can adequately reflect changes 
which have happened since they were first 
established.  It will also be the prerogative of the 
community to review settlement boundaries 
through an appropriate planning process which 
might include a neighbourhood plan. 
 
At the settlements identified as villages, a limited 
level of development will be supported in order to 
help retain the vitality of these communities. At 
Large Villages the existing settlement boundaries 
will be are retained, and development will 
predominantly take the form of small housing and 
employment sites within the settlement boundaries. 
These settlement boundaries will also be reviewed 
as part of the Housing Site Allocations DPD as set 
out in the Council’s Local Development Scheme, in 
order to ensure they remain up to date and 
properly reflect building that has happened since 
they were first established. Small housing sites are 
defined as sites involving less than 10 dwellings 
(i.e. not a major application). Development outside 
the settlement boundary will be strictly controlled. 
Relaxation of the boundaries will only be supported 
where it has been formally reviewed through a 
subsequent DPD or a community-led planning 
policy document, such as a neighbourhood plan, 
which includes a review of the settlement boundary 
to identify new developable land to help meet the 
housing and employment needs of that community. 
In turn this could bring forward benefits to the local 

Appendix 1

Page 129



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 101 - 

community such as improvements to the economy 
through the identification of land for employment 
purposes. 

MM 6  27 Para 4.25 
on 

4.25 Strategic allocations are set out within the 
area strategies.These sites are considered to be 
central to the delivery of the spatial strategy and 
strategic objectives for Wiltshire. The critical mass 
of development on some of these strategic sites will 
enable infrastructure to be provided that offers 
benefits beyond the scope of the development. In 
addition, opportunities to maximise the delivery 
of climate change adaptation and mitigation 
measures, such as the incorporation of sustainable 
building practices and on-site renewable energy 
and heat provision, will be pursued on these sites. 
 
The Plan also includes ‘exception policies’ which 
seek to respond to local circumstance and national 
policy. In doing so these represent additional 
sources of supply to those detailed at paragraphs 
4.22 and 4.24. These policies are listed below: 

• Additional employment land (Core Policy 34) 
• Military establishments (Core Policy 37) 
• Development related to tourism (Core 

Policies 39 and 40) 
• Rural exception sites (core policy 44) 
• Specialist accommodation provision (Core 

Policies 46 and 47) 
• Supporting rural life (core Policy 48) 

 
4.26 In order to direct development at a strategic 
level to the most suitable, sustainable locations and 
at appropriate times the area strategies outline a 
housing requirement for each community area 
including the Principal Settlements and Market 
Towns. While the Core Strategy only allocates sites 
that are strategically important for the delivery of 
the overall strategy for Wiltshire, additional specific 
sites (non-strategic allocations) may also need to 
be identified in accordance with the 
settlement strategy to ensure the delivery of the 
overall strategic housing requirement.This strategy 
sets a clear framework for these to be delivered 
either through community-led planning policy 
documents, including neighbourhood plans or a site 
allocations Development Plan Document 
(DPD). The area strategies identify some specific 
issues that must be considered when planning for 
these areas and these should be taken into account 
when assessments are carried out to identify 
specific sites for development in particular towns. 
This strategy has been designed to put 
into place a clear framework which, together with 

Appendix 1

Page 130



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 102 - 

national policy, will facilitate the delivery of 
community-led planning policy documents, 
including neighbourhood plans, at a local level 
which can indicate where and when development 
will be brought forward. It also provides the 
flexibility 
to allow subsequent planning documents, such as 
site specific allocations DPD to be brought 
forward by the council, to deliver important 
development should the community not deliver 
their own plans. 
 
4.27 The sources of supply have been assessed to 
ensure that there is a deliverable supply of housing 
(with additional contingency) relative to the targets 
for defined sub county areas, which are based 
on the housing market areas (HMAs) presented 
below. 
 
4.26 In order to direct development at a strategic 
level to the most suitable, sustainable locations and 
at appropriate times the area strategies contain an 
indicative housing requirement for each community 
area including the Principal Settlements and Market 
Towns and in the South Wiltshire HMA the Local 
Service Centres. This is shown in table 1 below: 
 
Table 1 New homes requirement by housing market 
area 
Housing market area Requirement 
East Wiltshire At least 5,500 
North and West Wiltshire At least 21,400 
South Wiltshire At least 9,900 
West of Swindon 200(23) 
 
Table 1: Indicative Housing Requirements 
Settlements and Community Areas  
Area               Indicative requirement  
Devizes town                                                    
2010  
Devizes remainder                                             
490  
Marlborough town                                              
680  
Marlborough remainder                                      
240  
Pewsey                                                              
600  
Tidworth & Ludgershall                                    
1750  
Tidworth remainder                                            
170  
East Wiltshire HMA       5940  

Appendix 1

Page 131



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 103 - 

Amesbury, Bulford & Durrington                      
2440  
Amesbury remainder                                          
345  
Mere town                                                          
235  
Mere remainder                                                   
50  
Salisbury City/Wilton town                               
6060  
Wilton remainder                                                
255  
Downton town                                                    
190  
Southern Wiltshire remainder                             
425  
Tisbury town                                                       
200  
Tisbury remainder                                               
220  
South Wiltshire HMA                                     
10420  
Bradford on Avon town                                        
595  
Bradford on Avon remainder                                
185  
Calne town                                                         
1440  
Calne remainder                                                  
165  
Chippenham town                                                
4510*  
Chippenham remainder                                        
580  
Corsham town                                                     
1220  
Corsham remainder                                              
175  
Malmesbury town                                                 
885  
Malmesbury remainder                                         
510  
Melksham town                                                   
2240  
Melksham remainder                                            
130  
Royal Wootton Bassett town                              
1070  
Royal Wootton Bassett & Cricklade  
remainder                                                             
385  
Trowbridge town                                                
6810  

Appendix 1

Page 132



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 104 - 

Trowbridge remainder                                          
165  
Warminster town                                                 
1920  
Warminster remainder                                          
140  
Westbury town                                                    
1500  
Westbury remainder                                              
115  
North and West Wiltshire HMA                      24740 
West of Swindon                                                 
900  
Wiltshire                                                           
42000  
* This figure is ‘at least’. See paragraph 4.26c 
below. 
 
4.26b The core strategy allocates sites and broad 
locations for growth that are strategically important 
for the delivery of the Plan for Wiltshire. Additional 
sites will also be identified through the Chippenham 
and Housing Site Allocations DPDs to ensure the 
delivery of housing land across the plan period in 
order to maintain a 5 year land supply at each 
HMA.  
 
4.26c No allocations have been identified for 
Chippenham in Core Policy 2 and the scale of 
housing for the town is expressed as a minimum, 
which is an exception to the approach of indicative 
housing requirements and identification of sites for 
the other Principal Settlements. A pattern of 
development that can best realise the town’s 
economic potential will be identified through a 
separate Development Plan Document for 
Chippenham Town (The Chippenham Sites 
Allocation DPD), which will support the area 
strategy. It will focus on identifying land for mixed 
use development adjoining the built up area. 
Limited land opportunities within the urban area 
inhibit future development and this will need to be 
addressed urgently. Growth of the Town needs to 
be underpinned by investment in new infrastructure 
and a more detailed framework will be prepared 
through the Chippenham Site Allocations DPD that 
co-ordinates growth and key infrastructure 
necessary to deliver the town a more resilient long 
term future. 
  
4.26d Area strategies identify specific issues that 
must be considered when planning for these areas 
and these should be taken into account when 

Appendix 1

Page 133



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 105 - 

assessments are carried out to identify specific sites 
for development in particular towns. Core Policy 2 
provides a framework for Parish and Town Council 
to lead with neighbourhood plans. The Council is 
also preparing a Housing Site Allocations DPD in 
order to ensure a sufficient choice and supply of 
suitable sites over the period up to 2026.  
 
4.26e The disaggregation to community areas set 
out above is not intended to be so prescriptive as to 
be inflexible and potentially ineffective in delivering 
the identified level of housing for each market area. 
It clarifies the Council’s intentions in the knowledge 
of likely constraints; in terms of market realism, 
infrastructure and environmental capacity. They 
provide a strategic context for the preparation of 
the Housing Sites Allocation DPD and in order to 
plan for appropriate infrastructure provision.  
 
4.26f Indicative housing land supply, based around 
trajectories for each of the HMAs provide some 
detail on where the Housing Site Allocations DPD 
should focus and by when it needs to have sites 
identified in order to sustain proposed rates and 
scales of housing development. This will make up 
the shortfall in delivery identified towards the end 
of the plan period. These trajectories provide an 
evidence basis for an implementation strategy for a 
full range of housing describing how the Council will 
maintain delivery of a five-year supply of housing 
land. 
 
4.27 The sources of supply have been assessed to 
ensure that there is a deliverable supply of housing 
(with additional contingency) to comply with the 
NPPF) relative to the targets for defined sub county 
areas, which are based on the housing market 
areas (HMAs) presented below. This is detailed in 
Appendix C – Housing Land Supply 
 
 
4.28 It is proposed that these housing market areas 
will form the appropriate scale for disaggregation 
across Wiltshire, as they define areas within which 
the majority of household moves take place. 
Whilst within this document, community area and 
settlement housing requirements are provided, it is 
considered inappropriate to assess housing delivery 
at this scale. This is due to the fact that the 
requirements within any area could be met within 
neighbouring areas without compromising the 
strategy. However, the proposed requirements will 
be used as a general guiding principle for land 

Appendix 1

Page 134



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 106 - 

supply purposes. So for example, if Trowbridge had 
over-delivered relative to the identified requirement 
for the town, the over-delivery will begin to address 
the requirements of the surrounding areas. It would 
therefore be appropriate to count this over-delivery 
relative to the requirements in surrounding areas, 
such as Westbury. If land supply was assessed at a 
community area scale, 
without taking into account delivery across the 
broader HMA, then delivery could continue without 
a requirement being present for the HMA, or indeed 
for the community area, where delivery elsewhere 
has addressed this need. 
 
4.28 These housing market areas (HMAs) form the 
appropriate scale for disaggregation across 
Wiltshire, as they define areas within which the 
majority of household moves take place. It is 
against these HMA requirements that housing land 
supply will be assessed. This is in accordance with 
the methodology identified in the NPPF. However, in 
order to ensure an appropriate distribution of 
housing across Wiltshire that supports the most 
sustainable pattern of growth, indicative 
requirements are also provided at a community 
area and settlement level within the Core Strategy. 
These more localised indicative requirements as set 
out within the Area Strategy Core Policies are 
intended to prevent settlements receiving an 
unbalanced level of growth justified by under or 
over delivery elsewhere. They also address the 
ability of each Community Area to accommodate 
housing because of the constraints and 
opportunities present in each. The indicative figures 
also allow a flexible approach which will allow the 
Council including through the preparation of the 
Site Allocations DPD and local communities 
preparing neighbourhood plans to respond 
positively to opportunities without being inhibited 
by an overly prescriptive, rigid approach which 
might otherwise prevent sustainable development 
proposals that can contribute to maintaining a 
deliverable five year housing land supply and 
delivering the strategic objectives of the plan. 
Neighbourhood Plans should not be constrained by 
the specific housing requirements within the Core 
Strategy and additional growth may be appropriate 
and consistent with the Settlement Strategy (Core 
Policies 1 and 2). In addition sustainable 
development within the limits of development or at 
Small Villages should not be constrained just 
because requirements have been reached. For 
these reasons the overall housing requirement is 

Appendix 1

Page 135



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 107 - 

shown as “at least”, while the area strategy figures 
are “indicative”. 
 
4.29 Despite the Housing Market Areas this being 
the appropriate scale for assessing land supply, the 
town and community area requirements should also 
be capable of being a material consideration to 
ensure that delivery is distributed broadly in line 
with the strategy. So for in the above example, 
whilst it is appropriate for supply in Trowbridge to 
provide for some of the requirement of Westbury, it 
would be wholly inappropriate for the entirety of 
Westbury’s requirement to be added to Trowbridge. 
The policy framework sets out the strategic pattern 
of growth, while allowing some flexibility to respond 
to future, spatially distinctive opportunities and 
constraints. Indeed, across the plan period, delivery 
should be in general conformity with the delivery 
strategy. Similarly, development that provides 
housing for the population of Swindon rather than 
that of Wiltshire should not be assessed against the 
Wiltshire housing requirements for the Wiltshire 
Housing Market Areas. Should any development 
beyond that already committed come forward in 
this location, this will be additional to the housing 
requirement for Wiltshire. A specific requirement 
acknowledgement has been made for the existing 
commitment at Moredon Bridge and Ridgeway Farm 

footnote at the West of Swindon for 900 200 homes. 
Development in this area does not meet the 
requirement for Wiltshire and so this has been 
excluded from the defined housing market areas. 
Furthermore, tThese 900 dwellings are an 
allowance rather than a requirement, and should 
they not be delivered on the identified site, there 
will be no requirement to find an alternative. As 
part of the planned early review of the CS, the 
Council will clarify that its housing requirement will 
be met without relying upon the delivery of homes 
to the west of Swindon.  The delivery strategy 
defines the level of growth appropriate within the 
built up area of small villages as infill. For the 
purposes of Core Policy 2, infill is defined as the 
filling of a small gap within the village that is only 
large enough for not more than a few dwellings, 
generally only one dwelling. Exceptions to this 
approach will only be considered through the 
neighbourhood plan process or DPDs. 
 
 
Core Policy 2  
 
Replace Core Policy 2 in line with EXAM/96 

Appendix 1

Page 136



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 108 - 

 
Targets: Qualitative: The delivery of levels of 
growth in conformity with the Settlement Strategy. 
Monitoring and Review: AMR & housing trajectory, 
number of dwellings built in sustainable locations 
aligned with the Sustainable Settlement Strategy. 
Delivery Responsibility: Wiltshire Council, 
development industry, strategic partnerships. 
 

MM 7  160 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
161 

Para 6.13 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Core Policy 
34 

Core Policy 34 also includes an element of flexibility 
to allow new employment opportunities to 
come forward outside but adjacent to the Principal 
Settlements, Market Towns and Local Service 
Centres, and in addition to the employment land 
allocated by this cCore sStrategy, where such 
proposals are considered to be essential to the 
economic development of Wiltshire. It also allows 
for the possibility of development essential to the 
wider strategic interest of the economic 
development of Wiltshire. In considering criterion 
viii any such proposals, should be supported by 
evidence to justify that they would not have a 
significant adverse impact upon existing, committed 
and planned public and private investment at sites 
identified in the Plan for employment development 
at Principal Settlements or Market Towns. Support 
for such proposals will be an exception to the 
general approach, and any applications of this 
nature will need to be determined by the relevant 
planning committee (and not by officers using 
delegated powers). 
 
 
Core Policy 34 
Additional employment land 
Proposals for employment development (use 
classes B1, B2 or B8) will be supported within the 
Principal Settlements, Market Towns and Local 
Service Centres, in addition to the employment land 
allocated in the Core Strategy. These opportunities 
will need to be in the right location and support the 
strategy, role and function of the town, as identified 
in Core Policy 1 (settlement strategy) and in any 
future community-led plans, including 
neighbourhood plans, where applicable. 
 
Proposals for office development outside town 
centres, in excess of 2,500sq metres, must be 
accompanied by an impact assessment which meets 
the requirement of national guidance and 
established best practice, and demonstrate that the 
proposal will not harm the vitality or viability of any 
nearby centres. All such proposals must also 

Appendix 1

Page 137



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 109 - 

comply with the sequential approach, as set out in 
national guidance, to ensure that development is on 
the most central site available. 
 
Outside the Principal Settlements, Market Towns 
and Local Service Centres, developments that: 
i. are adjacent to these settlements and seek to 
retain or expand businesses currently located within 
or adjacent to the settlements or identified in Core 
Policy 1 
ii. support sustainable farming and food production 
through allowing development required to adapt to 
modern agricultural practices and diversification or 
iii. are for new and existing rural based businesses 
within or adjacent to Large and Small Villages or 
iv. are considered essential to the wider strategic 
interest of the economic development of Wiltshire, 
as determined by the council  
 
will be supported where they: 
 
v. meet sustainable development objectives as set 
out in the polices of this Core Strategy and 
vi. are consistent in scale with their location, do not 
adversely affect nearby buildings and the 
surrounding area or detract from residential 
amenity and 
vii. are supported by evidence that they are 
required to benefit the local economic and social 
needs and 
viii. would not undermine the delivery of strategic 
employment allocations and 
ix. are supported by adequate infrastructure. 
 
Targets: Deliver additional employment land 
beyond specific allocations at suitable locations; 
deliver employment land for higher value sectors; 
increase rural employment premises and encourage 
diversification. 
Monitoring and Review: Quantum of employment 
land delivered, and quantum of land developed for 
employment by type to be monitored through the 
Wiltshire Monitoring Framework. 
Delivery Responsibility: Wiltshire Council, 
Development Industry. 
 

MM 8  163 Core Policy 
35 

Wiltshire’s Principal Employment Areas (as listed in 
the Area Strategies) should will be retained for 
employment purposes within use classes B1, B2 
and B8 to safeguard their contribution to the 
Wiltshire economy and the role and function of 
individual towns. Proposals for renewal and 
intensification of the above employment uses within 

Appendix 1

Page 138



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 110 - 

these areas will be supported. 
 
Elsewhere wWithin the principal settlements, 
market towns, and local service centres and 
Principal Employment Areas proposals for the 
redevelopment of land or buildings previously or 
currently or last used for activities falling within use 
classes B1, B2 and B8 must demonstrate that they 
meets at least one of the following criteria and will 
be assessed against the following  criteria: … 
 

MM 9  164 Core Policy 
36 

Core Policy 36 
Economic regeneration 
Regeneration of brownfield sites will be supported 
in the Principal Settlements, Market Towns and 
Local Service Centres where the proposed uses help 
to deliver the overall strategy for that settlement, 
as identified in Core Policy 1 (Settlement Strategy) 
and in any future community-led plans, including 
Neighbourhood Plans, and/or enhance the vitality 
and viability of the town centre by introducing a 
range of active uses that do not compete with 
complement the existing town centre. 

MM 10  164 Para 6.20 Regeneration initiatives may also come forward in 
the Market Towns, and Local Service Centres. The 
Core Strategy supports the development of 
community-led plans, including town plans and 
Neighbourhood Plans to support and facilitate 
economic regeneration in these settlements, and 
the preparation of master plans for specific sites 
may also be appropriate.  Initiatives in other 
settlements will be considered on an individual 
basis and against the objectives and policies of the 
Core Strategy in combination with any community 
led plan that may exist. 
 

MM 11  166 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Para 6.25 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

….Any necessary amendments to these frontages 
and corresponding policies will be identified through 
a subsequent planning policy document the 
Wiltshire Core Strategy Development Plan 
Document (Partial Review). The Review will update 
retail/town centre policies across Wiltshire 
consistent with the NPPF. It will: 

1. Consider the network and hierarchy of 
centres 

2. Define the extent of primary and secondary 
frontages, town centres and primary 
shopping areas 

3. Set policies to make it clear which town 
centres uses will be permitted in town 
centres/primary shopping areas 

4. Allocate a range of suitable sites to meet the 
scale and type of town centre uses needed 

Appendix 1

Page 139



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 111 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
167 

 
 
 
 
 
Para 6.26 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Para 6.27 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Core Policy 
38 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5. Set policies for the consideration of proposals 
for main town centre uses which cannot be 
accommodated in or adjacent to town 
centres 

 
All Principal Settlements, Market Towns and Local 
Service Centres should have defined town centres 
or designated frontages and associated policies, 
and these need to be developed for Downton,  
Ludgershall,  Market  Lavington,  Mere,  Pewsey,  
Tidworth,  Tisbury  and  Wilton. Frontages  and  
corresponding  policies  for  these  settlements  will  
be  developed through a subsequent planning policy 
the Wiltshire Core Strategy (DPD) Partial Review 
timetabled to be adopted in 2016. 
 
 
There is currently a national requirement that 
proposals for retail and leisure development with 
over 2,500 sq m gross floorspace, which are not in 
the town centre and not in accordance with an up to 
date development plan, should be accompanied by 
an assessment of impacts on centres. However,  
there is a concern in Wiltshire  evidence

(52) has 
identified that a succession of planning applications, 
each individually lower than the gross threshold set 
nationally, could have a cumulative adverse impact 
on town centres. Core Policy 38 therefore requires 
that all proposals for edge-of-centre or out-of-
centre retail or leisure development in excess of 
200sq metres gross floorspace,  which  are  not  
within  a   town  centre Primary  or  Secondary  
Retail  Frontage,  are accompanied by an impact 
assessment, regardless of size. The impact 
assessment required will be proportionate to the 
scale of the proposed development. 
 
 
Core Policy 38 
Retail and Leisure 
All proposals for retail or leisure uses on sites not 
within a town centre which are not within a Primary 
or Secondary Retail Frontage, in excess of 200 sq 
metres gross floorspace, including extension of 
existing units, must be accompanied by an impact 
assessment which meets the requirement of 
national guidance and established best practice, 
and demonstrates that the proposal will not harm 
the vitality or viability of any nearby centres. All 
such proposals must also comply with the 
sequential approach, as set out in national 
guidance, to ensure that development is on the 

Appendix 1

Page 140



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 112 - 

most central site available. 
 
 
Targets: Reduce proportion of new retail 
development occurring outside Primary and 
Secondary Retail frontages. 
Monitoring and Review Percentage of completed 
retail, office and leisure development occurring 
within town centres to be monitored through 
Wiltshire Monitoring Framework 
Delivery Responsibility: Wiltshire Council,  
 
 
 

MM 12  169 Core Policy 
40 

Core Policy 40 
Hotels, bed and breakfasts, guest houses and 
conference facilities  
Proposals for new hotels, bed and breakfasts, 
guesthouses or conference facilities, together with 
the sensitive extension, upgrading and 
intensification of existing tourism accommodation 
facilities will be supported within; 

i. the Principal Settlements and Market 
Towns; or will be supported. 

ii. Proposals for new hotels, bed and 
breakfasts and guesthouses within Local 
Service Centres, and Large and Small 
Villages will be supported where the 
proposals are of an appropriate scale and 
character within the context of the 
immediate surroundings and the 
settlement as a whole ;or 

iii. Outside the settlements above, where 
proposals will be supported that involve 
the conservation of buildings that for 
contextual, architectural or historic 
reasons should be retained and otherwise 
would not be. 

 
Proposals for new hotels, bed and breakfasts and 
guesthouses within Local Service Centres, and 
Large and Small Villages will be supported where 
the proposals are of an appropriate scale and 
character within the context of the immediate 
surroundings and the settlement as a whole. 
 
Permission may exceptionally be granted for 
proposals for new hotels, bed and breakfasts and 
guest houses outside the settlements identified 
above, where proposals involve the conversion of 
buildings that for contextual, architectural, or 
historic reasons should be retained and would 
otherwise not be. 

Appendix 1

Page 141



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 113 - 

 
In all cases it must be demonstrated that proposals 
will: 
i. not have a detrimental impact on the vitality of 
the town centre Primary Shopping Frontages or the 
viability of existing hotels, bed and breakfasts, 
guesthouses or conference facilities; and 
ii. avoid unacceptable traffic generation. 
 
Proposals for the change of use of existing bed 
spaces provided in hotels or public houses or 
conference facilities to alternative uses will be 
resisted, unless it can be clearly demonstrated 
there is no longer a need for such a facility in either 
its current use, or in any other form of tourism, 
leisure, arts, entertainment or cultural use…. 
 
 
Targets: Increase and improve facilities for 
sustainable tourism. 
Monitoring and Review: Number of schemes 
permitted in line with the requirements of the 
policy, to be monitored through the Wiltshire 
Monitoring Framework. 
Delivery responsibility: Wiltshire Council. 
 

MM 13  176 Para 6.42 6.42 In addition, all affordable housing units must 
be developed to the latest Housing Corporation 
standards. 
 
 

MM 14  176 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Para 6.41 
 
 
 
 
 
After para 
6.43 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

It is anticipated that this strategy will deliver at 
least approximately 13,000 10,000 new affordable 
homes within the plan period. , of which 2,640 have 
been delivered at 1 April 2011. 
 
 
6.43a A broad assessment of viability across the 
Plan area150 clearly indicates that there are 
geographic disparities in terms of residual land 
values that warrant different affordable housing 
requirements. Core Policy 43 therefore contains  
two separate affordable housing zones (30% and 
40%) as presented on the Policies Map. 
 

40% affordable 
housing zone 

Marlborough & 
surrounding area, 
Pewsey, Bradford on 
Avon, Salisbury, rural 
villages of south 

                                       
 
 

Appendix 1

Page 142



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 114 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
177 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.43b 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Para 6.44 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Core Policy 
43 
 

Salisbury, Wilton and 
Chippenham 

30% affordable 
housing zone 

Corsham, Amesbury, 
Devizes and 
surrounding villages, 
Melksham, Trowbridge, 
Westbury, Dilton 
Marsh, Calne, 
Warminster, Tisbury 
and Mere 

 
Insert Table 5.20a -  Affordable housing zones 
 
6.43b In adopting a two zone approach, the 
objective of delivering an appropriate and 
sustainable rate of affordable housing to offset 
strategic and local needs is not compromised. The 
approach set out in Core Policy 43 will provide both 
certainty to the market and sufficient flexibility to 
allow development proposals to accommodate 
variations in scheme costs whilst still meeting the 
policy requirements of the plan. 
 
Footnote for para 6.43a: 1 Wiltshire Local Plan 
Viability Study 2014 
 
The policy has regard to the practicalities of 
provision on small sites. While developments of 5 
units and above will be expected to make provision 
on-site, on sites of 4 dwellings or fewer a financial 
contribution will be sought no affordable housing 
contribution will be sought. This could be for on or 
off-site delivery. Where the policy generates a 
requirement which does not equate to a whole unit 
the calculation will be rounded to the nearest whole 
affordable housing unit. The level of financial 
contribution for sites of 4 dwellings or fewer will be 
set within detailed guidance to be produced by the 
council. 
 
 
Core Policy 43 
Providing affordable homes 
Provision 
On sites of 5 or more dwellings, aAffordable 
housing provision of at least 30 40% (net) will be 
provided within the 30% affordable housing zone’ 
and at least 40% (net) will be provided on sites 
within the 40% affordable housing zone. on sites of 
5 or more dwellings. Only in exceptional 
circumstances, where it can be proven that on-site 
delivery is not possible, will a commuted sum be 

Appendix 1

Page 143



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 115 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

considered. 
On sites of 4 dwellings or fewer a financial 
contribution will be sought towards the provision of 
affordable housing. 
The provision of affordable housing may vary on a 
site-by-site basis taking into account evidence of 
local need, mix of affordable housing proposed and 
where appropriate, the viability of the development. 
All affordable housing will be subject to an 
appropriate legal agreement with the Council… 
 
… 
Targets: Deliver 40% of housing on sites of 5 
dwellings or more as affordable units. 
Monitoring and Review: Quantum of affordable 
housing delivered and percentage of planning 
permissions for 5 dwellings or more with 40% or 
more affordable housing. To be monitored through 
the Wiltshire Monitoring Framework. 
Delivery Responsibility: Wiltshire Council, 
development industry, strategic partnerships, 
RSL's. 
 
 
 

MM 15  178 
 
 
 
 
 
179 

Para 6.47 
 
 
 
 
 
Core Policy 
44 

In exceptional circumstances and as a departure to 
national policy the council may also consider 
exception site development that includes cross-
subsidy from open market sales on the same site. 
 
 
Core Policy 44 
Rural exceptions sites 
At settlements defined as Local Service Centres, 
Large and Small Villages (Core Policy 1), and those 
not identified within the settlement strategy, a 
proactive approach to the provision of affordable 
housing will be sought in conjunction with Parish 
Councils and working with local communities and 
other parties. 
This exception to policy allows housing for local 
need to be permitted, solely for affordable housing, 
provided that: 
i. the proposal has clear support from the local 
community 
ii. the housing is being delivered to meet an 
identified and genuine local need 
iii. the proposal is within, adjoining or well related 
to the existing settlement 
iv. environmental and landscape considerations will 
not be compromised 
v. the proposal consists of 10 dwellings or fewer 
vi. employment and services are accessible from 

Appendix 1

Page 144



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 116 - 

the site 
vii. its scale and type is appropriate to the nature of 
the settlement and will respect the character and 
setting of that settlement and 
viii. the affordable housing provided under this 
policy will always be available for defined local 
needs, both initially and on subsequent change of 
occupant. 
 
Cross-subsidy 
In exceptional circumstances a proportion of 
market housing may be considered appropriate 
where it can be demonstrated that the site would 
be unviable, as an exception site that meets the 
above criteria, without cross-subsidy. It should be 
recognised that the inclusion of open market 
housing will not normally be supported. In these 
exceptional circumstances: 
ix. the majority of the development is for affordable 
housing 
x. it has been demonstrated through detailed 
financial appraisal that the scale of the market 
housing component is essential for the successful 
delivery of the development and is based on 
reasonable land values as an exception site; and 
xi. no additional subsidy for the scheme and its 
affordable housing delivery is required and 
xii. that any new market housing approved on this 
basis should be for occupation as a principal 
residence. 
 
Targets: Deliver affordable housing in appropriate 
locations. 
Monitoring and Review: Number of schemes 
permitted in line with the policy, to be monitored 
through the Wiltshire Monitoring Framework. 
Delivery Responsibility: Wiltshire Council, 
development industry, strategic partnerships, 
RSL's. 

MM 16  182 Core Policy 
46 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 …. Housing schemes should assist older people to 
live securely and independently within their 
communities. Residential development must ensure 
that layout, form and orientation consider 
adaptability to change as an integral part of design 
at the outset, in a way that integrates all 
households into the community. 
 
The Council will also encourage the provision of 
homes which incorporate ‘Lifetime Homes 
Standards so that they can be readily adapted to 
meet the needs of older people and those with 
disabilities. 
 

Appendix 1

Page 145



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 117 - 

Developers will be required to demonstrate how 
their proposals respond to the needs of an ageing 
population…. 
 
… In exceptional circumstances, the provision of 
specialist accommodation outside but adjacent to 
defined limits of development at the Principal 
Settlements and Market Towns will be considered, 
provided that: 
 
viii. a genuine, and evidenced, local need is justified 
ix. environmental and landscape considerations will 
not be compromised …. 
 
 
Targets: Deliver specialist housing in response to 
local needs in appropriate locations. 
Monitoring and Review: Percentage of residential 
development that accords with Lifetime Homes 
Standards and amount of specialist accommodation 
delivered, to be monitored through the Wiltshire 
Monitoring Framework. 
Delivery Responsibility: Wiltshire Council, 
development industry, strategic partnerships. 

MM 17  183 Insert 
paras 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6.54a The development of new permanent and 
transit Gypsy and Traveller caravan sites in suitable 
and sustainable locations will be considered in 
accordance with the criteria set out in Core Policy 
47. The criteria have been informed by national 
policy in Planning Policy for Traveller Sites. In 
accordance with national policy the Council will 
apply these criteria positively where a proposed 
location complies with the criteria in Core Policy 47 
(footnote).  
 
- add footnote: Topic Paper 16: Gypsy and 
Travellers (including the addendum) provides an 
outline of how the requirement for new pitches has 
been determined and the basis for the criteria 
proposed  
 
6.54 b To identify pitch requirements for inclusion 
in Core Policy 47, a review of the 2006 Gypsy and 
Traveller Accommodation Needs Assessment 
(GTAA) was undertaken in November 2011(64). 
The conclusions are presented in Topic Paper 16, as 
amended in February 2014. As a result a need for 
44 66 additional permanent residential pitches over 
the next five years (2011-2016) in Wiltshire has 
been identified. A projection of anticipated need 
between 2016-2021 has also been identified with 
approximately 42 permanent residential pitches 
required. The review of need took into 

Appendix 1

Page 146



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 118 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

consideration the supply of permanent pitch 
provision since April 2006 (see Table 6.1 below) 
and evidence presented by the July 2011 caravan 
count. The preference in meeting need in the future 
is for small, private sites.  
 
6.54 c The council will use national policy and a 
criteria-based approach as set out by Core Policy 47 
to identify the most suitable sites for Gypsy and 
Traveller pitches in the proposed Gypsy and 
Travellers Development Plan Document. This will 
add detail to the interpretation and implementation 
of Core Policy 47 and identify specific sites to 
deliver the pitch requirements set out within Core 
Policy 472. The Council will release land in its 
ownership to help ensure the identified need is 
met.(62). Applications that are submitted before 
the DPD is prepared will be assessed against the 
general criteria set in Core Policy 47. 
 
6.55 The review in Topic Paper 16 identified a need 
for 25 new transit pitches across the county. The 
provision of new transit pitches will enable pitches 
to be provided to meet the needs of Gypsies and 
Travellers who come to the area but have no 
permanent place to stay or are travelling through 
the area. The Gypsy and Traveller DPD will include 
specific locations to provide these new transit 
pitches and will include consideration of a A 
network of Emergency Stopping Places to will also 
be investigated to help meet the need for transit 
pitches and provide the travelling community with a 
range of options. This approach may be particularly 
suitable for New Travellers who rely less on the 
need for permanent residential pitches. 
 
6.55a The Council will release land in its ownership 
and work with other public sector landowners to 
help ensure the need for both permanent and 
transit pitches is met. Opportunities will be 
considered through the DPD process, as well as 
bringing forward pitches in the short term through 
the planning application process.  
 
6.56 The council will use national policy and a 
criteria-based approach to identify the most 
suitable sites for Gypsy and Traveller pitches. A 
Gypsy and Travellers Site Allocation Development 
Plan Document will be prepared to add policy detail 
to the interpretation and implementation of Core 
Policy 47 and identify specific sites to deliver the 
pitch requirements set out within it(59). Applications 
that are submitted before the DPD is prepared will 

Appendix 1

Page 147



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 119 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

be assessed against the general criteria set in Core 
Policy 47. 
 
6.56 The Council is also carrying out a full Gypsy 
and Traveller Accommodation Needs Assessment to 
review and roll forward the pitch requirements in 
Core Policy 47 to ensure adequate pitch provision 
across the plan period. This review will inform 
amendments to the pitch requirements in Core 
Policy 47 to relate to the whole plan period and be 
included in the Gypsy and Traveller DPD. Core 
Policy 47 together with the policies and allocations 
proposed within the Gypsy and Traveller DPD will 
ensure continued compliance with national policy. 
 
6.57 In 2011, the government published a draft 
Planning Policy Statement(60) on planning for 
traveller sites which includes. National policy 63, as 
well as including the general principle of aligning 
planning policy on traveller sites more closely with 
that for other forms of housing. It requires the 
council to demonstrate a five year supply of pitches 
against a long term target based on clear evidence. 
Core Policy 47 reflects this approach by introducing 
a set of criteria against which potential sites will be 
tested and identifying a requirement for new 
pitches to 2021. The criteria have regard to local 
amenity, access to facilities and impact on the 
landscape in a similar way to policies for general 
housing. Appendix C provides the current position 
in relation to a 5 year supply of Traveller sites and 
demonstrates that, at the time of the CS 
examination, there was not a 5 year supply of 
traveller sites in Wiltshire. The programmed Gypsy 
and Traveller DPD will include specific deliverable 
sites to demonstrate a 5 year supply and a supply 
of specific developable sites or broad locations for 
growth for the remainder of the plan period. 
 
6.58 A review of the 2006 Gypsy and Traveller 
Accommodation Needs Assessment (GTAA) was 
undertaken in November 2011(61). As a result a 
need for 44 additional residential pitches over the 
next five years (2011-2016) in Wiltshire has been 
identified. A projection of anticipated need between 
2016-2021 has also been identified with 
approximately 38 residential pitches required. 
The review of need took into consideration the 
supply of permanent pitch provision since April 
2006 (see Table 6.2 below) and evidence presented 
by the July 2011 caravan count. The preferencein 
meeting need in the future is for small, private 
sites. 

Appendix 1

Page 148



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 120 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Core Policy 
47 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Table 6.1 Supply of permanent accommodation for 
Gypsies and Travellers, April 2006 to November 
2011  
 
Housing 
Market 
Area  
 

Permitted 
(April 06 
to  
Nov- 
2011)  
 

With 
temporary 
permission 
Dec 11  
 

 
Application
s pending 
Dec 11  
 

North and 
West 
Wiltshire 

94  
 

2 1  
 

South 
Wiltshire  
 

3 2 1  
 

East 
Wiltshire  
 

0   
 

0 0 

Total  
 

97 4 2 

 
 
Core Policy 47 
 
Meeting the needs of Gypsies and Travellers 
Provision should be made for at least 66 82 
permanent pitches for Gypsies and Travellers, 25 
transit pitches and 
5 plots for Travelling Showpeople during the period 
2011 to 202116.A further 42 permanent pitches 
should be provided over the period 2016-2021. 
Permanent and transit pitches should be distributed 
and phased as follows. 
Table 6.2 
 
Housing 
Market 
Area 
 

Proposed 
Requireme
nt (2011 
-16) 
 

Proposed 
Requireme
nt 
(2016-
2021) 
 

Transit 
provision 
2011-2021 
 

North and 
West 
Wiltshire 

9 26 20 22 10 
 

South 
Wiltshire 

33 37 17 19 8 
 

East 
Wiltshire 

2 3 1  
 

7 

Total 44 66 38 42 
 

25 

Appendix 1

Page 149



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 121 - 

 
Proposals for new Gypsy and Traveller pitches or 
Travelling Showpeople plots/yards will only be 
granted where there is no conflict with other 
planning policies and where no barrier to 
development exists. New development should be 
situated in sustainable locations, with preference 
generally given to previously developed land or a 
vacant or derelict site in need of renewal.  Where 
Pproposals must satisfy the following general 
criteria they will be considered favourably: 

i. ………… 
 
iv. it is located in or near to existing settlements 
within reasonable distance of a range of local 
services and community facilities, in particular 
schools and essential health services. This will be 
defined in 
detail in the methodology outlined in the Site 
Allocations DPD, and 
v. it will not have an unacceptable impact on the 
character and appearance of the landscape and the 
amenity of neighbouring properties, and is 
sensitively designed to mitigate any impact on its 
surroundings. 
 
iv. the site must also be large enough to provide 
adequate vehicle parking, including circulation 
space, along with residential amenity and play 
areas  
iv. it is located in or near to existing settlements 
within reasonable distance of a range of local 
services and community facilities, in particular 
schools and essential health services  
vi. it will not have an unacceptable impact on the 
character and appearance of the landscape and the 
amenity of neighbouring properties, and is 
sensitively designed to mitigate any impact on its 
surroundings This will be defined in detail in the 
methodology outlined in the Site Allocations DPD, 
and 
 
vii. adequate levels of privacy should be provided 
for occupiers  
viii. development of the site should be appropriate 
to the scale and character of its surroundings and 
existing nearby settlements, and  
ix the site should not compromise a nationally or 
international recognised designation nor have the 
potential for adverse effects on river quality, 
biodiversity or archaeology  
 
In assessing sites for Travelling Showpeople or 

Appendix 1

Page 150



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 122 - 

where mixed-uses are proposed, the site and its 
surrounding context are suitable for mixed 
residential and business uses, including storage 
required and/or land required for exercising 
animals, and would not result in an unacceptable 
loss of amenity and adverse impact on the safety 
and amenity of the site’s occupants and 
neighbouring properties. 
 
It is recommended that pre-application advice is 
sought on all proposals for new Gypsy and Traveller 
pitches or Traveller Showpeople plots/yards. Early 
engagement with the local community is 
recommended to ensure sites are developed 
sensitively to their context. 
 
Targets: Net increase in pitches; Gypsy and 
Traveller site allocation DPD adopted. 
Monitoring and Review: Number of approved 
Gypsy and Traveller pitches to be monitored 
through 
Wiltshire Monitoring Framework. 
Delivery Responsibility: Wiltshire Council, 
strategic partnerships. 
 
 

MM 18  188 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Core Policy 
48  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Supporting rural life 
 
Dwellings required to meet the employment 
needs of rural areas 
 
Outside the defined limits of development of the 
Principal Settlements, Market Towns, Local Service 
Centres and Large Villages, and outside the existing 
built areas of Small Villages, proposals for 
residential development will only be supported 
where these meet the accommodation needs 
required to enable workers to live at or in the 
immediate vicinity of their place of work in the 
interests of agriculture or forestry or other 
employment essential to the countryside. Proposals 
for accommodation  to meet the  needs  of  
employment  essential  to  the  countryside  should  
be  supported  by  functional  and financial 
evidence. 
 
Improving access to services and improving 
infrastructure 
Proposals which will focus on improving accessibility 
between towns and villages, helping to reduce 
social exclusion, isolation and rural deprivation, 
such as transport and infrastructure improvements, 
will be supported where the development will not 

Appendix 1

Page 151



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 123 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
187 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Para 6.63 
 
 
 
 
 

be to the detriment of the local environment or 
local residents. 
 
Conversion and rReuse of redundant rural 
agricultural buildings 
Proposals to convert and re-use redundant rural 
agricultural buildings for employment, and tourism, 
cultural and community uses will be supported 
where it satisfies the following criteria: 
 
i. the building(s) have architectural merit, is/are 
structurally sound and capable of conversion 
without major rebuilding, and with only necessary 
only modest extension or modification which 
preserves the character of the original building; and 
 
ii. the reuse would lead to the viable long-term 
safeguarding of a heritage asset 
 
iii. the use would not detract from the character or 
appearance of the landscape or settlement and 
would not be detrimental to the amenities of 
residential areas; and 
 
iiiv. the building can be served by adequate access 
and infrastructure; and 
 
iv. the site has reasonable access to local services; 
and/:or 
 
vi. the conversion or re-use of a heritage asset 
would lead to its viable long term safeguarding. 
 
vi. the use meets identified local needs for 
employment. 
 
In exceptional circumstances, wWhere there is clear 
evidence that the above employment or tourism 
uses can not be made viable are not practical 
propositions, residential development may be 
appropriate where it meets the above criteria and 
has reasonable access to employment.  In isolated 
locations, the re-use of redundant or disused 
buildings for residential purposes may be permitted 
where justified by special circumstances in line with 
national policy. 
 
Proposals to convert or re-use redundant buildings 
for employment, tourism or residential uses, 
community uses, meeting rooms or places of 
worship will need to fulfil the requirements set out 
in Core Policy 48. Local needs for employment or 
housing should be demonstrated through reference 

Appendix 1

Page 152



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 124 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

to the Core Strategy evidence base or another 
credible evidence source.. Proposals must not lead 
to subsequent applications for replacement 
buildings elsewhere. It is recognised that the 
insensitive re-use of rural buildings can be 
damaging to the character of the building and its 
rural setting. Furthermore, additions and extensions 
should normally be avoided.  
 

MM 19  190 Core Policy 
49 

Protection of services and community facilities 
 
Proposals involving the loss of a community service 
or facility will only be supported where it can be 
demonstrated that the site/ building is no longer 
economically viable for an alternative community 
use. Preference will be given to retaining the 
existing use in the first instance, then for an 
alternative community use. Where this is not 
possible, a mixed use, which still retains a 
substantial portion of the community 
facility/service, will be supported. Redevelopment 
for non-community service/ facility use will only be 
permitted as a last resort and where all other 
options have been exhausted. 
 
In order for such proposals to be supported, a 
comprehensive marketing plan will need to be 
undertaken and the details submitted with any 
planning application. Only where it can be 
demonstrated that all preferable options have been 
exhausted will a change of use to a non-community 
use be considered. 
 
This marketing plan will, at the very minimum: 
i. be undertaken for at least 6 months 
ii. be as open and as flexible as possible with 
respect to alternative community use 
iii. establish appropriate prices, reflecting local 
market value, for the sale or lease of the site or 
building, which reflect the current or … 
 
Targets: Retention of existing facilities and 
services. 
Monitoring and Review: Rural Facilities Survey 
and Wiltshire Monitoring Framework. 
Delivery Responsibility: Wiltshire Council. 
 

MM 20  173 Core Policy 
41 

…. 
Climate change adaptation 
New development, building conversions, 
refurbishments and extensions will be encouraged 
to incorporate design measures to reduce energy 
demand. Development will be well insulated and 

Appendix 1

Page 153



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 125 - 

designed to take advantage of natural light and 
heat from the sun and use natural air movement 
for ventilation, whilst maximising cooling in the 
summer. This should be achieved by use of the 
following means as practicable: 
i. orientating windows of habitable rooms within 30 
degrees of south and utilising southern slopes 
ii. locating windows at heights that allow lower sun 
angles in the winter and installing shading 
mechanisms to prevent overheating during summer 
months 
iii. using soft landscaping, including deciduous tree 
planting, to allow natural sun light to pass through 
during the winter months whilst providing shade in 
the summer 
iv. integrating passive ventilation, for example 
wind-catchers installed on roofs and 
v. planting green roofs to moderate the 
temperature of the building to avoid the need for 
mechanical heating and/or cooling systems. 
 
Sustainable construction 
New homes (excluding extensions and conversions) 
will be required to achieve at least Level 34 (in full) 
of the Code for Sustainable Homes, progressing to 
Code Level 4 (in full) from 2013 and Level 5 (in full) 
from 20162. 
 
Conversions of property to residential use will not 
be permitted unless BREEAM’s Homes “Very Good” 
standards are achieved.  
 
All non-residential development will be required to 
achieve the relevant BREEAM “Very Good” 
standards from 2013, rising to the relevant BREEAM 
“Excellent” standards from 2019. 
 
Existing buildings 
Retrofitting measures to improve the energy 
performance of existing buildings will be 
encouraged in accordance with the following 
hierarchy: 
vi. reduce energy consumption through energy 
efficiency measures 
vii. use renewable or low-carbon energy from a 
local/district source and 
viii. use building-integrated renewable or low-
carbon technologies. 
Opportunities should be sought to facilitate carbon 
reduction through retrofitting at whole street or 
neighbourhood scales to reduce individual costs, 
improve viability and support coordinated 
programmes for improvement. 

Appendix 1

Page 154



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 126 - 

 
Renewable and low-carbon energy 
All proposals for major development will be 
required to submit a Sustainable Energy Strategy 
alongside the planning application outlining the low-
carbon strategy for the proposal. It is expected that 
proposals for larger scale residential development 
of 500 units or more will be viable to meet zero-
carbon standards from 20134.Where this is not 
deliverable, the Sustainable Energy Strategy should 
clearly demonstrate why this is not achievable. 
 
In all cases, including those listed above, proposals 
relating to historic buildings, Listed Buildings and 
buildings within Conservation Areas and World 
Heritage Sites should ensure that appropriate 
sensitive approaches and materials are used. 
Safeguarding of the significance the special 
character of heritage assets should be in 
accordance with appropriate national policy and 
established best practice. 
 
In all cases the impact of these requirements on 
the viability of development will be taken into 
consideration 
…. 
 

MM 21  175 Core Policy 
42 

Standalone renewable energy installations 
Proposals for standalone renewable energy 
schemes will be supported subject to satisfactory 
resolution of all site specific constraints. In 
particular, proposals will need to demonstrate how 
impacts on the following factors have been 
satisfactorily assessed, including any cumulative 
effects, and taken into account … 
 
… 
vii. residential amenity, including noise, odour, 
visual amenity, safety and 
viii. best and most versatile agricultural land 
 

MM 22  175 6.38 The development of most standalone renewable 
energy installations within Wiltshire will require 
careful consideration due to their potential visual 
and landscape impacts, especially in designated or 
sensitive landscapes, including AONBs and the 
Stonehenge and Avebury World Heritage Site and 
its setting. Core policies 51 and 59, which relate to 
landscape and the World Heritage Site, should be 
considered alongside this policy. The size, location 
and design of renewable energy schemes should be 
informed by a landscape character assessment, 
alongside other key environmental issues as set out 

Appendix 1

Page 155



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 127 - 

in Core Policy 42. This should help reduce the 
potential for conflict and delay when determining 
planning applications. Cumulative effects should be 
addressed as appropriate. 
Additional guidance will be prepared to support the 
implementation of Core Policy 42. to identify 
appropriate separation distances between wind 
turbines and residential premises in the interests of 
residential amenity, including safety. In the interim 
period, prior to the adoption of the guidance, the 
following minimum separation distances* will be 
applied: 
If the height of the wind turbine is- 
(a) greater than 25m, but does not exceed 50m, 
the minimum distance requirement is 1000m; 
(b) greater than 50m, but does not exceed 100m, 
the minimum distance requirement is 1500m; 
(c) greater than 100m, but does not exceed 150m, 
the minimum distance requirement is 2000m; 
(d) greater than 150m, the minimum distance 
requirement is 3000m 
Shorter distances may be appropriate where there 
is clear support from the local community 

MM 23   6.67 on 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

There is a network of identified wildlife sites:  
• International – Special Areas of 

Conservation, Special Protection area and 
Ramsar Sites 

• National – Sites of Special Scientific Interest 
and National Nature Reserves 

• Local – County Wildlife Sites, Protected Road 
Verges and Local Geological Sites 

Proposed development on land within or outside a 
SSSI likely to have an adverse effect on the SSSI 
will be determined in accordance with the 
requirements of paragraph 118 of the NPPF and 
Circular 06/2005.  
Wiltshire’s natural environment is one of its 
greatest assets and includes a particularly large 
proportion of the UK’s biodiversity, including some 
of Europe and the UK’s most significant sites which 
are protected by national policy and statutory 
legislation (and therefore not generally addressed 
in this core strategy). However the The valuable 
natural environment includes not only identified 
protected sites, but also local sites such as County 
Wildlife Sites, Protected Road Verges and Local 
Geological Sites, and other features of nature 
conservation value including: 

• Priority species and habitats of conservation 
concern (including those listed on the 
national and Wiltshire Biodiversity Action 
Plans)  

• areas of habitat with restoration potential 

Appendix 1

Page 156



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 128 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(particularly those identified on the South 
West Nature Map or through other landscape 
scale projects) and  

• all waterbodies covered under the Water 
Framework Directive and 

• features providing an ecological function for 
wildlife such as foraging, resting and 
breeding places, particularly wildlife corridors 
of all scales which provide ecological 
connectivity allowing species to move 
through the landscape and support 
ecosystem functions. 

•  
For the purposes of ecological impact assessment, 
the value of undesignated habitats and species 
should be measured against published selection 
criteria (footnote) where possible(footnote), 
however statutory protection will only ever apply to 
those sites which have been formally notified by 
Natural England. 
 
(Insert footnotes as indicated). 
 
6.68 Collectively these sites and natural features 
make up the local ecological networks necessary to 
underpin and maintain a healthy natural 
environment. Core Policy 50 seeks to ensure 
protection and enhancement of these sites and 
features, and is necessary to help halt and reverse 
current negative trends and meet new challenges 
particularly from climate change adaptation and 
pressures associated with the increasing population. 
 
Protection  
It is vital that all stages of sustainable development 
are informed by relevant ecological information, 
from site selection and design to planning decisions 
and long-term management. All effects should be 
considered, including positive and negative, direct 
and indirect, cumulative, and on and offsite impacts 
over the lifetime of the development (including 
construction, operation and restoration phases), 
also giving consideration to disturbance effects such 
as noise, lighting, recreational pressures, trampling, 
traffic, domestic pets, vandalism etc. 
 
6.69 It is vital that all stages of sustainable 
development are informed by relevant ecological 
information, from site selection and design to 
planning decisions and long-term management. All 
effects should be considered, including positive and 
negative, direct and indirect, cumulative, and on 
and offsite impacts over the lifetime of the 

Appendix 1

Page 157



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 129 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

development (including construction, operational 
and restoration phases), also giving consideration 
to disturbance effects such as noise, lighting, 
recreational pressures, trampling, traffic, domestic 
pets, vandalism etc. All effects upon the natural 
environment should be addressed sequentially in 
accordance with the principle of the ‘mitigation 
hierarchy’:  
 

• avoid e.g. site location, buffers  
• reduce, moderate, minimise  
• rescue e.g. translocation  
• repair, reinstate, restore  
• compensate or offset. 

 
6.70 Compensation is a last resort, but will be 
necessary in some instances where other 
approaches cannot guarantee ‘no net loss’ of 
biodiversity and any unavoidable losses are 
outweighed by other sustainability considerations. 
Such measures should be delivered within the 
development site where possible; however where 
this is not feasible it may be more appropriate to 
deliver offsite measures through legal agreements 
and landscape scale projects. Appropriate 
compensatory measures should demonstrate no net 
loss of the relevant local biodiversity resource in 
the short and long-term, and be delivered as close 
to the development site as possible to avoid the 
degradation of local ecological networks or 
‘ecosystem services’(625). Additional guidance is 
available to help clarify appropriate ecological 
avoidance, mitigation and compensation measures 
to demonstrate compliance with Core Policy 50, 
which should be proportionate to the scale of any 
predicted impact. 
 
A number of strategic mitigation plans and 
guidance documents are also available to ensure 
that the most commonly occurring effects upon 
international sites can be avoided as efficiently and 
effectively as possible5:  

• The Stone Curlew Management Strategy – 
applicable to residential development within 
distances up to 15km of Salisbury Plan  

• Wiltshire Bats SAC Planning Guidance – 
applicable to all development types in the 
areas within and surrounding Bradford on 
Avon, Box, Colerne, Corsham, Trowbridge, 
Westbury, Fonthill and Chilmark.  

• River Avon Planning Guidance – applicable to 
any new development in proximity to the 
Salisbury Avon, or major development within 

Appendix 1

Page 158



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 130 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

the wider catchment.  
• The New Forest recreation Management 

Strategy – applicable to residential 
development within distances up to 9km of 
the New forest National Park.Other plans and 
guidance documents will be produced by 
Wiltshire Council as necessary. Wiltshire 
Council has also signed a Memorandum of 
Understanding  with Natural England to 
ensure that all of these measures are 
effectively delivered.  

 
Wiltshire Council will support production and 
implementation of a New Forest Mitigation 
Strategy, in partnership with Natural England, and 
other partners as appropriate. This will set out the 
delivery mechanisms and funding requirements 
(either through CIL, S106 or other appropriate 
mechanism) such that the impacts of the Plan upon 
the New Forest SPA are fully mitigated. After 
adoption the New Forest Mitigation Strategy will be 
relevant in relation to Para 6.70 above. Prior to 
this, planning applications will be subject to 
individual Habitats Regulation Assessments and 
bespoke mitigation secured as necessary 
 
6.71 Sustainable development also provides 
opportunities to enhance the natural environment 
for wildlife and Wiltshire’s communities, particularly 
through landscaping, public open space, 
Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems and features 
of the built environment e.g. bird and bat boxes. 
Such measures should contribute to delivery of 
relevant Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP) targets and 
River basin/Catchment Management Plan 
objectives, but also be tailored to local landscape 
character (see Core Policy 51). Development may 
also open up opportunities to bring degraded or 
neglected features back into favourable condition 
through sensitive management to encourage 
wildlife; such restoration will be particularly 
valuable where it contributes towards landscape 
scale projects Nature Improvement areas or other 
landscape scale projects identified by the Local 
Nature Partnership or objectives in relevant River 
Basin/Catchment Management Plans. Additional 
guidance will be produced to aid the design and 
incorporation of suitable ecological help clarify 
appropriate avoidance, mitigation, compensation 
and enhancement measures to demonstrate 
compliance with Core Policy 50, which should be 
proportionate to the scale of development. 
 

Appendix 1

Page 159



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 131 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[Footnote625 Ecosystem services are best defined 
through the work of the UK National Ecosystem 
Assessment http://uknea.unep-wcmc.org/.] 
 
 
6.72 Compensation for increased recreational 
disturbance at Special Protection Areas (SPAs) will 
be achieved through securing management in those 
areas. For development within 15km of Salisbury 
Plain this will best be achieved through the Wessex 
Stone Curlew Project (WSCP), which delivers 
targeted advice to the Ministry of Defence and 
private tenants on the location and management of 
Stone Curlew nest sites. For development within 
7km of the New Forest SPA mitigation will be best 
addressed through the Recreation Management 
Strategy (RMS) for the area. Proportionate 
developer contributions toward implementation of 
the WSCP and the RMS will be sought in line with 
Core Policy 3 (infrastructure) and the Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan. The use of Suitable Alternative 
Natural Greenspace (SANGs) is unlikely to be 
successful for attracting people away from these 
sites given their high intrinsic appeal and unique 
characteristics, and would only be acceptable in 
cases where a particularly large or high quality 
SANGs can be secured. However in most cases this 
is unlikely to be cost effective. Wiltshire Council is 
developing guidance for development surrounding 
the Bath and Bradford Bats SAC and associated 
roost sites. This will include guidance for developers 
and planners, and a procedure to ensure that any 
likely significant effects upon the SAC are identified 
and assessed at the application stage. Any 
development that would have an adverse effect on 
the integrity of a European nature conservation site 
will not be in accordance with the Core Strategy. 
 
Local sites 
Sustainable development will avoid direct and 
indirect impacts upon local sites through sensitive 
site location and layout, and by maintaining 
sufficient buffers and ecological connectivity with 
the wider environment. Damage or disturbance to 
local sites will generally be unacceptable, other 
than in 
exceptional circumstances where it has been 
demonstrated that such impacts: 
i. cannot reasonably be avoided 
ii. are reduced as far as possible 
iii. are outweighed by other planning considerations 
in the public interest and 
iv. where appropriate compensation measures can 

Appendix 1

Page 160



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 132 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Core Policy 
50 

be secured through planning obligations or 
agreements. 
Development proposals affecting local sites must 
contribute to their favourable management in the 
long-term. 
 
Protection 
Development proposals must demonstrate how 
they protect, and where possible enhance, features 
of nature conservation and geological value as part 
of the design rational. There is an expectation that 
such features shall be retained, buffered, and 
managed favourably in order to maintain their 
ecological value, connectivity and functionality in 
the long-term. Where it has been demonstrated 
that such features cannot be retained, removal or 
damage shall only be acceptable in circumstances 
where the anticipated ecological impacts have been 
mitigated as far as possible and appropriate 
compensatory measures can be secured to ensure 
no net loss of the local biodiversity resource, and 
secure the integrity of local ecological networks and 
provision of ecosystem services. 
 
All development proposals shall incorporate 
appropriate measures to avoid and reduce 
disturbance of sensitive wildlife species and habitats 
throughout the lifetime of the development.  
 
Any development potentially affecting a Natura 
2000 site must provide avoidance measures in 
accordance with the strategic plans or guidance set 
out in Paragraph 6.70 above where possible, 
otherwise bespoke measures must be provided to 
demonstrate that the proposals would have no 
adverse effect upon the Natura 2000 network. Any 
development that would have an adverse effect on 
the integrity of a European nature conservation site 
will not be in accordance with the Core Strategy. 
 
Biodiversity enhancement 
All development should seek opportunities to 
enhance biodiversity. Major development in 
particular must include measures to deliver 
biodiversity gains through opportunities to restore, 
enhance and create valuable habitats, ecological 
networks and ecosystem services. Such 
enhancement measures will contribute to the 
objectives and targets of the Biodiversity Action 
Plan (BAP) or River basin/ Catchment Management 
Plan, particularly through landscape scale projects, 
and be relevant to the local landscape character. 
 

Appendix 1

Page 161



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 133 - 

Disturbance 
All development proposals shall incorporate 
appropriate measures to avoid and reduce 
disturbance of sensitive wildlife species and habitats 
throughout the lifetime of the development. 
Development likely to increase recreational 
pressure on Special Protection Areas (SPAs) will be 
required to deliver an appropriate level of 
mitigation to offset any potential impacts. Suitable 
mitigation strategies will include securing 
management measures for designated features of 
Salisbury Plain, New Forest National Park and 
surrounding areas. Designated features include 
Habitats Directive Annex I habitats and Annex II 
species. Provision of an appropriate area of Suitable 
Alternative Natural Greenspace to deter public use 
of Natura 2000 sites will only be acceptable in 
exceptional circumstances. Such measures shall be 
secured through reasonable and proportionate 
planning obligations and agreements. 
 
Local Sites  
Sustainable development will avoid direct and 
indirect impacts upon local sites through sensitive 
site location and layout, and by maintaining 
sufficient buffers and ecological connectivity with 
the wider environment. Damage or disturbance to 
local sites will generally be unacceptable, other 
than in exceptional circumstances where it has 
been demonstrated that such impacts:  

i. cannot be reasonably avoided  
ii. are reduced as far as possible  
iii. are outweighed by other planning 

considerations in the public interest and  
iv. where appropriate compensation 

measures can be secured through 
planning obligations or agreements  

v. Development proposals affecting local 
sites must make a reasonable and 
proportionate contribution to their 
favourable management in the long-term. 

 
Targets: No net loss of biodiversity through 
development. 
Monitoring and review: Percentage of consented 
applications affecting nature conservation features 
for which an ecological mitigation/management 
plan is i) secured through condition and ii) 
implemented. 
To be monitored through Wiltshire Monitoring 
Framework. 
Delivery responsibility: Wiltshire Council, 
development industry. 

Appendix 1

Page 162



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 134 - 

 
 

MM 24  197 Para 6.88 Development will need to make provision for 
accessible open spaces (such as parks, play areas, 
sports pitches and allotments) in accordance with 
the adopted Wiltshire Open Space Standards. 
Four sets of open space standards are currently in 
operation across Wiltshire, with different standards 
applying in each of the former district areas, and 
these currently form the Wiltshire Open Space 
Standards. A new set of standards will be 
developed to provide a consistent approach across 
Wiltshire. Once adopted, these Wiltshire-wide 
standards will be used on a case by case basis to 
determine the amount and type of open space 
provision that will be required to accompany new 
development. The open space standards covering 
the former district areas will be used for the 
purposes of Core Policy 52 until such time as the 
new Wiltshire-wide standards are adopted. The 
Wiltshire-wide standards are currently being 
produced and will be informed by an Open Spaces 
Study, to be completed by 2015, with the new 
standards adopted as part of the Partial Review of 
the Wiltshire Core Strategy in 2016. 
 

MM 25  199 Core Policy 
53 

Core Policy 53 
Wiltshire’s and Berks and Thames and Severn 
canals 

MM 26  204 Core Policy 
55 

Core Policy 55 
Air Quality 
Development proposals which by virtue of their 
scale, nature or location are likely to exacerbate 
existing areas of poor air quality, will need to 
demonstrate that measures can be taken to 
effectively mitigate emission levels in order to 
protect public health, environmental quality and 
amenity. Mitigation measures should demonstrate 
how they will make a positive contribution to the 
aims of the Air Quality Strategy for Wiltshire and 
where relevant, the Wiltshire Air Quality Action 
Plan. Mitigation may include: 
 
i. landscaping, bunding or separation to increase 
distance from highways and junctions 
ii. possible traffic management or highway 
improvements to be agreed with the local authority 
iii. abatement technology and incorporating site 
layout / separation and other conditions in site 
planning 
iv. traffic routing, site management, site layout and 
phasing; and 
v. where appropriate, contributions will be sought 

Appendix 1

Page 163



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 135 - 

toward the mitigation of the impact a development 
may have on levels of air pollutants 
 
Targets: No applications permitted contrary to the 
advice of Wiltshire Council on the grounds of air 
pollution that cannot be mitigated. 
Monitoring and Review: Air Quality Strategy 
Implementation Plan. 
Delivery Responsibility: Wiltshire Council 

MM 27  225 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
225 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
227 

Core Policy 
68 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Para 6.176 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Core Policy 
69 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Water Resources 
Development must not prejudice the delivery of the 
actions and targets of the relevant River Basin or 
Catchment Management Plan, and should 
contribute towards their delivery where possible. 
Non-residential development will be required to 
incorporate water efficiency measures. Developers 
will be expected to submit details of how water 
efficiency has been taken into account during the 
design of proposals. 
Development proposals within a Source Protection 
Zone, Safeguard Zone or Water Protection Zone 
must assess any risk to groundwater resources, and 
groundwater quality and demonstrate that these 
would be protected throughout the construction and 
operational phases of development. 
 
Targets: Incorporation of water efficiency 
measures in all non-residential development. 
Monitoring and Review: To be monitored through 
the Wiltshire Monitoring Framework. 
Delivery Responsibility: Wiltshire Council. 
 
……The catchment covers over half the county and 
the river and its tributaries flow through many of 
Wiltshire’s towns and villages. Development within 
the catchment in close proximity to the river has 
the potential to have a detrimental effect upon its 
qualifying features through direct damage, …… 
 
 
Protection of the River Avon SAC 
In order to avoid and reduce potential 
environmental effects on the River Avon SAC, 
development will need to incorporate measures 
during construction and operation to avoid and 
prevent pollution and mitigate potential disturbance 
effects; appropriate schemes of mitigation 
measures may include consideration of suitable 
buffer zones along watercourses, habitat 
enhancements and river access management 
measures. All development within 20m of the river 
banks should submit a Construction Management 
Plan to the Local Planning Authority to ensure 

Appendix 1

Page 164



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 136 - 

 
 
 

measures proposed during construction are 
satisfactory. 
 
Where additional sewage discharges to a STW 
cannot be accommodated without measures to 
offset phosphate loading, development will be 
required to undertake proportionate mitigation 
measures (which may include contributions towards 
those measures identified in the Nutrient 
Management Plan)  to demonstrate that the 
proposals would have no likely significant adverse 
effects upon the SAC. 
 
Targets: All development to be in compliance with 
the policy. 
Monitoring and Review: To be monitored through 
the Wiltshire Monitoring Framework. 
Delivery Responsibility: Wiltshire Council. 
 

MM 28  207 Para 6.126 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Core Policy 
57 

High quality design will be required for all new 
developments from building extensions through to 
major developments. Innovative designs which help 
raise the standard of design more generally in the 
area will be encouraged. This policy sets out a 
range of issues which all developers will need to 
take into account when designing each individual 
scheme. Proposals will need to be accompanied by 
appropriate information to demonstrate compliance 
with Core Policy 57, including a design and access 
statement when this is required by the Local 
Validation Checklist(669). All proposals will need to 
have regard to relevant supplementary guidance on 
design, this includes Village Design Statements that 
are up to date and approved by the local authority 
as providing guidance on the implementation of 
policy CP57 for a local area  
 
… 
ix. ensuring that the public realm, including new 
roads and other rights of way, are designed to 
create places of character which are legible, safe 
and accessible; in accordance with Core Policy 66 – 
Strategic Transport Network. … 
 
…. 
xii. the use of high standards of building materials, 
finishes and landscaping, including the provision of 
street furniture and public art where appropriate 
the integration of art and design in the public realm 
…. 
Xiv: meet the requirements of Core Policy 61 – 
Transport and New Development 
 

Appendix 1

Page 165



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 137 - 

Targets: High standard of design achieved in all 
new developments. 
Monitoring and review: To be monitored through 
the Wiltshire Monitoring Framework. 
Delivery responsibility: Wiltshire Council. 
 

MM 29  209  Para 6.132 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Para 6.135 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Para 6.136 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Core Policy 
58 

It is anticipated that additional planning guidance 
will be developed which will include to aid in the 
application of Core Policy 58. The anticipated 
Heritage Guidance will provide details on heritage 
issues in Wiltshire; including the endorsement of 
establishing a new local heritage list in line with 
English Heritage’s Good Practice Guidance (May 
2012)**. 
 
 
The Council will continue to keep under review 
Conservation Areas in the District and where 
appropriate, designate new areas. Appraisals of 
Conservation Areas will define the boundaries and 
analyse the special architectural and historic 
interest of the area. A component of the Plan’s 
positive strategy for the conservation of heritage 
assets at risk will include the joint Wiltshire Council 
/ English Heritage Monument Management Scheme. 
 
The individual area strategies identify specific 
distinct heritage assets, conservation challenges, 
and where appropriate, specific opportunities. 
Information in the Area Strategies and 
Development Templates should be supported by 
mitigation measures and information identified in 
evidence documents such as: The Historic 
Landscape Assessment, January 2012 and Salisbury 
Historic Landscape Assessment 2009. The 
Anticipated Heritage Guidance referred to in 6.132 
above will also provide further supporting 
information. 
 
 
Ensuring the conservation of the historic 
environment 
Development should protect, conserve and where 
possible enhance the historic environment., and 
should not have an unacceptable impact on the 
historic environment, particularly where this could 
be avoided or mitigated. 
Designated historic heritage assets and their 
settings will be conserved, and where appropriate 
enhanced, in a manner appropriate to their 
significance including: 
i. nationally significant archaeological remains and 
their setting 

Appendix 1

Page 166



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 138 - 

ii. the World Heritage Sites within and adjacent to 
Wiltshire 
iii. buildings and structures of special architectural 
or historic interest and their settings 
iv. the special character or appearance of 
conservation areas and their settings 
v. historic parks and gardens and their setting 
vi. important landscapes including registered 
battlefields and townscapes. 
 
Development will be required to conserve and seek 
opportunities to enhance structures and areas of 
heritage significance throughout Wiltshire, including 
the character, setting and cultural significance of 
designated and other locally or regionally significant 
non-designated heritage assets, including: 
vii. the sensitive re-use of redundant and under-
used historic buildings and areas which are 
consistent with their conservation especially in 
relation to the viable re-use of heritage assets at 
risk 
viii. opportunities to enhance Wiltshire’s historic 
public realm by ensuring that all development, 
including transport and infrastructure work, is 
sensitive to the historic environment 
 
Distinctive elements of Wiltshire’s historic 
environment, including non-designated heritage 
assets, which creates contribute to a sense of local 
character and identity and variation across the 
county, will be conserved, and where possible 
enhanced. and their The potential to contribution of 
these heritage assets towards wider social, cultural, 
economic and environmental benefits will also be 
exploited, including: utilised where this can be 
delivered in a sensitive and appropriate ,manner in 
accordance with core policy 57. 
 
ix. the individual and distinctive character and 
appearance of Wiltshire’s historic market towns and 
villages 
x. nationally significant prehistoric archaeological 
monuments and landscapes 
xi. the Stonehenge and Avebury World Heritage 
Site 
xii. historic buildings and structures related to the 
textile industry 
xiii. historic rural structures including threshing 
barns, granaries, malt houses, dovecots and stables 
xiv. ecclesiastical sites including churches, chapels 
and monuments 
xv. the historic Great Western Railway and 
associated structures 

Appendix 1

Page 167



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 139 - 

xvi. the historic waterways and associated 
structures including canals and river courses 
xvii. heritage assets associated with the military. 
 
Buildings Heritage assets at risk will be monitored 
and development proposals that improve their 
condition secure and improve buildings at risk will 
be encouraged. The advice of statutory and local 
consultees will be sought in consideration of such 
applications. 
 
Targets: No increase in Buildings at Risk (BAR), no 
loss of listed buildings. 
Monitoring and Review: To be monitored through 
the Wiltshire Monitoring Framework. 
Delivery Responsibility: Wiltshire Council. 
 

MM 30  214 6.137 on 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Wiltshire’s World Heritage Site (WHS) is a 
designated heritage asset of the highest 
international and national significance. The United 
Kingdom, as a signatory to the Convention 
Concerning the Protection of the World Cultural and 
Natural Heritage (UNESCO, 1972) is obliged to 
protect, conserve and, present and transmit to 
future generations its WHSs which, because of their 
exceptional qualities are considered to be of the 
Outstanding Universal Value (OUV) of the World 
Heritage Site and ensure that it is transmitted to 
future generations. This obligation should therefore 
be given precedence in decisions concerning on 
development management in the WHS. World 
Heritage Site status offers the potential of 
considerable social and economic gains for Wiltshire 
in areas such as sustainable tourism however this 
will require careful and sensitive management in 
order to protect the Site and sustain its OUV of the 
Site. 
 
6.138 The Stonehenge, Avebury and Associated 
Sites World Heritage Site was inscribed on the 
UNESCO 
World Heritage list in 1986 for its OUV, Since that 
time, a Statement of Significance (see Stonehenge 
Management Plan 2009 pp26-27) and a draft 
Statement of OUV for the WHS have been drawn 
up. comprising its significance, authenticity and 
integrity. The 
OUV of the World Heritage Site requires protection 
and where appropriate enhancement in order to 
sustain its OUV. Not all aspects of the Site 
contribute to OUV and the UNESCO Statements of 
Significance and OUV as well as the World Heritage 
Site Plans for Stonehenge and Avebury are a critical 

Appendix 1

Page 168



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 140 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

resource in reaching decisions relating to the 
significance of its elements.for identification of the 
attributes of OUV as well as other important 
aspects of the WHS, and for reaching decisions on 
the effective protection and management of the 
Site 
 
6.139 In summary, the World Heritage Site is 
internationally important for its complexes of 
outstanding prehistoric monuments. The two stone 
circles at Stonehenge and Avebury, together with 
inter-related monuments, and their associated 
landscapes, demonstrate Neolithic and Bronze Age 
ceremonial and mortuary practices from around 
through 2,000 years of continuous use and 
monument building. The excellent survival of 
monuments provides evidence of the creative and 
technological achievements of the period. Their 
careful siting design in relation to the astronomical 
alignments, topography and other monuments 
provides further insight while their continuing 
prominence today underlines how this period of 
monument building shaped the landscape. The 
World Heritage Site is a landscape without parallel 
at a national and international level and one of 
Wiltshire’s highest quality environments. 
 
6.140 The setting of the World Heritage Site 
beyond its designated boundary also requires 
protection as inappropriate development here can 
have an adverse impact on the Site and its 
attributes of OUV of the Site. The setting is the 
surrounding in which the World Heritage Site is 
experienced. It includes a range of elements such 
as views and historical, landscape and cultural 
relationships. The setting of the World Heritage Site 
is not precisely defined and will vary depending on 
the nature and visibility of the proposal. A future 
setting study will provide further information and a 
preferred methodology for the assessment of 
proposed development for its potential impact on 
the Site and its attributes of OUV. Light pollution 
and skyglow which could adversely affect the OUV 
of the site must be adequately addressed through 
the careful management of development. 
 
6.141 The World Heritage Site consists of two areas 
of approximately 25 square kilometres centred on 
Stonehenge and Avebury. Each area has its own 
discrete landscape setting. Core Policy 59 covers 
both halves of the World Heritage Site which have 
similar requirements for protection and 
enhancement. Saved local plan policies (policies 

Appendix 1

Page 169



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 141 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

TR6, TR8 and TR9 of the Kennet Local Plan 2011) 
and Core Policy 6 (Stonehenge) reflect the specific 
local context, opportunities and challenges for the 
different halves of the World Heritage Site. In 
aAdditional separate management plans set out 
strategies and actions needed for the successful 
conservation and management of the site in order 
to sustain its OUV, taking account of and of the site 
alongside other relevant values and interests 
including tourism, farming, nature conservation, 
research, education and the quality of life of the 
community. These management plans are a key 
material consideration in the planning process, 
which has a major role in their implementation. 
Indicators to monitor the implementation of the 
actions identified appear in both management 
plans. 
 
6.142 In considering Core Policy 59 particular 
reference should be made to the statement of OUV 
for the World Heritage Site and the relevant World 
Heritage Site Management Plan(6770). Applicants will 
be required to demonstrate that full account has 
been taken of the impact of the proposals upon the 
World Heritage Site and its setting and that those 
proposals will have no adverse effects upon the site 
and its attributes of OUV. Development proposals 
which fall within the World Heritages Site boundary, 
or potentially impact upon its setting, should 
convey this accountability principally within the 
design and access statement related to the 
proposal. 
 
6.143 Due consideration should be given to 
environmental impact assessment (EIA) regulations 
which list World Heritage Sites as among the 
‘sensitive areas’ where lower thresholds apply to 
the assessment of the need for EIA. The recent 
ICOMOS guidance on heritage impact assessments 
for Cultural World Heritage Properties (2010) offers 
advice on the process of historic impact assessment 
(HIA) for cultural World Heritage Sites which is 
designed to assess impact on the WHS and its 
attributes of OUV(6871). 
 
6.144 Additional planning guidance will be 
developed to help ensure the effective 
implementation of 
Core Policy 59(6972). Based on the management 
plans and additional studies required, additional 
guidance will assist in articulating the spatial 
implications of protecting and enhancing the World 
Heritage Site and its setting in order to sustain its 

Appendix 1

Page 170



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 142 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Core Policy 
59 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

OUV both within the World Heritage Site and its 
setting. This will include considering the use of 
further Article 4 Directions to address permitted 
development rights that may have an adverse 
effect on the WHS and its attributes of OUV.67 
 
Core Policy 59 
The Stonehenge, Avebury and associated sites 
World Heritage Site 
The Outstanding Universal Value (OUV) of the 
World Heritage Site and its setting will be sustained 
protected and enhanced by: 
i. giving precedence to the protection of the OUV of 
the World Heritage Site and its setting 
ii. development not adversely affecting the OUV of 
the World Heritage Site, and its attributes of OUV. 
significance, authenticity or integrity, or its setting. 
This includes the physical fabric, character, 
appearance, setting or views into or out of the 
World Heritage Site 
iii. seeking opportunities to support and maintain 
sustain the positive management of the OUV of the 
World Heritage Site through development that 
delivers improved conservation, presentation and 
interpretation and reduces the negative impact of 
roads, traffic and visitor pressure 
iv. requiring developments to demonstrate that full 
account has been taken of their impact upon the 
OUV of the World Heritage Site and its setting. 
Proposals will need to demonstrate that the 
development will have no individual, cumulative or 
consequential adverse affect effect upon the site 
and its OUV. Consideration of opportunities for 
enhancing the World Heritage Site and sustaining 
its OUV should also be demonstrated. This will 
include proposals for climate change mitigation and 
renewable energy schemes. 
Targets: Progress towards objectives of the 
adopted WHS Management Plans. 
Monitoring and Review: WHS Co-ordinators. 
Delivery Responsibility: Wiltshire Council. 
 
(Inspector’s Note: 
Throughout the CS, especially in the supporting 
text to Core Policy 59, reference should be made 
consistently to the need to sustain the OUV of 
World Heritage Sites.) 

MM 31  43 Core Policy 
4  
 
 
 
 

… 
Small Villages:Allington, Berwick St James, 
Cholderton, Figheldean,/Ablington, Gomeldon/East 
Gomeldon/West Gomeldon … 
 
… 

Appendix 1

Page 171



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 143 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Paragraph 
5.18 
 

Over the plan period (2006 to 2026) 17 ha of new 
employment land and approximately at least 2,395 
2785 new homes will be provided. About 2,440 
2,100 should occur at Amesbury (including Bulford 
and Durrington) including land identified at Kings 
Gate, Amesbury for strategic growth. … 
 
… 
295 Approximately 345 homes will be provided in 
the rest of the community area. Non strategic 
development Growth in the Amesbury Community 
Area over the plan period may consist of a range of 
sites in accordance with Core Policies 1 and 2. … 
 
 
 
Additional text: 
The strategy will respond to the Community Area’s 
location (in full or part) within a nationally 
designated landscape. In the Amesbury Community 
Area this includes the Cranborne Chase & West 
Wiltshire Downs Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty. It will deliver, within the overall objective 
of conserving the designated landscape, a modest 
and sustainable level of development. 

MM 32   Core Policy 
5 
 

One specific issue in relation to which co-ordination 
is required is wildlife management. The Council will 
thus work with all relevant interests to produce an 
Integrated Business and Environmental Strategy 
(IBEMS) for the Porton Down SAC, SPA and SSSI 
and the non-designated areas of the site that will 
be adopted as a Supplementary Planning 
Document. The IBEMS will seek to balance the 
existing and future economic and scientific 
significance of the site with safeguarding important 
nature conservation interests, together with while 
enhancing biodiversity across the Porton Down site. 
In order to facilitate future development, the IBEMS 
will identify future proposed development, in 
generic terms, a broad timescale and high level 
assessment of impacts and demonstrate when this 
how these potentially adverse will take place, the 
broad impacts will be avoided of this development 
and how (if possible) these impacts can be 
mitigated. 
 
Proposals submitted in advance of the IBEMS being 
adopted as SPD, and stand alone projects not 
addressed in the IBEMS will likewise need to 
adequately demonstrate that either alone or in 
combination with other plans or projects, they do 
not have an adverse effect significant impact on the 
integrity of the Porton Down SPA, SAC or SSSI, or 

Appendix 1

Page 172



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 144 - 

that if they do adequate mitigation will be provided 
to ensure no adverse effect on site integrity. 
 
Targets: % habitat at Porton Down in favourable 
condition. Specific species monitoring. Percentage 
of planning applications granted on the Porton 
Down site which contribute to the objectives of the 
IBEMS (target 100%). 
Monitoring and Review: AMR, IBEMS when 
approved. 
Delivery Responsibility: Wiltshire Council, DSTL, 
HPA, PBTC, Natural England, species specific 
organisations e.g. RSPB, BTO, Plantlife, Butterfly 
Conservation. 
 

MM 33  46 Core Policy 
6 

Stonehenge 
The World Heritage Site and its setting will be 
protected so as to sustain its Outstanding Universal 
Value in accordance with Core Policy 59. 
 
New visitor facilities will be supported where they: 

i. return Stonehenge to a more respectful 
setting befitting its World Heritage Site 
status 

ii. include measures to mitigate the 
negative impacts of the roads 

iii. introduce a greatly enhanced visitor 
experience in a high quality visitor 
centre 

iv. implement an environmentally sensitive 
method of managing visitors to and 
from Stonehenge  

v. include a tourist information element, 
which highlights other attractions and 
facilities on offer in the surrounding area 
and raises the profile of Wiltshire. 

Targets: Successful implementation of a new 
scheme by the London Olympics in 2012. 
Monitoring and Review: AMR. 
Delivery Responsibility: English Heritage, 
National Trust, Wiltshire Council and partners. 
 

MM 34  50 Core Policy 
7 
(3rd 
paragraph 
onwards) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

… 
Over the plan period (2006-2026) 2 to 3 ha of new 
employment land (in addition to that already 
delivered or committed at April 2011) will be 
provided and at least  670 approximately 780 new 
homes will be provided. 510 About 510 595 
dwellings should occur at Bradford on Avon, 
including land identified to the east of Bradford on 
Avon on land at Kingston Farm for strategic growth. 
… 
 

Appendix 1

Page 173



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 145 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Paragraph 
5.35 

… 
160 Approximately 185 homes will be provided in 
the rest of the community area. Non strategic 
developmentGrowth in the Bradford on Avon 
Community Area over the plan period may consist 
of a range of sites in accordance with Core Policies 
1 and 2. 
 
Development proposals in the Bradford on Avon 
Community Area will need to demonstrate how the 
relevant those issues and considerations listed in 
paragraph 5.36 will be addressed 
 
 
 
Additional text: 
The strategy will respond to the Community Area’s 
location (in full or part) within a nationally 
designated landscape. In the Bradford on Avon 
Community Area this includes the Cotswolds Area 
of Outstanding Natural Beauty. It will deliver, within 
the overall objective of conserving the designated 
landscape, a modest and sustainable level of 
development. 

MM 35  57 Paragraph 
5.48 4th 
bullet 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Additional 
bullet 

… securing expansion to Chippenham’s town centre 
by providing additional convenience floorspace of 
703sq m net by 2015 rising to 1338 sq m net by 
2020 and an additional 3181 sq m net comparison 
floorspace rising to 7975 sq m net by 2020 to 
include and improved retail offer through 
redevelopment of the Bath Road Car Park/ Bridge 
Centre which is a priority along with redevelopment 
of other smaller town centre brownfield sites. 
 
A more detailed Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 
(Level 2) is needed to provide a robust 
understanding of flood risk and inform decisions 
about the town’s growth and appropriate selection 
of sites for development. Such work should 
consider all aspects of flood risk and, where 
practicable, the scope of the assessment should be 
agreed with the Council and the Environment 
Agency 
 

MM 36  56 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
5.47 
 
 
 
 
 

The Strategy for the Chippenham Community 
Area 
 
The strategy for Chippenham is based on delivering 
significant job growth, which will help to improve 
the self-containment of the town by providing more 
jobs for local people. To ensure employment is 
accessible to the local population a sustainable 
distribution and choice of employment sites will be 

Appendix 1

Page 174



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 146 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
and new 
Para 5.47 a 
 
 
 
5.53 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
New paras 
5.54a 
5.54b and 
5.54c 
 
 

provided at the town. They will form part of mixed 
use urban extensions, incorporating housing, that 
are well integrated with the town. Currently, the 
limited opportunities for the redevelopment of 
brownfield sites in Chippenham means that it is 
necessary to identify greenfield sites on the edge of 
town. Proposed strategic and employment 
allocations to the south of Chippenham are to 
support the spatial strategy of Chippenham but are 
located within the Corsham Community Area. The 
strategy will respond to the Community Area’s 
location (in full or part) within a national designated 
landscape. In Chippenham Community Area this 
includes the Cotswold Area of Outstanding National 
Beauty. It will deliver, within the overall objective 
of conserving the designated landscape, a modest 
and sustainable level of development. 
 
Strategically important mixed use sites for the 
town’s expansion will be identified in a Chippenham 
Site Allocations Development Plan Document. 
 
 
The council is working with developers to ensure 
viable and comprehensive site solutions are 
delivered, which will secure investment in 
Chippenham. The nature of development to come 
forward on these sites will be determined in 
accordance with the key principles set out below 
and Core Policy 9. A Chippenham Central Area 
Master Plan will be developed to provide a more 
detailed framework for the delivery of alternative 
additional regeneration opportunity sites. If 
appropriate, this will be adopted as a 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) or via an 
alternative planning mechanism.  
Specific development proposals arising from the 
Chippenham Central Area Masterplan will be 
included in the scope of the proposed Chippenham 
Site Allocations DPD 
 
Strategic Approach to New Development in 
Chippenham 
 
Core Policy 10 identifies a need to identify at least a 
further 2625 dwellings (once existing completions 
and commitments have been taken into account) 
and 26.5151ha of land for employment development 
on land adjoining the built up area.  The 
Chippenham Site Allocation DPD will identify mixed 

                                       
151 Showell Farm employment site, Chippenham is not included as a site with planning 
permission 

Appendix 1

Page 175



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 147 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Core Policy 
10 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

use land opportunities necessary to deliver at least 
this scale of growth.  In this context there are a 
number of strategic areas where large mixed use 
sites could be located and directions for growth are 
shown diagrammatically below: 
 
(Insert indicative diagram with broad strategic 
areas for growth - see Appendix C of EXAM/90) 
 
These broad ‘strategic areas’ for growth are 
indicated by barriers such as main roads, rivers and 
the main railway line.  The A350 may be considered 
as one such barrier to development. The 
Chippenham Site Allocations DPD will assess how 
each of these areas performs against criteria 
contained in Core Policy 10. 
 
These criteria address relevant issues identified in 
paragraph 5.48.  The DPD will identify a strategic 
site or sites and, applying these criteria and all 
other policies of the Plan, will focus first on the area 
that is best able to deliver growth.  Preparation of 
the DPD will assess the viability and capacity to 
deliver infrastructure necessary to serve the needs 
created by new development and where possible 
contribute (cumulatively with other developments) 
to solving  strategic infrastructure problems facing 
the Town. Areas will be considered sequentially on 
a similar basis and by these means the growth of 
Chippenham can be best directed to support the 
town’s economic growth, resilience and quality of 
its environment. 
 
The Spatial Strategy: Chippenham Community 
Area 
 
Development in the Chippenham Community Area 
should be in accordance with the Settlement 
Strategy set out in Core Policy 1. 
Principal Settlements: Chippenham 
Large Villages:Christian Malford, Hullavington, 
Kington St Michael, Sutton Benger and Yatton 
Keynell.  
Small Villages:Biddestone, Burton, Grittleton, 
Kington Langley, Langley Burrell, Lower Stanton St 
Qunitin, Nettleton, Stanton St Quintin and Upper 
Seagry. 
 
The following Principal Employment Areas will be 
supported in accordance with Core Policy 35: 
Bumpers Farm Industrial Estate, Methuen Park and 
Parsonage Way Industrial estate. 
 

Appendix 1

Page 176



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 148 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Over the plan period (2006 to 2026), 26.5 ha of 
new employment land (in addition to that already 
provided or committed at April 2011)6 and at least 
4,500 approximately 5,090 new homes will be 
provided. At least 4,000 4,510 dwellings should 
occur at Chippenham., including the following land 
identified for strategic growth.  
 
North Chippenham 2.5 ha employment 750 
dwellings  
Rawlings Green Chippenham, 6 ha employment 700 
dwellings South West Chippenham 18 ha 
employment 800 dwellings Land South West of 
Abbeyfield School (Landers Field), Chippenham 1 
ha employment, 100-150 dwellings  
 
The strategic allocations will be brought forward 
through a master planning process agreed between 
involving the community, local planning authority, 
and the developer and others which meet any 
requirements as set out in the Development 
Templates shown by Appendix A.  
 
Allocations at Chippenham will be identified in the 
Chippenham Site Allocations Development Plan 
Document (DPD) and will accommodate 
approximately 26.5ha of land for employment and 
at least 2,625 new homes. The DPD will set out a 
range of facilities and infrastructure necessary to 
support growth. Areas for growth and site 
allocations within the DPD will be guided by the 
following criteria:  

i. The scope for the area to ensure the 
delivery of premises and/or land for 
employment development reflecting the 
priority to support local economic growth 
and settlement resilience  

ii. The capacity to provide a mix of house 
types, for both market and affordable 
housing alongside the timely delivery of 
the facilities and infrastructure necessary 
to serve them;  

iii. Offers wider transport benefits for the 
existing community, has safe and 
convenient access to the local and 
primary road network and is capable of 
redressing transport impacts, including 
those affecting the attractiveness of the 
town centre  

iv. Improves accessibility by alternatives to 
the private car to the town centre, railway 
station, schools and colleges and 
employment  

Appendix 1

Page 177



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 149 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

v. Has an acceptable landscape impact upon 
the countryside and the settings to 
Chippenham and surrounding 
settlements, improves biodiversity and 
access and enjoyment to the countryside  

vi. Avoids all areas of flood risk (therefore 
within zone 1) and surface water 
management reduces the risk of flooding 
elsewhere 

Sites that do come forward should be the subject of 
a partnership between the private and public sector 
based on frontloading with a master plan to be 
approved by the Local Planning Authority as part of 
the planning application process. This master plan 
will guide the private sector led delivery of the site.  
 
North Chippenham  
Rawlings Green, Chippenham  
South West Chippenham  
Land South West of Abbeyfield School (Landers 
Field), Chippenham  
2.5 ha employment  
6 ha employment  
18 ha employment  
1 ha employment750 dwellings  
700 dwellings  
800 dwellings  
100-150 dwellings 
 
500 Approximately 580 homes will be provided in 
the rest of the community area over the plan 
period. 
  
Development proposals in the Chippenham 
Community Area will need to demonstrate how the 
relevant issues and considerations listed in 
paragraphs 5.48 and 5.54 will be addressed 
 
Table 5.4 Delivery of housing 2006-2026 – 
Chippenham Community Area 
 
Area Requir

ement 
2006-
26 

Housing 
already 
provided for 

Housing to be 
identified 

  Compl
etions 
2006-
14 

Specifi
c 
permit
ted 
sites 

Strate
gic 
sites 

Remai
nder 
to be 
identif
ied 

Chipp
enha
m 

4510 1020 815 2400* 275 

Appendix 1

Page 178



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 150 - 

 
 
240 - 
252 
 

 
 
Templates 
Appendix  
 
 

Town 
Comm
unity 
Area 

580 180 99 0 302 

Comm
unity 
area 
Total 

5090 1199 914 2400* 576 

 
 
[Delete Chippenham templates] 
 
 
 

MM 37  88 Core Policy 
11 
Paras 2 and 
4, 5  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

… 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026), 6 ha of new 
employment land (in addition to that delivered or 
committed at April 2011) will be provided including: 
… 
 
… 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026), at least 1,200 
approximately 1395 new homes will be provided, of 
which 1,240 about 1,220 should occur at Corsham.  
Approximately 140 175 homes will be provided in 
the rest of the community area. There will be no 
strategic housing sites allocated in Corsham. Non-
strategic development Growth in the Corsham 
Community Area over the plan period may consist 
of a range of sites in accordance with Core Policies 
1 and 2. 
 
Development proposals in the Corsham Community 
Area will need to demonstrate how the relevant 
those issues and considerations listed in paragraph 
5.59 will be addressed. 
… 
 
 

MM 38  66 Para 5.59 
bullet 4 & 
11 

• there are opportunities for some additional 
comparison retail in Corsham to help to more 
effectively meet the needs of local residents 
and help reduce trips by car to other 
destinations. However, there is no scope for 
any additional convenience retail provision in 
the town, should focus on qualitative 
improvements and will only be appropriate if 
a suitably located site is available 

… 
• all development will  be planned and 

delivered in accordance with Wiltshire Council 
guidance to maintain the integrity of the Bath 

Appendix 1

Page 179



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 151 - 

and Bradford-on-Avon Bats Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC). having particular regard 
to the Wiltshire Bats SAC Guidance. 

 
Additional text: 
The strategy will respond to the Community Area’s 
location (in full or part) within a nationally 
designated landscape. In the Corsham Community 
Area this includes the Cotswolds Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty. It will deliver, within 
the overall objective of conserving the designated 
landscape, a modest and sustainable level of 
development. 

MM 39  55 Core Policy 
8 
 

… 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026), at least 1,380 
approximately1,605 new homes will be provided, of 
which 1,240 about 1,440 should occur at Calne and 
140 approximately 165 homes will be provided in 
the rest of the community area.  There will be no 
strategic housing sites allocated in Calne. Non-
strategic development. Growth in the Calne 
Community Area over the plan period may consist 
of a range of sites in accordance with Core Policies 
1 and 2. 
 
Over the plan period, 6 hectares of employment will 
be provided, including: 
 
Land East of 
Beversbrook Farm 
and 
Porte Marsh 
Industrial 
Estate 

Saved North 
Wiltshire 
District Plan 
Allocation 

3.2 
hectares 

 
Development proposals in the Calne Community 
Area will need to demonstrate how those the 
relevant issues and considerations listed in 
paragraph 5.42 will be addressed. 
 
Targets: See housing and employment numbers 
above; Reduction in local unemployment figures. 
Monitoring and Review: AMR housing 
completions, NOMIS official labour market 
statistics. 
Delivery Responsibility: Wiltshire Council, 
developers. 
 

MM 40  52 
 
 
 
 

Para 5.41 
 
 
 
 

The strategy for Calne will help to maintain the 
economic base in the town with mixed growth of 
employment alongside housing, thus improving the 
self-containment of the settlement. The strategy 
will respond to the Community Area’s location (in 

Appendix 1

Page 180



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 152 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
53 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Para 5.42 

full or part) within a national designated landscape. 
In Calne Community Area this includes the North 
Wessex Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. 
It will deliver, within the overall objective of 
conserving the designated landscape, a modest and 
sustainable level of development. 
 
Additional bullet point: 
 
an AQMA has been declared in the town and there 
are local concerns that development sites will 
exceed the mandatory limits set by European 
Directive 2008/50. Measures to improve air quality 
in Calne must be considered. 
 

MM 41  69 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Para 5.64 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Add to paragraph: 
The strategy will respond to the Community Area’s 
location (in full or part) within a nationally 
designated landscape. In the Devizes Community 
Area this includes the North Wessex Downs Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty. It will deliver, within 
the overall objective of conserving the designated 
landscape, a modest and sustainable level of 
development. 
 

MM 42  73 Core Policy 
12 

Large Villages: Bromham, Great Cheverell, 
Potterne, Rowde, Urchfont, West 
Lavington/Littleton Pannell and Worton 
Small Villages: All Cannings, Bishop Cannings, 
Easterton, Erlestoke, Great Cheverell 
Etchilihampton and Marston. 
 
The following Principal Employment Areas will be 
supported in accordance with Core Policy 35: Banda 
Trading Estate, Folly Road, Hopton Industrial 
Estate, Hopton Park, Le Marchant Barracks, Mill 
Road, Nursteed Industrial Estate and Police 
Headquarters. 
 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026) 9.9 ha of new 
employment land (in addition to that delivered or 
committed at April 2011) will be provided including: 
… 
 
 
… 
The strategic employment allocation will be brought 
forward through a master planning process agreed 
between the community, local planning authority 
and the developer and should be in accordance with 
the Development Templates shown by Appendix A. 
 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026) approximately 

Appendix 1

Page 181



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 153 - 

2500, at least 2,150 new homes will be provided of 
which about 2010 1,730 should occur at Devizes. 
Approximately 49020 homes will be provided in the 
rest of the community area. Growth in the Devizes 
Community Area may consist of a range of sites in 
accordance with Core Policies 1 and 2. If required, 
non strategic sites within the community area will 
be identified through either a neighbourhood plan 
or a site allocation Development Plan Document 
(DPD). 
 
Development proposals in the Devizes Community 
Area will need to demonstrate how those the 
relevant issues and considerations listed in 
paragraph 5.65 will be addressed. 
 
Targets: See housing and employment numbers 
above, reduction in local unemployment figures. 
Monitoring and Review: AMR housing 
completions, NOMIS official labour market 
statistics. 
Delivery Responsibility: Wiltshire Council, 
developers. 
 

MM 43  75 Para 5.69 Additional text 
….. The strategy will respond to the Community 
Area’s location (in full or part) within a nationally 
designated landscape. In the Malmesbury 
Community Area this includes the Cotswolds Area 
of Outstanding Natural Beauty. It will deliver, within 
the overall objective of conserving the designated 
landscape, a modest and sustainable level of 
development. 
 

MM 44  78 Core Policy 
13 
 

Over the plan period (2006 to 2026) 5ha of new 
employment land (in addition to that delivered or 
committed at April 2011) will be provided including; 
…. 
 
…. 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026), approximately 
at least 1,200 1,395 new homes will be provided of 
which about 760  885 should occur at Malmesbury. 
Approximately 510 440 homes will be provided in 
the rest of the community area. There will be no 
strategic housing sites allocated in Malmesbury. 
Non-strategic development Growth in the 
Malmesbury Community Area over the plan period 
may consist of a range of sites in accordance with 
Core Policies 1 and 2. 
 
Development proposals in the Malmesbury 
Community Area will need to demonstrate how the 

Appendix 1

Page 182



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 154 - 

relevant those issues and considerations listed in 
paragraph 5.70 will be addressed. 
 

MM 45  83 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
80 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
81 

Core Policy 
14 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Para 5.74 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Para 5.75 

… 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026) 3 ha of new 
employment land (in addition to that delivered or 
committed at April 2011) 
 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026), at least 850 
approximately 920 new homes will be provided of 
which about 610 680 should occur at Marlborough, 
including land identified to the west of Salisbury 
Road for strategic growth. 
 
Approximately 240 homes will be provided in the 
rest of the community area. Non-strategic 
development Growth in the Marlborough 
Community Area over the plan period may consist 
of a range of sites in accordance with Core Policies 
1 and 2. 
 
Development proposals in the Marlborough 
Community Area will need to demonstrate how the 
relevant those issues and considerations listed in 
paragraph 5.75 will be addressed 
 
Deleted: Targets: See housing and employment 
numbers above, reduction in local unemployment 
figures.¶ 
Monitoring and Review: AMR housing 
completions, NOMIS official labour market 
statistics. ¶ 
Delivery Responsibility: Wiltshire Council, 
developers.Wiltshire Council, developers and town 
and parish councils through community-led 
planning processes such as neighbourhood 
planning. 
 
 
Additional text 
… 
The strategy will respond to the Community Area’s 
location (in full or part) within a nationally 
designated landscape. In the Marlborough 
Community Area this includes the North Wessex 
Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. It will 
deliver, within the overall objective of conserving 
the designated landscape, a modest and 
sustainable level of development. 
 
 
… 
the outstanding universal value of the World 

Appendix 1

Page 183



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 155 - 

Bullet 8 
 

Heritage Site will be protected from inappropriate 
development both within the Site and in its setting 
so as to sustain its OUV in accordance with Core 
Policy 59 
… 
 

MM 46  88 
 

Core Policy 
15 

Spatial Strategy: Melksham Community Area 
 
Development in the Melksham Community Area 
should be in accordance with the Settlement 
Strategy set out in Core Policy 1. 
Market Towns: Melksham and Bowerhill village 
Large Villages: Atworth, Seend, Semington, Shaw / 
Whitley and Steeple Ashton. 
Small Villages: Beanacre, Berryfield, Broughton 
Gifford, Bulkington, Great Hinton, Keevil, Poulshot 
and Seend Cleeve. 
 
 

MM 47  88 Core Policy 
15 

… 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026), 6 ha of new 
employment land (in addition to that delivered or 
committed at April 2011) will be provided, 
including: 
 
Hampton 
Business 
Park 

Saved West 
Wiltshire District 
Plan Allocation 

Up to 6 
hectares 

 
Over the plan period at least 2,040 approximately 
2,370 new homes will be provided of which 1,930 
about 2240 should occur at Melksham. 110.  
Approximately 130 homes will be provided in the 
rest of the community area. There will be no 
strategic housing sites allocated within. Growth in 
the Melksham Community Area. Non-strategic 
development in the Melksham Community Area 
over the plan period may consist of a range of sites 
in accordance with Core Policies 1 and 2. 
 
Development proposals in the Melksham 
Community Area will need to demonstrate how 
those the relevant issues and considerations listed 
in paragraph 5.80 will be addressed. 
 

MM 48  94 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Core Policy 
17 
 
 
 
 
 
 

… 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026) 3 ha of new 
employment land (in addition to that delivered or 
committed at April 2011) will be provided including: 
… 
 
… 
There are no Principal Employment Areas in the 

Appendix 1

Page 184



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 156 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
91 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Para 5.86 
 
 
 
 
 

Mere Community Area  
 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026), at least 250 
approximately 285 new homes will be provided, of 
which about 235 200 should occur at Mere and 
approximately 50 homes will be provided in the rest 
of the community area. There will be no strategic 
housing sites allocated in the Mere Community 
Area. Non-strategic development Growth in the 
Mere Community Area over the plan period may 
consist of a range of sites in accordance with Core 
Policies 1 and 2. 
 
Development proposals in the Mere Community 
Area will need to demonstrate how the relevant 
those issues and considerations listed in paragraph 
5.87 will be addressed. 
 
The strategy will respond to the Community Area’s 
location (in full or part) within a nationally 
designated landscape. In the Mere Community Area 
this includes the Cranborne Chase & West Wiltshire 
Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. It will 
deliver, within the overall objective of conserving 
the designated landscape, a modest and 
sustainable level of development. 
 

MM 49  108 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
106 

Core Policy 
20 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Para 5.109 

… 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026), 29 ha 
employment land and at least approximately 6060 
new homes will be provided within the Community 
Area, which should occur either within Salisbury or 
the town of Wilton, including land identified for 
strategic growth as described below:  
 
Non-strategic development Growth in the Salisbury 
Community Area over the plan period may consist 
of a range of sites in accordance with Core Policies 
1 and 2.  
 
Additional bullet point 
… 
transport solutions will be delivered in accordance 
with the evolving Salisbury Transport Strategy, and 
will support growth as concluded through the 
Options Assessment Report, based on the radical 
option identified which would best enable Salisbury 
to meet the challenges of addressing future growth 
in travel demand in a sustainable manner. 
 

MM 50   Appendix A 
Salisbury 
Developme

Update Development Templates to refer to 
Salisbury Transport Strategy 

Appendix 1

Page 185



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 157 - 

nt 
Templates 

MM 51  106 Para 5.109 Amend 7th bullet point 
 
development in the vicinity of the River Avon 
(Hampshire) must protect the habitats, species and 
processes which maintain incorporate appropriate 
measures to ensure that it will not adversely affect 
the integrity of the Special Area of Conservation 
those Natura 2000 sites. 
 

MM 52  98 Core Policy 
18 
 

… 
Over the plan period 2006 to 2026 2 ha of new 
employment land (in addition to that delivered or 
committed at April 2011) will be provided including;  
 
Land at Marlborough Road, Pewsey Saved Kennet 
Local Plan Allocation 1.66 ha 
 
At least Approximately 600 new homes will be 
provided in the community area. There will be no 
strategic housing or employment sites allocated in 
the Pewsey Community Area. Non-strategic 
development Growth in the Pewsey Community 
Area over the plan period may consist of a range of 
sites in accordance with Core Policies 1 and 2. 
 
Development proposals in the Pewsey Community 
Area will need to demonstrate how the relevant 
those issues and considerations listed in paragraph 
5.92 will be addressed. 
 

MM 53  95 Para 5.91 Additional text: 
… 
The strategy will respond to the Community Area’s 
location (in full or part) within a nationally 
designated landscape. In the Pewsey Community 
Area this includes the North Wessex Downs Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty. It will deliver, within 
the overall objective of conserving the designated 
landscape, a modest and sustainable level of 
development. 
 

MM 54  95 Para 5.92 
Bullet 
points 4 
and 5 

development in the vicinity of the River Avon 
(Hampshire) or Salisbury Plain Special Areas of 
Conservation must protect the habitats, species and 
processes which maintain the integrity of these 
Special Areas of Conservation incorporate 
appropriate measures to ensure that it will not 
adversely affect the integrity of those Natura 2000 
sites  
 
development which increases with the potential to 

Appendix 1

Page 186



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 158 - 

increase recreational pressure upon the Salisbury 
Plain Special Protection Area will not be permitted 
unless proportionate contributions are made to 
offset impacts through the Wessex Stone Curlew 
Project towards the maintenance of the Stone 
Curlew Management Strategy which is designed to 
avoid adverse effects upon the integrity of the 
stone curlew population as a designated feature of 
the SPA 

MM 55  103 Core Policy 
19 
 

… 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026) 5ha of new 
employment land (in addition to that delivered or 
committed at April 2011) will be provided including;  
 
Land to the West of Templars Way Saved North 
Wiltshire District Plan Allocation 3.7 ha 
Brickworks, Purton Saved North Wiltshire District 
Plan Allocation 1.0 ha remaining 
 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026), at least 1,250 
approximately 1,455 new homes will be provided of 
which about 920 1070 should occur at Royal 
Wootton Bassett. Approximately 330 385 homes 
will be provided in the rest of the community area. 
There will be no strategic housing sites allocated in 
Royal Wootton Bassett or Cricklade. Non-strategic 
development Growth in the Royal Wootton Bassett 
and Cricklade Community Area over the plan period 
may consist of a range of sites in accordance with 
Core Policies 1 and 2. 
 
Development proposals in the Royal Wootton 
Bassett and Cricklade Community Area will need to 
demonstrate how the relevant those issues and 
considerations listed in paragraph 5.99 will be 
addressed. 
 

MM 56  99 Para 5.98 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Para 5.99 
bullet point 
4 

Additional text: 
… 
The strategy will respond to the Community Area’s 
location (in full or part) within a nationally 
designated landscape. In the Royal Wootton Bassett 
and Cricklade Community Area this includes the 
North Wessex Downs Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty.It will deliver, within the overall objective of 
conserving the designated landscape, a modest and 
sustainable level of development. 
 
 
Royal Wootton Bassett currently loses mMain food 
shopping trips to neighbouring towns. from Royal 
Wootton Bassett are currently lost to neighbouring 
towns, including Calne and so the development of 

Appendix 1

Page 187



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 159 - 

Although there is no quantitative need for 
additional convenience retail in the town additional 
floorspace may be appropriate if a suitable site is 
identified. This would to address qualitative need 
and improve the retention of convenience trade in 
the town if a suitable site is identified and its 
overall vitality  
There is limited capacity for up to 400 sqm of 
comparison retail in the town. 
 

MM 57  119 Core Policy  
24 
 
 

…. 
Winterbourne, Laverstock and Ford, Lopcombe 
Corner… 
… 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026) at least 555 
Approximately 615 new homes will be provided of 
which 190 should occur at Downton. About 365 425 
homes will be provided in the rest of the 
community area. There will be no strategic housing 
sites allocated within the Southern Wiltshire 
Community Area. Non-strategic development 
Growth in the Southern Wiltshire Community Area 
over the plan period may consist of a range of sites 
in accordance with Core Policies 1 and 2. 
 
Development proposals in the Southern Wiltshire 
Community Area will need to demonstrate how the 
relevant those issues and considerations listed in 
paragraph 5.126 will be addressed. 
 

MM 58  116 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
117 

Para 5.125 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Para 5.126 

Additional text: 
 
The strategy will respond to the Community Area’s 
location (in full or part) within a nationally 
designated landscape. In the Southern Wiltshire 
Community Area this includes the Cranborne Chase 
& West Wiltshire Downs Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty. It will deliver, within the overall 
objective of conserving the designated landscape, a 
modest and sustainable level of development. 
 
 
• the New Forest National Park is an important 

resource and so protecting the natural 
environment is a priority. The Core Strategy sets 
a policy framework to prevent detrimental 
impacts on the park from neighbouring 
development control development in 
neighbouring areas to the park from having a 
detrimental impact, and where such d. 
Development that would increase recreational 
pressures must not adversely affect upon the 
Natura 2000 designations of the New Forest, and 

Appendix 1

Page 188



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 160 - 

must contribute to mitigation will be required 
through the implementation of the Recreation 
Management Strategy. Development within the 
park area will be subject to a separate core 
strategy as described above  

• ongoing protection and enhancement of the 
Stone Curlew and calcareous grassland habitat 
at Porton Down must be secured through the 
implementation of an Integrated Business and 
EcologicalEnvironmental Management 
Strategyystem, to effectively mitigate avoid 
potentially adverse impacts of from further 
development at the site maintaining the integrity 
of the Natura 2000 designations 

• development in the vicinity of the River Avon 
(Hampshire) must protect the habitats, species 
and processes which maintain incorporate 
appropriate measures to ensure that it will not 
adversely affect the integrity of this Special Area 
of Conservation 

• Development within the community area will 
need to conserve the designated landscape of 
the Cranborne Chase and West Wiltshire Downs 
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and its 
setting, and where possible enhance its locally 
distinctive characteristics will need to give 
particular attention to the preservation of the 
character and scenic quality of the environment. 
Where proposals come forward emphasis will be 
placed on their scale, location, siting, design, 
materials and landscaping. Where possible, 
proposals should aid the delivery of the AONB 
Management Plan. Development within and 
adjoining the AONB should have regard to the 
AONB Landscape Character and Historic 
Landscape Character Assessments. 

 
MM 59  124 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Core Policy 
26 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Over the plan period (2006 to 2026) 12ha of new 
employment land (in addition to that delivered or 
committed at April 2011) will be provided including: 
… 
 
… 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026), at least 1,900  
approximately 1, 920 new homes will be provided 
of which  about 1,750 should occur at Tidworth and 
Ludgershall, including land identified at Drummond 
Park (MSA Depot) Ludgershall for strategic growth. 
Drummond Park (MSA) Depot   475 dwellings 
The strategic allocation will be brought forward 
through a master planning process agreed between 
the community, local planning authority and the 
developer and should be in accordance with the 

Appendix 1

Page 189



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 161 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
121 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Para 5.136 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

development template shown by Appendix A. and 
approximately Approximately 170 homes will be 
provided in the rest of the Community Area Non 
strategic development Growth in the Tidworth 
Community Area over the plan period may consist 
of a range of sites in accordance with Core Policies 
1 and 2.  
 
Development proposals in the Tidworth Community 
Area will need to demonstrate how the relevant 
those issues and considerations listed in paragraph 
5.137 will be addressed. 
 
Additional text 
… 
The strategy will respond to the Community Area’s 
location (in full or part) within a nationally 
designated landscape. In the Tidworth Community 
Area this includes the North Wessex Downs Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty. It will deliver, within 
the overall objective of conserving the designated 
landscape, a modest and sustainable level of 
development. 
 

MM 60  129 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
126 

Core Policy 
27 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Para 5.142 
 
 

… 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026) 1.4 ha of new 
employment land (in addition to that delivered or 
committed at April 2011) will be provided, 
including:  
 
Hindon Lane, Tisbury       Saved Salisbury District 
Plan allocation     1.4 ha employment  
 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026), at least 
approximately 420 new homes will be provided, of 
which about 200 should occur at Tisbury and 
approximately 220 200 homes will be provided in 
the rest of the community area. There will be no 
strategic housing sites allocated in the Tisbury 
Community Area. Non-strategic development 
Growth in the Tisbury Community Area over the 
plan period may consist of a range of sites in 
accordance with Core Policies 1 and 2.  
 
Development proposals in the Tisbury Community 
Area will need to demonstrate how those the 
relevant issues and considerations listed in 
paragraph 5.143 will be addressed. 
 
 
Additional text: 
… 
The strategy will respond to the Community Area’s 

Appendix 1

Page 190



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 162 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

location (in full or part) within a nationally 
designated landscape. In the Tisbury Community 
Area this includes the Cranborne Chase & West 
Wiltshire Downs Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty. It will deliver, within the overall objective 
of conserving the designated landscape, a modest 
and sustainable level of development. . 
 
 

MM 61  137 Core Policy 
28 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Para 5.147  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Core Policy 28 
Trowbridge Central Areas of Opportunity 
i. High quality and sustainable development 
designed to achieve a sustainable mix of land-uses 
will be permitted on the areas of opportunity sites 
(areas 9 to 17) identified in Figure 5.20 and in the 
Masterplan for Trowbridge Town Centre Master Plan 
providing that pProposals for development on the 
Masterplan opportunity sites should fully reflect 
those uses set out within the Master Plan and 
complement existing and committed land-uses as 
well as  contribute to the wider vision for the town 
centre as set out in the Masterplan. 
ii. Proposals should meet high quality design and 
sustainability standards including exemplary public 
realm and strong pedestrian and sustainable travel 
linkages as set out in the MasterpPlan. 
iii. Proposals for major development (357) must be 
designed with the ability to connect to the 
Trowbridge energy network. Where this is deemed 
not to be viable, the evidence for this should be 
fully demonstrated within the Sustainable Energy 
Strategy as set out by Core Policy 41. 
 
 
Amend 7th bullet point: 
The regeneration of Trowbridge central area is a 
priority that will need to be delivered over the life 
of the plan to support the development of the town 
as a whole. A Masterplan a master plan is being 
developed to consolidate to and deliver 
improvements to the central area of Trowbridge 
through regenerating key sites and the Wiltshire 
Core Strategy provides support for this work 
through Core Policy 28. The Master Plan 
Masterplan, amongst other things, provides details 
in relation to the delivery of delivers improvements 
to the rail station providing a new gateway to 
Trowbridge and improved public transport 
connectivity. The regeneration of centrally located 
vacant sites will improve the services and facilities 
the town needs and provide new employment uses. 
Sustainable and coherent regeneration of 
Trowbridge town centre is needed, to maximise the 

Appendix 1

Page 191



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 163 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Para 5.150 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 5.20 

potential of vacant sites, to improve pedestrian 
linkages and to enhance the quality of the public 
realm. The town centre is currently defined in the 
West Wiltshire District Local Plan – First Alteration 
and constitutes the “commercial area” (saved policy 
SP1). All town centre boundaries will be revisited, 
plus shopping frontages (and associated policies) 
through the Core Strategy Partial Review process. 
 
The Trowbridge Master Plan Masterplan for 
Trowbridge identifies 18 character areas (areas of 
opportunity) which are shown on the following map 
and are described in more detail below. Where it is 
clearly demonstrated, through an open book 
approach, and agreed by the local planning 
authority that the uses proposed in the Masterplan 
are not viable, alternative uses may be supported 
where they are consistent with the objective of 
securing a sustainable mix of uses for the 
Regeneration Area as a whole and would not be to 
the detriment of the delivery of other sites. 
 
 
To be updated as necessary 
 

MM 62  130 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
138 

Para 5.146 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Core Policy 
29 

It is important that Trowbridge grows to strengthen 
its principal service centre role and deliver 
improved infrastructure and facilities in the town. 
Sustainable growth with employment development 
alongside new housing is needed both within the 
central area of the town and in the form of an 
urban extension, which is fully integrated with the 
town centre. Further land will be identified in the 
Housing Site Allocations DPD.  It will look to 
accommodate housing needs toward the end of the 
plan period and beyond 2026 since further 
significant house building on greenfield sites, will 
only be able to commence if adequate education 
infrastructure exists, such as delivered on the 
Ashton Park urban extension. 
… 
 
Core Policy 29 
Development in the Trowbridge Community Area 
should be in accordance with the Settlement 
Strategy set out in Core Policy 1.  

Principal 
Settlements:  

Trowbridge 

Large 
Villages:  

Hilperton, North Bradley and 
Southwick. 

Appendix 1

Page 192



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 164 - 

Small 
Villages:  

West Ashton and Yarnbrook.  

 

The following Principal Employment Areas will be 
supported in accordance with Core Policy 35: Canal 
Road Industrial Estate, White Horse Business Park, 
West Ashton Road, Bryer Ash Business Park and 
Bradford Road.  

 

Over the plan period (2006 to 2026), 25 ha 
employment land (in addition to that delivered or 
committed at April 2011) and at least 
approximately 7,000 6000 new homes will be 
provided within the Community Area. of which 
5,860 dwellings should occur at Trowbridge. At 
Trowbridge approximately 5,860 dwellings will be 
delivered and will involve an area for strategic 
growth including land identified to the south east of 
Trowbridge the town (Ashton Park), which extends 
towards the A350 to the south and the railway line 
to the west for strategic growth.  An additional 950 
dwellings will then be developed at the town only 
once improved secondary school provision is in 
place toward the end of the plan period and there 
has been a further assessment of effects on 
protected bat species and their habitats to ensure 
they are properly safeguarded. of which 5,860 
dwellings should occur at Trowbridge, including land 
identified to the south east of Trowbridge, which 
extends towards the A350 to the south and the 
railway line to the west, for strategic growth 

West Ashton Road 
Saved West Wiltshire 
District Plan Allocation 
10 ha 

  

Ashton Park Urban 
Extension  

15 ha 
employment, 
2600 
dwellings  

2,600 
dwellings  

 

The strategic allocation will be brought forward 
through a master planning process agreed between 
the community, local planning authority and the 

Appendix 1

Page 193



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 165 - 

developer and should deliver any requirements as 
set out in the development templates as shown by 
Appendix A. Further land for housing development 
at Trowbridge will be identified in the Housing Site 
Allocations DPD. Greenfield housing sites in addition 
to the strategic sites will only be permitted once 
improved secondary school provision has been 
delivered as a result of the Ashton Park urban 
extension.  Any proposals which are likely to have 
an unavoidable adverse effect on a Natura 2000 
site will not be taken forward. 

At least Approximately 150 165 homes will be 
provided in the rest of the community area over the 
plan period. Non-strategic development Growth in 
the Trowbridge Community Area over the plan 
period may consist of a range of sites in accordance 
with Core Policies 1 and 2.  

Development proposals in the Trowbridge 
Community Area will need to demonstrate how the 
relevant those issues and considerations listed in 
paragraph 5.147 will be addressed. 
… 
 

MM 63  262 Appendix A 
Ashton 
Park, Key 
objectives 

To deliver a high quality, sustainable and mixed use 
urban extension providing 40% 30% affordable 
housing and a suitable mix of housing in line with 
Core Policies 45 and 46. 
 

MM 64  132 Paragraph 
5.147 

Additional last 3 bullet points 
 
A more detailed Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 
(Level 2) is needed to provide a robust 
understanding of flood risk and inform decisions 
about the town’s growth and appropriate selection 
of sites for development. Such work would consider 
all aspects of flood risk and, where practicable, the 
scope of the assessment should be agreed with the 
Council and Environment Agency.  
 
Development proposals should consider and seek to 
deliver appropriate measures to ensure that 
potentially harmful recreational pressures upon 
woodland sites to the south east of Trowbridge are 
avoided in the first instance and / or mitigated 
against.  
 
Woodland sites to the south east of Trowbridge 
support a breeding population of Bechstein bats, 
associated with Bath and Bradford on Avon Bats 

Appendix 1

Page 194



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 166 - 

SAC. All development will be required not to 
adversely affect this designation and to ensure that 
connectivity with the SAC is maintained, having 
particular regard to the Wiltshire Bats SAC 
Guidance 
 

MM 65  142 Paragraph 
5.154 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.155 

Additional text: 
… 
The strategy will respond to the Community Area’s 
location (in full or part) within a nationally 
designated landscape. In the Warminster 
Community Area this includes the Cranborne Chase 
and West Wiltshire Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty. It will deliver, within the overall objective 
of conserving the designated landscape, a modest 
and sustainable level of development.  
 
 
Amended and additional bullet points: 
 
Development in the vicinity of the River Avon 
(Hampshire) or Salisbury Plain must  incorporate 
appropriate measures to ensure that it will not 
adversely affect protect the habitats, species and 
processes which maintain the integrity of theose 
Special Areas of Conservation Natura 2000 sites 
 
A more detailed Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 
(Level 2) is needed to provide a robust 
understanding of flood risk and inform decisions 
about the town’s growth and appropriate selection 
of sites for development . The strategic allocation 
can be delivered in advance of the result of this 
assessment. Such work should consider all aspects 
of flood risk and, where practicable, the scope of 
the assessment should be agreed with the Council 
and Environment Agency. 
 
All development will be required to maintain the 
integrity of the Bath and Bradford Bats Special Area 
of Conservation (SAC), having particular regard to 
the Wiltshire Bats SAC Guidance  
 
A more detailed Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 
(Level 2) is needed to provide a robust 
understanding of flood risk and inform decisions 
about the town's growth and appropriate selection 
of sites for development. The strategic allocation 
can be delivered in advance of the result of this 
assessment. Such work should consider all aspects 
of flood risk and, where practicable, the scope of 
the assessment should be agreed with the Council 
and Environment Agency 

Appendix 1

Page 195



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 167 - 

 
 

MM 66  146 Core Policy 
31 
 

… 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026), 6 ha of new 
employment land (in addition to that already 
delivered or committed at April 2011) and at least 
1,770 approximately 2,060 new homes will be 
provided. Of these about 1,920 1,650 dwellings 
should occur at Warminster, including land 
identified to the west of Warminster, between the 
existing built form and the A350 for strategic 
growth.  
… 
 
… 
Approximately 140120 homes will be provided in 
the rest of the community area. Non-strategic 
development Growth in the Warminster Community 
Area over the plan period may consist of a range of 
sites in accordance with Core Policies 1 and 2. 
 
Development proposals in the Warminster 
Community Area will need to demonstrate how the 
relevant those issues and considerations listed in 
paragraph 5.155 will be addressed. 
 

MM 67  266 
267 

Appendix A Update Development Template 
 
Key Objectives: 
To deliver a high quality mixed use urban extension 
providing 30% 40% affordable housing and a 
suitable mix of housing in line with Core Policies 45 
and 46. 
Development that is integrated with the existing 
town … 
 
Physical Requirements (2nd bullet)  
Flood risk assessment required to ensure that 
development is not encroaching within Flood Zones 
2 or 3 and to inform the sequential test. A Surface 
Water Management Planning process 
 
Ecology (final bullet)  
Financial contributions towards the Stone Curlew 
Management Strategy designed to avoid adverse 
effects upon the integrity of the stone curlew 
population as a designated feature of the Salisbury 
Plain Special Protection Area Financial contributions 
towards the Stone Curlew conservation project 
required to offset recreational impacts upon the 
Salisbury Plain Special Protection Area 
 
Archaeology and Historical Interest (new bullet) 

Appendix 1

Page 196



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 168 - 

The master plan and detailed scheme design must 
have regard to the setting to Cley Hill Scheduled 
Ancient Monument 
 

MM 68  152 Core Policy 
32 
 

… 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026) 18.5ha of new 
employment land (in addition to that delivered or 
committed at April 2011) will be provided including; 
… 
 
… 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026), at least 1,390 
approximately 1,615 new homes will be provided, 
of which about 1,500 1,290 should occur at 
Westbury, including land identified at Station Road 
for strategic growth. … 
 
… 
Approximately 115 100 homes will be provided in 
the rest of the community area. Non-strategic 
development Growth in the Westbury Community 
Area over the plan period may consist of a range of 
sites in accordance with Core Policies 1 and 2. 
 
Development proposals in the Westbury Community 
Area will need to demonstrate how the relevant 
those issues and considerations listed in paragraph 
5.163 will be addressed. 
 

MM 69  272 Appendix A Update Development Template 
 
To deliver a high quality mixed use urban extension 
providing 40% 30% affordable housing and suitable 
mix of housing in line with Core Policies 45 and 46. 

MM 70  148 Paragraph 
5.163  
New bullet 
point 
 

 
• the strategic allocation at Station Road will be 

progressed in line with the principles of the 
development template set out in Appendix A.  If 
necessary and in order that the objectives of the 
Core Strategy are secured, this will be subject to 
early review and amendment through a formal 
planning process such as the Sites Allocation 
DPD 

 
MM 71  149 Paragraph 

5.163 
Amend 
bullet 
points 
 

 
• development in the vicinity of Salisbury Plain 

must protect the habitats, species and processes 
which maintain the integrity of the Special Area 
of Conservation, while development with 
potential to increase which recreational pressure 
upon the Salisbury Plain Special Protection Area 
will not be required to provide permitted unless 
proportionate contributions towards the  

Appendix 1

Page 197



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 169 - 

maintenance of the Stone Curlew Management 
Strategy designed to avoid adverse effects upon 
the integrity of the Stone Curlew population as a 
designed feature of the SPA are made to offset 
impacts through the Wessex Stone Curlew 
Project 

 
• all development will be required to maintain the 

integrity of the Bath and Bradford Bats Special 
Area of Conservation (SAC), having particular 
regard to the Wiltshire Bats SAC Guidance. 

 
MM 72  330 Appendix D Amend reference in section: 

 
West Wiltshire District Plan 1st Alteration – Adopted 
June 2004 
… 
T1a Westbury Bypass Package        Continue to 
save  Replaced by CP66 (Strategic Road Network) 
 

MM 73  157 Core Policy 
33 

… 
At least 220 Approximately 255 new homes will be 
provided in the community area. There will be no 
strategic housing or employment sites allocated in 
the Wilton Community Area. Non-strategic 
development  Growth in the Wilton Community 
Area over the plan period may consist of a range of 
sites in accordance with Core Policies 1 and 2. … 
 
Development proposals in the Wilton Community 
Area will need to demonstrate how the relevant 
those issues and considerations listed in paragraph 
5.171 will be addressed. 
 

MM 74  155 Paragraph 
5.171 
Final bullet 
 
 
 
 
 
Paragraph 
5.170 

… 
development in the vicinity of the River Avon 
(Hampshire) or Prerscombe Down must incorporate 
appropriate measures to ensure that it will not 
adversely affect protect the habitats, species and 
processes which maintain the integrity of theose 
Special Areas of Conservation.Natura 2000 sites. 
 
Additional text: 
The strategy will respond to the Community Area’s 
location (in full or part) within a nationally 
designated landscape. In the Wilton Community 
Area this includes the Cranborne Chase and West 
Wiltshire Downs AONB. It will deliver, within the 
overall objective of conserving the designated 
landscape, a modest and sustainable level of 
development. 
 

MM 75  220 Core Policy … 

Appendix 1

Page 198



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 170 - 

64 iv. smarter choices measures – appropriate smarter 
choices measures (e.g. travel plans, personalised 
travel planning, car sharing, and information and 
marketing campaigns) will be developed to 
influence people’s travel behaviour towards more 
sustainable travel options. 
 … 
 

MM 76  221 Core Policy 
65 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Paragraph 

Movement of Goods 
The council and its partners will seek to achieve a 
sustainable freight distribution system which makes 
the most efficient use of road, rail and water 
networks. In particular: 
 
i. developments which generate large volumes of 
freight traffic or involve the movement of bulk 
materials should make use of rail or water transport 
for freight movements wherever practical 
 
ii. where carriage of freight by rail and water is not 
realistic, encouragement will be given for Heavy 
Goods Vehicle (HGVs) traffic to use those roads 
where a minimum of community and environmental 
impacts will occur, principally the advisory freight 
network. Where problems caused by HGVs making 
unnecessary and undesirable use of routes are 
identified (other than on advisory freight routes), 
freight management measures will be considered 
the provision of intermodal and other rail freight 
terminals in suitable areas will be supported and 
land required for realistically deliverable proposals 
will be protected from inappropriate development 
 
iii. overnight lorry parking should be provided in the 
vicinity of the advisory freight network, either 
where demand can be demonstrated or to alleviate 
nuisance caused in local communities iv. the 
provision of intermodal and other rail freight 
terminals in suitable areas will be supported and 
land required for realistic proposals will be 
protected from inappropriate development, iv. 
where carriage of freight by rail and water is not 
realistic, encouragement will be given for Heavy 
Goods Vehicles (HGV’s) traffic to use those roads 
where a minimum of community and environmental 
impacts will occur, principally the advisory freight 
network. Where problems caused by HGVs making 
unnecessary and undesirable use of routes are 
identified (other than on advisory freight routes), 
freight management processes will be employed 
 
 
The way in which an efficient and flexible freight 

Appendix 1

Page 199



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 171 - 

6.163 
 
 
 
 

distribution system supports economic vibrancy and 
growth cannot be at the expense of local 
communities or the environment. The council 
recognises this and takes seriously the need to 
achieve a more sustainable distribution of freight 
that balances the needs of the economy, local 
communities and the environment. As part of this 
approach, realistic proposals (i.e. proposals where 
the need for intervention has been established and 
which are feasible, affordable, financially sound, 
and publicly acceptable) for intermodal and other 
rail freight terminals will be supported and 
protected from inappropriate development. Further 
details on the Council’s approach to freight 
management are contained in the Wiltshire Local 
Transport Plan 2011-2016 Freight Strategy. 
 

MM 77  223 Core Policy 
66 

Strategic Transport Network 
 
Work will be undertaken in conjunction with the 
Highways Agency, Network Rail, transport 
operators , neighbouring authorities and other 
agencies, that will seek to develop and improve the 
strategic transport network to support the 
objectives and policies in the core strategy and 
local transport plan. 
The strategic transport network is shown on the key 
diagram and includes: 
1) the national primary route network (including 
the strategic road network) 
2) the strategic advisory freight route network 
3) the rail network 
4) the strategic bus network 
 
In particular, the strategic transport network along 
the A350 corridor will be maintained, managed and 
selectively improved to assist employment support 
development growth at Chippenham, Melksham, 
Trowbridge, Westbury and Warminster. 
The following improvements to enhance the 
strategic network will be progressed. 
i. The A350 national primary route at 
Yarnbrook/West Ashton will be improved. The 
improvement works necessary will be identified 
through further study work including detailed bat 
survey information on Annex II species. The design 
and layout of any such improvements will ensure 
that important commuting routes for Annex II 
species are protected.  
 
ii. The development and/or improvement of the 
following railway stations will be promoted and 
encouraged. 

Appendix 1

Page 200



Wiltshire Core Strategy, Inspector’s Report December 2014 
 
 

- 172 - 

a. Corsham railway station. 
b. Melksham railway station. 
c. Royal Wootton Bassett railway station. 
d. Westbury rail station 
 
The land required for these and other realistic 
proposals on the strategic transport network which 
support the objectives and policies in the Core 
Strategy will be protected from inappropriate 
development. Other potential rail improvements will 
be considered in association with relevant partners. 
Any proposals which are likely to have an 
unavoidable adverse effect on a Natura 2000 site 
will not be taken forward. 
 

 

  

Appendix 1

Page 201



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 202



1 Introduction 1 
2 A spatial portrait of Wiltshire and the key challenges it faces 7 
3 The spatial vision for Wiltshire 12 
4 Delivering the vision – the spatial strategy for Wiltshire 19 
 Core Policy 1: Settlement Strategy 21 
 Core Policy 2: Delivery Strategy 28 
 Core Policy 3: Infrastructure Requirements 33 
5 Area Strategies 35 
 Amesbury Area Strategy 38 
 Core Policy 4: Spatial Strategy for the Amesbury Community Area 41 
 Core Policy 5: Porton Down 43 
 Core Policy 6: Stonehenge 44 
 Bradford on Avon Area Strategy 45 
 Core Policy 7: Spatial Strategy for the Bradford on Avon Community Area 47 
 Calne Area Strategy 49 
 Core Policy 8: Spatial Strategy for the Calne Community Area 51 
 Chippenham Area Strategy 52 
 Core Policy 9: Chippenham Central Areas of Opportunity 55 
 Core Policy 10: Spatial Strategy for the Chippenham Community Area 56 
 Corsham Area Strategy 58 
 Core Policy 11: Spatial Strategy for the Corsham Community Area 60 
 Devizes Area Strategy 62 
 Core Policy 12: Spatial Strategy for the Devizes Community Area 64 
 Malmesbury Area Strategy 66 
 Core Policy 13: Spatial Strategy for the Malmesbury Community Area 68 
 Marlborough Area Strategy 69 
 Core Policy 14: Spatial Strategy for the Marlborough Community Area 71 
 Melksham Area Strategy 73 
 Core Policy 15: Spatial Strategy for the Melksham Community Area 75 
 Core Policy 16: Melksham Link Project 76 
 Mere Area Strategy 77 
 Core Policy 17: Spatial Strategy for the Mere Community Area 78 
 Pewsey Area Strategy 80 
 Core Policy 18: Spatial Strategy for the Pewsey Community Area 81 
 Royal Wootton Basset and Cricklade Area Strategy 83 
 Core Policy 19: Spatial Strategy for the Royal Wootton Bassett and Cricklade 

Community Area 
85 

 Salisbury Area Strategy 87 
 Core Policy 20: Spatial Strategy for the Salisbury Community Area 89 
 Core Policy 21: The Maltings / Central Car Park 91 
 Core Policy 22: Salisbury Skyline 92 
 Southern Wiltshire Area Strategy 93 
 Core Policy 24: Spatial Strategy for the Southern Wiltshire Community Area 95 
 Core Policy 25: New Forest National Park 96 
 Core Policy 23: Old Sarum Airfield 97 
 Tidworth Area Strategy 98 
 Core Policy 26: Spatial Strategy for the Tidworth Community Area 100 
 Tisbury Area Strategy 102 
 Core Policy 27: Spatial Strategy for the Tisbury Community Area 103 
 Trowbridge Area Strategy 105 
 Core Policy 28: Trowbridge Central Areas of Opportunity 111 
 Core Policy 29: Spatial Strategy for the Trowbridge Community Area  111 
 Core Policy 30: Trowbridge Low-Carbon, Renewable Energy Network 113 

1 
 Page 203



 Warminster Area Strategy 114 
 Core Policy 31: Spatial Strategy for the Warminster Community Area 116 
 Westbury Area Strategy 118 
 Core Policy 32: Spatial Strategy for the Westbury Community Area 120 
 Wilton Area Strategy 122 
 Core Policy 33: Spatial Strategy for the Wilton Community Area 123 
6 Delivering the spatial objectives: Core Policies 125 
 Delivering strategic objective 1: delivering a thriving economy  126 
 Core Policy 34: Additional Employment Land 128 
 Core Policy 35: Existing Employment Land 130 
 Core Policy 36: Economic Regeneration 131 
 Core Policy 37: Military Establishments 132 
 Core Policy 38: Retail and Leisure 134 
 Core Policy 39: Tourist Development 135 
 Core Policy 40: Hotels, Bed & Breakfasts, Guest Houses and Conference 

Facilities 
136 

 Delivering strategic objective 2: to address climate change 138 
 Core Policy 41: Sustainable Construction and Low Carbon Energy 141 
 Core Policy 42: Standalone Renewable Energy Installations 142 
 Delivering strategic objective 3: to provide everyone with access to a decent, 

affordable home 
144 

 Core Policy 43: Providing Affordable Homes 145 
 Core Policy 44: Rural Exceptions Sites 147 
 Core Policy 45: Meeting Wiltshire’s Housing Needs 148 
 Core Policy 46: Meeting the Needs of Wiltshire’s Vulnerable and Older People 149 
 Core Policy 47: Meeting the Needs of Gypsies and Travellers 151 
 Delivering strategic objective 4: helping to build resilient communities 153 
 Core Policy 48: Supporting Rural Life 154 
 Core Policy 49: Protection of Services and Community Facilities 156 
 Delivering strategic objective 5: protecting and enhancing the natural, historic and 

built environment 
157 

 Core Policy 50: Biodiversity and Geodiversity 159 
 Core Policy 51: Landscape 162 
 Core Policy 52: Green Infrastructure 165 
 Core Policy 53: Wiltshire’s Canals 167 
 Core Policy 54: Cotswold Water Park 169 
 Core Policy 55: Air Quality 170 
 Core Policy 56: Contaminated Land 172 
 Core Policy 57: Ensuring High Quality Design and Place Shaping 174 
 Core Policy 58: Ensuring the Conservation of the Historic Environment 177 
 Core Policy 59: The Stonehenge, Avebury and Associated Sites World Heritage 

Site and its Setting 
179 

 Delivering strategic objective 6: to ensure that essential infrastructure is in place to 
support our communities 

181 

 Core Policy 60: Sustainable Transport 181 
 Core Policy 61: Transport and Development 182 
 Core Policy 62: Development Impacts on the Transport network 183 
 Core Policy 63: Transport Strategies 184 
 Core Policy 64: Demand Management 185 
 Core Policy 65: Movement of Goods 187 
 Core Policy 66: Strategic Transport Network 188 
 Core Policy 67: Flood Risk 190 
 Core Policy 68: Water Resources 191 

2 
 Page 204



 Core Policy 69: Protection of the River Avon SAC 193 
7 Monitoring and Review 194 
8 Glossary and Appendices 195 
   
 Appendices  
A Development Templates for Strategic Allocations 205 
 Land at Kingston Farm, Bradford on Avon 206 
 Land at Horton Road, Devizes 210 
 Land at Drummond Park (MSA) Depot, Ludgershall 213 
 Land at Salisbury Road, Marlborough 216 
 Ashton Park Urban Extension, South East of Trowbridge 220 
 West Warminster Urban Extension 224 
 Land at Mill Lane, Hawkeridge, Westbury 228 
 Land at Station Road, Westbury 231 
 Hampton Park, Salisbury 235 
 Fugglestone Red, Salisbury 239 
 Land at The Maltings and Central Car Park, Salisbury 244 
 Churchfields and the Engine Sheds, Salisbury 249 
 UK Land Forces Head Quarters, Wilton 254 
 Longhedge, Old Sarum, Salisbury 259 
 King’s Gate, Amesbury 263 
 Former Imerys Quarry, Salisbury 268 
B List of Topic Papers 272 
C Housing Trajectory 273 
D List of Saved and Replaced Policies  282 
E List of Settlement Boundaries Retained 319 
F List of Settlement Boundaries Removed 320 
G Principal Employment Areas 322 
H Policies Map 339 

 

 

 

 

3 
 Page 205



 

4 
 Page 206



1 Introduction 
 
A strategy focused on delivering stronger, more resilient communities 
 
1.1 The vision for Wiltshire is to create stronger, more resilient communities1. This is all 

about people and places, fostering a sense of community belonging and self-
sufficiency where communities can solve problems locally with the support of the 
public sector and partner bodies and organisations. The Wiltshire Core Strategy sets 
out a flexible and realistic framework within which local communities can work. The 
purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable 
development. The policies and proposals contained within this strategy, taken as a 
whole, constitute what sustainable development in Wiltshire means in practice for 
land use planning. 

 
1.2 The underpinning idea of the strategy is to strengthen communities, wherever 

possible, by maintaining and increasing the supply of jobs to ensure that Wiltshire 
remains strong and prosperous. The underlying principles of the strategy seek to 
manage future development to ensure that communities have an appropriate balance 
of jobs, services and facilities and homes. The strategy recognises that previous 
growth hasn’t always been delivered in a proportionate manner whereby housing is 
delivered in settlements where there are insufficient employment opportunities leading 
to out commuting. Perhaps the key message from our communities during the 
preparation of this document was that whilst there was the understanding of the need 
for new homes there was little appetite for more homes, without the imbalance in local 
jobs and the infrastructure required to support growth, being addressed. The strategy 
therefore seeks to redress this imbalance and support a more sustainable pattern of 
development within Wiltshire. 

 
1.3 There are a number of key principles which underpin the strategy to help build 

more resilient communities, as follows. 
 

• Providing for the most sustainable pattern of development that minimises the 
need to travel and maximises the potential to use sustainable transport. 

• Creating the right environment to deliver economic growth, delivering the jobs 
Wiltshire’s population needs locally, and taking a flexible and responsive 
approach to employment land delivery. 

• Managing development to ensure that jobs and the right infrastructure are 
delivered at the right time to ensure that out commuting, in particular to areas 
outside of Wiltshire, is not increased and development does not have a 
detrimental impact on infrastructure. 

• Working towards lowering Wiltshire’s carbon footprint through the appropriate 
location of development, and through renewable energy and sustainable 
construction. 

• Protecting and planning for the enhancement of the natural, historic and built 
environments, including maintaining, enhancing and expanding Wiltshire’s 
network of green infrastructure to support the health and wellbeing of 
communities. 

• Providing high quality, well designed development, and ensuring full local 
community involvement in planning for significant new proposals. 

• Providing the framework to deliver appropriate community-led planning policy 
documents, including neighbourhood plans. 

1 Wiltshire Community Plan 2011 – 2026: People, places and promises 
1 

 

                                                           

Page 207



 
A strategy that underpins a policy-led framework for facilitating sustainable, long term 
growth 
 
New The Core Strategy sets out the strategic vision for delivering sustainable growth over 

the period up to 2026. However, it is not the only development plan document in the 
planning policy framework for Wiltshire. The council is committed to bringing forward 
a suite of plans designed to support the Core Strategy which collectively deliver the 
aspirations for growth across Wiltshire.  

 
New The Local Development Scheme includes a commitment to delivering site allocations 

plans for Chippenham and wider Wiltshire. These plans will address issues relating to 
housing delivery to ensure a surety of supply throughout the plan period in 
accordance with national policy; and help to compliment Neighbourhood Planning.  

 
A strategy which places an emphasis on economic growth as the driving force behind 
meeting our objectives 
 
1.4 Planning for job growth and meeting the needs of business are central to this 

Strategy. This plan puts in place policies which will help both attract new inward 
investment and help existing business meet their aspirations in Wiltshire, as well as 
providing the right environment for business start-ups. This will be achieved by ensuring 
new land is identified for job growth, allowing for redevelopment of outdated premises, 
safeguarding a range of employment sites to allow for choice and making sure that 
potential barriers to investment, such as inadequate infrastructure, are overcome. In 
addition, specific policies have been put in place to support the regeneration of 
Salisbury, Trowbridge and Chippenham through town centre regeneration, as well as 
recognition being given to the importance of the market towns and rural communities. 
Specific policies have been framed to support the changing role of the Military in 
Wiltshire. 

 
1.5 Underpinning this strategy is the delivery of resilient communities; to be achieved through 

enhancing the economy in order to help secure a greater level of self containment in 
settlements and provide the jobs locally that Wiltshire’s communities need. This is an 
economic led strategy. 

 
1.6 By creating certainty and choice through land allocation, the strategy seeks to help 

capitalise on Wiltshire's pivotal location for growth and help facilitate delivery of the 
aims of the Swindon and Wiltshire Local Enterprise Partnership2 which are as follows. 

 
• 10,000 new private sector jobs created across Wiltshire and Swindon. 
• Safeguarding of 8,000 jobs within existing business base. 
• Achieving 91% coverage of super fast broadband. 
• Using planning powers to build a supportive economic environment. 
• Delivering regeneration in our primary population centres of Chippenham, 

Trowbridge and Salisbury. 
• Allocation of strategic employment sites. Reduction in CO2 emissions. 
• Delivering resilient rural communities. 
• Targeting growth in the tourism sector. 

 
 
 
 

2 The Swindon and Wiltshire Local Enterprise Partnership Proposal 2011, page 2, Executive Summary 
2 

 

                                                           

Page 208



A strategy which provides a framework for localism 
 
1.7 The Core Strategy gives communities a solid framework within which appropriate 

community-led planning policy documents, including neighbourhood plans can be 
brought forward and communities themselves can decide how best to plan locally. 
Neighbourhood plans are required to be in conformity with the Core Strategy and 
can develop policies and proposals to address local place-based issues. In this 
way the Wiltshire Core Strategy provides a clear overall strategic direction for 
development in Wiltshire, whilst enabling finer detail to be determined through the 
neighbourhood planning process where appropriate. Neighbourhood plans will form 
part of the development plan for Wiltshire, alongside, but not as a replacement for, the 
Wiltshire Core Strategy. The relationship between the Wiltshire Core Strategy and 
any community-led planning policy documents which may come forward is 
illustrated below. The community-led planning policy documents can include 
neighbourhood plans, neighbourhood development orders and community right to 
build. However, neighbourhood planning is optional, not compulsory. As such the 
council will work closely with communities to plan successfully and cost effectively for 
their areas by helping to identify the approach that best suits the needs of each 
individual community this may include supplementary guidance in the form of village 
design statements 

  
[Figure 1.1 Structure of the planning policy framework] 

 
A strategy that will help to deliver the objectives of the Wiltshire Community Plan, 
other plans and strategies 
 
1.8 The Core Strategy provides a spatial expression of the Wiltshire Community Plan 

2011-2026: People, places and promises, and will be focused on delivering the three 
overarching priorities and the 17 key objectives of the Community Plan. The 
overarching priorities are to help build and protect resilient communities, through: 

 
• Creating an economy that is fit for the future. 
• Reducing disadvantage and inequalities 
• Tackling the causes and effects of climate change. 

 
1.9 This Core Strategy sets out policies and proposals that will make an important 

contribution in delivering these priorities. 
 
1.10 The Core Strategy has also been developed using other policies and strategies 

relating to the area and develops a spatial dimension to these plans and strategies 
and does not simply repeat them. The relationship between the Core Strategy and 
other documents is made explicit at relevant points throughout the document. These 
include: 

 
• National planning policy 
• The Wiltshire Community Plan: People, places and promises 
• The Swindon and Wiltshire Local Enterprise Partnership Proposal 
• Strategies prepared by local communities such as community area plans and 

parish plans the Salisbury, Trowbridge and Chippenham town centre 
regeneration programmes 

• Wiltshire’s Joint Strategic Assessment 
• Heritage strategies such as Conservation Area Appraisals and the Stonehenge 

and Avebury 
• World Heritage Site Management Plans 

3 
 Page 209



• Strategies relating to specific geographic areas such as management plans for 
the Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

• Forward work programmes of essential infrastructure providers 
• Adopted and emerging plans of neighbouring authorities 
 

1.11 The Wiltshire Core Strategy covers the whole of the administrative area of Wiltshire 
Council, with the exception of the areas within the New Forest National Park and it 
incorporates the South Wiltshire Core Strategy, thus replacing stand alone versions 
of that document. The New Forest National Park Management Plan (2010 – 2015) 
was formally approved by the National Park Authority in December 2009 with the 
authority’s Core Strategy & Development Management Policies DPD adopted in 
December 2010. These plans cover the whole of the National Park, including the 
parts of the Park in South Wiltshire, and supersede the New Forest policies within 
the Salisbury District Local Plan 2003. 

 
1.12 Where indicated, certain p o l i c y  and supporting text has been incorporated into 

this document from the adopted South Wiltshire Core Strategy (SWCS). There have 
been some minor changes made to ensure the effective amalgamation into the wider 
document. However the amended text is a reflection of the SWCS and the binding 
inspectors report and for this reason it is unlikely that a subsequent inspector would 
re-open debate on this policy area, which has already been found sound.  Please 
however please feel free to make comment, on the policy or supporting text. 

 
A strategy that is based on an understanding of the community areas in Wiltshire 
 
1.13 The area covered by the Wiltshire Core Strategy is shown on the map below and the 

Key Diagram on Page 29. 
 
1.14 There are 18 established community area boards across Wiltshire. Membership of 

the boards include elected Wiltshire councillors; city, town and parish councillors; 
police, fire and health services; business community representatives; local 
community groups; community area partnerships; and young people’s groups. They 
provide opportunities for people to help shape the future of their local area. The 
area boards are a formal part of Wiltshire Council and work collaboratively to find 
solutions for local issues including traffic problems, facilities for young people, and 
affordable housing. Each area board covers a community area shown on the map 
below, with the exception of the South West Wiltshire Area Board, which covers the 
three community areas of Mere, Tisbury and Wilton. 

 
A strategy that is based on collaborative working relationships  

 
New The Localism Act 2011 introduces a ‘duty to cooperate’ which requires local 

authorities to work with neighbouring authorities and other prescribed bodies in 
preparing their development plan documents. Section 110 of the Localism Act inserts 
a new section 33A into the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 to bring in 
this duty. Wiltshire Council has undertaken proper and meaningful discussion with 
neighbouring authorities and prescribed bodies to inform the policies in this core 
strategy and to understand the implications of the proposed policies for these 
organisations. In the earlier stages of plan preparation neighbouring authorities and 
prescribed bodies were invited to comment at each stage of consultation and their 
views were taken into consideration in the plan’s development. In some instances 
specific working parties were created as a forum to discuss specific issues. Since the 
introduction of the ‘duty to cooperate’ in November 2011 further discussions have 
taken place to understand better the specific relationships between the many 

4 
 Page 210



authorities which abut the council’s area (see figure 2.1). Arising from these 
discussions two forms of relationship have been identified: 

 
1. Strategic cross boundary relationships including those relating to homes, 

jobs and infrastructure;  
2. Locally significant relationships relating to specific areas and land uses for 

example Cotswold Water Park and North Wessex AONB.  
 

New There is a significant cross border relationship with Swindon Borough Council. 
Historically it has been proposed that part of Swindon’s housing need be met on land 
to the west of Swindon within Wiltshire. Due to the levels of growth being proposed for 
Swindon through Swindon Borough Council’s emerging Core Strategy there is no 
longer a need to provide growth on land to the west of Swindon within Wiltshire due to 
alternative proposals. Should the proposed strategy and level of growth for Swindon 
change Wiltshire Council and Swindon Borough Council, as cooperating authorities, 
will continue to discuss the most appropriate strategy for Swindon’s future growth. If 
land to the west of the Swindon area becomes a potential option for growth again 
appropriate consultation will be undertaken and if necessary the two authorities can 
pursue a single issue Joint Site Allocations DPD for the area. 

 

[Figure 1.2 Wiltshire’s Community Areas] 

1.15 Coordinating strategies and plans around the established community areas is central 
to Wiltshire Council and its partners’ commitment to empowering local people to have 
a greater role in what happens in their local communities. The Core Strategy includes a 
strategy for each of the community areas of Wiltshire, setting out how it is expected 
that these areas will change by 2026, and how this change will be delivered. Aligning 
the Core Strategy with the community areas in this way offers the opportunity for 
place shaping to be embedded within the local community and the benefits of 
development to be realised at a local level. 

 
A strategy which will ensure that the most is made of Wiltshire’s outstanding 
environments 
 
1.16 From the North Wessex Downs, to the expanse of Salisbury Plain, from the historic 

settlements such as Lacock to the World Heritage Site of Stonehenge and Avebury, 
Wiltshire has one of the richest and most varied natural, historic and built 
environments to be found across the country. The evidence upon which this strategy is 
based clearly indicates that the quality of the environment is a key competitive 
advantage for Wiltshire in terms of attracting investment. While other parts of the 
country may have more readily available developable land, it is the quality of life that is 
a key attractor to investment in Wiltshire. Put simply the way that Wiltshire looks, is a 
key strength and the rich environments and heritage will be managed to act as a 
catalyst for the realisation of this strategy and not a barrier to it. This means the 
careful stewardship of our environmental assets so that growth is complimentary and 
does not erode the very qualities that make Wiltshire so attractive in the first place. 
The policies later in this strategy will demonstrate how this will be achieved and that 
the aims of attracting investment and caring for our environments are mutually 
compatible and that without carefully managed growth many of the opportunities to 
safeguard and strengthen our environmental assets will be lost. 

 
 
 
 

5 
 Page 211



A strategy based on firm evidence 
 
1.17 In order to identify the challenges that Wiltshire faces and also in demonstrating that the 

proposals in this strategy are deliverable an evidence base has been developed. A 
detailed collation of this evidence is provided in the series of Topic Papers3, which 
support this strategy. Reference to the evidence has been indicated though the use of 
footnotes where ever relevant. 

 
1.18 The evidence can be viewed at: www.wiltshire.gov.uk. 

3 See Appendix B for list of Topic Papers 
6 

 

                                                           

Page 212

http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/


 

2 A spatial portrait of Wiltshire and the key challenges it 
faces 
 
2.1 Wiltshire Council is one of the largest unitary authorities in England. The authority’s 

area covers approximately 3,255 square kilometres and has a population of 
approximately 460,000 people. Wiltshire adjoins the higher tier local authorities of 
Dorset, Somerset, South Gloucestershire, Oxfordshire, West Berkshire, Hampshire, 
Swindon and Bath and North East Somerset. Wiltshire is a largely rural area 
encompassing many natural and historic features which make it distinctive, including 
parts of three Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, part of the New Forest National 
Park, over 16,000 listed buildings, over 240 conservation areas and a World Heritage 
Site. Wiltshire also includes an element of the Western Wiltshire Green Belt, which 
protects the openness of the countryside between Bath, Bradford-on-Avon and 
Trowbridge. The urban area of Swindon, while predominantly within Swindon 
Borough, has expanded into Wiltshire. Deprivation is generally low and our 
communities benefit from safe environments. Wiltshire enjoys strong sub regional 
links and is within commutable distance of London, Bristol, Swindon, South Wales and 
the south coast. 

 

[Figure 2.1 Wiltshire Context] 

Settlements 

2.2 The largest settlements in Wiltshire are the historic cathedral city of Salisbury in the 
south, the county town of Trowbridge in the west, and the market town of Chippenham 
in the north. The city of Salisbury serves a large surrounding rural area. With its 
cathedral and close proximity to the internationally famous World Heritage Site of 
Stonehenge, Salisbury is a very popular tourist destination. Trowbridge plays a role 
as an employment, administration and service centre for the west Wiltshire area, and 
has good transport links to many nearby settlements, including Bath and Bristol. 
Chippenham has a busy town centre and, in recent decades, an expanding urban 
area and is a focus for employment growth due to its proximity and good access to the 
M4 and rail links. It has direct transport links with Swindon, Bath, Bristol and London. 

 
2.3 Aside from these three larger settlements there are also a number of market towns 

throughout the county. The market towns of Devizes and Marlborough are located in 
the eastern part of Wiltshire. Devizes is centrally located with an attractive town 
centre which is well regarded. Marlborough is popular for tourism, shopping and 
leisure as well as business. Calne, Corsham, Cricklade, Malmesbury and Royal 
Wootton Bassett in the north of Wiltshire, and Bradford on Avon, Melksham, 
Warminster and Westbury in the west. Amesbury has an important role as a service 
centre in the south Wiltshire area, providing a good level of services, shops and jobs, 
and Downton, Mere, Tisbury, Wilton, are local service centres in this area. The 
garrison towns of Tidworth and Ludgershall in the east are dominated by the 
presence of the Army which is the largest local employer. 

 
2.4 Wiltshire also contains numerous villages and rural settlements: around half of the 

people living in Wiltshire live in towns or villages with fewer than 5,000 people, 
reflecting the rural nature of the county. 

 
 

7 
 Page 213



 
 
Cross border relationships 

 
2.5 Wiltshire has important relationships with the surrounding large urban centres of 

Bath, Bristol, Swindon and Southampton, and lies completely within 115 miles of 
London. The larger centres provide a wider range of employment, leisure and cultural 
opportunities than can be found across Wiltshire and result in out-commuting of 
Wiltshire’s residents for work4 and leisure activities such as shopping5. Evidence also 
identifies that in some instances workers are commuting into Wiltshire, whilst residing in 
larger centres such as Bristol and Southampton6 and this could be due to cheaper 
housing and enhanced leisure facilities providing a greater draw. The air and 
seaports related to these settlements are also widely used by Wiltshire residents. 

 
The six key challenges for Wiltshire 
 
2.6 There are six key ‘strategic’ challenges in Wiltshire that broadly apply across the 

whole county, which the Core Strategy can assist in addressing. The key challenges set 
out below form the basis for developing the ‘strategic objectives’ presented in the next 
section. 

 
1. Economic development 
 
2.7 Reducing levels of out commuting from many of Wiltshire’s settlements is perhaps 

the most important strategic challenge in planning for the future of Wiltshire. 
 
2.8 Wiltshire has net out-commuting flows to several employment centres beyond the county 

boundary. Evidence suggests that pay differentials are a major driver meaning that 
higher earners commute out of the county to work. Out-commuting may have some 
beneficial effect on the local economy through income earned outside the area being 
spent in Wiltshire, but this is far outweighed by the negative impacts on sustainability. 

 
2.9 The key challenge is to improve the self-containment of the main settlements, to 

ensure that there are a range of appropriate employment opportunities available, 
reflecting the needs of inward investors and Wiltshire’s communities. Delivering a 
good level of local opportunities close to the main centres of population will help 
reduce the need to commute out of Wiltshire to seek work. An important part of this 
challenge is to provide the correct amount and type of employment provision to take 
account of the anticipated levels of growth7. It is also necessary to put in place 
contingency plans to ensure that the loss of major employers can be mitigated as 
exemplified by the potential closure of MoD establishments, such as the UKLF HQ 
at Wilton. In this way broadening the employment base and providing choice in the 
job market for Wiltshire’s population is a key element of delivering resilient 
communities. 

 
2. Climate change 
 

4 Table A2.17, appendix 2 of the Roger Tym Workspace and Employment Land Review identifies that 13,339 net residents out 
commute for work to Swindon, the majority of these being located in the former north Wiltshire area 

5 Table 4.1, page 35 of the GVA Grimley Town Centre and Retail Study, March 2011 identifies that Swindon, Bath and 
Southampton have a combined market share of 25.7% across the study area whilst, Chippenham, Salisbury and Trowbridge 
account for only 14.7%, showing that a high proportion of expenditure is being lost to outside of Wiltshire. 

6 Table A2.17, appendix 2 of the Roger Tym Workspace and Employment Land Review identifies that 1,852 net workers commute 
from Bristol to West Wiltshire, whilst 580 net workers commute from Southampton to North Wiltshire. 

7 Level and type of growth is evidenced in Topic Paper 8, ‘Employment’, and The Wiltshire Workspace and Employment Land 
Review, by Roger Tym and Partners, November 2011, Section 5, page 52 onwards. 

8 
 

                                                           

Page 214



2.10 Climate change is a central issue to be addressed by the Wiltshire Core Strategy. This 
necessitates both adapting to the consequences of unavoidable climate change and 
mitigating the causes by reducing greenhouse gas emissions. This strategy offers a 
significant opportunity to influence greenhouse gas emissions and has an important 
role in shaping communities that are resilient to the predicted impacts of climate 
change such as higher temperatures and increased flood risk. The basis of this 
strategy is to achieve sustainable patterns of development in order to reduce carbon 
emissions. 

 
2.11 The climate in Wiltshire is changing and the challenge is to plan ahead to both mitigate 

the future consequences and play a meaningful part in trying to reverse the trends. 
For example, the latest projections indicate that annual mean temperature in the county 
will rise by between 1.2 and 1.70C by the 2020’s (2010 to 2039) and by between 3.1 
and 4.10C by the 2080's (2070 to 2099)8. Particular vulnerabilities to extreme weather 
in Wiltshire have been identified and these include: high temperatures/ heat waves; 
wind; and excessive rainfall/flooding9. Wiltshire’s per capita carbon emissions are 
greater than for either the South West or for the UK10. In 2010, Wiltshire made the 
second lowest contribution to renewable electricity of all areas in the South West and 
the lowest contribution for renewable heat11. 

 
3. Providing new homes 
 
2.12 There is a challenge to plan for sufficient new homes to be delivered in Wiltshire to 

address housing requirements. Providing decent and affordable homes to complement 
the economic growth being promoted is a key challenge to improving the self-
containment and resilience of Wiltshire’s communities. These new homes will need to 
be delivered at appropriate sustainable locations and must be supported by 
necessary improvements to infrastructure. Within a predominantly rural area, with a 
limited amount of previously developed land for redevelopment12, the identification of 
the strategic growth sites to ensure an adequate supply of new homes is also a 
challenge. 

 
2.13 Wiltshire is a desirable place to live and, as the high level of out-commuting shows, it is 

also within easy reach of a number of large employment centres. A growing population 
and smaller household sizes are fuelling demand for new homes. Wiltshire also 
faces considerable inward migration pressures. For the period 1971 to 2001 the 
percentage increase of households for Wiltshire was higher than both that of the 
South West and of England as a whole. The type of housing within Wiltshire reflects 
the rural nature of the area as there is a higher percentage of detached properties than 
nationally. The gradual deterioration of affordability in Wiltshire has left many 
residents experiencing difficulty gaining access to the housing market, especially 
given the low household based income of certain areas. In 2011, the average house 
costs approximately 7.5 times the annual wage of Wiltshire’s workplace employees 
and the age of the first time buyer is 3813. There are currently over 10,000 individuals 

8 These projections are based on the medium emissions scenario developed by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change 
(IPCC) and use the United Kingdom Climate Projections 09 (UKCP09) tool developed by the Met Office Hadley Centre. See 
Climate Change Topic Paper. 

9 See Climate Change Topic Paper. 
10 Department for Energy and Climate Change (2010). Local and regional CO2 emissions estimates for 2005 - 2008 – Full 

dataset. 
11 Regen SW (2010) – Renewable electricity and heat projects in South West England. 
12 Previously developed land, often called brownfield land, is land that was developed but is now vacant or derelict, and land 

currently in use with known potential for redevelopment. 
13 See Strategic Housing Market Assessment. 

9 
 

                                                           

Page 215



on the council’s housing waiting list, with Chippenham, Trowbridge and Devizes 
community areas having some of the highest levels of demand14. 

 
2.14 Wiltshire has been one of the fastest growing populations in the country. Since 2001, 

the level of population growth has been above the national average; however, it is an 
ageing population which will have implications for the future economic base of the 
county. By 2026 there will be a higher proportion of the older age groups, including 
the over 85s. This part of the population is predicted to grow the fastest, by 89.4%, 
over the next 15 years, and it is also predicted that there will be double the number of 
older disabled people by 202615. It is necessary to both plan for the needs of the 
ageing population, while also seeking the jobs and homes that can support a more 
diverse population encouraging economically active and younger people to live in the 
area. 

 
4. Planning for resilient communities  
 
New  Wiltshire is a large and diverse part of the country and the issues and challenges 

within it vary from place to place. It would be a mistake to develop a strategy which is 
based on a ‘one size fits all’ premise. The predominant rural character of Wiltshire 
means that transport choices to access a range of services are often extremely 
limited and especially in the more remote rural areas there is a reliance on the private 
motor car. Identifying the role that Wiltshire’s settlements have with regard to the 
sustainable location of services, jobs and housing is an important consideration in 
trying to balance the needs of promoting a sustainable pattern of growth with the 
needs of more rural communities. A key challenged is to ensure that this Core 
Strategy responds to the distinctive character of specific places throughout Wiltshire 
and is effectively tailored to addressing their particular sets of problems. 

 
2.15 Certain communities within Wiltshire experience social exclusion as a result of their 

isolation from essential services and facilities. This situation has been exacerbated 
through the decline in rural facilities which in turn has led to a greater reliance on the 
private car. Educational achievement within Wiltshire has continued to improve. 
However, there is a need to improve the level of skills beyond the age of 16 and to 
retain those skills within local communities. 

 
2.16 This strategy will need to include measures that will help to address some of the social 

issues that affect Wiltshire’s communities enabling them to help themselves and 
improve their quality of life, foster a sense of community belonging, safety, social 
inclusion and self sufficiency. While this Core Strategy indicates those challenges 
which will need to be addressed, it will be a further challenge to the communities 
themselves to work with the council and other partners to produce subsequent 
planning policy documents which will add detail to the overarching polices on a local 
basis. 

 
5. Environmental quality 
 
2.17 The challenge of safeguarding high quality environments whilst accommodating 

levels of growth to meet local need is demanding. The Core Strategy will need to ensure 
that Wiltshire’s high quality built and natural environment is adequately protected, and 
that opportunities to enhance these significant assets are optimised. However it needs 
to go further and set out a proactive approach through which Wiltshire’s rich 
environments and heritage will be managed to act as a catalyst for the realisation of 

14 On Wiltshire Council Housing Register on 31.12.11. 
15 See Topic Paper 2, Housing, page 25, paragraphs 5.4 to 5.5 and Fig 3. 

10 
 

                                                           

Page 216



this strategy and not a barrier to it. This means the careful stewardship of our 
environmental assets so that growth is complimentary and does not erode the very 
qualities that make Wiltshire so attractive in the first place. Simply put, a key challenge 
for the Core Strategy is to set out how protection of these environments will be 
achieved in a way which supports a positive strategy for growth, as they form the very 
heart of what Wiltshire has to offer to investors, visitors and the community. 

 
6. Infrastructure 
 
2.18 The Core Strategy will endeavour to ensure that adequate services and infrastructure 

provision, to meet the needs of Wiltshire’s growing population and economy, is 
brought forward in a timely and responsive manner alongside new development 
proposals. Appropriate and sustainable modes of transport, highway improvements, 
water management, green spaces, power supply, high speed and affordable internet 
connectivity, access to emergency services, sustainable waste management facilities 
are all essential components of daily life and therefore critical to delivering our 
strategic goal of building more resilient communities. To ensure this is in place, 
new development will need to be supported by adequate physical, social and green 
infrastructure. The level of infrastructure provision will need to reflect growth and 
demand for services within Wiltshire’s communities. The Core Strategy and other LDF 
documents are supported by a detailed Infrastructure Delivery Plan16, which broadly 
sets out what infrastructure is required to support growth. Where necessary the growth 
in this strategy will be phased to ensure essential infrastructure is delivered within a 
timescale to support development. 

 

16 See Wiltshire Infrastructure Delivery Plan, www.wiltshire.gov.uk. 
 

11 
 

                                                           

Page 217

http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/


 

3 The spatial vision for Wiltshire 
 
3.1 The spatial vision provides direction for development within Wiltshire and is presented 

below. The Vision has helped to inform individual strategies for each of the community 
areas, to ensure that they address locally distinct challenges and opportunities. These 
are presented in Chapter 5 and are called the Area Strategies. These strategies 
have been informed by community aspirations and developed through extensive 
public engagement. 

 
Spatial vision 
 

By 2026 Wiltshire will have stronger, more resilient communities based on a sustainable 
pattern of development, focused principally on Trowbridge, Chippenham and Salisbury. Market 
towns and service centres will have become more self-contained and supported by the 
necessary infrastructure, with a consequent reduction in the need to travel. In all settlements 
there will be an improvement in accessibility to local services, a greater feeling of security and 
the enhancement of a sense of community and place. This pattern of development, with a 
more sustainable approach towards transport and the generation and use of power and 
heat, will have contributed towards tackling climate change. 
 
Employment, housing and other development will have been provided in sustainable locations 
in response to local needs as well as the changing climate and incorporating exceptional 
standards of design. Wiltshire’s important natural,  built and historic environment will have 
been safeguarded and, where necessary, extended and enhanced to provide appropriate 
green infrastructure, while advantage will have been taken of the Wiltshire's heritage to 
promote cultural and lifestyle improvements as well as tourism for economic benefit. 
 
Partnership working with communities will have helped plan effectively for local areas and 
allow communities to receive the benefit of managed growth, where appropriate. 
 
3.2 A series of strategic objectives have been developed to deliver the vision for Wiltshire. 

The strategic objectives have been designed to marry up with the six key challenges 
that were identified in Chapter 2. These objectives are: 

 
Strategic objective 1: delivering a thriving economy. 

 
Strategic objective 2: addressing climate change. 

 
Strategic objective 3: providing everyone with access to a decent, affordable home. 

 
Strategic objective 4: helping to build resilient communities. 

 
Strategic objective 5: protecting and enhancing the natural, historic and built 
environment. 

 
Strategic objective 6: ensuring that adequate infrastructure is in place to support our 
communities. 
 

3.3 These strategic objectives are all interlinked and will together assist in addressing 
both the three overarching priorities of the Wiltshire Community Plan and the six key 
challenges for planning in Wiltshire identified above. 

12 
 Page 218



 
 
 
 
Strategic objective 1: delivering a thriving economy 
 
3.4 Wiltshire needs to encourage a buoyant and resilient local economy. The Core 

Strategy enables development to take place and encourages economic vitality, 
providing local jobs for Wiltshire’s population, whilst ensuring that sustainable 
development objectives have been met. Residents within Wiltshire should have access 
to facilities and retail choice in convenient locations throughout Wiltshire. Employment 
and housing provision should seek to strengthen the role and function of established 
town centres to secure their future vitality and viability. Town centres should be 
regenerated and enhanced as necessary. They should fulfil the roles appropriate to 
their sizes and the communities they serve, and should complement one another. 
The potential of tourism should be realised as a major growth sector through 
capitalising on the quality of the environment and location Wiltshire benefit from. 

 
Key outcomes 
 

• Land will have been identified in sustainable locations to provide for about 
27,50017 new jobs up to 2026 and significant progress to tackle the issue of out-
commuting from Wiltshire will have been achieved. 

• Where appropriate, existing employment sites will have been protected and the 
suitable intensification and regeneration of established employment sites will have 
taken place. Major regeneration projects for Salisbury, Chippenham and 
Trowbridge including those as set out in the respective visions will have been 
delivered and the rural economy will have diversified where appropriate. 

• Smaller business premises will have been provided to support business start ups. 
Redundant MoD land will, as far as possible, have been brought within the overall 
pattern of development. 

• Wiltshire will have secured sustainable growth of established and emerging 
employment sectors, building on existing strengths, including defence-related 
employment, bioscience, advanced manufacturing and business services. 

• Potential for the expansion of green jobs will have been realised, particularly in 
relation to developing and installing renewable energy and energy efficiency 
technologies. 

• Wiltshire’s tourism sector will have grown in a sustainable way, ensuring the 
protection and where possible enhancement of Wiltshire’s environmental and 
heritage assets, including the delivery of new tourist accommodation and where 
appropriate the safeguarding of existing facilities. 

• Appropriate retail, leisure and employment opportunities will have been located 
within town centres and planning applications for retail development will have 
been determined in line with the need to safeguard town centres. 

• Good progress will have been made towards a broadened night-time economy 
within town centres, especially Chippenham, Salisbury and Trowbridge, which has 
been refocused to provide greater choice for families and tourists and respect the 
quality of life of residents. 

• Provision of 16+ education including higher education will have been enhanced 
especially to provide trained employees necessary to deliver economic growth 
from target sectors. 

 
 

17 Page 7, Para 2.1, Future Employment Needs in Wiltshire – Employment Floorspace and Land Forecasts – April 2011. 
13 

 

                                                           

Page 219



 
 
Strategic objective 2: addressing climate change 
 
3.5 Climate change is possibly the greatest long-term challenge facing the world 

today. Tackling climate change is therefore a key Government priority for the planning 
system. Local authorities are uniquely placed to act on climate change and the 
planning system can help by contributing to delivering the most sustainable 
development and shaping communities that are resilient to the unavoidable 
consequences of a changing climate. 

 
Key outcomes 

 
• A sustainable pattern of development, including improvement to the self-

containment levels of the main settlements and a reduction in the need to travel, 
will have contributed towards meeting climate change obligations. 

• The supply of energy and heat from renewable sources will have contributed 
towards meeting national targets and helped to address fuel poverty. 

• New development will have incorporated sustainable building practices and where 
possible will have contributed to improving the existing building stock. 

• High energy efficiency will have been incorporated into new buildings and 
development. New developments will have incorporated appropriate adaptation 
and mitigation for climate change. 

• New development will be supported by sustainable waste management. 
 
 
Strategic objective 3: providing everyone with access to a decent, affordable home 
 
3.6 This strategy makes provision for at least 42,000 new homes in Wiltshire in the plan 

period from 2006 to 2026. It sets out a plan for an appropriate mix of types, sizes and 
tenures, particularly to address affordable housing needs and will ensure a 
continuous supply of housing over the plan period that is aligned to job growth and the 
delivery of infrastructure. 

 
Key outcomes 

 
• New homes will have been delivered in the most sustainable locations and will 

have been designed to respect the local character and the primary focus of new 
housing development will have been at Trowbridge, Chippenham and Salisbury 
and the market towns. 

• More modest growth proportionate to the size of the settlement will have been 
delivered in smaller settlements, through site allocation development plan 
documents, community-led planning policy documents, including neighbourhood 
plans and partnership working with the local communities and the benefits from 
the development of new homes will have been successfully captured for local 
communities. 

• Development will have avoided encroachment on the Western Wiltshire Green 
Belt and the separate identity of the outlying villages to the west of Swindon 
protected. 

• The flexible approach will have allowed the council, for example through the 
preparation of the Site Allocations DPD and local communities preparing 
neighbourhood plans, to respond positively to opportunities without being 
inhibited by an overly prescriptive, rigid approach  which might otherwise prevent 

14 
 Page 220



sustainable development proposals that can contribute to delivering the strategic 
objectives of the plan. 

• The strategy will have made significant progress towards addressing the shortfall in 
affordable homes across Wiltshire through ensuring all new schemes of 5 or more 
houses deliver appropriate onsite affordable housing provision. 

• Land will have been used efficiently and for all development to be low-carbon or 
zero carbon will have been optimised. 

• A range of housing types and sizes will have been provided in order to help meet 
local needs for different groups of the population in a sustainable manner, 
including many new homes meeting the needs of an ageing population thereby 
allowing people to live for longer within their own communities. 

• New sites will have been provided for gypsies and travellers. 
• Changes in the accommodation of military personnel will have enabled better 

integration with the wider community. 
 
 
Strategic objective 4: helping to build resilient communities 
 
3.7 This strategy will provide support for Wiltshire’s communities, enabling them to help 

themselves and improve their quality of life, foster a sense of community belonging, 
safety, social inclusion and self-sufficiency. 

 
Key outcomes 
 

• Where appropriate community-led planning policy documents, including 
neighbourhood plans will have been produced by communities which add detail to 
the overarching polices within the Core Strategy and ensures that the benefits 
from the new development will have been successfully captured for local 
communities. 

• New developments will have incorporated 'safe by design' standards. 
• A positive contribution will have been made to help areas of social exclusion, 

especially access to essential services and local facilities in the rural areas, which 
will have been improved. 

• Strategic growth will have been matched by the provision of new educational and 
healthcare facilities where appropriate and high quality education services will have 
assisted in providing the trained employees necessary to deliver economic 
growth. 

• More effective planning controls will have resulted in the retention of existing 
facilities such as village shops and pubs including, where practicable, encouraging 
community management of such facilities through a pragmatic application of 
planning policy. 

• Significant progress will have been made towards addressing the identified 
shortfall in the range of sport, leisure and recreation facilities. 

 
 
Strategic objective 5: protecting and enhancing the natural, historic and built 
environment 
 
3.8 Wiltshire’s rich and diverse natural, historic and built environments are a significant 

asset and this strategy will be based on taking steps to use these as a catalyst to 
attract inward investment in a manner which at the same time protects and enhances 
them. The reuse of Wiltshire’s limited amount of previously developed land should be 
maximised unless of high environmental value and the delivery of housing and 
employment growth needs to be carefully managed in a sustainable manner. This 

15 
 Page 221



should include maintaining, enhancing and expanding Wiltshire’s multi-functional 
green infrastructure network (18), with wide-ranging benefits for both people and the 
environment. 

 
3.9 Wiltshire contains some outstanding built heritage which is an important asset to be 

safeguarded and which should be reflected in new development. Well designed 
developments help to provide a sense of place, add to local distinctiveness and 
promote community cohesiveness and social well-being. New development will need to 
respect and enhance Wiltshire’s distinctive characteristics. Wiltshire also has a rich 
historic environment, including the Stonehenge and Avebury World Heritage Site and 
numerous sites of archaeological importance. These sites will be protected from 
inappropriate development and in the case of the World Heritage Site, controlled in a 
way which sustains its outstanding universal value. 

Key outcomes 
 

• Where possible, development will have been directed away from our most 
sensitive and valuable natural assets, habitats and species18, towards less 
sensitive locations. 

• New development will have contributed to delivery of the Wiltshire Biodiversity 
Action Plan (BAP) targets and protected, maintained and enhanced BAP habitats 
and species, particularly within areas identified for landscape scale conservation. 

• Local biodiversity and wildlife corridors will have been incorporated into new 
development, maintaining and enhancing this resource for the future. 

• Wiltshire’s network of multi-functional green infrastructure will have been 
maintained and enhanced to contribute towards achieving the vision set out in the 
Wiltshire Green Infrastructure Strategy. 

• The multi-functional green infrastructure network will have assisted Wiltshire in 
adapting to a changing climate, and in attracting business investment and 
tourism, enhancing the local economy, and promoting physical and social well-
being. 

• Good air quality will have been maintained and significant progress will have been 
made in treating areas of risk through the implementation of air quality 
management plans. 

• The quality and quantity of Wiltshire’s groundwater and surface water features will 
have been improved, helping to achieve the objectives of the Water Framework 
Directive. 

• Increased recreational pressures on sensitive wildlife will be effectively managed. 
• The landscape character of Wiltshire will have been protected and enhanced, 

particularly the special qualities and scenic beauty of the Areas of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty and the New Forest National Park.  

• Features and areas of historical and cultural value will have been conserved and 
where possible enhanced, including the sensitive re-use of historical buildings will 
have taken place where appropriate. 

• Wiltshire’s distinctive built heritage will have been used as the inspiration for new 
developments. 

• New development will have incorporated exceptional quality design which reflects 
local character and fosters community cohesion, and which reinforces Wiltshire as 
a desirable place in which to live and invest. 

• Archaeological sites and features will have been adequately protected. 

18 Including Special Protection Areas (SPAs), Special Areas of Conservation (SACs), Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs), 
Local Sites and other areas containing Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP) habitats. 

16 
 

                                                           

Page 222



• The Stonehenge and Avebury World Heritage Site and its setting will have been 
protected from inappropriate development in order to sustain its outstanding 
universal value 

• Opportunities to significantly enhance Wiltshire’s public realm will have been 
realised. 

 
Strategic objective 6: to ensure that infrastructure is in place to support communities 

 
3.10 The anticipated level of growth within Wiltshire will increase demand on local 

infrastructure services and facilities. The strategy will need to ensure that 
infrastructure requirements are appropriately planned, secured and implemented to 
ensure the timely delivery of development proposals. Social and physical infrastructure 
(e.g. transport improvements) can positively affect the environment, the economy 
and social well-being. The strategy will need to ensure that strategic and local 
transport needs are managed in a sustainable manner. The anticipated effects of 
climate change could potentially increase the frequency of flood events within 
Wiltshire. Development will need to appropriately address the risk of flooding and, 
where necessary, provide attenuation measures designed to adapt to the challenge of 
climate change. 

 
Key outcomes 
 

• Provision of essential infrastructure, including, transport, water, energy, flood 
alleviation, sustainable urban drainage (SUDs), telecommunications affordable 
housing, education, health care, emergency services and waste and recycling, will 
have been coordinated and provided in timely manner within all new development. 

• Appropriate place-shaping infrastructure, such as leisure and open space, green 
infrastructure, libraries, meeting places, places of worship, public art and cultural 
facilities, will have been secured on a priority basis. 

• There will have been effective partnership working between the council, other 
infrastructure providers and developers to facilitate infrastructure delivery and 
opportunities for the co-location and multi-functional use of existing and new 
infrastructure services and facilities will have been realised and appropriate 
contributions will have been secured from developers towards the cost of new and 
improved infrastructure 

• Existing infrastructure services and facilities will have been protected, unless they 
are no longer needed, or there is alternative provision elsewhere. 

• The provision of new or improved infrastructure will have been positively 
supported provided there is no detrimental environmental impact. 

• Progress will have been made to ensure policies are helping to reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions associated with transport. 

• A range of viable, efficient sustainable transport alternatives will have been provided 
to reduce reliance on the private motor vehicle, including effective choices for 
those people without access to a car and for the distribution of freight. 

• A safer and more integrated transport system will have been provided that 
achieves a major shift to sustainable transport, including walking, cycling, and the 
use of bus and rail networks especially in the larger settlements of Trowbridge, 
Chippenham and Salisbury, and along the main commuting corridors. 

• Sustainable transport alternatives will have been implemented in a manner which 
has reduced the impact of traffic on people’s quality of life and Wiltshire’s built and 
natural environment including enhancement of the public realm and street scene. 

• Measures will have been implemented which reduce traffic delays and disruption, 
and improve journey time reliability on key routes. 

17 
 Page 223



• The use of existing transport infrastructure will have been optimised through 
effective design, management and maintenance. 

• Safety for all road users will have been improved, the number of casualties on 
Wiltshire’s roads reduced and the impact of traffic speeds in towns and villages 
mitigated. 

• Barriers to transport and access for people with disabilities and mobility 
impairment will have been effectively removed. 

• Access to local jobs and services will have been improved. 
• Strategic transport corridors within Wiltshire will have been safeguarded and, 

where appropriate, improved in a sustainable way. 
• The natural function of floodplains will have been maintained and enhanced and a 

sequential approach to flood risk will have been followed, with development being 
located first in areas of lowest risk. 

• The use of appropriate surface water management will have become a pre-
requisite for development to ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere. 
Sustainable urban drainage systems (SUDs) will have been used in most cases. 

• Proposals for new development will have reduced the overall risk of flooding 
through the appropriate implementation of climate change adaptation measures. 

18 
 Page 224



 

4 Delivering the vision - the spatial strategy for Wiltshire 
 
4.1 Setting out a clear spatial strategy is fundamental to the delivery of the vision and 

objectives. New development must deliver overall benefits to, and take account of, 
local distinctiveness and the character of Wiltshire. It should also be delivered in 
tandem with good quality infrastructure and services. 

 
4.2 The challenge is to plan for growth whilst maintaining people’s quality of life and 

protecting Wiltshire’s high value environment. 
 
4.3  The Spatial Strategy for Wiltshire consists of three key elements, namely: 
 

• Settlement Strategy - classifies Wiltshire’s settlements based upon an 
understanding of their role and function 

• Delivery Strategy - identifies the level of growth and how Wiltshire’s 
settlements will develop in the most sustainable fashion 

• Infrastructure Requirements – describes how infrastructure will be provided to 
support future development. 

 
4.4 The Spatial Strategy makes provision for the growth of around 27,500 jobs and at 

least 42,000  new homes from 2006 to 2026, including 178 ha of new employment 
land, beyond that already committed for general broad based employment uses to 
help deliver job growth and regeneration opportunities. 

 
4.5 The strategy seeks to deliver the most sustainable level of growth, which does not 

exacerbate commuting, encourages a greater level of self containment and does not 
negatively impact on Wiltshire’s exceptional environmental quality. 

 
The promotion of sustainable development 
 
4.6 The Spatial Strategy sets the foundations for how ‘sustainable development’ is defined 

and applied within Wiltshire. The Settlement Strategy (Core Policy 1) identifies the 
different tiers of settlements based on an understanding of the role and function of 
Wiltshire’s settlements and how they interact with their immediate communities and their 
wider hinterland19. In doing so the Settlement Strategy, coupled with the Delivery 
Strategy (Core Policy 2), seeks to define where development will be the most 
sustainable across Wiltshire’s settlements. 

 
4.7 The Spatial Strategy and the following core policies contained in this document will 

ensure that development within Wiltshire helps to deliver a stronger economy, 
appropriate levels of housing and the careful use of natural resources. If a 
development proposal does not accord with the core strategy it is deemed 
unsustainable and will not be supported 

 
4.8 The Spatial Strategy recognises the importance of delivering new jobs and infrastructure 

alongside future housing delivery. This will be achieved by ensuring that strategic sites, 
which are fundamental to the delivery of the strategic objectives, are brought forward 
through ‘master plans’ which are comprehensive and joined up. The council will also 

19 The evidence which has informed this understanding of the role and function of settlements is set out in Topic Paper 3: 
Settlement Strategy which can be found at www.wiltshire.gov.uk. 

19 
 

                                                           

Page 225

http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/


use legal agreements to ensure the appropriate timing of infrastructure to support 
homes and employment. 

20 
 Page 226



 

Core Policy 1: Settlement strategy 
 
The Settlement Strategy 
 
4.9 The main settlements in Wiltshire have seen their role as employment and service 

providers undergo gradual change. There is less reliance on traditional business 
sectors, which has altered the employment base across the county. In addition, easy 
access to larger settlements outside of Wiltshire, such as Bath and Swindon, together 
with a willingness to travel further to employment opportunities has led to an increase 
in net out-commuting. The provision and retention of services and facilities has been 
affected not only by the proximity to larger centres outside of Wiltshire but also 
changes in habits through growth in internet use for retail and service provision. 
Nevertheless, a number of settlements retain buoyant employment, retail and service 
economies. 

 
4.10 Wiltshire is a predominantly rural area and its rural communities have also seen 

significant change. Although the high demand for new homes due to Wiltshire’s 
attractive environment has led to development taking place, at the same time there has 
been a decline in employment opportunities, facilities and services in small towns and 
villages. Again this has been brought about by the ease of travel to larger centres for 
employment and other purposes. 

 
4.11 The Settlement Strategy identifies four tiers of settlements, namely: 
 

• Principal Settlements 
• Market Towns 
• Local Service Centres 
• Large and Small Villages. 

 
4.12 Wiltshire’s Market Towns and Principal Settlements serve different strategic roles. 

These strategic roles have been identified though an assessment of their individual 
characteristics and functional relationships with their surrounding area. The results 
of this classification are set out in the Settlement Strategy (Core Policy 1) and then 
Core Policy 2 presents the way these settlements will develop in the future. 

 
4.13 The settlement boundaries of the Principal Settlements, Market Towns, Local Service 

Centres and Large Villages, as defined by former District Local Plans, will be carried 
into this strategy and retained. These settlement boundaries w i l l  b e  reviewed as 
part of the Wiltshire Housing Site Allocations and Chippenham Site Allocations DPDs, 
as set out in the council’s Local Development Scheme, in order to ensure they are up 
to date and can adequately reflect changes which have happened since they were 
first established. It will also be the prerogative of the community to review settlement 
boundaries through a neighbourhood plan. 

 
4.14 The level of development at Local Service Centres will be closely linked to their current 

and future role of providing for a significant rural hinterland. This will consist of less 
development than that at the Principal Settlements and Market Towns. Developments 
at Local Service Centres in accordance with the Settlement Strategy should provide 
for local employment opportunities, improved communities facilities and/or affordable 
housing provision. This will safeguard the role of these settlements and support the 
more rural communities of Wiltshire. 

 

21 
 Page 227



4.15 At the settlements identified as villages, a limited level of development will be 
supported in order to help retain the vitality of these communities. At Large Villages the 
settlement boundaries are retained and development will predominantly take the form of 
small housing and employment sites within the settlement boundaries. These 
settlement boundaries will also be reviewed as part of the Housing Sites Allocation 
DPD as set out in the council’s Local Development Scheme, in order to ensure that 
they remain up to date and properly reflect building that has happened since they 
were first established.  Small housing sites are defined as sites involving less than 10 
dwellings (i.e. not a major application). Development outside the settlement boundary 
will be strictly controlled. Relaxation of the boundaries will only be supported where it 
has been formally identified through a subsequent DPD or a community-led 
neighbourhood plan, which includes a review of the settlement boundary to identify 
new developable land to help meet the housing and employment needs of that 
community. In turn this could bring forward benefits to the local community such as 
improvements to the economy through the identification of land for employment 
purposes. 

 
4.16 Any existing settlement boundaries for Small Villages and other small settlements 

not identified in the settlement strategy will be removed (these are listed in Appendix 
F), and there is a general presumption against development outside the defined limits 
of development of the Principal Settlements, Market Towns, Local Service Centres 
and Large Villages. However, some very modest development may be appropriate 
at Small Villages, to respond to local needs and to contribute to the vitality of rural 
communities. Any development at Small Villages will be carefully managed by Core 
Policy 2 and the other relevant polices of this plan. 

 
4.17 Proposals for improved local employment opportunities, housing growth (over and 

above that allowed by this Core Strategy) and/or new services and facilities outside 
the defined limits of development will not be supported unless they arise through 
community-led planning documents, such as neighbourhood plans, which are 
endorsed by the local community and accord with the provision of this plan. In such 
circumstances small villages may be able to become more sustainable and their 
status may change to that of ‘Large Villages’ as a result in subsequent reviews of 
the settlement strategy. The strategy does allow for carefully managed development 
outside of settlement boundaries in specific cases, such as new employment 
investment where there is an overriding strategic interest, or for other local 
circumstances such as providing affordable housing, allowing new tourist 
accommodation or supporting diversification of the rural economy (a full list of 
exception polices is set out in paragraph 4.25). 

 

Core Policy 1 
 
Settlement Strategy 
 
The Settlement Strategy identifies the settlements where sustainable development will take 
place to improve the lives of all those who live and work in Wiltshire. 
 
The area strategies in Chapter 5 list the specific settlements which fall within each category. 
 
Principal Settlements 
 
Wiltshire’s Principal Settlements are strategically important centres and the primary focus for 
development. This will safeguard and enhance their strategic roles as employment and service 
centres. 

22 
 Page 228



 
They will provide significant levels of jobs and homes, together with supporting community 
facilities and infrastructure meeting their economic potential in the most sustainable way to 
support better self containment. 
 
The Principal Settlements are: Chippenham, Trowbridge and Salisbury. 
 
Market Towns 
 
Outside the Principal Settlements, Market Towns are defined as settlements that have the 
ability to support sustainable patterns of living in Wiltshire through their current levels of 
facilities, services and employment opportunities. 
 
Market Towns have the potential for significant development that will increase the jobs and 
homes in each town in order to help sustain and where necessary enhance their services 
and facilities and promote better levels of self containment and viable sustainable 
communities. 
 
The Market Towns are: Amesbury, Bradford on Avon, Calne, Corsham, Devizes, 
Malmesbury, Marlborough, Melksham, Tidworth and Ludgershall, Warminster, Westbury, and 
Royal Wootton Bassett. 
 
Local Service Centres 
 
Local Service Centres are defined as smaller towns and larger villages which serve a 
surrounding rural hinterland and possess a level of facilities and services that, together with 
improved local employment, provide the best opportunities outside the Market Towns for 
greater self containment. 
 
Local Service Centres will provide for modest levels of development in order to safeguard 
their role and to deliver affordable housing. 
 
The Local Service Centres are: Pewsey, Market Lavington, Cricklade, Tisbury, Mere, 
Downton and Wilton. 
 
Large and Small Villages 
 
Large Villages are defined as settlements with a limited range of employment, services and 
facilities. Small Villages have a low level of services and facilities, and few employment 
opportunities. 
 
Development at Large and Small Villages will be limited to that needed to help meet the 
housing needs of settlements and to improve employment opportunities, services and 
facilities. 
 
The Large and Small Villages are: see area strategies, Chapter 5. 
 
 
 
 

23 
 Page 229



 

Core Policy 2: Delivery strategy 
 
The Delivery Strategy 
 
4.18 The Delivery Strategy recognises that, in some settlements, new jobs have not 

necessarily been delivered alongside new homes. It therefore seeks to strengthen 
communities, wherever possible, by allowing appropriate growth to provide for the 
most sustainable pattern of development within Wiltshire which seeks to reduce the 
need to travel and help redress the imbalance between jobs and homes. 

 
4.19 The underlying principles of the Delivery Strategy are to ensure that communities 

have a better balance of jobs, services and facilities and homes. This underlines the 
focus of the Settlement Strategy to support growth at the Principal Settlements of 
Chippenham, Trowbridge and Salisbury which provides the greatest opportunities 
within Wiltshire to deliver improved self containment and potential to generate job 
growth. The interrelationship between the Settlement Strategy (Core Policy 1) and 
the Delivery Strategy (Core Policy 2) is explained under paragraphs 4.13 to 4.17. 

4.20 Wiltshire’s proposed strategic housing requirement is set out against defined sub-
county areas as identified within the Wiltshire Strategic Housing Market Assessment 
(SHMA). However, in order to support the most sustainable pattern of growth, in line 
with the principles defined in Core Policy 1, indicative requirements are provided for 
each Principal Settlement, Market Town and by community area within paragraph 4.26 
below. The indicative figures also allow a flexible approach which will allow the 
council including through the preparation of the Site Allocations DPD and local 
communities preparing neighbourhood plans to respond positively to opportunities 
without being inhibited by an overly prescriptive, rigid approach which might otherwise 
prevent sustainable development proposals that can contribute to delivering the 
strategic objectives of the plan.  

 
Figure 4.1 Wiltshire- Key Diagram 

 
4.21 The Delivery Strategy identifies around 178 ha of new strategic employment land20 to 

supplement that already built since 2006 (the base date of the plan) or with planning 
permission at date of submission, to provide a range of sites and choice of 
locations across Wiltshire. The new employment land allocated responds to the need 
to provide for new jobs to provide for investment choice and to assist in meeting job 
creation targets of the Swindon and Wiltshire Local Enterprise Partnership. The 
allocation also allows the retention of existing jobs through facilitating the relocation of 
existing business to new sites within the locality and thereby allowing older, outdated 
employment stock to be redeveloped. This builds the necessary flexibility into the 
strategy. 

 
4.22 The 178ha21 of new strategic employment land will be provided by a combination of 

the following types of sites. 
 

• New strategic employment allocations. 

20  B1, Offices, research and development of products and processes and light industry. B2 General Industrial - Use for industrial 
process other than one falling within class B1 (excluding incineration purposes, chemical treatment or landfill or hazardous 
waste). B8 Storage or distribution - this class includes open air storage. 

21 This is made up of 132 ha as identified on page 87 of Topic Paper 7: Economy plus employment land identified in the South 
Wiltshire Core Strategy 

24 
 

                                                           

Page 230



• Provision of employment land as part of mixed use urban extensions. 
• Retained Local/District Plan allocations for employment land. 

 
4.23 At mixed use strategic sites there will be a focus on ensuring an appropriate 

phasing of development, so that jobs are provided in a timely manner alongside new 
homes. It is therefore a requirement that employment land will be delivered in the early 
stages of mixed use development proposals. This will be achieved through master 
planning and legal agreements, which will be need to accord with the development 
template identified for each site in Appendix A. 

 
4.24 In planning for new homes, a number of sources have been identified to ensure a 

continuous supply of housing across the plan period. These sources of supply are 
detailed within Appendix C and include: 

 
• Strategic allocations made within this plan 
• Retained Local Plan allocations 
• Existing commitments 
• Regeneration projects, for example, those in Chippenham, Trowbridge and 

Salisbury  
• Business expansion plans22 
• Sites identified through DPDs and neighbourhood plans 
• Windfall sites in accordance with the delivery strategy. 

 
4.25  The Plan also includes ‘exception policies’ which seek to respond to local 

circumstance and national policy. In doing so these represent additional sources of 
supply to those detailed at paragraphs 4.22 and 4.24. These policies are listed below:  

 
• Additional employment land (Core Policy 34)  
• Military establishments (Core Policy 37)  
• Development related to tourism (Core Policies 39 and 40)  
• Rural exception sites (Core Policy 44)  
• Specialist accommodation provision (Core Policies 46 and 47)  
• Supporting rural life (Core Policy 48)  

 

4.26 In order to direct development at a strategic level to the most suitable, sustainable 
locations and at appropriate times the area strategies contain an indicative housing 
requirement for each community area including the Principal Settlements and Market 
Towns and in the South Wiltshire HMA the Local Service Centres. This is shown in 
table 1 below:  

 
Table 1: Indicative Housing Requirements - Settlements and Community Areas  
 

Area Indicative requirement 
  
Devizes town 2,010 
Devizes remainder 490 
Marlborough town 680 
Marlborough remainder 240 
Pewsey 600 

22 Housing supply has the potential to be delivered through a company relocating and freeing up their existing site, or 
rationalisation and retrenchment thereby freeing up land on their existing site, or indeed basing expansion on a mixed use 
development. 

25 
 

                                                           

Page 231



Tidworth & Ludgershall 1,750 
Tidworth remainder 170 
East Wiltshire 5,940 
  
Amesbury, Bulford & Durrington 2,440 
Amesbury remainder 345 
Mere town 235 
Mere remainder 50 
Salisbury City/Wilton town 6,060 
Wilton remainder 255 
Downton town 190 
Southern Wiltshire remainder 425 
Tisbury town 200 
Tisbury remainder 220 
South Wiltshire HMA 10,420 
  
Bradford on Avon town 595 
Bradford on Avon remainder 185 
Calne town 1,440 
Calne remainder 165 
Chippenham town 4,51023 
Chippenham remainder 580 
Corsham town 1,220 
Corsham remainder 175 
Malmesbury town 885 
Malmesbury remainder 510 
Melksham town 2,240 
Melksham remainder 130 
Royal Wootton Bassett town 1,070 
Royal Wootton Bassett & Cricklade remainder 385 
Trowbridge town 6,810 
Trowbridge remainder 165 
Warminster town 1,920 
Warminster remainder 140 
Westbury town 1,500 
Westbury remainder 115 
North and West Wiltshire HMA 24,740 
  
West of Swindon 900 
  
Wiltshire 42,000 

 
4.26b  The Core Strategy allocates sites and broad locations for growth that are strategically 

important for the delivery of the Plan for Wiltshire. Additional sites will also be 
identified through the Chippenham and Housing Site Allocations DPDs to ensure the 
delivery of housing land across the plan period in order to maintain a 5 year land 
supply at each HMA.  

 
4.26c  No allocations have been identified for Chippenham in Core Policy 2 and the scale of 

housing for the town is expressed as a minimum, which is an exception to the 
approach of indicative housing requirements and identification of sites for the other 

23 This figure is ‘at least’. See paragraph 4.26c. 
26 

 

                                                           

Page 232



Principal Settlements. A pattern of development that can best realise the town’s 
economic potential will be identified through a separate Development Plan Document 
for Chippenham Town (The Chippenham Sites Allocation DPD), which will support the 
area strategy. It will focus on identifying land for mixed use development adjoining the 
built up area. Limited land opportunities within the urban area inhibit future 
development and this will need to be addressed urgently. Growth of the Town needs 
to be underpinned by investment in new infrastructure and a more detailed framework 
will be prepared through the Chippenham Site Allocations DPD that co-ordinates 
growth and key infrastructure necessary to deliver the town a more resilient long term 
future. 

 
4.26d  Area strategies identify specific issues that must be considered when planning for 

these areas and these should be taken into account when assessments are carried 
out to identify specific sites for development in particular towns. Core Policy 2 
provides a framework for Parish and Town Council to lead with neighbourhood plans. 
The council is also preparing a Housing Site Allocations DPD in order to ensure a 
sufficient choice and supply of suitable sites over the period up to 2026.  

 
4.26e  The disaggregation to community areas set out above is not intended to be so 

prescriptive as to be inflexible and potentially ineffective in delivering the identified 
level of housing for each market area. It clarifies the council’s intentions in the 
knowledge of likely constraints; in terms of market realism, infrastructure and 
environmental capacity. They provide a strategic context for the preparation of the 
Housing Sites Allocation DPD and in order to plan for appropriate infrastructure 
provision. 

  
4.26f  Indicative housing land supply, based around trajectories for each of the HMAs 

provide some detail on where the Housing Site Allocations DPD should focus and by 
when it needs to have sites identified in order to sustain proposed rates and scales of 
housing development. This will make up the shortfall in delivery identified towards the 
end of the plan period. These trajectories provide an evidence basis for an 
implementation strategy for a full range of housing describing how the council will 
maintain delivery of a five-year supply of housing land.   

 
4.27 The sources of supply have been assessed to ensure that there is a deliverable supply 

of housing (with additional contingency) to comply with the NPPF relative to the targets 
for defined areas, which are based on the housing market areas (HMAs). This is detailed 
in Appendix C – Housing Land Supply. 

 
4.28 These housing market areas (HMAs) form the appropriate scale for disaggregation 

across Wiltshire, as they define areas within which the majority of household moves 
take place. It is against these HMA requirements that housing land supply will be 
assessed. This is in accordance with the methodology identified in the NPPF. 
However, in order to ensure an appropriate distribution of housing across Wiltshire 
that supports the most sustainable pattern of growth, indicative requirements are also 
provided at a community area and settlement level within the Core Strategy. These 
more localised indicative requirements as set out within the Area Strategy Core 
Policies are intended to prevent settlements receiving an unbalanced level of growth 
justified by under or over delivery elsewhere. They also address the ability of each 
Community Area to accommodate housing because of the constraints and 
opportunities present in each. The indicative figures also allow a flexible approach 
which will allow the council including through the preparation of the Site Allocations 
DPD and local communities  preparing  neighbourhood plans to respond positively to 
opportunities without being inhibited by an overly prescriptive, rigid approach which 
might otherwise prevent sustainable development proposals that can contribute to 

27 
 Page 233



maintaining a deliverable five year housing land supply and delivering the strategic 
objectives of the plan. Neighbourhood Plans should not be constrained by the specific 
housing requirements within the Core Strategy and additional growth may be 
appropriate and consistent with the Settlement Strategy (Core Policies 1 and 2). In 
addition sustainable development within the limits of development or at Small Villages 
should not be constrained just because requirements have been reached. For these 
reasons the overall housing requirement is shown as “at least”, while the area 
strategy figures are “indicative”. 

 
4.29 Despite the Housing Market Areas being the appropriate scale for assessing land 

supply, the town and community area requirements should also be capable of being a 
material consideration to ensure that delivery is distributed broadly in line with the 
strategy. So for example, whilst it is appropriate for supply in Trowbridge to 
provide for some of the requirement of Westbury, it would be wholly inappropriate 
for the entirety of Westbury’s requirement to be added to Trowbridge. The policy 
framework sets out the strategic pattern of growth, while allowing some flexibility to 
respond to future, spatially distinctive opportunities and constraints. Indeed, across 
the plan period, delivery should be in general conformity with the delivery 
strategy. Similarly, development that provides housing for the population of Swindon 
rather than that of Wiltshire should not be assessed against the housing 
requirements for the Wiltshire Housing Market Areas. Should any development 
beyond that already committed come forward in this location, this will be additional to 
the housing requirement for Wiltshire. A specific acknowledgement has been made 
for the existing commitment at Moredon Bridge and Ridgeway Farm at the West of 
Swindon for 900 homes. Development in this area does not meet the requirement for 
the defined housing market areas. These 900 dwellings are an allowance rather than 
a requirement. As part of the planned early review of the CS, the council will clarify 
that its housing requirement will be met without relying upon the delivery of homes to 
the west of Swindon. The delivery strategy defines the level of growth appropriate 
within the built up area of small villages as infill. For the purposes of Core Policy 2, 
infill is defined as the filling of a small gap within the village that is only large enough 
for one dwelling. Exceptions to this approach will only be considered through the 
neighbourhood plan process or DPDs. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Core Policy 2  
 
Delivery Strategy  
 
In line with Core Policy 1, the delivery strategy seeks to deliver future development in 
Wiltshire between 2006 and 2026 in the most sustainable manner by making provision for at least 
178 ha of new employment land and at least 42,000 homes distributed as follows:  

 
 Minimum housing requirement (dwellings) 
East Wiltshire HMA 5,940 
North and West Wiltshire HMA 24,740 

28 
 Page 234



South Wiltshire HMA 10,420 
West of Swindon24 900 
Wiltshire 42,000 

 
This will be delivered in a sustainable pattern in a way that prioritises the release of employment 
land and the re-use of previously developed land to deliver regeneration opportunities, and to 
limit the need for development on Greenfield sites, with approximately 35% of development 
taking place on previously developed land.  
 
The 42000 homes will be developed in sustainable locations in conformity with the 
distribution set out above, against which the land supply situation will be assessed. A more 
detailed distribution is set out in the Community Area Strategies. Development proposals 
should also be in general conformity with these.  
 
Sites for development in line with the Area Strategies will be identified through subsequent 
Site Allocations DPDs and by supporting communities to identify sites through 
neighbourhood planning. 

 
Within the defined limits of development  
 
Within the limits of development, as defined on the policies map, there is a presumption in 
favour of sustainable development at the Principal Settlements, Market Towns, Local Service 
Centres and Large Villages.  
 
Outside the defined limits of development  
 
Other than in circumstances as permitted by other policies within this Plan, identified in 
paragraph 4.25, development will not be permitted outside the limits of development, as 
defined on the policies map. The limits of development may only be altered through the 
identification of sites for development through subsequent Site Allocations Development Plan 
Documents and neighbourhood plans.  
 
At the Small Villages development will be limited to infill within the existing built area. 
Proposals for development at the Small Villages will be supported where they seek to meet 
housing needs of settlements or provide employment, services and facilities provided that the 
development:  
 

i) Respects the existing character and form of the settlement  
ii) Does not elongate the village or impose development in sensitive landscape areas, 

and  
iii) Does not consolidate an existing sporadic loose knit areas of development related to 

the settlement.  
 
Strategically important sites  
 
Development will be supported at the following sites in accordance with the Area Strategies 
and requirements in the development templates at Appendix A.  
 
Central Car Park, Salisbury  
Up to 40,000 sq m retail and leisure floor space and 200 dwellings  
 

24 Development ‘West of Swindon’ lies within the Royal Wootton Bassett and Cricklade Community Area but contributes towards 
the housing needs of Swindon. A separate allowance for housing is included in recognition of permissions granted at Moredon 
Bridge and Ridgeway Farm. This allowance is not a minimum requirement. See paragraph 4.29 for firther information. 

29 
 

                                                           

Page 235



Churchfields & Engine Sheds, Salisbury  
5 ha of retained employment land and 1100 dwellings  
 
Drummond Park, Ludgershall  
475 dwellings  
 
Former Imerys Quarry, Salisbury  
4 ha of employment land  
 
Fugglestone Red, Salisbury  
8 ha of employment land and 1250 dwellings  
 
Hampton Park, Salisbury  
500 dwellings  
 
Horton Road, Devizes  
8.4ha of employment land  
 
Kings Gate, Amesbury  
1300 dwellings 
 
Kingston Farm and Moulton Estate, Bradford on Avon  
2-3ha of employment land and 150 dwellings  
 
Longhedge (Old Sarum), Salisbury  
8 ha of employment land and 450 dwellings  
 
Mill Lane, Hawkeridge, Westbury  
14.7ha of employment land  
 
Salisbury Road, Marlborough  
220 dwellings  
 
Ashton Park, South East Trowbridge  
15ha of employment land and 2600 dwellings  
 
Station Road, Westbury  
250 dwellings  
 
UKLF, Wilton  
3 ha of employment land 450 dwellings  
 
West of Warminster  
6ha of employment land 900 dwellings  
 
Master plans will be developed for each strategically important site in partnership between 
the local community, local planning authority and the developer, to be approved by the 
council as part of the planning application process. At mixed use sites development will be 
phased to ensure employment land, and its appropriate infrastructure, is brought forward 
during the early stages of development.  
 
 

30 
 Page 236



 

Core Policy 3: Infrastructure Requirements 
 
Delivering infrastructure requirements to support development 
 
4.30 An appropriate and balanced mix of new development is essential for the long term 

prosperity of Wiltshire. The Core Strategy shapes where new development should be 
located and also manages the pressure relating to speculative proposals through 
policy. It will provide new homes, jobs, services and thereby support social, 
economic and environmental objectives. The impact of development on local 
communities and the fabric of the existing built and natural environment is an 
important consideration. Managing this impact involves protecting existing 
infrastructure and securing the timely investment of new infrastructure. 

 
4.31 The council will work in partnership with internal and external infrastructure providers; 

neighbouring authorities; and the Local Enterprise Partnership to ensure that new or 
improved infrastructure, including that listed in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan and 
Schedule, is delivered prior to, or in conjunction with, new development. 

 
4.32 The timely delivery of new infrastructure to support development proposals must be 

secured. In order to achieve this aim, the council will work with developers to prepare robust 
infrastructure delivery plans to support the overall master planning of strategic sites within 
the Core Strategy and/or planning application process. The delivery plan will need to be in 
place prior to the commencement of development and should be agreed by the council, 
other relevant infrastructure providers and developers. The scope of such plans will cover 
among other things: funding, phasing, accessibility and impact on the surrounding area. 

 
4.33 In addition to managing the provision of the new infrastructure requirements of 

development proposals, the individual investment plans of infrastructure providers 
should be recognised and fully considered. It will be important that all new 
development proposals build safeguards into schemes to protect and enhance 
appropriate services and facilities, including: bus corridors, telecommunications 
equipment (particularly high speed broadband infrastructure), electricity power lines, 
high pressure gas mains, educational facilities, health facilities, flood protection 
measures, water treatment infrastructure, waste water treatment works and waste 
collection and management services. Developers proposing to connect to a Waste 
Water Treatment Works will need to check with the utilities provider that there is 
adequate capacity. Development in areas with no mains foul system will need to 
ensure that there are suitable options available for sewage disposal. 

 
4.34 Existing community services and facilities will be protected in line with Core Policy 49 

and existing green infrastructure will be protected in line with Core Policy 52. To 
encourage the most effective use of existing and new infrastructure, co-location and 
multi-functional use of land and buildings for services and facilities will be supported in 
accordance with other policies of the Core Strategy. The provision of new or 
improved infrastructure will be positively supported, particularly where opportunities 
arise through redevelopment or regeneration in sustainable locations, provided that 
this has no detrimental impact on the environment and contributes towards mitigation and 
adaptation to climate change. 

 
Securing the delivery of infrastructure 
 
4.35 Where new development proposals require the delivery of infrastructure, priorities will 

be set to manage competing demands. The broad categories of prioritisation (i.e. 

31 
 Page 237



essential infrastructure will be afforded the highest priority) are set out below, but the 
indicative list of infrastructure typologies should not be viewed as exhaustive, nor as 
being conveyed in a particular order of preference. 

 
Infrastructure priority theme 1: 
 
4.36 Essential infrastructure including but not limited to: 
 

• Sustainable transport measures 
• Water, sewerage and electrical utilities and connecting services, including low-

carbon and renewable energy 
• Flood alleviation and sustainable urban drainage schemes 
• Telecommunications facilities including fibre optic super-fast broadband 

connectivity services to serve local communities and the business community 
• Education healthcare facilities emergency services 
• Waste management services such as recycling and collection facilities 
• Specific projects needed to ensure compliance with the Habitats Regulations. 

 
Infrastructure priority theme 2: 
 
4.37 Place-shaping infrastructure including but not limited to: 
 

• Community safety in the public realm 
• Maintenance and improvement of the Wiltshire’s heritage assets, including the 

storage of archaeological remains 
• Leisure and recreation provision 
• Open space and green infrastructure  
• Town centre management schemes 
• Employer engagement and training schemes  
• Cultural and community facilities 
• Libraries 
• Public art and streetscape feature 
• Cemetery provision. 

 

4.38 The broad prioritisation of infrastructure provision has been designed to ensure that 
development proposals present solutions to address essential requirements first and 
then place shaping items next. This should not be taken to imply that place-shaping 
infrastructure is of lesser importance rather that the precise timing of providing it is 
not critical to the phasing of development. It may also be the case that a particular 
infrastructure project might deliver multiple benefits. For example, a new landscaped 
pedestrian footpath or cycleway could deliver sustainable transport, green 
infrastructure and recreation improvements. Infrastructure requirements are identified 
through working with providers and listed within the Infrastructure Delivery Plan, 
which will be updated over the plan period. Infrastructure requirements may therefore 
change. The council will be flexible and responsive to any changes. 

4.39 Every proposal will be dealt with on its merits and influenced by the detail presented in 
the council’s Infrastructure Delivery Plan and Schedule. These requirements will be 
sought in addition to other costs associated with development, such as affordable 
housing, on-site utilities infrastructure and transport access requirements. 

 
4.40 The council will seek to ensure that the cost of providing necessary infrastructure 

will be met through the appropriate use of planning obligations and, once finalised and 

32 
 Page 238



adopted, the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). All such financial contributions will be 
registered and monitored to ensure that developers and local communities can see 
when and how money is spent in relation to infrastructure provision. Agreement 
between the council, other relevant infrastructure providers, the community and 
developers over the extent and amount of developer contributions will be sought 
through the planning application process. 

 
4.41 The council intends to charge CIL and will consult with local communities, infrastructure 

providers, developers and other key stakeholders to prepare a CIL Charging Schedule, 
which will set out the rate(s) of CIL to be charged on new development. Whereas 
section 106 agreements will, upon adoption of a CIL Charging Schedule, be 
restricted to funding mainly site-specific infrastructure and affordable housing, CIL will 
be used to pool contributions towards local and strategic infrastructure that will benefit 
a wider area than any one development in particular. 

 
4.42 The council will also aim to secure funding from other streams. For example, the 

New Homes Bonus, which commenced in April 2011, is the match funding by central 
government of the additional council tax raised on new homes and empty properties 
brought back into use, with an additional amount for affordable homes, for the 
following six years. Money raised through the New Homes Bonus scheme could be 
utilised by the council to offset the cost of delivering public services and amenities with 
the overall aim of mitigating against the impact from increasing housing development 
and/ or population growth. 

 

Core Policy 3 
 
Infrastructure requirements 
 
All new development will be required to provide for the necessary on-site and, where 
appropriate, off-site infrastructure requirements arising from the proposal. Infrastructure 
requirements will be delivered directly by the developer and / or through an appropriate 
financial contribution prior to, or in conjunction with, new development. In ensuring the 
timely delivery of infrastructure, development proposals must demonstrate that full regard 
has been paid to the council's Infrastructure Delivery Plan and Schedule and all other relevant 
policies of this plan. Joint working with adjoining authorities will be encouraged to ensure that 
wider strategic infrastructure requirements are appropriately addressed. 
 
In the event of competing demands for infrastructure provision, developer contributions will be 
sought in the following order of priority. 
 

1. Essential infrastructure. 
 

2. Place-shaping infrastructure. 
 
 A viability assessment undertaken by an independent third party but on terms agreed by the 
council and funded by the developer will be required in the event of concerns that 
infrastructure requirements may render the development unviable. This will involve an ‘open 
book’ approach. If the viability assessment adequately demonstrates that development 
proposals are unable to fund the full range of infrastructure requirements, then the council 
will: 
 

i. Prioritise seeking developer contributions in the order set out above, and 
 

33 
 Page 239



ii. Use an appropriate mechanism to defer part of the developer contributions 
requirement to a later date, as agreed by all parties. 

 
Delivery responsibility 
 
This policy will be delivered by: 
 

iii. The direct provision of facilities and services by the council and its public and private 
sector partners, reflected in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan 
 

iv. The development management process. Planning conditions and planning 
obligations (largely through section 106 agreements) will be sought to mitigate the 
direct impact(s) of development, secure its implementation, control phasing where 
necessary, and to secure and contribute to the delivery of infrastructure made 
necessary by the development. The council will prepare a supplementary planning 
document that will provide more detail about its approach to securing developer 
contributions 

 
v. Utilising developer contributions to provide enhancements to local facilities and 

services 
 

vi. Liaison through the area boards with town and parish councils and appropriate local 
stakeholders to identify community infrastructure requirements help establish local 
priorities as well as develop / implement mechanisms for administering monies 
collected through Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and planning obligations in 
accordance with national and council policies 

 
vii. Partnership work with infrastructure providers, neighbouring authorities and other 

stakeholders, to identify requirements for and to facilitate appropriate community 
infrastructure development 

 
viii. Upon adoption of the CIL Charging Schedule, CIL will be used to pool developer 

contributions towards a wide range of new and improved infrastructure necessary 
to deliver new development. 

 

34 
 Page 240



 

5 Area Strategies 
Introduction 
 
5.1 This chapter explains what the Spatial Strategy, which is set out in Core Polices 1 

and 2, means for the individual community areas of Wiltshire. It is presented as a 
series of area strategies for each of the community areas of Wiltshire, setting out how 
that area is expected to change by 2026, and how this change will be delivered. 

 
5.2 Where Principal Settlements and Market Towns are referred to, it should be noted 

that reference is being made to their continuous urban areas that may be within more 
than one parish area. Similarly, there are places, notably Chippenham, Salisbury and 
Trowbridge, where the continuous extent of their existing urban areas and/ or 
proposed urban extensions, fall within more than one community area. In such 
circumstances, the community area in which the majority of the settlement sits includes 
the policy relating to that settlement in full. 

 
5.3 An overview of the information presented in each community area strategy is provided 

below. 
 
Spatial information and context 
 
5.4 Each area strategy begins with a brief description of the area, focusing on the main 

settlement. It identifies the opportunities for growth and the issues to overcome. 
 
The strategy for the community area 
 
5.5 The strategy then sets out how the area needs to grow in order to address these 

issues. It summarises how planning policy will guide development to ensure the right 
amount and type of growth takes place. 

 
Issues and considerations 
 
5.6 A list of specific issues to be addressed in planning for each community area follows 

the strategy. This  list  focuses  on  issues  influenced  by  planning  policy,  such  as  
the  need  to  improve self-containment or to ensure appropriate phasing of 
development. 

 
How will the community area change by 2026? 
 
5.7 A 'spatial vision' for each community area shows how the area is expected to have 

changed by the end of the plan period. It explains how new development and 
planning policies will have delivered this change. 

 
Community area map 
 
5.8 A map is presented, which shows the main settlements in the community area 

(Principal Settlements, Market Towns, Local Service Centres, and Large and Small 
Villages), as described in Core Policy 1. The map also shows selected constraints in 
the community area, such as Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB’s) and 
Green Belt. 

35 
 Page 241



5.9 Specific development sites have been identified in some community areas, where 
new jobs and homes will be provided. In those community areas where new 
employment land and housing is proposed in the form of strategic sites, the location 
of these is shown on the map. More detailed maps are provided in appendix A, 
showing indicative areas within each site for different types of development 
(employment, housing, mixed-use), and for areas of green space where built 
development will not take place. However, these maps are purely indicative, and each 
site will be subject to a master-planning process which will have community input. 

 
Core policies 
 
5.10 A core policy is presented for each area (additional core policies are provided in those 

areas with further specific issues to be addressed such as Amesbury, Chippenham 
and Salisbury). The core policy begins by setting out those settlements which have 
been identified as Principal Settlements, Market Towns, Local Service Centres, and 
Large and Small Villages in accordance with Core Policy 1 as appropriate within 
each community area. 

 
5.11 The core policy identifies Principal Employment Areas in each community area, 

which are considered to be critical to the economic role of the relevant settlements 
and/ or Wiltshire as a whole. These Principal Employment Areas will be protected in 
accordance with Core Policy 35. 

 
5.12 The amount of new employment land and new homes to be provided in each 

community area over the plan period is set out within the relevant core policy. The 
total level of new homes over the plan period 2006 to 2026 for each community area 
is shown as indicative. Paragraph 4.28 clarifies where additional growth above these 
requirements will be appropriate in accordance with the Plan. The community area 
requirements, where appropriate, are broken down into indicative figures for Principal 
Settlements, Market Towns, and some Local Service Centres with figures for the rest 
of the community area. However, it is important to emphasise that the figures are 
indicative and that delivery of the Plan will be monitored on a Housing Market Area 
basis, and therefore the figures should be interpreted flexibly as some areas may 
deliver more quickly while others contribute more slowly as the plan period 
progresses. Some of the suggested level of housing will have already been planned 
for or completed, as discussed below. Where strategic sites are identified then details 
of these sites are provided, along with specific requirements to be delivered as part of the 
development set out in the development templates in Appendix A. For strategic sites, 
the level of housing to be provided are not ‘at least’ but indicative of the level of 
homes that should be delivered on these sites. The exact figures will be determined 
through the master plan process. 

 
Table of housing numbers 
 
5.13 The core policy is followed by a table setting out the sources of housing which will 

together make up the total number of homes to be provided in the community area 
over the plan period between 2006 and 2026. The numbers within the table have been 
rounded to the nearest 5. The total homes to be provided can be considered as those 
already provided for, and those which still need to be provided for. The meanings of 
the column headings in the table of housing numbers are set out below. 

 
• Indicative housing requirement 2006-2026: this is the approximate number of new 

homes to be delivered between 2006 and 2026 
 

36 
 Page 242



• Completions 2006-14: this is the number of new homes which have been built since 
2006 (between 1 April 2006 and 31 March 2014, as identified in the Housing Land 
Supply Statement) 
 

• Developable committed sites (including allocations): the number of dwellings with 
planning permission plus an estimate of dwellings that can be delivered on land 
allocated in the Plan. 
 

• Indicative remainder to be identified: the indicative residual housing requirement 
for which a specific location has not yet been identified (i.e. indicative requirements 
minus the amount of dwellings committed or complete).These could come forward as 
windfall sites within existing urban areas and/or as greenfield sites on the edge of 
settlements that are identified through the site allocations development plan 
documents or community led planning documents, including neighbourhood plans  

Community area strategies for Chippenham, Trowbridge, Salisbury, Amesbury and 
Melksham 
 
5.14 The area strategies for the Principal Settlements of Chippenham, Trowbridge and 

Salisbury include additional place-specific policies relating to the Chippenham Central 
Area of Opportunity, the Trowbridge Central Areas of Opportunity, the Trowbridge Low-
Carbon, Renewable Energy Network, the City centre regeneration of Salisbury, the 
future of Old Sarum Aerodrome and reinforcement of the 40ft policy, which preserves 
the prominence of Salisbury Cathedral in the skyline of Salisbury. In the Amesbury Area 
Strategy there are specific policies related to facilitating a new visitor centre for 
Stonehenge and the future business needs at Porton Down. Whilst in the 
Melksham Area Strategy there is a policy to safeguard the route of the Melksham 
link canal. 

 

37 
 Page 243



 

Amesbury Area Strategy 
 
Spatial information and context 
 
5.15 The Amesbury Community Area comprises the town of Amesbury and surrounding 

parishes. Amesbury is situated some eight miles north of Salisbury with Salisbury 
Plain, a large military training area further to the north. It is located on the A303, a 
major arterial route from London to the West Country. The town is surrounded by an 
ancient landscape: it is close to the World Heritage Site of Stonehenge which attracts 
over a million visitors a year. Large areas around Salisbury Plain and nearby Porton 
Down are also designated as SPAs, to reflect their unique make-up, of what is one of 
Europe’s last natural semi-dry grassland habitats. 

 
5.16 Along with Durrington and Bulford and the associated military garrisons, Amesbury 

forms part of a group of settlements which have close links to one another, both 
geographically and functionally, and collectively make up a large population, almost 
half that of the city of Salisbury. These settlements provide a service centre for the 
Amesbury Community Area. Durrington, in spite of its size lacks the strong identity of 
south Wiltshire's smaller centres such as Mere and Tisbury. Bulford, with a population of 
about 5,000, is closely interrelated to both Durrington and Amesbury and is heavily 
reliant on them for meeting its own needs relative to other comparably sized 
settlements in Wiltshire. 

 
5.17 The last 15 years has seen the delivery of major growth in the Amesbury Community 

Area and two major employment sites continue to develop at Solstice Park and Porton 
Down. Solstice Park is a 64 hectare business park fronting the A303 at Amesbury and 
Porton Down is an international centre of excellence for biological research and 
health protection. Another key influence is the Ministry of Defence, with the airbase at 
Boscombe Down, a major research and development establishment, and the army 
garrisons at Larkhill, Bulford and Tilshead. There are exceptional local 
circumstances, which merit the continued support of existing employment land 
allocations at both Porton Down and Boscombe Down. Each of these employment 
sites is key to the South Wiltshire economy and makes an important contribution to 
the regional and national economy. The land identified should support science-based 
industry and research and facilitate the implementation of the Salisbury Research 
Triangle initiative. 

 
The strategy for the Amesbury Area 
 
5.18  The strategy for the Amesbury Community Area is focused around managing 

significant growth, ensuring that the world class employers in the area can continue to 
expand and provide valued employment opportunities in the area. The strategy for 
Amesbury seeks to make the town a more self-supporting community which has 
reduced the need to travel to larger urban centres. The strategy will respond to the 
Community Area’s location (in full or part) within a nationally designated landscape. In 
the Amesbury Community Area this includes the Cranborne Chase & West Wiltshire 
Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. It will deliver, within the overall objective 
of conserving the designated landscape, a modest and sustainable level of 
development. 

 
Issues and considerations 
 

38 
 Page 244



5.19 Specific issues to be addressed in planning for the Amesbury Community Area, 
include: 

 
• The delivery of balanced growth in the community area focused around 

Amesbury which will help to facilitate the delivery of improved infrastructure 
and greater retail choice in the town ensuring that the strategically important 
employers at Porton Down, Boscombe Down and the MoD on Salisbury Plain 
can meet their future operational aspirations balanced against the protection of 
nationally important wildlife sites 

• The MoD is one of the most significant employers in Wiltshire and makes an 
important contribution to its economy and to many communities across the 
county. The development of Britain’s first ‘Super Garrison’ around the 
Salisbury Plain area is having far reaching implications for local communities 
and is attracting multi-million pound investment into the county. Although the 
Super-Garrison project will be supported overall, specific proposal sites will be 
assessed through a subsequent planning document 

• A transport assessment is required for any major development proportionate 
to the scale of the proposal, in particular identifying appropriate mitigation 
against any significant impact on transport users, local communities and the 
environment 

• The A303 corridor runs through the area and is a main arterial route from 
London to the south west. It suffers from problems, with intermittent stretches 
of single lane carriageway causing large delays at peak times. This has a 
knock-on effect on the attractiveness of the area for business and tourism 
investment. Studies have confirmed the need to overcome these problems by 
dualling the A303 along its length. Wiltshire Council will work collaboratively 
with agencies, such as the Highways Agency, the Department of Transport 
and English Heritage to try and achieve an acceptable solution to the dualling 
of the A303 that does not adversely affect the Stonehenge World Heritage 
Site and its setting. 

• The need to make Durrington and Bulford more self-contained. They will have 
more local services and facilities to meet their own needs, meaning that 
functionally these settlements are less reliant on Amesbury 

• Potential exists for further retail provision around the old Co-op store within 
Amesbury subject to meeting design requirements and the needs of the 
conservation area appraisal 

• In Amesbury there are also concerns over the loss of A1 retail units especially 
to take-always. The vitality of the existing town centre will be protected by 
ensuring that the local centre at Kings Gate is commensurate with the day-to-
day needs of the Archers and Kings Gate areas. Future policy proposals for 
the settlement will focus on assisting the existing town centre to continue to 
thrive, taking into account the impact of the recent approval of out of centre 
retail development 

• Delivery of improved visitor facilities at Stonehenge. The council will also 
continue to work with partners to ensure that any future improvements to the 
A303 do not compromise this important World Heritage Site (WHS) 

• There is a challenge to improve public transport, pedestrian and cycle linkages 
to ensure that the residential growth areas have easy, convenient and safe 
access to town centre facilities and to improve the number of the surrounding 
villages which are well served by public transport choice to the main service 
centre at Amesbury 

• An acceptable solution to the need for dualling the A303 is needed, which 
must incorporate environmental measures to avoid adverse impacts upon the 
Stonehenge WHS.  In 2007 the Government identified a bored tunnel as the 

39 
 Page 245



only acceptable solution to this.  
• Treating the perception and fear of crime and anti-social behaviour is a high 

priority and measures are needed to try and make people feel safer in their 
communities 

• Despite the number of visitors Stonehenge attracts, Amesbury and the 
surrounding area see little economic benefit from it 

• The World Heritage Site will be protected from inappropriate development 
both within the Site and in its setting so as to sustain its OUV in accordance 
with Core Policy 59. 

•  There is a shortage of amenity space in the area, especially Amesbury East 
and this shortfall needs to be addressed and contributions will be sought from 
the planned growth through provision of new Amenity space and commuted 
payments under saved policy R2 

• Development in the vicinity of the River Avon (Hampshire) or Salisbury Plain 
Special Areas of Conservation must  incorporate appropriate measures to 
ensure that it wil not adversely affect the integrity of those  Natura 2000 sites 

• Development  with the potential to increase recreational pressure upon the 
Salisbury Plan Special Protection Area will be required to provide 
proportionate contributions towards the maintenance of the Stone Curlew 
Management Strategy25  designed to avoid adverse effects upon the integrity  
of the stone curlew population as a designated feature of the Special 
Protection Area 

• Ongoing protection and enhancement of the Stone Curlew and calcareous 
grassland habitat at Porton Down must be secured through the 
implementation of an Integrated Business and Environmental Management 
Strategy to effectively avoid potentially adverse effects of further development 
at the site maintaining the integrity of the Natura 2000 designations 

• Development within the community Area will need to conserve the designated 
landscape of Cranborne Chase and West Wiltshire Downs AONB and its 
setting, and where possible enhance its locally distinctive characteristics. 

 
How will the Amesbury Community Area change by 2026? 
 
5.20 Amesbury will continue to be the focus of managed growth within the community 

area. The town will have a good choice of transport and provide a good range of 
services including retail and health, acting as an important service centre to many 
of the villages. It will have good levels of employment, including the specialist 
sectors within the MoD, QinetiQ at Boscombe Down and the scientific research at 
Porton Down. 

 
5.21 Amesbury will be a thriving community reflecting the aspirations of its residents. It will 

be a place where people want to stay, attracting new residents, businesses and visitors 
alike. Managed growth will have provided new homes and jobs, which support 
improved services and retail choice and cements Amesbury's own specific identity as 
a self-supporting community which has reduced the need to travel to larger urban 
centres like Salisbury or other larger centres along the A303 corridor. 

 
5.22 Durrington and Bulford will also have become more self-contained. They will have 

more services and facilities to meet their own needs, meaning that functionally these 
settlements are less reliant on Amesbury. Through working with partners, especially 
English Heritage and the National Trust a lasting solution to the long term 
stewardship of Stonehenge will have been realised, returning the monument to a 
setting more respectful of its status as an international icon and delivering tangible 

25 Please refer to the Biodiversity and Development pages of the Wiltshire Council website for further details 
40 

 

                                                           

Page 246



economic benefits. The other objectives of the 2009 Management Plan, such as 
improving access to the World Heritage Site, developing sustainable transport and 
improving the conservation of archaeological sites, will have been realised. 

 
[Figure 5.1 Amesbury community area] 

 
Core Policy 4 
 
Spatial Strategy: Amesbury Community Area 
 
Development in the Amesbury Community Area should be in accordance with the Settlement 
Strategy set out in Core Policy 1. 
 

Market Towns: Amesbury (including Bulford and Durrington) 
Large Villages: Great Wishford, Porton, Shrewton, Tilshead and The 

Winterbournes. 
Small Villages: Allington, Berwick St James, Cholderton, Figheldean / Ablington, 

Gomeldon / East Gomeldon / West Gomeldon, Great Durnford, 
Hanging Langford, Lower Woodford, Middle Woodford, Milston, 
Newton Toney, Orcheston, Stapleford, Steeple Langford, 
Winterbourne Stoke and Wylye. 

 
The  following  Principal  Employment  Areas  will  be  supported  in  accordance  with  
Core  Policy 35:Boscombe Down (Qinetiq); London Road; Porton Down (DSTL/ HPA); High 
Post and Solstice Park. 
 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026) 17 ha of new employment land and approximately 
2,785 new homes will be provided. About 2,440 should occur at Amesbury (including 
Bulford and Durrington), including land identified at Kings Gate, Amesbury for strategic 
growth. 
 

Kings Gate, Amesbury New strategic housing 
allocation 

1,300 dwellings 

Boscombe Down Saved Salisbury District 
Plan allocation 

7 ha employment 
 

Porton Down Saved Salisbury District 
Plan allocation 

10 ha employment26 
 

 
The strategic allocation will be brought forward through a master planning process agreed 
between the community, local planning authority and the developer and should meet any 
requirements as set out in the development templates shown by Appendix A. 
 
Approximately 345 homes will be provided in the rest of the community area.  Growth 
in the Amesbury Community Area over the plan period may consist of a range of sites in 
accordance with Core Policies 1 and 2. 
 
Development proposals in the Amesbury Community Area will need to demonstrate how 
those issues and considerations listed in paragraph 5.19 will be addressed. 

26 The Salisbury Local Plan 2011 identifies a 5ha site at Porton Down in policy E8B. Paragraph 5.16 goes on to state ‘The site 
at Porton Down is about 5 hectares as a first phase, although there is a further 5 hectares of adjoining land available if 
required in the future’. The full 10ha is saved within Core Policy 4, although only the identified 5ha site is displayed on the 
maps. 

41 
 

                                                           

Page 247



 
 
 
 
Table 5.1 Delivery of Housing 2006 to 2026 – Amesbury Community Area 

 Requirement 
2006-26 

Housing already provided 
for 

Housing to be identified 

Completions 
2006-14 
 

Specific 
permitted 
sites 

Strategic 
sites 

Remainder 
to be 
identified 

Amesbury, 
Bulford 
and 
Durrington 

2440 1019 
 

52 
 

1,300 69 
 

Remainder 345 
 

130 
 

31 
 

0 184 
 

Community 
Area Total 

2785 
 

1149 
 

83 
 

1,300 253* 
 

 
Porton Down 
 
5.24 The scientific community at Porton Down is a prized asset in Wiltshire. It 

comprises three organisations, the Defence Science and Technology Laboratory 
(DSTL), the Health Protection Agency (HPA) and the Porton Down Science Park 
operator, Tetricus. The Porton Down Science Park (PDSP) will be developed as both 
a science park and business incubation facility with an emphasis on the bioscience 
sector. Ten hectares were allocated at this site within the Salisbury District Plan 
2003, which is saved by this strategy. 

 
5.25 In January 2007, the council adopted the Porton Down Master Plan as an SPD to the 

saved Local Plan. The Master Plan has been reviewed as part of the production of 
this strategy and is still relevant, effective and valued by all parties. 

 
5.26 Porton Down is designated as an SPA, principally for its large population of the rare 

Stone Curlew. The site is also designated as an SAC for its chalk grassland habitat 
and population of butterflies. While all parties are working positively to mitigate the 
impacts of the Porton activity on habitats, currently the issue has been addressed in a 
piecemeal fashion, which is slowing the development process and threatening key 
habitats. 

 
5.27 The council is working with the Porton Down scientific community, Natural England and 

appropriate conservation bodies to agree an Integrated Business and Environmental 
Management Strategy (IBEMS). The IBEMS seeks to  avoid the potentially adverse 
effects of known future business development upon Natura 2000 designations 
through an ongoing programme of research, monitoring and advanced habitat 
management and creation. The Porton Down stakeholders have already undertaken 
substantial work towards this and continue to do so. DSTL have undertaken initial 
work and have established that there are threatened species of butterfly on the site 
and enhancements required to juniper plantations that all require urgent action. Further 
work is currently underway, examining invertebrates, bats and other small mammals. 
The IBEMS will also provide an opportunity to enhance the biodiversity of the Porton 
Down site. 

 
 
 

42 
 Page 248



 
 
 

Core Policy 5 
 

Porton Down 
 

The council strongly supports the principle of the future development of the Porton Down 
Science Campus for research and development purposes and will work with the principal 
site stakeholders to build on the work already undertaken to facilitate their business aspirations 
in accordance with Strategic Objective 1 of the Core Strategy. This work will also ensure that 
the long-term future of Porton Down is secured based on a co-ordinated approach. 

 
One specific issue in relation to which co-ordination is required is wildlife management. The 
council will thus work with all relevant interests to produce an Integrated Business and 
Environmental Management Strategy (IBEMS) for the Porton Down SAC, SPA and SSSI and 
the non-designated areas of the site that will be adopted as a Supplementary Planning 
Document. The IBEMS will seek to balance the existing and future economic and scientific 
significance of the site with safeguarding important nature conservation interests,  while 
enhancing biodiversity across the Porton Down site. In order to facilitate future development, 
the IBEMS will identify future proposed development in generic terms, a broad timescale and 
high level assessment of impacts and  demonstrate how these potentially adverse impacts 
will be avoided. 

 
Proposals submitted in advance of the IBEMS being adopted as SPD, and stand alone 
projects not addressed in the IBEMS will likewise need to adequately demonstrate that either 
alone or in combination with other plans or projects, they do not have an adverse effect on 
the integrity of the Porton Down SPA, SAC or SSSI.  
 
 
 
Stonehenge 
 

5.28 A new Stonehenge World Heritage Site Management Plan was published in 
January 2009. The Plan provides a long-term strategy to protect the World 
Heritage Site for present and future generations. The primary aim of the Plan is to 
sustain the outstanding universal value of the World Heritage Site by protection, 
conservation and presentation of the archaeological landscape.. The Management 
Plan sets out many objectives for the World Heritage Site, such as improving the 
setting of Stonehenge and other prehistoric monuments, provide new visitor facilities, 
improving interpretation and access, and promoting sustainable transport. The plan 
was endorsed in July 2009 by Wiltshire Council as a material consideration in 
determining planning applications affecting the Stonehenge half of the WHS and its 
setting. 

 
5.29 Large numbers of overseas visitors, as well as domestic tourists, consider 

Stonehenge a "must see" attraction. However there is a lack of capital made on this 
unique opportunity locally. There is little evidence of the attraction having any real 
economic benefit for Amesbury or the surrounding villages. The presence of linked 
trips or tourists deciding to stay in the surrounding villages is all but absent. 

 
5.30 Wiltshire Council will continue to be active partners in seeking a long term solution 

which mitigates the impacts of the roads, delivers a greatly enhanced visitor 
43 

 Page 249



experience and returns the World Heritage Site to a more tranquil chalk downland 
setting appropriate to its status. 

 
5.31 Core Policy 6 sets criteria for development affecting the World Heritage Site. 
 
 
Core Policy 6 

 
Stonehenge 

 
The World Heritage Site and its setting will be protected so as to sustain its Outstanding 
Universal Value in accordance with Core Policy 59. 

 
New visitor facilities will be supported where they: 

 
i. Return Stonehenge to a more respectful setting befitting its World Heritage Site 

status  
ii. Include measures to mitigate the negative impacts of the roads 
iii. Introduce a greatly enhanced visitor experience in a high quality visitor centre 
iv. Implement an environmentally sensitive method of managing visitors to and from 

Stonehenge  
v. Include a tourist information element, which highlights other attractions and facilities 

on offer in the surrounding area and raises the profile of Wiltshire. 
 
 

44 
 Page 250



 

Bradford on Avon Area Strategy 
 
Spatial information and context 
 
5.32 The Bradford on Avon Community Area is located in the west of Wiltshire. The 

majority of the community area is within the Western Wiltshire Green Belt, and parts 
of the area are also within the Cotswolds AONB. 

 
5.33 The historic town of Bradford on Avon is one of the smaller market towns in 

Wiltshire. The town features a number of important historic buildings, along with 
leisure facilities such as the Kennet and Avon Canal and is a popular tourist 
destination. The town currently offers a low range and number of employment 
opportunities and has a high level of out-commuting. In addition, although there is a 
range of specialist shops in the town, which help support the tourist industry, the 
overall retail offer serves only basic local needs. This has partly been addressed 
through the provision of a convenience store as part of the Kingston Mill development. 
The existing infrastructure in the town is under pressure, with schools and doctors 
surgeries at or near capacity. There are problems with high traffic volumes and 
congestion in the town centre and an Air Quality Management Area covers Market 
Street, Silver Street, Masons Lane and part of St Margaret’s Street. There is a local 
aspiration for improvements to walking and cycling routes, including provision of a new 
footbridge linking the town centre and development at Kingston Mill, and for a 
reduction in traffic intimidation by giving priority to pedestrians. The Bradford on Avon 
Historic Core Zone project aims to address some of these issues. The community area 
has aspirations to become 'carbon neutral' by 2050. 

 
5.34 Although Bradford on Avon is not identified as a strategic location for employment, the 

high levels of out-commuting indicate that development for business and employment 
uses should be encouraged to meet local needs. New employment provision will be 
provided at Kingston Farm (Moulton Estate) through a mixed use site. This additional 
provision will help improve the balance between housing and employment growth in 
the town, and offers the opportunity to improve self containment. It has been noted 
that Bradford on Avon faces a particular issue of the loss of employment land for 
housing. However, the current mix of small employers should ensure that Bradford 
on Avon is resistant to mass job losses resulting from a single business closure. 
Further loss of employment should be strongly resisted. 

 
The strategy for the Bradford on Avon area 
 
5.35 The strategy for Bradford on Avon is to provide growth on a modest scale and in 

order to deliver additional employment, thereby helping to improve the self 
containment of the town by providing jobs locally. Development will need to meet 
high standards of sustainable design and should incorporate renewable energy 
provision, to contribute to the town’s aspirations to be carbon neutral. The strategy will 
respond to the Community Area’s location (in full or part) within a nationally 
designated landscape. In the Bradford on Avon Community Area this includes the 
Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. It will deliver, within the overall 
objective of conserving the designated landscape, a modest and sustainable level of 
development. 

 
Issues and considerations 
 

45 
 Page 251



5.36 Specific issues to be addressed in planning for the Bradford on Avon Community 
Area, include: 

 
• The economic self containment of Bradford on Avon will be addressed through 

delivering employment growth as part of strategic development and retaining 
all existing employment sites 

• Strategic growth in Bradford on Avon will need to meet high standards of 
sustainable design and deliver renewable energy to help contribute to the 
town’s targets to be carbon neutral. Affordable housing will also be provided as 
part of the strategic growth as there is a high level of need in the town 

• Housing development in Bradford on Avon should be phased for delivery 
throughout the plan period to allow time for community initiatives to address 
pedestrian intimidation in the town centre to be implemented. This will also 
enable employment development to come forward in advance of further 
residential development, and will help to ensure a steady supply of new homes 
across the whole plan period 

• The loss of employment land in Bradford on Avon will not be supported, in 
accordance with Core Policy 35. New employment development, in addition to 
the strategic allocation, will be supported. This will help address the historic 
loss of employment land in the town due to market forces and the 
attractiveness of Bradford on Avon to retired people, second home owners and 
commuters, which have exerted pressure on former employment sites in the 
town to be converted to residential use 

• A transport assessment is required for major applications and must include an 
assessment of the likely future impacts of the Kingston Mills development and 
demonstrate how development will not exacerbate the existing AQMA. 
Consideration is also needed for any impacts from development on the high 
traffic volumes along the B3107 (Holt Road) 

• Development should be planned so as to conserve and enhance the high 
quality built and natural environment in the community area having particular 
regard to the potential constraints of the Green Belt and Cotswolds AONB. The 
high quality historic environment in the community area should be protected and 
where practicable, enhanced 

• All development within the Community Area will need to conserve the 
designated landscape of the Cotswolds AONB and its setting, and where 
possible enhance its locally distinctive characteristics 

• Development associated with the Kennet and Avon canal will need to protect 
and enhance its wildlife value, landscape setting and recreational use 

• All development will be required to maintain the integrity of the Bath and 
Bradford on Avon Bats Special Area of Conservation, having particular regard 
to the Wiltshire Bats SAC Guidance27 

• Developer contributions will be sought towards the expansion of the primary 
and secondary schools, and expansion or relocation to larger premises of one 
or both of the GP surgeries in the town 

• An 'area of opportunity' in Holt (designated in the West Wiltshire District Plan) 
will be retained as it continues to offer a suitable location for mixed use 
development in accordance with Core Policy 1. Development of this site should 
be delivered through a comprehensive master planning process, and should 
be focused on providing live/work or local employment opportunities to help 
reduce the need for commuting 

• Staverton is located in the Bradford on Avon Community Area, but adjoins 
Trowbridge and should be considered in relation to both Trowbridge and 

27 Please refer to the Biodiversity and Development pages of the Wiltshire Council website for further details 
46 

 

                                                           

Page 252



Bradford on Avon. The Area Strategy for Trowbridge plans for the continuous 
urban area of Trowbridge and so includes consideration for Staverton 

 
How will the Bradford on Avon Community Area change by 2026? 
 
5.37 New development will have improved the economic self-containment of the 

community area by enhancing employment opportunities, improving services within 
the town and delivering an appropriate mix of affordable and market homes to help 
meet local need. Development will have had due regard to the historic built and cultural 
environment of the town and will meet high standards of sustainable design. Renewable 
energy provision, linked with new development, will have contributed to the 
community area’s aspirations to be carbon neutral. The natural landscape will also 
have been protected and enhanced. Congestion will have been reduced through the 
promotion and improvement of sustainable transport, including enhancements to the 
cycling and walking route network. The Kennet and Avon canal and the River Avon 
will provide enhanced social, environmental and economic assets to the area as vital 
green infrastructure links with Bath and the wider countryside, and Barton Farm 
Country Park will have been maintained and enhanced as part of the wider green 
infrastructure network. 

 
[Figure 5.2 Bradford on Avon community area] 

 

Core Policy 7 
 
Spatial Strategy: Bradford on Avon Community Area 
 
Development in the Bradford on Avon Community Area should be in accordance with the 
Settlement Strategy set out in Core Policy 1. 
 

Market Towns: Bradford on Avon 
Large Villages: Holt, Westwood and Winsley 
Small Villages: Limpley Stoke, Monkton Farleigh, Staverton and Wingfield 

 
The following Principal Employment Areas will be supported in accordance with Core Policy 
35: Treenwood Industrial Estate and Elm Cross Trading Estate. 
 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026), 2 to 3 ha of new employment land (in addition to that 
already delivered or committed at April 2011) will be provided and approximately 780 new 
homes will be provided. About 595 dwellings should occur at Bradford on Avon, including land 
identified to the east of Bradford on Avon on land at Kingston Farm for strategic growth. 
 

Land at Kingston Farm  2 to 3 ha employment 150 dwellings 
 
The strategic allocation will be brought forward through a master planning process agreed 
between the community, local planning authority and the developer and should meet any 
requirements as set out in the development templates shown by Appendix A. 
 
Approximately 185 homes will be provided in the rest of the community area. G r o w t h  i n 
the Bradford on Avon Community Area over the plan period may consist of a range of sites in 
accordance with Core Policies 1 and 2. 
 
Development proposals in the Bradford on Avon Community Area will need to demonstrate 
how the relevant issues and considerations listed in paragraph 5.36 will be addressed. 

47 
 Page 253



 
 
 
 
Table 5.2 Delivery of Housing 2006 to 2026 – Bradford on Avon Community Area 
Area Requirement 

2006-26 
Housing already provided for Housing to be identified 
Completions 
2006-14 

Specific 
permitted 
sites 

Strategic 
sites 

Remainder to 
be identified 

Bradford on 
Avon Town 

595 385 193 150 17 

Remainder 185 97 12 0 76 
Community 
area total 

780 482 205 150 93 

48 
 Page 254



 

Calne Area Strategy 
 
Spatial information and context 
 
5.38 The Calne Community Area is located to the north of Wiltshire and is characterised 

by a high quality rural landscape which includes areas of the North Wessex Downs 
AONB. The area contains the Market Town of Calne which is surrounded by a number 
of smaller rural settlements. 

 
5.39 Calne provides an important centre for the surrounding area, it features many 

historic buildings and has benefited from regeneration projects, including provision of a 
new library. However, further opportunities for regeneration remain and further 
development in Calne should be focussed on supporting investment in services and 
improvements in the town centre. There is some pressure on community health 
facilities in the town, with GP surgeries at or near capacity. In addition, the 
emergency services are looking for new or additional sites and additional cemetery 
capacity is required. The close proximity of the area to the M4 has attracted key 
employers to Calne in the past and it is identified as a strategic employment location 
in Wiltshire. This close proximity to the M4, Swindon and Chippenham does however 
mean that the town has a low level of economic self-containment and people often 
travel elsewhere for jobs and services. However, Calne is one of the more affordable 
settlements in the county. 

 
The strategy for the Calne Area 
 
5.40 The strategy for Calne is to ensure that housing growth is carefully balanced with job 

creation and town centre improvement. A relatively high level of growth has been 
suggested for Calne in the past to help facilitate the delivery of an eastern distributor 
road to alleviate town centre traffic. However the scale of growth needed to deliver 
such a new road now would be higher than is appropriate for the town. The actual level 
of growth proposed is on a more organic scale and would not support the provision of 
this significant infrastructure. As a large proportion of development has already come 
forward in the plan period, future development during the remainder of the plan period 
should be phased to ensure that infrastructure and employment provision 
appropriately supports development in the town. 

 
5.41 The strategy for Calne will help to maintain the economic base in the town with 

mixed growth of employment alongside housing, thus improving the self-containment 
of the settlement. The strategy will respond to the Community Area’s location (in full 
or part) within a nationally designated landscape. In the Calne Community Area this 
includes the North Wessex Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. It will deliver, 
within the overall objective of conserving the designated landscape, a modest and 
sustainable level of development. 

 
Issues and considerations 
 
5.42 Specific issues to be addressed in planning for the Calne Community Area, include: 
 

• The community have commenced work on preparing a Town Plan for Calne 
which could be adopted as a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) in the 
future, or lay the foundations of a neighbourhood plan. This will identify projects 
to help strengthen and regenerate the town centre and build on the success of 

49 
 Page 255



recent regeneration projects 
• The town plan will also investigate opportunities to address town centre traffic 

congestion and improve public transport access to the town centre 
• Consideration is needed for making greater use of the River Marden, which 

runs through the town centre, and could be utilised more successfully as an 
attractive feature of future regeneration projects, while also protecting and 
enhancing the important ecological value and landscape character of the river 
corridor 

• A transport assessment is required for major applications and should include 
investigations into identifying an appropriate solution to reducing the impact on 
traffic from the waste facilities located on the edge of Calne, which are a source 
of heavy vehicles 

• Developer contributions from future housing growth should also help to deliver 
infrastructure necessary in the town, which has not been delivered at an 
appropriate rate through historic development. In particular, there is a lack of 
cultural and entertainment facilities on offer in Calne compared to other towns 
of a similar size 

• Other infrastructure requirements include the need to expand the existing GP 
surgeries, and provide additional cemetery capacity. The fire and rescue service 
is also considering relocating closer to the North Beversbrook Road area and 
so new facilities may be required 

• Potential for additional convenience retail has been identified for Calne in the 
Wiltshire Town Centre and Retail Study. It is important that this is directed to 
the central area of the town to help improve the retail offer and the vitality and 
viability of the town centre 

• The delivery of a proposed leisure campus in Calne will provide enhanced 
community facilities and could help to strengthen the overall offer of the town. It is 
very important that such facilities are also directed towards the town centre, 
where this is practicable 

• Non strategic growth should be brought forward in accordance with Core Policy 
2 and phased throughout the plan period to deliver homes in a balanced manner 
that will enable infrastructure and traffic congestion issues to be addressed 

• All development within the Community Area will need to conserve the 
designated landscape of the North Wessex Downs AONB and its setting, and 
where possible enhance its locally distinctive characteristics 

• The eastern part of the Calne Community Area borders the Avebury section of 
the Stonehenge and Avebury World Heritage Site. It is therefore important that 
future development is sensitive to the setting of the World Heritage Site 

• The historic alignment of the Wilts and Berks canal passes through Calne 
Community Area and will be safeguarded in accordance with CP 53 

• An AQMA has been declared in the town28 and there are local concerns that 
development sites will exceed the mandatory limits set by European Directive 
2008/50. Measures to improve air quality in Calne must be considered 

 
How will the Calne Community Area change by 2026? 
 
5.43 Calne will be an active and attractive centre for the community area, offering a 

range of retail outlets accessible by public transport. The town will have services 
that are well used, including entertainment and recreational facilities. The community 
will feel proud of Calne, and will benefit from its range of accommodation and good 
links with local businesses. Development will have supported the growth of services 
and community facilities within the town. People within the community area will 

28 Wiltshire Council Calne Air Quality Management Area Order 2013 
50 

 

                                                           

Page 256



have access to a range of jobs, which will have helped in reducing the present high 
levels of out-commuting. Progress will have been made towards the restored Wilts and 
Berks Canal and the River Marden will provide social, environmental and economic 
assets to the area as part of a wider green infrastructure network linking Calne with 
Chippenham and the wider countryside. 

 
[Figure 5.3 Calne Community Area] 

 

Core Policy 8 
 
Spatial Strategy: Calne Community Area 
 
Development in the Calne Community Area should be in accordance with the Settlement 
Strategy set out in Core Policy 1. 
 

Market Towns: Calne 
Large Villages: Derry Hill / Studley 
Small Villages: Bremhill, Cherhill, Compton Bassett, Heddington and Hilmarton 

 
The following Principal Employment Area will be supported in accordance with Core Policy 
35: Porte Marsh Industrial Estate. 
 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026), approximately 1,605 new homes will be provided, of 
which about 1,440 should occur at Calne and approximately 165 homes will be provided in 
the rest of the community area. Growth in the Calne Community Area over the plan period 
may consist of a range of sites in accordance with Core Policies 1 and 2. 
 
Over the plan period (2006-2026), 6 hectares of new employment land (in addition to that 
delivered or committed at April 2011) will be provided, including: 
 
Land East of Beversbrook 
Farm and Porte Marsh 
Industrial Estate  

Saved North Wiltshire District 
Plan Allocation  

3.2 hectares  

 
Development proposals in the Calne Community Area will need to demonstrate how the 
relevant issues and considerations listed in paragraph 5.42 will be addressed. 
 
 
 
Table 5.3 Delivery of Housing 2006 to 2026 – Calne Community Area 
Area Requirement 

2006-26 
Housing already provided for Housing to be identified 
Completions 
2006-14 

Specific 
permitted 
sites 

Strategic 
sites 

Remainder to 
be identified 

Calne Town 1,440 757 639 0 44 
Remainder 165 72 18 0 75 
Community 
area total 

1,605 829 657 0 119 

 

51 
 Page 257



 

Chippenham Area Strategy 
 
Spatial information and context 
 
5.44 Chippenham Community Area is located in the northern part of the county and includes 

the market town of Chippenham, which is identified in this strategy as a Principal 
Settlement. The community area lies partly within the Cotswolds AONB and contains 
several Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI). 

 
5.45 Chippenham is located within a rural setting and acts as an important service centre 

for a number of villages within the community area and the surrounding towns and 
villages within north Wiltshire. The area is an attractive place to live and has several 
excellent schools. Although there is a relatively strong retail offer within the town, 
people from the catchment area often choose to shop in other larger settlements, 
including Bath and Swindon, and as such the town centre retail offer in Chippenham 
should be strengthened. 

 
5.46 Chippenham is one of the largest towns in Wiltshire and has excellent transport 

links, being in close proximity to the M4 and located on the main Bristol to London 
railway route. As such the town  is  an  attractive  location  for  employers,  but  this  
has  also  led  to  significant  levels  of out-commuting. As there is currently a shortfall 
of suitable land for employment growth in the town, a priority for this strategy is to 
ensure appropriate economic development takes place to prevent existing and 
prospective employers moving elsewhere. A failure to respond to this issue could 
lead to a loss of local employment at a time when some job losses are anticipated due 
to the current economic climate. 

 
The strategy for the Chippenham Area 
 
5.47 The strategy for Chippenham is based on delivering significant job growth, which 

will help to improve the self-containment of the town by providing more jobs for 
local people. To ensure employment is accessible to the local population a sustainable 
distribution and choice of employment sites will be provided at the town. They will form 
part of mixed use urban extensions, incorporating housing, that are well integrated 
with the town. Currently, the limited opportunities for the redevelopment of brownfield 
sites in Chippenham means that it is necessary to identify greenfield sites on the edge 
of town. The strategy will respond to the Community Area’s location (in full or part) 
within a nationally designated landscape. In the Chippenham Community Area this 
includes the Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. It will deliver, within the 
overall objective of conserving the designated landscape, a modest and sustainable 
level of development. 

 
5.47a Strategically important mixed use sites for the town’s expansion will be identified in a 

Chippenham Site Allocations Development Plan Document. 
 
Issues and considerations 
 
5.48 Specific issues that should be addressed in planning for the Chippenham Community 

Area include: 
 

• New employment provision in Chippenham is a priority and will help to redress 
the existing levels of net out-commuting. New employment provision will be 

52 
 Page 258



supported on the allocated strategic sites and on identified town centre 
regeneration/brownfield opportunity sites 

• Housing development in Chippenham should be phased for delivery 
throughout the plan period. This will enable employment development to come 
forward in advance of further residential development, and will help to ensure 
a steady supply of new homes across the whole plan period 

• Chippenham’s offer as a service centre will be enhanced, particularly the town 
centre for retail, leisure and the evening economy in order to reduce the outflow 
of shopping and leisure trips 

• Securing expansion to Chippenham’s town centre by providing additional 
convenience floorspace of 703 sq m net by 2015 rising to 1338 sq m net by 
2020 and an additional 3181 sq m net comparison floorspace rising to 7975 sq 
m net by 2020 to include an improved retail offer through redevelopment of the 
Bath Road Car Park/ Bridge Centre which is a priority along with redevelopment of 
other smaller town centre brownfield sites 

• Further out of centre retail development in Chippenham would weaken the 
town centre and future provision should be focused in the central regeneration 
opportunity area. Any proposals for edge of town centre retail development 
should clearly demonstrate that the development would not have a detrimental 
impact on the town centre 

• Public transport connectivity and pedestrian and cycling links to the town, town 
centre, railway station and Wiltshire College campuses needs to be improved 
including better integration of different modes 

• The River Avon is an important asset for the town and the local environment, 
and will be better integrated with the town centre and urban extension as part of 
a green infrastructure strategy, as a green corridor for wildlife, as a recreational 
space and as a sustainable transport route for pedestrians and cyclists 

• All development within the community area will need to conserve the 
designated landscape of the Cotswolds AONB and its setting, and where 
possible enhance its locally distinctive characteristics 

• Development will, where possible, enhance the ecological value of the Birds 
Marsh Wood County Wildlife Site and Birds Marsh Meadow County Wildlife 
Site 

• There is a need to plan for the potential re-use of the Hullavington MoD site 
which became surplus to requirements. This site is designated as a 
conservation area and is an important heritage asset 

• The former Chicken Factory site in Sutton Benger needs to be redeveloped 
and provides the opportunity to deliver local housing and to support rural 
services and new employment opportunities in the village 

• A number of improvements are needed to infrastructure provision in 
Chippenham and these include the need for new GP, Fire, Police and 
Ambulance facilities. A shared site, and/or contributions for such provision 
could offer an effective route to improved service delivery providing they are 
centrally located as practicable and in a sustainable and accessible location. 
Contributions toward enhanced health and emergency services provision will 
be sought, where appropriate, from any proposed development at 
Chippenham, subject to viability and timing 

• The existing Hardenhuish and Sheldon secondary schools are oversubscribed 
and further work is needed to assess either the need for a new secondary 
school in the town or the opportunity for expansion of Abbeyfield secondary 
school. Secondary school provision should be integral to any proposed mixed 
use development in Chippenham 

• Further infrastructure requirements include improved facilities for the young, 
including a possible skate park for the town 

53 
 Page 259



• Abbeyfield School is a business and enterprise school with close links with the 
local Chambers of Commerce. A small business enterprise zone, linked to the 
school, should be developed as a centre of excellence to facilitate dynamic 
and reciprocal links with local businesses to ensure direct pathways from 
education through to training through to employment. This will help to 
encourage young people to stay within Wiltshire 

• A more detailed Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (Level 2) is needed to 
provide a robust understanding of flood risk and inform decisions about the 
town’s growth and appropriate selection of sites for development. Such work 
should consider all aspects of flood risk and, where practicable, the scope of 
the assessment should be agreed with the council and Environment Agency 

How will the Chippenham Community Area change by 2026? 
 

5.49 Chippenham’s role as a strategic employment location will have been successful 
in retaining internationally renowned employers in the manufacturing and service 
sectors, including ICT, rail systems and logistics and future development will have 
been employment led. Job growth will have taken place on existing sites within the 
urban area, as well as on sustainable edge of town sites. 

  
5.50 The town centre will have been improved, with an enhanced mix of retail, leisure and 

entertainment uses and greater integration with the River Avon, making Chippenham 
an attractive and popular centre. The River Avon will be a defining and connecting 
feature and its active riverfront combined with the historic centre, market, parks and 
open spaces will have provided a thriving artery and distinctive identity for the town.
  

5.51 The self-sufficient status of the town will have been improved, although its 
excellent transport connectivity will continue to be an asset to the town, making it a 
popular location for employers. Housing development will have been highly 
sustainable and balanced, with early delivery of key infrastructure, and key services 
and facilities in the town will have been improved. Young people will choose to stay to 
live and work in the town because of the employment opportunities, access to housing 
and other available facilities. 

 
5.52 Modest levels of development to meet local housing need and to support rural 

services and local employment opportunities will have been delivered in the villages. 
 

[Figure 5.4 Chippenham community area] 

 
Regeneration of Chippenham Central Area 
 
5.53 The council is working with developers to ensure viable and comprehensive site 

solutions are delivered, which will secure investment in Chippenham. The nature of 
development to come forward on these sites will be determined in accordance with the 
key principles set out below and in Core Policy 9. A Chippenham Central Area Master 
Plan will be developed to provide a more detailed framework for the delivery of 
additional regeneration opportunity sites. If appropriate, this will be adopted as a 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) or via an alternative planning mechanism. 
Specific development proposals arising from the Chippenham Central Area 
Masterplan will be included in the scope of the proposed Chippenham Site Allocations 
DPD. 

 
5.54 The key principles to be addressed in developing the Chippenham Central Area are: 

54 
 Page 260



 
• A place to live and work – proposals should be for mixed use schemes and 

incorporate high quality design standards 
• The river as a defining and connecting feature of the town – any proposals for 

development in the central opportunity area should demonstrate how they will 
contribute to enhancing the river as an attractive feature of the development, 
providing improved pedestrian and cycle routes, public open space and active 
riverside frontages 

• A retail destination of choice – retail proposals will be supported in the central 
opportunity area providing it is clearly demonstrated how the proposals will 
strengthen the retail offer of the town and not lead to fragmentation or a 
weakening of the existing offer 

• A vibrant business location – mixed use proposals will be supported, 
particularly including office development, if this is well integrated into high 
quality development schemes providing for a range of appropriate town centre 
uses 

• An accessible town centre – all proposals should establish appropriate high 
quality public realm and pedestrian and cycle routes to create a lively visual and 
social environment focused on linking all parts of the town with its centre 

 

Core Policy 9 
 
Chippenham Central Areas of Opportunity 
 
The redevelopment of the following sites will be supported. 
 
i) Bath Road Car Park/Bridge Centre Site - to form a retail extension to the town centre to 
provide a supermarket and comparison units. 
 
ii) Langley Park - to deliver a mixed use site solution for a key redevelopment opportunity 
area to support the retention of significant business uses on part of the site. 
 
In addition, the River Avon Corridor will be enhanced for leisure and recreation uses in an 
environmentally sensitive manner and developed as an attractive cycle/pedestrian route 
connecting the town centre with the wider green infrastructure network, while conserving and 
enhancing its role as a wildlife corridor. 
 
Development will be delivered on opportunity sites elsewhere in the central area in 
accordance with the key principles listed in paragraph 5.54. 
 
All proposals should meet high quality design and sustainability standards including 
exemplary public realm and strong pedestrian and sustainable transport links. 
 
 

[Figure 5.5 Chippenham Central Areas of Opportunity] 

 
Strategic Approach to New Development in Chippenham 

5.54a Core Policy 10 identifies a need to identify at least a further 2625 dwellings (once 
existing completions and commitments have been taken into account) and 26.5 ha29 

29 Showell Farm employment site, Chippenham is not included as a site with planning permission 
55 

 

                                                           

Page 261



of land for employment development on land adjoining the built up area. The 
Chippenham Site Allocation DPD will identify mixed use land opportunities necessary 
to deliver at least this scale of growth. In this context there are a number of strategic 
areas where large mixed use sites could be located and directions for growth are 
shown diagrammatically below: 

[INSERT DIAGRAM] 
 
5.54b  These broad ‘strategic areas’ for growth are indicated by barriers such as main roads, 

rivers and the main railway line. The A350 may be considered as one such barrier to 
development. The Chippenham Site Allocations DPD will assess how each of these 
areas performs against criteria contained in Core Policy 10. 

5.54c  These criteria address relevant issues identified in paragraph 5.48. The DPD will 
identify a strategic site or sites and, applying these criteria and all other policies of the 
Plan, will focus first on the area that is best able to deliver growth. Preparation of the 
DPD will assess the viability and capacity to deliver infrastructure necessary to serve 
the needs created by new development and where possible contribute (cumulatively 
with other developments) to solving strategic infrastructure problems facing the town. 
Areas will be considered sequentially on a similar basis and by these means the 
growth of Chippenham can be best directed to support the town’s economic growth, 
resilience and quality of its environment. 

 

Core Policy 10 
 
The Spatial Strategy: Chippenham Community Area 
 
Development in the Chippenham Community Area should be in accordance with the 
Settlement Strategy set out in Core Policy 1. 
 

Principle 
Settlements: 

Chippenham 

Large Villages: Christian Malford, Hullavington, Kington St Michael, Sutton 
Benger and Yatton Keynell 

Small Villages: Biddestone, Burton, Grittleton, Kington Langley, Langley Burrell, 
Lower Stanton St Quintin, Nettleton, Stanton St Quintin and 
Upper Seagry 

 
The following Principal Employment Areas will be supported in accordance with Core Policy 
35: Bumpers Farm Industrial Estate, Methuen Park and Parsonage Way Industrial estate. 
 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026), 26.5 ha of new employment land (in addition to that 
already provided or committed at April 2011)30 and approximately 5,090 new homes will be 
provided. At least 4,510 should occur at Chippenham. 
 
Allocations at Chippenham will be identified in the Chippenham Site Allocations Development 
Plan Document (DPD) and will accommodate approximately 26.5ha of land for employment 
and at least 2,625 new homes. The DPD will set out a range of facilities and infrastructure 
necessary to support growth. Areas for growth and site allocations within the DPD will be 
guided by the following criteria:  
 

30 Showell Farm employment site, Chippenham is not included as a site with planning permission 
56 

 

                                                           

Page 262



1. The scope for the area to ensure the delivery of premises and/or land for employment 
development reflecting the priority to support local economic growth and settlement resilience  
 
2. The capacity to provide a mix of house types, for both market and affordable housing 
alongside the timely delivery of the facilities and infrastructure necessary to serve them;  
 
3. Offers wider transport benefits for the existing community,has safe and convenient access 
to the local and primary road network and is capable of redressing transport impacts, 
including impacts affecting the attractiveness of the town centre 

4. Improves accessibility by alternatives to the private car to the town centre, railway station, schools 
and colleges and employment 

5. Has an acceptable landscape impact upon the countryside and the settings to 
Chippenham and surrounding settlements, improves biodiversity and accessand enjoyment 
to the countryside  
 
6. Avoids all areas of flood risk (therefore within zone 1) and surface water management 
reduces the risk of flooding elsewhere 

Sites that do come forward should be the subject of a partnership between the private and 
public sector based on frontloading with a master plan to be approved by the Local Planning 
Authority as part of the planning application process. This master plan will guide the private 
sector led delivery of the site. 

Approximately 580 homes will be provided in the rest of the community area over the plan 
period. 

Development proposals in the Chippenham Community Area will need to demonstrate how 
the relevant issues and considerations listed in paragraphs 5.48 and 5.54 will be addressed. 
 
 
Table 5.4 Delivery of housing 2006 to 2026 – Chippenham Community Area 
Area Requirement 

2006-26 
Housing already provided for Housing to be identified 
Completions 
2006-14 

Specific 
permitted 
sites 

Strategic 
sites 

Remainder to 
be identified 

Chippenham 
Town 

4,510 995 3,040 2,400 475 

Remainder 580 326 105 0 149 
Community 
area total 

5,090 1,321 3,145 2,400 624 

 
 

57 
 Page 263



 

Corsham Area Strategy 
 
Spatial information and context 
 
5.55 The Corsham Community Area is characterised by its rural setting, high quality 

landscape, and historic built environment. The area is located within the Cotswolds 
AONB and the natural beauty of the area is also protected by the West Wiltshire 
Green Belt. It has a number of extremely attractive buildings, in settlements such as 
Lacock village, a popular tourist destination. 

 
5.56 The main settlement in the community area is the town of Corsham, which has seen 

considerable growth in recent years. The community area has strong economic 
relationships with the nearby major settlements of Bath and Chippenham, which offer 
higher order services, including for leisure and retail. However, despite the area’s 
proximity to the M4 transport corridor, the transport network in the area is generally 
poor, characterised by a rural road network with limited rail connectivity. Community 
and health facilities in Corsham are under pressure, with most GP surgeries at 
capacity. In addition, there is a need for a new cemetery. The area uniquely includes 
a concentration of active and dormant underground mines around Corsham, Box and 
Gastard, which provide the famous Bath stone, valued locally and beyond. These 
mines also support internationally important populations of roosting bats which utilise 
the landscape of the entire area and are protected by a Special Area of Conservation 
(SAC) designation. 

 
5.57 Recent and historic growth around the Corsham and Rudloe area has been strongly 

influenced by the military. The area retains a large military site, MoD Corsham, which 
has been significantly upgraded to form a ‘state of the art’ operational facility. The 
military presence has led to the area being traditionally a net importer of workers. 
However, reductions in the size of the military facilities in the future may alter this 
situation. 

 
The strategy for the Corsham Area 
 
5.58 Corsham has not been identified as a location for new strategic employment growth. 

Corsham has a large existing employment base for a town of its size due to the 
presence of the MoD and continues to be a net importer of workers (more jobs 
available than total resident workers) yet also has relatively high levels of out-
commuting. New employment development at the town should seek to improve the 
retention of workers, with the redevelopment of MoD Corsham, ensuring that 
Corsham will remain an important employment location in Wiltshire. Overall, the 
strategy supports some future growth to help facilitate the delivery of improved 
services and facilities in the community area. Any proposed strategic housing and 
employment allocations identified to the south of Chippenham in the Chippenham Site 
Allocations Development Plan Document will support the spatial strategy for 
Chippenham but may be located within the Corsham community area. The strategy 
will respond to the Community Area’s location (in full or part) within a nationally 
designated landscape. In the Corsham Community Area this includes the Cotswolds 
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. It will deliver, within the overall objective of 
conserving the designated landscape, a modest and sustainable level of 
development. 

 
Issues and considerations 

58 
 Page 264



 
5.59 Specific issues to be addressed in planning for the Corsham Community Area, 

include: 
 

• New growth in Corsham will be balanced with housing delivery alongside 
employment. This is particularly important as Corsham has seen significant 
housing growth in recent years which has not been accompanied by 
appropriate increases in services and facilities 

• Employment growth should be delivered in Corsham to complement the 
existing strong employment base (currently dominated by the military 
presence) and allow for economic diversification. There are particular 
opportunities in the area associated with specialist technologies that have 
developed within a number of sites in the area. These include Spring Park 
which represents a significant permission with strategic value for Wiltshire 

• The area contains a number of redundant MoD sites and proposals for the 
redevelopment of MoD sites which are well related to the town will be 
supported in accordance with Core Policy 37 (Military Establishments). All 
major development sites coming forward in the wider Corsham area must 
clearly demonstrate that the proposal will be well integrated into the existing 
settlements and enhance the character of the area. A master plan should be 
prepared for each site in conjunction with the community 

• There are opportunities for some additional comparison retail in Corsham to 
help to more effectively meet the needs of local residents and help reduce 
trips by car to other destinations. However, scope for any additional 
convenience retail provision in the town should focus on qualitative 
improvements and will only be appropriate if a suitably located site is available 

• The delivery of a proposed community campus in Corsham will provide 
enhanced community facilities in the town centre and help to strengthen the 
overall offer of the town 

• Developer contributions from future housing growth should also help to deliver 
infrastructure necessary in the town. In particular, additional community and 
health facilities are needed, along with additional cemetery provision. There is 
also a need for a permanent, centrally located, ambulance standby point in the 
town 

• Transport assessments required for major development should include 
identifying appropriate solutions to address capacity issues on the A4 and 
Bradford Road 

• The bus network in the area lacks connectivity and this creates a reliance on 
the car to travel to work, yet highway capacity in and around Corsham is poor. 
Reopening the railway station could be a significant boost to local businesses 
and should remain a priority. Improvements to bus services could help 
encourage a further shift away from car use and should form part of an 
integrated transport solution including cycling links between rural settlements 
and the Corsham town centre 

• The re-use of historic buildings in Corsham will be encouraged to sustain and 
maintain the character and identity of the town, as well as provide further 
employment and community facilities, providing proposals are of high quality 
design and sensitive to the historic setting and designations. Opportunities for 
Corsham to be promoted as a tourist destination should also be explored 

• The former MoD underground sites in the area are of international importance 
and development should be in accordance with the Historic Partnership 
Agreement (HPA) for the management of these sites 

• All development within the community area will need to conserve the 
designated landscape of the Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

59 
 Page 265



and its setting, and where possible enhance its locally distinctive 
characteristics 

• All development will maintain the integrity of the Bath and Bradford on Avon 
Bats Special Area of Conservation, having particular regard to the Wiltshire 
Bats SAC Guidance. 

 
 

How will the Corsham Community Area change by 2026? 
 
5.60 Development within the community area will have helped to improve the level of 

services and facilities in the area and have met local housing need. The unique 
nature of the villages will have been retained and Corsham will have further 
established itself as a tourist and employment destination. Redundant MoD sites will 
have been successfully redeveloped in the most sustainable way and be closely 
integrated with the wider community following consultation and agreement with the 
local community. The River Avon will provide a social, environmental and economic 
asset to the area as part of a wider green infrastructure network linking Corsham with 
Chippenham, Bath, and the wider countryside. 

 
 

[Figure 5.6 Corsham community area] 
 

Core Policy 11 
 
Spatial Strategy: Corsham Community Area 
 
Development in the Corsham Community Area should be in accordance with the Settlement 
Strategy set out in Core Policy 1. 
 
Market Towns Corsham 
Large Villages: Box, Colerne and Rudloe 
Small Villages: Gastard, Lacock, Neston and Westwells 

 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026), 6 ha of new employment land (in addition to that 
delivered or committed at April 2011) will be provided, including: 
 
The following Principal Employment Areas will be supported in accordance with Core Policy 
35: Leafield Industrial Estate and Fiveways Trading Estate. 
 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026), approximately 1395 homes will be provided, of which 
about 1,220 should occur at Corsham. Approximately 175 homes will be provided in the rest 
of the community area. Growth in the Corsham Community Area over the plan period may 
consist of a range of sites in accordance with Core Policies 1 and 2. 
 
Development proposals in the Corsham Community Area will need to demonstrate how the 
relevant issues and considerations listed in paragraph 5.59 will be addressed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

60 
 Page 266



 
 
 
Table 5.5 Delivery of Housing 2006 to 2026 - Corsham Community Area 
Area Requirement 

2006-26 
Housing already provided for Housing to be identified 
Completions 
2006-14 

Specific 
permitted 
sites 

Strategic 
sites 

Remainder to 
be identified 

Corsham 
Town 

1,220 549 341 0 330 

Remainder 175 199 45 0 0 
Community 
area total 

1,395 748 386 0 330 

 
 
 

61 
 Page 267



 

Devizes Area Strategy  
 
Spatial information and context  
 
5.61 The Devizes Community Area is predominantly rural in character, containing a 

number of small villages and featuring a high quality landscape, lying partly within the 
North Wessex Downs AONB.  

 
5.62 The main settlement within the community area is Devizes, which is one of the largest 

market towns in Wiltshire. The urban area of Devizes includes the administrative area 
of Devizes Town Council and parts of Bishops Cannings and Roundway parishes. 
Devizes has a well regarded town centre and has a good range of shopping and 
recreational facilities. Although not within a strategic transport corridor, Devizes is 
located on the crossroads of the A361 and A342, which serve as important links to 
Chippenham, Swindon and the M4. The town has historically been the focus for 
development within east Wiltshire and has a large and varied employment base with a 
relatively high level of residents living and working in the town.  

 
5.63 Devizes is identified as a location for strategic employment growth. The town retains a 

large and varied employment base and should be resistant to job losses from single 
business closures. Devizes has a good record of attracting employers, although given 
its location and transport access, these have tended to be small to medium 
businesses catering for local networks. The success of Devizes as an employment 
location and the status of the town should enable it to continue to be a strategic 
location for new employment outside the principle employment growth areas of 
Wiltshire. 

 
The strategy for the Devizes Area 
 
5.64 The development strategy for the Devizes Community Area supports Devizes' role as 

a significant service centre providing jobs, homes and attractive retail opportunities 
within east Wiltshire whilst recognising existing constraints within the highway network 
and the town's rich built and natural environment. The town should support the role of 
the nearby larger villages providing access to schools, doctors and small scale 
convenience shopping. The strategy will respond to the Community Area’s location (in 
full or part) within a nationally designated landscape. In the Devizes Community Area 
this includes the North Wessex Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. It will 
deliver, within the overall objective of conserving the designated landscape, a modest 
and sustainable level of development. 

5.65 Specific issues to be addressed in planning for the Devizes Community Area, include: 
 

• Traffic congestion is a major issue in Devizes and will be a significant 
consideration when discussing future growth in Devizes. A traffic simulation 
model has been developed to better understand the potential impact of new 
development31. A Devizes Town Transport Strategy is being prepared by 
Wiltshire Council in consultation with representatives of the local community 
and will consider sustainable transport solutions to reduce congestion as well 
as possible upgrades to existing junctions. All developments in Devizes that 
have the potential to increase the number of vehicles on the Devizes road 

31 Devizes Traffic Model: Local Model Validation Report, PFA Consulting, January 2012 and Devizes Traffic Model: 2026 Model 
Forecasting: Core Strategy Options Testing, PFA Consulting, January 2012.   

62 
 

                                                           

Page 268



network will be expected to contribute to the implementation of this strategy 
• Air quality is becoming a major issue in Devizes. An Air Quality Management 

Area (AQMA) has been declared in relation to a discrete area around Shanes 
Castle. Other points along the A361 through Devizes are also being monitored 
and there are local concerns that these sites will also exceed the mandatory 
limits set by European Directive 2008/50. Measures to improve air quality in 
Devizes must be considered, particularly through actions arising from the 
Devizes Town Transport Strategy 

• There is a long term aspiration in the Devizes Community Area to secure a 
railway station to serve the town. Locations at Lavington or Lydeway have 
been suggested. Opportunities to develop a strategy for rail access to Devizes 
should be explored during the plan period 

• The rate of development in Devizes should reduce compared to recent trends 
in recognition of the need to improve local infrastructure before significant new 
development takes place. Non strategic growth should be brought forward in 
accordance with Core Policy 2 and phased throughout the plan period to 
deliver homes in a balanced manner that will enable infrastructure and traffic 
congestion issues to be addressed 

• Developer contributions from future housing growth should also help to deliver 
infrastructure necessary in the town. In particular, capacity improvements are 
needed to the water supply network and the sewer system, including likely 
relocation of discharge points. A replacement is also needed to Devizes 
Ambulance Station 

• The cultural heritage of Devizes is very important. Two potential regeneration 
sites, the Wharf and Assize Courts, present an opportunity to enhance and 
develop this historic heritage through development that encourages tourism, 
recreation and community uses whilst retaining the historic integrity of each 
site. Development could have a dramatic impact on Devizes Wharf. Therefore 
improvements to the public realm at the Wharf and guidance on appropriate 
development should be secured through the preparation of a supplementary 
planning document32 

• The irregular street pattern in Devizes centre provides a unique and attractive 
retail environment, although it does also limit the potential for developing new 
larger format retailers. Recent research has concluded that Devizes is 
becoming less competitive within Wiltshire and has identified scope for an 
additional 840 sqm of new small scale comparison floorspace by 2015, rising 
to 2,125 sqm in 2020 to improve its competitiveness33. Within the primary 
shopping areas in Devizes, proposals for new comparison retail units will be 
supported provided the proposal is integrated with and provides enhancement 
to the existing fabric of the town centre and respects the historic character of 
the town 

• Providing for a range of employment growth at Devizes will help to further 
diversify the existing offer in the town, ensuring that it remains an area of key 
economic importance in Wiltshire for the future 

• The loss of green space within the town for development would undermine the 
character of Devizes 

• The rural identity of Bishops Cannings and Roundway parishes together with 
sites of biodiversity value are an important part of the landscape setting which 
helps define the character of Devizes 

• All development within the Community Area will need to conserve the 
designated landscape of the North Wessex Downs AONB and its setting and 
where possible enhance its locally distinctive characteristics 

32 Devizes Wharf Planning Brief, Draft Supplementary Planning Document, June 2011.   
33 Wiltshire Town Centre and Retail Study 2011.   

63 
 

                                                           

Page 269



• Development associated with the Kennet and Avon canal will need to protect 
and enhance its wildlife value, landscape setting and recreational use 

• The north eastern section of the Devizes Community Area borders the 
Avebury section of the Stonehenge and Avebury World Heritage Site and 
contains a number of its attributes of outstanding universal value. 
Development will be particularly sensitive to these and the setting of the World 
Heritage Site 

 
How will the Devizes Community Area change by 2026? 
 
5.66 Devizes will have a strengthened service centre role for employment, retail and 

community services within the community area and east Wiltshire. New residential, 
employment and retail development will have been delivered to support the town’s 
high level of self containment. Additional housing will have been provided to help 
meet the needs of local people. The resilience of the town will have been reinforced 
by strengthening its small business economy and development will have had regard 
to capacity constraints within the town's road network and air quality. The Kennet and 
Avon canal will continue to act as a vital social, environmental and economic asset to 
the area as part of a wider green infrastructure network linking Devizes, Trowbridge, 
Bradford on Avon, Bath and the wider countryside. 

 
[Figure 5.7 Devizes Community Area] 

 

Core Policy 12  
 
Spatial Strategy: Devizes Community Area  
 
Development in the Devizes Community Area should be in accordance with the Settlement 
Strategy set out in Core Policy 1.  
 
Market Towns Devizes 
Local Service Centres: Market Lavington 
Large Villages: Bromham,  Potterne, Rowde, Urchfont, West Lavington / Littleton 

Pannell and Worton 
Small Villages: All Cannings, Bishops Cannings, Easterton, Erlestoke, Great 

Cheverell and Marston. 
 
The following Principal Employment Areas will be supported in accordance with Core Policy 
35: Banda Trading Estate, Folly Road, Hopton Industrial Estate, Hopton Park, Le Marchant 
Barracks, Mill Road, Nursteed Industrial Estate and Police Headquarters. 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026) 9.9 ha of new employment land (in addition to that 
delivered or committed at April 2011) will be provided including: 
 
Land between A361 and 
Horton Road 

New strategic employment 
allocation 

8.4 ha 

Nursteed Road Saved Kennet District Plan 
allocation 

1.5 ha 

 
The strategic employment allocation will be brought forward through a master planning 
process agreed between the community, local planning authority and the developer and 
should be in accordance with the Development Templates shown by Appendix A. 
 

64 
 Page 270



Over the plan period (2006 to 2026), approximately 2,500 new homes will be provided of 
which about 2,010 should occur at Devizes. Approximately 490 homes will be provided in the 
rest of the community area. Growth in the Devizes Community Area may consist of a range 
of sites in accordance with Core Policies 1 and 2.  
 
Development proposals in the Devizes Community Area will need to demonstrate how the 
relevant issues and considerations listed in paragraph 5.65 will be addressed.  
 
 

 
Table 5.6 Delivery of Housing 2006 to 2026 - Devizes Community Area 
Area Requirement 

2006-26 
Housing already provided for Housing to be identified 
Completions 
2006-14 

Specific 
permitted 
sites 

Strategic 
sites 

Remainder to 
be identified 

Devizes 
Town 

2,010 1,316 361 0 333 

Remainder 490 225 55 0 210 

Community 
area total 

2,500 1,541 416 0 543 

 
 

65 
 Page 271



 

Malmesbury Area Strategy 
 
Spatial information and context 
 
5.67 Malmesbury Community Area is located in the north of Wiltshire, it is predominantly rural 

in character and includes parts of the Cotswold AONB. The area has important 
functional links with Cirencester to the north and includes the market town of 
Malmesbury and a number of rural villages including Ashton Keynes, Crudwell, Great 
Somerford, Oaksey and Sherston. 

 
5.68 The hill top town of Malmesbury is almost surrounded by the River Avon and contains 

an historic core which includes Malmesbury Abbey, Town Walls and Market Cross, and 
has an important role as a tourist destination. There is a small employment base in 
the town which is dominated by a single manufacturer, yet overall there is a pattern 
of net in-commuting to the town. Malmesbury is an important local retail centre for 
the surrounding rural area. The town’s proximity to the M4 and the A429 is a real 
asset and should provide the impetus required for attracting increased employment 
growth. Malmesbury is also close to the Cotswold Water Park, which is an important 
tourist destination, and the former RAF Kemble (located on the border with Cotswold 
District Council and now called Kemble Business Park), which has developed into a 
Business Park. 

 
The strategy for the Malmesbury Area 
 
5.69 Given Malmesbury’s rural location and the characteristics of the town, it is not realistic 

to plan for significant growth, but some new homes will contribute towards alleviating 
affordability issues in the area. The strategy for Malmesbury is to support its role as 
an important tourist location in Wiltshire and local retail centre offering a range of 
shops and services for the wider community. It is important that some housing 
development occurs to meet local housing need and to support the employment, 
service and retail role that Malmesbury provides. The strategy will respond to the 
Community Area’s location (in full or part) within a nationally designated landscape.  
In the Malmesbury Community Area this includes the Cotswolds Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty.  It will deliver, within the overall objective of conserving the 
designated landscape, a modest and sustainable level of development. 

 
Issues and considerations 
 
5.70 Specific issues to be addressed in planning for the Malmesbury Community Area, 

include: 
 

• Providing appropriate levels of housing in the town. Malmesbury has a high 
quality historic environment with few opportunities to bring forward new 
affordable homes on previously developed land. It is possible that a greenfield 
site may need to be identified to provide for housing need in the community 
area and enable the local economic base to diversify. Such opportunities 
should be identified through a community-led neighbourhood plan or in 
accordance with Core Policy 2 

• Consideration for primary school places as the existing schools in the town are 
close to capacity. Collaborative work to prepare a neighbourhood plan should 
also carefully consider how primary school capacity can be satisfactorily 
resolved in a timely manner and integrated with any future housing growth 

66 
 Page 272



• Developer contributions from future housing growth should also help to deliver 
other infrastructure necessary in the town. This may include contributing to the 
relocation of Malmesbury fire station from the town centre to the northern part 
of Tetbury Hill  

• Diversification of the employment base which will help to strengthen the local 
economy and reduce out-commuting. A more flexible approach to allow 
economic development on the edge of the town will be considered, providing the 
scale of development is appropriate and sensitive to the historic environment, 
as described below 

• There is little capacity for additional convenience retail provision in 
Malmesbury. However, there has been market interest and as many residents 
from the town travel outside of the community area to shop, there may be 
scope for an appropriate scale of supermarket development at Malmesbury 
during the plan period, providing this contributes towards strengthening the 
town centre, be of high quality design and sensitive to the historic environment 

• Future development will be carefully managed to ensure the high quality built 
environment including the important historic assets - such as Malmesbury 
Abbey and Conservation Area, are protected. Future development should be of 
high quality design and well integrated with the existing built form and 
landscape setting of the town including using local materials where appropriate 

• All development within the community area must conserve the designated 
landscape of the Cotswold Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and its setting, 
and where possible enhance its locally distinctive characteristics 

• The Cotswold Water Park is a changing landscape and expanding recreational 
resource for the county and its visitors. Development in the Cotswold Water Park 
should contribute towards the objectives of the Vision and Implementation Plan 
for the area 

• Work is currently underway to prepare neighbourhood plans in the 
Malmesbury Community Area, and these should also inform future planning 
decisions. 

 
 
How will the Malmesbury Community Area change by 2026? 
 
5.71 Development within the Malmesbury Community Area will have reflected and 

respected its high quality built and natural environment. The River Avon will be a social, 
environmental and economic asset to the area as part of a wider green infrastructure 
network linking Malmesbury with the wider countryside. The Cotswold Water Park will 
provide a recreational resource for local communities and visitors to the area. The 
town of Malmesbury will continue to serve as an important service and employment 
centre for the community area. New development will have helped to meet local 
needs, while Malmesbury will have also widened its employment offer. 

 
 

[Figure 5.8 Malmesbury Community Area] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

67 
 Page 273



 

Core Policy 13  
 
Spatial Strategy: Malmesbury Community Area 
 
Development in the Malmesbury Community Area should be in accordance with the Settlement 
Strategy set out in Core Policy 1. 
 
Market Towns: Malmesbury 
Large Villages: Ashton Keynes, Crudwell, Great Somerford, Oaksey and Sherston 
Small Villages: Brinkworth, Charlton, Corston, Dauntsey, Lea, Luckington, Milbourne, 

Minety and Upper Minety 
  
The following Principal Employment Areas will be supported in accordance with Core 
Policy 35: Malmesbury Business Park, Dyson Site, and Land North of Tetbury Hill. 
 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026) 5 ha of new employment land (in addition to that 
delivered or committed at April 2011) will be provided, including: 
 
Land North of Tetbury 
Hill 

Saved North Wiltshire 
District Plan allocation 

1 ha 
 

Land at Garden Centre, 
Malmesbury 

Saved North Wiltshire 
District Plan allocation 

4 ha 
 

 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026), approximately 1395 new homes will be provided of 
which about 885 should occur at Malmesbury. Approximately 510 homes will be provided in the 
rest of the community area. Growth in the Malmesbury Community Area over the plan period 
may consist of a range of sites in accordance with Core Policies 1 and 2. 
 
Development proposals in the Malmesbury Community Area will need to demonstrate how the 
relevant issues and considerations listed in paragraph 5.70 will be addressed. 
 
 
 

Table 5.7 Delivery of Housing 2006 to 2026 - Malmesbury Community Area 
 Requirement 

2006-26 
Housing already provided for Housing to be identified 
Completions 
2006-14 
 

Specific 
permitted 
sites 

Strategic 
sites 

Remainder to 
be identified 

Malmesbury 
Town 

885 
 

483 
 

486 0 034 

Remainder 510 273 86 0 151 
Community 
Area Total 

1,395 756 572 0 151 

 
 

34 Malmesbury Town has sufficient commitments to exceed the indicative requirement.  
68 

 

                                                           

Page 274



 

Marlborough Area Strategy 

 
Spatial information and context 
 
5.72 The Marlborough Community Area lies within an area of high quality landscape which 

is entirely within the North Wessex Downs AONB and includes the settlement of 
Avebury, which together with its surrounding landscape, forms part of the 
Stonehenge and Avebury World Heritage Site. The market town of Marlborough has a 
rich built environment with an attractive and thriving retail centre with a good amount 
of independent retailers. The town and surrounding area have considerable tourism 
potential, which arguably has yet to be fully harnessed. The town is also well regarded 
as a local employment location and benefits from being situated only eight miles from 
the M4. Marlborough has a relatively high level of self containment. Marlborough has a 
high average income above the national average, and some of the highest house 
prices in the county. 

 
5.73 Marlborough is not identified as a location for new strategic employment growth 

however some employment should be delivered through the plan period. Marlborough 
has a relatively small but strong employment base with a reasonable level of self 
containment. The Marlborough Business Park has provided an important new location 
for employment growth and new business in Marlborough. Marlborough has some 
unusual employment patterns with a strong representation by the education sector and 
there is no indication that this sector will weaken in the planning period. Employment 
development in Marlborough should look to consolidate the existing employment base 
by encouraging small to medium sized businesses to fulfil a localised role. 

 
The strategy for the Marlborough Area 
 
5.74 The strategy for the Marlborough Community area will be to deliver housing growth 

appropriate to the scale of the town to help maintain and enhance Marlborough’s role 
as a service and tourist centre; and help to meet local needs. Development will be 
planned to ensure minimal impact upon Marlborough’s rich built, historic and landscape 
assets and to afford protection of the World Heritage Site and its setting. The strategy 
will respond to the Community Area’s location (in full or part) within a nationally 
designated landscape.  In the Marlborough Community Area this includes the North 
Wessex Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.  It will deliver, within the overall 
objective of conserving the designated landscape, a modest and sustainable level of 
development. 

 
Issues and considerations 
 
5.75 Specific issues to be addressed in planning for the Marlborough Community Area, 

include: 
 

• The strategy supports Marlborough’s town centre to continue to function as 
a prominent retail centre within east Wiltshire and serve as a locally 
important employment centre 

• Proposals for retail provision outside of Marlborough are likely to have an 
adverse impact upon the town centre. As such any additional comparison 
retailing should be located within the town centre of Marlborough 

• The town currently has a narrow but strong economic base, catering for 

69 
 Page 275



predominately local business needs. However, it is overshadowed by its 
proximity to Swindon , but is too far away to benefit from spin off activity. Due 
to its strong economic base and lack of current employment land supply 
evidence identifies that there is likely to be some demand for new 
employment space35. There is a need to ensure that a balance of 
employment and housing opportunities is achieved into the longer term. 

• Future development should help to deliver early improvements to the 
existing infrastructure in the town. This may be achieved through direct 
delivery mechanisms and/or financial contributions. The existing GP 
surgery in the town is at capacity and will need to expand to allow any 
further growth to proceed. Extra childcare facilities are needed to support 
working parents and a replacement ambulance station is needed. There is 
an aspiration to merge the existing infant and junior schools in the town 
although extra capacity should be provided to cater for the long term 
needs of the town 

• Sustainable and measured growth throughout the plan period will also help to 
deliver affordable housing in the community area and improve access to 
open market housing. This will help to provide a local workforce for current 
and new employers moving to the area 

• Proposals for the change of use of existing bed spaces provided in hotels 
or public houses to alternative uses will be resisted, unless it can be 
clearly demonstrated there is no longer a need for such a facility in its 
current use 

• All development within the community area will need to conserve the 
designated landscape of the North Wessex Downs Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty and its setting, and where possible enhance its locally 
distinctive characteristics 

• The World Heritage Site will be protected from inappropriate development 
both within the Site and in its setting so as to sustain its Outstanding 
Universal Value in accordance with Core Policy 59 

• Several sites of nature conservation importance lie in close proximity to the 
town, particularly Savernake Forest SSSI, River Kennet SSSI / CWS and 
Marlborough Railway Tunnel. Development will protect, and where possible, 
enhance the ecological value of these features.  

• Survey is required of the potential impacts of development on protected 
bats (including roosting, foraging grounds and commuting routes) 
associated with the Savernake Forest bat roosts and other  species.  The 
hibernation roost of Annex II bats in the disused railway tunnel will be 
protected.  Development must avoid adverse impacts on protected species 
and designated local wildlife habitats and features.  

• The Great Western Community Forest will also be maintained and 
enhanced as a significant green infrastructure resource within and beyond 
the community area. 

• An AQMA has been declared in the town36 and there are local concerns 
that development will lead to mandatory limits set by European Directive 
2008/50 being exceeded. Measures to improve air quality in Marlborough 
must be considered. 

• Development proposals which improve tourist accommodation and 
facilities within the Marlborough area, in a sustainable manner will be 
encouraged. 

 

35 Wiltshire Workspace and Employment Land Review, Roger Tym and Partners, November 2011, para 5.49 and 6.28 
36 Air Quality Strategy for Wiltshire 2011-2015, Appendix 2: Air Quality Management Areas in Wiltshire, page 45 
 

70 
 

                                                           

Page 276



How will the Marlborough Community Area change by 2026? 
 
5.76 A modest and sustainable level of development within the community area will have 

provided for a range of housing appropriate to the local needs and incomes of 
residents. The community area will have continued to benefit from high standards of 
housing, health, education and culture in the context of a growing economy in the 
area as a whole. Development will have protected and enhanced the community 
area’s rich natural and historic assets including the Avebury element of the 
Stonehenge and Avebury World Heritage Site. The Kennet and Og Rivers and 
Savernake Forest will continue to provide social, environmental and economic assets 
to the area as part of a wider green infrastructure which will be used sustainably. 

 
[Figure 5.9 Marlborough Community Area] 

 

Core Policy 14 
 

Spatial Strategy: Marlborough Community Area 
 

Development in the Marlborough Community Area should be in accordance with the Settlement 
Strategy set out in Core Policy 1. 
 

Market Towns: Marlborough 
Large Villages: Aldbourne, Baydon, Broad Hinton and Ramsbury 

 
Small Villages: Avebury / Trusloe, Axford, Beckhampton, Chilton Foliat, East 

Kennett, Froxfield, Fyfield, Lockeridge, Manton, Ogbourne St 
George, West Overton, Winterbourne Bassett, and Winterbourne 
Monkton 

 
The following Principal Employment Areas will be supported in accordance with Core 
Policy 35: Marlborough Business Park, Pelham Court Site, and Wagon Yard. 
 

Over the plan period (2006 to 2026) 3 ha of new employment land (in addition to that 
delivered or committed at April 2011) will be provided in Marlborough. 
 

Over the plan period (2006 to 2026), approximately 920 new homes will be provided of 
which about 680 should occur at Marlborough, including land identified to the west of 
Salisbury Road for strategic growth. 
 

Land to the West of Salisbury 
Road 
 

New strategic housing 
allocation 

220 dwellings 
 

 
The strategic allocation will be brought forward through a master planning process agreed 
between the community, local planning authority and the developer and should meet any 
requirements as set out in the development templates shown by Appendix A. 
 

Approximately 240 homes will be provided in the rest of the community area.   
G r o w t h in the Marlborough Community Area over the plan period may consist of a range of 
sites in accordance with Core Policies 1 and 2. 
 

Development proposals in the Marlborough Community Area will need to demonstrate the 
relevant issues and considerations listed in paragraph 5.75 will be addressed. 

71 
 Page 277



 
 
Table 5.8 Delivery of Housing 2006 to 2026 - Marlborough Community Area 
 Requirement 

2006-26 
Housing already provided for Housing to be identified 
Completions 
2006-14 
 

Specific 
permitted 
sites 

Strategic 
sites 

Remainder to 
be identified 

Marlborough 
Town 

680 344 33 220 83 

Remainder 
 

240 112 37 0 91 

Community 
Area Total 

920 456 70 220 174 

 
 

72 
 Page 278



 

Melksham Area Strategy 
 
Spatial information and context 
 
5.77 The Melksham Community Area is located in western Wiltshire and contains the 

market town of Melksham, one of the larger towns in the county. Melksham benefits 
from strong links by road with the larger centres of Trowbridge and Chippenham and 
the regionally significant A350 runs through the town from north to south. There are a 
large number of historic buildings within Melksham, but the town centre is in need of 
regeneration and the retail offer has suffered for a number of years. Community and 
health facilities in Melksham are under pressure, with most GP surgeries and primary 
and secondary schools at capacity, Although Melksham has a relatively strong 
existing employment base, and has the capacity for future employment growth, there 
is a high degree of economic out-commuting. Large numbers of residents travel to 
work in the nearby larger centres of Trowbridge, Chippenham and Bath, as well as 
smaller centres such as Calne, Corsham and Devizes. 

 
5.78 Melksham is identified as having an important strategic employment role. It is located 

on the A350 and forms part of the key A350 employment growth area. The town 
has a reasonably broad economic base and has historically been able to attract large 
employers. However a large number of jobs are provided by a single employer, which 
may leave the town vulnerable to mass job losses. Nevertheless, there are good 
opportunities to expand the employment base within Melksham. 

 
The strategy for the Melksham Area 
 
5.79 A high level of residential development is already proposed in Melksham, including 

a planned urban extension to the east of the town on land identified in the West 
Wiltshire District Plan (2004). This planned development will go some way towards 
addressing the future affordable housing need in the town. The strategy for 
Melksham will be to ensure an appropriate and balanced mix of housing and 
employment growth is managed to provide contributions to town centre improvement 
and delivery of enhanced services in the town. 

 
Issues and considerations 
 
5.80 Specific issues to be addressed in planning for the Melksham Community Area, 

include: 
 

• Residential growth in Melksham should help address the shortfall in affordable 
housing and contribute towards delivering improved infrastructure. 

• Growth should contribute towards town centre regeneration including traffic 
management improvements and the revitalisation of the retail and employment 
offer   

• Improving Melksham’s town centre is a priority and this should assist in 
improving the setting of the historic environment. The preparation of a ‘town 
plan’ or similar document (e.g. neighbourhood plan), may provide a useful step 
to help achieve the aspirations of the local community. Wherever possible, key 
community services and facilities should be located within or well related to the 
town centre to help promote and deliver the requisite regeneration. This should 
include consideration for how to best provide for the proposed new community 
campus for the town, which would offer a number of services and facilities, 

73 
 Page 279



including leisure uses 
• There is limited scope for any further convenience retail provision in the town. 

However, there is some potential for expansion of comparison retailing, which 
should be focused in the central area of the town to support town centre 
regeneration. Any proposals for large format retail units should demonstrate 
how they would be integrated with and enhance the existing town centre 
businesses, incorporating high quality public realm and strong pedestrian 
linkages  

• Further employment growth in Melksham will help to further diversify the 
employment base, providing protection against possible future changes in the 
employment market. The regeneration and improvement of existing 
employment sites, such as the Bowerhill Industrial Estate remains a priority 

• It is important that any new development in the town has strong walking and 
cycling linkages to the town centre. There is local concern around the current 
opportunities to access the Melksham Oak School and new Asda store 

• New primary and secondary school capacity is needed for the area and this 
will need to be met through extension and rationalisation of the existing 
schools or through additional schools. 

• Developer contributions from future housing growth should help to deliver 
infrastructure necessary in the town. In particular, there is a need to increase 
the capacity of GP surgeries, particularly towards the west of the town. 
Additional cemetery capacity is also needed 

• The proposed restoration of the Wilts and Berks Canal provides an opportunity 
to promote tourism within the town and provide linkages with the nearby 
Kennet and Avon Canal, an important leisure corridor. Opportunities to 
maximise the benefit of the canal restoration will be supported, as discussed 
below. This matter could be addressed through future town or neighbourhood 
planning work 

• All development should address the need for improvements to water supply 
and sewerage infrastructure. 

• Opportunities to enhance the riverside area in Melksham as an important 
leisure corridor could be integrated into plans for the canal and any 
regeneration proposals. However, any proposals will need to be carefully 
considered through a community-led process, such as a neighbourhood plan 

• A need to improve public transport provision in the area has been identified 
including improving bus services, improving the railway station ,promoting more 
frequent services, car parking at the station and access for buses; and 
establishing a safe cycle route network for Melksham.  

• Melksham and Bowerhill village have a functional relationship and are 
considered together for the purposes of this strategy.  Therefore the housing 
growth identified for Melksham town will also serve to meet the needs of 
Bowerhill.  The identity of these separate communities will need to be 
preserved through the planning process. Berryfield is considered separately 
and is identified as a small village. However, is it recognised that both Berryfield 
and Bowerhill have strong functional links to Melksham and have important 
individual characteristics which should be protected, where practicable 

• Development at Melksham should protect the historic environment and in 
particular should protect the historic setting of the Spa 

• Shaw and Whitley are being planned for together due to their close proximity 
and the importance of ensuring future development is coordinated across the 
wider area. 

 
How will the Melksham Community Area change by 2026? 
 

74 
 Page 280



5.81 Melksham will be a thriving and accessible market town that respects its heritage 
and rural environment, whilst welcoming the expansion of local inward investment 
from new high quality businesses. The town’s employment base will have been 
strengthened helping to improve its economic self containment. Inward investment 
will also help support regeneration ambitions for the town centre, taking full 
advantage of its canal and riverside location. The River Avon, Kennet and Avon Canal 
and the restored Wilts and Berks Canal will provide social, environmental and 
economic assets to the area as part of a sustainably used green infrastructure 
network. 

 
[Figure 5.10 Melksham community area] 

 

Core Policy 15 
 

Spatial Strategy: Melksham Community Area 
 

Development in the Melksham Community Area should be in accordance with the Settlement 
Strategy set out in Core Policy 1. 

 
Market Towns: Melksham and Bowerhill village 

 
Large Villages: Atworth, Seend, Semington, Shaw / Whitley and Steeple Ashton. 

 
Small Villages: Beanacre, Berryfield, Broughton Gifford, Bulkington, Great Hinton, 

Keevil, Poulshot and Seend Cleeve. 
 

 
The following Principal Employment Areas will be supported in accordance with Core Policy 
35: Bowerhill Industrial Estate, Hampton Business Park, Avonside Enterprise Park, Intercity 
Industrial Estate, Upside Business Park, Challeymead Business Park and Bradford Road 
Employment Area. 
 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026) 6 ha of new employment land (in addition to that 
delivered or committed at April 2011) will be provided, including: 
 
Hampton Business Park Saved West Wiltshire District 

Plan Allocation 
Up to 6 hectares 

 
Over the plan period at approximately 2,370 new homes will be provided of which about 
2,240 should occur at Melksham. Approximately 130 homes will be provided in the rest of 
the community area. G r o w t h  in the Melksham Community Area. over the plan period 
may consist of a range of sites in accordance with Core Policies 1 and 2. 

 
Development proposals in the Melksham Community Area will need to demonstrate how the 
relevant issues and considerations listed in paragraph 5.80 will be addressed. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

75 
 Page 281



 
 
Table 5.9 Delivery of Housing 2006 to 2026 - Melksham Community Area 
 Requirement 

2006-26 
Housing already provided for Housing to be identified 
Completions 
2006-14 
 

Specific 
permitted 
sites 

Strategic 
sites 

Remainder to 
be identified 

Melksham 
Town37 

2,240 1,239 390 0 611 

Remainder 
 

130 69 10 0 51 

Community 
Area Total 

2,370 1,308 400 0 662 

 
Melksham link project 
 
5.82 The proposed Melksham link project would provide a canal link to the south west of 

Melksham between the Kennet and Avon canal and the river Avon, and to the north east 
of Melksham between the river Avon and the historic alignment of the Wilts and 
Berks canal. The project provides a significant opportunity to improve the green 
infrastructure in the community area and provide a welcome boost to tourism, 
regeneration and the local economy. It also offers an opportunity to promote 
sustainable transport through the provision of walking and cycling routes including 
providing linkages between Semington and Berryfield and Melksham town centre. The 
canal project and the link to the river Avon could particularly assist with the 
regeneration of Melksham town centre, and this is something which should be 
considered further through a ‘town plan’ or similar document. The proposed route 
will be protected using the same approach as that for safeguarding historic canal 
alignments, as set out in Core Policy 53 (Wilts and Berks and Thames and Severn 
canals). Canal proposals along this route will need to demonstrate that particular 
concerns around water abstraction, water quality, biodiversity and flood risk have 
been fully addressed, and that adequate facilities for sewage disposal and waste 
collection will be provided. Canal proposals must also have regard to the status and 
objectives of the River Avon, as set out in the Severn River Basin Management Plan 
(2009) prepared under the Water Framework Directive. 

 
 

Core Policy 16 
 
Melksham link project 
 
The proposed route for the Melksham link canal, as identified on the proposals map, will be 
safeguarded from inappropriate development. Development should not prejudice the future 
use of the route as part of the Wilts and Berks canal restoration project. Proposals for the use 
of the route as part of the canal will need to demonstrate that the cultural, historic and natural 
environment will be protected and enhanced, with no overall adverse effect, and that 
adequate consideration has been given to potential impacts on ecology, landscape, flood risk, 
water resources (abstraction) and water quality. Proposals will also need to demonstrate that 
sufficient consideration has been given to the potential environmental impacts of both the 
Melksham scheme and the Wilts and Berks restoration project as a whole. 
 

37 The housing requirement for Melksham town includes Bowerhill, and could include dwellings provided within the 
Melksham Without Parish Council Area 

76 
 

                                                           

Page 282



 

Mere Area Strategy 

 
Spatial information and context 
 
5.83 The Mere Community Area lies at the extreme western side of south Wiltshire and is 

predominately rural in character. A large part of the area is included within the 
Cranborne Chase and West Wiltshire Downs AONB. 

 
5.84 Mere is the Local Service Centre for the area but settlements across the border in 

Dorset and Somerset, particularly Gillingham, also provide employment, education, 
retail, leisure and cultural opportunities. The A303 Trunk Road and A350 provide good 
routes across the area, particularly to and from Mere, Zeals and East Knoyle, but 
access to other settlements is not generally of a high standard. The nearest railway 
station is on the Salisbury to Exeter line, at Gillingham. 

 
5.85 There are employment opportunities in Mere including some internationally and 

nationally renowned businesses, such as the Hill Brush Company. However, 
supporting further employment growth is also important to maintain the self sufficiency 
of the area. The National Trust house and ornamental gardens at Stourhead, which is 
one of the Trust’s most visited properties, is located within the community area and 
contributes to the local economy by bringing tourists to the area and providing additional 
employment opportunities. 

 
The strategy for the Mere Area 
 
5.86 The strategy for the Mere Community Area is to provide for limited growth of both 

housing and employment to ensure development is balanced, thus helping to 
minimise out-commuting and also to provide support for local services and 
communities. The strategy will respond to the Community Area’s location (in full or 
part) within a nationally designated landscape.  In the Mere Community Area this 
includes the Cranborne Chase and West Wiltshire Downs Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty. It will deliver, within the overall objective of conserving the designated 
landscape, a modest and sustainable level of development.  

 
Issues and considerations 
 
5.87 Specific issues to be addressed in planning for the Mere Community Area, include: 
 

• there are no settlements that perform a secondary large village role and, the 
majority of growth will take place in Mere as the dominant settlement over the 
plan period 

• Some employment land allocated in Mere has not been taken up and good 
access to the A303 may be seen as both a strength and a threat. As local 
wages are generally low and there is a predominance of out commuting, there 
is a risk Mere will become a ‘dormitory’ type settlement. Future growth 
therefore needs to be balanced with a good mix of housing and employment 

• There are a number of businesses that have been within Mere for a number of 
years, providing important local jobs. However, their buildings and sites are old 
and not necessarily appropriate for modern business needs. Therefore, in Mere 
itself, where a business wishes to modernise and the proposal concerns loss 
of employment land of more than 0.25ha, redevelopment of the original site for 
alternate uses should be permitted. This is provided that the business and job 

77 
 Page 283



numbers remain in Mere and the loss of site is replaced with employment land 
of similar size elsewhere in Mere, subject to meeting other policies within the 
Development Plan  

• although bus links to nearby towns such as Gillingham and Wincanton from Mere 
are generally good, opportunities to improve public transport connectivity need 
to be pursued for the more rural areas 

• The need to address the shortage of affordable houses in the area by planning 
for some housing growth 

• The area has a high quality natural and built environment and any future growth 
will be carefully managed in accordance with core strategy policies to ensure 
these assets are protected 

• All developments within the community area will need to conserve the 
designated landscape of the Cranborne Chase and West Wiltshire Downs 
AONB and its setting, and where possible enhance its locally distinctive 
characteristics. 

 
How will the Mere Community Area change by 2026? 
 
5.88 By 2026, the Mere Community Area will comprise thriving communities that reflect the 

aspirations of its residents. The area will have benefited from new housing and 
employment growth, managed in a way that delivers improved services and choice, 
and from the opportunities that this growth has attracted. In response to this challenge, 
Mere will continue to be the focus of appropriate levels of managed growth. It will 
provide a good range of services and good levels of employment. 

 
5.89 The area will further benefit from the delivery of improved community facilities and better 

connectivity through improved footpaths, cycle ways and public transport choices. 
These developments will have been carried out in a manner that protects the built and 
natural heritage. 

 
[Figure 5.11 – Mere Community Area] 

 
Core Policy 17 
 
Spatial Strategy: Mere Community Area 
 
Development in the Mere Community Area should be in accordance with the Settlement 
Strategy set out in Core Policy 1. 
 
Local Service Centres: Mere 

 
Small Villages: East Knoyle, Kilmington, Semley / Semley Station, Stourton 

and Zeals. 
 

 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026) 3 ha of new employment land (in addition to that 
delivered or committed at April 2011) will be provided including: 
 
E12 Land at Mere Saved Salisbury District Plan 

Allocation 
3 ha employment 

 
There are no Principal Employment Areas in the Mere Community Area. 

78 
 Page 284



 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026), approximately 285 new homes will be provided, of which 
about 235  should occur at Mere and approx imately  50 homes will be provided in the 
rest of the community area. Growth in the Mere Community Area over the plan period may 
consist of a range of sites in accordance with Core Policies 1 and 2. 
 
Development proposals in the Mere Community Area will need to demonstrate how the 
relevant issues and considerations listed in paragraph 5.87 will be addressed. 
 
 
 
Table 5.10 Delivery of Housing 2006 to 2026 - Mere Community Area 
Area Requirement 

2006-26 
Housing already provided for Housing to be identified 
Completions 
2006-14 
 

Specific 
permitted 
sites 

Strategic 
sites 

Remainder to 
be identified 

Mere 235  120  9  0 106  
Remainder 
 

50 27  11  0 12  

Community 
Area Total 

285  147  19  0 119  

 
 

79 
 Page 285



 

Pewsey Area Strategy 
 
Spatial information and context 
 
5.90 Pewsey Community Area is rural in nature containing one of the largest villages within 

Wiltshire - Pewsey, which provides an important role as a Local Service Centre for 
services and employment. Pewsey has good transport connections afforded by a rail 
link to London, and is located on the A345 approximately eight miles to the south west 
of Marlborough and thirteen miles to the east of Devizes. The village offers a good 
range of community facilities and is popular as a commuter settlement, particularly 
with the benefits of a rail link. The area is home to a rich rural landscape including a 
proportion of the North Wessex Downs AONB, and the Kennet and Avon Canal passes 
through the community area, providing a significant green infrastructure asset. 

 
The strategy for the Pewsey Area 
 
5.91 The strategy for Pewsey is to deliver a level of housing and employment provision 

which helps meet local need and support service and retail provision within the village. 
Pewsey will only receive modest amounts of growth appropriate to its needs. The role of 
Pewsey as a Local Service Centre will however be encouraged and strengthened and 
the allocation of modest growth in the community area will help to enhance 
employment, retail and service provision. Furthermore, there is an aspiration to 
promote Pewsey as a heritage village for tourism and proposals which positively 
contribute to this aspiration will be supported, providing they are of high quality design 
and well integrated with the existing built form and setting of the town including using 
local materials where appropriate.  The strategy will respond to the Community Area’s 
location (in full or part) within a nationally designated landscape.  In the Pewsey 
Community Area this includes the North Wessex Downs Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty.  It will deliver, within the overall objective of conserving the designated 
landscape, a modest and sustainable level of development.  

 
Issues and considerations 
 
5.92 Specific issues to be addressed in planning for the Pewsey Community Area include: 
 

• The level of housing and employment growth in Pewsey will be appropriate to 
its role; in particular it lacks the critical mass in terms of population and 
existing employment to accommodate significant amounts of housing or 
employment. In retail and employment terms, the village is overshadowed by 
Marlborough and Devizes 

• All development within the community area will need to conserve the 
designated landscape of the North Wessex Downs Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty and its setting (Core Policy 51), and where possible enhance 
its locally distinctive characteristics 

• Development associated with the Kennet and Avon canal will need to protect 
and enhance its wildlife value, landscape setting and recreational use 

• Development in the vicinity of the River Avon (Hampshire) or Salisbury Plain 
Special Areas of Conservation must incorporate appropriate measures to ensure 
that it will not adversely affect the integrity of  those Natura 2000 sites.  

• Development with the potential to increase recreational pressure upon the Salisbury 
Plain Special Protection Area will not be permitted unless proportionate 
contributions are made towards the maintenance of the Stone Curlew 

80 
 Page 286



Management Strategy38 designed to avoid adverse effects upon the integrity of 
the stone curlew population as a designated feature of the SPA.   

• The loss of small employment sites in Pewsey has been an issue in recent 
years. To mitigate this loss, opportunities to bring forward the saved Local Plan 
allocation for employment at Marlborough Road should be investigated 
through the neighbourhood plan process. 

 
How will the Pewsey Community Area change by 2026? 
 
5.93 The community area will have continued to enjoy an attractive natural environment 

with a strong community spirit and local involvement. Pewsey’s cultural heritage will 
have been enhanced through the redevelopment of the Broomcroft site. The tourist 
industry in the area will have been developed in a manner compatible with Wiltshire’s 
character and in line with the principles of sustainable development. The Kennet and 
Avon Canal, the River Avon and Salisbury Plain will continue to provide social, 
environmental and economic assets to the area as part of a wider green infrastructure 
which will be used sustainably. Modest development will have been delivered, 
reflecting the role of Pewsey as a Local Service Centre within the community area. 

 
 

[Figure 5.12 – Mere Community Area] 
 
 

Core Policy 18 
 
Spatial Strategy: Pewsey Community Area 
 
Development in the Pewsey Community Area should be in accordance with the Settlement 
Strategy set out in Core Policy 1. 
 
Local Service Centres: Pewsey 

 
Large Villages: Burbage, Great Bedwyn, Shalbourne and Upavon. 

 
Small Villages: Alton Priors / Alton Barnes, Charlton St Peter, Chirton, East 

Grafton, Easton Royal, Ham, Hilcott, Little Bedwyn, 
Manningford Bruce, Marden, Milton Lilbourne, Oare, 
Rushall, Stanton St Bernard, Wilcot, Woodborough and 
Wootton Rivers. 
 

 
The following locally important rural employment sites will be supported in accordance with 
Core Policy 35: Salisbury Road Business Park, Marlborough Road and Broomcroft Road, 
Pewsey; Manor Farm, Manningford Bohune, Hirata site, Burbage. 
 
Over the plan period 2006 to 2026, 2 hectares of new employment land (in addition to that 
delivered or committed at April 2011) will be provided including:  
 
Land at Marlborough 
Road, Pewsey 

Saved Kennet Local Plan 
Allocation 

1.66 ha 

 

38 Please refer to the Biodiversity and Development pages of the Wiltshire Council website for further details 
81 

 

                                                           

Page 287



Approximately 600 new homes will be provided in the community area.  Growth in the Pewsey 
Community Area over the plan period may consist of a range of sites in accordance with Core 
Policies 1 and 2. 
 
Development proposals in the Pewsey Community Area will need to demonstrate how the 
relevant issues and considerations listed in paragraph 5.92 will be addressed. 
 
 
 
Table 5.11 Delivery of Housing 2006 to 2026 - Pewsey Community Area 
Area Requirement 

2006-26 
Housing already provided for Housing to be identified 
Completions 
2006-14 
 

Specific 
permitted 
sites 

Strategic 
sites 

Remainder to 
be identified 

Pewsey 
Community 
Area Total 

600 306  157  0 137  

 

82 
 Page 288



 

Royal Wootton Bassett and Cricklade Area Strategy 
 
Spatial information and context 
 
5.94 The community area is predominately rural in character, containing many villages and 

has a strong landscape quality, containing parts of the North Wessex Downs AONB. 
The area is located in the north east of Wiltshire and contains the historic market 
towns of Royal Wootton Bassett and Cricklade. Although of differing size, both of 
these settlements play an important role in the community area, not least because 
of the relationship they have with the nearby higher order centre of Swindon. 

 
5.95 Royal Wootton Bassett is the largest town within the community area, located 

approximately six miles from Swindon and two miles from the M4, and as such is 
ideally located to develop into an important employment centre. The town has therefore 
been identified as a location for new strategic employment growth, particularly to help 
reduce outcommuting, as the town currently has a dormitory role to Swindon. Although 
the town currently has a smaller employment base than might be expected for a 
town of its size it does have a varied employment base and should be relatively 
resilient to mass job losses. 

 
5.96 A recent decision to maintain an MoD presence at RAF Lyneham, following the 

relocation of the RAF Hercules transport fleet, is a significant boost to the local 
economy. RAF Lyneham is a large UK military base located four miles to the south 
west of Royal Wootton Bassett, and strong links between the base and the town have 
been established over many decades. The continued MoD use of Lyneham is 
expected to have long term positive impacts on the local economy. 

 
5.97 Although Cricklade is a smaller settlement, it nevertheless performs an important 

Local Service Centre role for the surrounding rural area. Some housing development 
is necessary in Cricklade to help facilitate the delivery of improvements to the retail 
offer and other facilities in the town. 

 
The strategy for the Royal Wootton Bassett and Cricklade Area 
 
5.98 Housing growth in the main settlements will help improve their vitality and create a 

critical mass to deliver improvements in infrastructure. However, given that there 
are a number of existing outstanding housing commitments, no further strategic 
housing allocations are needed early in the plan period. Future growth should be 
brought forward in a balanced way to ensure infrastructure is delivered alongside 
housing. The strategy will respond to the Community Area’s location (in full or part) 
within a nationally designated landscape.  In the Royal Wootton Bassett and 
Cricklade Community Area this includes the North Wessex Downs Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty.  It will deliver, within the overall objective of conserving 
the designated landscape, a modest and sustainable level of development.  

 
Issues and considerations 
 
5.99 Specific issues to be addressed in planning for the Royal Wootton Bassett and Cricklade 

Community Area include: 
 

• Non-strategic growth should be brought forward in accordance with Core 
Policies 1 and 2 and phased throughout the plan period to deliver homes in a 

83 
 Page 289



balanced manner that will enable infrastructure issues to be addressed 
• Developer contributions from future housing growth should help to deliver 

infrastructure necessary in the community area . In particular, improved 
pedestrian and cycle linkages are needed between the town centres of Royal 
Wootton Bassett and Cricklade and local community facilities; to include 
enhancements to the Cricklade Country Way and a cycle way between Royal 
Wootton Bassett and Windmill Hill Business Park. Other infrastructure priorities 
include the completion of a Wessex Water scheme to reduce flood risk to 
areas in Royal Wootton Bassett, the expansion or re-location of one or both of 
the existing GP surgeries in Royal Wootton Bassett , and additional fire and 
rescue provision in the west of Swindon area 

• A mix of employment development alongside housing is also important and 
appropriate proposals for mixed development will be supported. 

• Royal Wootton Bassett currently loses main food shopping trips to neighbouring 
towns.  Although there is no quantitative need for additional convenience retail in 
the town, additional floorspace may be appropriate to address qualitative need 
and improve the retention of convenience trade if a suitable site is identified. 
There is limited capacity for up to 400 sq m of comparison retail in the town.  

• Work is ongoing to identify appropriate action to help address capacity issues 
associated with Junction 16 of the M4. Any major development proposals 
should demonstrate how this matter has been taken into account and propose 
appropriate sustainable transport solutions to help address this problem 

• The long established policy of protecting the distinct character and identity of 
the villages and settlements remains a priority for local communities. This 
applies particularly to the parts of the community area which adjoin the 
administrative area of Swindon Borough Council where there may be 
unplanned development pressure. The open countryside should be maintained 
to protect the character and identity of the area in accordance with Core Policy 
51. The local community may also wish to consider this matter further in any 
future community-led neighbourhood planning work 

• Given the proximity of Swindon to the community area, planning for this area 
needs to be managed holistically to ensure development at Swindon is as 
balanced and sustainable as possible while also affording appropriate 
protection to rural areas. This matter is discussed further below 

• There are a number of environmental constraints around Royal Wootton 
Bassett, including areas prone to flooding and a SSSI to the south which will 
need to be considered and appropriately protected before selecting any sites 
for future housing growth 

• All relevant development within the community area will need to conserve the 
designated landscape of the North Wessex Downs AONB and its setting, and 
where possible enhance its locally distinctive characteristics 

• The Cotswold Water Park is a changing landscape and expanding recreational 
resource for the county and its visitors. Development in the Cotswold Water Park 
should contribute towards the objectives of the Vision and Implementation Plan 
for the area 

• Further work is needed to identify how improvements to the recreational 
facilities in the community area can be delivered. These include Ballards’ Ash 
Sports Hub, Cricklade Country Way and the restoration of the Wilts and Berks 
and Thames and Severn canals  

• The historic alignment of the Wilts and Berks and Thames and Severn canals 
pass through the community area and will be safeguarded in accordance with 
Core Policy 42 and the emerging Swindon Core Strategy 

• The Great Western Community Forest will also be maintained and enhanced 
as a significant infrastructure resource within and beyond the community area 

84 
 Page 290



• The development of a Royal Wootton Bassett railway station will be promoted 
and encouraged in line with Core Policy 66. 

• The proposed route of the Swindon and Cricklade railway line will be protected 
from development between Mouldon Hill to Moredon Bridge Junction and the 
Swindon and Gloucester railway line39. 

• Recognise local concerns regarding the impacts of HGV traffic on the local 
road network. 

 
How will the Royal Wootton Bassett and Cricklade Community Area change by 2026? 
 
5.100 Royal Wootton Bassett will continue to function as the main service centre within the 

community area. Cricklade will perform a similar role, but with a more local focus. 
The separate identity of both Royal Wootton Bassett and Cricklade and the villages, 
especially those closest to Swindon will have been maintained and enhanced where 
appropriate. The retail offer of Royal Wootton Bassett will have been enhanced and 
the town will enjoy a good supply of housing including affordable dwellings. The town 
will have an appropriate level of facilities for its size, with a hub for sports provision at 
Ballards Ash. People within the community area will have access to a range of jobs 
within the towns, which will have helped to alleviate the existing high levels of out-
commuting. Along with the Rivers Key and Ray, the restored and enhanced 
Cricklade Country Way will provide social, environmental and economic assets to 
the area as part of a wider green infrastructure network linking Cricklade with 
Swindon and the Cotsvvold Water Park, which will continue to be a valuable 
recreational resource for visitors and local communities. 

 
[Figure 5.13 – Royal Wootton Bassett Community Area] 

 
 

Core Policy 19 
 
Spatial Strategy: Royal Wootton Bassett and Cricklade Community Area 
 
Development in the Royal Wootton Bassett and Cricklade Community Area should be in 
accordance with the Settlement Strategy set out in Core Policy 1. 
 
Market Towns: Royal Wootton Bassett. 
Local Service Centres: Cricklade. 
Large Villages: Lyneham and Purton. 
Small Villages: Bradenstoke, Broad Town, Hook, Latton, Lydiard Millicent 

and Purton Stoke. 
 
The following Principal Employment Areas will be supported in accordance with Core Policy 35: : 
Whitehill Industrial Estate, Interface Industrial Estate and Coped Hall Business Park. 
 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026) 5 ha of new employment land (in addition to that 
delivered or committed at April 2011) will be provided, including: 
 
Land to the West of 
Templars Way 
 

Saved North Wiltshire District 
Plan Allocation 

3.7 ha 

Brickworks, Purton Saved North Wiltshire District 
Plan Allocation 

1.0 ha remaining 

39 See Saved North Wiltshire Local Plan Policy TM3 
85 

 

                                                           

Page 291



 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026), approximately 1,455 new homes will be provided of 
which 1,070 should occur at Royal Wootton Bassett. Approximately 385 homes will be provided 
in the rest of the community area.  Growth in the Royal Wootton Bassett and Cricklade 
Community Area over the plan period may consist of a range of sites in accordance with 
Core Policies 1 and 2. 
 
Development proposals in the Royal Wootton Bassett and Cricklade Community Area will 
need to demonstrate how the relevant issues and considerations listed in paragraph 5.99 will 
be addressed. 
 
 
Table 5.12 Delivery of Housing 2006 to 2026 - Royal Wootton Bassett and Cricklade Community Area 
Area Requirement 

2006-26 
Housing already provided for Housing to be identified 
Completions 
2006-14 
 

Specific 
permitted 
sites 

Strategic 
sites 

Remainder to 
be identified 

Royal 
Wootton 
Bassett Town 

1,070  583  494  0 0 

Remainder 385  248  24  0 113  
Community 
Area Total 

1,455  
 

831  518  0 113  

 
Planning for Swindon 
 
5.101 Although Swindon falls within a separate administrative area, its proximity to the 

Royal Wootton Bassett and Cricklade Community Area, means that planning for future 
growth in Swindon should be considered holistically and with appropriate co-operation 
between neighbouring authorities and involve  collaborative working with the Wiltshire 
and Swindon Local Enterprise Partnership and the Wiltshire and Swindon Local Nature 
Partnership. 

 
5.102 The strategy for future growth in Swindon is to support the most sustainable pattern 

and scale of development, ensuring that the level of new housing is more balanced 
with employment opportunities, to ensure Swindon is more self-contained and the need 
for out-commuting is reduced. 

 
5.103 A comprehensive assessment of potential development sites around Swindon has been 

conducted jointly between Wiltshire Council and Swindon Borough Council to identify 
the most sustainable locations for development. These are outlined in the emerging 
Swindon Core Strategy

40

. The study outlines which sites have been assessed and 
concludes that development to the west of Swindon, including within the Royal Wootton 
Bassett and Cricklade Community Area, is unnecessary and does not represent the 
most sustainable option for future growth in Swindon. However, there is a permitted 
site at Moredon Bridge, on the west of Swindon and an explicit allowance of 200 
homes has been made for this development within the housing requirement. 

 

40  Swindon Borough Core Strategy and Development Management Policies 2026: Swindon: Planning for our future: 
Revised Proposed Submission Document March 2011, Theme 2, page 28 onwards available from 
www.swindon.gov.uk/corestrategy which has informed by ‘Small scale urban extensions study’ and the ‘Swindon Market Area 
Housing Strategy’ available from: http://www.swindon.gov.uk/ep/ep-planning/epplanning-localdev/Pages/ep-planning-localdev-
evidencebase.aspx. 

 
86 

 

                                                           

Page 292

http://www.swindon.gov.uk/corestrategy
http://www.swindon.gov.uk/corestrategy
http://www.swindon.gov.uk/ep/ep-planning/epplanning-localdev/Pages/ep-planning-localdev-evidencebase.aspx
http://www.swindon.gov.uk/ep/ep-planning/epplanning-localdev/Pages/ep-planning-localdev-evidencebase.aspx


5.104 Furthermore, the emerging Swindon Core Strategy seeks to protect the countryside for 
its intrinsic character and beauty in accordance with Policy RA 3. This approach is 
consistent with the Wiltshire Core Strategy (Core Policy 51).

87 
 Page 293



 
Salisbury Area Strategy 
 
Spatial information and context 
 
5.105 Salisbury is located in the south east of Wiltshire, near the edge of Salisbury Plain and 

sits at the confluence of five rivers – the Nadder, Ebble, Wylye, Bourne and Avon. 
Salisbury railway station serves the city and is the crossing point between the west of 
England main line and the Wessex main line making it a regional interchange. The 
city is the main centre of south Wiltshire, acting as a focal point for a wide rural 
catchment with its influence stretching into parts of Hampshire and Dorset. 

 
5.106 The presence of Salisbury Cathedral and the city’s proximity to Stonehenge, make 

Salisbury an international tourist destination and this brings significant revenue to the 
city. A café culture has been encouraged around the Market Place and the markets, 
along with several museums, also attract many visitors to the city. The city provides 
leisure activities to people living in Salisbury and the surrounding area and in recent 
years, a swimming pool complex has been added at the Five Rivers Leisure Centre. 
Both St Edmund’s Arts Centre and Salisbury Playhouse have also undergone major 
refurbishments. 

 
5.107 Salisbury has experienced a historic undersupply of housing over recent years. Without 

delivering a step change in housing delivery the character of Salisbury will slide into 
the role of a dormitory settlement with an ageing population, lack of viable workforce, 
anticompetitive investment environment, declining retail sector and consequential 
environmentally harmful out-commuting. Sustainable growth with employment 
development alongside new housing is therefore needed in Salisbury whilst ensuring 
that no harm comes to the natural and built environment. 

 
The strategy for the Salisbury Area 
 
5.108 The delivery of mixed-use, strategic sites will help to achieve more sustainable, 

resilient and self-contained communities, and provide a range of choices for investors 
and regeneration imperatives highlighted in the Salisbury Vision. The city centre is 
healthy and performing well but the historic character of Salisbury partially constrains 
expansion, there is also increasing competition from centres such as Bournemouth, 
Southampton and Winchester. The strategy for Salisbury seeks to take proactive 
steps to ensure that the city does not decline as a significant retail centre, whilst also 
ensuring balanced and sustainable housing and employment growth are provided to 
meet the long term needs of the city. 

 
Issues and considerations 
 
5.109 Specific issues to be addressed in planning for the Salisbury Community Area 

include: 
 

• Ensuring that Salisbury can maintain its place as an important retail centre in 
the face of intense sub-regional competition, including from nearby centres 
such as Southampton, Bournemouth and Winchester 

• Significant enhancement to the retail core of Salisbury will be supported by 
setting a policy framework to develop the Central Car Park site to complement 
the historic street pattern of Salisbury, by providing additional retail floorspace 
and a choice of department stores 

• The core strategy seeks to deliver 29 ha of employment land based on B1, B2 

88 
 Page 294



and B8 uses and up to 40,000 sq m gross external area retail and leisure 

floorspace. Evidence
41

suggests that for new jobs the market need is mainly for 
B1 business use (offices) 

• The administrative boundaries around the city have led to a large proportion of 
the development allocations in this Core Strategy being located outside of the 
boundary of the city. Some are, for example, located on new greenfield sites in 
the adjoining parishes which are within the Southern Wiltshire and Wilton 
Community Areas. These allocations are however considered to contribute 
towards the requirement for housing and employment for Salisbury and are 
included within this Salisbury Area Strategy 

• The UKLF site is located within the Wilton Community Area, and is part of 
wider strategic growth for the area, the site will also help to contribute towards 
the employment needs of the Wilton area itself 

• Broad areas of search for future development around Salisbury are mapped in 
Topic Paper 19 (see map “Potential Areas for Strategic Growth in and around 

Salisbury/Wilton”)
42

. If further land is required in the future, sites at 
Netherhampton and additional growth at Longhedge should be considered as 
part of the council’s ongoing monitoring process 

• Development in the vicinity of the River Avon (Hampshire) must incorporate 
appropriate measures to ensure that it will not adversely affect the integrity of 
those Natura 2000 sites.   

• A mix of housing and employment growth will facilitate the delivery of improved 
infrastructure and community facilities in Salisbury through developer 
contributions. These will include alterations to the Wiltshire Fire and Rescue 
Service infrastructure to serve new development, and improvements to green 
infrastructure in the city. There is also a need for expansion of existing GP 
surgeries with a longer term aspiration for a new ‘super surgery’ to be 
provided, along with improvements to the sewer network, particularly to reduce 
vulnerability to flooding 

• New secondary school capacity is also needed for Salisbury and this will 
initially be met through extension and rationalisation of the existing schools 
with a longer term aspiration for a new secondary school. New primary schools 
will be provided at strategic sites at Fugglestone Red, Hampton Park and 
Longhedge 

• The cumulative impact of all strategic development sites at Salisbury will need to 
be considered in transport assessments for major developments. 

• Transport solutions will be delivered in accordance with the evolving Salisbury 
Transport Strategy, and will support growth, as concluded through the Options 
Assessment Report, based on the radical option identified which would best 
enable Salisbury to meet the challenges of addressing future growth in travel 
demand in a sustainable manner. 

 
How will the Salisbury Community Area change by 2026? 
 
5.110 Salisbury will have developed its historic role as a thriving and prosperous city that is self 

contained providing the necessary range of homes to support this role and offering a 
range of employment, retail, cultural and leisure facilities to a wide hinterland, 
stretching into Hampshire and Dorset. Its own distinct character will have been retained 
and enhanced through the successful implementation of the Salisbury Vision including 
schemes such as the market place enhancement. 

41 Review of Employment Projections and Land Requirements in south Wiltshire – January 2011. 
42 Review of Employment Projections and Land Requirements in south Wiltshire – January 2011. 
 

89 
 

                                                           

Page 295



 
5.111 Salisbury’s tourism role will have been enhanced and there will be a lively café culture 

around the enhanced market square, along with improved leisure, arts and theatre 
facilities. Partnership working with the cathedral authorities and English Heritage at 
Stonehenge on implementation of their respective management plans will have 
greatly enhanced Salisbury's reputation as a major international tourist destination. 

 
5.112 The retail, leisure and cultural function of the city will have been greatly enhanced by the 

successful redevelopment of the Maltings / Central Park that is well integrated into the 
city centre, bringing benefits for the whole area. Significant growth in new homes and 
jobs will have been successfully integrated into the city in a manner that meets local 
needs. The highly valued views of the Salisbury roofscape and spire views will have 
been retained. The new homes balanced with the economic opportunities will have 
provided local opportunities to work and live in the local area and will have 
successfully reduced the amount of out-commuting. 

 
[Figure 5.14 – Salisbury Community Area] 

 

Core Policy 20 
 
Spatial Strategy: Salisbury Community Area 
 
Development in the Salisbury Community Area should be in accordance with the Settlement 
Strategy set out in Core Policy 1. 
 
Principle Settlements: Salisbury 

 
The following Principal Employment Areas will be supported in accordance with Core Policy 
35: Old Sarum and Southampton Road. 
 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026), 29 ha employment land and  approximately  6,060 new 
homes will be provided within the Community Area, which should occur either within Salisbury 
or the town of Wilton, including land identified for strategic growth as described below: 
 
Fugglestone Red 1,250 dwellings 8 ha employment 
Hampton Park 500 dwellings 0 ha employment 
Longhedge (Old Sarum) 450 dwellings 8 ha employment 
Churchfields and Engine 
Shed 

1,100 dwellings 5 ha employment 

UKLF, Wilton 450 dwellings 3 ha employment 
Central Car Park Retail 
and Leisure floorspace 

200 dwellings Up to 40,000 sqm gross 
external area 

Former Imerys Quarry 0 dwellings 4 ha employment 
 
The strategic allocations will be brought forward through a master planning process agreed 
between the community, local planning authority and the developer and should deliver any 
requirements as set out in the development templates as shown by Appendix A. 
 
 Growth in the Salisbury Community Area over the plan period may consist of a range of 
sites in accordance with Core Policies 1 and 2. 
 
Development proposals in the Salisbury Community Area will need to demonstrate how those 
issues and considerations listed in paragraph 5.109 will be addressed. 

90 
 Page 296



 
 
 
Table 5.13 Delivery of Housing - Salisbury Community Area 
Area Requirement 

2006-26 
Housing already provided for Housing to be identified 
Completions 
2006-14 
 

Specific 
permitted 
sites 

Strategic 
sites 

Remainder to 
be identified 

Salisbury43 6,060 1596  640  3,950 0  
 
 
Salisbury Central Area Regeneration 
 
5.113 The  Salisbury  Central  Area  Regeneration  Programme  comprises  a  number  of  

brownfield development opportunities that have been identified as important to the 
future economic and social prosperity of the city. In simple terms, the programme will 
provide an improved quality of life for residents, an improved experience for visitors 
and an improved economic environment for businesses. It aims to do this by 
providing more office and employment space, a wider range of shops, more housing 
(particularly affordable housing), additional high quality hotels, improved cultural 
facilities, an improved public transport system, a much more attractive, 'green' and 
more pedestrian and cyclist friendly city. 

 
5.114 The Salisbury Central Area Regeneration Sites also represent a key source of 

housing delivery. Although not classified as strategic sites (Core Policy 20), as there is 
uncertainty over the deliverability timescale, any development must be balanced with 
clear community, stakeholder and key landowners support. These sites will be 
brought forward through master planning in a similar way to the strategic sites in 
accordance with Core Policy 20. The sites where further work is needed include: 

 
• Salt Lane (10 dwellings)  
• Brown Street (15 dwellings)  
• Bus Station (10 dwellings)  
• Bus depot (25 dwellings) 
• Southampton Road (750 dwellings). 

 
5.115 Key projects are summarised below. 
 
 

[Salisbury key project maps – to be added] 
 
 
Churchfields Industrial Estate and Engine Shed Site 
 
5.116 This existing employment site should be redeveloped into a mixed-use residential led 

scheme, to form a new neighbourhood in a sustainable location close to the city centre. 
This will provide 1,100 homes and 5 ha of predominately B1 employment land, 
together with supporting infrastructure and community facilities (in accordance with 
Core Policy 20). Enough employment land supply is provided in the south Wiltshire 
area to enable the decant of Churchfields Industrial Estate, including employment land 
on a number of strategic sites included in this core strategy. 

43 Housing numbers for Salisbury include those planned for the town of Wilton – the remainder of the Wilton Community Area is 
treated separately (see Wilton Area Strategy, page 165). 

 
91 

 

                                                           

Page 297



 
The Maltings and Central Car Park Site 
 
5.117 This strategy promotes the sensitive regeneration of a mixed-use retail led 

development on the Maltings and Central Car Park. Not only is the site sequentially 
preferable, but it also offers an excellent opportunity large enough to deliver the level 
of retail development needed for the city within a central location. Its proximity to the 
existing city centre means it can complement the existing centre rather than compete 
with it. This will help contribute towards the continued viability and vibrancy of the whole 
of Salisbury City centre and should incorporate an element of residential, office and 
leisure uses. It is important that the development on the Maltings and Central Car Park 
does not result in a decline of specialist, independent and other retailing elsewhere in 
the primary and secondary shopping areas. Comprehensive redevelopment of the 
area should therefore incorporate other regeneration projects including: 

 
• Improved legibility created along and through the Market Walk to draw visitors 

to the market square and onwards 
• Improved legibility between Fisherton Street, the Playhouse and City Hall to 

the proposed new development through to a scheme such as the creation of 
‘Fisherton Square’ as depicted in the Salisbury Vision Document 

• The development is shown to nurture and support the existing retailers and 
can demonstrate how it will complement and boost existing patterns of trade 
and not have a detrimental impact upon them 

• The proposal will contribute towards a City Centre Retail Strategy to manage 
the transition of retail change within the city centre and ensure that the impact 
on the existing retail circuit is not undermined. 

 
 

Core Policy 21 
 
The Maltings / Central Car Park 
 
The area around the Maltings, Central Car Park, and Library is allocated for a retail-led 
mixed-use development to enhance Salisbury city centre’s position as a sub-regional shopping 
and cultural centre. The development will consist of convenience and comparison shopping, 
leisure uses, housing, offices, library and cultural quarter. 
 
The redevelopment of the Maltings / Central Car Park will be sensitive to Salisbury’s skyline and 
respect the scale and building forms of the historic urban fabric. It will build on the city's 
already strong retail offer to create a new quarter specifically designed to meet the demands 
of the modern shopper, and the modern retailer, with simple, regular shaped interior spaces 
which can be easily configured to meet a wide variety of needs and shop sizes. 
 
The Maltings/Central Car Park will not be an enclosed shopping centre or self-contained mall 
style development, but a high quality outward looking design, which integrates into the city 
centre. Retail, residential and leisure areas will be linked by open, pedestrianised streets and 
public spaces, with an improved cultural area around the Playhouse and City Hall, improving 
legibility from the new development through the cultural area to Fisherton Street. Relocation 
or remodeling of the library will open up links to the Market Square. This open streetscape will 
connect the prime retail units and will include retail with an anchor store, residential and leisure 
areas. 
 
The development will also meet any additional requirements as set out in the development 
templates shown by Appendix A. 

92 
 Page 298



 
 
Salisbury Skyline 
 
5.118 The long-standing policy that limits the height of new buildings to not more than 12.2 

metres (40ft) in order to protect views of the cathedral and city roofscape has played a 
major part in preserving the unique character of the city. There is no evidence that it has 
had a retarding effect on Salisbury's economy. An independent appraisal and focus 
group with English Heritage concluded that its simplicity was a major contributory 

factor to this
44

. The policy requires slight modernisation to further clarify exceptional 
circumstances criteria, which have been too vague in the past. 

 

Core Policy 22 
 
In the Salisbury Central Area as shown on the Policies Map: 
 

i. New development will be restricted to a height that does not exceed 12.2 metres 
above ground level  

ii. Decorative architectural features that positively contribute to the variety, form and 
character of the area’s roofscape, skyline and silhouette may be allowed to 
exceed 12.2 metres in height where appropriate, provided that they do not result 
in any increase in usable floorspace 

iii. In exceptional circumstances, development in excess of 12.2 metres in height will 
be permitted, where it can be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Local 
Planning Authority that the development: 

a. would have no demonstrable harm on the roofscape of the city and / or 
views of the cathedral 

b. would be essential for the long-term economic viability of the city, and 
c. the height is required to ensure the development is making the most 

efficient use of the land. 
 
 
[Figure 5.15: Old Sarum Airfield map – DELETE. REINSERT UNDER SWCA CHAPTER] 
 
 
 

44 Review of the Salisbury Central Area “40ft Rule” Policy – Chris Blandford Associates, August 2008. 
 

93 
 

                                                           

Page 299



 

Southern Wiltshire Area Strategy 
 
Spatial information and context 
 
5.122 The Southern Wiltshire Community Area sits in the south east corner of Wiltshire 

and the area contains parts of the New Forest National Park, which is planned for 

separately
45

. Downton functions as a Local Service Centre for its surrounding area, yet 
the nearby city of Salisbury exerts a strong functional influence, especially over the 
more northern settlements such as Alderbury, Britford, Odstock and Bodenham. 
Salisbury therefore provides the main employment, retail, leisure and cultural centre for 
the area. The area also has good A-road connectivity to the south coast, and so the 
influence of larger centres such as Bournemouth and Southampton are also strong, 
especially for employment and retailing. 

 
5.123 The Southern Wiltshire Community Area has four secondary schools, one in Downton 

and three in Laverstock, which include children from the Salisbury city catchment area 
and beyond. Statistically, the area is relatively affluent, but pockets of deprivation do 
exist. 

 
5.124 Due to the highly constrained nature of Salisbury, it is inevitable that a significant 

proportion of the growth required to meet its long-term needs will be located on 
greenfield sites on the edge of the city. Because the administrative boundaries are 
drawn tightly around the city, this will result in growth in several neighbouring 
parishes. Many development site options for growth have been considered but 
discounted due to many issues ranging from wildlife impacts in the Winterslow area 
to congestion on the A36 at Alderbury. 

 
The strategy for the Southern Wiltshire Area 
 
5.125 The strategy for the Southern Wiltshire Community Area is to provide for balanced 

growth of both housing and employment to deliver sustainable communities and help 
address the shortfall in affordable housing.   The strategy will respond to the 
Community Area’s location (in full or part) within a nationally designated landscape.  
In the Southern Wiltshire Community Area this includes the Cranborne Chase and 
West Wiltshire Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and the New Forest 
National Park.  It will deliver, within the overall objective of conserving the designated 
landscapes, a modest and sustainable level of development.  

 
Issues and considerations 
 
5.126 Specific issues to be addressed in planning for the Southern Wiltshire Community 

Area include: 
 

• Strategic growth is not appropriate for the Southern Wiltshire Community Area. 
This is in part due to congestion on the A36, particularly at the Alderbury 
bypass, which has been raised by the Highways Agency 

• Two major growth sites have been identified in the parish of Laverstock which 
are described within the Salisbury Area Strategy, above. Details relating to 
these specific development sites will be outlined in a subsequent planning 

45 See the New Forest National Park Core Strategy and Development Management Policies DPD at 
http://www.newforestnpa.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/core-strategy. 

94 
 

                                                           

Page 300

http://www.newforestnpa.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/core-strategy
http://www.newforestnpa.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/core-strategy


document 
• A transport assessment is required for all major applications proportionate to 

the scale of development which must include an assessment of congestion on 
the A36, particularly the Alderbury bypass and how the development proposal 
would affect this issue 

• Some managed growth is necessary to support ongoing business growth and 
development, to ensure the existing strong employment opportunities in the 
area are maintained. Limited development will also help to address the 
shortfall in affordable housing in the area  

• Consideration should be given to the existing shortage of long-term beds in 
care homes 

• The New Forest National Park is an important resource and so protecting the 
natural environment is a priority. The Core Strategy sets a policy framework to 
prevent detrimental impacts on the park from neighbouring development. 
Development that would increase recreational pressures must not adversely 
affect   Natura 2000 designations of the New Forest and must contribute to the 
implementation of the Recreation Management Strategy. Development within 
the park area will be subject to a separate core strategy as described above 

• Ongoing protection and enhancement of the Stone Curlew and calcareous 
grassland habitat at Porton Down must be secured through the implementation 
of an Integrated Business and Environmental Management Strategy, to 
effectively avoid  potentially adverse impacts of  further development at the 
site, maintaining the integrity of the Natural 2000 designations.  

• Development in the vicinity of the River Avon (Hampshire) must  incorporate 
appropriate measures to ensure that it will not adversely affect the integrity of 
this Special Area of Conservation  

• Development within the community area will need to conserve the designated 
landscape of the Cranborne Chase and West Wiltshire Downs Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty and its setting, and where possible enhance its 
locally distinctive characteristics.   

 
How will the Southern Wiltshire Community Area change by 2026? 
 
5.127 By 2026, the Southern Wiltshire Community Area will comprise thriving communities 

reflecting the aspirations of its residents. The area will be comfortable with its 
relationship with Salisbury and will have benefited from the opportunities that growth 
has attracted to provide new homes and jobs, in a managed way that delivers 
improved services and choice. 

 
5.128 In response to this challenge, Downton will continue to be the focus of 

appropriate levels of managed growth. It will have a choice of transport and provide a 
good range of services, and good levels of employment. The need to grow Salisbury 
will have been recognised by the community, who will continue to benefit from the 
enhanced facilities and job opportunities that the city offers. The area will further 
benefit from the delivery of improved community facilities and better connectivity through 
improved footpaths, cycle ways and public transport choices. 

 
 

[Figure 5.16 – Southern Wiltshire Community Area] 
 
 
 
 
 

95 
 Page 301



 
 

Core Policy 24 
 
Spatial Strategy: Southern Wiltshire Community Area 
 
Development in the Southern Wiltshire Community Area should be in accordance with the 
Settlement Strategy set out in Core Policy 1. 
 
Local Service Centres: Downton 
Large Villages: Alderbury, Coombe Bissett, Morgan's Vale / Woodfalls, 

Pitton, Whiteparish and Winterslow / Middle Winterslow 
Small Villages: Bodenham, Britford, Charlton All Saints, East Grimstead, 

Farley, Firsdown / Winterbourne, Laverstock and Ford, 
Lopcombe Corner, Nunton, Odstock,West Dean and West 
Grimstead 

 
The following Principal Employment Areas will be supported in accordance with Core 
Policy 35: Downton Business Centre. 
 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026) approximately 615 new homes will be provided of which 
190 should occur at Downton. About 425 homes will be provided in the rest of the 
community area. Growth in the Southern Wiltshire Community Area over the plan period 
may consist of a range of sites in accordance with Core Policies 1 and 2. 
 
Development proposals in the Southern Wiltshire Community Area will need to demonstrate 
how the relevant issues and considerations listed in paragraph 5.126 will be addressed. 
 
 
 
Table 5.14 Delivery of Housing 2006 to 2026 – Southern Wiltshire Community Area 
Area Requirement 

2006-26 
Housing already provided for Housing to be identified 
Completions 
2006-14 
 

Specific 
permitted 
sites 

Strategic 
sites 

Remainder to 
be identified 

Downton 190 54  14  0 122  
Remainder 425  315  54  0 56  
Community 
Area Total 

615  369  69  0 177  

 
 
New Forest National Park 
 
5.129 The south eastern boundary of the area covered by this strategy overlaps with the 

New Forest National Park. Parts of the parishes of Redlynch, Landford and 
Whiteparish lie within the National Park and, although they are located in Wiltshire, 
these areas are under the New Forest National Park Authority (NPA) for all planning 
purposes. The policies contained in this strategy do not therefore apply to 
development within these areas. 

 
5.130 The New Forest National Park Management Plan (2010 – 2015) was formally 

approved by the National Park Authority in December 2009 with the authority’s Core 
Strategy & Development Management Policies DPD adopted in December 2010. These 
plans cover the whole of the National Park, including the parts of the Park in South 

96 
 Page 302



Wiltshire, and supersede the New Forest policies within the Salisbury District Local 
Plan 2003. 

 
5.131 Some development in the remainder of south Wiltshire might impact on the National 

Park, and the NPA will continue to be consulted on proposals that are considered to 
potentially impact on their aims. It is also necessary for this Strategy to impose a 
policy to control the impact of development outside of the National Park. 

 
5.132 It may also be the case that development in some areas of south Wiltshire may have 

an impact on the New Forest SPA and SAC through increased recreational 
disturbance.  Adverse effects upon these sites may be avoided through 
implementation of the New Forest Recreation Management Strategy. This is further 
discussed in Core Policy 50. 

 

Core Policy 25 
 
New Forest National Park 
 
Development will only be permitted where it does not have a negative impact on the: 
 

i. Conservation and enhancement of the unique character and environment of the New 
Forest National Park, and in particular the special qualities of its landscape, wildlife 
and cultural heritage  

ii. Encouragement of understanding and enjoyment of the New Forest National Park's 
special qualities 

iii. Social and economic well being of local communities in ways that sustain the National 
Park's special character. 

 
 
Old Sarum Airfield 
 
5.119 Old Sarum Airfield dates from the First World War and is one of the best preserved in 

the country as it has remaining technical buildings and three listed hangars, which still 
have a functional relationship to the grass airstrip. The facility is highly valued locally for 
the historical and recreational opportunities it provides. However, there are a number 
of issues relating to the site that this Core Strategy seeks to resolve. 

 
5.120 The heritage value of the airfield has been damaged by the intrusion of functional late 

20th century industrial sheds, which compromise its historic character. There are no 
controls over the level and intensity of flying activity from the airfield, and there has 
been a long history of complaints from local residents about the noise, which has 
been caused largely by aeroplanes flying over the city, in training circuits, especially 
during the summer months. While there is no local wish to prevent flying altogether, 
there is a desire to seek some control and strike an appropriate balance between the 
flying activity and amenity of Salisbury's residents. 

 
5.121 This strategy will allow sympathetic new development on the airfield perimeter, 

including high quality residential use, where it can be fully demonstrated that it will 
deliver the outcomes identified in the following policy.  The Master Plan will be 
developed in partnership with the local community, local planning authority and the 
developer prior to any application being considered.  

 
[Figure 5.15: Old Sarum Airfield map and copyright text – INSERT HERE] 

 
97 

 Page 303



 

Core Policy 23 
 
Old Sarum Airfield 
 
New development will only be permitted on Old Sarum Airfield if it delivers the following: 
 

i. A long-term proactive strategy for the enhancement of the Conservation Area 
including management plan and public access and visitor/interpretive material on 
its historic relevance 

ii. A high quality strategic landscape improvement to mitigate impacts of existing intrusive 
buildings, to soften impacts when viewed both out and into the Conservation Area 
and from Old Sarum Scheduled Ancient Monument 

iii. The completion of a legal agreement (section 106) to agree reasonable controls over 
flying activity in the interests of the amenity of local residents 

iv. Submission, agreement and implementation of a development master plan, which 
delivers a high quality development that takes opportunities to enhance the 
historic environment and protects the amenity of existing residents 

v. Retains and safeguards flying activity from the airfield 
vi. Provides community benefit for the Old Sarum residents. 

 
 
 
 

98 
 Page 304



 

Tidworth Area Strategy 
 
Spatial information and context 
 
5.133 The Tidworth Community Area is located in the eastern part of Wiltshire. The area is 

predominantly rural in character and includes parts of Salisbury Plain and the North 
Wessex Downs AONB. The two main towns in the community area, Tidworth and 
Ludgershall, have complimentary roles and are being planned for jointly to help them 
develop a number of shared facilities and resources. This complimentary role will 
enable a more sustainable community, where a mix of military and civilian 
employment, and shared facilities, serve a permanent population. 

 
5.134 The Tidworth Community Area is dominated by the presence of the military, being by far 

the largest local employer, utilising large parts of Salisbury Plain as a training area. 
Although Tidworth and Ludgershall provide local centres, Andover and Salisbury offer 
the majority of higher order services and facilities, such as hospitals and cinemas, and 
public transport in the area is based around access to these centres. The A303 is 
located just south of the community area and is a strategic transport route linking 
Wiltshire to the south-east and south-west of England. 

 
The strategy for the Tidworth Area 
 
5.135 Tidworth/Ludgershall is not identified as a location for new strategic employment 

growth. The employment mix in the town is dominated by the MoD and this causes 
there to be a number of unusual commuting patterns with a high percentage of people 
walking to work and a relatively good level of self containment. Nevertheless, there 
remains significant out-commuting with limited employment beyond jobs associated 
with the MoD. New employment at Tidworth and Ludgershall should concentrate on 
providing a range of opportunities to diversify the job market. Although not a strategic 
location for employment growth, Castledown Business Park is an important allocation 
that will fulfil the requirements of Tidworth/Ludgershall in the short and medium term. 

 
5.136 The dominance of the military and the unique living and working practises of military life 

mean that the community area displays some unusual patterns and population 
profiles. The military lifestyle also has a fundamental effect on how people interact with 
higher order service centres around the area. As the Tidworth, Netheravon and 
Salisbury Garrisons have been designated as a ‘Super Garrison’, the military 
population in the area is expected to grow and new military housing is planned. 
Military personnel are also likely to remain in the area for longer. This strategy will 
help to deliver wider improvements to services and facilities in the community area and 
thus contribute to the integration of the civilian and military community. The strategy 
will respond to the Community Area’s location (in full or part) within a nationally 
designated landscape.  In the Tidworth Community Area this includes the North 
Wessex Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.  It will deliver, within the overall 
objective of conserving the designated landscape, a modest and sustainable level of 
development.  

 
Issues and considerations 
 
5.137 Specific issues to be addressed in planning for the Tidworth and Ludgershall 

Community Area include: 
 

99 
 Page 305



• Employment growth will need to be provided to help diversify the economic base, 
thus reducing the reliance on the MoD, but also allowing opportunities for 
related industries to locate to the area and benefit from being co-located with 
specialist military services. The area's excellent road connectivity adds to its 
attractiveness to employers 

• The re-use of brownfield military land will be a priority to support sustainable 
local employment growth. This will be particularly important as there is currently a 
shortage of quality employment premises for small and medium sized 
enterprises including incubation facilities and managed workspaces in the area 

• The use of brownfield land may also enable the protection of sensitive areas 
around the community area including the Salisbury Plain SSSI, SPA and SAC 
and the North Wessex Downs AONB. However, the re-use of this land needs 
to be considered carefully in relation to the wider needs of the area 

• Developer contributions from future housing growth should also help to deliver 
infrastructure necessary in the town. In particular, a permanent and centrally 
located ambulance standby point is needed, along with additional infant and 
nursery places. In addition the fire and rescue service would consider relocating 
the fire station within Ludgershall and additional facilities may be required 

• Development with potential to increase recreational pressure upon the Salisbury 
Plain Special Protection Area will not be permitted unless proportionate 
contributions towards the maintenance of the Stone Curlew Management 
Strategy46 designed to avoid adverse effects upon the integrity of the stone 
curlew population as a designated feature of the SPA are made. 

• All development within the community area will need to conserve the 
designated landscape of the North Wessex Downs Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty and its setting, and where possible enhance its locally 
distinctive characteristics 

• Development in the vicinity of the River Avon (Hampshire) or Salisbury Plain 
Special Areas of Conservation must  incorporate appropriate measures to ensure 
that it wil not adversely affect the integrity of those Natura 2000 sites  

• Further improvements to the retail offer of Tidworth and Ludgershall is a priority 
to help improve the self-sufficiency of the area. Regeneration is particularly 
important as both town centres currently are poorly defined and suffer from a 
lack of continuity. The centres also have a generally weaker retail offer than for 
comparable sized nearby market towns. In planning for Tidworth and 
Ludgershall together, it is therefore important that any additional retail provision 
is directed to the central area of Tidworth to help improve the retail offer and 
the vitality and viability of the area overall. Ludgershall centre should be 
consolidated to provide for local needs 

• Sustainable traffic demand management and containment solutions will be 
needed to limit the impact of new development on the A303. Other 
improvements should include enhanced public transport connectivity, including 
a local bus service in Tidworth, and improved rights of way and cycling links 
between Tidworth and Ludgershall. 

• The development of land at Tidworth will need to carefully consider matters in 
relation to the appropriate disposal of foul and surface water. Such matters 
should be scoped and addressed through the planning application process.  

 
How will the Tidworth Community Area change by 2026? 
 
5.138 The settlements of Tidworth and Ludgershall will have developed their 

complementary roles and taken full advantage of opportunities to develop 
sustainable brownfield sites. Growth will have reflected the need to create a more 

46 Please refer to the Biodiversity and Development pages of the Wiltshire Council website for further details.  
100 

 

                                                           

Page 306



balanced community and act as a catalyst to attract inward investment with new 
employment opportunities complimenting those provided by the MoD. The future of 
existing and former MoD sites will be carefully integrated into the needs of the wider 
community. The River Bourne Corridor, Salisbury Plain and Chute Forest will continue 
to provide social, environmental and economic assets to the area as part of a wider 
green infrastructure network which will be used and managed sustainably. 

 
 

[Figure 5.17 – Tidworth Community Area] 
 
 

Core Policy 26 
 
Development in the Tidworth Community Area should be in accordance with the Settlement 
Strategy set out in Core Policy 1: 
 
Market Towns: Tidworth and Ludgershall 
Large Villages: Collingbourne Ducis and Netheravon 
Small Villages: Collingbourne Kingston, Enford, Everleigh and The Chutes 

(Chute Cadley / Chute Standen, Lower Chute and Upper 
Chute) 

 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026) 12 ha of new employment land (in addition to that 
delivered or committed at April 2011) will be provided including:  
 
Land North of Tidworth 
Road 

Saved Kennet District Plan 
Allocation 

12 ha 

 
The following Principal Employment Areas will be supported in accordance with Core Policy 
35: Castledown, Land North of Tidworth Road. 
 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026), approximately 1,920 new homes will be provided of which 
about 1,750 should occur at Tidworth and Ludgershall, including land identified at Drummond 
Park (MSA Depot) Ludgershall for strategic growth. 
 
Drummond Park (MSA) Depot 475 dwellings 

 
The strategic allocation will be brought forward through a master planning process agreed 
between the community, local planning authority and the developer and should be in 
accordance with the development template shown by Appendix A. Approximately 170 homes 
will be provided in the rest of the community area. Growth in the Tidworth Community Area 
over the plan period may consist of a range of sites in accordance with Core Policies 1 and 
2. 
 
Development proposals in the Tidworth Community Area will need to demonstrate how the 
relevant issues and considerations listed in paragraph 5.137 will be addressed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

101 
 Page 307



 
 
 
Table 5.15 Delivery of Housing 2006 to 2026 - Tidworth Community Area 
Area Requirement 

2006-26 
Housing already provided for Housing to be identified 
Completions 
2006-14 
 

Specific 
permitted 
sites 

Strategic 
sites 

Remainder to 
be identified 

Tidworth & 
Ludgershall 
Town 

1,750 330  863  475 82  

Remainder 170  80  6  0 84  
Community 
Area Total 

1,920  410  870  475 165  

 
 
 

102 
 Page 308



 

Tisbury Area Strategy 
 
Spatial information and context 
 
5.139 The Tisbury Community Area is made up of 16 rural parishes within the Cranborne 

Chase and West Wiltshire Downs AONB. Tisbury is the Local Service Centre in the 
community area and lies to the west of Salisbury. However, the rural nature of the 
area and its proximity to neighbouring towns in Dorset, mean that many residents 
turn to towns such as Shaftesbury, Gillingham, and Wincanton, for their immediate 
day to day needs. 

 
5.140 Tisbury benefits from excellent rail connections to Exeter and Salisbury, with a direct 

service to London Waterloo in less than two hours. There are also two A-roads 
passing through the area: the A303 running east to west and the A30 Salisbury to 
Shaftesbury road. Although Tisbury is close to these links, locally the road network is 
poor making it feel remote and car ownership and long-distance commuting are above 
average. This area is a very safe place to live with the lowest crime rates per person in 
the county. There are six primary schools in the area and two independent schools, but 
no secondary schools, with Shaftesbury and Gillingham mainly providing these for the 
area. 

 
5.141 Although there is modest employment in Tisbury, the community feel that there are 

limited job opportunities and some employment land should be allocated but this 
should be small scale, well designed, and in keeping with the village and surrounding 
countryside. The scale of any employment development must also take into account the 
poor road access to the village. 

 
The strategy for the Tisbury Area 
 
5.142 The strategy for Tisbury Community Area is to provide for modest growth of both 

housing and employment to ensure development is balanced, thus helping to minimise 
out-commuting and also to provide support for local services and communities. 
Identifying suitable non-strategic allocations will include working closely with existing 
employers to ensure they have the potential to meet their future needs47.  The strategy 
will respond to the Community Area’s location (in full or part) within a nationally 
designated landscape. In the Tisbury Community Area this includes the Cranborne 
Chase & West Wiltshire Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. It will deliver, 
within the overall objective of conserving the designated landscape, a modest and 
sustainable level of development. 

 
Issues and considerations 
 
5.143 Specific issues to be addressed in planning for the Tisbury Community Area include: 
 

• It will be important to maintain Tisbury’s role as a local employment centre and 
managed growth will be important, in close cooperation with local employers and 
to ensure any negative impacts are avoided 

• Although the area benefits from some good quality tourist accommodation, 
there is a lack of bed spaces, especially B&B's.  

• The Core Strategy will seek to ensure that modest new growth in Tisbury will 

47 Salisbury District Employment Land Review (2007) (section 8). 
103 

 

                                                           

Page 309



be sympathetically designed and located so it blends with the village and takes 
account of the constraints presented by narrow access roads and the sensitive 
landscape of the AONB 

• All development within the community area will need to conserve the 
designated landscape of Cranborne Chase and West Wiltshire Downs AONB 
and its setting, and where possible enhance its locally distinctive 
characteristics.  All development will be required to maintain the integrity of the 
Chilmark Quarries Special Area of Conservation, having particular regard to 
the Wiltshire Bats SAC guidance48. 

• The Tisbury Parish Plan (page 6) identifies that there is a major concern about 
insufficient parking being available in the area of the station as the number of 
rail users from outlying areas continues to increase.  The scope and need for 
further station parking, particularly on the Station Works site and fields 
adjacent to the South Western Hotel should be examined to address this. 

 
How will Tisbury Community Area change by 2026? 
 
5.144 Both housing and employment development will have helped to improve the self-

sufficiency of the area and will have helped to reduce out-commuting. The services, 
facilities and retail that exist at Tisbury are important to local quality of life and 
convenience, and will have been protected and enhanced. Modest new growth in 
Tisbury will have been sympathetically designed and located so it blends with the 
village and takes account of the constraints presented by the narrow access roads 
and the sensitive landscape of the AONB. The rural area outside of Tisbury will have 
changed little as new development will have been limited to modest levels appropriate 
to the scale of the settlements. The community area will benefit from increased 
tourism and new faster broadband provision will have helped to alleviate rural 
exclusion. 

 
[Figure 5.18 Tisbury community area] 

 
 

Core Policy 27 
 
Spatial Strategy: Tisbury Community Area 
 
Development in the Tisbury Community Area should be in accordance with the Settlement 
Strategy set out in Core Policy 1. 
 
Local Service Centres: Tisbury 
Large Villages: Fovant, Hindon and Ludwell 
Small Villages: Ansty, Berwick St John, Charlton, Chilmark, Donhead St 

Andrew, Donhead St Mary, Fonthill Bishop, Fonthill Gifford, 
Sutton Mandeville, Swallowcliffe and Tollard Royal 

 
There are no Principal Employment Areas in the Tisbury Community Area. 
 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026) 1.4 hectares of new employment land (in addition to that 
delivered or committed at April 2011) will be provided, including: 
 
Hindon Lane, Tisbury 
 

Saved Salisbury District Plan 
allocation 

1.4 ha employment 

48 Please refer to the Biodiversity and Development pages on the Wiltshire Council website for further details.. 
104 

 

                                                           

Page 310



 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026), approximately 420 new homes will be provided, of which 
about 200 should occur at Tisbury and approximately 220 homes will be provided in the rest 
of the community area. Growth in the Tisbury Community Area over the plan period may 
consist of a range of sites in accordance with Core Policies 1 and 2. 
 
Development proposals in the Tisbury Community Area will need to demonstrate how the 
relevant issues and considerations listed in paragraph 5.143 will be addressed. 
 
 
 
Table 5.16 Delivery of Housing 2006 to 2026 - Tisbury Community Area 
Area Requirement 

2006-26 
Housing already provided for Housing to be identified 
Completions 
2006-14 
 

Specific 
permitted 
sites 

Strategic 
sites 

Remainder to 
be identified 

Tisbury 200 124 37 0 39 
Remainder 220 51 11 0 158 
Community 
Area Total 

420 175 48 0 197 

 
 

105 
 Page 311



 

Trowbridge Area Strategy 
 
Spatial information and context 
 
5.145 Trowbridge has a strong industrial heritage and as the County Town of Wiltshire 

maintains an important strategic role. It has good transport links to many nearby 
settlements including Bath and Bristol and is less than twenty miles from the M4. The 
town has good rail connectivity to the west, via Bath and Bristol, and the south, via 
Westbury and Southampton. The strategically important A350 links Trowbridge with 
the M4 and the south coast. Trowbridge plays an important role as an employment, 
administration and service centre for Wiltshire. The town does however suffer from a 
lack of infrastructure, particularly leisure, entertainment and cultural facilities. 
Improvements associated with the need to better integrate the various modes of public 
transport are also needed, including the potential for a fundamental re-design of the 
railway station as the gateway to the town centre. The regeneration of the central 
area of Trowbridge is a priority for the council, the Town Council and local 
businesses. 

 
The strategy for the Trowbridge Area 
 
5.146 It is important that Trowbridge grows to strengthen its principal service centre role 

and deliver improved infrastructure and facilities in the town. Sustainable growth with 
employment development alongside new housing is needed both within the central 
area of the town and in the form of an urban extension, which is fully integrated with 
the town centre. Further land will be identified in the Housing Site Allocations DPD.  It 
will look to accommodate housing needs toward the end of the plan period and 
beyond 2026 since further significant house building on greenfield sites, will only be 
able to commence if adequate education infrastructure exists, such as delivered on 
the Ashton Park extension. New employment land will be allocated to create new jobs 
and strengthen the town’s role as a strategic employment centre for the wider west 
Wiltshire area. Employment and housing growth will help improve town centre vitality 
and deliver improved infrastructure that will enhance the attractiveness of Trowbridge 
for employers to locate to. 

 
Issues and considerations 
 
5.147 Specific issues to be addressed in planning for the Trowbridge Community Area, 

include: 
 

• Developer contributions from future housing growth should help deliver 
infrastructure necessary in the town. In particular, improved doctors surgeries 
and facilities for emergency services are needed 

• Delivering housing growth will also strengthen the viability for new and improved 
entertainment and cultural facilities in the town, such as a cinema. Ensuring 
growth is balanced between the central and edge of town areas will also 
deliver an improved evening economy, such as restaurants in the town centre, 
particularly adjacent to the River Biss corridor. Town centre growth should be a 
priority with greenfield development being phased throughout the plan period 

• Strategic growth at Trowbridge will create the environment to attract investment 
in high value skilled jobs including - office development and supporting 
infrastructure including hotel accommodation. The wider work of the council in 
terms of employer engagement schemes such as the ‘Wiltshire 100’ to support 

106 
 Page 312



employment and skills will help deliver high value jobs and assist young 
people to acquire the appropriate competencies and experience to access 
opportunities in the work environment.  Additional employment provision will 
also facilitate  uplift and improvements necessary to secure a long term future 
for existing  trading estates 

• Strategic growth at south-east Trowbridge will facilitate delivery of strategic 
improvements to the A350, particularly at Yarnbrook and West Ashton where 
existing junction arrangements are over capacity. This is currently a source of 
traffic congestion and improvements will have a significant benefit to the town.  
Responsibility for delivery of these improvements will be shared between the 
developer(s) and the council – these schemes are given an especially high 
ranking by the Wiltshire and Swindon Local Transport Body (LTB), who has 
included them in their list of schemes that will attract funding support post 
2015. More details relating to the LTB can be found on the Swindon Borough 
website49. 

• There is a requirement to provide a site for a secondary school to the south east 
of Trowbridge, to serve the proposed urban extension and linked by a new road 
to recent developments at Paxcroft Mead and other planned development to 
the east of Trowbridge. This would help to address cross town traffic which is 
currently a problem as the only secondary schools are located to the west and 
south west of the town. A new primary school will also need to be delivered as 
part of the permitted development on land south of Paxcroft Mead and two 
further primary schools delivered as part of the Ashton Park strategic 
allocation 

• It is recognised that the villages surrounding Trowbridge, particularly Hilperton, 
Southwick North Bradley and West Ashton have separate and distinct 
identities as villages. Open countryside should be maintained to protect the 
character and identity of these villages as separate communities. The local 
communities may wish to consider this matter in more detail in any future 
community-led neighbourhood planning 

• The regeneration of Trowbridge central area is a priority that will need to be 
delivered over the life of the plan to support the development of the town as a 
whole. A Masterplan is being developed to consolidate and deliver 
improvements to the central area of Trowbridge through regenerating key sites 
and the Wiltshire Core Strategy provides support for this work through Core 
Policy 28. The Masterplan, amongst other things, provides details in relation to 
the delivery of improvements to the rail station providing a new gateway to 
Trowbridge and improved public transport connectivity. The regeneration of 
centrally located vacant sites will improve the services and facilities the town 
needs and provide new employment uses. Sustainable and coherent 
regeneration of Trowbridge town centre is needed, to maximise the potential of 
vacant sites, to improve pedestrian linkages and to enhance the quality of the 
public realm.  The town centre is currently defined in the West Wiltshire Local 
Plan – First Alteration and constitutes a “commercial area” (saved policy SP1).  
All town centre boundaries will be revisited plus shopping frontages (and 
associated policies) through the Core Strategy Partial Review process. 

• A transport assessment is required for all major applications proportionate to 
the scale of development which must include an assessment of the likely future 
implications of delivering the Hilperton Relief Road. The assessment and 
relevant applications should optimise linkages providing permeable road, cycle 
and footpath connections between Ashton Park and the existing and 
committed improvements to the strategic road system at East Trowbridge. 

• Although the strategy is based around the Wiltshire community areas, it does 

49 Please see the Council and Democracy section of the Swindon Borough Council website. 
107 

 

                                                           

Page 313



plan for the continuous urban area of Trowbridge. Areas such as Staverton, 
which adjoins Trowbridge but is located within the Bradford on Avon 
Community Area, should therefore be considered both in relation to Trowbridge 
and Bradford on Avon 

• Although the regeneration of the Trowbridge Master Plan sites provides an 
opportunity to deliver improved leisure facilities (e.g. a new leisure centre), 
further work is needed to investigate how additional formal sports pitches and 
courts provision can be delivered in the town 

• Trowbridge is well provided for in terms of its convenience retail offer and there 
is no capacity for additional major food retail during the plan period, as 
evidenced by the Wiltshire Town Centre and Retail Study. There is however, 
considerable opportunity for additional comparison provision. Recent edge of 
centre retail development in Trowbridge has led to the repositioning of the town 
centre and future development should be focused in central locations around 
the Master Plan sites (paragraph 5.150) 

• Trowbridge has a strong industrial heritage and features a number of key 
landmark buildings, including the Town Hall, mill buildings and a hierarchy of 
buildings associated with the cloth industry. Future development should have 
regard to this important heritage and ensure proposals enhance, rather than 
negatively impact on the existing townscape 

• There are strong functional relationships between Trowbridge, Frome and 
Westbury, particularly for retail. Strategic growth in Trowbridge can strengthen 
the employment role of Trowbridge for the wider area and provide a 
complimentary retail offer to that provided by the nearby higher order centre of 
Bath 

• Improvement needs to be made to the River Biss to provide an attractive and 
important pedestrian corridor connecting different parts of the town centre and 
with the Ashton Park Urban Extension. The River Biss is currently an under-
utilised resource and new development within the town must contribute to 
improving connectivity with the river and thereby improve the character of this 
important green corridor 

• All development in Trowbridge should be sensitive to constraints, such as the 
local County Wildlife Sites, SSSIs, Ancient Woodland, the Western Wiltshire 
Greenbelt and areas at risk of flooding.   

• Land proposed for development to the south-east of Trowbridge has the 
opportunity to deliver biodiversity and general green infrastructure 
enhancements through new planting to link existing woodland sites, which will 
also contribute to the delivery of the Strategic Nature Area (SNA) for woodland 
in this area (Nature Map); and the provision of open space; improvements along 
the River Biss corridor to the central area of Trowbridge; and by reducing the 
risk of flooding in the town.  Flood mitigation should relate to development 
impact only. 

• A more detailed Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (Level 2) is needed to 
provide a robust understanding of flood risk and inform decisions about the 
towns growth and appropriate selection sites for development.  Such work 
would consider all aspects of flood risk and, where practicable, the scope of 
the assessment should be agreed with the council and the Environment 
Agency 

• Development proposals should consider and seek to deliver appropriate 
measures to ensure that potentially harmful recreational pressures upon 
woodland sites to the south east of Trowbridge are avoided in the first 
instance and / or mitigated against. 

• Woodland sites to the south east of Trowbridge support a breeding 
populations of Bechstein bats, associated with the Bath and Bradford on Avon 

108 
 Page 314



Bats SAC.  All development will be required not to adversely affect this 
designation and to ensure that connectivity with the SAC is maintained, having 
particular regard to the Wiltshire Bats SAC Guidance50. 

 
How will Trowbridge Community Area change by 2026? 
 
5.148 The role of Trowbridge as an employment, administration and strategic service 

centre will be strengthened. The strategy for growth at the town will provide the 
catalyst for private sector investment into the town to deliver improved infrastructure. 
Improved entertainment, leisure and cultural facilities will have been developed 
alongside an enhanced retail offer within the central area. Strong linkages will be 
established between town centre and edge of town growth, with improved public 
transport integration and an attractive walk and cycle route via the River Biss corridor 
connecting regeneration sites. Significant and focused road infrastructure 
improvements will have been made to the A350 and the location of a new secondary 
school to the south east of the town will have helped to reduce cross town traffic. The 
attractiveness of the town centre will be substantially improved, in part through 
enhancements to the River Biss corridor. Significant growth in employment provision 
will have taken place at Trowbridge, helping to strengthen the town’s strategic 
employment role and this will consist of both town centre and edge of centre 
development. A range of new jobs will be created including office based employment 
opportunities. 

 
[Figure 5.19 - Trowbridge community area] 

 
Trowbridge Central Area Regeneration 
 
5.149 The regeneration of the central area of Trowbridge is a priority and a number of 

development sites have been identified. The development of these sites should 
incorporate a sustainable mix of retail, leisure, business and residential uses and be 
compatible with Core Policy 36 and the emerging Masterplan for Trowbridge 51 which 
could be adopted as a Supplementary Planning Document once completed. 

 
5.150 The Masterplan for Trowbridge identifies character areas (areas of opportunity) which 

are shown on the following map and are described in more detail below.  Where it is 
clearly demonstrated, through an open book approach, and agreed by the local 
planning authority that the uses proposed in the Masterplan are not viable, alternative 
uses may be supported where they are consistent with the objective of securing a 
sustainable mix of uses for the Regeneration Area as a whole and would not be to the 
detriment of the delivery of other sites. 

 
[Figure 5.20 - Trowbridge central area regeneration] 

 
 
Area Site Name & Existing / Permitted 

Land Uses 
Masterplan Objectives 

1 Trowbridge Peoples Park  
 
Civic and public open spaces.  

Improve activity around the edges of the 
park and quality of existing sports and 
recreation facilities.  
Improve way-marking and linkages with 
the town centre and edge of centre retail / 
leisure facilities.  

50 Please refer to the Biodiversity and development pages of the Wiltshire Council website for further details. 
51 Urban Practitioners, 2010. Transforming Trowbridge Master Plan Development Stage One – Scoping and Vision Study.• 

109 
 

                                                           

Page 315



 
2 North east edge of town centre  

 
Services, secondary retail and 
residential uses.  

Improve functional links with the town 
centre through improvements to public 
realm and way-marking.  
 

3 Historic town centre  
 
Primary / secondary retail and 
service core.  

Improve public realm and relationship with 
surrounding areas of opportunity and 
existing uses.  
Explore opportunities for above ground-
floor level residential uses and office 
accommodation.  
Preserve and enhance listed buildings 
and other heritage assets.  
Enhance the historic character of the town 
and its County Town status through way-
marking, use of public arts and interactive 
media.  
 

4a / 4 Bythesea Road / Wicker Hill / 
Stallard Street  
 
Range of edge of centre retail 
schemes at various scales and 
residential uses.  

Improve public realm, way-marking and 
links to the town centre and between 
edge of centre uses.  
 

5 Former Bowyers site  
 
Comprehensive redevelopment of 
the site comprising: a supermarket, 
non-food retail, leisure floor-space, 
food and drink floor-space and 
associated petrol filling station.  

Improve links to town centre, way-marking 
and public realm to compliment 
surrounding uses.  
 

6 County Hall (municipal uses)  
 
Town administrative centre including 
library and cafe.  
 

Enhance linkages to transport 
interchanges.  
Improve links to town centre and edge of 
centre retail / leisure uses.  
Improve way-marking.  
 

7 St Stephen’s Place  
 
Comprehensive redevelopment of 
the site comprising multi-screen 
digital cinema / hotel, restaurants / 
cafes / bars / retail and associated 
car parking / public realm and 
pedestrian and cycle links.  

Improve links to the town centre, way 
marking and public realm to complement 
surrounding uses.  
 

8 Gateway Enhancement Area  
 

Seek enhancements to improve public 
realm, way-marking and links to the town 
centre.  
 

 
 
Area Opportunity Sites 

 
Site Description 

Potential Land Uses / Masterplan 
Objectives 

110 
 Page 316



9 East Wing 
  
Council owned site comprising a mix 
of one and two storey office buildings 
and vacant four storey library 
building. Currently used a long term 
car park and secure storage.  

Opportunity Sites 9, 10 and 11 are 
considered to be priority sites for 
comprehensive regeneration supporting 
high quality, vibrant, mixed use 
developments.  
 
Create a series of linked destinations 
along the river corridor to encourage 
people to make linked trips to the town / 
edge of centre uses.  
Establish a new east-west pedestrian and 
cycle link across the River Biss.  
Improve public realm and reconnect the 
currently fragmented elements of the town 
centre.  
 

10 Court Street Car Park  
(Council owned car park)  
 

11 Cradle Bridge  
 
Redundant factory site with ancillary 
office accommodation.  

12 Court Street Area 
  
Existing mix of employment sites 
comprising a number of under-used 
former mill buildings, warehouses, 
workshops and office 
accommodation.  

Create an attractive working environment 
supporting innovation and growth in 
independent / cultural and creative 
business.  
Create the opportunity for linked trips 
between the town centre and edge of 
centre uses.  
Protect and enhance the existing heritage 
assets of the area and provide new 
pedestrian links to the river.  
Improve public realm and the traditional 
warehouse facades.  
 

13 Castle Street 
  
Key north – south route into the 
historic core of the town centre 
supporting a mix of smaller 
independent businesses. Some 
vacant units.  

Support complementary retail, leisure and 
commercial uses allowing for a mix of day 
and night time activity.  
Promote Castle Street as key walking 
street and thereby encouraging linked 
trips between the town centre and edge of 
town retail / leisure attractions to the north 
/ west and south.  
Support the potential redevelopment of 
the toy shop and adjacent garage site.  
Improve public realm and create an 
attractive, safe and comfortable walking 
environment.  
Improve way-marking.  
 

14 Town Bridge / Wicker Hill  
 
An important access point and 
gateway to the town and river.  

Create a new civic space at Town Bridge 
focussed on the River Biss through 
comprehensive public realm works.  
Maximise active development frontage 
onto the River Biss corridor and Wicker 
Hill.  
Improve way-marking.  
 

15 ASDA and The Shires  
 
Shopping centre, multi-storey car 

Improve public realm, way-marking and 
relationship with the riverside, historic 
core, the Gateway retail development and 

111 
 Page 317



park, supermarket and servicing.  the rail station.  
Create a new public space centred on the 
river.  
Explore opportunities to reconfigure 
space to provide larger retail units set 
within an attractive environment.  
 

16 Castle Place & Car Park 
  
Shopping centre, multi-storey car 
park and leisure centre.  

Facilitate longer term redevelopment if the 
wider parking strategy for Trowbridge can 
be achieved.  
Support vibrant, mixed use development 
that will encourage people to make linked 
trips between town centre and St 
Stephen’s Place and thereby actively 
address functional relationships with the 
People’s Park.  
 

17 Riverway Industrial Site (Shails 
Lane)  
 
Light industrial and recycling 
facilities.  

Facilitate the longer term redevelopment 
opportunity for a mix of uses to include 
housing, office, business and / or leisure 
uses.  
Prepare a site specific development brief 
setting out the development and design 
principles for any future long-term use of 
the site.  
 

 
 

Core Policy 28 
 
Trowbridge Central Areas of Opportunity 
 

i. High quality development designed to achieve a sustainable mix of land uses will be 
permitted on the opportunity sites (areas 9 to 17) identified in figure 5.20 and the 
Masterplan for Trowbridge. Proposals for development on the Masterplan 
opportunity sites should complement existing and committed land-uses as well as 
contribute to the wider vision for the town centre as set out in the Masterplan. 
 

ii. Proposals should meet high quality design and sustainability standards including 
exemplary public realm and strong pedestrian and sustainable travel linkages as 
set out in the Master Plan. 
 

iii. Proposals for major development52 must be designed with the ability to connect to the 
Trowbridge energy network. Where this is deemed not to be viable, the evidence 
for this should be fully demonstrated within the Sustainable Energy Strategy as 
set out by Core Policy 41. 

 
 

Core Policy 29 
 

52 The term ‘major development’ is taken to be as defined by the Town and Country Panning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2010. 

112 
 

                                                           

Page 318



Spatial Strategy: Trowbridge Community Area 
 
Development in the Trowbridge Community Area should be in accordance with the Settlement 
Strategy set out in Core Policy 1. 
 
Principle Settlements: Trowbridge 
Large Villages: Hilperton, North Bradley and Southwick 
Small Villages: West Ashton and Yarnbrook 

 
The following Principal Employment Areas will be supported in accordance with Core Policy 
35: Canal Road Industrial Estate, White Horse Business Park, West Ashton Road, Bryer Ash 
Business Park and Bradford Road. 
 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026), 25 ha of new employment land (in addition to that 
already delivered or committed at April 2011) and approximately 7,000 new homes will be 
provided within the Community Area. At Trowbridge, approximately 5,860 dwellings will be 
delivered and will involve an area for strategic growth to the south east of the town (Ashton 
Park), which extends towards the A350 to the south and the railway line to the west. An 
additional 950 dwellings will then be developed at the town only once improved secondary 
school provision is in place towards the end of the plan period and there has been a further 
assessment of effects on protected bat species and their habitats to ensure that they are 
properly safeguarded. 
 
West Ashton Road Saved West Wiltshire District 

Plan Allocation 
10 ha 

Ashton Park Urban 
Extension 

 15 ha employment 
2,600 dwellings 

 
The strategic allocation will be brought forward through a master planning process agreed 
between the community, local planning authority and the developer and should deliver any 
requirements as set out in the development templates as shown by Appendix A.  Further land 
for housing development at Trowbridge will be identified in the Housing Site Allocations DPD.  
Greenfield housing sites in addition to the strategic sites will only permitted once improved 
secondary school provision has been delivered as a result of the Ashton Park urban 
extension.  Any proposals which are likely to have and unavoidable adverse effect on a 
Natura 2000 site will not be taken forward. 
 
Approximately 165 homes will be provided in the rest of the community area over the plan period. 
Growth in the Trowbridge Community Area over the plan period may consist of a range of 
sites in accordance with Core Policies 1 and 2. 
 
Development proposals in the Trowbridge Community Area will need to demonstrate how the 
relevant issues and considerations listed in paragraph 5.147 will be addressed. 
 
 
 
Table 5.17 Delivery of Housing 2006 to 2026 - Trowbridge Community Area 
Area Requirement 

2006-26 
Housing already provided for Housing to be identified 
Completions 
2006-14 
 

Specific 
permitted 
sites 

Strategic 
sites 

Remainder to 
be identified 

113 
 Page 319



Trowbridge 
Town53 

6810 2152 409 2,600 164954 

Remainder 165 230 7 0 0 
Community 
Area Total 

6975 2382 416 2,600 1649 

 
Trowbridge District Energy Network 
 
5.151 The traditional distribution of energy from large non renewable power stations is not 

efficient when it comes to minimising greenhouse gases. Significant losses of energy 
occur through its transmission over long distances, and the heat generated when 
electricity is generated is wasted. Generating energy (which may consist of electricity, 
heat and cooling) in close proximity to the customer, can substantially reduce 
emissions, and therefore help to meet targets for tackling climate change in Wiltshire. 
A significant opportunity has been identified for a district energy network to be 
established in the centre of Trowbridge. Key opportunities include: 

 
• A programme to substantially re-model County Hall, one of the main Wiltshire 

Council offices located close to the centre of Trowbridge commenced in 2011. 
County Hall could form a significant ‘anchor’ customer to a new energy 
network 

• The Trowbridge Master Plan identifies a central of area of Trowbridge (Area 15 
– Riverside) as highly suitable for new leisure services. A new leisure centre 
would provide an ideal ‘anchor’ customer for an energy network 

• The connection of other Trowbridge Master Plan sites may improve the viability 
of both the overall scheme, and the need to meet improvements to the energy 
performance for each of these developments. 

 
5.152 The development of a district energy network in Trowbridge will be supported in 

accordance with Core Policies 28 and 41. 
 
 

Core Policy 30 
 
Trowbridge Low-Carbon, Renewable Energy Network 
 

i. The development of a low-carbon renewable district energy / heat network in 
Trowbridge will be encouraged and supported. 

ii. For major development55 and within the identified area of potential (refer to 
accompanying map), proposals for development should give consideration for the 
future routing of piping (electricity / heat / cooling), for network expansion and for 
the development of energy hubs. Applications for development must demonstrate 
how these matters have been considered in preparing the proposal and be set out in 
the Sustainable Energy Strategy as required by Core Policy 41. Connections to 
the Trowbridge energy network will be supported, in accordance with Core Policy 
28. 

 

 
[Figure 5.21Trowbridge energy network area of potential] 

53 Housing numbers for Trowbridge include those planned for the village of Hilperton. 
54 The remainder of the Community area has sufficient commitments to exceed the indicative requirement.  
55 The  term ‘major  development’ is  taken  to  be  as  defined  by  the Town  and  Country  Planning (Development 

Management Procedure) (England) Order 2010. 
114 

 

                                                           

Page 320



 
 

115 
 Page 321



 

Warminster Area Strategy 
 
Spatial information and context 
 
5.153 The historic town of Warminster is surrounded by a high quality landscape, with 

Salisbury Plain to the east. The town has an attractive town centre, which functions 
as an important hub for a number of nearby rural settlements. The town itself is one of 
the larger employment centres in the county. Warminster is located near two regionally 
significant transport corridors, the A36 and the Cardiff to Portsmouth railway line. The 
town has strong functional linkages for employment and shopping with Frome. 
Warminster has been identified as a location for new strategic employment growth. It 
is one of the larger market towns and has excellent road (A36/A350) and rail 
connectivity. The MoD continues to be the largest employer, but there are a number 
of other significant employers in the town. Although, there have been relatively high 
volumes of empty industrial units in Warminster during late 2000’s, redevelopment of 
the town has recently stimulated more demand in the town centre. Overall, Warminster 
has the capacity to enhance its contribution to the employment base within Wiltshire. 

 
The strategy for the Warminster Area 
 
5.154 The strategy for Warminster is to increase the level of employment, town centre retail 

and service provision, along with residential development, as part of sustainable 
growth. New employment development in Warminster supports the overall strategy of 
concentrating on accessible locations within the A350 corridor.  The strategy will 
respond to the Community Area’s location (in full or part) within a nationally 
designated landscape.  In Warminster Community Area this includes the Cranborne 
Chase and West Wiltshire Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.  It will deliver, 
within the overall objective of conserving the designated landscape, a modest and 
sustainable level of development. 

 
Issues and considerations 
 
5.155 Specific issues to be addressed in planning for the Warminster Community Area 

include: 
 

• A mix of housing and employment growth will facilitate the delivery of improved 
community facilities in Warminster through developer contributions. These may 
include expansion or alterations of the fire station and ambulance service 
centre, which are either at capacity or in need of major refurbishment. There is 
also a need for expansion or relocation of existing GP surgeries, facilities for 
young people in the town are also particularly lacking, the library is in need of 
enhancement and further cemetery provision is needed 

• The options for expanding primary and secondary school provision in 
Warminster need to be resolved. The Princecroft Primary School could be 
replaced on-site with a larger facility and Kingdown Secondary School may 
need to relocate because the schools existing site is constrained. 
Consideration for relocating the secondary school may be appropriate in any 
future community-led neighbourhood planning 

• It is essential that housing development to the west of Warminster facilitates the 
early delivery of employment growth, allowing an increased supply of jobs for 
local people. However, existing issues associated with traffic congestion and 
cross-town traffic will need to be addressed and carefully managed. A 

116 
 Page 322



sustainable transport solution for pupils attending Kingdown Secondary School 
is required 

• Proposals set out within the Warminster Town Plan will be supported, 
providing they are consistent with the policy framework set out in the Wiltshire 
Core Strategy. Proposals for new comparison retail provision on the Central Car 
Park site will be supported providing it is clearly demonstrated how the 
proposals integrate with the existing fabric of the town centre, provides high 
quality public realm and pedestrian linkages and provides enhancement to the 
existing central area 

• Warminster has limited locational opportunities for new development due to a 
range of environmental constraints, such as the Cranborne Chase and West 
Wiltshire Downs AONB, a Special Landscape Area, a number of SSSI’s and 
County Wildlife Sites. New development will need to be carefully managed to 
ensure appropriate mitigation is implemented 

• All development within the community area will need to conserve the 
designated landscape of the Cranborne Chase and West Wiltshire Downs 
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and its setting, and where possible 
enhance its locally distinctive characteristics 

• Development in the vicinity of the River Avon (Hampshire) or Salisbury Plain 
must incorporate appropriate measures to ensure that it will not adversely 
affect the integrity of those Natura 2000 sites  

• Development which increases recreational pressure upon the Salisbury Plain 
Special Protection Area will not be permitted unless proportionate contributions 
are made to offset impacts through the Wessex Stone Curlew Project 

• Concentrations of water phosphate in the River Wylye are high, derived from 
the sewage treatment works in the town and agricultural activity in the 
surrounding area. These current phosphate issues may lead to potential 
impacts on the River Avon Special Area of Conservation (SAC) located 
downstream. Any additional development must ensure that the impact of 
phosphates in the water system are pro-actively managed to ensure the 
current issues are addressed; a Nutrient Management Plan is being prepared 
to identify appropriate mitigation for this matter. Where the Environment 
Agency has concluded that increased discharges at a Sewage Treatment 
Works could not be fully mitigated through the Environmental Permitting 
Regime, all relevant development will provide effective mitigation where 
necessary, to ensure there are no detrimental impacts to the River Avon 
Special Area of Conservation in accordance with Core Policy 69. 

• A more detailed Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (Level 2) is needed to 
provide a robust understanding of flood risk and inform decisions about the 
town’s growth and appropriate selection of sites for development. The 
strategic allocation can be delivered in advance of the result of this 
assessment. Such work should consider all aspects of flood risk and, where 
practicable, the scope of the assessment should be agreed with the council 
and Environment Agency 

• All development will be required to maintain the integrity of the Bath and 
Bradford Bats Special Area of Conservation (SAC), having particular regard to 
the Wiltshire Bats SAC Guidance56 

 
How will Warminster Community Area change by 2026? 
 
5.156 An increase in future housing in Warminster, compared to historic trends, will help 

facilitate the delivery of improved services and facilities in the town. The delivery of 

56 Please refer to the Biodiversity and Development pages of the Wiltshire Council website for further details 
 

117 
 

                                                           

Page 323



sustainable employment growth opportunities alongside an appropriate mix of housing 
will help improve the self-containment of the town and will strengthen the vitality and 
regeneration prospects for the town centre. Facilities for the young will have been 
improved. Warminster’s role as a service and employment centre for the surrounding 
rural catchment will have been enhanced. The River Wylye and the woodlands at 
Longleat Park will continue to provide social, environmental and economic assets as 
part of a wider green infrastructure network. 

 
 

[Figure 5.22 Warminster Community Area] 
 
 
Warminster Town Plan 
 
5.157 Regeneration of the central area of Warminster is identified as a priority and a town 

plan is being prepared, which is being led by the community. This may be adopted 
as additional planning guidance in the future. As it stands, the focus for the Town Plan 
is to strengthen and re-define the identity of the retail core of the town centre 
including: 

 
• The provision of suitable premises for larger format comparison retailers  
• Rationalisation of parking provision 
• Improvements to public transport connectivity, and  
• Improved pedestrian linkages. 

 
5.158 The proposals set out in the Warminster Town Plan are supported by the council. 

Proposals for the Central Car Park site, in particular, provide an opportunity to 
effectively integrate new comparison retail provision within the existing fabric of 
Warminster town centre. It is clear that the car park area is currently under-used and 
offers a unique opportunity to improve the retail offer to enhance the vitality and 
viability of the town centre overall. 

 
5.159 Where possible, key community services and facilities should be retained in the town 

centre, to assist with the aims of enhancing the central area of the town, in accordance 
with national planning policy. 

 
 

Core Policy 31 
 
Spatial Strategy: Warminster Community Area 
 
Development in the Warminster Community Area should be in accordance with the Settlement 
Strategy set out in Core Policy 1. 
 
Market Towns: Warminster 
Large Villages: Chapmanslade, Codford, Corsley, Heytesbury, and Sutton 

Veny 
Small Villages: Chitterne, Crockerton, Horningsham, Longbridge Deverill, 

Maiden Bradley, Stockton and Upton Scudamore 
 
The following Principal Employment Areas will be supported in accordance with Core Policy 
35: Crusader Park, Warminster Business Park, Woodcock Road Industrial Estate and 
Northlands Industrial Estate. 
 

118 
 Page 324



Over the plan period (2006 to 2026), 6 ha of new employment land (in addition to that already 
delivered or committed at April 2011) and approximately 2060 new homes will be provided. 
Of these about 1,920 dwellings should occur at Warminster, including land identified to the 
west of Warminster, between the existing built form and the A350 for strategic growth. 
 
West Warminster Urban Extension 6 ha employment 

900 dwellings 
 
The strategic allocation will be brought forward through a master planning process agreed 
between the community, local planning authority and the developer and should be in 
accordance with the development templates shown by Appendix A. 
 
Approximately 140 homes will be provided in the rest of the community area. Growth in 
the Warminster Community Area over the plan period may consist of a range of sites in 
accordance with Core Policies 1 and 2. 
 
Development proposals in the Warminster Community Area will need to demonstrate how the 
relevant issues and considerations listed in paragraph 5.155 will be addressed. 
 
 
 

Table 5.18 Delivery of Housing 2006 to 2026 - Warminster Community Area 
Area Requirement 

2006-26 
Housing already provided for Housing to be identified 
Completions 
2006-14 
 

Specific 
permitted 
sites 

Strategic 
sites 

Remainder to 
be identified 

Warminster 
Town 

1,920 504 199 900 317 

Remainder 140 67 24 0 49 
Community 
Area Total 

2060 571 224 900 365 

 

119 
 Page 325



 

Westbury Area Strategy 
 
Spatial information and context 
 
5.160 Westbury is an historic market town located in the west of Wiltshire between 

Trowbridge and Warminster. Although the town is smaller than other nearby 
settlements - including Frome, it has a significant employment base of strategic value 
and enjoys excellent rail connectivity, with direct links to Bristol, London, Portsmouth 
and Exeter. The town has seen significant housing development in the past which has 
not been matched by an appropriate provision of services, facilities and new jobs. The 
town has a good representation of independent retailers, which should be enhanced. 

 
5.161 Westbury has been identified as a location for new strategic employment growth. 

The town’s location between Warminster and Trowbridge allied with its position as a 
junction for rail travel makes it an accessible location and enhances its catchment. 
Furthermore, the employment base in Westbury should be relatively resilient to 
change. However, recent growth in housing has not as yet been matched by 
employment growth. The town has potential to be a key location for delivering 
economic development in Wiltshire and new employment development in Westbury 
supports the overall strategy of concentrating on accessible locations within the A350 
corridor. 

 
The strategy for the Westbury Area 
 
5.162 The strategy for Westbury will deliver a reduction in housing growth compared to 

historic trends, with a focus on improving facilities, services and job creation. Existing 
employment in Westbury will be protected and expanded to reflect the wider strategic 
needs of west Wiltshire. Overall, the town should not seek to compete with the larger 
nearby centres, including Frome, but rather consolidate and enhance its existing role 
and improve linkages with neighbouring settlements. 

 
Issues and considerations 
 
5.163 Specific issues to be addressed in planning for the Westbury Community Area, 

include: 
 

• The strategic employment role of Westbury will be maintained and enhanced 
and a new strategic employment site is allocated at Hawkeridge to provide for 
a mix of uses. This site will provide much needed expansion to the 
employment base in the area. This development will deliver high quality 
landscaping and environmental standards in accordance with the development 
template set out in Appendix A 

• Linkages between the town and the industrial sites located to the north of the 
town will be strengthened through developing the area in proximity to the 
railway station 

• The delivery of strategic housing growth at Station Road, Westbury (former 
West Wiltshire housing allocation - H14 West Wiltshire District Plan57) will 
deliver an enhanced gateway to the town, in addition to providing a new 
crossing of the railway line, thus alleviating traffic from Oldfield Road and 
providing a connection to Mane Way 

57 West Wiltshire District Plan First Alteration 2004. 
120 

 

                                                           

Page 326



• The strategic development around Westbury railway station should also deliver 
improved access, particularly for buses with improved and integrated public 
transport connectivity; quality pedestrian and cycle linkages with the town 
centre and high quality public space with exemplar design 

• Proposals for development in Westbury away from the Station Road site 
discussed above, should demonstrate how they will contribute to the 
enhancement of the central area of the town, in accordance with the 
community-led town planning process. This should facilitate the delivery of 
town centre enhancement and improved community facilities through financial 
contributions. Any large format retail expansion in Westbury is not appropriate, 
as evidenced by the Wiltshire Town Centre and Retail Study58, with the focus 
instead being on protecting the existing independent sector and enhancing the 
town centre with stronger linkages between areas which currently feel 
fragmented and by improving the public realm 

• The redevelopment of the High Street precinct will be supported, providing this 
incorporates high quality design, is sensitive to the historic character of 
Westbury and will clearly enhance and strengthen the existing independent 
retail sector in the town 

• Westbury suffers from traffic issues, including congestion from the A350 which 
runs through the town centre, which is also designated as an AQMA. Further 
detailed work is needed to identify appropriate mitigation measures to alleviate 
existing traffic related issues which should be undertaken in partnership with the 
community 

• The provision of a new secondary school in Westbury could help deliver 
improved services, such as sports facilities with additional public access. 
However, the possible relocation of the existing school and identifying suitable 
funding opportunities needs further detailed assessment. This matter may be 
best addressed through a subsequent Westbury town or neighbourhood plan 
to be led by the community 

• Development with potential to increase recreational pressure upon the 
Salisbury Plain Special Protection Area will be required to provide 
proportionate contributions towards the maintenance of the Stone Curlew 
Management Strategy59, designed to avoid adverse effects upon the integrity 
of the Stone Curlew population as a designated feature of the SPA.  

• Ensuring the future of the Lafarge cement works is appropriately resolved 
including: 
 
i. the potential for continuing a cement manufacturing base on site 
ii. the appropriate demolition of redundant buildings and restoration of the 

site 
iii. the satisfactory restoration of the former chalk and clay quarries 

(including long-term aftercare arrangements), and 
iv. appropriate alternative uses for land within the footprint of the former 

cement works 
v. the rail connection to the former Lafarge site should be retained. 

 
• All development will be required to maintain the integrity of the Bath and 

Bradford Bats Special Area of Conservation (SAC), having particular regard to 
the Wiltshire Bats SAC Guidance60 

• The strategic allocation at Station Road will be progressed in line with the 
principles of the development template set out in Appendix A.  If necessary 

58 Wiltshire Town Centre and Retail Study 2011. 
59 Please refer to the Biodiversity and Development pages of the Wiltshire Council website for further details 
60 Please refer to the Biodiversity and Development pages of the Wiltshire Council website for further details 

121 
 

                                                           

Page 327



and in order that the objectives of the Core Strategy are secured, this will be 
subject to early review and amendment through a formal planning process 
such as the Site Allocation DPD.  

 
How will the Westbury Community Area change by 2026? 
 
5.164 Housing development will be at a reduced rate compared to the past with a focus on 

improving and consolidating the town’s infrastructure and services. Public transport 
will be more integrated, particularly with improved linkages to the railway station and 
the industrial sites to the north of the town. Housing growth on a strategic allocation at 
Station Road will have helped to deliver public realm enhancements, particularly 
around the railway station, and deliver a new rail crossing. Town centre improvements 
will have been delivered with strengthened linkages and public realm. The important 
strategic role of employment provision in Westbury will be maintained and expanded. 
The scarp of Salisbury Plain including the White Horse will continue to provide social, 
environmental and economic assets to the area as part of a wider green infrastructure 
network which will be used and managed sustainably. 

 
[Figure 5.23: Westbury Community Area] 

 
5.165 The enhancement of Westbury town centre is a priority for the community who are 

leading a town planning process. The preparation of a town plan, which could be 
adopted as additional planning guidance, or other similar document (e.g. a 
neighbourhood plan) may offer an opportunity to assist in the delivery of town centre 
enhancement. The town has a strong independent retail sector and contains many 
important historical buildings. However, the central area of the town currently feels 
fragmented and its quality overall is weakened by the post war shopping precinct, 
which is not in character with the rest of the town centre. Redeveloping and shaping 
the high street precinct with a more organic street pattern containing a mix of uses, 
would help to substantially improve the central area of the town. 

 
5.166 Contributions from future development should be focused on delivering enhancement 

to the town centre in line with the emerging community led town planning work. A 
Westbury Vision and Scoping Study61 identifies a number of key recommendations for 
strengthening the town centre. Where possible, key community services and facilities 
should be retained in the town centre, to assist with the aims of enhancing the central 
area of the town, in accordance with national planning policy. 

 
Core Policy 32 
 
Spatial Strategy: Westbury Community Area 
 
Development in the Westbury Community Area should be in accordance with the Settlement 
Strategy set out in Core Policy 1. 
 
Market Towns: Westbury 
Large Villages: Dilton Marsh and Bratton 
Small Villages: Edington / Tinhead 

 
The following Principal Employment Areas will be supported in accordance with Core Policy 
35: West Wiltshire Trading Estate, Brook Lane Trading Estate and North Acre Industrial 
Estate. 

61 Urban Practitioners, 2011, Westbury Vision and Scoping Study. 
122 

 

                                                           

Page 328



 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026)18.5 ha of new employment land(in addition to that 
delivered or committed at April 2011) will be provided including; 
 
 
 
Land at Mill Lane, Hawkeridge New strategic employment 

allocation  
14.7 ha 

North Acre Industrial Estate Saved West Wiltshire 
Local Plan allocation 

3.8 ha 

 
Over the plan period (2006 to 2026), approximately 1,615 new homes will be provided, of 
which about 1,500 should occur at Westbury, including land identified at Station Road for 
strategic growth. 
 
Land at Station Road New strategic housing 

allocation 
250 dwellings 

 
The strategic allocations will be brought forward through a master planning process agreed 
between the community, local planning authority and the developer and should be delivered in 
accordance with the development templates set out in Appendix A. 
 
Approximately 115 homes will be provided in the rest of the community area. Growth in 
the Westbury Community Area over the plan period may consist of a range of sites in 
accordance with Core Policies 1 and 2. 
 
Development proposals in the Westbury Community Area will need to demonstrate how the 
relevant issues and considerations listed in paragraph 5.163 will be addressed. 
 
 
 

Table 5.19 Delivery of Housing 2006 to 2026 - Westbury Community Area 
Area Requirement 

2006-26 
Housing already provided for Housing to be identified 
Completions 
2006-14 
 

Specific 
permitted 
sites 

Strategic 
sites 

Remainder to 
be identified 

Westbury 
Town 

1,500 674 408 250 168 

Remainder 115 53 7 0 55 
Community 
Area Total 

1,615 727 415 250 223 

 

123 
 Page 329



 

Wilton Area Strategy 
 
5.167 The Wilton Community Area lies to the west of the city of Salisbury. The area is 

characterised by chains of settlements along the river valleys and main arterial roads 
emanating towards Salisbury and Wilton from Salisbury Plain and the south western 
corner of the county, from Shaftesbury. The area lies partially within the Cranborne 
Chase and West Wiltshire Downs AONB. 

 
5.168 Wilton is the Local Service Centre for the area, but Salisbury also provides significant 

employment, retail, leisure and cultural opportunities. One of Salisbury's park and ride 
sites is located in Wilton. There is good A-road connectivity through the area, although 
there is room for improvement in access to some of the rural settlements. The A36 
and A30 meet at Wilton and much of the traffic is 'through traffic' going to Salisbury 
and beyond in the east or heading west to Shaftesbury or north west towards Bath 
and Bristol. The nearest railway station is in Salisbury. The area is short of affordable 
housing and many key workers are deterred from coming to the area due to the 

difficulty in getting a foot on the property ladder 
62

. 
 
5.169 The development of this core strategy has closely considered the functional 

relationship between the Wilton Community Area and the city of Salisbury. However, 
Wilton and the Wilton Community Area, have important and unique characteristics, 
needs and opportunities. Due to their close proximity and the importance of 
planning for the area holistically, the housing requirements for Salisbury outlined in 
this strategy include the town of Wilton. Strategic growth is proposed at the redundant 
UK Land Forces HQ site in Wilton, which is an important regeneration site capable of 
accommodating sustainable employment and housing for the local area. 

 
The strategy for the Wilton Area 
 
5.170 The strategy for the Wilton Community Area is focused around ensuring balanced 

employment and housing growth which is appropriate to its location and protects the 
individuality of the area. This strategy seeks to ensure that growth will help to address 
the shortfall in affordable housing. Protecting the natural environment has also been 

identified as a top priority
63

. The strategy will respond to the Community Area’s 
location (in full or part) within a nationally designated landscape.  In the Wilton 
Community Area this includes the Cranborne Chase and West Wiltshire Downs 
AONB.  It will deliver, within the overall objective of conserving the designated 
landscape, a modest and sustainable level of development.  

 
Issues and considerations 
 
5.171 Specific issues to be addressed in planning for the Wilton Community Area include: 
 

• The need to ensure that Wilton’s character and individuality as the 'ancient 
capital of Wessex' is maintained and that the town retains its identity and does 
not coalesce with Salisbury. A landscape gap between the proposed 
developments at Salisbury and Wilton will be ensured via the master planning 

62 Retail and Leisure Needs Study (2006, GVA Grimley) (appendix 1). 
63 Preferred Options Consultation Methodology and Output Report; Evolved Preferred Options Consultation Methodology and 

Output Report. 
 

124 
 

                                                           

Page 330



of the UKLF and Fugglestone Red sites. The challenge is to achieve more than 
just a 'physical gap'. The social dynamic and individuality of the two 
settlements should be maintained. Continued individuality needs to be 
achieved whilst maintaining key linkages and access between the two 
settlements and acknowledging that Salisbury does provide key services such 
as supermarket shopping 

• The relocation of the MoD from the UKLF site in Wilton to Andover has 
resulted in the loss of some 1,200 jobs as well as creating potential knock-on 
effects regarding the viability of services. This strategy seeks to offset these 
impacts through the strategic allocation on the UKLF site 

• Future work to identify additional sites to accommodate growth in the area 
should take account of the unique relationship between Wilton and Salisbury, 
as well as acknowledging the environmental capacity of the Wilton Community 
Area. It may be the case that Salisbury could help accommodate housing and 
employment growth needed in the Wilton area, in a more sustainable manner 
than this being located in Wilton itself 

• The need to protect the built and natural environment of the community area, 
and to conserve and enhance views into and out of the Wilton Conservation 
Area including Wilton Park and House, as well as conserving the historic 
gateway to Wilton along The Avenue 

• All development within the community area will need to conserve the 
designated landscape of Cranborne Chase AONB and its setting, and where 
possible enhance its locally distinctive characteristics 

• Development in the vicinity of the River Avon (Hampshire) or Prescombe 
Down must incorporate appropriate measures to ensure that it will not 
adversely affect the integrity of those Natura 2000 sites. 

 
How will the Wilton Community Area change by 2026? 
 
5.172 By 2026 the Wilton Community Area will be thriving, reflecting the aspirations of its 

residents. The area will be comfortable with its relationship with Salisbury and will have 
benefited from new homes and jobs and the opportunities that growth has attracted. 

 
5.173 Growth in Salisbury will not have been seen as a threat, but will have benefited 

the Wilton Community Area by providing a range of high quality shops, services and 
facilities on its doorstep, whilst maintaining the physical separation vital to prevent 
any impression of coalescence. The area will further benefit from the delivery of 
improved community facilities and better connectivity through improved footpaths, 
cycle ways and public transport. All of these developments will have been carried out 
in a manner that protects the built and natural heritage. 

 
[Figure 5.24 – Wilton community area] 

 
 

Core Policy 33 
 
Spatial Strategy: Wilton Community Area 
 
Development in the Wilton Community Area should be in accordance with the Settlement 
Strategy set out in Core Policy 1. 
 
Local Service Centres: Wilton 
Large Villages: Broad Chalke and Dinton 
Small Villages: Barford St Martin, Bishopstone, Bowerchalke 

125 
 Page 331



(inc.Misselfore), Compton Chamberlayne, Ebbesbourne 
Wake, Quidhampton, South Newton, Stoford and Teffont 
Magna / Teffont Evias 

 
There are not any Principal Employment Areas in the Wilton Community Area. 
 
 Approximately 255 new homes will be provided in the community area.  Growth in the 
Wilton Community Area over the plan period may consist of a range of sites in accordance 
with Core Policies 1 and 2. 
 
Development proposals in the Wilton Community Area will need to demonstrate how the 
relevant issues and considerations listed in paragraph 5.171 will be addressed. 
 
 
 
Table 5.20 Delivery of Housing 2006 to 2026 - Wilton Community Area 
Area Requirement 

2006-26 
Housing already provided for Housing to be identified 
Completions 
2006-14 
 

Specific 
permitted 
sites 

Strategic 
sites 

Remainder to 
be identified 

Wilton 
remainder64 

255 111  42  0 102  

 

64 The housing requirement for the town of Wilton is included within the Salisbury Area Strategy. 
 

126 
 

                                                           

Page 332



 

6 Delivering the spatial objectives: Core Policies 
 
6.1 In addition to the three Core Polices set out in Chapter 4 of this document and those 

place specific polices as contained in the area strategies, the evidence upon which this 
strategy is based indicates the need for a number of polices which will be required to 
ensure delivery of the spatial objectives. These policies will apply across Wiltshire 
and are presented under each of the six strategic objectives, as follows: 

 
Strategic objective 1: delivering a thriving economy 

 
Strategic objective 2: addressing climate change 

 
Strategic objective 3: providing everyone with access to a decent, affordable home 

 
Strategic objective 4: helping to build resilient communities 

 
Strategic objective 5: protecting and enhancing the natural, historic and built 
environment 

 
Strategic objective 6: ensuring that adequate infrastructure is in place to support our 
communities. 

 

127 
 Page 333



 

Delivering strategic objective 1: delivering a thriving economy 
 
6.2 The objective of delivering a resilient, sustainable and competitive economy 

characterised by a greater proportion of higher value, higher skilled jobs aligns with 
the emerging Swindon and Wiltshire Local Enterprise Partnership65  which identifies 
the following priorities to deliver this goal: 

 
• 10,000 new private sector jobs created (6,000 within Wiltshire)  
• Safeguarding of 8,000 jobs within existing business base  
• Achieving 91% coverage of super fast broadband 
• Using planning powers to build a supportive economic environment 
• Delivering regeneration in our primary population centres of Chippenham, 

Trowbridge and Salisbury 
• Allocation of strategic employment sites  
• Reduction on CO2 emissions 
• Delivering resilient rural communities  
• Targeting growth in the tourism sector. 

  
6.3 The Core Strategy aims to deliver ‘an economy that is fit for the future’66 that brings 

about the objectives of the Swindon and Wiltshire Local Enterprise Partnership partly 
through providing new strategic employment sites to support new business creation 
and attract inward investment. In addition, facilitating the relocation, modernisation 
and expansion of existing businesses will be important, as will assisting the delivery of 
regeneration sites in the Principal Settlements of Chippenham, Salisbury and 
Trowbridge. This will ensure that appropriate employment opportunities are available for 
Wiltshire’s residents providing the opportunity for people to live and work locally, 
helping to reduce levels of out-commuting and increase the self-containment of 
settlements. Overall it will provide choice and flexibility for businesses. Support for rural 
based businesses is as important for Wiltshire as new investment in the main 
settlements. 

 
6.4 This section includes policies which seek to: 
 

• Support the delivery of additional opportunities for employment provision, over 
and above those identified at allocated sites, in the Principal Settlements, 
Market Towns and Local Service Centres and for rural based businesses 

• Protect existing employment sites where appropriate, particularly where these 
are considered critical to the economic role of the Principal Settlements and 
Market Towns 

• Support opportunities for the regeneration of brownfield sites in the Principal 
Settlements, Market Towns and Local Service Centres 

• Support the appropriate reuse of redundant MoD facilities  
• Protect the vitality and viability of town centres and support appropriate 

proposals for tourism development and accommodation. 
 
6.5 This Core Strategy plans for the provision of around 178 hectares (ha) of new strategic 

employment land over the plan period to 2026, to supplement that already built or 
granted planning permission between 2006 and 2011. The overall strategy for 

65 The Swindon and Wiltshire Local Enterprise Partnership Proposal 2011, ‘The Pivotal Place for Growth in Southern England’, 
page 2, Executive Summary. 

66 People, Places and Priorities: Wiltshire Community Plan 2011 – 2026, page 9. 
128 

 

                                                           

Page 334



employment growth is set out in Core Policy 2, and specific sites are identified in the 
Area Strategies. The strategic sites allow for a range of employment choices in 
sustainable locations around Wiltshire’s Principal Settlements and Market Towns. 
However they do not provide for all employment land that may be needed over the 
plan period and the Core Strategy also provides for additional employment 
opportunities to come forward. There may be proposals that arise during the plan 
period that are of exceptional strategic importance to the Wiltshire economy and do not 
strictly accord with the Strategy, which may merit consideration. In such 
circumstances, potential will be explored in conjunction with the Swindon and 
Wiltshire Local Enterprise Partnership, with consideration being given to the sub-
regional context and impacts on the overall development strategy, in particular not 
undermining the delivery of the strategic employment sites already planned at 
settlements. 

 
6.6 Whether the new allocated employment sites will be delivered alongside allocated 

housing sites or on their own, these sites will be master-planned to deliver a range of 
job types and unit size. The master plans will take into account the most recent 
Employment Land Review evidence and the needs of displaced businesses as a 
result of regeneration projects Wiltshire’s economy outside the Principal Settlements 
is based on a large number of small businesses and, as such, business units should 
predominantly be planned to meet this more local demand67. 

 
6.7 Sites will contribute to the delivery of flexible and affordable workspace across all 

the B uses, particularly small and start up units with some ‘follow on’ space, to provide 
continuing opportunities for small business, business start-ups and continuation. 
Start up or incubator units should be supported by shared business infrastructure 
relevant to the use class. Design and build options should also be considered and all 
businesses should prepare Green Travel Plans. 

 
6.8 Research undertaken on behalf of the Wiltshire Military/Civilian Integration 

Programme68  has identified the value that Wiltshire’s significant military presence 
brings to the local economy. However, changing requirements mean that a number of 
MOD sites in Wiltshire could become surplus or due for release during the plan 
period. The Core Strategy’s approach to the re-use of military establishments is set 
out in Core Policy 37. 

 
 
Core Policy 34: Additional employment land 
 
Additional employment land 
 
6.9 The evidence69 indicates that Wiltshire does not have land available in the right 

location at the right time to meet business needs and this could result in Wiltshire losing 
business to other locations where a more favourable business and regulatory 
environment exists. Core Policy 34 therefore supports the delivery of opportunities for 
the provision of employment land that may come forward in the Principal Settlements, 
Market Towns and Local Service Centres of Wiltshire, in addition to the employment 
land which is allocated in the core strategy. These opportunities will need to be in the 
right location and support the strategy, role and function of the town, as identified in 
Core Policy 1 (settlement strategy) and in any community-led plans, including 
Neighbourhood Plans. 

67 Evidence within the Roger Tym ELR (2011) (section 5 para 5.51) identifies that offices and businesses generally look for less 
than 185 sq m and for industrial / warehousing spec most look for less than 400 sq m. 

68 www.wiltshire.gov.uk/mci-envisioning-the-future.pdf. 
69 Wiltshire Workspace and Employment Land Review – Draft – Roger Tym and Partners (Oct 2011, para 4.40) 

129 
 

                                                           

Page 335

http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/mci-envisioning-the-future.pdf


 
6.10 A number of target sectors70  have been identified for Wiltshire in order to promote 

the move towards a higher-value economy. These include: 
 

• Advanced engineering and manufacturing  
• Business services. 
• Bioscience 
• Environmental technologies  
• Food and drink 
• ICT and creative industries 
• Agriculture and land-based industries  
• Tourism. 

 
6.11 Proposals which support these target sectors will be supported providing they meet the 

requirements of Core Policy 34. 
 
6.12 Core Policy 34 aims to support the rural way of life through the promotion of modern 

agricultural practices, appropriate diversification of the rural economy, and provision of 
broadband. The policy includes criteria to be met for proposals relating to the retention 
or expansion of existing businesses within or adjacent to the Principal Settlements, 
Market Towns, Local Service Centres and Large and Small Villages. 

 
6.13 Core Policy 34 also includes an element of flexibility to allow new employment 

opportunities to come forward outside but adjacent to the Principal Settlements, 
Market Towns and Local Service Centres, and in addition to the employment land 
allocated by this Core Strategy, where such proposals are considered to be essential 
to the economic development of Wiltshire. It also allows for the possibility of 
development essential to the wider strategic interest of the economic development of 
Wiltshire. In considering criterion viii any such proposals, should be supported by 
evidence to justify that they would not have a significant adverse impact upon 
existing, committed and planned public and private investment at sites identified in the 
Plan for employment development at Principal Settlements or Market Towns. Support 
for such proposals will be an exception to the general approach, and any applications 
of this nature will need to be determined by the relevant planning committee (and not by 
officers using delegated powers). 

 

Core Policy 34 

Additional employment land 

Proposals for employment development (use classes B1, B2 or B8) will be supported within the 
Principal Settlements, Market Towns and Local Service Centres, in addition to the 
employment land allocated in the Core Strategy. These opportunities will need to be in the 
right location and support the strategy, role and function of the town, as identified in Core 
Policy 1 (settlement strategy) and in any future community-led plans, including 
neighbourhood plans, where applicable. 

 

70 Draft Wiltshire Strategic Economic Partnership: interim Strategy for the Development of the Economy in Wiltshire 2011 -2015 
(June 2011 and The Swindon and Wiltshire Local Enterprise Partnership Proposal – the Pivotal Place for Growth in Southern 
England) 

130 
 

                                                           

Page 336



Proposals for office development outside town centres, in excess of 2,500sq metres, must be 
accompanied by an impact assessment which meets the requirement of national guidance 
and established best practice, and demonstrate that the proposal will not harm the vitality or 
viability of any nearby centres. All such proposals must also comply with the sequential 
approach, as set out in national guidance, to ensure that development is on the most central 
site available. 
 
Outside the Principal Settlements, Market Towns and Local Service Centres, developments 
that: 
 

i. Are adjacent to these settlements and seek to retain or expand businesses currently 
located within or adjacent to the settlements; or 

 
ii. Support sustainable farming and food production through allowing development 

required to adapt to modern agricultural practices and diversification; or 
 
iii. Are for new and existing rural based businesses within or adjacent to Large and Small 

Villages; or 
 
iv. Are considered essential to the wider strategic interest of the economic 

development of Wiltshire, as determined by the council will be supported where 
they: 

 
v. Meet sustainable development objectives as set out in the polices of this Core 

Strategy; and 
 
vi. Are consistent in scale with their location, do not adversely affect nearby buildings 

and the surrounding area or detract from residential amenity; and 
 
vii. Are supported by evidence that they are required to benefit the local economic and 

social needs; and 
 
viii. Would not undermine the delivery of strategic employment allocations; and 
 
ix. Are supported by adequate infrastructure. 

 
 

Core Policy 35: Existing employment sites 

 
Existing employment sites 
 
6.14 Achieving the strategic objective to deliver a thriving economy which provides a 

range of job opportunities in Wiltshire depends on retaining the availability of and 
enhancing existing employment sites, as well as creating new opportunities in 
appropriate locations. The Core Strategy seeks to protect Wiltshire's most sustainable 
and valued employment areas by applying policies to favour employment uses on 
these sites. On some of these employment areas there are strong redevelopment 
pressures for other uses, notably residential and retail. 

 
6.15 Principal Employment Areas have been identified in the Principal Settlements and 

Market Towns, as set out in the relevant area strategies in section 5. These 
Principal Employment Areas are considered to be critical to the economic role of 

131 
 Page 337



these settlements and Wiltshire as a whole. In order to maintain a reasonable 
balance between jobs and homes to encourage self containment these Principal 
Employment Areas should be protected from alternative uses with their continued use 
and intensification for employment purposes (use classes B1, B2 and B8) encouraged, 
as set out in Core Policy 35. 

 
6.16 It will also be important to retain existing employment uses outside the Principal 

Employment Areas to maintain diversity and choice of sites for employers and allow for 
local business expansion. However, it is important to acknowledge that some older 
employment areas may no longer be fit for purpose or that their role has changed, for 
example, from a primarily employment site to a trade centre site. Changes of use 
within sites can invigorate an area and act as a positive catalyst for change. The 
overall employment land target includes an allowance for the replacement of some 
sites. Therefore, in some circumstances it may be appropriate to allow for the 
redevelopment (in whole or part) of existing employment sites for an alternative use, 
particularly where the site is not required to remain in its current use to support the 
local economy in the area. 

 
6.17 In demonstrating that a site has no long term and strategic requirement to remain in 

employment use the ability of the site to meet modern business needs must be 
considered, as well as its strategic value and contribution to the local and wider 
economy both currently and in the long term. An objective assessment must be made 
of the sites potential contribution to the economy, in line with other sites in the area; it 
must be shown that the site is no longer viable for its present or any other employment 
use and that, in addition, it has remained unsold or un-let for a substantial period of time 
(at least 6 months), following genuine and sustained attempts to sell or let it on 
reasonable terms for employment use, taking into account prevailing market 
conditions. Existing employment sites identified within this plan for alternative uses as 
part of ongoing regeneration schemes will not be expected to meet the criteria of Core 
Policy 35.  

 
 

Core Policy 35 
 
Existing employment sites 
 
Wiltshire’s Principal Employment Areas (as listed in the Area Strategies) should be retained for 
employment purposes within use classes B1, B2 and B8 to safeguard their contribution to 
the Wiltshire economy and the role and function of individual towns. Proposals for renewal 
and intensification of the above employment uses within these areas will be supported. 
 
Within the principal settlements, market towns, local service centres and Principal 
Employment Area’s proposals for the redevelopment of land or buildings currently or last 
used for activities falling within use classes B1, B2 and B8 must demonstrate that they meet 
and will be assessed against the following criteria: 
 

i. The proposed development will generate the same number, or more permanent jobs 
than could be expected from the existing, or any potential employment use 
 

ii. Where the proposal concerns loss of employment land of more than 0.25ha in the 
principal settlements, market towns or local service centres it is replaced with 
employment land of similar size elsewhere at that settlement 

 
iii. It can be shown that the loss of a small proportion of employment floorspace would 

132 
 Page 338



facilitate the redevelopment and continuation of employment uses on a greater part 
of the site, providing the same number or more permanent jobs than on the original 
whole site 

 
iv. The site is not appropriate for the continuation of its present or any employment 

use due to a significant detriment to the environment or amenity of the area 
 

v. There is valid evidence that the site has no long term and strategic requirement 
to remain in employment use; the ability of the site to meet modern business needs 
must be considered, as well as its strategic value and contribution to the local and 
wider economy both currently and in the long term. It must be shown that the site is 
no longer viable for its present or any other employment use and that, in addition, it 
has remained unsold or un-let for a substantial period of time (at least 6 months), 
following genuine and sustained attempts to sell or let it on reasonable terms for 
employment use, taking into account prevailing market conditions 

 
vi. The change of use is to facilitate the relocation of an existing business from 

buildings that are no longer fit for purpose to more suitable premises elsewhere 
within a reasonable distance to facilitate the retention of employment. 

 

Core Policy 36: Economic regeneration 
 
Economic regeneration 
 
6.18 The Core Strategy supports regeneration opportunities and aims to maximise the 

re-use of previously developed land. The provision of economic development on 
previously developed land will therefore be supported. 

 
6.19 The Salisbury, Chippenham and Trowbridge regeneration programmes provide a 

framework for co-ordinating and achieving the sustainable regeneration of the principal 
settlements. These identify a number of regeneration projects, focussed on the central 
areas, which are considered important to the future economic and social prosperity of 
the settlements. These projects are detailed in the Area Strategies. 

 
6.20 Regeneration initiatives may also come forward in the Market Towns and Local 

Service Centres. The Core Strategy supports the development of community-led 
plans, including town plans and Neighbourhood Plans to support and facilitate 
economic regeneration in these settlements, and the preparation of master plans for 
specific sites may also be appropriate. Initiatives in other settlements will be 
considered on an individual basis and against the objectives and policies of the Core 
Strategy in combination with any community led plan that may exist.  

 

Core Policy 36 
 
Economic regeneration 
Regeneration of brownfield sites will be supported in the Principal Settlements, Market 
Towns and Local Service Centres where the proposed uses help to deliver the overall strategy 
for that settlement, as identified in Core Policy 1 (Settlement Strategy) and in any future 
community-led plans, including Neighbourhood Plans, and/or enhance the vitality and viability 
of the town centre by introducing a range of active uses that complement the existing town 
centre. 

133 
 Page 339



 
 
 
Core Policy 37: Military establishments 
 
Military Establishments 
 
6.21 Large areas of Wiltshire have been used by the military for training purposes 

throughout the last century. The presence of the military has brought many benefits, 
particularly to the environment and the economy. In recent years there has been a 
rationalisation of operational facilities and establishments. The MoD has significant 
assets across Wiltshire and there is a need to plan for important changes to existing 
facilities and address the challenge of finding appropriate re-use for redundant 
facilities. 

 
6.22 The re-use of any significant redundant MoD sites will be determined through 

masterplans, developed with the Local Planning Authority in conjunction with the local 
community, in order to ensure the holistic planning of a site or sites in a locality, rather 
than piecemeal development. Significant sites are those that would be classed as 
major development. The preparation of the masterplan should normally occur in 
advance of site disposal by the MoD. Due to the rural nature of many MoD sites 
consideration should also be given to: 

 
• The location of sites in terms of accessibility 
• The suitability for conversion and retention of existing buildings  
• Infrastructure capacity including impacts on transportation routes 
• Retaining areas of biodiversity, appropriate green space and landscaping 

measures  
• Consolidation of the buildings on a site and reversion of land to open 

countryside. 
 
6.23 Applications for the development of operational facilities which conflict with other 

policies in the Core Strategy must be accompanied by a reasoned justification as to 
why the development should nonetheless be considered suitable71. During the Plan 
period, provision of new housing on MOD land to accommodate military personnel 
including service family accommodation and other operational facilities will be 
required as a result of the Army Rebasing on Salisbury Plan (Army 2020)72. A single 
master plan should be developed with the council including front loaded consultation 
and partnership working with the local community and other stakeholders. The master 
plan should address these requirements and ensure that infrastructure needs arising 
from the proposed development is an integral part of any planned development in 
accordance with Core Policy 37, as well as other policy requirements within the Plan.  

 

Core Policy 37 
 
Military establishments 
 
New development and changes of use at operational facilities that help enhance or sustain 
their operational capability will be supported. 

71 Development affecting the Stonehenge and Avebury World Heritage Site and its setting should be considered in light of Core 
Policy 59. 

72 New housing provision will be in addition to the housing requirement in Core Policy 2 
134 

 

                                                           

Page 340



 
Redevelopment, conversion or change of use of redundant MoD sites and buildings will be 
supported provided they are well related to an existing settlement in terms of both location 
and scale. Sites that are remote from settlements should only be considered where the 
existing buildings and infrastructure on the site are suitable for redevelopment, conversion or 
change of use. Redevelopment proposals will not exceed the existing building footprint and 
floorspace unless they are well located to an existing settlement. The focus will be on 
employment-led development and other uses should be determined through a 
masterplanning approach with the local community. 
 
Development at operational or redundant sites should enhance the overall character of the 
site. All development at operational or redundant sites should mitigate any adverse impacts 
on local infrastructure, and not erode the character of the surrounding area. All proposals must 
ensure that the cultural and historical significance of the military facilities located on the site are 
understood and inform the scope of future development of that site. 
 
  
Core Policy 38: Retail and leisure 
 
Enhancing the vitality and viability of town centres 
 
6.24 The Core Strategy seeks to enhance the vitality and viability of the town centres in 

Wiltshire through policies promoting the regeneration of central areas and delivery of 
new growth at settlements to support the vitality of centres. There is a challenge to 
ensure that the larger towns of Wiltshire, particularly the Principal Settlements of 
Chippenham, Salisbury and Trowbridge, strengthen their roles as shopping 
destinations to reduce the ‘leakage’ of trade to other larger competing centres such as 
Bath, Swindon and Southampton. 

 
6.25 In line with government policy73 town centres, as well as primary and secondary retail 

frontages, should be identified on the policies map, with policies making clear which 
uses will be permitted in such locations. The larger centres of Chippenham, Salisbury 
and Trowbridge, and the Market Towns of Amesbury, Bradford on Avon, Calne, 
Corsham, Cricklade, Devizes, Malmesbury, Marlborough, Melksham, Warminster, 
Westbury and Royal Wootton Bassett, have designated frontages and 
corresponding policies in the relevant District/Local Plans, and these designations and 
policies will be carried forward. The relevant policies are as follows: 

 
• Kennet Local Plan: Policies ED17 (Town centre development), ED18 (Prime 

shopping areas), ED19 (Devizes and Marlborough town centres) and ED20 
(Retail development in Devizes town centre) 

• North Wiltshire Local Plan: Policies R1 (Town centre primary frontage areas), R2 
(Town centre secondary frontage areas) and R7 (Upper floors in town centres) 

• Salisbury District Local Plan: Policies S1 (Primary frontages in Salisbury and 
Amesbury), S2 (Secondary shopping areas in Salisbury and Amesbury) and S3 
(Location of retail development) 

• West Wiltshire District Plan: Policies SP1 (Town centre shopping), SP4 (Primary 
retail frontages), SP5 (Secondary retail frontages), and TC1 (Upper floor uses in 
town centres) 

 
Any necessary amendments to these frontages and corresponding policies will be 
identified through the Wiltshire Core Strategy Development Plan Document (Partial 

73 Planning Policy Statement 4 (PPS4): Planning for sustainable economic growth. 
135 

 

                                                           

Page 341



Review). The review will update retail / town centre policies across Wiltshire 
consistent with the NPPF. It will:  

1. Consider the Network and hierarchy of centres  
2. Define the extent of primary and secondary frontages, town centres and 

primary shopping areas in designated centres  
3. Set policies to make it clear which town centre uses will be permitted in town 

centres / primary shopping areas  
4. Allocate a range of suitable sites to meet the scale and type of town centre 

uses needed 
5. Set policies for the consideration of proposals for main town centre uses which 

cannot be accommodated in or adjacent to town centres 
 

6.26 All Principal Settlements, Market Towns and Local Service Centres should have 
defined town centres or designated frontages and associated policies, and these 
need to be developed for Downton, Ludgershall, Market Lavington, Mere, Pewsey, 
Tidworth, Tisbury and Wilton74. Frontages and corresponding policies for these 
settlements will be developed through the Wiltshire Core Strategy (DPD) Partial 
Review timetabled to be adopted in the Spring of 2016.  

 
6.27 There is currently a national requirement that proposals for retail and leisure 

development with over 2,500 sqm gross floorspace, which are not in the town centre 
and not in accordance with an up to date development plan, should be accompanied 
by an assessment of impacts on centres. However, evidence75 has identified that a 
succession of planning applications, each individually lower than the gross threshold set 
nationally, could have a cumulative adverse impact on town centres. Core Policy 38 
therefore requires that all proposals for edge-of-centre or out-of-centre retail or 
leisure development in excess of 200 sq metres gross floorspace, which are not within 
a town centre are accompanied by an impact assessment. The impact assessment 
required will be proportionate to the scale of the proposed development. 

 
6.28 Specific challenges and priorities relating to retail provision in the principal settlements 

and market towns are identified where appropriate in the Area Strategies. 
 
6.29 In addition to retail development, it is also important that other services and facilities 

are retained in the central areas of the market towns, in order to maintain the vitality 
and viability of the town centres. The core strategy envisages that each market town 
develops more detailed local policy through neighbourhood planning or another 
similar process. 

 
Core Policy 38 
 
Retail and leisure 
 
All proposals for retail or leisure uses on sites not within a town centre in excess of 200 sq 
metres gross floorspace, including extension of existing units, must be accompanied by an 
impact assessment which meets the requirement of national guidance and established best 
practice, and demonstrates that the proposal will not harm the vitality or viability of any nearby 
centres. All such proposals must also comply with the sequential approach, as set out in 
national guidance, to ensure that development is on the most central site available. 

74 The Kennet Local Plan defines Service Centres for Ludgershall, Market Lavington, Pewsey and Tidworth, and includes policy 
ED24 (New development in service centres) which relates to these areas. However, retail frontages are not currently identified 
at these settlements. 

75 Wiltshire Council, Town Centre and Retail Study, GVA Grimley, page 201, para 9.3 and 9.4 
136 

 

                                                           

Page 342



 
  

 

Core Policy 39: Tourist development 
 
Achieving growth in Wiltshire’s tourism sector 
 
6.30 Tourism is important to Wiltshire’s economy; and is worth over £779 million a year76 . 

Wiltshire has a wealth of natural and heritage assets which attract visitors from home 
and abroad that range from one of the world’s most famous and recognisable 
monuments, Stonehenge, to renowned attractions such as Longleat Safari and 
Adventure Park to country houses, museums and gardens. Rural countryside within 
the AONB’s, Wiltshire’s canal network, historic villages such as Lacock and farm and 
animal attractions also draw visitors to the area. Wiltshire is also well placed for 
visiting attractions such as the New Forest National Park, the Cotswolds, Bath Spa and 
the major resorts and beaches at Bournemouth and Poole. Wiltshire’s built and natural 
environment is a key part of the tourism product and the future success of the area's 
tourism industry is, in many ways, dependent on the effective management and 
conservation of the environment.77 

 
Core Policy 39 
 
Tourist development 
 
Within Principal Settlements and Market Towns, proposals for tourist development of an 
appropriate scale (including attractions and tourist accommodation) will be supported subject 
to a sequential assessment. Proposals for large-scale tourist development must be 
assessed against all the policies of this Core Strategy, including transport implications and 
how the proposal could assist rural regeneration and the well being of communities. 
 
Outside the Principal Settlements and Market Towns, tourist and visitor facilities should be 
located in or close to Local Service Centres or Large and Small Villages and, where 
practicable, be located in existing or replacement buildings. Any proposal needs to carefully 
consider the need to protect landscapes and environmentally sensitive sites with the 
objective of providing adequate facilities, enhancing enjoyment and improving the financial 
viability of the attraction. If new buildings are required in the countryside for tourist development 
these should be directed towards the Local Service Centres and Large and Small Villages.  
 
In exceptional cases development may be supported away from the Principal Settlements, 
Market Towns, Local Service Centres and Large and Small Villages where it can be 
demonstrated that all of the following criteria are met:  
 

i. There is evidence that the facilities are in conjunction with a particular countryside 
attraction;  
 

ii. No suitable alternative existing buildings or sites exist which are available for re-
use; 

76 Value of Tourism in Wiltshire, South West Tourism, 2008, page 2 
http://www.swtourismalliance.org.uk/files/download.php?m=documents&f=100419143804-8Wiltshiredistricts08.pdf. 

77 Policies TR6 (Tourist facilities in the Avebury World Heritage Site) and TR8 (Visitor accommodation in the Avebury World 
Heritage Site) of the Kennet Local Plan 2011 will continue to be saved, and should be referred to alongside Core Policies 39 
(Tourist Development) and 40 (Hotels, Bed and Breakfasts, Guest Houses and Conference Facilities). 

137 
 

                                                           

Page 343

http://www.swtourismalliance.org.uk/files/download.php?m=documents&amp;f=100419143804-8Wiltshiredistricts08.pdf
http://www.swtourismalliance.org.uk/files/download.php?m=documents&amp;f=100419143804-8Wiltshiredistricts08.pdf


 
iii.  The scale, design and use of the proposal is compatible with its wider landscape 

setting and would not detract from the character or appearance of the landscape 
or settlement and would not be detrimental to the amenities of residential areas; 

 
iv.  The building is served by adequate access and infrastructure; and 
 
v.  The site has reasonable access to local services and a local employment base. 

 
Extensions to existing facilities should be appropriate in scale to its location and help to 
ensure the future viability of the business, including farm diversification schemes. 
 
Proposals for camping and touring caravan sites (including extensions) will be supported 
where they can be accommodated without adverse impact on the character and appearance 
of the landscape and meet criteria iii to v above. 
 
 
Core Policy 40: Hotels, bed and breakfasts, guest houses and conference 
facilities 
 
Hotels, Bed and Breakfasts, Guest Houses and Conference Facilities 
 
6.31 There is a lack of both budget and high quality leisure accommodation within parts 

of Wiltshire, particularly to the south78. For example, Salisbury is less successful in 
attracting business visitors than other, similar destinations and does not have the 
conference facilities needed for large events. With respect to hotel facilities, planning 
permission has been too easily obtained for change of use of some hotels away from 
tourist provision, for example to residential use, and this is further exacerbating the 
shortfall in bed space. 

 
 

Core Policy 40 
 
Hotels, bed and breakfasts, guest houses and conference facilities 
 
Proposals for new hotels, bed and breakfasts, guesthouses or conference facilities, together 
with the sensitive extension, upgrading and intensification of existing tourism accommodation 
facilities will be supported within; 
 

i. Principal Settlements and Market Towns; or 
 

ii. Local Service Centres, and Large and Small Villages where the proposals are 
of an appropriate scale and character within the context of the immediate 
surroundings and the settlement as a whole; or. 
 

iii. Outside the settlements above, proposals that involve the conservation of 
buildings that for contextual, architectural or historic reasons should be 
retained and otherwise would not be.  

 

78 A Tourism Strategy for South Wiltshire (Action Plan: Incorporates Accommodation Facilities in Salisbury) (2005; The Market 
Research Group (para 11.1) 

138 
 

                                                           

Page 344



In all cases it must be demonstrated that proposals will: 
 

iv. Not have a detrimental impact on the vitality of the town centre; and 
 

v. Avoid unacceptable traffic generation. 
 
Proposals for the change of use of existing bed spaces provided in hotels or public houses or 
conference facilities to alternative uses will be resisted, unless it can be clearly demonstrated 
there is no longer a need for such a facility in either its current use, or in any other form of 
tourism, leisure, arts, entertainment or cultural use.  
 
 

139 
 Page 345



 

Delivering strategic objective 2: to address climate change 

 
6.32 The Wiltshire Core Strategy will contribute to tackling climate change through a number 

of different areas of policy. The core strategy includes policies which will assist in: 
 

• Delivering the most sustainable patterns of development through focusing growth 
at the principal settlements and market towns, as set out by the settlement 
strategy. This helps to minimise the need for travel and ensures that jobs, homes 
and services are provided in the most accessible locations, particularly by public 
transport 

• Building communities which are resilient to the future impacts of a changing 
climate as well as other social or economic challenges. This will in part be 
addressed by ensuring that new development can withstand future changes in the 
climate and will add minimally to the carbon emissions of Wiltshire 

• Providing an adequate network of green infrastructure which helps to provide 
shading and so contributes to cooling in urban areas and also provides habitats to 
assist biodiversity adapt to a changing climate; as well as promoting healthier 
lifestyles with less reliance on the car by creating attractive informal recreational 
areas for walking and cycling 

• Ensuring more sustainable forms of transport are supported through the 
development of sustainable transport strategies, thus helping to reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions 

• Reducing the risk of flooding by ensuring that new development is neither vulnerable 
to flooding nor increases the risk of flooding elsewhere. 

 
6.33 The core policies contained within this section set out how the core strategy will 

ensure that development contributes towards: 
 

• Sustainable construction and low-carbon energy production and  
• Stand alone renewable energy installations. 

 
People, Places and Priorities: Wiltshire Community Plan 2011 - 2026 sets an objective to: 
Significantly reduce domestic, business and transport carbon dioxide emissions across the 
county in line with national targets. 
 
The government has pledged to reduce the UK’s total carbon emissions by at least 34% by 
2020, and by at least 80% by 2050, relative to 1990 levels. The government has also 
pledged for 15% of energy to be derived from renewable sources by 202079. 
 
To achieve these aims three key actions will be necessary in Wiltshire. 
 

• Plan for new buildings that add only minimally to the existing energy demands of the 
county. 

• Commission large scale, renewable, decentralised energy generation technologies. 
• Consider where carbon savings can be made from the existing building stock. 

 
To deliver almost 30 % of the projected electricity demand in Wiltshire in 2020 (in line with the 
UK Renewable Energy Strategy), an installed renewable energy capacity of around 367 

79 Climate Change Act (2008) and Department for Energy and Climate Change (2009) UK Renewable Energy Strategy. 
140 

 

                                                           

Page 346



Megawatts (MW) would be needed80. In 2013, the installed renewable electricity capacity in 
Wiltshire, excluding Swindon, was 61.9MW of electricity and 14.7MW of heat81. 
 
The future impacts of climate change in Wiltshire have been investigated and new 
development needs to be planned to minimise future vulnerability to a changing climate82. 
Planning policy can make a significant contribution to tackling climate change and helping to 
meet government targets. This can apply both in terms of ‘adaptation’ – how we deal with the 
unavoidable consequences of a changing climate and ‘mitigation’ – how we help to reduce the 
overall severity of the long term impacts. 
 
 
Core Policy 41: Sustainable construction and low carbon energy 
 
Sustainable construction and low carbon energy 
 
6.34 Core Policy 41 identifies how sustainable construction and low-carbon energy will be 

integral to all new development in Wiltshire. In doing so this policy sets the framework 
for meeting a number of national and local priorities (for example Part L of the current 
Building Regulations) that seek to achieve sustainable development and conserve 
natural resources. This policy will help to reduce Wiltshire’s contribution to climate 
change through improved design and construction methods. This should be achieved 
by use of measures such as: 

 
i. Orientating windows of habitable rooms within 30 degrees of south and utilising 

southern slopes; 
ii. Locating windows at heights that allow lower sun angles in the winter and 

installing shading mechanisms to prevent overheating during summer months; 
iii. Using soft landscaping, including deciduous tree planting, to allow natural sun 

light to pass through during the winter months whilst providing shade in the 
summer; 

iv. Integrating passive ventilation, for example wind-catchers installed on roofs; 
v. Planting green roofs to moderate the temperature of the building to avoid the 

need for mechanical heating and/or cooling systems; and 
vi. Where appropriate, use water recycling measures for energy efficiency and 

conservation of resources. 
 

In meeting the requirements of the policy, proposals will need to be sensitive to 
potential impacts on landscape, in particular the AONBs and the Stonehenge and 
Avebury World Heritage Site and its setting. Core Policies 51 (landscape) and 59 (the 
Stonehenge, Avebury and associated sites World Heritage Site and its setting) should 
be considered alongside Core Policy 41. 

 
6.35 In the case of major developments, evidence is required from developers in the form of 

Sustainable Energy Strategies setting out how proposed developments will meet 
carbon reduction targets, and identifying how maximum targets can be achieved, 
particularly where lower cost solutions are viable (such as Combined Heat and Power). 
The text box below sets out the minimum information to be provided within a 
Sustainable Energy Strategy. The Sustainable Energy Strategy should clearly demonstrate 
how major development will meet national standards. Density and the number of 
residential units within a development scheme are important considerations in 
determining the practicality and viability of meeting carbon reduction targets, 
particularly for delivering district energy and heating. However other characteristics 

80 Camco (2011) Wiltshire Sustainable Energy Planning Research. 
81 RegenSW (2013) South West Renewable Energy Progress Report 
82 Wiltshire Council (2011) Working towards a core strategy for Wiltshire - Draft Topic Paper 1: Climate Change. 

141 
 

                                                           

Page 347



such as building mix, location, proximity to existing high density development and site 
specific opportunities for certain renewable energy technologies are also important 
considerations. These matters can only be assessed on a site by site basis. 

 
New The council acknowledges that the viability of development on a site-by-site basis is 

critical to the deliverability of the Core Strategy. Therefore, the council will keep 
matters in relation to viability under continual review. Core Policy 41 directs new 
housing development to be built to at least Code for Sustainable Homes (CSH) Level 
4 and as such the council will encourage development that exceeds this code where 
it is in accordance with Government guidance. It should also be noted that larger sites 
may offer scales of economy that enable the aspiration to deliver zero carbon 
development in advance of the national targets. The energy strategy required to 
support all major developments should be discussed with the council prior to any 
planning application being submitted. 

 
6.36 The council will support flexible mechanisms, such as allowable solutions for 

zero-carbon development, in line with the definition published by central government. 
However, due to the low level of renewable provision in Wiltshire and the need for new 
strategic growth in the period up to 2016 to add minimally to the carbon footprint of the 
county, the council will support off-site provision of renewable energy to contribute 
towards meetings zero-carbon standards. This will be subject to demonstration 
through the Sustainable Energy Strategy that the renewable energy provision is 
equivalent to the amount that would be needed to deliver carbon neutral development 
on-site. Any off-site renewable energy provision would need to be considered as 
standalone development and be in accordance with appropriate policies within this 
Core Strategy. The council will develop Wiltshire specific allowable solutions, to be in 
place by 2016, which will be published in a future planning policy document. 

 
Sustainable energy strategies 
 
The following minimum information should be provided within a Sustainable Energy 
Strategy for all major developments, as required by Core Policy 41: 
 
Technical proposal - including the proportion of the target to be met following the energy 
hierarchy (energy efficiency, followed by on-site and then off-site measures). Details for 
each part of the proposal and details of any infrastructure needed, such as district heating, 
along with details for any phased delivery should also be included. The exploration of 
opportunities to support the development of low-carbon infrastructure to serve existing 
developments should be included. 
 
Technical feasibility - including space availability, integration with building energy systems, 
impact on townscape, running hours of plant. 
 
Financial viability - including capital costs and whole life cost taking into account market 
mechanisms such as feed in tariffs. 
 
Deliverability - including opportunities and requirements for delivery of infrastructure 
through Energy Service Companies (ESCos). 
 
Impact on overall viability - an assessment method, such as the Home and Communities 
Economic Viability model, should be used that will examine factors including land value, 
sale value, construction costs and other developer contributions. 
 
 
 

142 
 Page 348



 
 

Core Policy 41 
 
Sustainable construction and low-carbon energy 
 
Climate change adaptation 
 
New development, building conversions, refurbishments and extensions will be encouraged 
to incorporate design measures to reduce energy demand. Development will be well 
insulated and designed to take advantage of natural light and heat from the sun and use 
natural air movement for ventilation, whilst maximising cooling in the summer.  
 
Sustainable construction 
 
New homes (excluding extensions and conversions) will be required to achieve at least Level 

4 (in full) of the Code for Sustainable Homes
2
. 

 
Conversions of property to residential use will not be permitted unless BREEAM’s Homes 
“Very Good” standards are achieved2. 
 
All non-residential development will be required to achieve the relevant BREEAM “Very Good” 
standards , rising to the relevant BREEAM “Excellent” standards from 20192. 
 
Existing buildings 
 
Retrofitting measures to improve the energy performance of existing buildings will be 
encouraged in accordance with the following hierarchy: 
 

i. Reduce energy consumption through energy efficiency measures 
 

ii. Use renewable or low-carbon energy from a local/district source and  
 

iii. Use building-integrated renewable or low-carbon technologies. 
 
Opportunities should be sought to facilitate carbon reduction through retrofitting at whole 
street or neighbourhood scales to reduce individual costs, improve viability and support 
coordinated programmes for improvement. 
 
Renewable and low-carbon energy 
 

All proposals for major development
3 will be required to submit a Sustainable Energy Strategy 

alongside the planning application outlining the low-carbon strategy for the proposal.  
 
In all cases, including those listed above, proposals relating to historic buildings, Listed 
Buildings and buildings within Conservation Areas and World Heritage Sites should ensure that 
appropriate sensitive approaches and materials are used. Safeguarding of the significance of 
heritage assets should be in accordance with appropriate national policy and established 
best practice1. 
 
In all cases the impact of these requirements on the viability of development will be taken into 
consideration. 
 

143 
 Page 349



1Detailed design guidance will be prepared by the council to assist with the selection of 
appropriate technologies and will cover sustainable construction and low-carbon energy 
generation, including appropriate approaches for historic buildings and buildings within 
Conservation Areas. 
 
2For residential development post-construction Code for Sustainable Homes assessments 
will be required which must be undertaken by an accredited assessor. For conversions and for 
non residential development an appropriate post-construction BREEAM assessment will be 
required which must also be undertaken by an accredited assessor. Replacements for the 
BREEAM standards are being developed and this policy will apply the equivalent 
replacement standards. The policy will also apply to any future replacements to the Code for 
Sustainable Homes. 
 
3The term ‘major development’ is taken to be as defined by the Town and Country Panning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2010. 
 
 
Core Policy 42: Standalone renewable energy installations 
 
Standalone renewable energy installations 
 
6.37 Core Policy 42 identifies how standalone renewable energy installations, of all 

types, will be encouraged and supported. The policy focuses on the key criteria 
that will be used to judge applications, and gives a clear criteria-based framework to 
encourage greater investment by the renewable energy industry within Wiltshire. This 
policy applies to all types of standalone renewable energy, including wind turbines, 
biomass generators, anaerobic digestion plants and other energy from waste 
technologies, hydropower turbines, and ground mounted solar photovoltaic arrays. 
Applications for energy from waste should also be compatible with Policy WCS3 of 
the Wiltshire and Swindon Waste Core Strategy 2006-2026. It should also be noted 
that some renewable energy technologies require additional permissions over and 
above planning, such as abstraction licenses, flood defence consents and 
environmental permits. 

 
6.38 The development of most standalone renewable energy installations within Wiltshire 

will require careful consideration due to their potential visual and landscape impacts, 
especially in designated or sensitive landscapes, including AONBs and the 
Stonehenge and Avebury World Heritage Site, and their setting. Core policies 51 and 
59, which relate to landscape and the World Heritage Site, should be considered 
alongside this policy. The size, location and design of renewable energy schemes 
should be informed by a landscape character assessment, alongside other key 
environmental issues as set out in Core Policy 42. This should help reduce the potential 
for conflict and delay when determining planning applications. Cumulative effects 
should be addressed as appropriate. 

 
 Additional guidance will be prepared to support the implementation of Core Policy 42. 
 
 

Core Policy 42 
 
Standalone renewable energy installations 
 

144 
 Page 350



Proposals for standalone renewable energy schemes will be supported subject to satisfactory 
resolution of all site specific constraints. In particular, proposals will need to demonstrate 
how impacts on the following factors have been satisfactorily assessed, including any 
cumulative effects, and taken into account: 
 

i. The landscape, particularly in and around AONBs  
 
ii. The Western Wiltshire Green Belt 
 
iii. The New Forest National Park  
 
iv. Biodiversity 
 
v. The historic environment including the Stonehenge and Avebury World Heritage Site 

and its setting  
 
vi. Use of the local transport network 
 
vii. Residential amenity, including noise, odour, visual amenity and safety, and 
 
viii. Best and most versatile agricultural land. 

 
Applicants will not be required to justify the overall need for renewable energy development, 
either in a national or local context. 
 
 
 

 

 
 

145 
 Page 351



Delivering strategic objective 3: to provide everyone with access to a decent, 
affordable home 
 
6.39 Perhaps the biggest contribution that can be made in Wiltshire to addressing 

disadvantage and inequality is through providing everyone with access to a decent 
and affordable home. One of the key issues facing Wiltshire is the provision of new 
housing to help meet the needs of its communities. Core Policy 2 identifies the 
requirement for at least 42,000 new homes to be provided over the plan period 
including affordable homes. The supply of affordable housing is a particular issue 
within Wiltshire which has been exacerbated by rising house prices in recent years. 
It is critical that any new homes benefit new and existing communities by: 

 
• Ensuring new homes are available, affordable and appropriate, in particular to 

help newly forming households and young people to stay in Wiltshire’s 
communities 

• Delivering the right types of homes to support good health and social well 
being, including sufficient accommodation for Wiltshire’s ageing population 

• Providing infrastructure improvements alongside new housing including new 
health care facilities and education provision. 

 
People, Places and Priorities: Wiltshire Community Plan 2011 - 2026 sets an objective to: 
Address the lack of affordable housing, including social housing and shared ownership 
opportunities, by building new housing, bringing empty homes back into use, and through any 
other means that may become available to meet housing need. 
 
6.40 This means building the right homes in the right places at the right time in order to 

develop more balanced communities where people can live and work locally. It’s also 
critical that new housing developments provide for the necessary services and 
infrastructure to create thriving communities, and that they are built to high 
environmental standards and are well designed. It is also vital that a significant 
proportion of new housing is affordable. New jobs must be aligned to the delivery of 
new homes otherwise we are in danger of encouraging more commuting and 
congestion on roads and consequential environmental harm, as well as increased 
maintenance on Wiltshire’s highway network leading to increased liability for the 
council and the taxpayer. Only by delivering both homes at the right price and a range 
of job opportunities can young people in Wiltshire be retained and the long term 
development of the economy supported. At the same time, the right kind of housing 
is needed for the ageing population. 

 
 
Core Policy 43: Providing affordable homes 
 
Providing affordable homes 
 
6.41 Core Policy 43 sets out when affordable housing provision will be required and 

indicates the proportions which will be sought from open market housing 
development. Both housing and planning policies will be used to promote the delivery 
of new affordable homes. This policy intends to provide a clear and robust planning 
policy framework for all those involved in the delivery of affordable housing. It is 
anticipated that this strategy will deliver approximately 13,000 affordable homes 
within the plan period. 

 
6.42  
 

146 
 Page 352



6.43 Appropriate tenure and affordability, are key to meeting housing needs and to 
developing mixed, balanced and inclusive communities. The provision of affordable 
housing linked to open market housing development must be realistic, with regard to 
economic viability, but flexible to variations between sites and changes in market 
conditions over the plan period. The need for and type of affordable housing will be 
reviewed regularly throughout the plan period in line with good practice, and revised 
targets will be determined depending on the prevailing housing need and market 
conditions at the time, following a public consultation period. If appropriate, detailed 
guidance will be produced by the council in relation to the delivery of affordable housing 
including the appropriate assessment of viability and appropriate development 
standards where appropriate. 

 
6.43a A broad assessment of viability across the Plan area83 clearly indicates that there are 

geographic disparities in terms of residual land values that warrant different 
affordable housing requirements. Core Policy 43 therefore contains two separate 
affordable housing zones (30% and 40%) as presented on the Policies Map.  

 
40% affordable housing zone Marlborough & surrounding area, Pewsey, 

Bradford on Avon, Salisbury, rural villages of 
south Salisbury, Wilton and Chippenham 

30% affordable housing zone Corsham, Amesbury, Devizes and surrounding 
villages, Melksham, Trowbridge, Westbury, Dilton 
Marsh, Calne, Warminster, Tisbury and Mere. 

 
6.43b In adopting a two zone approach, the objective of delivering an appropriate and 

sustainable rate of affordable housing to offset strategic and local needs is not 
compromised. The approach set out in Core Policy 43 will provide both certainty to 
the market and sufficient flexibility to allow development proposals to accommodate 
variations in scheme costs whilst still meeting the policy requirements of the plan.  

 
6.44 The policy has regard to the practicalities of provision on small sites. While 

developments of 5 units and above will be expected to make provision on-site, on 
sites of 4 dwellings or fewer no affordable housing contribution will be sought. Where 
the policy generates a requirement which does not equate to a whole unit the 
calculation will be rounded to the nearest whole affordable housing unit.  

 
 

Core Policy 43 
 
Providing affordable homes 
 
Provision 
 
On sites of 5 or more dwellings, affordable housing provision of at least 30% (net) will be 
provided within the 30% affordable housing zone and at least 40% (net) will be 
provided on sites within the 40% affordable housing zone. Only in exceptional 
circumstances, where it can be proven that on-site delivery is not possible, will a commuted 
sum be considered.  
 
The provision of affordable housing may vary on a site-by-site basis taking into account 
evidence of local need, mix of affordable housing proposed and where appropriate, the viability 

83 Wiltshire Local Plan Viability Study 2014 
147 

 

                                                           

Page 353



of the development. All affordable housing will be subject to an appropriate legal agreement 
with the council. 
 
This level of provision should be delivered with nil public subsidy, unless otherwise agreed by 
the council. 
 
Tenure 
 
Tenure will be negotiated on a site-by-site basis to reflect the nature of the development and 
local needs as set out in Core Policy 45 (Meeting Wiltshire’s housing needs). 
 
On site distribution and standards 
 
Affordable housing units will be dispersed throughout a development and designed to a high 
quality, so as to be indistinguishable from other development. In determining the level of 
integration that can be achieved consideration will be given to the practicalities of management 
and maintenance associated with the proposal whilst still ensuring affordability, particularly in 
developments of flats. 
 
 
 
Core Policy 44: Rural exceptions sites 
 
Rural exception sites 
 
6.45 Core Policy 44 allows for the allocation of or granting of planning permission for 

small sites comprising of affordable housing only as an exception to normal policies. 
The policy sets out the criteria against which such proposals will be evaluated and 
under what circumstances schemes solely for affordable housing may be permitted. 

 
6.46 In doing so the core strategy recognises the particular difficulties in securing an 

adequate supply of affordable housing for local needs in rural areas. As an 
exception to normal policy therefore, and where it can be demonstrated that a 
proposed development will meet a particular locally generated need that cannot be 
accommodated in any other way, the council may permit small scale residential 
development (10 dwellings or less) outside but adjoining the development limits of 
Local Service Centres and Large Villages, or adjacent to the existing built area of Small 
Villages. 

 
6.47 In exceptional circumstances the council may also consider exception site 

development that includes cross-subsidy from open market sales on the same site. 
However, in considering such schemes the applicant would need to demonstrate to 
the council’s satisfaction that the open market element is essential to the delivery of 
the development. A full open book financial appraisal will be required to accompany 
any application. The land values in the detailed financial appraisal should be 
benchmarked against those for agricultural land in the local area and historic values 
of exception sites. 

 
6.48 If required, detailed guidance will be developed by the council in relation to the 

application of this exception policy including the appropriate assessment of viability. 
 
 
 
 

148 
 Page 354



Core Policy 44 
 
Rural exceptions sites 
 
At settlements defined as Local Service Centres, Large and Small Villages (Core Policy 1), 
and those not identified within the settlement strategy, a proactive approach to the provision of 
affordable housing will be sought in conjunction with Parish Councils and working with local 
communities and other parties. This exception to policy allows housing for local need to be 
permitted, solely for affordable housing, provided that: 
 

i. The proposal has clear support from the local community 
ii. The housing is being delivered to meet an identified and genuine local need iii. 
iii. The proposal is within, adjoining or well related to the existing settlement 
iv. Environmental and landscape considerations will not be compromised  
v. The proposal consists of 10 dwellings or fewer 
vi. Employment and services are accessible from the site 
vii. Its scale and type is appropriate to the nature of the settlement and will respect the 

character and setting of that settlement and 
viii. The affordable housing provided under this policy will always be available for defined 

local needs, both initially and on subsequent change of occupant. 
 
Cross-subsidy 
 
In exceptional circumstances a proportion of market housing may be considered appropriate 
where it can be demonstrated that the site would be unviable, as an exception site that meets 
the above criteria, without cross-subsidy. It should be recognised that the inclusion of 
open market housing will not normally be supported. In these exceptional circumstances: 
 

ix. The majority of the development is for affordable housing 
x. It has been demonstrated through detailed financial appraisal that the scale of the 

market housing component is essential for the successful delivery of the 
development and is based on reasonable land values as an exception site; and  

xi. No additional subsidy for the scheme and its affordable housing delivery is required  
 
 
Core Policy 45: Meeting Wiltshire's housing needs 
 
Meeting Wiltshire’s housing needs 
 
6.49 It is fundamental to the success of this strategy that the right types of homes are 

delivered. Core Policy 45 provides the basis for considering dwelling type, density and 
mix of housing to be built. The consideration of local housing need is important to the 
quality of life for residents within Wiltshire. All people should have access to a good 
home irrespective of their personal circumstances. That means providing an 
appropriate range of dwellings in terms of size and price, from one bedroom 
apartments to large family homes. 

 
People, Places and Priorities: Wiltshire Community Plan 2011 – 2026 looks to ensure high 
quality design within future development and with specific regard to housing requirements 
seeks: …the creation of sufficient adapted housing, extra care accommodation and residential 
care and nursing home facilities to meet expected demand. 
 
6.50 The Wiltshire Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) identifies the 

accommodation needs of different groups within Wiltshire helping ensure that the 
149 

 Page 355



needs of Wiltshire’s local communities can be addressed. The Wiltshire SHMA should 
be considered alongside Core Policy 4584. The mix of housing provided will vary from 
site to site but the aim should be to provide a range of types and sizes of homes that 
take account of the existing housing needs in the area. 

 

Core Policy 45 
 
Meeting Wiltshire’s housing needs 
 
Type, mix and size 
 
New housing, both market and affordable, must be well designed to address local housing 
need incorporating a range of different types, tenures and sizes of homes to create mixed 
and balanced communities. 
 
Housing size and type, including any distinction between flats and houses, will be expected 
to reflect that of the demonstrable need for the community within which a site is located. The 
Wiltshire Strategic Housing Market Assessment identifies the housing needs of Wiltshire. 
Any variation to this will need to be justified through the production of new, sound evidence 
from either an updated Strategic Housing Market Assessment or other credible evidence 
source. 
 
In relation to affordable housing other sources of credible evidence include the council’s 
housing register and local needs surveys. 
 
 
Core Policy 46: Meeting the needs of Wiltshire's vulnerable and older people 
 
Meeting the needs of Wiltshire’s vulnerable and older people 
 
6.51 Wiltshire has an ageing population, more so than the national average, and this needs 

to be taken into account when planning for new housing. This Strategy plans for the 
care of the elderly within their local communities, so people can continue to enjoy life 
in their own homes for as long as possible. If and when this is no longer possible, 
there is a need to ensure there are alternative facilities where people can continue to 
enjoy living in their local area with the level of care they require provided. 

 
6.52 Core Policy 46 seeks to address the issue of an ageing population, which is 

particularly important in Wiltshire by ensuring that there is adequate provision of 
specialist accommodation, such as extra care housing85. 

 
6.53 Wiltshire has an ageing population profile and research also suggests that many 

older people across Wiltshire continue to live at home. Lifetime Homes are designed 
to allow dwellings to meet the changing needs of their occupiers over time and enable 
people to stay in their own homes for longer. The provision of Lifetime Homes will play 
an important role in meeting future housing needs and this is also reflected in Core 
Policy 46. Furthermore an adequate supply of homes to meet the needs of the 
population will allow for churn within the housing stock at all levels of the market. 

 
 

Core Policy 46 
84 Wiltshire Strategic Housing Market Assessment 20121 
85  Wiltshire’s Older People Accommodation Development Strategy 2011 

150 
 

                                                           

Page 356



 
Meeting the needs of Wiltshire’s vulnerable and older people 
 
The provision, in suitable locations, of new housing to meet the specific needs of vulnerable 
and older people will be required. Wherever practicable, accommodation should seek to 
deliver and promote independent living. 
 
Older people 
 
Housing schemes should assist older people to live securely and independently within their 
communities. Residential development must ensure that layout, form and orientation consider 
adaptability to change as an integral part of design at the outset, in a way that integrates all 
households into the community. 
 
Developers will be required to demonstrate how their proposals respond to the needs of an 
ageing population. 
 
Specialist accommodation 
 
The provision of sufficient new accommodation for Wiltshire’s older people will be supported, 
including: 
 

i. Nursing accommodation  
ii. Residential homes and 
iii. Extra care facilities. 

 
Proposals for extra care accommodation to be sold or let on the open market are not 
considered exempt from the need to provide affordable housing. Therefore proposals for extra 
care accommodation will be expected to provide an affordable housing contribution in line 
with Core Policy 43. 
 
Provision of homes and accommodation for vulnerable people will be supported, including 
but not limited to: 
 

iv. People with learning disabilities 
v. People with mental health issues 
vi. Homeless people and rough sleepers and 
vii. Young at risk and care leavers. 

 
Such accommodation should be provided in sustainable locations, where there is an 
identified need, within settlements identified in Core Policy 1 (normally in the Principal 
Settlements and Market Towns) where there is good access to services and facilities. 
 
In exceptional circumstances, the provision of specialist accommodation outside but adjacent to 
the Principal Settlements and Market Towns will be considered, provided that: 
 

viii. A genuine, and evidenced, need is justified 
ix. ix. Environmental and landscape considerations will not be compromised 
x. x. Facilities and services are accessible from the site and 
xi. xi. Its scale and type is appropriate to the nature of the settlement and will respect 

the character and setting of that settlement. 
 
 
Core Policy 47: Meeting the needs of Gypsies and Travellers 

151 
 Page 357



 
Making provision for gypsies and travellers 
 
6.54 Provision should be made to help meet the accommodation needs of all of Wiltshire’s 

communities, including the Gypsy and Traveller community and travelling 
showpeople, who normally reside in or travel through the county.  In  March 2012 the 
government published the National Planning Policy Framework and “Planning Policy 
for Travellers Sites”86.  These documents include the general principle of aligning 
planning policy on traveller sites more closely with that for other forms of housing. 
Core Policy 47 reflects this approach by introducing a set of criteria which define 
broad locations where sites would be appropriate and against which potential sites 
will be tested, and also identifies a requirement for new pitches to 2021. The criteria 
have regard to local amenity, access to facilities and impact on the landscape in a 
similar way to policies for general housing.  

 
6.54a The development of new permanent and transit Gypsy and Traveller caravan sites in 

suitable and sustainable locations will be considered in accordance with the criteria set 
out in Core Policy 4787. The criteria have been informed by national policy in Planning 
Policy for Traveller Sites. In accordance with national policy the council will apply 
these criteria positively where a proposed location complies with the criteria in Core 
Policy 47.   

 
6.54b To identify pitch requirements for inclusion in Core Policy 47, a review of the 2006 

Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Needs Assessment (GTAA) was undertaken 
in November 201188.  The conclusions are presented in Topic Paper 16, as amended in 
February 2014. As a result a need for 66 additional permanent residential pitches over 
the next five years (2011-2016) in Wiltshire has been identified. A projection of 
anticipated need between 2016-2021 has also been identified with approximately 42 
permanent residential pitches required. The review of need took into consideration 
the supply of permanent pitch provision since April 2006 (see Table 6.1 below) and 
evidence presented by the July 2011 caravan count. The preference in meeting need in 
the future is for small, private sites. 

 
6.54c The council will use national policy and a criteria-based approach, as set out by 

Core Policy 47, to identify the most suitable sites for Gypsy and Traveller pitches in 
the proposed Gypsy and Travellers Development Plan Document89.  This will add 
detail to the interpretation and implementation of Core Policy 47 and identify specific 
sites to deliver the pitch requirements set out within Core Policy 4790.  The council will 
release land in its ownership to help ensure the identified need is met.  Applications 
that are submitted before the DPD is prepared will be assessed against the general 
criteria set in Core Policy 47. 

 
6.55 The review in Topic Paper 16 identified a need for 25 new transit pitches across the 

county. The provision of new transit pitches will enable pitches to be provided to meet 
the needs of Gypsies and Travellers who come to the area but have no permanent 
place to stay or are travelling through the area.  The Gypsy and Traveller DPD will include specific 
locations to provide these new transit pitches and will include consideration of a 
network of Emergency Stopping Places to provide the travelling community with a 

86 Planning Policy for Travellers, DCLG March 2012 
87 Topic Paper 16: Gypsy and Travellers (including the addendum) provides an outline of how the requirement for new pitches 

has been determined and the basis for the criteria proposed. 
88 Topic Paper16: Gypsy and Travellers provides a detailed explanation of the methodology used for the review.  
89 Wiltshire Council Local Development Scheme, January 2014 provides a timetable for this work. 
90 The council consulted on an “Issues and General Approach” to Gypsies and Travellers in April 2010.  The detailed, criteria 

based approach set out in that report will be carried forward to the Gypsy and Travellers DPD and become the basis for the 
assessment of sites.  

152 
 

                                                           

Page 358



range of options. This approach may be particularly suitable for New Travellers who 
rely less on the need for permanent residential pitches. 

 
6.55a The council will release land in its ownership and work with other public sector 

landowners to help ensure the need for both permanent and transit pitches is met.  
Opportunities will be considered through the DPD process, as well as bringing 
forward pitches in the short term through the planning application process.  

 
6.56 The council is also carrying out a full Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Needs 

Assessment to review and roll forward the pitch requirements in Core Policy 47 to 
ensure adequate pitch provision across the plan period.  This review will inform 
amendments to the pitch requirements in Core Policy 47 to relate to the whole plan 
period and be included in the Gypsy and Travellers DPD. Core Policy 47 together 
with the policies and allocations proposed within the Gypsy and Traveller DPD will 
ensure continued compliance with national policy.  

 
6.57  National policy91, as well as including the general principle of aligning planning policy 

on traveller sites more closely with that for other forms of housing, requires the council 
to demonstrate a five year supply of pitches against a long term target based on clear 
evidence. Appendix C provides the current position in relation to a 5 year supply of 
Traveller sites and demonstrates that at the time of the CS Examination there was not 
a 5 year supply of traveller sites in Wiltshire. The programmed Gypsy and Traveller 
DPD will include specific deliverable sites to demonstrate a 5 year supply and a 
supply of specific developable sites or broad locations for growth for the remainder of 
the plan period.  

 
6.58 [para deleted]  
 
Table 6.1 Supply of permanent accommodation for Gypsies and Travellers, April 2006 to January 2014  
 

Housing Market Area Permitted (April 
06 to 
Jan 14 ) 

With temporary 
permission (Jan 
14)  
 

Applications 
pending (Jan 14)  

North and West 
Wiltshire 

94 2 1 

South Wiltshire 3 2 1 
East Wiltshire 0 0 0 
TOTAL 97 4  2  

 
 

Core Policy 47 
 
Meeting the needs of Gypsies and Travellers 
 
Provision should be made for at least 66  permanent pitches for Gypsies and Travellers, 25 
transit pitches and 5 plots for Travelling Showpeople during the period 2011 to 2016. A  
further 42 permanent pitches should be provided over the period 2016-2021. Permanent and 
transit pitches should be distributed and phased as follows. 
 
 
 

91 Planning Policy for Travellers, DCLG March 2012 
153 

 

                                                           

Page 359



 
Table 6.2 
Housing Market Area Proposed 

Requirement (2011 
-16) 

Proposed 
Requirement (2016-
21) 

Transit provision 
2011-21 
 

North and West 
Wiltshire 

26  22  10 

South Wiltshire 37  19  8 
East Wiltshire 3  1 7 
TOTAL 66  42  25 

 
Proposals for new Gypsy and Traveller pitches or Travelling Showpeople plots/yards will 
only be granted where there is no conflict with other planning policies and where no barrier 
to development exists. New development should be situated in sustainable locations, with 
preference generally given to previously developed land or a vacant or derelict site in need 
of renewal. Where proposals satisfy the following general criteria they will be considered 
favourably: 
 

i. No significant barriers to development exist in terms of flooding, poor drainage, poor 
ground stability or proximity to other hazardous land or installation where 
conventional housing would not be suitable 

ii. It is served by a safe and convenient vehicular and pedestrian access. The 
proposal should not result in significant hazard to other road users 

iii. The site can be properly serviced and is supplied with essential services, such as 
water, power, sewerage and drainage, and waste disposal.  

iv. The site must also be large enough to provide adequate vehicle parking, including 
circulation space, along with residential amenity and play areas 

v. It is located in or near to existing settlements within reasonable distance of a range of 
local services and community facilities, in particular schools and essential health 
services.  

vi. It will not have an unacceptable impact on the character and appearance of the 
landscape and the amenity of neighbouring properties, and is sensitively designed 
to mitigate any impact on its surroundings. 

vii. Adequate levels of privacy should be provided for occupiers 
viii. Development of the site should be appropriate to the scale and character of its 

surroundings and existing nearby settlements, and  
ix. The site should not compromise a nationally or internationally recognised designation 

nor have the potential for adverse effects on river quality, biodiversity or 
archaeology. 

 
In assessing sites for Travelling Showpeople or where mixed-uses are proposed, the site 
and its surrounding context are suitable for mixed residential and business uses, including 
storage required and/or land required for exercising animals, and would not result in an 
unacceptable loss of amenity and adverse impact on the safety and amenity of the site’s 
occupants and neighbouring properties. 
 
It is recommended that pre-application advice is sought on all proposals for new Gypsy and 
Traveller pitches or Traveller Showpeople plots/yards. Early engagement with the local 
community is recommended to ensure sites are developed sensitively to their context. 
 

 
Delivering strategic objective 4: helping to build resilient communities 
 

154 
 Page 360



6.59 The policies contained within this section aim to improve quality of life in Wiltshire, 
foster a sense of community belonging, improve safety, social inclusion and self-
sufficiency, and ensure that appropriate facilities are available. Core Policy 48, 
together with Core Policy 34, seeks to support rural life and sets out certain 
circumstances under which development in rural areas will be supported, whilst Core 
Policy 49 seeks to safeguard the existing services and facilities which are integral to 
Wiltshire’s communities. 

 
6.60 The Core Strategy, as a whole, will make a positive contribution to delivering the 

outcomes sought in Strategic Objective 4, to help build resilient communities. It can 
be considered as a spatial representation of the Wiltshire Community Plan. Many of 
the issues within the Community Plan are complex and will need a wide range of 
actions from many partners to be effectively addressed. The Core Strategy will assist 
in building resilient communities through the following actions: 

 
• Addressing social exclusion through focusing new development at the most 

sustainable locations with a range of local services and facilities, reducing the 
need to travel 

• Delivering a step-change in affordable housing delivery and putting in place 
the necessary strategy to support good economic growth 

• Facilitating educational opportunities by ensuring that new growth is supported 
by new school capacity 

• Protecting existing services and facilities 
• Supporting appropriate development in rural areas to help maintain the vitality 

and viability of small settlements and the countryside and 
• Ensuring that growth is supported by the provision of community facilities such 

as shops, open space, recreational facilities and community centres. 
• Provision of meeting halls and places of worship 

 
 
Core Policy 48: Supporting rural life 
 
Supporting rural life 
 
6.61 Core Policy 48 explains the approach that will be taken to support rural communities, 

outside the limits of development of Principal Settlements, Market Towns, Local 
Service Centres and Large Villages and outside the existing built areas of Small 
Villages. The policy is based on the following key objectives: 

 
• Protecting the countryside and maintaining its local distinctiveness  
• Supporting the sensitive reuse of built assets to help meet local needs  
• Supporting improved access between places and to services and  
• Supporting the community in taking ownership of local services. 

 
The approach to development within small rural settlements is set out in Core Policy 
2.  

 
6.62 Residential development will not normally be permitted in the countryside unless it 

meets the requirements of Core Policy 44 (rural exceptions sites). However, 
additional dwellings may be justified in certain circumstances when they are 
required in the interests of supporting rural employment, for example in association 
with equestrian activities when worker accommodation is needed onsite. In view of the 
exceptional circumstances applications will be scrutinised thoroughly and opportunities 
for accommodation within nearby settlements must be considered initially. 

155 
 Page 361



 
6.63 Proposals to convert or re-use buildings for employment, tourism or residential uses, 

community uses, meeting rooms or places of worship will need to fulfil the 
requirements set out in Core Policy 48. Proposals must not lead to subsequent 
applications for replacement buildings elsewhere.  It is recognised that the insensitive 
re-use of rural buildings can be damaging to the character of the building and its rural 
setting. . Furthermore, additions and extensions should normally be avoided.  

 
6.64 Improving  accessibility  between  places  within  the  countryside  may  sometimes  

mean  that development requiring planning permission is required, such as new 
roads, cycle routes, gates, signposts and bus shelters. Some telecommunications 
works may also fall into this category. In such cases, Core Policy 48 introduces a 
presumption in favour of such works which can greatly benefit rural areas, where 
these are environmentally acceptable. Core Policy 48 also identifies measures to 
support community ownership of local shops, pubs and other services where this is 
appropriate to retain the facility. Core Policy 49 provides further details on the protection 
of existing community services and facilities. 

 
 

Core Policy 48 
 
Supporting rural life 
 
Dwellings required to meet the employment needs of rural areas 
 
Outside the defined limits of development of the Principal Settlements, Market Towns, Local 
Service Centres and Large Villages, and outside the existing built areas of Small 
Villages, proposals for residential development will  be supported where these meet the 
accommodation needs required to enable workers to live at or in the immediate vicinity of their 
place of work in the interests of agriculture or forestry or other employment essential to the 
countryside. Proposals for accommodation to meet the needs of employment essential to the 
countryside should be supported by functional and financial evidence.  
 
Improving access to services and improving infrastructure 
 
Proposals which will focus on improving accessibility between towns and villages, helping to 
reduce social exclusion, isolation and rural deprivation, such as transport and infrastructure 
improvements, will be supported where the development will not be to the detriment of the 
local environment or local residents. 
 
Conversion and re-use of  rural buildings 
 
Proposals to convert and re-use rural buildings for employment, tourism, cultural and community 
uses will be supported where it satisfies the following criteria: 
 

i. The building(s) is / are structurally sound and capable of conversion without major 
rebuilding, and with only necessary extension or modification which preserves the 
character of the original building; and 

 
ii. The use would not detract from the character or appearance of the landscape or 

settlement and would not be detrimental to the amenities of residential areas; and 
iii. The building can be served by adequate access and infrastructure; and  
iv. The site has reasonable access to local services or 

156 
 Page 362



v. The conversion or re-use of a heritage asset would lead to its viable long term 
safeguarding 

. 
 
Where there is clear evidence that the above uses are not practical propositions,  residential 
development may be appropriate where it meets the above criteria.  In isolated locations, the 
re-use of redundant or disused buildings for residential purposes may be permitted where 
justified by special circumstances, in line with national policy.  
 
Community ownership 
 
Community ownership and /or management of local shops, pubs and other services will be 
supported where appropriate to retain a local facility through the following measures: 
 

vi. Development proposals for the adaptation of a building, such as sub-division or 
change of use, will be supported where these are necessary to allow a viable 
continued use 

vii. Appropriately scaled enabling development will be considered, where this is 
environmentally acceptable and justified through a supporting viability study, and 
where it can help maintain and enhance the community uses provided and 

viii. The facility may be protected from loss of its current use until such time as the 
community has had a realistic opportunity to take control of the asset. 

 
New Shops 
 
New shops in villages will be supported where they are small in scale and would not threaten 
the viability of nearby centres. Farm shops will be supported where they utilise existing 
buildings, are small in scale and cause no unacceptable impact on nearby village shops or 
the character of the area. 
 
 
Core Policy 49: Protection of services and community facilities 
 
Community and rural facilities - supporting the post office, shop and public house 
 
6.65 Local facilities and services are a vital part of the smaller settlements of Wiltshire but 

despite this there has been a continued decline in many of these services. Overall, 
there has been a decline in rural post offices and petrol filling stations, and a more 
gradual decline in health facilities and general stores (although mobile stores are 
increasing). The threat to local services is exemplified in the national trend for closure 
of public houses which is reflected in Wiltshire. Public houses are important to the 
fabric of village life. There has been little evidence of the diversification into joint 
facilities as promoted nationally. It seems inevitable that this trend will continue 
unless we can produce two fold measures based on firstly improving their viability by 
striving for sustainable communities, encouraging diversification and by taking a hard 
line on change of use applications. However the latter will not work without the former. 

 
6.66 Rural facilities and services are those that benefit the local community such as local 

shops, meeting places, sports venues, cultural buildings, public houses and places of 
worship.  There is a need to protect and encourage the development of rural services 
and facilities in Wiltshire to ensure that settlements, particularly those named in this 
Strategy, can still meet some of the day to day needs of the people who live in them. 
Core Policy 34 (Additional Employment Land) seeks to support the diversification of 
the rural economy, whilst Core Policy 48 (Supporting Rural Life) seeks to support rural 

157 
 Page 363



life by allowing appropriate development to take place in the rural areas. Core Policy 49 
is complimentary to core policies 34 and 48, and seeks to protect existing services and 
community facilities in Wiltshire. There is also a need to protect and encourage the 
retention and important local community facilities in discreet urban areas that exist 
across Wiltshire that often contribute positively to the local community and its identity. 

 
 

Core Policy 49 
 
Protection of services and community facilities 
 
Proposals involving the loss of a community service or facility will only be supported where it 
can be demonstrated that the site/ building is no longer economically viable for an 
alternative community use. Preference will be given to retaining the existing use in the first 
instance, then for an alternative community use. Where this is not possible, a mixed use, 
which still retains a substantial portion of the community facility/service, will be supported. 
Redevelopment for non-community service/ facility use will only be permitted as a last resort 
and where all other options have been exhausted. 
 
In order for such proposals to be supported, a comprehensive marketing plan will need to be 
undertaken and the details submitted with any planning application. Only where it can be 
demonstrated that all preferable options have been exhausted will a change of use to a non-
community use be considered. This marketing plan will, at the very minimum: 
 

i. Be undertaken for at least 6 months 
ii. Be as open and as flexible as possible with respect to alternative community use 
iii. Establish appropriate prices, reflecting local market value, for the sale or lease of the 

site or building, which reflect the current or new community use, condition of the 
premises and the location of the site 

iv. Demonstrate the marketing has taken into account the hierarchy of preferred uses 
stated above 

v. Clearly record all the marketing undertaken and details of respondents, in a 
manner capable of verification 

vi. Provide details of any advertisements including date of publication and periods of 
advertisement  

vii. Offer the lease of the site without restrictive rent review and tenancy conditions, or 
other restrictions which would prejudice the reuse as a community facility and 

viii. Demonstrate contact with previously interested parties, whose interest may have been 
discouraged by onerous conditions previously set out. 

 
 
 

158 
 Page 364



 

Delivering strategic objective 5: protecting and enhancing the natural, historic 
and built environment 
 
Core Policy 50: Biodiversity and geodiversity 
 
Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
 
6.67 Wiltshire’s natural environment is one of its greatest assets and includes a 

network of identified wildlife sites: 
 

• International – Special Areas of Conservation, Special Protection Areas and 
Ramsar Sites92 

• National – Sites of Special Scientific Interest and National Nature Reserves1 
• Local – County Wildlife Sites, Protected Road Verges and Local Geological 

Sites 
 

Proposed development on land within or outside a SSSI likely to have an adverse 
effect on a SSSI will be determined in accordance with the requirements of paragraph 
118 of the NPPF and Circular 06/2005. The valuable natural environment includes 
not only identified sites, but also other features of nature conservation value 
including: 

 
• Priority species and habitats (including those listed in the national and 

Wiltshire Biodiversity Action Plan) 
• Areas of habitat with restoration potential (particularly those identified on the 

South West Nature Map or through other landscape scale projects) 
• All waterbodies covered under the Water Framework Directive and 
• Features providing an ecological function for wildlife such as foraging, resting 

and breeding places, particularly wildlife corridors of all scales which provide 
ecological connectivity allowing species to move through the landscape and 
support ecosystem functions. 

 
For the purposes of evaluation in ecological impact assessment, the value of 
undesignated habitats and species should be measured against published selection 
criteria93 where possible94, however statutory protection will only ever apply to those 
sites which have been formally notified by Natural England. 

 
6.68 Collectively these sites and natural features make up the local ecological networks 

necessary to underpin and maintain a healthy natural environment. Core Policy 50 
seeks to ensure protection and enhancement of these sites and features, and is 
necessary to help halt and reverse current negative trends and meet new challenges 
particularly from climate change adaptation and pressures associated with the 
increasing population. 

 
 Protection 

It is vital that all stages of sustainable development are informed by relevant 
ecological information, from site selection and design to planning decisions and long-
term management. All effects should be considered, including positive and negative, 

92 Applications affecting these sites will be determined in accordance with relevant national legislation, policy and statutory 
procedures, in addition to the policies in this plan. 

93 ‘Guidelines for the selection of biological SSSIs’ or the ‘Wiltshire and Swindon Wildlife Sites Handbook’ 
94 In accordance with IEEM Guidelines on Ecological Impact Assessment 

159 
 

                                                           

Page 365



direct and indirect, cumulative, and on and offsite impacts over the lifetime of the 
development (including construction, operational and restoration phases), also giving 
consideration to disturbance effects such as noise, lighting, recreational pressures, 
trampling, traffic, domestic pets, vandalism etc. 

 
6.69 All effects upon the natural environment should be addressed sequentially in 

accordance with the principle of the ‘mitigation hierarchy’: 
 

• Avoid e.g. site location, buffers  
• Reduce, moderate, minimise  
• Rescue e.g. translocation  
• Repair, reinstate, restore  
• Compensate or offset. 

 
6.70 Compensation is a last resort, but will be necessary in some instances where other 

approaches cannot guarantee ‘no net loss’ of biodiversity and any unavoidable losses 
are outweighed by other sustainability considerations. Such measures should be 
delivered within the development site where possible; however where this is not 
feasible it may be more appropriate to deliver offsite measures through legal 
agreements and landscape scale projects. Appropriate compensatory measures 
should demonstrate no net loss of the relevant local biodiversity resource in the short 
and long-term, and be delivered as close to the development site as possible to avoid 
the degradation of local ecological networks or ‘ecosystem services’95. Additional 
guidance is available96 to help clarify appropriate ecological avoidance, mitigation and 
compensation measures to demonstrate compliance with Core Policy 50, which 
should be proportionate to the scale of any predicted impact. 

 
A number of strategic plans and guidance documents are also available to ensure 
that the most commonly occurring effects upon international sites can be avoided as 
efficiently and effectively as possible5.  

 
• The Stone Curlew Management Strategy – applicable to residential 

development within distances up to 15km of Salisbury Plain 
• Wiltshire Bats SAC Planning Guidance – applicable to all development types 

in the areas within and surrounding Bradford on Avon, Box, Colerne, 
Corsham, Trowbridge, Westbury, Fonthill and Chilmark 

• River Avon Planning Guidance – applicable to any new development in 
proximity to the Salisbury Avon, or major development within the wider 
catchment 

• Other plans and guidance documents will be produced by Wiltshire Council as 
necessary. Wiltshire Council has also signed a Memorandum of 
Understanding with Natural England to ensure that all of these measures are 
effectively delivered. 

 
Wiltshire Council will support production and implementation of a New Forest 
Mitigation Strategy, in partnership with Natural England, and other partners as 
appropriate. This will set out the delivery mechanisms and funding requirements 
(either through CIL, S106 or other appropriate mechanism) such that the impacts of 
the Plan upon the New Forest SPA are fully mitigated. After adoption the New Forest 
Mitigation Strategy will be relevant in relation to paragraph 6.70 above. Prior to this, 

95 Ecosystem services are best defined through the work of the UK National Ecosystem Assessment http://uknea.unep-
wcmc.org/ . 

96 Please refer to the Biodiversity and Development pages of the Wiltshire Council website for further details. 
160 

 

                                                           

Page 366



planning applications will be subject to individual Habitats Regulation Assessments 
and bespoke mitigation secured as necessary. 

 
6.71 Sustainable development also provides opportunities to enhance the natural 

environment for wildlife and Wiltshire’s communities, particularly through 
landscaping, public open space, Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems and features of 
the built environment e.g. bird and bat boxes. Such measures should contribute to 
delivery of relevant Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP) and River Basin / Catchment 
Management Plan objectives, but also be tailored to local landscape character (see 
Core Policy 51). Development may also open up opportunities to bring degraded or 
neglected features back into favourable condition through sensitive management to 
encourage wildlife; such restoration will be particularly valuable where it contributes 
towards Nature Improvement Areas or other landscape scale projects identified by the 
Local Nature Partnership or objectives in relevant River Basin / Catchment Management 
Plans. Additional guidance will be produced to aid the design and incorporation of 
suitable ecological enhancement measures to demonstrate compliance with Core 
Policy 50, which should be proportionate to the scale of development. 

 
6.72 [para deleted] 
 
 

Core Policy 50 
 
Biodiversity and geodiversity 
 
 
Protection 
 
Development proposals must demonstrate how they protect features of nature conservation 
and geological value as part of the design rationale. There is an expectation that such features 
shall be retained, buffered, and managed favourably in order to maintain their ecological value, 
connectivity and functionality in the long-term. Where it has been demonstrated that such 
features cannot be retained, removal or damage shall only be acceptable in circumstances 
where the anticipated ecological impacts have been mitigated as far as possible and 
appropriate compensatory measures can be secured to ensure no net loss of the local 
biodiversity resource, and secure the integrity of local ecological networks and provision of 
ecosystem services. 
 
All development proposals shall incorporate appropriate measures to avoid and reduce 
disturbance of sensitive wildlife species and habitats throughout the lifetime of the 
development. 
 
Any development potentially affecting a Natura 2000 site must provide avoidance measures 
in accordance with the strategic plans or guidance set out in paragraph 6.70 above where 
possible, otherwise bespoke measures must be provided to demonstrate that the proposals 
would have no adverse effect upon the Natura 2000 network. Any development that would 
have an adverse effect on the integrity of a European nature conservation site will not be in 
accordance with the Core Strategy. 
 
Biodiversity enhancement 
 
All development should seek opportunities to enhance biodiversity. Major development in 
particular must include measures to deliver biodiversity gains through opportunities to 
restore, enhance and create valuable habitats, ecological networks and ecosystem services. 

161 
 Page 367



Such enhancement measures will contribute to the objectives and targets of the Biodiversity 
Action Plan (BAP) or River Basin/Catchment Management Plan, particularly through 
landscape scale projects, and be relevant to the local landscape character. 
 
Local sites 
 
Sustainable development will avoid direct and indirect impacts upon local sites through 
sensitive site location and layout, and by maintaining sufficient buffers and ecological 
connectivity with the wider environment. Damage or disturbance to local sites will 
generally be unacceptable, other than in exceptional circumstances where it has been 
demonstrated that such impacts: 
 

i. Cannot reasonably be avoided  
ii. Are reduced as far as possible 
iii. Are outweighed by other planning considerations in the public interest and 
iv. Where appropriate compensation measures can be secured through planning 

obligations or agreements. 
 
Development proposals affecting local sites must make a reasonable contribution to their 
favourable management in the long-term. 
 
 
 
Core Policy 51: Landscape 
 
Landscape 
 
6.73 The European Landscape Convention promotes landscape protection, management 

and planning, and applies to all landscapes, towns and villages, as well as open 
countryside; the coast and inland areas; and ordinary or even degraded 
landscapes, as well as those that are afforded protection. Development on the 
edges of towns and villages will be broadly controlled in line with Core Policy 3 
(Delivery Strategy), however the principal pressure on the landscape arising from new 
development is erosion of the separate identity, character, visual and functional 
amenity of settlements and their setting, and impacts on the open countryside. 
Another challenge is to allow for appropriate development while having full regard to 
the conservation and enhancement objectives of the most highly valued landscapes 
including the Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONBs), New Forest National Park 
(NFNP) and the Stonehenge and Avebury World Heritage Site (WHS). 

 
6.74 Core Policy 51 seeks to protect, conserve and enhance Wiltshire’s distinctive landscape 

character. The term ‘landscape’ here is used to refer to both the built, historic and 
natural environment in urban, peri-urban and rural areas. There are currently ten 
Landscape Character Assessments (LCA's) which cover Wiltshire, and these will be 
used for the purposes of implementing this policy until they are replaced: 

 
• Wiltshire Landscape Character Assessment (1:50,000) (2005) 
• North Wiltshire Landscape Character Assessment (1:25,000) (2004)  
• South Wiltshire Landscape Character Assessment (1:25,000) (2008) 
• Kennet Landscape Character Assessment (1:25,000) (1999) and adopted 

Kennet Landscape Conservation Strategy (2005) 
• West Wiltshire Landscape Character Assessment (1:25,000) (2007) 
• North Wessex Downs AONB Landscape Character Assessment (1:25,000) 

(2002)  

162 
 Page 368



• Cotswolds AONB Landscape Character Assessment (1:50,000) (2004) 
• Cranborne Chase and West Wiltshire Downs Landscape Character 

Assessment (1:25,000) (2003) 
• Cotswold Water Park Integrated Landscape Character Assessment (1:25,000) 

(2009)  
• Salisbury Plain Training Area Landscape Character Assessment (1:25,000) 

(2003). 
 

Work will be undertaken with these LCAs and the AONB Management Plans to 
establish a Landscape Strategy for Wiltshire early 2015. 

 
6.75  Other relevant assessments and studies which would include: 
 

• Those which are professionally prepared to best practice guidelines e.g. 
landscape sensitivity studies and historic landscape characterisation work 

• Local studies which are approved by the Council e.g. Village Design 
Statements, Parish Plans 

 
Applications for development which would by its nature, scale, appearance or location 
have the potential to change local landscape character must be accompanied by a 
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment. 

 
 
6.76 The national significance of the landscape of Wiltshire is acknowledged in the 

designation of 44% of the area administered by Wiltshire Council as an AONB while a 
small area of the New Forest National Park is also present within the south of the 
county. When determining proposals in AONBs and the New Forest National Park, 
great weight will be given to conserving landscape and scenic beauty in accordance 
with paragraphs 115 and 116 of the NPPF. Particular attention is also drawn to 
paragraph 14 (including footnote 9), which restricts the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development in such areas. However Core Policy 51 also addresses 
development outside these areas which could affect the setting of these highly 
valued landscapes. The current Management Plans for these areas are as follows: 

 
• Cranborne Chase and West Wiltshire Downs AONB Management Plan 2009 – 

201497 
• North Wessex Downs AONB Management Plan 2009 – 201498 
• Cotswolds AONB Management Plan 2013 – 2018 
• New Forest Management Plan 2010 – 2015. 

 
6.77 Proposals for development within or affecting the AONBs or NFNP should demonstrate 

that they have taken account of the objectives, policies and actions set out in those 
current or any other revised or replacement Management Plans. Other documents 
prepared by the AONBs or NFNP may also be relevant, including position statements, 
woodland and biodiversity strategies, landscape sensitivity and tranquillity studies, and 
the landscape character assessments listed above. Development affecting the 
Stonehenge and Avebury World Heritage Site and its setting should be considered in 
light of Core Policy 59, while any development in the setting of the Bath World 
Heritage Site should have regard to the findings of the Bath World Heritage Site 
Setting Study (2009) and any associated Supplementary Planning Document as a 
material planning consideration. 

 

97 As adopted by Wiltshire Council 
98 As adopted by Wiltshire Council 

163 
 

                                                           

Page 369



6.78 Core Policy 51 refers to development within the setting of an AONB or national 
park; setting is considered to be all of the surroundings from which a designated 
landscape can be experienced, or which can be experienced from the designated 
landscape. Its extent is not fixed and may change as the landscape and its 
surroundings evolve. Elements of a setting may make a positive or negative 
contribution to the natural beauty of a landscape, and may affect the ability to 
appreciate it. 

 
6.79 There is a need to protect the distinct character and identity of the villages and 

settlements in Wiltshire, and a particular issue has been highlighted in those parts of 
the Royal Wootton Bassett and Cricklade Community Area which adjoin the 
administrative area of Swindon Borough Council, where there may be additional 
development pressure. The separate identity of these settlements should be 
protected in line with Core Policy 51. The local community may also wish to consider 
this matter further in any future community-led plan, such as a neighbourhood plan. 

 
6.80 The emerging Wiltshire Landscape Strategy will review the need for Special 

Landscape Areas (SLAs) in Wiltshire, and if necessary, also clarify their special 
characteristics and boundaries. In the interim they will continue to be protected under 
relevant saved local plan policies, and if evidence demonstrates the need for SLAs 
these policies will be superseded by a Wiltshire-wide policy. 

 
6.81 The extent of the Western Wiltshire Green Belt is shown on the policies map. The 

purpose of the Green Belt is to check the expansion of towns in the area, principally 
Bristol and Bath, and to safeguard surrounding countryside, and its particular 
objectives are to: 

 
• Maintain the open character of undeveloped land adjacent to Bath, Trowbridge 

and Bradford on Avon 
• Prevent the coalescence of Bradford on Avon with Trowbridge or the villages 

to the east of Bath 
• Limit the spread of development along the A4 between Batheaston and 

Corsham; and Protect the setting and historic character of Bradford on Avon. 
 
Applications for development within the Green Belt will be determined in accordance with 
national planning policy. 
 
 
Core Policy 51 
 
Landscape 
 
Development should protect, conserve and where possible enhance landscape character and 
must not have a harmful impact upon landscape character, while any negative impacts must 
be mitigated as far as possible through sensitive design and landscape measures. Proposals 
should be informed by and sympathetic to the distinctive character areas identified in the 
relevant Landscape Character Assessment(s) and any other relevant assessments and 
studies. In particular, proposals will need to demonstrate that the following aspects of 
landscape character have been conserved and where possible enhanced through sensitive 
design, landscape mitigation and enhancement measures: 
 

i. The locally distinctive pattern and species composition of natural features such as 
trees, hedgerows, woodland, field boundaries, watercourses and waterbodies 

ii. The locally distinctive character of settlements and their landscape settings 
164 

 Page 370



iii. The separate identity of settlements and the transition between man-made and 
natural landscapes at the urban fringe 

iv. Visually sensitive skylines, soils, geological and topographical features  
v. Landscape features of cultural, historic and heritage value 
vi. Important views and visual amenity 
vii. Tranquillity and the need to protect against intrusion from light pollution, noise, and 

motion  
viii. Landscape functions including places to live, work, relax and recreate, and 
ix. Special qualities of Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONBs) and the New 

Forest National Park, where great weight will be afforded to conserving and 
enhancing landscapes and scenic beauty. 

 
Proposals for development within or affecting the Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
(AONBs), New Forest National Park (NFNP) or Stonehenge and Avebury World Heritage Site 
(WHS) shall demonstrate that they have taken account of the objectives, policies and actions 
set out in the relevant Management Plans for these areas. Proposals for development 
outside of an AONB that is sufficiently prominent (in terms of its siting or scale) to have an 
impact on the area’s special qualities (as set out in the relevant management plan), must 
also demonstrate that it would not adversely affect its setting. 
 
 
 
Core Policy 52: Green infrastructure 
 
Green Infrastructure 
 
6.82 Green infrastructure is a descriptive term used to characterise spaces such as parks 

and gardens (urban and country parks, formal gardens); amenity green space 
(informal and formal recreation and sports spaces, domestic gardens, village greens, 
green roofs); urban green spaces (urban commons, waste land and disturbed 
ground); woodland, downland and meadows, wetlands, open and running water, 
quarries; green corridors (rivers and canals including their banks, road and rail 
corridors, cycling routes, pedestrian paths, and rights of way); allotments, cemeteries, 
and churchyards. It provides socio-economic and cultural benefits which underpin 
individual and community health and wellbeing. These include: conserving and 
enhancing the natural environment; providing wildlife corridors; reducing noise and air 
pollution; and helping communities adapt to climate change through water and carbon 
management. In urban areas, functions include providing routes (e.g. footpaths and 
cycleways) which link areas of open space within settlements; providing sustainable 
drainage, flood storage and urban cooling; and providing a wide range of 
opportunities for engagement and active citizenship, relaxation and quiet 
contemplation, sport, recreation and children’s play. 

 
6.83 The maintenance and enhancement of Wiltshire’s green infrastructure network will 

be crucial in helping to ensure that the growth set out in this Core Strategy can be 
delivered in a sustainable manner. In particular, the development proposed in this 
strategy will necessitate a particular focus on maintaining and improving green 
infrastructure within the Principal Settlements and Market Towns, particularly along 
the river and canal corridors. Development also offers potential opportunities to 
enhance linkages between the towns and the countryside. Core Policy 52 seeks to 
protect and enhance the green infrastructure network in Wiltshire. 

 
6.84 The Wiltshire Green Infrastructure Strategy will define Wiltshire’s existing green 

infrastructure network , and provide the long term vision, objectives, policy framework, 

165 
 Page 371



and delivery plan for the enhancement of the network. It will also identify the priorities 
for the improvement of the network. The strategy will emphasise the need to maintain 
the integrity of green infrastructure across administrative boundaries. Much of the 
strategy will be delivered through project and partnership working at the local, county 
and sub regional levels. The strategy is currently in preparation and will be delivered 
through a partnership of key stakeholders and individuals (Wiltshire Green 
Infrastructure Partnership). The council will take a key role in the preparation and 
delivery of the strategy, and Core Policy 52 will be delivered in line with the emerging 
strategy. 

 
6.85 A number of key priorities for the enhancement of the strategic green infrastructure 

network in Wiltshire have already been identified, including: 
 

• The delivery of green infrastructure within the Cricklade Country Way, in line 
with the Green Infrastructure Plan for the Cricklade Country Way 

• The continued restoration and enhancement of the canal network in Wiltshire 
• The delivery of green infrastructure in the Cotswold Water Park, through the 

delivery of relevant objectives set out in the Cotswold Water Park Strategic 
Review and Implementation Plan (Master Plan) 

• The delivery of the objectives of the Great Western Community Forest Plan 
• The maintenance and enhancement of existing country parks, and the provision 

of new country parks in strategic locations 
• Improvements to the rights of way network across Wiltshire to maintain access 

to the countryside and improve the quality of routes, through the delivery of 
relevant objectives set out in the Rights of Way Improvement Plan and 

• The development and improvement of sub-regional green corridors, including 
river corridors. 

• The use of SUDS should be encouraged wherever possible, unless this could 
risk groundwater resources through infiltration. 

 
6.86 This list of priorities is not exclusive, and will be refined and extended as appropriate 

through the Wiltshire Green Infrastructure Strategy. 
 
6.87 Core Policy 52 supports the delivery of green infrastructure projects and initiatives. 

The planning and delivery of these projects will need to address any potential 
negative environmental impacts, particularly in relation to disturbance of wildlife, flood 
risk, water quality, landscape character, and tranquillity. 

 
6.88 Development will need to make provision for accessible open spaces (such as parks, 

play areas, sports pitches and allotments) in accordance with the adopted Wiltshire 
Open Space Standards. Four sets of open space standards are currently in 
operation across Wiltshire, with different standards applying in each of the former 
district areas, and these will be used for the purposes of Core Policy 52 until such 
time as new Wiltshire-wide standards are adopted. The Wiltshire-wide standards are 
currently being produced and will be informed by an Open Spaces Study, to be 
completed by 2015, with the new standards adopted as part of the Partial Review of 
the Wiltshire Core Strategy (LDS) in 2016. 

 
6.89 Appropriate long term management of green infrastructure is essential, and 

developers will be required to contribute to this through the provision of measures 
including financial contributions, management schemes and management plans. 

 
6.90 In determining green infrastructure provision for major developments, developers will 

be expected to audit the current provision in and around the development site and 

166 
 Page 372



prepare a statement demonstrating how this will be retained and enhanced as a 
result of the development process. A standardised Green Infrastructure Audit template 
will be developed to assist developers in assessing existing and required provision. It 
may also be appropriate to undertake an audit of green infrastructure when a 
number of smaller developments are planned in a particular area, which could have a 
cumulative impact on the green infrastructure network. In these circumstances the 
need for an audit will be considered on a case-by-case basis. 

 
6.91 Alongside the requirement to provide accessible open spaces, appropriate 

contributions will also be sought towards the delivery of specific green infrastructure 
projects and initiatives, as set out in the Wiltshire Green Infrastructure Strategy. 
Appropriate contributions towards these projects will be determined in line with Core 
Policy 3 (Infrastructure) and the Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

 
 

Core Policy 52 
 
Green infrastructure 
 
Development shall make provision for the retention and enhancement of Wiltshire’s Green 
Infrastructure network, and shall ensure that suitable links to the network are provided 
and maintained. Where development is permitted developers will be required to: 
 

• Retain and enhance existing on site green infrastructure  
• Make provision for accessible open spaces in accordance with the requirements of 

the adopted Wiltshire Open Space Standards 
• Put measures in place to ensure appropriate long-term management of any green 

infrastructure directly related to the development 
• Provide appropriate contributions towards the delivery of the Wiltshire Green 

Infrastructure Strategy and 
• Identify and provide opportunities to enhance and improve linkages between the natural 

and historic landscapes of Wiltshire. 
 
If damage or loss of existing green infrastructure is unavoidable, the creation of new or 
replacement green infrastructure equal to or above its current value and quality, that 
maintains the integrity and functionality of the green infrastructure network, will be required. 
 
Proposals for major development99 should be accompanied by an audit of the existing green 
infrastructure within and around the site and a statement demonstrating how this will be 
retained and enhanced through the development process. 
 
Development will not adversely affect the integrity and value of the green infrastructure 
network, prejudice the delivery of the Wiltshire Green Infrastructure Strategy, or provide 
inadequate green infrastructure mitigation. 
 
Green infrastructure projects and initiatives that contribute to the delivery of a high quality 
and highly valued multi-functional green infrastructure network in accordance with the Wiltshire 
Green Infrastructure Strategy will be supported. Contributions (financial or other) to support 
such projects and initiatives will be required where appropriate from developers. 
 
 
Core Policy 53: Wiltshire’s canals 

99 As defined in The Town and County Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2010 
167 

 

                                                           

Page 373



 
6.92 Canals are an important part of Wiltshire’s green infrastructure and sustainable 

transport network and provide recreational opportunities for boating and walking and 
green corridors for wildlife as well as playing a role in conveying flood water. The canal 
network in Wiltshire includes part of the Kennet and Avon Canal, and parts of the 
partially restored Thames and Severn Canal and Wilts Berks Canal (including the 
north Wilts Branch). When canal restoration is complete, an impressive ‘Wessex 
Ring’ will be formed, comprising the three canal systems, linking to other parts of the 
UK canal network. 

 
6.93 Core Policy 53 supports the restoration and improvement of the historic canal 

network in Wiltshire, which provides considerable opportunities to enhance green 
infrastructure in the area. 

 
 
Wilts and Berks and Thames and Severn Canals 
 
6.94 The historic alignment of the Wilts and Berks Canal runs broadly on a south west to 

north east axis through northern Wiltshire, passing Melksham and Royal Wootton 
Bassett, and includes the North Wilts Branch which runs between Swindon and 
Cricklade. The historic alignment of the Thames and Severn Canal skirts the north 
west boundary of Wiltshire, passing Latton and Marston Meysey. Both historic 
alignments are shown on the policies map. 

 
6.95 The council supports in principle the restoration of the Wilts and Berks and Thames 

and Severn Canals. Restored canals can bring significant benefits in terms of 
attracting visitors to Wiltshire, contributing to the local economy, promoting sustainable 
transport through the provision of walking and cycling routes and providing an important 
element of the strategic green infrastructure network. The restored canal network will 
provide opportunities for standing open water and marginal habitat. 

 
6.96 However, any proposals will need to demonstrate that the potential impacts of 

restoration on the existing wildlife and natural environment have been fully 
considered, both locally and as part of the whole restoration scheme, with an 
overview of the overall balance of positive and negative impacts. Proposals will need 
to demonstrate that adequate facilities for sewage disposal and waste collection will be 
provided. Canal restoration proposals must also have regard to the status and 
objectives of relevant existing waterbodies in the area, as set out in the Severn River 
Basin Management Plan (2009) and the South West River Basin Management Plan 
(2009), which were prepared under the Water Framework Directive. The 
preparation of ‘master plans’ or similar documents will be particularly supported as 
a means of considering the likely overall impacts of the canal restoration schemes, 
maximising potential benefits, and minimising or mitigating any likely negative effects. 
The use of SUDS should be encouraged wherever possible, unless this could risk 
groundwater resources through infiltration. 

 
6.97 The historic alignment of the Wilts and Berks canal through Melksham is no longer 

suitable for reinstatement as a canal, and an alternative route has been identified 
(see Core Policy 16: Melksham Link Project). However, the historic line through 
Melksham can still be followed, and the council will support its identification and 
historical significance by signage where appropriate. Other parts of the original line of 
the Wilts and Berks Canal also have potential for interpretation, particularly the 
junction with the Kennet and Avon Canal at Semington, and the council will support the 
development of a footpath network based on a restored canal towpath linking with 
other appropriate rights of way where the canal has been lost under development. 

168 
 Page 374



 
Kennet and Avon Canal 
 
6.98 The Kennet and Avon Canal is a significant asset within Wiltshire’s sustainable 

transport and green infrastructure network, and the canal’s landscape and natural 
environment will be protected and enhanced through Core Policies 50 (biodiversity 
and geodiversity), 51 (landscape) and 52 (green infrastructure). There are two 
existing policies relating to the Kennet and Avon Canal which will continue to be 
saved until such time as they are replaced by a new core policy addressing the 
strategic needs of the Kennet and Avon canal. The relevant saved policies are as 
follows. 

 
• West Wiltshire Leisure and Recreation DPD: Policy WR2 (Kennet and Avon). 
• Kennet Local Plan: Policy TR2 (facilities for boat users on the Kennet and 

Avon Canal). 
 
6.99 The British Waterways Conservation Plan for the Kennet and Avon Canal (October 

2000) and the Public Transport and Visitor Management Plan for the Kennet and 
Avon Canal (1999) provide non-statutory guidance on the conservation and 
management of the canal, and the provision of facilities for management of visitors to 
the waterway. These documents and any new guidance documents produced by the 
Canal & River Trust will be treated as material considerations when making decisions 
on planning applications relating to the canal. As a statutory consultee, great weight 
will be given to the views of the Canal & River Trust on any planning application 
which has the potential to have direct or indirect effects upon the canal and its users. 

 
Residential moorings 
 
6.100 Residential boats provide a form of housing within Wiltshire and moored boats can be 

considered as an inherent feature of canals. Itinerant boaters are recognised as 
forming part of the travelling community in Wiltshire. Planning applications for 
residential moorings will be considered on their merits, taking into account potential 
impacts on landscape alongside all other relevant planning considerations including 
any Canal & River Trust guidance. A holistic approach to identifying residential moorings 
may be appropriate whereby multiple applications relating to a stretch of canal can be 
considered together. Wiltshire Council will work with the Canal & River Trust to 
positively plan for the strategic long-term needs of the Kennet and Avon Canal and its 
users, including the provision of new moorings and facilities. 

 
 

Core Policy 53 
 
Wiltshire’s canals 
 
The restoration and reconstruction of the Wilts and Berks and Thames and Severn canals as 
navigable waterways is supported in principle. The historic alignments of the Wilts and Berks, 
including the North Wilts Branch, and Thames and Severn canals, as identified on the policies 
map, will be safeguarded with a view to their long-term re-establishment as navigable 
waterways. 
 
These alignments will be safeguarded by: 
 

i. Not permitting development likely to destroy the canal alignment or its associated 
structures, or likely to make restoration more difficult, and 

169 
 Page 375



ii. Ensuring that where the canal is affected by development, the alignment is 
protected or an alternative alignment is provided. 

 
Proposals will be permitted that are designed to develop the canal’s recreational and nature 
conservation potential, in particular, the use of the old line of the canal for walking, cycling 
and interpretation. 
 
Proposals for the reinstatement of canal along these historic alignments or any alternative 
alignments will need to demonstrate that the cultural, historic and natural environment will be 
protected and enhanced, with no overall adverse effect, and that potential impacts on 
ecology, landscape, flood risk, water resources (abstraction) and water quality have been 
fully assessed and taken into account. Proposals for the reinstatement of discrete sections 
of the canal will also need to demonstrate that the potential environmental impacts of the 
restoration project as a whole have been assessed and taken into account. 
 
 
 
 
Core Policy 54: Cotswold Water Park 
 
6.101 The Cotswold Water Park (CWP) is an area of more than 140 lakes set in 40 

square miles of Wiltshire and Gloucestershire, including parts of the Malmesbury and 
Royal Wootton Bassett and Cricklade Community Areas. The lakes have been 
created from decades of sand and gravel extraction. Set to continue for many years, 
this activity will result in the creation of further lakes in the future. This unique 
landscape has evolved in response to a complex interplay of physical and human 
influences, and will continue to change throughout the plan period. The extensive 
network of lakes, rights of way, recreational activities and nature study areas in the 
Cotswold Water Park already provides a significant green infrastructure asset for the 
communities of Wiltshire, Gloucestershire, Oxfordshire and visitors from further afield, 
and could achieve even greater potential. However this will need to be delivered in a 
sustainable manner which addresses the Cotswold Water Park's unique combination 
of land use pressures, environmental and heritage sensitivities, and community 
aspirations for the area. 

 
6.102 Core Policy 54 supports the provision of outdoor or water-based sports, leisure and 

recreation facilities in the Cotswold Water Park area. Proposals for tourist 
accommodation will be assessed against Core Policies 39 (tourist development) and 
40 (hotels, bed and breakfasts, guest houses and conference facilities). 

 
6.103 Outdoor and water -based spor ts , le isure  and recreat ion  developments 

prov ide impor tant  opportunities to contribute to the sustainable growth of the 
Cotswold Water Park and support its communities, helping to achieve the vision set 
out in the Cotswold Water Park Vision and Implementation Plan. Such development 
is vitally important to improve both visitors’ and local residents’ enjoyment of the 
area’s unique characteristics and stimulate the local economy, however this should not 
come at the cost of a loss of public accessibility. 

 
6.104 Development also offers opportunities to enhance the natural environment of the 

area through sensitive and well informed landscape design and management, and 
even where onsite opportunities are limited, developer contributions towards 
landscape and biodiversity programmes within the park can help to deliver such 
gains. Relevant Landscape Character Assessments and Biodiversity Action Plans 

170 
 Page 376



should be consulted and used to inform any such landscape and biodiversity 
enhancement proposals. 

 
6.105 Several settlements within Cotswolds Water Park are of significant heritage value as 

recognised through Conservation Area designations, while all settlements have a 
unique character which contributes to the area’s sense of place. Development could 
potentially impact upon this character through inappropriate design or a loss of 
tranquillity, particularly associated with noisy activities. Such development will need to 
be located, designed and managed sensitively to ensure the unique character and the 
tranquil setting of these settlements is maintained. The area’s valuable built 
heritage also extends well beyond these settlements to include monuments, henges, 
hill forts, roman villas, canals and railways, and while development could potentially 
impact upon these features if not carefully planned, certain development proposals 
will also provide opportunities to improve the enjoyment of such heritage features. 

 
6.106 The unique character of the Cotswold Water Park and its communities could face 

challenges in the future including increased visitor traffic, pressure on utilities capacity 
and increased risk from climate change, particularly flooding. In order to build and 
maintain sustainable and resilient communities there is a need and desire for the 
Cotswold Water Park to be an exemplar of sustainability, and this should be reflected 
in all proposals for sports, leisure and recreation facilities in the area. 

 

Core Policy 54 
 
Cotswold Water Park 
 
In the Cotswold Water Park, proposals for outdoor or water-based sports, leisure and 
recreation based development will be supported where they help transform the area to an 
informal recreation and leisure resource for Wiltshire residents and visitors in line with the key 
objectives of the Cotswold Water Park Vision and Implementation Plan. Proposals for any 
such development must meet the following criteria. 
 

i. Increase or enhance public accessibility and enjoyment of the lakes and countryside.  
ii. Contribute towards the local economy in the Cotswold Water Park. 
iii. Strengthen the local landscape character and engender a sense of place. 
iv. Contribute towards enhancement of biodiversity within the Cotswold Water Park. 
v. Retain the character of individual settlements including the tranquillity of their settings. 
vi. Protect the Cotswold Water Park’s built heritage, and enhance accessibility and 

interpretation of such features where possible. 
vii. Demonstrate high levels of sustainability, particularly including sustainable 

building design, accessibility by sustainable transport modes and sustainable 
drainage systems. 

 
 
 
Core Policy 55: Air quality 
 
6.107 Air quality in Wiltshire is predominantly good with the majority of the county having clean 

unpolluted air. There are however a small number of locations where the combination 
of traffic, road layout and geography has resulted in exceedances of the annual 
average for nitrogen dioxide (NO2) and fine particulates (PM10). 

 
6.108 It is recognized that improving air quality in these specific locations is difficult due to the 

increased use and reliance on private motor vehicles. This strategy seeks to 
171 

 Page 377



contribute to addressing this issue through a multifaceted approach which includes 
locating new development where there is a viable range of transport choices, seeking 
to boost the self containment of settlements to reduce commuter flows and through 
seeking to utilize the benefits from managed development and growth to take the 
opportunities to help address the areas where particular problems occur. This latter 
solution will be delivered through developer contributions. 

 
6.109 In order to help developers and communities overcome this issue the council has 

produced a comprehensive Air Quality Strategy, which is a high level guiding 
document to inform policy and direction across a range of council services with the 
aim to improve air quality. The Air Quality Strategy100 is a key document which 
identifies the importance of good air quality to the people of Wiltshire. It provides a 
focus and mechanism to promote communication and cooperation between the 
council, external organisations and the community to address localised areas of poor air 
quality in the area. It includes a 17 point plan which focuses on strategic actions to 
help deliver improved air quality. The Air Quality Strategy and the 17 point plan are to 
be underpinned by the Council’s emerging Air Quality Action Plan which has been 
designed to assist with the targeted delivery of improvements in the designated Air 
Quality Management Areas. 

 
Air Quality Strategy for Wiltshire, main aim: 
 
‘Wiltshire Council working collaboratively will seek to maintain the good air quality in the 
county and strive to deliver improvements in areas where air quality fails national objectives 
in order to protect public health and the environment’ 
 
6.110 Core Policy 55 below requires that all development which either because of the 

size, nature or location will have the potential to exacerbate known areas of poor air 
quality, is required to overcome this barrier to development by demonstrating the 
measures they will take to help mitigate these impacts. In line with the Air Quality 
Strategy, additional guidance incorporating a developer’s toolkit has been produced 
and consulted upon as a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). This guidance 
document will be published as soon as practicable following the adoption of the Core 
Strategy. Once adopted, the SPD will give positive advice to prospective developers 
on how to address the issue of air quality effectively so their investment can go 
ahead101. Development which could potentially impact upon Natura 2000 sites 
through contributions to aerial deposition e.g. industrial process within 10km of a SAC, 
will require an assessment of the likely impacts in accordance with published 
guidance. Where mitigation is required this may be delivered through a local 
emissions strategy. 

 

Core Policy 55 
 
Air Quality 
 
Development proposals which by virtue of their scale, nature or location are likely to exacerbate 
existing areas of poor air quality, will need to demonstrate that measures can be taken to 
effectively mitigate emission levels in order to protect public health, environmental quality and 
amenity. Mitigation measures should demonstrate how they will make a positive contribution to 
the aims of the Air Quality Strategy for Wiltshire and where relevant, the Wiltshire Air Quality 
Action Plan. Mitigation may include: 
 

100 Air Quality Strategy for Wiltshire 2011-2015 (adopted December 2011). 
101 Air Quality Strategy for Wiltshire, Strategic Action Plan, Action No 3, page 32. 

172 
 

                                                           

Page 378



i. Landscaping, bunding or separation to increase distance from highways and junctions 
ii. Possible traffic management or highway improvements to be agreed with the local 

authority 
iii. Abatement technology and incorporating site layout / separation and other conditions in 

site planning  
iv. Traffic routing, site management, site layout and phasing, and 
v. Where appropriate, contributions will be sought toward the mitigation of the impact a 

development may have on levels of air pollutants. 
 

 
 
Core Policy 56: Contaminated land 
 
6.111 Wiltshire generally has good or excellent land quality but our industrial heritage 

means that there are many sites which have had one or more industrial or commercial 
uses which may have resulted in soil and water contamination that may need to be 
addressed. 

 
6.112 Wiltshire Council adopted its Contaminated Land Strategy in 2011 detailing how it will 

discharge its duties in connection with the Environmental Protection Act 1990 Pt 2(a) 
and is progressively surveying the County for sites that may have been subject to 
historic contaminative uses. The Council maintains a contaminated land register 
associated with this legislation. In line with the Contaminated Land Strategy additional 
guidance has been prepared to assist developers in effectively addressing the issue 
of land contamination as a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) and will be 
published as soon as practicable following the adoption of the Core Strategy. The 
SPD will give positive advice to prospective developers on how to address the issue 
of contaminated land effectively so their investment can go ahead. 

 
6.113 The vast majority of sites which may be subject to contamination are however cleaned 

up as part of the redevelopment process. It is essential to ensure that the 
development of these brownfield sites leaves them safe and suitable for the new use. 

 
6.114 The implementation of satisfactory investigation, risk assessment, remediation and 

validation of these sites is managed through the planning process. 
 
6.115 Achievement of this objective should assist in providing the necessary confidence to 

owners and occupiers of land, after development, about its condition and hence its 
standing in relation to relevant environmental protection regimes including Part IIA of 
the Environmental Protection Act 1990. 

 
6.116 On a precautionary basis, the possibility of contamination should be assumed when 

considering planning applications in relation to all land subject to or adjacent to 
previous industrial use and also where uses are being considered that are particularly 
sensitive to contamination, for example, housing, schools, hospitals and children’s 
play areas. Contamination should also be considered when preparing planning policy 
documents, including neighbourhood plans and masterplans. 

 
6.117 The council has adopted an Inspection Strategy for Contaminated Land102  which 

specifically addresses the approach the council is taking to land covered by the Part IIA 
regime. The principles of risk assessment and site categorisation contained within the 
Inspection Strategy are also useful when considering the re-use of land through the 
planning process. 

102 Wiltshire Council Inspection Strategy for Contaminated Land (2010):www.wiltshire.gov.uk/contaminatedland. 
173 

 

                                                           

Page 379

http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/contaminatedland
http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/contaminatedland


 
6.118 Core Policy 56 requires that all development which either because of its nature or 

location may be on or adjacent to land or water affected by historic contamination 
overcomes this barrier to development by demonstrating the measures that will be 
taken to help mitigate these impacts. The nature and extent of the mitigation 
measures necessary will be site specific and the council’s requirements will be 
proportionate and reasonable. In line with the Inspection Strategy additional guidance 
will be prepared to assist developers in effectively addressing the issue of land 
contamination. 

 
 

Core Policy 56 
 
Contaminated land 
 
Development proposals which are likely to be on or adjacent to land which may have been 
subject to contamination will need to demonstrate that measures can be taken to effectively 
mitigate the impacts of land contamination on public health, environmental quality, the built 
environment and amenity. 
 
Developers will be required to demonstrate that the development site is, or will be, made 
suitable for the proposed final use and will need to provide one or more of the following 
documents. 
 

i. Detailed site history identifying possibly contaminative uses. 
ii. Site characterisation: The nature and extent of any contamination and the hazards 

and risks posed. 
iii. Detailed remediation scheme: Including methodology and quality assurance.  
iv. Methodology to report unexpected contamination. 
v. Methodology to ensure verification of remedial works. 
vi. Details of long term monitoring and maintenance proposals (where necessary). 
 
The need for, type and complexity of reports will depend on the specific site. 

 
 
 
Core Policy 57: Ensuring high quality design and place shaping 

 
6.119 Wiltshire is a diverse county with distinctive characteristics related in a large part to 

its historic environment which includes heritage assets of international, national and local 
significance. Wiltshire has many market towns and villages set in large expanses of 
countryside. Steep hillsides and river valleys also create prominent long views and 
skylines which help to define Wiltshire’s settlements. Historic centres are highly 
valued and form the focus of each town and village. Continued demand for 
housing means Wiltshire’s towns have grown significantly over time. 

 
6.120 The historic environment includes both archaeological and built heritage assets and 

their settings, a large number of conservation areas and historic parks and gardens 
as well as the Stonehenge and Avebury World Heritage Site. It creates visual richness 
and adds value to the built environment and wider countryside. 

 
6.121 Policies addressing the design of new development will play an important role in 

maintaining Wiltshire’s high quality environment. 
174 

 Page 380



 
6.122 Development needs to be carefully planned to ensure that valuable features and 

characteristics are protected and enhanced. The subsequent core policies set out 
how the Core Strategy will ensure that development contributes towards: 

 
• Achieving high quality buildings and spaces that reinforce a sense of identity 
• Well integrated development which makes a positive contribution to the 

character of Wiltshire’s urban and rural environments by complementing 
valuable contextual features and buildings  

• Protection and enhancement of Wiltshire’s heritage assets 
• Ensuring that places with national and international designations receive the 

highest level of protection 
 
Ensuring high quality design and place shaping outcomes 
 
6.123 Good design helps to provide a sense of place, creates or reinforces local 

distinctiveness, promotes community cohesiveness and social well being. Wiltshire 
has a rich built heritage and its vibrant towns and villages are set within large 
expanses of open countryside which is valued for its tranquillity and beauty as well as 
its environmental value. Enhancing the character of Wiltshire’s countryside and 
settlements is of the utmost importance and, in order to do this development must be 
informed by a thorough understanding of the locality and the development site. 

 
6.124 The layout and design of new developments must also be based on a thorough 

understanding of the site itself and its wider context, and seek to maximise the 
benefits of the sites characteristics. This will require careful consideration of the site 
layout. No two sites share the same landscapes, contours, relationship with 
surrounding buildings, street pattern, and features. The proximity of poor quality or 
indistinct development is not a justification for standard or poor design solutions. New 
development should integrate into its surroundings whilst seeking to enhance the 
overall character of the locality. 

 
6.125 Careful consideration of topography can enhance the design of a new development 

in a number of ways including the creation or enhancement views into or within a site, 
creating attractive skylines through the use of building heights in parallel with contours, 
ensuring appropriate drainage arrangements, the retention of established planting 
and trees which can visually enhance a development, ensuring an appropriate 
relationship with the wider landscape, both visually and in terms of activity and the 
creation of wildlife corridors. 

 
6.126 High quality design will be required for all new developments from building extensions 

through to major developments. Innovative designs which help raise the standard of 
design more generally in the area will be encouraged. This policy sets out a range of 
issues which all developers will need to take into account when designing each 
individual scheme. Proposals will need to be accompanied by appropriate information 
to demonstrate compliance with Core Policy 57, including a design and access 
statement when this is required by the Local Validation Checklist103. All proposals 
will need to have regard to relevant supplementary guidance on design, this includes 
Village Design Statements that are up to date and approved by the local authority as 
providing guidance on the implementation of policy Core Policy 57 for a local area. 

 

103 Checklist produced by the Council, which explains what type and level information is required to support different types of 
planning application. See www.wiltshire.gov.uk 

 
175 

 

                                                           

Page 381

http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/


6.127 Density is interlinked with design and it is essential that innovative design solutions are 
encouraged to achieve higher density levels were appropriate although the density of 
development should rightly be a product of a robust site assessment which responds 
positively to Wiltshire’s exceptional environmental quality. 

 
6.128 In demonstrating that proposals will be sympathetic to and conserve historic buildings 

and historic landscapes applicants should have consideration to the requirements of 
Core Policy 58 (ensuring the conservation of the historic environment). 

 
 

Core Policy 57 
 
Ensuring high quality design and place shaping 
 
A high standard of design is required in all new developments, including extensions, 
alterations, and changes of use of existing buildings. Development is expected to create a 
strong sense of place through drawing on the local context and being complimentary to the 
locality. Applications for new development must be accompanied by appropriate information 
to demonstrate how the proposal will make a positive contribution to the character of Wiltshire 
through: 
 

i. Enhancing local distinctiveness by responding to the value of the natural and 
historic environment, relating positively to its landscape setting and the exiting 
pattern of development and responding to local topography by ensuring that 
important views into, within and out of the site are to be retained and enhanced 
 

ii. The retention and enhancement of existing important landscaping and natural 
features, (for example trees, hedges, banks and watercourses), in order to take 
opportunities to enhance biodiversity, create wildlife and recreational corridors, 
effectively integrate the development into its setting and to justify and mitigate 
against any losses that may occur through the development 
 

iii. Responding positively to the existing townscape and landscape features in terms of 
building layouts, built form, height, mass, scale, building line, plot size, elevational 
design, materials streetscape and rooflines to effectively integrate the building into 
its setting 
 

iv. Being sympathetic to and conserving historic buildings and historic landscapes 
 

v. The maximisation of opportunities for sustainable construction techniques, use of 
renewable energy sources and ensuring buildings and spaces are orientated to 
gain maximum benefit from sunlight and passive solar energy, in accordance with 
Core Policy 41 
 

vi. Making efficient use of land whilst taking account of the characteristics of the site 
and the local context to deliver an appropriate development which relates 
effectively to the immediate setting and to the wider character of the area 
 

vii. Having regard to the compatibility of adjoining buildings and uses, the impact on the 
amenities of existing occupants, and ensuring that appropriate levels of amenity 
are achievable within the development itself, including the consideration of privacy, 
overshadowing; vibration; and pollution (such as light intrusion, noise, smoke, 
fumes, effluent, waste or litter) 
 

176 
 Page 382



viii. Incorporating measures to reduce any actual or perceived opportunities for crime or 
antisocial behaviour on the site and in the surrounding area through the creation 
of visually attractive frontages that have windows and doors located to assist in 
the informal surveillance of public and shared areas by occupants of the site 
 

ix. Ensuring that the public realm, including new roads and other rights of way, are 
designed to create places of character which are legible, safe and accessible; in 
accordance with Core Policy 66 – Strategic Transport Network 
 

x. The sensitive design of advertisements and signage, which are appropriate and 
sympathetic to their local setting by means of scale, design, lighting and materials 
 

xi. Taking account of the needs of potential occupants, through planning for diversity 
and adaptability, and considering how buildings and space will be used in the 
immediate and long term future 
 

xii. The use of high standards of building materials, finishes and landscaping, 
including the provision of street furniture and the integration of art and design in 
the public realm 
 

xiii. In the case of major developments, ensuring they are accompanied by a detailed 
design statement and master plan, which is based on an analysis of the local 
context and assessment of constraints and opportunities of the site and is 
informed by a development concept, including clearly stated design principles, 
which will underpin the character of the new place. 
 

xiv. Meet the requirements of Core Policy 61 – Transport and New Development 
 
 
 
 
Core Policy 58: Ensuring the conservation of the historic environment 
 
6.129 Core Policy 58 aims to ensure that Wiltshire’s important monuments, sites and 

landscapes and areas of historic and built heritage significance are protected and 
enhanced in order that they continue to make an important contribution to Wiltshire’s 
environment and quality of life. 

 
6.130 Heritage assets include: 
 

• Listed Buildings 
• Conservation Areas 
• Scheduled Ancient Monuments  
• Registered Parks and Gardens  
• Registered battlefields 
• World Heritage Sites104 
• Non-designated heritage assets such as buildings and archaeological sites of 

regional and local interest 
 
New Within the context of the specific characteristics of Wiltshire, development will be 

required to be sensitive to all heritage assets including: 

104 The policy recognises that the setting of the Bath World Heritage Site may include elements within Wiltshire. Wiltshire 
Council will continue to work with Bath and North East Somerset Council to develop guidance on how the Outstanding 
Universal Value of this World Heritage Site should be sustained. 

177 
 

                                                           

Page 383



 
• The individual and distinctive character and appearance of Wiltshire’s historic 

market towns and villages 
• Archaeological monuments and landscapes 
• The Stonehenge and Avebury World Heritage Site 
• Historic buildings and structures related to the textile industry 
• Historic rural structures including threshing barns, granaries, malt houses, 

dovecotes and stables 
• Ecclesiastical sites including churches, chapels and monuments 
• The historic Great Western Railway and associated structures 
• The historic waterways and associated structures including canals and river 

courses 
• Heritage assets associated with the military 
• The sensitive re-use of redundant and under-used historic buildings and areas 

which are consistent with their conservation especially in relation to the viable 
re-use of heritage assets at risk 

• Opportunities to enhance Wiltshire’s historic public realm by ensuring that all 
development, including transport and infrastructure work, is sensitive to the 
historic environment.  

 
6.131 Designation of a Conservation Area, listed building, or scheduled ancient 

monument does not preclude the possibility of new development and the council is 
committed to working pragmatically with owners to find positive solutions which will 
allow adaptation of such buildings to reflect modern living aspirations. Such alterations 
will only be acceptable where they are consistent with the conservation of a 
heritage asset’s significance. Consequently, it is expected that development will be of 
the highest standard in order to maintain and enhance the quality of the area or 
building, and be sensitive to its character and appearance. In considering applications 
for new development in such areas, the council will seek to ensure that the form, 
scale, design and materials of new buildings are complementary to the historic 
context. 

 
6.132 It is anticipated that additional planning guidance will be developed to aid in the 

application of Core Policy 58. The anticipated Heritage Guidance will provide details 
on heritage issues in Wiltshire; including the endorsement of establishing a new local 
heritage list in line with English Heritage’s Good Practice Guidance (May 2012)105 

 
6.133 Applicants  are  expected  to  take  account  and  adequately  respond,  where  

appropriate,  to conservation area management plans and other guidance produced 
at a national and local level. The preparation of further conservation area 
management plans and other proactive strategies, such as the Salisbury Cathedral 
Conservation Plans produced by the diocese, will be encouraged to support policy 
delivery. 

 
6.134 The Infrastructure Delivery Plan sets out the requirement for additional museum 

storage space for the sustainable preservation of archaeological finds and archives. 
 
6.135  The Council will continue to keep under review Conservation A reas  and where 

appropriate, designate new areas. Appraisals of Conservation Areas will define the 
boundaries and analyse the special architectural and historic interest of the area. A 
component of the Plan’s positive strategy for the conservation of heritage assets at 
risk will include the joint Wiltshire Council/English Heritage Monument Management 
Scheme. 

105 http://www.english-heritage.org.uk/publications/good-practice-local-heritage-listing/ 
178 

 

                                                           

Page 384

http://www.english-heritage.org.uk/publications/good-practice-local-heritage-listing/


 
6.136  The individual area strategies identify specific distinct heritage assets, conservation 

challenges, and where appropriate, specific opportunities. Information in the Area 
Strategies and Development Templates should be supported by mitigation measures 
and information identified in evidence documents such as: The Historic Landscape 
Assessment (January 2012) and Salisbury Historic Environment Assessment (April 
2009). The anticipated Heritage Guidance referred to in paragraph 6.132 above will 
also provide further supporting information. 

 
 

Core Policy 58 
 
Ensuring the conservation of the historic environment 
 
Development should protect, conserve and where possible enhance the historic environment. 
 
Designated heritage assets and their settings will be conserved, and where appropriate 
enhanced in a manner appropriate to their setting, including: 
 

i. Nationally significant archaeological remains  
ii. World Heritage Sites within and adjacent to Wiltshire 
iii. Buildings and structures of special architectural or historic interest  
iv. The special character or appearance of conservation areas 
v. Historic parks and gardens  
vi. Important landscapes, including registered battlefields and townscapes. 

 
Distinctive elements of Wiltshire’s historic environment, including non-designated heritage 
assets, which contribute to a sense of local character and identity  will be conserved, and 
where possible enhanced. The potential contribution of these heritage assets towards wider 
social, cultural, economic and environmental benefits will also be utilised where this can be 
delivered in a sensitive and appropriate manner in accordance with Core Policy 57. 
 
Heritage assets at risk will be monitored and development proposals that improve their 
condition will be encouraged. The advice of statutory and local consultees will be sought in 
consideration of such applications. 
 
 
 
Core Policy 59: The Stonehenge, Avebury and Associated Sites World Heritage Site 
and its setting 
 
6.137 Wiltshire’s World Heritage Site (WHS) is a designated heritage asset of the highest 

international and national significance. The United Kingdom, as a signatory to the 
‘Convention Concerning the Protection of the World Cultural and Natural Heritage’ 
(UNESCO 1972), is obliged to protect, conserve, present and transmit to future 
generations its World Heritage Sites, which because of their exceptional qualities are 
considered to be of Outstanding Universal Value. This obligation should therefore 
be given precedence in decisions concerning development management in the 
WHS. World Heritage Site status offers the potential of considerable social and 
economic gains in areas such as sustainable tourism; however this will require careful 
and sensitive management in order to protect the WHS and sustain its OUV. 

 
6.138 The Stonehenge, Avebury and Associated Sites World Heritage Site was inscribed on 

the UNESCO World Heritage list in 1986 for its OUV. Since that time, a Statement of 

179 
 Page 385



Significance (see Stonehenge Management Plan (2009)106, pp. 26-27) and a 
Statement of OUV107 for the WHS (agreed 2013) have been drawn up. The World 
Heritage Site requires protection and where appropriate enhancement in order to 
sustain its OUV. Not all aspects of the Site contribute to OUV and the UNESCO 
Statements of Significance and Statement of OUV as well as the World Heritage Site 
Plans for Stonehenge and Avebury are a critical resource in reaching decisions 
relating to the significance of its elements, for identification of the attributes of OUV as 
well as other important aspects of the WHS, and for reaching decisions on the effective 
protection and management of the Site. 

 
6.139 In summary, the World Heritage Site is internationally important for its complexes of 

outstanding prehistoric monuments. The two stone circles at Stonehenge and Avebury, 
together with inter-related monuments, and their associated landscapes, demonstrate 
Neolithic and Bronze Age ceremonial and mortuary practices through 2,000 years of 
continuous use and monument building. The excellent survival of monuments provides 
evidence of the creative and technological achievements of the period. Their careful 
design in relation to the astronomical alignments, topography and other monuments 
provides further insight while their continuing prominence today underlines how this 
period of monument building shaped the landscape. The World Heritage Site is a 
landscape without parallel at a national and international level and one of Wiltshire’s 
highest quality environments. 

 
6.140 The setting of the World Heritage Site beyond its designated boundary also requires 

protection as inappropriate development here can have an adverse impact on the 
Site and its attributes of OUV. The setting is the surrounding in which the World 
Heritage Site is experienced. It includes a range of elements such as views and 
historical, landscape and cultural relationships. The setting of the World Heritage 
Site is not precisely defined and will vary depending on the nature and visibility of the 
proposal. A future setting study will provide further information and a preferred 
methodology for the assessment of proposed development for its potential impact on 
the WHS and its attributes of OUV. Light pollution and skyglow which could adversely 
affect the OUV of the site must be adequately addressed through the careful 
management of development. 

 
6.141 The World Heritage Site consists of two areas of approximately 25 square kilometres 

centred on Stonehenge and Avebury. Each area has its own discrete landscape setting. 
Core Policy 59 covers both halves of the World Heritage Site which have similar 
requirements for protection and enhancement. Saved local plan policies (policies 
TR6, TR8 and TR9 of the Kennet Local Plan 2011) and Core Policy 6 (Stonehenge) 
reflect the specific local context, opportunities and challenges for the different halves of 
the World Heritage Site. Additional separate management plans set out strategies and 
actions needed for the successful conservation and management of the site in order 
to sustain its OUV, taking account of and including tourism, farming, nature 
conservation, research, education and the quality of life of the community. These 
management plans are a key material consideration in the planning process, which 
has a major role in their implementation. Indicators to monitor the implementation of 
the actions identified appear in both management plans. 

 
6.142 In considering Core Policy 59 particular reference should be made to the statement 

of OUV for the World Heritage Site and the relevant World Heritage Site 
Management Plan108. Applicants will be required to demonstrate that full account has 

106 Stonehenge Management Plan (2009) http://english-heritage.org.uk/publications/stonehenge-management-plan-2009/ 
107 Statement of Outstanding Universal Value (agreed June 2013) 

http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/artsheritageandlibraries/museumhistoryheritage/worldheritagesite/stonehengeandaveburysouv.htm 
108 http://www.eng-h.gov.uk/archcom/projects/summarys/html98_9/2257aveb.htm 

180 
 

                                                           

Page 386

http://english-heritage.org.uk/publications/stonehenge-management-plan-2009/
http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/artsheritageandlibraries/museumhistoryheritage/worldheritagesite/stonehengeandaveburysouv.htm
http://www.eng-h.gov.uk/archcom/projects/summarys/html98_9/2257aveb.htm


been taken of the impact of the proposals upon the World Heritage Site and its setting 
and that those proposals will have no adverse effect upon the Site and its attributes of 
OUV. Development proposals which fall within the World Heritages Site boundary, or 
potentially impact upon its setting, should convey this accountability principally within 
the design and access statement related to the proposal. 

 
6.143 Due consideration should be given to environmental impact assessment (EIA) 

regulations which list World Heritage Sites as among the ‘sensitive areas’ where 
lower thresholds apply to the assessment of the need for EIA. The recent ICOMOS 
guidance on heritage impact assessments for Cultural World Heritage Properties 
(2010) offers advice on the process of historic impact assessment (HIA) for 
cultural World Heritage Sites which is designed to assess impact on the WHS and 
its attributes of OUV109. 

 
 
6.144 Additional planning guidance will be developed to help ensure the effective 

implementation of Core Policy 59110. Based on the management plans and additional 
studies required, additional guidance will assist in articulating the spatial implications 
of protecting and enhancing the World Heritage Site and its setting in order to sustain 
its OUV both within the World Heritage Site and its setting. This will include 
considering the use of further Article 4 Directions to address permitted development 
rights that may have an adverse effect on the WHS and its attributes of OUV. 

 
 

Core Policy 59 
 
The Stonehenge, Avebury and associated sites World Heritage Site 
 
The Outstanding Universal Value (OUV) of the World Heritage Site will be sustained by: 
 

i. Giving precedence to the protection of the World Heritage Site and its setting 
 

ii. Development not adversely affecting the World Heritage Site and its attributes of OUV. 
This includes the physical fabric, character, appearance, setting or views into or 
out of the World Heritage Site 
 

iii. Seeking opportunities to support and maintain the positive management of the 
World Heritage Site through development that delivers improved conservation, 
presentation and interpretation and reduces the negative impacts of roads, traffic 
and visitor pressure 
 

iv. Requiring developments to demonstrate that full account has been taken of their 
impact upon the World Heritage Site and its setting. Proposals will need to 
demonstrate that the development will have no individual, cumulative or 
consequential adverse effect upon the Site and its OUV. Consideration of 
opportunities for enhancing the World Heritage Site and sustaining its OUV should 
also be demonstrated. This will include proposals for climate change mitigation 
and renewable energy schemes. 

 

http://www.english-heritage.org.uk/daysout/properties/stonehenge/world-heritage-sites/stonehengemanagement-plan. 
109 http://www.international.icomos.org/world_heritage/HIA_20110201.Pdf. 
110 See Statement of Outstanding Universal Value (agreed June 2013) 

.http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/artsheritageandlibraries/museumhistoryheritage/worldheritagesite/stonehengeandaveburysouv.ht
m. 

181 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                     

Page 387

http://www.english-heritage.org.uk/daysout/properties/stonehenge/world-heritage-sites/stonehengemanagement-plan
http://www.international.icomos.org/world_heritage/HIA_20110201.Pdf
http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/artsheritageandlibraries/museumhistoryheritage/worldheritagesite/stonehengeandaveburysouv.htm
http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/artsheritageandlibraries/museumhistoryheritage/worldheritagesite/stonehengeandaveburysouv.htm
http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/artsheritageandlibraries/museumhistoryheritage/worldheritagesite/stonehengeandaveburysouv.htm


 

 

182 
 Page 388



 

Delivering strategic objective 6: to ensure that essential infrastructure is in place 
to support our communities 

 
6.145 This strategy places emphasis on ensuring that essential infrastructure is delivered 

as required by Core Policy 3 in Chapter 4 above. This policy is further supported by the 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan which will be published to accompany the Wiltshire Core 
Strategy. 

 
Core Policy 60: Sustainable transport 
 
Promoting sustainable forms of transport 
 
6.146 Transport features either directly or indirectly in a number of the challenges and 

objectives of the Core Strategy. To help resolve these challenges and achieve the 
objectives, a sustainable transport system needs to be developed for Wiltshire. As 
both the local planning authority and local transport authority, the council will use its 
planning and transport powers to develop, maintain and improve a sustainable 
transport system for Wiltshire. The way in which this will be achieved is set out in the 
remaining policies in this chapter in association with other relevant plans including the 
community plan, local development framework and local transport plan. 

 
 

Core Policy 60 
 
Sustainable Transport 
 
The council will use its planning and transport powers to help reduce the need to travel 
particularly by private car, and support and encourage the sustainable, safe and efficient 
movement of people and goods within and through Wiltshire. 
 
This will be achieved by:  
 

• Planning developments in accessible locations 
 

• Promoting sustainable transport alternatives to the use of the private car 
 

• Maintaining and selectively improving the local transport network in accordance with 
its functional importance and in partnership with other transport planning bodies, 
service providers and the business community 
 

• Promoting appropriate demand management measures 
 

• Influencing the routing of freight within and through the county 
 

• Assessing and where necessary mitigating the impact of developments on transport 
users, local communities and the environment.  

 

 
 
 
 

183 
 Page 389



 
 
 
 
 
Core Policy 61: Transport and New Development 
 
Transport and New Development 
 
6.147 New development can potentially have both a positive and negative impact on 

transport. It is for this reason that the transport impacts of new developments need to 
be assessed in accordance with national guidance111. 

 
6.148 Planning developments in locations that are or can be made accessible means that 

communities can access their needs (e.g. shops, schools and employment) easily and 
without always needing a car. Providing good accessibility can also change people’s 
travel behaviour towards more sustainable transport alternatives such as walking, 
cycling and public transport. 

 
 

6.149 In the past, however, some new developments have not always catered (e.g. by 
having layouts which are bus friendly) or provided (e.g. by having convenient cycle 
storage) for the needs of sustainable transport users or operators. This is no longer 
acceptable. Therefore, as part of a required transport assessment, it must be 
demonstrated that the needs of all transport users (where relevant) have been 
considered in accordance with the identified hierarchy. 

 
6.150 A key consideration is to ensure that development proposals achieve a suitable 

connection to the highway that is safe for all road users. 
 
6.151 In these times of ‘just in time’ deliveries, the failure to provide adequate 

loading/unloading facilities in developments can lead to congestion, safety, community 
and environmental impacts as Heavy Goods Vehicles (HGVs) seek to park on the 
highway or elsewhere while waiting for allocated delivery time slots. 

 
 
Core Policy 61 
 
Transport and New Development 
 
New development should be located and designed to reduce the need to travel particularly by 
private car, and to encourage the use of sustainable transport alternatives. 
 
As part of a required transport assessment, the following must be demonstrated: 
 

i. That consideration has been given to the needs of all transport users (where relevant) 
according to the following hierarchy. 
 
a. Visually impaired and other disabled people 
b. Pedestrians 
c. Cyclists. 
d. Public transport.  
e. Goods vehicles.  

111 Guidance on Transport Assessments, March 2007, DCLG/DfT. 
184 

 

                                                           

Page 390



f. Powered two-wheelers.  
g. Private cars.  

 
ii. That the proposal is capable of being served by safe access to the highway network 

 
iii. That fit for purpose and safe loading/unloading facilities can be provided where 

these are required as part of the normal functioning of the development. 
 
Where appropriate, contributions will be sought towards sustainable transport improvements 
and travel plans will be required to encourage the use of sustainable transport alternatives and 
more sustainable freight movements. 
 
 
 
 

Core Policy 62: Development impacts on the transport network 
 
Development impacts on the transport network 
 
6.152 All new development is required to assess the transport issues related to that 

development. Where a development will have significant transport implications, the 
council will require a transport assessment to be prepared and submitted alongside a 
planning application in accordance with national guidance. 

 
6.153 Developers will be required to make a contribution towards sustainable transport 

improvements as part of their development proposal. The required transport 
assessment will help determine what is needed in each case. 

 
6.154 Developers will also be required to submit a travel plan with planning applications 

which are likely to have significant transport implications. The travel plan should aim to 
promote more sustainable forms of transport including, where relevant, more 
sustainable freight delivery and routing arrangements. The detailed requirements for 
travel plans will be set out in an additional planning guidance. 

 
6.155 Outside of built-up areas, proposals that involve a new direct access onto the 

national primary route network will not be permitted in order to assist with traffic flow 
and reduce risk. Exceptions will only be made where the type of development is such 
that it requires a primary route location, such as a roadside service facility.  For the 
avoidance of doubt (and to accord with the Department for Transport definitions) ‘built 
up roads’ relate to roads with speed limits (ignoring temporary limits) of 40mph or 
less, and ‘over-riding need’ would be typified by the provision of service areas, 
facilities for the travelling public, maintenance compounds and exceptionally, other 
major transport interchanges. 

 
 
Core Policy 62 
 
Development Impacts on the Transport Network 
 
Developments should provide appropriate mitigating measures to offset any adverse impacts 
on the transport network at both the construction and operational stages. 
 
Proposals for new development should not be accessed directly from the national primary route 
network outside built-up areas, unless an over-riding need can be demonstrated. 
 

185 
 Page 391



 
 
Core Policy 63: Transport strategies 
 
Transport Strategies 
 
6.156 Core Policy 1 focuses development growth primarily in the principle settlements of 

Chippenham, Trowbridge and Salisbury. To support their enhanced strategic 
employment and service roles, and better self containment, packages of integrated 
transport measures will be developed and implemented. 

 
6.157 The Wiltshire Community Plan sets out that the council and its partners need to: 
 
 
“Provide a safer and more integrated transport system that achieves a major shift to 
sustainable transport, including walking, cycling, and the use of bus and rail networks, 
especially in the larger settlements of Trowbridge, Chippenham and Salisbury, and along the 
main commuting corridors”. 
 

 
6.158 Given this challenging objective, as part of each transport strategy, the council will need 

to consider a range of measures based on a ‘ladder of interventions’ that seek to ‘nudge’ 
people and businesses to make more sustainable transport choices. 

 
New The emerging strategies will have full regard for potential impacts upon the Natura 

2000 network when assessing potential transport options.  Transport options that are 
likely to have an unavoidable adverse effect on a Natura 2000 site will not be taken 
forward. 

 

Core Policy 63 
 
Transport Strategies 
 
Packages of integrated transport measures will be identified in Chippenham, Trowbridge and 
Salisbury to help facilitate sustainable development growth. The packages will seek to 
achieve a major shift to sustainable transport by helping to reduce reliance on the private car 
and by improving sustainable transport alternatives. 
 
Each of the packages will consider the implementation of the following. 
 

i. New and improved networks of routes for pedestrians and cyclists.  
ii. Enhanced public transport services and facilities. 
iii. Traffic management measures. 
iv. Demand management measures.  
v. Selective road improvements. 
vi. Interchange enhancements that are safe and accessible by all.  
vii. Smarter choices measures. 

 
These will be supported and implemented through developer contributions, LTP funding 
and joint working with partners and others. 
 
Transport strategies may also be developed for other urban and rural areas in the Plan area.  
 
The emerging strategies will have full regard for potential impacts upon the Natura 2000 
network when assessing potential transport options.  Transport options that are likely to have 
an unavoidable adverse effect on a Natura 2000 site will not be taken forward. 

186 
 Page 392



 
 
 
Core Policy 64: Demand management 
 
Demand Management 
 
6.159 Demand management forms an important and essential part of an integrated 

approach to helping reduce reliance on the private car and encouraging the use of 
more sustainable alternatives. 

 
6.160 A parking study, commissioned by the council in January 2010, included a 

comprehensive review of parking standards, charges and policy within both the plan 
area and neighbouring areas. The resulting LTP3 Car Parking Strategy was adopted 
by the council in February 2011 and includes the following policies. 

 
• PS1 – Overall management. 
• PS2 – Managing the council’s parking stock.  
• PS3 – Parking charges. 
• PS4 – Private non-residential parking standards. 
• PS5 – Managing publicly available private non-residential parking.  
• PS6 – Residential parking standards. 
• PS7 – Parking enforcement. 
• PS8 – Residents’ parking zones.  
• PS9 – Visitor attraction parking.  
• PS10 – Park and ride. 
• PS11 – Parking at railway stations.  
• PS12 – Improving access and use.  
• PS13 - Workplace parking levy.  
• PS14 – Residents’ overspill parking. 

 
6.161 Along with parking, traffic management measures are a key component of any 

integrated approach to transport planning. They can enhance the management and 
efficiency of the highway network and encourage the use of sustainable transport 
modes through a variety of measures such as the reallocation of road space, speed 
controls, pedestrian crossing facilities and intelligent transport systems. The 
implementation of any traffic management scheme will only be made after its effect on 
the surrounding highway network has been considered. 

 
6.162 Charging measures, such as road user charging and the workplace levy, may 

become important tools in reducing traffic growth and encouraging the use of 
sustainable transport modes over the Plan period. However, given the predominantly 
rural nature of Wiltshire, it is unlikely that these types of measures would have a 
significant impact on traffic levels outside of the principal settlement areas. 

 
 

Core Policy 64 
 
Demand Management 
 
Demand management measures will be promoted where appropriate to reduce reliance on 
the car and to encourage the use of sustainable transport alternatives. These measures 
include: 
 

187 
 Page 393



i. Car parking management - efficiently and effectively managing the car parking stock 
through the implementation of appropriate supply, maintenance, charging and 
enforcement measures. These measures include: 
 
a. public car parking charges – parking charges will be set taking account of a 

number of factors including the service role and strength of the local economy, 
the utilisation of existing parking spaces, the availability of sustainable transport 
modes and parking charges in neighbouring areas 

b. Private non-residential parking standards – the provision of parking associated 
with new private non-residential development will be limited to maximum 
parking standards (except for disabled parking spaces). These maximum 
standards will be reduced to reflect local circumstances and the relative 
accessibility by sustainable transport modes in accordance with an 
accessibility framework 

c. Managing publicly available private non-residential parking – there will be a 
presumption that  any  planning  application  which  includes  provision  for  
publicly  available  private non-residential parking will be required to provide an 
accompanying car park management plan and, subject to a case-by-case 
analysis, to implement parking restrictions and charges consistent with those of 
council run car parks in the local area 

d. Residential parking standards – the provision of car parking associated with well 
designed new residential development will be based on minimum parking 
standards. In determining the appropriate mix of parking types, the 
presumption will be that unallocated communal parking will be included in the 
majority of new residential development. Reduced residential parking 
requirements will be considered where there are significant urban design or 
heritage issues, where parking demand is likely to be low or where any 
parking overspill can be controlled. 

 
ii. Traffic management measures - traffic management measures will be developed to 

promote sustainable transport alternatives, reduce reliance on the car, lower the 
risk of accidents and improve the environment 
 

iii. Charging measures – opportunities for charging measures, such as road user 
charging and the workplace levy, will be kept under review. 
 

iv. Smarter choices measures – appropriate smarter choices measures (e.g. travel 
plans, personalised travel planning, car sharing and information and marketing 
campaigns) will be developed to influence people’s travel behaviour towards more 
sustainable travel options.  

 
 

 
 
Core Policy 65: Movement of goods 
 
Movement of Goods 
 
6.163 The way in which an efficient and flexible freight distribution system supports 

economic vibrancy and growth cannot be at the expense of local communities or 
the environment. The council recognises this and takes seriously the need to 
achieve a more sustainable distribution of freight that balances the needs of the 
economy, local communities and the environment.  As part of this approach, realistic 
proposals (i.e. proposals where the need for intervention has been established and 
which are feasible, affordable, financially sound and publically acceptable) for 

188 
 Page 394



intermodal and other freight terminals will be supported and protected from 
inappropriate development.  Further details of the Council’s approach to freight 
management are contained in the Wiltshire Local Transport Plan 2011 – 2026 Freight 
Strategy.  

 
 
Core Policy 65 
 
Movement of Goods 
 
The council and its partners will seek to achieve a sustainable freight distribution system which 
makes the most efficient use of road, rail and water networks. In particular: 
 

i. Developments which generate large volumes of freight traffic or involve the movement 
of bulk materials should make use of rail or water transport for freight movements 
wherever practical 
 

ii. The provision of intermodal and other rail freight terminals in suitable areas will be 
supported and land required for realistically deliverable proposals will be 
protected from inappropriate development  
 

iii. Overnight lorry parking should be provided in the vicinity of the advisory freight 
network, either where demand can be demonstrated or to alleviate nuisance 
caused in local communities 
 

iv. Where carriage of freight by rail and water is not realistic, encouragement will be 
given for Heavy Goods Vehicles (HGVs) traffic to use those roads where a 
minimum of community and environmental impacts will occur, principally the 
advisory freight network.  Where problems caused by HGVs making unnecessary 
and undesirable use of routes are identified (other than on advisory freight 
routes), freight management processes will be employed. 

 
  
 
Core Policy 66: Strategic transport network 
 
Strategic Transport Network 
 
6.164 The function of the strategic transport network is primarily to cater for the efficient 

movement of inter-urban and long-distance trips. In doing so, the strategic transport 
network can support the vision and objectives of the Core Strategy. 

 
6.165 The A350 corridor links five major towns in the west of the Plan Area including 

the principal settlements of Chippenham and Trowbridge. The corridor is made up of 
the A350 national primary route between the A303 and M4, and the rail line between 
Warminster and Chippenham. 

 
 

6.166 A number of sections of the A350 primary route carry the highest volume of traffic and 
HGV movements on the county's non-trunk road primary routes. Because of its 
strategic importance, and the locally significant traffic growth that has occurred in the 
last ten years, the route will be selectively improved to maintain and enhance journey 
time reliability. The proposed improvements to the A350 primary route, including 
those at Yarnbrook/West Ashton where journey times are unreliable, will provide 

189 
 Page 395



significant relief and environmental benefits, particularly for local residents, and the 
improved standard of provision of this road will aid the employment growth at 
Chippenham, Melksham, Trowbridge, Westbury and Warminster. 

 
6.167 Road  improvements  on  non-trunk  road  national  primary  routes  will  be  restricted  

to  single carriageway enhancements to achieve positive road safety and 
environmental benefits, unless there is a need to provide continuity with existing 
standards and this can be achieved without unacceptable impacts on the natural 
environment. 

 
6.168 Work will be undertaken, in conjunction with the Department for Transport, train operating 

companies and other agencies, to support the opening and improvement of local rail 
stations and the provision of additional rail services where these facilitate short 
distance passenger journeys such as those wholly within Wiltshire or to destinations 
in adjacent areas. Where appropriate, the council will consider financially supporting 
such initiatives. Subject to the provision of suitable stopping train services, priority will 
be given to new stations at Corsham and Royal Wootton Bassett  an improved 
station at Melksham, and an additional platform at Westbury station. Developments 
that would prevent realistic rail proposals such as these would be refused planning 
permission. 

 
New Improvements to the A350 at Yarnbrook / West Ashton will be informed by detailed 

bat survey information on Annex II species. The design and layout of any such 
improvements will incorporate sufficient mitigation measures to ensure that important 
commuting routes for Annex II species are protected. 

 
New The strategic transport network is made up of the following: 
 

• The national primary route network (including the strategic road network)   
- Strategic Road Network – M4, A303, A36, A419 
- Primary Route Network – A4 (west of Chippenham), A30 (St Thomas’s 

Bridge to Salisbury), A338 (south of Burbage), A346 (M4 junction to 
Burbage) A350, A354, A361 (west of Semington), A429. 

 
• The strategic advisory freight route network – M4, A303 A350, A36, A419, 

A34 (east of Wiltshire) 
 

• The strategic bus network: services linking the towns and larger villages with 
each other and with higher order centres, or providing them with access to the 
rail network if they do not have a rail station. 
 

• The rail network: 
- Berks & Hants Line (London – South West England via Westbury) 
- Greater Western Main Line (London – Bristol / South Wales)  
- Heart of Wessex Line (Bristol to Weymouth) 
- Waterloo to Exeter Line 
- Wessex Main Line (Cardiff to Portsmouth) 
- Westbury – Swindon line (via Melksham) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

190 
 Page 396



Core Policy 66 
 
Strategic Transport Network 
 
Work will be undertaken in conjunction with the Highways Agency, Network Rail, transport 
operators, neighbouring authorities and other agencies, that will seek to develop and improve 
the strategic transport network to support the objectives and policies in the Core Strategy 
and Local Transport Plan. 
 
The strategic transport network is shown on the key diagram and includes: 
 

1) The national primary route network (including the strategic road network) 
 

2) The strategic advisory freight route network 
 

3) The rail network 
 

4) The strategic bus network112. 
 
In particular, the strategic transport network along the A350 corridor will be maintained, 
managed and selectively improved to support development growth at Chippenham, 
Melksham, Trowbridge, Westbury and Warminster. 
 
The following improvements to enhance the strategic network will be progressed. 
 

i.  The A350 national primary route at Yarnbrook/West Ashton will be improved. The 
improvement works necessary will be identified through further study work, 
including detailed bat survey information on Annex II species. The design and 
layout of any such improvements will incorporate sufficient mitigation measures to 
ensure that important commuting routes for Annex II species are protected. 
 

ii. The development and/or improvement of the following railway stations will be 
promoted and encouraged. 
 
a. Corsham railway station.  
b. Melksham railway station.  
c. Royal Wootton Bassett railway station.  
d. Westbury railway station 

 
The land required for these and other realistic proposals on the strategic transport network 
which support the objectives and policies in the Core Strategy will be protected from 
inappropriate development.  Other potential rail improvements will be considered in 
association with relevant partners.  Any proposals which are likely to have an unavoidable 
adverse effect on a Natura 2000 site will not be taken forward  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

112 The bus network is not shown on the key diagram. 
191 

 

                                                           

Page 397



Core Policy 67: Flood risk  
 
Flood Risk  
 
6.169 The Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) demonstrates that 

there is sufficient land available in Flood Zone 1, the zone of least risk, to meet the 
proposed housing requirement of 42,000 new homes for the area. The strategy 
therefore favours housing development in Flood Zone 1 over areas of higher risk as 
identified by the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA).  

 
6.170  Proposals put forward in areas of higher risk (Flood Zones 2 and 3) will need to be 

supported by clear evidence that no lower risk alternative sites are available. The 
findings of the SHLAA will carry considerable weight when testing the suitability of 
proposals put forward in higher risk areas.  

 
6.171 The Core Strategy supports a sustainable approach to surface water drainage, and 

development will be expected to incorporate Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) 
such as rainwater harvesting, green roofs, permeable paving, and ponds, wetlands 
and swales, wherever possible. The provision of green infrastructure, including 
woodland, should also be considered as a measure to reduce surface water run-off. 
Prospective developers will be expected to follow the ‘surface water management 
train’ approach recommended by the Environment Agency (see Sustainable Drainage 
Systems: an introduction, published by the Environment Agency). This involves a 
three-step process, considering first reducing the quantity of run-off, then slowing 
velocity of run-off to allow settlement filtering and infiltration, and finally providing 
passive treatment to collected surface water before discharge into groundwater or to 
a watercourse. It is considered that all developments will be able to incorporate 
measures to reduce the quantity of run-off, but site specific geological or soil 
conditions may mean that measures to reduce run-off velocity and provide passive 
treatment would not be appropriate. Where this is the case, proposals will be 
expected to demonstrate why the use of such measures is not appropriate on the site 
in question. 

6.172 In addition to the requirement for development to provide SuDS, any opportunities to 
reinstate or create additional natural, functional floodplain through the development 
process will be encouraged. 

 
Core Policy 67  
 
Flood Risk  
 
Development proposed in Flood Zones 2 and 3 as identified within the Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment will need to refer to the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment when 
providing evidence to the local planning authority in order to apply the Sequential Test in line 
with the requirements of national policy and established best practice.  
All new development will include measures to reduce the rate of rainwater run-off and 
improve rainwater infiltration to soil and ground (sustainable urban drainage) unless site or 
environmental conditions make these measures unsuitable.  
 
 
 
Core Policy 68: Water resources  
 

192 
 Page 398



Water Resources  
 
6.173  The appropriate management of water resources is vital to ensuring that water 

quantity and quality of water resources are maintained and improved throughout 
Wiltshire. Three River Basin Management Plans have been prepared to meet the 
requirements of the Water Framework Directive for Wiltshire and surrounding areas, 
namely the Severn, South West and Thames River Basin Management Plans.  In 
addition, a number of Catchment Management Plans are currently in preparation and 
will provide relevant targets and actions at a local level. 

 
6.174 Catchment Abstraction Management Strategies indicate that many of Wiltshire’s 

rivers are over abstracted or over licensed (particularly the Hampshire Avon and 
Upper Kennet), putting stresses on the natural environment of these rivers that are 
likely to be exacerbated in the future due to climate change. It is therefore important 
that new development uses water efficiently to limit these environmental stresses. 
The Code for Sustainable Homes provides water efficiency standards for new homes 
that are already widely applied, and Core Policy 41 (presented earlier in the 
document) sets levels of the code to be met by new homes, while Core Policy 68 
requires that water efficiency measures are also incorporated within non-residential 
development. In addition to these requirements, the council will maintain dialogue 
with infrastructure providers and neighbouring planning authorities to ensure an 
overall improvement to critical water resources, and to ensure that development 
proposals can be serviced without increasing the pressure on existing natural 
systems or prejudicing the delivery of Water Framework Directive targets. The 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan will highlight and address issues relating to water 
provision.  

 
6.175 Several settlements within Wiltshire and our surrounding counties rely on our 

significant groundwater resources for an adequate supply of fresh, clean drinking 
water. The EA has identified and mapped a number of these resources according to 
their significance and vulnerability to pollutants, with categories including Source 
Protection Zones (1-3), Safeguard Zones and Water Protection Zones. The EA 
advocates a risk based approach to protection of these groundwater resources, as 
set out in the document ‘Groundwater Protection: Policy and Practice’, and planning 
should aim to reinforce the application of this approach. Most potential impacts upon 
groundwater resources can be avoided or mitigated through appropriate land 
management practices and buffer strips.  

 
Core Policy 68 
  
Water Resources  
 
Development must not prejudice the delivery of the actions and targets of the relevant River 
Basin or Catchment Management Plan, and should contribute towards their delivery where 
possible.  
 
Non-residential development will be required to incorporate water efficiency measures. 
Developers will be expected to submit details of how water efficiency has been taken into 
account during the design of proposals.  
 

193 
 Page 399



Development proposals within a Source Protection Zone, Safeguard Zone or Water 
Protection Zone must assess any risk to groundwater resources, and groundwater quality 
and demonstrate that these would be protected throughout the construction and operational 
phases of development.  
 

 
 
Core Policy 69: Protection of the River Avon SAC 
 
Protection of the River Avon SAC 
 
6.176 The Hampshire Avon is an internationally important chalk river which has been 

designated as a Special Area of Conservation (SAC) for its sensitive habitats and 
populations of fish and molluscs. The catchment covers over half the county and the 
river and its tributaries flow through many of Wiltshire’s towns and villages. 
Development within the catchment has the potential to have a detrimental effect upon 
its qualifying features through direct damage, sedimentation, pollution, disturbance, or 
changes to its hydrological regime. Most of these impacts can be avoided or 
mitigated through the use of buffer zones, access management, habitat management 
and construction method statements, and Wiltshire Council has developed a standard 
procedure for dealing with most of these issues in association with the River Avon 
Planning Forum. 

 
6.177 Currently, phosphate concentrations exceed the appropriate targets required in the 

Conservation Objectives for the River Avon SAC over a number of reaches, and the 
HRA of the core strategy (and that of the RSS) has highlighted the potential for likely 
significant effects upon the River Avon SAC through elevated phosphate levels from 
additional sewage discharges in the catchment. Whilst significant improvements 
have recently been made to a number of Sewage Treatment Works (STWs), in 
parts of the catchment sewage discharges remain a significant source of phosphorus 
to the River Avon and these improvements will not be sufficient on their own to achieve 
full compliance with SAC water quality targets for all STWs. 

 
6.178 To ensure compliance with the requirements of the Habitats Regulations and Water 

Framework Directive, new development around the River Avon SAC catchment must 
not (alone or in combination) result in non compliance with SAC water quality targets or 
compound existing problems of target exceedance in those parts of the catchment 
already failing SAC standards. Furthermore, new development must not prejudice 
achievement of conservation objectives for the SAC over the long term. Compliance 
with the appropriate targets will generally be attained through the Environmental 
Permitting regime, however where this is not possible, compliance may be achieved 
through the implementation of a long term Nutrient Management Plan (NMP). To this 
end, a NMP is being developed to provide an agreed strategy for reducing key 
pollution sources across the Avon. 

 
6.179 Developer led measures or financial contributions to help implement the NMP could 

be secured through Section 106 or CIL contributions for implementing the relevant 
NMP, or through on or near site measures to be agreed by the LPA (in consultation 
with the EA and local utility providers as necessary). The NMP will be used to calculate 
reasonable and proportionate developer contributions and will clearly set out how these 
will be spent to deliver the required level of long-term P reduction across the 
catchment. An important principle is that developers are only required to offset the P 
arising from proposed new development and contributions would not be used to 
reduce historic pollution. Where development would discharge to an existing 

194 
 Page 400



environmental permit which the EA has confirmed as being Habitats Regulations 
compliant without the need for phosphate offsetting, no contribution or mitigation 
measures would be necessary. 

 
 

Core Policy 69 
 
Protection of the River Avon SAC 
 
In order to avoid and reduce potential environmental effects on the River Avon SAC, 
development will need to incorporate measures during construction and operation to avoid 
and prevent pollution and mitigate potential disturbance effects; appropriate measures may 
include consideration of suitable buffer zones along watercourses, habitat enhancements 
and river access management measures. All development within 20m of the river banks 
should submit a Construction Management Plan to the Local Planning Authority to ensure 
measures proposed during construction are satisfactory. 
 
Where additional sewage discharges to a STW cannot be accommodated without measures 
to offset phosphate loading, development will be required to undertake proportionate 
measures (which may include contributions towards those measures identified in the Nutrient 
Management Plan) to demonstrate that the proposals would have no adverse effects upon 
the SAC. 
 
 

195 
 Page 401



 

7 Monitoring and review 
 
7.1 The Core Strategy is designed to be flexible and contain appropriate levels of 

contingency, so that it can effectively respond to events if necessary. However, it 
will be essential to monitor the effectiveness of the strategy, so that action can be 
taken to address any issues which may arise. A key example of this is that the strategy 
enables local communities to decide where development may be most appropriate 
through the preparation of community-led planning documents such as 
neighbourhood plans. However, if neighbourhood plans do not come forward then 
it may be necessary to identify further sites through a Site Allocations Development 
Plan Document, in order to ensure that sufficient jobs and homes are delivered to 
meet Wiltshire’s needs. 

 
Wiltshire Monitoring Framework 
 
7.2 The Wiltshire Monitoring Framework has been published alongside the Core Strategy, 

and will be used to check on the effectiveness of the Core Policies and whether they are 
delivering sustainable development. The Monitoring Framework will be used to ask 
whether the policy is working, whether it is delivering the underlying objectives of the 
policy, and what the significant effects of this are. It sets out objectives and targets for 
each policy, and identifies the indicators which will be used to assess progress 
against these. The Wiltshire Monitoring Framework will ensure that the Core Strategy 
is steered by a continuous process of ‘plan, monitor, manage’. 

 
Annual Monitoring Report 
 
7.3 An annual report will be prepared to analyse the impacts of the Core Policies, and 

assess progress against the targets identified in the Wiltshire Monitoring Framework. 
This Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) will include monitoring of the Core Policies and 
also information relating to the Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) and the Sustainability 
Appraisal (SA). Actions required to address policy performance against the Strategic 
Objectives will then be considered.  

 
7.4 The AMR will include the following: 
 

• Assessment of efficacy of policy using output, significant effect and contextual 
indicators  

• Consideration of significant and unforeseen effects, using indicators defined in 
the SA Report, providing a picture of how the sustainability criteria of the area 
are evolving 

• Consideration of infrastructure delivery, including analysis of Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and Section 106 receipts 

• Recommendations for policy review and mitigation of significant effects if 
required in response to the policy, SA and IDP analyses. 

 

196 
 Page 402



 

8 Glossary and common acronyms 
 
Glossary 
 
Adjacent to Settlements A location which forms part of the contiguous 

urban edge of the settlement and is not always 
restricted to land adjacent to the ‘limits of 
development’ identified on the proposals map 
referred to in Core Policy 2. 
 

Amenity Greenspace Including informal recreation spaces, 
greenspaces in and around housing, domestic 
gardens and village greens. 
 

Ancient Woodland (AW) Land that has had continuous woodland cover 
since 1600AD as designated by Natural England. 
 

Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) A report to assess the implementation of the 
Local Development Scheme and the extent to 
which policies in local development documents 
are being achieved, as required by the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act Order 2004. 
 

Area Action Plan (AAP) A Development Plan Document covering a specific 
area focusing on the implementation of policies for 
key areas of opportunity, change or conservation. 
 

Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
(AONB) 

Area of countryside designated for its nationally 
important landscapes under the National Parks 
and Access to the Countryside Act 1949 and the 
Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 by 
Natural England and Approved by the Secretary 
of State.  
 

Building for Life assessments (BFL) Measures the design quality of new housing 
developments. 
 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CiL) A proposed levy, which can be charged by local 
authorities, on most types of new development in 
their area. CIL charges will be based on simple 
formulae which relate to the size and character of 
the development. 
 

Community Services Local services and facilities are those that benefit 
the community such as local shops, meeting 
places, sports venues, cultural buildings, public 
houses and places of worship. 
 

Community Strategy  A strategy prepared by a local authority to improve 
local quality of life and aspirations, under the 
Local Government Act 2000. 
 

197 
 Page 403



Contextual Indicator Describes the wider social, environmental and 
economic background in which the Local 
Development Framework operates 
 

Core Strategy A Development Plan Document setting out the 
spatial vision and strategic objectives of the 
planning framework for an area, having regard to 
the Community Strategy. 
 

Department for Communities and Local 
Government (DCLG) 

The government department responsible for 
planning policy. 
 

Development Plan  Consists of the Regional Spatial Strategy and 
Development Plan Documents. 
 

Development Plan Document (DPD) Outlines the key development goals of the Local 
Development Framework.  
 

Environment Agency  The Environment agency in England is 
responsible for regulating major industry and 
waste, treatment of contaminated land, water 
quality and resources, fisheries, inland river, 
estuary and harbour navigations and 
conservation and ecology.  The Environment 
Agency is also responsible for managing the risk 
of flooding from main rivers, reservoirs, estuaries 
and the sea. 
 

Evidence Base Information in support of local development 
documents. 
 

Examination in Public (EiP) An independent examination of draft plans 
 

Green Infrastructure Green infrastructure is a descriptive term used to 
characterise spaces such as parks and gardens 
(urban and country parks, formal gardens); 
amenity green space (informal and recreation 
and sports spaces, domestic gardens, village 
greens, green roofs); urban green spaces (urban 
commons, waste land and disturbed ground); 
woodland, downland and meadows, wetlands, 
open and running water, quarries; green 
corridors, cycling routes, pedestrian paths, and 
rights of way; allotments, cemeteries, and 
churchyards. It provides socio-economic and 
cultural benefits which underpin individual and 
community health and wellbeing. These include: 
conserving and enhancing the natural 
environment: providing wildlife corridors; reducing 
noise and air pollution; and helping communities 
adapt to changing climate through water and 
carbon management. In urban areas, functions 
include providing routes (e.g. footpaths and 
cycleways) which link areas of open space within 
settlements; providing sustainable drainage, flood 

198 
 Page 404



storage and urban cooling; and providing a wide 
range of opportunities for engagement and active 
citizenship, relaxation and quiet contemplation, 
sport, recreation and children’s play. 
 
 

Greenspace  Includes both Amenity and Natural Greenspace 
 

Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation 
Assessment (GTAA) 

An assessment of the accommodation needs of 
gypsies and travellers. 
 

Incubator / Start Up Workspaces  Business incubators aim to nurture new and 
developing businesses with growth potential 
through their formative stages. They provide a full 
range of supportive services including. Start-up 
business space with on-site business support, 
networking space and meeting rooms. Start-up 
companies or individual entrepreneurs have to 
apply for admission, and may have to meet a 
range of requirements specified by the provider. 
 

Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD)  An indicative measure of deprivation for small 
areas across England. 
 

Lifetime Homes Standard  The Lifetime Homes standard is a set of 16 
design criteria that provide a model for building 
accessible and adaptable homes. The design 
features aim to support the changing needs of 
individuals and families at different stages of life. 
 

Local Development Document (LDD)  The documents that set out planning policies for 
specific topics or areas, which make up the Local 
Development Framework.  
 

Local Development Framework (LDF)  A portfolio of local development documents 
including all those policies forming the framework 
for future development. 
 

Local Development Scheme (LDS)  A timetable for the preparation of local 
development documents. 
 

Local Indicator  A locally defined indicator that monitors the 
consequences of local planning policies. 
 

Local Nature Reserve (LNR)  Places with wildlife or geological features that are 
of special interest locally as declared by the Local 
Authority. 
 

Local Plan  The statutory plan that preceded the Local 
Development Framework. Some policies of the 
former District Local Plans have been saved  to sit 
alongside the policies contained in the Wiltshire 
Core Strategy. 
 

Local Strategic Partnership (LSP)  A non-statutory, multi-agency body which matches 
199 

 Page 405



local authority boundaries and aims to bring 
together different parts of the public, private, 
community and voluntary sectors at a local level. 
 

Localism Act  The Localism Bill was introduced to Parliament on 
13 December 2010, and was given Royal Assent 
on 15 November 2011, becoming an Act. This Act 
seeks to shift power from central government back 
into the hands of individuals, communities and 
councils.  
 

National Park  An area of land protected from most development 
and pollution. 
 

National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
was published in March 2012, and sets out the 
Government’s planning policies for England. The 
NPPF replaced most of the former PPSs and 
PPGs, and is a key document in the plan making 
process as well as being a material consideration in 
the making of planning decisions. 
 

Natural England  A non-departmental public body responsible for 
ensuring that England’s natural environment is 
protected and improved. 
 

Natural Greenspace Including woodlands, urban forestry, scrub, 
grasslands (eg downlands, commons and 
meadows), wetlands, open and running water, 
wastelands and derelict open land and rock areas 
(eg cliffs, quarries and pits). 
 

Neighbourhood planning  The Localism Act, which received Royal 
Assent on 15 November 2011, introduced 
new rights and powers to allow local 
communities to shape new development by 
coming together to prepare neighbourhood 
plans.  
 

Office for National Statistics (ONS)  The executive office of the UK Statistics Authority 
charged with the collection and publication of 
statistics. 
 

Open Space All open space of public value, including not just 
land, but also areas of water such as rivers, 
canals, lakes and reservoirs which offer important 
opportunities for sport and recreation and can 
also act as a visual amenity. 
 

Planning Inspectorate (PINS)  The government agency responsible for 
scheduling independent examinations 
 

Planning Policy Guidance (PPG)  The precedents of Planning Policy Statements 
 

200 
 Page 406



Planning Policy Statement (PPS)  A series of documents which previously set out 
the government’s national land use planning 
policies, and now have now been superseded by 
the NPPF. 
 

Policies Map  A local development document which illustrates 
on a base map all the policies and proposals 
contained in the development plan documents. 
 
 
 

Previously developed land Land which is or was occupied by a permanent 
structure, including the curtilage of the developed 
land (although it should not be assumed that the 
whole of the curtilage should be developed) and 
any associated fixed surface infrastructure. This 
excludes: land that is or has been occupied by 
agricultural or forestry buildings; land that has 
been developed for minerals extraction or waste 
disposal by landfill purposes where provision for 
restoration has been made through development 
control procedures; land in built-up areas such as 
private residential gardens, parks, recreation 
ground and allotments; and land that was 
previously-developed but where the remains of 
the permanent structure or fixed surface structure 
have blended into the landscape on the process 
of time. 
 

Public Open Space As for Open Space, where the land is publicly 
accessible.  
 

Redundant Buildings (for CP48) Rural buildings that are unused because they are 
no longer needed or suitable for the use they 
were originally intended or were last used for and 
not viable for alternative commercial use. 
 

Regional Spatial Strategy (RSS)  A regional level planning framework for the 
regions of England, outside London where 
spatial planning is the responsibility of the 
Mayor. They were introduced in 2004. Their 
revocation was announced by the 
Conservative/Liberal Democrat coalition 
government on 6 July 2010.   
 

Regionally Important Geological or Geo-
morphological Site (RIGS)  

Important sites for geology and geo-
morphology outside of statutorily protected 
land as identified by the local authority.  
 

Renewable energy  Renewable energy covers those energy 
flows that occur naturally and repeatedly in 
the environment, from the wind, the fall of 
water, the movement of the oceans, from the 
sun and also from biomass. 

201 
 Page 407



 
Saved Plan  Those policies within the adopted Local 

Plan and Structure Plan that have been 
saved beyond the expiry date by the 
Secretary of State. 
 

Scheduled Ancient Monument (SAM)  Those monuments that are given legal 
protection by being scheduled by English 
Heritage.  
 
 

Significance (for CP58) The value of a heritage asset to this and future 
generations because of its heritage interest. That 
interest may be archaeological, architectural, 
artistic or historic. Significance derives not only 
from a heritage asset’s physical presence, but 
also from its setting. 
 

Significant Effects Indicator  Indicators identified within the 
Sustainability Appraisal or Strategic 
Environmental Assessment, to monitor 
sustainability effects of local policy 
implementation.  
 

Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI)  The basic building blocks of site based 
nature conservation legislation including 
the very best wildlife and geological sites, 
as designated by Natural England. 
 

Special Area of Conservation (SAC)  Areas which have been given special protection 
under the European Union’s Habitat Directive, as 
identified by Natural England.  
 

Special Landscape Area (SLA)  A non-statutory landscape designation as 
defined by the local authority. 
 

Special Protection Area (SPA)  Strictly protected sites classified for wild and 
vulnerable birds.  
 

Statement of Community Involvement 
(SCI)  

A document setting out how the authority will 
consult and involve the public at every stage in 
the production of the Local Development 
Framework.  
 

Strategic Environmental Assessment 
(SEA)  

An assessment of certain plans and policies on 
the environment. 
 

Strategic Housing Land Availability 
Assessment (SHLAA)  

A survey of the sources of potential housing 
supply, and assessment of delivery criteria to 
provide an assessment of potential deliverable 

202 
 Page 408



supply.  
 

Strategic Housing Market Assessment 
(SHMA)  

A survey to find out housing need and demand. 
  

Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD)  

A local development document which provides 
additional advice and information relating to a 
specific policy or proposal in a Development 
Plan Document. 
 

Sustainability Appraisal (SA)  An appraisal of the impacts of policies and 
proposals on economic, social and 
environmental issues.  
 

Sustainable Construction Building practices that reduce construction, 
demolition and excavation waste to landfill, 
carbon emissions from construction processes 
and transport, ensure products used are 
responsibly sourced, reduce water usage, and 
minimise impacts upon the natural environment. 
 

Sustainable Location Location or site for housing that is close to 
employment, schools, shops, parks, civic 
buildings, and other services and amenities, is 
accessible by existing roads and close to existing 
public transport services, can be linked easily to 
existing infrastructure for roads, water, waste, 
and utilities, has low flood risk, and avoids 
sensitive features of the natural environment. 
 

Sustainable Transport A transport system that supports economic 
growth, but one that is also greener and safer 
and improves quality of life in local communities.  
 

Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems 
(SUDS)  

Systems controlling the flow of surface water run-
off to reduce flood risk, while also protecting / 
enhancing water quality, creating new wildlife 
habitats, and facilitating natural recharge of 
groundwater where possible. Natural drainage 
patterns are created by storing runoff and 
releasing it slowly (attenuation), allowing water to 
soak into the ground (infiltration), slowly 
transporting (conveying) water on the surface, 
filtering out pollutants, and allowing sediments to 
settle out by controlling the flow of water 
 

Sustainable urban extension Extensions to existing settlements that include a 
broad balance of housing type; employment 
opportunities; appropriate levels of retail 
provision; access to community services; a 
sustainable transport network; and provision of 
public green space. 
 

Town Centres Town centres are defined on the policies map as 

203 
 Page 409



follows: 
Secondary frontage areas: Chippenham, Calne, 
Corsham, Malmesbury, Royal Wootton Bassett, 
Cricklade (saved policy R2) 
Town Centre Commercial Areas: Trowbridge, 
Bradford-on-Avon, Melksham, Warminster, 
Westbury (saved policy SP1) 
Town and Service Centres: Devizes, 
Marlborough, Pewsey, Market 
Lavington, Tidworth and Ludgershall (saved 
policy ED24) 
City Centre boundary: Salisbury 
Secondary shopping area: Amesbury (saved 
policy S2) 
 
 
 

Wiltshire and Swindon Structure Plan 
2016  

The former adopted development plan for 
Wiltshire and Swindon, is now superseded.  
 

Wiltshire Council  Unitary authority for Wiltshire as of 1 April 2009 
 

World Heritage Site (WHS)  A cultural, natural or historical site of 
outstanding universal value designated by the 
UNESCO World Heritage Site Committee 
 

 

204 
 Page 410



Acronyms 
 
Table 8.1 
 
AA Appropriate Assessment 
AAP Area Action Plan 
AGS Amenity Green Space 
AMR Annual Monitoring Report 
AONB Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
AQMA Air Quality Management Area 
BAP Biodiversity Action Plan 
CP Core Policy 
CPA Children's Play Area 
CPO Compulsory Purchase Order 
CROW Countryside and Rights of Way Act 
CLG Communities and Local Government 

(Department for) 
CWS County Wildlife Site 
DC Development Control 
DEFRA Department for the Environment, Food and Rural 

Affairs 
DPD Development Plan Document 
DSTL Defence and Science Technical Laboratory 
EA Environmental Assessment or Environment 

Agency 
EIA Environmental Impact Assessment 
EIP Examination in Public 
EU European Union 
FE Form Entry 
GDO General Development Order 
GI Green Infrastructure 
HMA Housing Market Area 
HPA Health Protection Agency 
HRA Habitats Regulations Assessment 
IDP Integrated Delivery Plan 
IMD Indices of Multiple Deprivation 
LCA Landscape Character Area 
LDF Local Development Framework 
LDD Local Development Document 
LDO Local Development Order 
LDS Local Development Scheme 
LEP Local Economic Partnership 
LNR Local Nature Reserve 
LP Local Plan 
LPA Local Planning Authority 
LSP Local Strategic Partnership 
LTP Local Transport Plan 
MCI Military Civilian Integration Programme 
MoD Ministry of Defence 
MUGA Multi Use Games Area 

205 
 Page 411



MWDF Minerals and Waste Development Framework 
N2K Natura 2000 
NHS National Health Service 
NFNPA New Forest National Park Authority 
NPA National Park Authority 
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework 
ONS Office for National Statistics 
PCT Primary Care Trust 
PD Permitted Development 
PDSP Porton Down Science Park 
PINS Planning Inspectorate 
POS Public Open Space 
PPG Planning Policy Guidance 
PPS Planning Policy Statement 
PROW Public Right of Way 
RIGS Regionally Important Geological Site 
RSL Registered Social Landlord 
RSPB Royal Society for the Protection of Birds 
RSS Regional Spatial Strategy 
SA Sustainability Appraisal 
SAC Special Area of Conservation 
SAM Scheduled Ancient Monument 
SCI Statement of Community Involvement 
SEA Strategic Environmental Assessment 
SFRA Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 
SHLAA Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment 
SLA Special Landscape Area 
SOA Super Output Area 
SPA Special Protection Area 
SPD Supplementary Planning Document 
SPG Supplementary Planning Guidance 
SSA Site Specific Allocation 
SSSI Site of Special Scientific Interest 
SW South West 
TA Transport Assessment 
TPO Tree Preservation Order 
TTWA Travel to Work Area 
WHS 
 

World Heritage Site 

  
 

206 
 Page 412



 

Appendix A: Development templates for strategic 
allocations 
 
The requirements in these development templates are sought to serve the proposed 
development and mitigate any associated impact of the development.  

 
Infrastructure 

 
The development templates set out the infrastructure requirements to inform the 
masterplanning of the strategic sites allocations.  

 
Infrastructure requirements are identified within the Infrastructure Delivery Plan through 
working with providers, which will be updated over the plan period. Infrastructure 
requirements may therefore change. The council will be flexible and responsive to any 
changes.  

 
Reference to providing affordable housing in the following templates will be applied in 
accordance with Core Policy 43.  
 

207 
 Page 413



 

Land at Kingston Farm, Bradford  on Avon 
 

 
 
Use 
 
Up to 150 houses and 2-3ha employment land. 
 
Key Objectives 
 

• To deliver up to 150 houses and 2-3ha employment land thereby helping to improve the 
self containment of the town. 

• To deliver a high quality, sustainable and mixed use urban extension providing 40% 
affordable housing and a suitable mix of housing in line with core policies 45 and 46. 

• To deliver an exemplar for sustainable development and renewable energy for 
development in the rest of Wiltshire, including the provision of renewable energy 
generation to meet carbon neutral standards (to be defined by Government) and 
development that meets high sustainability standards. To facilitate the retention and 
expansion of two local employers, already located in close proximity to the site. 

 
Infrastructure Requirements 
 

208 
 Page 414



Development of the site will be required to meet the infrastructure requirements outlined 
below. Further detail can be found in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP). 
 
Physical Requirements 
 

• Development will require on-site water mains. Financial contribution will depend upon 
phasing, layout and minor off-site improvements. 

• Foul and surface water drainage from the site will need to be adequately addressed.  
The developer is investigating the possibility of a ‘living water’ sustainable drainage 
system which could address both foul and/or surface water drainage from the site as 
an alternative to a conventional system. 

• Wessex Water in conjunction with Wiltshire Highways have investigated and 
modelled the adjacent foul and surface water systems in pursuit of a more 
conventional solution. The modeling confirms what route and associated 
amendments to their systems these require. The results of the study show that it is 
possible to mitigate some downstream issues by removing surface water from the 
foul system and redirecting back into a surface water system that has adequate 
capacity. Following this a conclusion will be made about which option will be pursued. 
This provides for a more sustainable solution over disruptive and extensive upsizing 
options for downstream sewers.  

• Improvements to the Springfield pump station are required and an option study is 
required to agree these improvements.  

•  
• Development should not precede necessary improvements and off-site works. 

Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) should be included as part of the 
development. Reinforcement of the electricity network in line with the normal extensions 
and alterations to the existing electricity network to provide supplies required. 

• Reinforcement of the low pressure gas mains is required. 
• A Sustainable Energy Strategy is required for the site, in accordance with proposed 

Core Policy 41. 

Transport 
 

• Appropriate public transport, walking and cycling links should be provided to the town 
centre. This should include provision of a safe pedestrian/cycling route avoiding the 
B3107 (Holt Road) (from the Cemetery through to the Springfield/Holt Road junction 
followed by an upgraded pedestrian link to the town centre). 

• Financial contribution required to assist in the provision of an innovative sustainable 
transport solution for the town centre. 

• Financial contribution required towards the extension of the existing bus service to 
serve the site. Suitable access arrangements from the B3107 (Holt Road) are 
required. 

• Silver Street element of the Historic Core Zone proposals to be provided as these are 
directly related to the site’s accessibility to the town centre 

 
Social and Community 
 

• Financial contribution required towards childcare provision. This includes expansion 
of the area and matching affordable childcare to the amount of affordable housing 
being provided. 

• Financial contributions are required to expand the Fitzmaurice Primary School and to 

209 
 Page 415



put infrastructure into St Laurence Secondary School. 
• Financial contributions required to assist with expansion of one or both of the existing 

GP surgeries. Financial contribution required towards library services to increase the 
book stock levels at BradfordonAvon library. 

• Financial contributions required towards the extension of the existing cemetery, or 
additional land in the master plan will be provided for an expansion to  the existing 
cemetery, either as a conventional cemetery, or as a possible ‘green/ woodland’ 
cemetery. A footpath link to the cemetery should be considered. 
 

Economic 
 

• The site is required to contribute to the delivery of flexible and affordable workspace 
across all the B uses, particularly small and start up units with some ‘follow on’ space, 
on accessible lease terms to provide continuing opportunities for small business, 
business start-ups and continuation. Start up or incubator units should be supported 
by shared business infrastructure relevant to the use class. Design and build options 
should be considered and all businesses should prepare green travel plans. 
 

Green Infrastructure 
 

• Land between housing and the railway line should be safeguarded as public open 
space. Opportunities to make this as accessible as possible to the wider community 
must be explored. 

• Provision for children’s play, accessible natural green space, sports and allotments to 
be made to Wiltshire standards. 

• Financial contribution towards improvement of the existing formal outdoor pitch (Culver 
Close, Poulton Rec) and development of a multi sport hub club at Culver Close/ 
Victory Field. 

• Financial contributions required towards enhancements to ‘The Strips’, Barton Farm 
Country Park, phased towpath improvements and maintenance on the Kennet and 
Avon Canal. 

• There are a number of large trees on the site that should be maintained and 
masterplanned into the proposed development.  

 
Ecology 
 

• Updated surveys, particularly for bats associated with the Bath and Bradford on Avon 
Bat SAC and adjacent Combe Mine CWS. Assessment of potential impacts upon the 
SAC required. 

• Important habitat features must be retained and buffered from development, and 
enhanced along retained hedgerows and the railway corridor. 

• A sensitive lighting scheme will be required. 
 
Landscape 
 

• Residential and commercial development should be located to the north of the site, 
with suitable landscaping to minimise impact. 

• An attractive ‘gateway’ to Bradford on Avon along the B3107 (Holt Road) is required. 
Strengthening hedgerows with large native trees will help to decrease views onto the 
site, while intrusive urban edges should also be screened through planting new 
woodland. 

• The setting of the registered park and gardens of The Hall should be protected. 

210 
 Page 416



• Development should limit skyline intrusion particularly along Holt Road where roof 
height may be limited to two storeys. 

• Development should retain or reuse characteristic landscape features such as stone 
walls. 

 
Archaeology and Historical Interest 
 

• Prior to development full assessment and appropriate mitigation should be 
provided for areas of archaeological and historical interest in accordance with the 
specific recommendations for the site in the Historic Landscape Assessment 2012. 

 
 
Delivery Mechanism 
 

This site should be the subject of partnership between private and public sector based 
on frontloading a master plan to be approved by the Local Planning Authority as part of 
the planning application process. This master plan will guide the private sector led 
delivery of the site. 

 
Key Delivery Milestones, Monitoring and Review 
 
This site has been chosen not only because strategically, environmentally and consultatively 
it can make a significant contribution to meeting local needs, but also because early 
discussions with land owners, agents and prospective developers have encouraged the 
Local Planning Authority that this site can be brought forward within the first five years. 
 
In order to expedite the delivery of development within this period the council will work 
closely with the developers and landowners to facilitate delivery, and will expect to see 
significant, tangible progress towards a planning application within 18 months of the date of 
adoption of the Core Strategy. This work should include master planning, community 
engagement and progress on the necessary assessments. If the council is concerned that 
significant progress is not being made on the preparation of a planning application, or that, 
subsequent to the grant of planning permission, as identified through regular monitoring work, 
there does not appear to be a reasonable prospect of development commencing in a timely 
manner, a review into the delivery of the site will be instigated. This review will comprise: 
 

• Detailed dialogue with the landowner, developer and their agents to ascertain the 
cause of delay 

• An update of the Strategic Housing Market Availability Assessment to identify whether 
market demand has reduced or is being met through other sources 

• A further independent viability study of the site to assess its delivery 
• Using the council’s influence to try and remove any barriers identified that stand in the 

way of progress, such as working with statutory consultees and the community, and 
• As a last resort, if the council feels that the new evidence renders the site undeliverable, 

a new allocation or allocations equivalent to the Strategic Allocation will be considered 
through the appropriate development plan process. 

 
An independent viability review of the site will be undertaken by Wiltshire Council within two 
years to review the levels of delivery set in view of the projected recovery from the recession 
of 2009. This review will not be undertaken where the developer has demonstrated 
commitment through delivery in the first two years of the strategy. 

 
 

211 
 Page 417



 

Land at Horton Road, Devizes 
 
 
 

 
 
Use 
 
8.4ha employment land for business space and incubator workspace function. 
 
Key Objectives: 
 

• To provide 8.4 hectares of new employment land that will contribute to the delivery of 
flexible and affordable workspace across all the B uses, particularly small and start up 
units with some ‘follow on’ space, on accessible lease terms to provide continuing 
opportunities for small business, business start-ups and continuation. Start up or 
incubator units should be supported by shared business infrastructure relevant to the 
use class. Design and build options should also be considered and all businesses 
should prepare green travel plans. 

• To provide a much needed expansion to the existing employment base in the area. 
• Delivery of employment land that is integrated with the existing town. 
• Provision of business space and an incubator workspace function. 

 
Infrastructure Requirements 
 

212 
 Page 418



Development of the site will be required to meet the infrastructure requirements outlined 
below. Further detail can be found in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP). 
 
Physical Requirements 
 

• Capacity improvements to public sewer network and pumping stations. 
• Reinforcement of the electricity network and primary sub-station. 
• A Sustainable Energy Strategy will be required for the site, in accordance with 

proposed Core Policy 41. 
 
Transport 
 

• Provision of off-site transport infrastructure in line with the Devizes Transport 
Strategy. 

• An assessment of the most appropriate points of access to the site should be 
included in the Master Plan. 

 
Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity 

 
• A safe and quiet area of the site should be retained for public recreation – this should 

be landscaped naturally and screened from the main development as far as possible. 
This area should be accessible from Horton Road and London Road. 

• Development should not impinge on the function of footpath BCAN6. 
 
Ecology 
 

• Habitat, reptile, invertebrate and badger surveys required with mitigation where 
necessary. 

• The master plan should include sensitive edge treatment of hedgerows (5m buffer), with 
native planting used in landscaping outside of formal areas. 

• Minimum 10% green / brown roof coverage. 
• Use of soft SuDS features including a retention basin on site boundary. 

 
Landscape 
 

• The development should provide an appropriate and enhanced entrance to Devizes 
in keeping with the local landscape and townscape character. Visually intrusive 
buildings should be avoided, particularly facing the AONB or entrances to the town. 

• Integrated landscape infrastructure will be required, particularly to screen views from 
the AONB and local residences. 

• Avoid the use of highly reflective surface finishes and consider the use of green / 
brown roof coverage to reduce visual impact on views from higher ground. 

• The Master Plan should include a landscape and visual assessment of the site to 
indicate how these issues are being addressed and where the most sensitive locations 
are within and adjacent to the site to inform any landscaping proposals. 

 
Archaeology and Historical Interest 
 

• Prior to development an assessment should be carried out to ensure there are no areas 
of archaeology and historical interest and the master plan should be in accordance 
with the specific recommendations for the site in the Historic Landscape Assessment, 
2012. 

 
Adjacent Land Uses 

213 
 Page 419



 
• The site is adjacent to existing residential areas to the west on Horton Road and a 

new residential area to the south of Horton Road. The residential amenity of these 
areas must be respected by the development. 

 
Delivery Mechanism 
 
 
This site should be the subject of partnership between private and public sector based on 
frontloading a master plan to be approved by the Local Planning Authority as part of the 
planning application process. Bishops Cannings Parish Council should be involved in this 
partnership to ensure their knowledge of the local area is taken into consideration. This 
master plan will guide the private sector led delivery of the site. 
 
Key Delivery Milestones, Monitoring and Review 
 
In order to expedite the delivery of development the council will work closely with the 
developers and landowners to facilitate delivery. This work should include master planning, 
community engagement and progress on the necessary assessments. Bishops Cannings 
and Roundway parishes and Devizes Town Council should be involved in the preparation of 
the master plan because of the potential wider impact on the highway network of this 
development. If the council is concerned that significant progress is not being made on the 
preparation of a planning application, or that, subsequent to the grant of planning permission, 
as identified through regular monitoring work, there does not appear to be a reasonable 
prospect of development commencing in a timely manner, in line with the Core Strategy 
trajectory, a review into the delivery of the site will be instigated. This review will comprise: 
 

• detailed dialogue with the landowner, developer and their agents to ascertain the 
cause of delay a further independent viability study of the site to assess its delivery 

• using the council’s influence to try and remove any barriers identified that stand in the 
way of progress, such as working with statutory consultees and the community, and 

• as a last resort, if the council feels that the new evidence renders the site undeliverable, a 
new allocation or allocations equivalent to the Strategic Allocation will be considered 
through the appropriate development plan process. 

 
An independent viability review of the site will be undertaken by Wiltshire Council within two 
years to review the standards of delivery set in view of the projected recovery from the 
recession of 2009. This review will not be undertaken where the developer has 
demonstrated commitment through delivery in the first two years of the strategy. 

214 
 Page 420



 

Land at Drummond Park (MSA) Depot, Ludgershall 
 

 
 
Use 
 
475 dwellings. 
 
Key Objectives: 
 

• To deliver a high quality and sustainable urban extension to Ludgershall providing 
affordable housing and a suitable mix of housing in line with core policies 45 and 46. 

• To complement and enhance the existing built form and provide environmental 
improvement. 

 
Infrastructure Requirements 
 
Development of the site will be required to meet the infrastructure requirements outlined 
below. Further detail can be found in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP). 
 
Physical Requirements 
 

• Details must be provided on how foul drainage and water supply will be provided to 
be agreed by the Environment Agency prior to development commencing. 

215 
 Page 421



• Surface water schemes to be agreed prior to development commencing. 
• A contamination survey must be undertaken and de-contamination carried out as 

necessary. 
• A Sustainable Energy Strategy will be required for the site, in accordance with 

proposed Core Policy 41. 
 
Transport 
 

• Traffic capacity at the war memorial junction should be improved, or an alternative 
solution must be found, to address traffic congestion issues in the town. 

• Improvements to bus services in Ludgershall. 
• Improvements to pedestrian routes, cycling routes and Rights of Way identified in the 

IDP. 
 
Social and Community 
 

• Financial contributions towards primary and secondary school provision in line with 
the IDP. 

• Financial contributions towards improvements to GP services in line with the IDP. 
 
Green Infrastructure 
 

• Provision of adequate open space and significant margins to the site for landscaping 
and wildlife corridors 

• Provision for children’s play areas. 
 
Ecology 
 

• Bat foraging and other ecological surveys to be completed and updated as 
necessary. 

• Woodland belts and edge planning to act as wildlife corridors. 
• Grassland in the north west to be maintained and enhanced for nature conservation. 
• Financial contributions towards the Special Protection Area. 

 
Landscape 
 

• Woodland belts, edge planting and landscaping margins to reduce any views from the 
North Wessex Downs AONB. 

 
Archaeology and Historical Interest 
 

• Prior to development an assessment should be carried out to ensure there are no areas 
of archaeology and historical interest and the master plan should be in accordance 
with the specific recommendations for the site in the Historic Landscape Assessment, 
2012. 

 
Delivery Mechanism 
 
This site should be the subject of a partnership between the private and public sector based on 
frontloading a master plan to be approved by the Local Planning Authority as part of the 
planning application process. This master plan will guide the private sector led delivery of the 
site. 
 
Key Delivery Milestones, Monitoring and Review 

216 
 Page 422



 
This site has been chosen because strategically, environmentally and consultatively it can 
make a significant contribution to meeting local needs through regeneration. 
 
In order to expedite the delivery of development the council will work closely with the 
developers and landowners to facilitate delivery, and will expect to see significant, tangible 
progress towards a planning application within 18 months of the date of adoption of the Core 
Strategy. This work should include master planning, community engagement and progress on 
the necessary assessments. If the council is concerned that significant progress is not being 
made on the preparation of a planning application, or that, subsequent to the grant of planning 
permission, as identified through regular monitoring work, there does not appear to be a 
reasonable prospect of development commencing in a timely manner, a review into the 
delivery of the site will be instigated. This review will comprise: 
 

• Detailed dialogue with the landowner, developer and their agents to ascertain the 
cause of delay 

• An update of the Strategic Housing Market Availability Assessment to identify whether 
market demand has reduced or is being met through other sources 

• A further independent viability study of the site to assess its delivery 
• Using the council’s influence to try and remove any barriers identified that stand in the 

way of progress, such as working with statutory consultees and the community, and 
• As a last resort, if the council feels that the new evidence renders the site 

undeliverable, a new allocation or allocations equivalent to the Strategic Allocation will 
be considered through the appropriate development plan process. 

 
An independent viability review of the site will be undertaken by Wiltshire Council within two 
years to review the standards of delivery set in view of the projected recovery from the 
recession of 2009. This review will not be undertaken where the developer has demonstrated 
commitment through delivery in the first two years of the strategy. 
 

217 
 Page 423



 

Land at Salisbury Road, Marlborough 
 

 
Use 
 
220 houses and open space/allotments/playing fields on The Crown Estates wider landholdings, 
Marlborough 
 
Key Objectives 
 

• To deliver housing growth to help maintain and enhance the town’s role as a service 
and tourist centre, and help to meet local needs. 

• To deliver a high quality, sustainable and mixed use urban extension providing 40% 
affordable housing and a suitable mix of housing in line with core policies 45 and 46. 

• Create development that relates well to the town, ensuring minimal impact upon 
Marlborough’s rich built, historic and landscape assets. 

 
Infrastructure Requirements 
 
Development of the site will be required to meet the infrastructure requirements outlined 
below. Further detail can be found in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP). 
 
Physical Requirements 
 

218 
 Page 424



• The Groundwater Protection Zone (Source Protection Zone 1) in the south west part of the site 
must be taken into account. Further information is required on the extent of the SPZ1. 
Appropriate mitigation measures will then need to be put in place as part of the planning 
application process. 

• Pipelines cross the site. Further consideration to be given to either move these pipelines 
or plan for an ‘easement’ setting along the route of the pipeline and three metres either 
side as green space to remain undeveloped. 

• There is not sufficient pressure in the gas network to meet demand. Reinforcement of gas 
network to meet demand is required. 

• Improvements to the works and expansion of the Marlborough Waste Water Treatment 
works. 

• A Sustainable Energy Strategy will be required for the site, in accordance with proposed 
Core Policy 41. 

 
Transport 
 
• Provision for an extension to the existing bus service along Salisbury Road to serve the 

development. Improvements to walking and cycling routes and Rights of Way detailed in 
the IDP. 

 
Social and Community Requirements 
 
• There are currently some surplus places in existing schools but these are likely to be filled 

with pupils arising from current housing developments. Options to be considered include 
(i) Re-build St Mary’s Infants and St Peter’s Juniors (to accommodate 420 pupils) or (ii) 
relocate Preshute Primary because extension of the school site is not possible in its 
current location. 

• The secondary school is already full. An expansion of the school will be required. 
• Financial contribution equivalent to 1 GP and 0.5 dentist required to cope with additional 

demand for Primary Care doctor and dentist provision. Most of the practices are up to full 
capacity. 

 
Green Infrastructure 
 
• Surface upgrades to MARL30 within site path. Must have green borders on both sides and 

be at least 10m wide to provide an attractive route. 
• Provision for children’s play, accessible natural green space, sports and allotments to be 

made to Wiltshire standards. 
 
Ecology 
 
• A nationally important population of Barbastelle Bats breed and hibernate in the nearby 

Savernake Forest SSSI and Marlborough Railway Tunnel County Wildlife Site to the north 
and south of the site. All commuting corridors crossing the site or its boundaries must be 
incorporated into a 20m dark buffer zone within public open space or other landscaping. 

• The Marlborough Railway Tunnel must be secured from increased vandalism by 
reinforcing the entrance and increased structure planting. 

• The site is within a woodland Strategic Nature Area. Landscape proposals should show a 
strong preference for native woodland planting where possible. 

 
Landscape 
 
• Development should avoid visually prominent rising south and south western slopes to 

avoid unacceptable and unnecessary visual impact to the wider AONB. 

219 
 Page 425



• Perimeter tree belts must be retained wherever possible and be set within a strong landscape 
framework to reflect the local woodland / forest context. 

• The design of new built development should work with the existing topography of the 
shallow dry valley landform. 

• The site represents a gateway entrance to the town along the A346 Salisbury Road from 
the south. Development must deliver an attractive high quality built and landscaped 
approach into the town.  

• Design will need to be of a suitably high standard in the AONB and incorporate the use of 
appropriate local building materials to reinforce landscape character. 

• A Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) will enable the southern boundary of 
the site (as show on the proposals map) and its treatment to be further refined via the 
planning application process.  

 
Archaeology and Historical Interest 
 
• Further work needs to be carried out on any impact on an adjacent historical park and 

garden. Further work currently being carried out internally. 
• The master plan should be in accordance with the specific recommendations for the site 

in the Historic Landscape Assessment, 2012 including the retention of the dismantled 
railway embankment along the northern edge of the site to provide screening whilst 
maintaining this historic feature. 

 
Delivery Mechanism 
 
This site should be the subject of partnership between private and public sector based on 
frontloading a master plan to be approved by the Local Planning Authority as part of the 
planning application process. This master plan will guide the private sector led delivery of the 
site. 
 
Key Delivery Milestones, Monitoring and Review 
 
This site has been chosen because it can deliver modest housing growth to help maintain 
and enhance the town’s role as a service and tourist centre, and help to meet local needs. 
 
In order to expedite the delivery of development within this period the council will work 
closely with the developers and landowners to facilitate delivery, and will expect to see 
significant, tangible progress towards a planning application within 18 months of the date of 
adoption of the Core Strategy. This work should include master planning, community 
engagement and progress on the necessary assessments. 
 
If the council is concerned that significant progress is not being made on the preparation of a 
planning application, or that, subsequent to the grant of planning permission, as identified 
through regular monitoring work, there does not appear to be a reasonable prospect of 
development commencing in a timely manner, a review into the delivery of the site will be 
instigated. This review will comprise: 
 
• detailed dialogue with the landowner, developer and their agents to ascertain the cause of 

delay 
• an update of the Strategic Housing Market Availability Assessment to identify whether 

market demand has reduced or is being met through other sources 
• a further independent viability study of the site to assess its delivery 
• using the council’s influence to try and remove any barriers identified that stand in the way 

of progress, such as working with statutory consultees and the community, and 

220 
 Page 426



• as a last resort, if the council feels that the new evidence renders the site undeliverable, a 
new allocation or allocations equivalent to the Strategic Allocation will be considered 
through the appropriate development plan process. 

 
An independent viability review of the site will be undertaken by Wiltshire Council within two 
years to review the standards of delivery set in view of the projected recovery from the 
recession of 2009. This review will not be undertaken where the developer has demonstrated 
commitment through delivery in the first two years of the strategy. 

221 
 Page 427



 

Ashton Park Urban Extension, South East of Trowbridge 
 
 

 
Use 
 
2600 dwellings and 15ha of employment land. 
 
Key Objectives 
 
• To deliver a high quality, sustainable and mixed use urban extension providing 30% 

affordable housing and a suitable mix of housing in line with Core Policies 45 and 46. 
• To provide 15 hectares of new employment land for a mix of B uses through a high quality 

business park which will provide an expansion to the existing employment base in the 
area. 

• Development that is integrated with the existing town and town centre. 
• To ensure the natural environment is conserved and enhanced, particularly any species 

associated with the Bath and Bradford-on-Avon Bats SAC. 
 
Infrastructure Requirements 
 
Development of the site will be required to meet the infrastructure requirements outlined 
below. Further detail can be found in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP). 
 
Physical Requirements 
 
• SFRA Level 2 Assessment required to ensure that the proposed development including 

222 
 Page 428



associated infrastructure does not unacceptably encroach within the flood zone and to 
inform the sequential test. Flood Risk assessment required to ensure that development is 
not encroaching within Flood Zones 2 or 3. 

• Flood mitigation must be provided including an appropriate sustainable drainage scheme 
that improves existing capacity. 

• Offline flood storage features must be incorporated into a wetland system to reduce current 
and future flooding risk downstream in Trowbridge as a consequence of the proposed 
development. 

• New infrastructure to link to the sewage treatment works or appropriate on-site provision. 
• Provision of on-site sewers and financial contributions towards off-site works to mitigate 

against the impact of this development. 
• Capacity improvements to water supply and waste networks to serve the development. 
• A Sustainable Energy Strategy will be required for the site, in accordance with proposed 

Core Policy 41. 
• Reinforcement of the electricity network and primary sub-station to serve the development.  
• Connection to existing low or medium pressure gas mains to serve the development. 
 
Transport 
 
• Provision of transport infrastructure in line with the emerging Trowbridge Transport 

Strategy.  
• Improvements to the Rights of Way identified in the IDP. 
 
Social and Community 
 
• Two new 14 class primary schools on sites of 1.8 hectares. 
• Financial contributions towards existing primary schools as required.  
• A site must be reserved for a new secondary school. 
• Financial contributions towards childcare provision facilities or on-site provision to serve 

the development.  
• Financial contributions towards a new surgery and dental provision or on-site provision to 

serve the development. 
 
Economy 
 
• The site will contribute to the delivery of flexible and affordable workspace across all the B 

uses, particularly small and start up units with some ‘follow on’ space, on accessible lease 
terms to provide continuing opportunities for small business, business start-ups and 
continuation. Start up or incubator units should be supported by shared business 
infrastructure relevant to the use class. Design and build options should also be 
considered and all businesses should prepare green travel plans. 

 
Green Infrastructure 
 
• Provision of a Destination Play Area. 
• Provision of a multifunctional green infrastructure corridor along the length of the adjacent 

River Biss, linking the development with the town; to provide sustainable transport links, 
informal recreation, flood mitigation, enhanced biodiversity and strengthened landscape 
character. 

 
Ecology 
 
• 100m woodland / parkland buffer between all ancient woodland, including Biss Wood and  

223 
 Page 429



Green Lane Wood, and built development. 
• Bat roost sites, foraging habitat and flight lines within, and in the vicinity of the site must be 

identified, retained and protected in the long-term, including sensitive lighting. 
• Applications will be screened for potential impacts on the Bath and Bradford-on-Avon Bats 

SAC. Any appropriate assessment must conclude ‘no adverse effects’. 
• Surveys for other relevant protected species and habitats required prior to development. 
• The riparian corridor along the River Biss should be enhanced to create a mosaic of 

wetland and species-rich grassland habitats. 
• The site is in a woodland Strategic Nature Area; landscaping includes a high proportion of 

woodland planting, particularly where this provides enhanced ecological connectivity to Biss 
Wood. Contributions towards opportunities for woodland creation in the landscape setting 
of the site where possible. 

 
Landscape 
 
• Conserve and enhance the landscape setting of Trowbridge by screening visually intrusive 

urban edges using landscape infrastructure of native species. 
• Existing hedgerows to be retained and repaired and new hedgerow trees of large native 

species e.g. Oak, should be planted to restore the clay vale landscape character. 
• Existing woodland should be conserved and managed to maximise ecological, historic and 

landscape value. 
 
Archaeology and Historical Interest 
 
• Prior to development an assessment should be carried out to ensure there are no areas of 

archaeology and historical interest and the masterplan should be in accordance with the 
specific recommendations for the site in the Historic Landscape Assessment, 2012.  

 
Delivery Mechanism 
 
This site should be the subject of partnership between private and public sector based on 
frontloading a master plan to be approved by the Local Planning Authority as part of the 
planning application process. This master plan will guide the private sector led delivery of the 
site. 
 
Key Delivery Milestones, Monitoring and Review 
 
In order to expedite the delivery of development the council will work closely with the 
developers and landowners to facilitate delivery. This work should include master planning, 
community engagement and progress on the necessary assessments. If the council is 
concerned that significant progress is not being made on the preparation of a planning 
application, or that, subsequent to the grant of planning permission, as identified through 
regular monitoring work, there does not appear to be a reasonable prospect of development 
commencing in a timely manner, in line with the Core Strategy trajectory, a review into the 
delivery of the site will be instigated. This review will comprise: 
 
• detailed dialogue with the landowner, developer and their agents to ascertain the cause of 

delay 
• an update of the Strategic Housing Market Availability Assessment to identify whether 

market demand has reduced or is being met through other sources 
• a further independent viability study of the site to assess its delivery 
• using the Council’s influence to try and remove any barriers identified that stand in the way of 

progress, such as working with statutory consultees and the community, and 

224 
 Page 430



• as a last resort, if the Council feels that the new evidence renders the site undeliverable, a 
new allocation or allocations equivalent to the Strategic Allocation will be considered through 
the appropriate development plan process. 

 
An independent viability review of the site will be undertaken by Wiltshire Council within two 
years to review the standards of delivery set in view of the projected recovery from the 
recession of 2009. This review will not be undertaken where the developer has demonstrated 
commitment through delivery in the first two years of the strategy. 

225 
 Page 431



 

West Warminster Urban Extension 
 

 
Use 
 
900 dwellings and 6 ha of employment. 
 
Note: the area identified as ‘indicative mixed use’ represents an area of land that is much 
larger than that required to deliver 900 homes, 6 ha employment and associated facilities.  
The final development area is yet to be identified through a comprehensive masterplanning 
process with the local community. The masterplanning process will need to consider all 
aspects of this development template and the larger area of land provides space for further 
mitigation if required to cover areas such as landscape and the impact on the Warminster 
Conservation Area. It does not provide for additional development and the development 
quanta will remain set at 900 homes and 6 ha employment. 
 
Key Objectives: 
 
• To deliver a high quality mixed use urban extension providing 30% affordable housing and 

a suitable mix of housing in line with Core Policies 45 and 46. 
• Development that is integrated with the existing town and town centre. 
• Protection of the setting of and views to the Cranborne Chase and West Wiltshire Downs 

Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB).  

226 
 Page 432



• To contribute towards the development and implementation of a Phosphates Management 
Plan, or a suitable on-site alternative, to compensate for additional phosphate loading 
from sewage discharges to the River Avon. 

• To reduce the risk of flooding in and around Warminster through a robust and inclusive 
planning process, and implementing Sustainable Urban Drainage measures. 

• To ensure the environment within and around the strategic site is conserved and 
enhanced. 

 

 
Infrastructure Requirements 
 
Development of the site will be required to meet the infrastructure and sustainable planning 
requirements outlined below. Further detail can be found in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan 
(IDP). 
 
Physical Requirements 
 
• Developer contributions towards the implementation of a Phosphate Management Plan or 

a suitable on-site alternative. 
• A Level 2 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment must be undertaken prior to any subsequent 

planning application process. 
• Flood risk assessment required to ensure that development is not encroaching within 

Flood Zones 2 or 3 and to inform the sequential test 
• A Surface Water Management Planning process must be undertaken to fully support any 

subsequent planning application process. The Surface Water Management Plan should 
consider all aspects of the local flood regime and aim to: 

 
i. Bolster the telemetry modelling work being undertaken by the council during 2012; 
ii. Incorporate recommendations from the study to reduce and, where possible, remove 

flood risk from existing development; 
iii. Provide accurate and robust data to assist the council (as Lead Local Flood Authority) 

and the Environment Agency to undertake further detailed modelling of local catchment 
flood processes; and 

iv. Ensure that the catchment works as a whole and not isolated site specific mitigation 
measures are incorporated into any subsequent detailed master planning exercise. 

v. Flood mitigation measures must provide appropriately designed sustainable drainage 
systems and, where appropriate, aim to improve existing capacity. 

 
• Capacity of the drainage network should be fully assessed and appropriately augmented 

to ensure the risk of flooding is not increased elsewhere as a consequence of 
development. 

• Essential capacity improvements to the public sewer network. 
• Financial contributions for off-site water supply improvements and new sewage apparatus 

required to serve the site. 
• Reinforcement of the electricity network and connection to the existing low pressure and 

gas mains network. 
• A Sustainable Energy Strategy will be required for the site, in accordance with proposed 

Core Policy 41. 
 
Transport 
 
• Provision of a link road connecting Bath Road, Victoria Road and Thornhill/ St Andrews 

Road.  

227 
 Page 433



• Sustainable transport solutions for pupils attending Kingdown School. 
• Development must not negatively impact on traffic along West Street.  
• A new bus service to the town centre.  
• Financial contributions towards safe cycle and walkways.  
• Improvements to the Rights of Way identified in the IDP. 
 
Social and Community 
 
• Financial contributions towards a new 2FE primary school in line with the IDP.  
• Financial contributions for secondary school provision in line with the IDP. 
• Financial contributions towards the development of childcare provision or suitable on-site 

provision. 
 
Economy 
 
 

• The site will contribute to the delivery of flexible and affordable workspace across all the B 
uses, particularly small and start up units with some ‘follow on’ space, on accessible lease 
terms to provide continuing opportunities for small business, business start-ups and 
continuation. Start up or incubator units should be supported by shared business 
infrastructure relevant to the use class. Design and build options should also be 
considered and all businesses should prepare green travel plans. 

 
Green Infrastructure 
 
• Formalised access to Coldharbour Meadows to reduce damage of sensitive habitats. 
• Areas of multifunctional accessible natural greenspace should be established along 

sections of the River Were floodplain. 
• Provision for children’s play, accessible natural green space, sports and allotments. 
 
Ecology 
 
• Updated ecology surveys of protected species and habitat must be completed prior to 

masterplanning.  
• Buffer and enhance sections of the River Were corridor through creation of a mosaic of 

wetland and grassland habitats, linking with Coldharbour Meadows CWS. 
• Habitat corridors across the site should be retained, buffered and restored with sensitive 

lighting close to hedgerows, mature trees and the riparian corridor. 
• Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems across the site must be sensitively designed to deliver 

additional biodiversity enhancements. 
• Financial contributions towards the Stone Curlew Management Strategy designed to 

avoid adverse effects upon the integrity of the Stone Curlew population as a designated 
feature of the Salisbury Plain Special Protection Area. 

 
Landscape 
 
• The master plan and detailed scheme design must have regard to the protected AONB 

landscape to the west and south. Open views across the landscape to the chalk downland 
and wooded greensand hills should be maintained, ensuring that the built form does not 
assume an unacceptable visual prominence. 

• The current field pattern should be conserved and enhanced by repairing gaps in hedges 
and planting new hedgerow trees of large native species. 

• Substantial landscape buffer required to screen visually intrusive urban edges using 

228 
 Page 434



landscape infrastructure of native species. 
 
 
 
Archaeology and Historical Interest 
 
• Prior to development an assessment should be carried out to ensure there are no areas of 

archaeological and historical interest and appropriate mitigation should be proposed where 
necessary.  

• The masterplan and detailed scheme design must have regard to the setting to Cley Hill 
Schedule Ancient Monument. 

• The impact on Warminster Conservation Area must be assessed and appropriate 
mitigation should be proposed where necessary. 

• The masterplan should be in accordance with the specific recommendations for the site in 
the Historic Landscape Assessment, 2012 

 
 
Delivery Mechanism 
 
This site should be the subject of partnership between private and public sector based on 
frontloading a master plan to be approved by the Local Planning Authority as part of the 
planning application process. This master plan will guide the private sector led delivery of the 
site. 
 
Key Delivery Milestones, Monitoring and Review 
 
In order to expedite the delivery of development the council will work closely with the 
developers and landowners to facilitate delivery. This work should include master planning, 
community engagement and progress on the necessary assessments. If the council is 
concerned that significant progress is not being made on the preparation of a planning 
application, or that, subsequent to the grant of planning permission, as identified through 
regular monitoring work, there does not appear to be a reasonable prospect of development 
commencing in a timely manner, in line with the Core Strategy trajectory, a review into the 
delivery of the site will be instigated. This review will comprise: 
 
• detailed dialogue with the landowner, developer and their agents to ascertain the cause 

of delay 
• an update of the Strategic Housing Market Availability Assessment to identify whether 

market demand has reduced or is being met through other sources 
• a further independent viability study of the site to assess its delivery 
• using the council’s influence to try and remove any barriers identified that stand in the way 

of progress, such as working with statutory consultees and the community, and 
• as a last resort, if the council feels that the new evidence renders the site undeliverable, a 

new allocation or allocations equivalent to the Strategic Allocation will be considered 
through the appropriate development plan process. 

 
An independent viability review of the site will be undertaken by Wiltshire Council within two 
years to review the standards of delivery set in view of the projected recovery from the 
recession of 2009. This review will not be undertaken where the developer has demonstrated 
commitment through delivery in the first two years of the strategy. 
 

229 
 Page 435



 

 
Land at Mill Lane, Hawkeridge, Westbury 
 
 

 
 
Use 
 
14.7ha new employment land 
 
Key Objectives: 
 
• To provide 14.7ha new employment land for a mix of B class uses through a high quality 

business park which will provide a much needed expansion to the existing employment 
base in the area. 

• The strategic employment role of Westbury, Trowbridge and the surrounding area will be 
maintained and enhanced. 

• Complement and extend the range of employment opportunities already available at the 
West Wiltshire Trading Estate. 

• The development will facilitate improvements to public transport between the site, West 
Wiltshire Trading Estate and Westbury. 

• This development will deliver high quality landscaping and environmental standards. 
 
Infrastructure Requirements 
 

230 
 Page 436



Development of this site will be required to meet the infrastructure requirements outlined 
below. Further detail can be found in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP). 
 
Physical Requirements 
 
• Foul drainage will be via a new pumping station connected to either existing drainage to 

the north along Hawkeridge Road or via the existing rising main in Shallow Wagon Lane to 
the sewage treatment works to the south, subject to an engineering appraisal with details to 
be agreed prior to development.  

• Surface water will be controlled by use of a suitable sustainable urban drainage system 
(SUDS) discharging attenuated flows to the Bitham Brook, with details agreed prior to 
development.  

• Reinforcement of electricity network and primary sub-station with possible diversion of 
existing overhead power lines may be required. To ensure certainty of delivery of 
development site, any anticipated relocation of existing overhead lines should be formally 
agreed with Southern Electric Power Distribution.  

• A Sustainable Energy Strategy will be required for the site, in accordance with proposed 
Core Policy 41. 

• Land within flood zones 2 and 3 will be used for a diverted footpath route and to enhance 
biodiversity in the area. 

 
Green Infrastructure 
 
• Maintain use of the footpath network currently crossing and around the site. Footpaths may 

be diverted and incorporated into landscaped areas of the site and screened from 
development as far as possible.  

• Minimum 10% green / brown roof coverage. 
 
Ecology 
 
• Reptile, bat and badger habitat surveys required with mitigation where necessary. 
• The master plan should include sensitive edge treatment of hedgerows (5m buffer), with 

native planting used in landscaping outside of formal areas. 
• Use of soft SUDS features to create wetland habitat on site boundary. 
 
Landscape 
 
• Allow existing hedgerows to grow taller and wider and plant with hedgerow trees to reduce 

the visual impact from higher ground. 
• Careful consideration to be given to the scale and massing of any proposals to avoid 

visually intrusive buildings. 
• Avoid the use of highly reflective surface finishes and consider the use of green / brown 

roof coverage to reduce visual impact on views from higher ground. 
 
Archaeology 
 
• A ‘watching brief’ will be required on part of the site to assess any archaeological interest 

during construction. 
• The masterplan should be in accordance with the specific recommendations for the site in 

the Historic Landscape Assessment, 2012.  
• Appropriate mitigation measures to reduce the impact upon the setting and views from the 

Grade II listed building Hawkeridge Farm, which is located at the centre of the proposed 
employment strategic site at Land at Mill Lane, Hawkeridge (listed building entry 

231 
 Page 437



1021504) 
 
Delivery Mechanism 
 
This site should be the subject of partnership between private and public sector based on 
frontloading a master plan to be approved by the Local Planning Authority as part of the 
planning application process. This master plan will guide the private sector led delivery of the 
site. 
 
Key Delivery Milestones, Monitoring and Review 
 
In order to expedite the delivery of development within this period the council will work 
closely with the developers and landowners to facilitate delivery, and will expect to see 
significant, tangible progress towards a planning application within 18 months of the date of 
adoption of the Core Strategy. This work should include master planning, community 
engagement and progress on the necessary assessments. If the council is concerned that 
significant progress is not being made on the preparation of a planning application, or that, 
subsequent to the grant of planning permission, as identified through regular monitoring work, 
there does not appear to be a reasonable prospect of development commencing in a timely 
manner, a review into the delivery of the site will be instigated. This review will comprise: 
 

• detailed dialogue with the landowner, developer and their agents to ascertain the 
cause of delay  

• an update to identify whether market demand has reduced or is being met through 
other sources  

• using the council’s influence to try and remove any barriers identified that stand in the 
way of progress, such as working with statutory consultees and the community, and 

• as a last resort, if the council feels that the new evidence renders the site undeliverable, a 
new allocation or allocations equivalent to the Strategic Allocation will be considered 
through the appropriate development plan process. 

 
An independent viability review of the site will be undertaken by Wiltshire Council within two 
years to review the standards of delivery set in view of the projected recovery from the 
recession of 2009. This review will not be undertaken where the developer has demonstrated 
commitment through delivery in the first two years of the strategy 

232 
 Page 438



 

Land at Station Road, Westbury 
 

 
 
Use 
 
250 dwellings. 
 
Key Objectives 
 
• To deliver a high quality, sustainable development, providing 30% affordable housing and 

a suitable mix of housing in line with Core Policies 45 and 46. 
• Development that is integrated with the existing town and town centre. 
• Fully investigate all alternative access options to the railway station as part of the design 

process, avoiding damage to Westbury Lakes County Wildlife Site (CWS) as a last resort 
and targeting any unavoidable losses to the least sensitive or valuable habitats. 

• To minimise the realignment of the lake in securing a link road connecting Station Road 
and Mane Way, and make alternative suitable provision for the sailing club if required. 

 
Infrastructure Requirements 
 
Development of the site will be required to meet the infrastructure and sustainable planning 
requirements outlined below. Further detail can be found in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan 
(IDP). 
 

233 
 Page 439



 
 
Physical Requirements 
 
• Network modelling will be needed to determine the nature and scope of downstream foul 

drainage capacity improvements. 
• Network modelling will be required to determine a point of adequacy and possible network 

reinforcement, options include: 
 

i. possible metered connection from the existing 350mm trunk main on the south side of 
the railway  

ii. alternative route through Station Road under the railway bridge. 
 
• Process review of Westbury currently being undertaken with regard to sewage treatment 

and improvements may be necessary to accommodate development. Development must 
not precede necessary improvements. 

• Extensions and alterations to the existing electricity network to provide supplies. 
• Any anticipated relocation of overhead powerlines crossing the site to be discussed with 

Southern 
• Electric Power Distribution prior to the submission of a planning application. 
• Connection to the low pressure network (along Station Road approach to railway station) 

will provide sufficient pressure to support 200 homes, or a connection to the medium 
pressure network (opposite Oldfield Road) can be made for a more direct route to the site. 

• The presence of the railway line will incur engineering difficulties which attract additional 
costs (such as the use of directional drilling if necessary) when connecting to the Medium 
Pressure Gas Infrastructure. 

• Improvements to the road infrastructure on Station Road (leading to the railway station).  
• A Sustainable Energy Strategy will be required for the site, in accordance with proposed 

Core Policy 41. 
• Proposals will need to ensure that the development does not encroach within the climate 

change 1 in 100 year floodplain. 
• Surface water flows should be attenuated down to greenfield run off rates by using SUDS. 
• Flood mitigation must be provided including an appropriate sustainable drainage scheme 

that improves existing capacity. 
 
Transport 
 
• Improved access to Westbury railway station. 
• Provision of a link road connecting Station Road and Mane Way, via a new railway bridge 

crossing, part of the cost of this is already held in a bond.  
• Access for buses through the development from the railway station access road and from 

either Oldfield Road (across the railway line) or Station Road. Extension of existing town 
bus service through the development. 

• Improvements must be made to public transport connectivity and pedestrian and cycling 
linkages to the station and town centre. 

 
Social and Community 
 
• Contributions to the extension of one of the existing primary schools and secondary school 

provision.  
• Provision/relocation of a sailing clubhouse. 
 
Green Infrastructure 

234 
 Page 440



 
• Any loss of amenity (sailing and fishing) and accessible natural greenspace should be 

compensated in line with the West Wiltshire Leisure and Recreation Development Plan 
Document and green infrastructure policy (CP52). 

• Improve public accessibility to the lake where this does not conflict with sensitive wildlife. 
• Any additional requirements for provision of public open space, sports, children’s play and 

allotments must also be met in line with the Wiltshire open space standards. 
 
Ecology 
 
• Detailed surveys of Westbury Lakes CWS will be required to inform any design proposals. 

This will include National Vegetation Classification vegetation, protected species and 
hydrological surveys.  

• Development must buffer the CWS as far as possible and avoid fragmentation of the lake 
and losses of sensitive habitats including wet woodland and swamp / fen communities. 

• Long-term management of the Westbury Lakes CWS to be secured under an Ecological 
Management Plan. 

• Off-site compensation may be required for unavoidable impacts upon Westbury Lakes CWS 
and associated fauna; a suitable offsite location for wetland creation / enhancement must 
be identified and necessary long-term management secured through a planning 
obligation. 

 
Landscape 
 
• Existing woodland should be conserved and managed to maximise ecological and 

amenity value. 
 
Archaeology and Historical Interest 
 
• Pre-application archaeological evaluation. 
• The master plan should be in accordance with the specific recommendations for the site 

in the Historic Landscape Assessment, 2012 
 
Delivery Mechanism 
 
This site should be the subject of partnership between private and public sector based on 
frontloading a master plan to be approved by the Local Planning Authority as part of the 
planning application process. This master plan will guide the private sector led delivery of the 
site. 
 
Key Delivery Milestones, Monitoring and Review 
 
In order to expedite the delivery of development the council will work closely with the 
developers and landowners to facilitate delivery. This work should include master planning, 
community engagement and progress on the necessary assessments. If the council is 
concerned that significant progress is not being made on the preparation of a planning 
application, or that, subsequent to the grant of planning permission, as identified through 
regular monitoring work, there does not appear to be a reasonable prospect of development 
commencing in a timely manner, in line with the Core Strategy trajectory, a review into the 
delivery of the site will be instigated. This review will comprise: 
 

• detailed dialogue with the landowner, developer and their agents to ascertain the 
cause of delay 

• an update of the Strategic Housing Market Availability Assessment to identify whether 

235 
 Page 441



market demand has reduced or is being met through other sources 
• a further independent viability study of the site to assess its delivery 
• using the council’s influence to try and remove any barriers identified that stand in the 

way of progress, such as working with statutory consultees and the community, and 
• as a last resort, if the council feels that the new evidence renders the site undeliverable, a 

new allocation or allocations equivalent to the Strategic Allocation will be considered 
through the appropriate development plan process. 

 
An independent viability review of the site will be undertaken by Wiltshire Council within two 
years to review the standards of delivery set in view of the projected recovery from the 
recession of 2009. This review will not be undertaken where the developer has demonstrated 
commitment through delivery in the first two years of the strategy. 

236 
 Page 442



 

Hampton Park, Salisbury 
 

 
 
Site Description 
 
This area of land to the east of the city is limited by the A345, the built envelope of Paul's Dene, 
Bishopdown, and Hampton Park, the flood plain of the River Bourne, the village of Ford, and 
the Conservation Area at Old Sarum Airfield. It has a gradual slope down to the Bourne with 
some level sections in the centre and south. There is a sharp rise towards Castle Ridge. 
 
Objectives for the development 

 
To develop 500 new homes through a high quality residential development which delivers an 
appropriate sense of place in accordance with the South Wiltshire Design Guide, 'Creating 
Places', in a sustainable location close to Salisbury in a manner that complements the 
existing community at Bishopdown Farm and makes a significant strategic contribution to 
meeting the local housing needs of south Wiltshire. Specific issues to be addressed are: 
 

• protection of the strategic landscape setting of the northern slopes of Salisbury 
including safeguarding views to and from Old Sarum Scheduled Ancient Monument 

• strategic gap planning to ensure Ford retains its independent character and does not 
become merged with the city 

• the delivery of a significant country park that will be handed to the local community in 

237 
 Page 443



perpetuity 
• to deliver a development that is adequately served by essential infrastructure including 

transportation, water, drainage, education, healthcare and emergency services and 
green infrastructure 

 

• to plan for the permanent retention and enhancement of the Castle Hill/ Bishopdown 
green lung to the city as a key area of habitat retention and informal recreational 
open space 

• to deliver a development which conserves and in places enhances the natural 
environment, including the quality of the Bourne which is within the River Avon 
SAC/SSSI. 

 
Site Constraints 
 

• The sensitive landscape at the northern slopes of Salisbury including the setting of 
Old Sarum SAM.  

• Strategically important green lung at Bishopdown/Castle Hill. 
• Retention of the separate identity of Ford and avoiding potential coalescence.  
• The River Bourne, part of the River Avon SAC.  
• High pressure gas main to west of the site 
• Retention of existing byways.  
• Existing residential amenity to the north and south.  
• Salisbury Air Quality Management Zone.  
• Interface with existing residential properties and rural fringe. 

 
Land uses and quanta of development 
 
500 new dwellings of which a minimum of 40 % will be affordable. 
 
Essential Infrastructure Requirements 
 
Education 
 

• 1 form entry primary school and contributions towards secondary education 
 
Transportation 
 

• Any major infrastructure requirements outcomes identified by the Salisbury Transport 
Strategy or subsequent transport assessment and travel plan. A transport 
assessment setting out how the modal shift promoted at national level will be 
achieved, including improved bus, cycle and walking routes. 

 
Green Infrastructure 
 

• One new woodland hedging and native species to connect to retained hedges to 
River Avon. Surveys of protected species, especially botanical, in June/July. Other 
essential GI and BAP habitat and species requirements will be determined at or prior 
to master planning. 

 
Heritage/Salisbury Historic Environment Assessment 
 

• High risk to the west at Old Sarum SAM. Great potential for archaeology, field 
systems and Roman remains. Trial pitting under supervision of Wiltshire Council 
Archaeologist required. 

238 
 Page 444



 
 
Drainage and Water 
 

• Capacity improvements required downstream. 
• Network modelling will be required as part of an engineering appraisal to determine 

the scope and extent of these improvements prior to the commencement of 
development. 

• A contribution towards management and mitigation of phosphate levels in the River 
Avon SAC and their threat to protected species as well as its implementation. 

 
PCT 
 

• Financial contribution towards new or improved doctors and dentist surgeries. 
 
Emergency Services 
 

• Contribution to the provision of a new community fire station or improvements to 
existing facilities in order to provide a comprehensive and flexible responses to future 
emergencies. 

 
Renewable energy 
 

• 10% renewable energy generated on or near the site. 
 
These infrastructure requirements will be negotiated and delivered on a site by site basis as 
part of section 106 agreements and the Wiltshire wide DPD on planning obligations to 
incorporate the CIL, setting out a tariff approach is adopted. 
 
Place shaping requirements 
 
In addition to the provisions of 'Creating Places' and saved Local Plan policies, master 
planning of this site needs to specifically address: 
 

• safeguarding zone for the high pressure gas main. 
• a strongly defined urban/rural edge to the north of the site. the layout and utility of the 

Country Park. 
• defining the strategic gap between the development and the settlement of Ford. 

 
Strategic Linkages 

 
Linkages with the existing residential development at Bishopdown Farm and Hampton Park, 
to ensure that the new communities can integrate. 
 
Delivery Mechanism 

 
This site should be the subject of partnership between private and public sector based on 
frontloading a master plan to be approved by the Local Planning Authority as part of the 
planning application process. This master plan will guide the private sector led delivery of the 
site. 
 
Key Delivery Milestones, Monitoring and Review 

 

239 
 Page 445



This site has been chosen not only because strategically, environmentally and consultatively 
it can make a significant contribution to meeting local needs through regeneration, but also 
because early discussions with land owners, agents and prospective developers have 
encouraged the Local Planning Authority that this site can be brought forward within the first 
five years. 
 
In order to expedite the delivery of development within this period the council will work 
closely with the developers and landowners to facilitate delivery, and will expect to see 
significant, tangible progress towards a planning application within 18 months of the date of 
adoption of the Core Strategy. This work should include master planning, community 
engagement and progress on the necessary assessments. If the council is concerned that 
significant progress is not being made on the preparation of a planning application, or that, 
subsequent to the grant of planning permission, as identified through regular monitoring work, 
there does not appear to be a reasonable prospect of development commencing in a timely 
manner, a review into the delivery of the site will be instigated. This review will comprise: 
 

• detailed dialogue with the landowner, developer and their agents to ascertain the 
cause of delay 

• an update of the Strategic Housing Market Availability Assessment to identify whether 
market demand has reduced or is being met through other sources 

• a further independent viability study of the site to assess its delivery 
• using the council’s influence to try and remove any barriers identified that stand in the 

way of progress, such as working with statutory consultees and the community, and 
• as a last resort, if the Council feels that the new evidence renders the site 

undeliverable, a new allocation or allocations equivalent to the Strategic Allocation will 
be considered through the appropriate development plan process. 

 
An independent viability review of the site will be undertaken by Wiltshire Council within two 
years to review the standards of delivery set in view of the projected recovery from the 
recession of 2009. This review will not be undertaken where the developer has 
demonstrated commitment through delivery in the first two years of the strategy. 

 
 

240 
 Page 446



 

Fugglestone Red, Salisbury 
 

 
 
Site Description 

 
The site is to the north west of Salisbury and is bounded by The Avenue to the north west, the 
A360 Devizes Road to the north east, the extent of the built envelope of Salisbury 
(Fugglestone Red and Bemerton Heath to the south east and the Imerys quarry site, a 
significant dry valley and the UK Land Forces site to the south). The site is mainly agricultural 
land but with significant wooded features. It also includes an existing secondary school 
(Salisbury High School) to the south east of the site. The "townscape/countryside interface" of 
the whole area is of "elevated views, little/no foreground, generally harsh, abrupt settlement 
edge". 
 
Objectives for the Development 

 
To develop 1,250 new homes and 8 hectares of employment land, through a high quality 
development which delivers an appropriate sense of place in accordance with the South 
Wiltshire Design Guide, 'Creating Places' in a sustainable location close to Wilton and 
Salisbury, in a manner which complements the existing communities and makes a significant 
strategic contribution to meeting the local housing needs of south Wiltshire and helps 
facilitate the delivery of the proposed Sarum Academy or a replacement of Salisbury High 
School. Specific issues to be addressed are: 

241 
 Page 447



 
• the delivery of a new local centre for the Fugglestone Red area 
• assistance with and /or contributions towards improving the secondary school 
• retention of a Strategic gap of open countryside to ensure Wilton retains its 

independent character and does not become merged with Salisbury 
• to deliver a development which conserves and in places enhances the natural 

environment, including the quality of the Camp Down SSSI and the River Avon SAC 
• to conserve and where possible enhance views from the Wilton Estate and Old 

Sarum SAM  
• conservation of the historic Avenue. 

 
Site Constraints 
 

• Potential coalescence between Salisbury and Wilton and the need for a strategic 
landscape belt to be retained. 

• The sensitive landscape, especially the north eastern edge and the setting of Old 
Sarum SAM. Copses, wooded belts, and other tree planting. 

• Overhead power cables (several running N-S and E-W). Existing residential amenity 
to the east of the site. 

• Salisbury Air Quality Management Area on Devizes Road and Wilton Road. Setting of 
Wilton House and its historic park and garden. 

 
Land Uses and Quanta of Development 
 

• 1,250 new dwellings of which 40% will be affordable. 
• 8 hectares of employment land to include some start-up units. 
• New primary school and enhanced secondary school / academy provision.  
• Public open space. 
• Space for a new cemetery.  
• Local Centre.  

 
Essential Infrastructure Requirements 
 
Education 
 

• 2 form entry primary school and either a secondary contribution or assistance 
towards construction of new 'Salisbury High School'. 

 
Transportation 
 

• Any major infrastructure requirement outcomes identified by the Salisbury Transport  
Strategy or subsequent transport assessment and travel plan. 

• New access including improvements to the junction between the A360 and The 
Avenue. 

• A traffic assessment which sets out how the modal shift promoted at national level will 
be achieved, including improved, bus, cycle and walking routes. 

 
Green Infrastructure 
 

• Formal and informal public open space to be provided on site to reduce pressure on 
Camp Down SSSI. 

• New woodland, hedges and standard trees to connect retained hedges and 
woodland. An agreed proportion to contain features suitable for roosting bats. 

• Improved linkages to Wilton House historic park and garden. Extended phase 1 

242 
 Page 448



survey to be undertaken. 
• Other essential GI and BAP habitat and species requirements will be determined at or 

prior to master planning. 
 
Heritage 
 

• Archaeological investigations to be undertaken prior to finalisation of the site design, 
with the design responding to finds 

 
Drainage and Water 
 

• Requires boosted supply from existing local reservoir and a dedicated spine main to 
serve local distribution mains. 

• On-site sewers required to be provided by developers with separate systems of 
drainage. 

• Off-site surface water disposal to local land drainage systems with attenuated 
discharge needed to satisfynational regualtions.. 

• On-site foul-water pumping station with rising main to Devizes Road. 
• Long off-site connecting sewer (>1km) to agreed point of connection, where planned 

capacity is available to accept future foul flows. 
• A contribution is required towards a management and mitigation of phosphate levels in 

the River Avon 
• SAC catchment and their threat to protected species as well as its implementation. 

 
PCT 
 

• Financial contribution towards new or improved doctors and dentist surgeries or on-
site provision, if appropriate. 

 
Emergency Services 
 

• Contribution to the provision of a new community fire station or improvements to 
existing facilities in order to provide a comprehensive and flexible responses to future 
emergencies. 

 
Community Facilities and Services 
 

• Need to deliver a local centre to provide the local access to basic services this area 
of Salisbury currently lacks. 

 
Renewable Energy 
 

• 10% renewable energy generated on or near the site. 
 
These infrastructure requirements will be negotiated and delivered on a site by site basis as 
part of section 106 agreements and the Wiltshire wide DPD on planning obligations to 
incorporate the CIL, setting out a tariff approach is adopted. 
 
Place Shaping Requirements 
 
In addition to the provisions of 'Creating Places' and saved Local Plan policies, master 
planning of this site needs to specifically address: 
 

• significant tree planting to protect key views from Wilton Park 

243 
 Page 449



• overall building mass should be in keeping with the setting to Wilton Conservation 
Area 

• the Avenue not to be widened or subject to major road improvements, apart from the 
proposed new roundabout with Devizes Road 

• the visual gateway into Salisbury from the A360 is conserved and enhanced 
• a significant green buffer is retained between the built up areas of Salisbury and 

Wilton 
• lighting does not exceed the height of the development and is designed to minimise 

light pollution and sky glow 
• overhead cables to be buried. 

 
Strategic Linkages 
 

• Improved linkages between Wilton House historic park and garden and UKLF site. 
Development will also need to integrate with the existing developments at 
Fugglestone Red and Bemerton Heath. 

 
Delivery Mechanism 
 

This site should be the subject of partnership between private and public sector based on 
frontloading a master plan to be approved by the Local Planning Authority as part of the 
planning application process. This master plan will guide the private sector led delivery of the 
site. 
 
Key Delivery Milestones, Monitoring and Review 
 

This site has been chosen not only because strategically, environmentally and consultatively 
it can make a significant contribution to meeting local needs through regeneration, but also 
because early discussions with land owners, agents and prospective developers have 
encouraged the Local Planning Authority that this site can be brought forward within the first 
five years. 
 
In order to expedite the delivery of development within this period the council will work 
closely with the developers and landowners to facilitate delivery, and will expect to see 
significant, tangible progress towards a planning application within 18 months of the date of 
adoption of the Core Strategy. This work should include master planning, community 
engagement and progress on the necessary assessments. If the council is concerned that 
significant progress is not being made on the preparation of a planning application, or that, 
subsequent to the grant of planning permission, as identified through regular monitoring work, 
there does not appear to be a reasonable prospect of development commencing in a timely 
manner, a review into the delivery of the site will be instigated. This review will comprise: 
 

• detailed dialogue with the landowner, developer and their agents to ascertain the 
cause of delay 

• an update of the Strategic Housing Market Availability Assessment to identify whether 
market demand has reduced or is being met through other sources 

• a further independent viability study of the site to assess its delivery  
• using the council’s influence to try and remove any barriers identified that stand in the 

way of progress, such as working with statutory consultees and the community, and 
• as a last resort, if the council feels that the new evidence renders the site undeliverable, a 

new allocation or allocations equivalent to the Strategic Allocation will be considered 
through the appropriate development plan process. 

 

244 
 Page 450



An independent viability review of the site will be undertaken by Wiltshire Council within two 
years to review the standards of delivery set in view of the projected recovery from the 
recession of 2009. This review will not be undertaken where the developer has demonstrated 
commitment through delivery in the first two years of the strategy. 
 

 
 

245 
 Page 451



 

Land at the Maltings and Central Car Park, Salisbury 
 

 
 
Description of Site 
 
A city centre site situated to the west of the city's established secondary shopping area. The 
southern part of the site predominantly comprises The Maltings shopping centre. To the north 
is the central surface level car park. To the north east is the Millstream coach park. To the 
east of the coach park is the Boathouse bar and brasserie. To the south of the coach park 
are offices owned and occupied by the Probation Service and the Wiltshire PCT. To the 
immediate south of Avon Approach, leading to Central Car Park, is a service yard and private 
car park owned by Tesco's. The Playhouse Theatre, City Hall and Summerlock House 
(Department of Work and Pensions) are situated adjacent to The Maltings, to the south 
west of the site. Public Open Space runs along the eastern boundary and the city Library 
and Galleries are adjacent. To the extreme north of the site is an electricity substation and 
private car park. Several courses of the River Avon SAC flow through the site. To the west 
lies a railway embankment. 
 
Objectives for the Development 
 
To develop a retail led mixed use regeneration scheme through a high quality development, 
which delivers an appropriate sense of place in accordance with the South Wiltshire Design 
Guide, 'Creating Places' in a sustainable location within Salisbury city centre, in a manner 

246 
 Page 452



which complements the existing retail provision and makes a significant strategic contribution 
to meeting local housing needs of south Wiltshire. 
 

Specific issues to be addressed are: 
 

• to provide a range of retail unit sizes including an anchor store format and 
supermarket and a mix of major shop units and smaller store units 

• to ensure the continued viability and vibrancy of the whole of Salisbury city centre 
• to provide suitable living accommodation for a city centre location  
• a replacement or remodelled library 

 
Site Constraints 
 

• Protection of views of Salisbury Cathedral.  
• Protection and proximity of the River Avon SAC.  
• Salisbury city centre Air Quality Management Area. 
• Salisbury Conservation Area and a number of listed buildings. Electricity Sub-station. 
• Flooding. 
• Some fragmented land ownership. 
• Access, parking and servicing (including coach parking). 

 
Land Uses and Quanta of Development 
 

• Potential for a total of 40,000 sq m of retail floorspace (gross external area). 
• A single or few large retail outlets providing the whole of the floor area will not be 

appropriate to achieve the aims of the development and will not be permitted. 
• Comparison shopping uses, comprising a range of unit sizes including a mix of major 

shop units and smaller store units. 
• Convenience floor space.  
• Up to 200 dwellings. 
• Office use. 
• Leisure uses, to improve the quality of leisure facilities. 
•   a replacement or remodelled library Adequate car parking spaces including multi-

storey car parking. 
• A new park based around existing watercourses and opening linkages to the Market 

Square and Fisherton Street. 
• Improved cultural area around the Playhouse and City Hall, improving legibility from 

the new development through the cultural area to Fisherton Street. 
 
Essential Infrastructure Requirements 
 

Education 
 

Contributions towards primary and secondary. 
 
 
Transportation 
 

Any major infrastructure requirement outcomes identified by the Salisbury Transport Strategy 
or subsequent transport assessment and travel plan. A transport assessment which sets out 
how the modal shift promoted at national level will be achieved, including improved, bus, cycle 
and walking routes. 
 

247 
 Page 453



 
 
Green Infrastructure 
 
Formal and informal public open space to be provided on-site including a new park. 
Adequate land to be set aside for treatment of surface runoff. Incorporation of at least buffer 
strips adjacent to the river, restricting lighting near river. Construction method statement 
required with application. Other essential GI and BAP habitat and species requirements will 
be determined at or prior to master planning. 
 
Flooding 
 
Requirements of SFRA level 2 to be incorporated into design. No development in Flood 
Zone 3b. Development should be directed to areas of lowest risk from flooding with lower flood 
depths and velocities. Old landfill sites should be avoided where possible due to the risk of 
potential contaminants. Culverts both at the site and upstream need to be maintained. Model 
shows that safe access/egress will be possible via both Churchill Way West and Avon 
Approach during a 1 in 100 year flood event with climate change. 
 
Heritage 
 
Archaeological investigations should be undertaken prior to finalisation of the site design with 
the design responding to finds. 
 
Drainage and Water 
 
On-site sewers provided by developers with separate systems of drainage. Off-site surface 
water disposal to local land drainage systems with attenuated discharge to satisfy national 
regulations is required. May require a pumped discharge and an off-site link sewer to 
agreed point of connection, subject to engineering appraisal and network modelling to confirm 
the scope and extent of capacity improvements. There is a high probability of capacity 
improvements being necessary associated with downstream overflows to reduce risk of 
pollution and maintain water quality. A contribution is required towards a management and 
mitigation plan to address phosphate levels in the River Avon SAC catchment and their 
threat to protected species as well as its implementation. 
 
Renewable Energy 
 
10% renewable energy generated on or near the site.  
 
These infrastructure requirements will be negotiated and delivered on a site by site basis as 
part of section 106 agreements until the Wiltshire wide DPD on planning obligations to 
incorporate the CIL, setting out a tariff approach is adopted. 
 

Place Shaping Requirements 
 

As the site sits in a sensitive location between two river courses of the River Avon SAC any 
proposal will also need to meet the following requirements: 
 

• softening the hard edges of the river to provide better marginal habitat for wildlife 
including improved cover for fish and invertebrates 

• meet the requirements of Core Policies 68 (Water Resources) and 69 (Protection of 
the River Avon SAC) of this Core Strategy 

248 
 Page 454



• be designed and provide for flood defences and mitigation measures in accordance 
with the SFRA level 2 for the site 

• protection of views of Salisbury Cathedral 
• a development that upgrades public open space including riverside walks 
• a holistic approach to addressing the piecemeal nature of car parking, rear aspects of 

properties and land ownerships in a comprehensive manner 
• a development that is well integrated and opens up links to Fisherton Street, Market 

Walk and the surrounding City Centre 
• retention and enhancement of the ‘Shopmobility’ scheme continued provision of 

public toilets 
• massing of new development respects the scale and building forms of the historic 

urban fabric 
• the development can protect and enhance both the built and natural conservation 

interests surrounding the site 
• the character of the development creates a sense of place that responds to and is 

sympathetic to locally distinctive patterns of development 
• providing a high quality public realm that promotes public spaces that are attractive, 

safe, uncluttered and work effectively for all in society. 
 
Strategic Linkages 
 

Provision of a key link in the retail circuit of Salisbury, particularly between the High Street, 
Fisherton Street and Market Place/Castle Street. 
 
Delivery Mechanism 
 

This site should be the subject of partnership between private and public sector based on 
frontloading a master plan to be approved by the local planning authority as part of the 
planning application process. This master plan will guide the private sector led delivery of the 
site. 
 
Key Delivery Milestones, Monitoring and Review 
 

This site has been chosen not only because strategically, environmentally and consultatively 
it can make a significant contribution to meeting local needs through regeneration, but also 
because early discussions with land owners, agents and prospective developers have 
encouraged the local planning authority that this site can be brought forward within the first 
five years. 
 
In order to expedite the delivery of development within this period the council will work 
closely with the developers and landowners to facilitate delivery, and will expect to see 
significant, tangible progress towards a planning application following the date of adoption of 
the Core Strategy. This work should include master planning, community engagement and 
progress on the necessary assessments. If the council is concerned that significant progress 
is not being made on the preparation of a planning application, or that, subsequent to the 
grant of planning permission, as identified through regular monitoring work, there does not 
appear to be a reasonable prospect of development commencing in a timely manner, a 
review into the delivery of the site will be instigated. This review will comprise: 
 

• detailed dialogue with the landowner, developer and their agents to ascertain the 
cause of delay 

• an update of the Strategic Housing Market Availability Assessment to identify whether 

249 
 Page 455



market demand has reduced or is being met through other sources 
• a further independent viability study of the site to assess its delivery 
• using the council’s influence to try and remove any barriers identified that stand in the 

way of progress, such as working with statutory consultees and the community 
• as a last resort, if the council feels that the new evidence renders the site undeliverable, a 

new allocation or allocations equivalent to the Strategic Allocation will be considered 
through the appropriate development plan process. 

 
An independent viability review of the site will be undertaken by Wiltshire Council to review the 
standards of delivery set in view of the projected recovery from the recession of 2009. This 
review will not be undertaken where the developer has demonstrated commitment through 
delivery in the first two years of the strategy. 

250 
 Page 456



 

Churchfields and the Engine Sheds, Salisbury 
 

 
 
Site Description 
 

A major employment site serving Salisbury. The site accommodates approximately 200 
businesses of varying types and size on 33 hectares. It lies to the west of Salisbury city 
centre and to the south of the railway line, close to the railway station. The east, south and 
west of the site is bounded by the River Nadder (part of the River Avon SAC), with water 
meadows beyond. To the west of the engine shed site lies Cherry Orchard Lane with 
residential development beyond. To the east is Ashfield Road. Both Cherry Orchard Lane 
and Ashfield Road pass under railway bridges providing northward routes to Wilton Road. 
The site is currently overgrown with dense scrub and a number of fairly large trees, is a 
vacant site, and is bounded by the railway line to the north and Churchfields Road to the south 
and residential development to the west. 
 
Objectives of the Development 
 

To develop a housing led mixed use redevelopment of around 1,100 dwellings and retaining 
5 ha of employment through a high quality master plan, which delivers an appropriate sense of 
place in accordance with the South Wiltshire Design Guide, 'Creating Places' in a 
sustainable location, in a manner which complements the existing community and makes a 
significant strategic contribution to meeting local housing needs of south Wiltshire. 

251 
 Page 457



 
Specific issues to be addressed are:  
 

 
• project alignment with the LDF to ensure there is adequate and appropriate land 

available to allow a successful decant for existing employers in and around Salisbury 
so the existing protective policy preventing change of use away from employment can 
be relaxed 

• redevelopment that sympathetically capitalises on the assets of the site, such as 
proximity to water meadows, town path, Harnham and cathedral views 

• master planning to be undertaken for both sites to ensure that the two developments 
integrate  

• providing green links from the east and west of the River Nadder, to contribute 
towards the environmental and ecological aspirations of the Salisbury Vision 

• the incorporation of a central green to act as a focal point and encourage vitality  
• a mix of heights of up to 6 storeys determined by detailed context planning planning 

in and making features of key vista to the cathedral 
• to provide an element of carbon neutral homes maximising the site's south facing 

orientation. 
 
Site Constraints 
 

• Poor access through narrow rail bridges and via residential areas. 
• Potential land contamination (including former land fill site, abattoir and steam engine 

shed).  
• Protection and proximity of the River Avon SAC. 
• Salisbury city centre Air Quality Management Area.  
• Protection of views of Salisbury Cathedral. 
• Interdependencies with the Waste Site Specific Allocations DPD to find a suitable 

decant site for the 
• Household Recycling Centre currently on site.  
• Flooding. 

 
Engine shed 
 

• Issue over level of site, which appears to be mainly 2-3m above that of Churchfields 
Road: investigations need to be made as to whether this is artificial or natural. 

• 3m high blank retaining wall along Churchfields Road provides an unattractive 'dead' 
frontage. Proximity to railway line. 

 
Land Uses and Quanta of Development 
 

• Approximately 1100 dwellings of which a minimum of 40% will be affordable. The 
breakdown will be as detailed in Core Policy 43. 

• 5 ha of employment land.  
• Public open space.  
• Local neighbourhood centre 
• Primary school.  

 
 
Essential Infrastructure Requirements 
 
Education 

252 
 Page 458



 
• 2 form entry primary school. Contributions towards secondary education. 

 
Transportation 
 
Any major infrastructure requirement outcomes identified by the Salisbury Transport or 
subsequent transport assessment and travel plan. A transport assessment which sets out how 
the modal shift promoted at national level will be achieved, including improved, bus, cycle 
and walking routes. The site's proximity to the city centre and railway station provides 
opportunities for the implementation of strong demand management techniques to be 
applied. 
 
 
Green Infrastructure 

 
Formal and informal public open space to be provided on-site including a central green and 
green corridors adjacent to the River Nadder. Off-site contributions may also be required. 
Incorporating a significant buffer strip adjacent to river. Woodland habitat creation to create 
buffer, to help absorb additional public pressure. Identifying suitable recreational areas within 
the site to reduce pressure on river corridor. Restricting lighting near river. Adequate land to be 
set aside for treatment of surface runoff. Other essential GI and BAP habitat and species 
requirements will be determined at or prior to masterplanning. 
 
Flooding 
 

Requirements of SFRA level 2 to be incorporated into design and resilience planning 
measures. Much of the site is within Flood Zone 1. Future development should be situated in 
this zone. Highly vulnerable' uses in Flood Zone 2 will have to pass the Exception Test. If 
development is necessary to the north west of the site, development should be directed 
towards the areas of lowest risk. On old landfill sites, contaminated land poses additional 
problems because of the risk that polluted groundwater/leachate may be generated. The 
proposed drainage system must not remobilise any contaminants and infiltration should not 
therefore be used unless a full study of groundwater flow paths is undertaken. SUDS 
techniques that utilise infiltration should not be used here. 
 
Drainage and Water 
 

Existing supply mains provide limited capacity at peak demand. Redevelopment of this site 
will therefore require additional capacity with off-site reinforcement. On-site sewers provided 
by developers with separate systems of drainage also required. Sewer diversions may be 
required to accommodate development proposals. Surface water disposal to local land 
drainage systems with attenuated discharge needed to satisfy PPS25. Improvements 
required to downstream overflows to reduce risk of pollution and maintain water quality. 
Additional capacity improvements to foul water sewers may be needed subject to engineering 
appraisal. A contribution towards a management and mitigation of phosphate levels in the 
River Avon SAC catchment and their threat to protected species as well as its 
implementation. 
 
PCT 
 

Financial contribution towards new or improved doctors and dentist surgeries. 
 
 
 

253 
 Page 459



 
 
Emergency Services 
 

Contributions towards the fire service for new or improved fire stations in order to provide a 
comprehensive and flexible responses to future emergencies. 
 
Renewable Energy 
 

• 10% renewable energy generated on or near the site.   
 

These infrastructure requirements will be negotiated and delivered on a site by site basis as 
part of Section 106 agreements until the Wiltshire wide DPD on planning obligations to 
incorporate the CIL, setting out a tariff approach is adopted. 
 
Place Shaping Requirements 
 

In addition to the provisions of 'Creating Places' and saved Local Plan policies, master 
planning of the site needs to specifically address: 
 

• views to the cathedral as an integral part of the site layout and design linkages and 
enhancement of the water meadows and town path 

• provision of green links from the east and west of the River Nadder to contribute 
towards the environmental and ecological aspirations of the Salisbury Vision 

• incorporation of a central green to act as a focal point and encourage vitality 
• a mix of heights of up to 6 storeys on the Churchfields site determined by detailed 

context planning significant landscape buffer planting to the river 
• pedestrian, public transport and cycle linkages to the city centre, including integration 

with the Railway Station Interchange. 
• integration of both sites with each other and with existing residential uses orientation 

of the Engine Sheds site to maximise solar gain. 
 
Strategic Linkages 
 

• Pedestrian, public transport and cycle linkages to the city centre, including integration 
with the Railway Station Interchange. 

• Linkages and enhancement of the water meadows and town path. 
• Provision of green links from the east and west of the River Nadder to contribute 

towards the environmental and ecological aspirations of the Salisbury Vision. 
• Incorporation of a central green to act as a focal point and encourage vitality. 

 
Delivery Mechanism 
 
This site should be the subject of partnership between private and public sector based on 
frontloading a master plan. This master plan will guide the private sector led delivery of the 
site. The site will also include the need for some site assembly and management of 
'decanting' or moving of existing businesses. There is an opportunity for some of the 'dirtier' 
uses, such as the household recycling centre, to move to the former Imerys quarry site and 
there are consequently interdependencies. In addition, decant of other uses will be 
dependent upon other employment sites within this Core Strategy coming forward. 
 
Key delivery milestones, monitoring and review 

 

254 
 Page 460



This site has been chosen not only because strategically, environmentally and consultatively 
it can make a significant contribution to meeting local needs through regeneration, but also 
because early discussions with land owners, agents and prospective developers have 
encouraged the local planning authority that this site can be brought forward within the first 
five years. 
 
In order to expedite the delivery of development within this period the council will work 
closely with the developers and landowners to facilitate delivery, and will expect to see 
significant, tangible progress towards a planning application within 18 months of the date of 
adoption of the Core Strategy. This work should include master planning, community 
engagement and progress on the necessary assessments. If the council is concerned that 
significant progress is not being made on the preparation of a planning application, or that, 
subsequent to the grant of planning permission, as identified through regular monitoring work, 
there does not appear to be a reasonable prospect of development commencing in a timely 
manner, a review into the delivery of the site will be instigated. This review will comprise: 
 

• detailed dialogue with the landowner, developer and their agents to ascertain the 
cause of delay 

• an update of the Strategic Housing Market Availability Assessment to identify 
whether market demand has reduced or is being met through other sources 

• a further independent viability study of the site to assess its delivery 
• using the council’s influence to try and remove any barriers identified that stand in the 

way of progress, such as working with statutory consultees and the community 
• as a last resort, if the council feels that the new evidence renders the site 

undeliverable, a new allocation or allocations equivalent to the Strategic Allocation 
will be considered through the appropriate development plan process. 

 
An independent viability review of the site will be undertaken by Wiltshire Council within two 
years to review the standards of delivery set in view of the projected recovery from the 
recession of 2009. This review will not be undertaken where the developer has demonstrated 
commitment through delivery in the first two years of the strategy. 
 

255 
 Page 461



 

UK Land Forces Head Quarters, Wilton 
 

 
 
Site Description 

 
This site is situated approximately 0.7 km to the north of the centre of Wilton. It is to the east of 
The Avenue and the north of the A30 and Wilton Conservation Area. The site is divided into 
two parts to the south west and north east of a railway embankment. Beyond the A36 at the 
southern end of the site is Wilton Park (a registered historic park and garden). To the east of 
the northern part of the site falls there is agricultural land and to the south residential 
dwellings. The site is currently used for a mixture of military offices and accommodation. 
 
Objectives for the Development 
 
To develop around 450 new homes and a minimum of 3 hectares of employment land to 
provide a minimum of 1200 jobs, to match those that will be lost due to the military site 
closing. The development should be of a high quality which delivers an appropriate sense of 
place in accordance with the south Wiltshire design guide 'Creating Places' in a sustainable 
location close to Wilton, in a manner which complements the existing community and makes 
a significant contribution to meeting local housing needs in south Wiltshire, whilst improving 
the number and range of jobs available in the local area. 
 
Specific issues to be addressed are: 
 

256 
 Page 462



• to replace the employment opportunities lost by the MoD relocation to Andover 
• replacing the contribution the MoD jobs make to keeping existing shops and services 

in Wilton town centre viable 
• strategic gap to ensure Wilton retains its independent character and does not 

become merged with Salisbury 
• to deliver a development that conserves and enhances views into and out of the 

Wilton Conservation Area including Wilton Park and House 
• conservation of the historic gateway to Wilton along The Avenue. 

 
Site Constraints 
 

• Potential coalescence between Salisbury and Wilton: a strategic landscape belt to be 
retained. Setting and views to and from Wilton Park and Wilton Conservation Area. 

• Existing residential amenity to the east of the southern part of the site. Numerous 
mature trees on the site. 

• Potential impact on amenity of noise from the railway that divides the site and the 
A36 adjoining the southern half of the site. 

• Links between the northern and southern parts of the site and to Wilton.  
• Proximity to River Nadder (part of River Avon SAC). 
• Salisbury Air Quality Management Area on Wilton Road 

 
Land Uses and Quanta of Development 
 

• Around 450 new dwellings of which 40% will be affordable. The breakdown will be as 
detailed in Core Policy 43. 

• A minimum of 3 hectares of employment land to provide around 1,200 new jobs and 
to include some startup units. 

• New 1 FE primary school and secondary contributions.  
• Public open space. 

 
Essential Infrastructure Requirements 
 
Education 
 

1 form entry Primary school and either a secondary contribution or assistance towards 
construction of new 'Salisbury High School'.  
 
Transportation 
 

Any major infrastructure requirement outcomes identified by the Salisbury Transport Strategy 
or subsequent transport assessment and travel plan. New access including improvements 
to the junction between the A360 and The Avenue and at the A30. A transport assessment 
which sets out how the modal shift promoted at national level will be achieved, including 
improved, bus, cycle and walking routes. 
 
Green Infrastructure 
 

Formal and informal public open space to be provided on site. New woodland, hedges and 
standard trees to connect retained hedges and woodland and ultimately link River Avon. 
Improved linkages and contributions towards improvements to Wilton House historic park and 
garden and links through to proposed Fugglestone Red development. Other essential GI and 
BAP habitat and species requirements will be determine at or prior to master planning. 
 

257 
 Page 463



 
Heritage 
 

Site design and massing of buildings enhances views from Wilton Park and the setting of 
Wilton. Design and massing is sensitive to its location on rising ground. The existing tree 
belt along the southern road frontage is retained and enhanced as a backdrop to Wilton 
Park. Lighting does not exceed the height of the development and is designed to minimise 
light pollution and sky glow.  The open character of the land to the east of the development 
site is maintained as it also features in views from Little Park.  Possible enhancements of 
The Avenue. 
 

Drainage and Water 
 

No off-site reinforcement required for this redevelopment. Capacity available to serve this 
level of development. Existing site served by private sewers, on site sewers provided by 
developers with separate systems of drainage will be required. Off-site surface water 
disposal to local land drainage systems with attenuated discharge to satisfy PPS25. Off-site 
foul sewer to agreed point of connection to public sewer system. There is a low probability 
that downstream improvements will be required and will need to be confirmed by 
engineering appraisal to confirm the scope and extent of any capacity improvements. Existing 
railway at the southern boundary may restrict gravity discharge from the site. A 
contribution towards management and mitigation of phosphate levels in the River Avon SAC 
and their threat to protected species as well as implementation. 
 
PCT 
 
Financial contribution towards new or improved doctors and dentist surgeries. 
 
Emergency Services 

 
Contributions towards the Fire Service for new or improved fire stations in order to provide a 
comprehensive and flexible responses to future emergencies. 
 
Community Facilities and Services 

 
Need to deliver a local centre to provide the local access to basic services this area currently 
lacks. 
 
Renewable Energy 
 
10% renewable energy generated on or near the site.  

 
These infrastructure requirements will be negotiated and delivered on a site by site basis as 
part of section 106 agreements and the Wiltshire wide DPD on planning obligations to 
incorporate the CIL, setting out a tariff approach is adopted. 
 
Place Shaping Requirements 
 
In addition to the provisions of 'Creating Places' and saved Local Plan policies, master 
planning of this site needs to specifically address: 
 

• tree planting to protect key views from Wilton Park the Avenue to be retained and 
enhanced 

258 
 Page 464



• massing and design of buildings sympathetic to Wilton Conservation Area 
• lighting does not exceed the height of the development and is designed to minimise 

light pollution and sky glow 
• show how the new neighbourhood can be integrated into the existing community of 

Wilton, both residential and commercial and into the built and natural environment 
• employment land should not comprise development that will cause a nuisance to the 

new or existing residents 
• the Avenue not to be widened or subject to major road improvements 
• a significant green buffer retained between the built up areas of Salisbury and Wilton. 

 
Strategic Linkages 
 
Improved linkages with the built up areas of Wilton, Wilton House historic park and garden 
and the site at Fugglestone Red.  
 
Delivery Mechanism 
 
This site should be the subject of partnership between private and public sector based on 
frontloading a Master Plan. This Master Plan will guide the private sector led delivery of the 
site. 
 
Key delivery Milestones, Monitoring and Review 
 
This site has been chosen not only because strategically, environmentally, meeting local 
needs and consultatively it is a favoured site, but also because of the clear threats that the 
MoD vacating the site can have on the viability and vitality of Wilton. Early discussions with 
landowners have indicated to the local planning authority that this site needs to be 
developed in the first five years of the plan in order to mitigate the potential impacts on Wilton 
and also to satisfy rules for the disposal of 'Crown' land. 
 
In order to expedite the delivery of development within this period the council will work 
closely with the developers and landowners to facilitate delivery, and will expect to see 
significant, tangible progress towards a planning application within 18 months of the date of 
adoption of the Core Strategy. This work should include master planning, community 
engagement and progress on the necessary assessments. If the council is concerned that 
significant progress is not being made on the preparation of a planning application, or that, 
subsequent to the grant of planning permission, as identified through regular monitoring work, 
there does not appear to be a reasonable prospect of development commencing in a timely 
manner, a review into the delivery of the site will be instigated. This review will comprise: 
 

• detailed dialogue with the landowner, developer and their agents to ascertain the 
cause of delay 

• an update of the Strategic Housing Market Availability Assessment to identify whether 
market demand has reduced or is being met through other sources 

• a further independent viability study of the site to assess its delivery 
• using the council’s influence to try and remove any barriers identified that stand in the 

way of progress, such as working with statutory consultees and the community 
• as a last resort, if the council feels that the new evidence renders the site undeliverable, a 

new allocation or allocations equivalent to the Strategic Allocation will be considered 
through the appropriate development plan process. 

 

259 
 Page 465



An independent viability review of the site will be undertaken by Wiltshire Council within two 
years to review the standards of delivery set in view of the projected recovery from the 
recession of 2009. This review will not be undertaken where the developer has demonstrated 
commitment through delivery in the first two years of the strategy 
 
 

260 
 Page 466



 

Longhedge, Old Sarum, Salisbury 
 
 

 
Site Description 
 
The site is located to the north of Salisbury city, to the north east of Old Sarum and the A345. 
To the south of the site is the Beehive Park and Ride site, largely screened by trees, and a 
small area of employment land. To the east is an employment site and Old Sarum Airfield, 
which is a conservation area. To the immediate east is an existing Local Plan allocation 
site, where detailed planning permission has been granted for 600 dwellings and building 
has commenced. This site lies to either side of the Salisbury City Football Club stadium. 
 
Objectives for the Development 

 
To develop a housing led mixed use development of 450 dwellings and 8 ha of employment, 
through a high quality master plan which delivers an appropriate sense of place in accordance 
with the South Wiltshire Design Guide, 'Creating Places' in a sustainable location, in a 
manner which complements the existing community and makes a significant strategic 
contribution to meeting local housing needs of South Wiltshire. Specific issue to be addressed 
are: 
 

• The introduction of additional dwellings to the Old Sarum area will add a critical mass 
to secure the delivery and viability of planned and new local facilities to create a more 
self-contained community based around a neighbourhood centre. 

261 
 Page 467



• The provision of employment opportunities for both new investment and decant from 
Churchfields. 

 
 
 
Site Constraints 
 

• Football stadium and airfield noise will need to be mitigated. 
• Highways impact on Castle Road and wider area, and associated impact on air 

quality 
• Impact on setting of Old Sarum SAM and Old Sarum Airfield Conservation Area. 
• High potential for unknown archaeology on the site. 
• Street lighting designed to minimise light pollution and sky glow. 
• Salisbury Air Quality Management Area 

 
Land Uses and Quanta of Development 
 

The site comprises approximately 51ha and will accommodate a mix of employment and 
housing. The site will deliver approximately 450 dwellings of which a minimum of 40% will be 
affordable. The breakdown will be as detailed in Core Policy 43. Community infrastructure and 
approximately 8ha of employment land which will include general industrial, office, research 
and development, storage and distribution, but exclude retail. 
 
Essential Infrastructure Requirements 
 
Education 

 
• 2 form entry primary school and financial contributions for secondary. 

 
Transportation 
 

• Any major infrastructure requirement outcomes identified by the Salisbury Transport 
Strategy or subsequent transport assessment and travel Plan. A transport 
assessment which sets out how the modal shift promoted at national level will be 
achieved, including improved, bus, cycle and walking routes and possible junction 
improvements at Beehive roundabout, opportunities for cycle and footpath links  to 
Salisbury city centre, Beehive Park and Ride and other strategic sites. 

• Implementing measures to prevent overloading of Castle Road and potential 
contribution to Beehive Park and Ride. 

 
Green Infrastructure 
 

• Formal and informal public open space to be provided on site. 
• Strategic landscape plan required to ensure opportunities to improve views from Old 

Sarum, through the screening of existing functional buildings. 
• The strengthening of existing tree belts at the site. 
• Other essential GI and BAP habitat and species requirements will be determined at or 

prior to master planning. 
 
Flooding 
 

• A flood risk assessment will be required and satisfy the requirements of national 
regulations should be made to the Level 1 SFRA. 

 

262 
 Page 468



 
 
Drainage and Water 
 

• This should pay particular attention to drainage and the control of surface water by 
the use of SUDS. Engineering assessment of water and foul sewer drainage at the 
site and potential capacity improvements at Petersfinger sewerage works and potable 
water capacity 

• Cumulative development within the upstream catchment at Old Sarum, Hampton Park 
and Longhedge developments will trigger significant works with new relief sewer to 
ensure that risk from sewer flooding is resolved. 

• A contribution towards a management and mitigation of phosphate levels in the River 
Avon SAC and their threat to protected species as well as its implementation. 

 
PCT 
 
Financial contribution towards new or improved doctors and dentist surgeries. 
 
Emergency Services 
 

• Contributions towards the fire service for new or improved fire stations in order to 
provide a comprehensive and flexible responses to future emergencies. Community 
Facilities and Services: Additional community facilities and services to complement 
and reinforce the viability of the already planned district centre. 

 
Renewable Energy 
 

• 10% renewable energy generated on or near the site.  
 
These infrastructure requirements will be negotiated and delivered on a site by site basis as 
part of section 106 agreements and the Wiltshire wide DPD on planning obligations to 
incorporate the CIL, setting out a tariff approach is adopted 
 
Place Shaping Requirements 
 

In addition to the provisions of 'Creating Places' and saved Local Plan policies, master 
planning of this site needs to specifically address: 

 
• Density and building height of development will vary in response to the visual 

sensitivity of different parts of the site allowing a balance between built and ‘green 
areas’ with a higher density of development in the southern part of the site through to 
predominantly ‘green / planted areas’. This ‘topographical progression’ of 
development would be matched by a ‘structural landscape / green infrastructure 
progression’ in order to minimise visual impact and help to maintain an appropriate 
landscape setting for Old Sarum. 

• Retaining and strengthening the landscape elements of the site to inform the layout of 
development and allowing it to relate, respond and assimilate with the surroundings. 

• Embedding the majority of the new development within a newly established network of 
green corridors and strategic landscaping. 

• Ensuring the design responds to a detailed analysis of the historic environment; 
safeguards key views to and from Old Sarum and; integrates the sites important 
archaeology. 

• Overall building mass is in keeping with the rural setting. 

263 
 Page 469



 
i. Key views to and from Old Sarum and impact on the SAM. 
ii. Show how the new neighbourhood can be integrated into the existing 

community, both residential and commercial and into the built and natural 
environment. 

iii. Employment land should not comprise development that will cause a nuisance 
to the new or existing residents. 

 
Strategic Linkages 
 
Linkages with the existing allocated site at Old Sarum to ensure that the new communities 
can integrate and function as one 
 
Delivery Mechanism 
 
This site should be the subject of partnership working towards based on frontloading a 
master plan to be approved by the Local Planning Authority as part of the planning 
application process. This master plan will show integration with the existing proposed 
development of 650 dwellings at Old Sarum. 
 
Key delivery Milestones, Monitoring and Review 
 
This site has been chosen not only because strategically, environmentally and consultatively 
it can make a significant contribution to meeting local needs through regeneration, but also 
because early discussions with land owners, agents and prospective developers have 
encouraged the Local Planning Authority that this site can be brought forward within the first 
five years. In order to expedite the delivery of development within this period the council will 
work closely with the developers and landowners to facilitate delivery, and will expect to see 
significant, tangible progress towards a planning application within 18 months of the date of 
adoption of the Core Strategy. This work should include master planning, community 
engagement and progress on the necessary assessments. If the council is concerned that 
significant progress is not being made on the preparation of a planning application, or that, 
subsequent to the grant of planning permission, as identified through regular monitoring 
work, there does not appear to be a reasonable prospect of development commencing in a 
timely manner, a review into the delivery of the site will be instigated. This review will 
comprise: 
 

• detailed dialogue with the landowner, developer and their agents to ascertain the 
cause of delay 

• an update of the Strategic Housing Market Availability Assessment to identify whether 
market demand has reduced or is being met through other sources 

• a further independent viability study of the site to assess its delivery 
• using the council’s influence to try and remove any barriers identified that stand in the 

way of progress, such as working with statutory consultees and the community, and 
• as a last resort, if the council feels that the new evidence renders the site undeliverable, a 

new allocation or allocations equivalent to the Strategic Allocation will be considered 
through the appropriate development plan process. 

 
An independent viability review of the site will be undertaken by Wiltshire Council within two 
years to review the standards of delivery set in view of the projected recovery from the 
recession of 2009. This review will not be undertaken where the developer has demonstrated 
commitment through delivery in the first two years of the strategy

264 
 Page 470



 
King's Gate, Amesbury 

 

 
Site Description 

 
The site is located to the south of Amesbury and comprises former agricultural land. The 
site is bounded by residential development. Agricultural land surrounds the site on the 
western and southern boundaries, which is in turn bounded by the A345 to the west and 
Stockport Road to the south and east. There is further open agricultural land beyond 
Stockport Road and beyond the A345. Former military housing and MoD outdoor sports 
facilities are located to the east of the site, beyond which lies the Boscombe Down Military 
Garrison. 
 
Objectives for the Development 

 
To develop 1,300 houses through a high quality development, which delivers an appropriate 
sense of place in accordance with the south Wiltshire design guide ‘Creating Places’ in a 
manner which complements the existing development at Archer's Gate and makes a 
significant strategic contribution to meeting local housing needs of south Wiltshire. The site 
master plan should: 
 

• make provision for a new wing of the existing Amesbury Archer primary school  
• allocate land for an additional 1 form entry primary school 
• ensure any new development respects the scale, setting and form of the existing 

265 
 Page 471



settlement and appropriate design and mitigation measures are put in place to 
accommodate new development without significant adverse effects on key views to 
and from upper chalk downland slopes 

• explore the potential to soften visually harsh and abrupt settlements edges in this 
area through a strong structure of tree and shrub planting and to ensure that the new 
development does not encroach onto previously identified amenity land, but 
compliments the Archers Gate Master Plan 

• take account of the Special Landscape Area which abuts the western edge of the site 
and ensure that the built form integrates well with existing natural features. 
Development would need to ensure a sensitive interface between the natural and 
man-made setting, and 

• make provision for the introduction of local facilities to create a more self-contained 
community based around the existing Archers Gate neighbourhood centre. 

 
Site Constraints 
 

• Potential impact on the River Avon SAC. 
• Possible protected species including badgers, birds, reptiles. 
• Existing tree belt. 
• Area of Special Archaeological Significance. The strip lynchets to the north west of the 

site are a Scheduled Ancient Monument. 
• Proximity to Boscombe Down military airfield and noise implications 
• Special Landscape Area abutting the western edge of the site. 

 
Land Uses and Quanta of Development 
 

• 1,300 houses of which a minimum of 40% will be affordable. The breakdown will be 
as detailed in Core Policy 43 

• New 1 form entry primary school 
• Public Open Space 

 
Essential Infrastructure Requirements 
 
Education 
 

• New wing of existing primary school to be built plus an additional 1 form entry primary 
school. Secondary contribution to expand Stonehenge School. 

 
Transportation 
 
Any infrastructure requirement outcomes to be identified by the Transport Assessment 
which will cover the following. 
 

• An updated Transport Model based on updated traffic counts and traffic generation 
impact assessments on the local network including the links to the site and the town 
centre. 

• An assessment of the effectiveness of the double-mini roundabout on the junction of 
Underwood Drive and Boscombe Road. 

• An assessment of committed development, including the development at Solstice 
Park. The potential development at Boscombe Down. 

• A pedestrian and cyclist audit of the link between Byway 20 and the town centre. 
 
 

266 
 Page 472



 
Green Infrastructure: 
 

• Formal and informal public open space to be provided on site.  
• Site should look to minimise impact on River Avon SAC. 
• New chalk grassland habitat in several connected blocks each of minimum 1 ha, 

located to connect with grassland habitat to south and east. 
• New hedgerow planting especially within new chalk grasslands to encourage 

farmland birds and butterflies. 
• New grassland and wood habitat to link this habitat into the landscape, depending on 

possible future use of this area. 
• Other essential GI and BAP habitat and species requirements will be determined at or 

prior to master planning. 
 
Drainage and Water 
 
A contribution is required towards a management and mitigation plan to address phosphate 
levels in the River Avon SAC catchment and the threat to protected species as well as its 
implementation. 
 
PCT 
 

• Possible provision of land or financial contribution towards new or improved doctors 
and dentist surgeries. 

 
Emergency Services 
 

• Contribution to the provision of a new community fire station or improvements to 
existing facilities in order to provide a comprehensive and flexible responses to future 
emergencies. 

 
Community facilities 
 

• Additional facilities and services to complement and reinforce the viability of the already 
planned district centre. 

 
Renewable Energy 
 

• 10% renewable energy generated on or near the site. 
 

These infrastructure requirements will be negotiated and delivered on a site by site basis 
as part of section 
106 agreements and the Wiltshire wide DPD on planning obligations to incorporate the 
CIL, setting out a tariff approach is adopted. 

 
Place Shaping Requirements 
 
In addition to the provisions of 'Creating Places' and saved Local Plan policies, the master 
plan should: 
 

• ensure the built form integrates well with existing natural features 
• ensure that building design and massing respect the edge of settlement location 
• show how the new development will integrate with earlier phases of development at 

267 
 Page 473



Archers Gate take account of the adopted design code 
• development to be set back from the northern boundary and limited in height to tow 

storeys to protect views from the designed parkland at Amesbury Abbey and water 
meadows and limited any adverse impact to the setting of the Stonehenge World 
Heritage Site 

• strategic landscape buffer to the north of the site to minimise the landscape impact of 
development retain, strengthen and extend existing tree screens to the north of the 
site 

• lighting not to exceed the height of the development and designed to minimise light 
pollution and skyglow, and 

• appropriate design and mitigation response ot the important archaeology identified by 
a programme of evaluation 

 
Strategic Linkages 
 
Linkages with the existing allocated site at Archers Gate to ensure that the new communities 
can integrate and function as one. 
 
Delivery Mechanism 
 
The site should be the subject of partnership between private and public sector based on 
frontloading a master plan. This master plan will guide the private sector led delivery of the 
site. 
 
Key Delivery Milestones, Monitoring and Review 
 
This site has been chosen not only because strategically, environmentally and consultatively 
it can make a significant contribution to meeting local needs through regeneration, but also 
because early discussions with land owners, agents and prospective developers have 
encouraged the Local Planning Authority that this site can be brought forward within the first 
five years. 
 
In order to expedite the delivery of development within this period the council will work 
closely with the developers and landowners to facilitate delivery, and will expect to see 
significant, tangible progress towards a planning application within 18 months of the date of 
adoption of the Core Strategy. This work should include master planning, community 
engagement and progress on the necessary assessments. If the council is concerned that 
significant progress is not being made on the preparation of a planning application, or that, 
subsequent to the grant of planning permission, as identified through regular monitoring work, 
there does not appear to be a reasonable prospect of development commencing in a timely 
manner, a review into the delivery of the site will be instigated. This review will comprise: 
 

• detailed dialogue with the landowner, developer and their agents to ascertain the 
cause of delay 

• an update of the Strategic Housing Market Availability Assessment to identify whether 
market demand has reduced or is being met through other sources 

• a further independent viability study of the site to assess its delivery 
• using the Council’s influence to try and remove any barriers identified that stand in the 

way of progress, such as working with statutory consultees and the community, and 
• as a last resort, if the Council feels that the new evidence renders the site 

undeliverable, a new allocation or allocations equivalent to the Strategic Allocation will 
be considered through the appropriate development plan process. 

 

268 
 Page 474



An independent viability review of the site will be undertaken by Wiltshire Council within two 
years to review the standards of delivery set in view of the projected recovery from the 
recession of 2009. This review will not be undertaken where the developer has demonstrated 
commitment through delivery in the first two years of the strategy.

269 
 Page 475



 

Former Imerys Quarry, Salisbury 
 
 

 
 
Site Description 

 
The Imerys site is located between Wilton and Salisbury, immediately north of the A36 and the 
railway line. To the north of the site is an existing secondary school (Salisbury High School) 
and to the east is recreation space. It falls partly within the Larkhill and Winterbourne Chalk 
Downland Landscape Character Area and is in a slightly elevated position with the natural 
ground level sloping in a south westerly direction. 
 
Objectives for the Development 

 
To develop 4 ha of employment land through a high quality development which delivers a 
sense of place in accordance with the South Wiltshire Design Guide, 'Creating Places' in a 
sustainable location close to Salisbury whilst making the efficient use of previously 
developed land. 
 
Specific issues to be addressed are:  

 
• restoration of the site 
• to deliver a development which conserves and in places enhances the natural 

environment. 
 

270 
 Page 476



 
Site Constraints 
 

• Impact on River Avon SAC. 
• Possible protected species. 
• Cliff face between the quarry and secondary school. Areas of chalk pit and settling 

pools are undevelopable. 
• Access currently gained from A36 over the railway, however railway bridge is narrow 

and possibly inappropriate for more intensive traffic use. 
• Potential coalescence between Salisbury and Wilton 
• Retention of railway sidings. 
• Salisbury Air Quality Area on Wilton Road. 
• No water supply mains close to this development. Development at this site will require 

off-site connecting supply main from agreed point on the existing network. 
• There is no recorded public surface water sewer system in this area. No surface water 

discharges will be permitted to foul sewer. 
 
Land Uses and Quanta of Development 
 

• 4 ha of employment land 
 
Essential Infrastructure Requirements 
 
Transportation 
 

• Development will be permitted if it can be demonstrated that the operation and 
highway safety of the A36 is not compromised, non-motorised users can safely access 
and egress the site, and that suitable sustainable transport options exist for users OR 
through the completion of a transport assessment and travel plan a package of 
suitable mitigation measures is identified, agreed with the Highways Agency and 
implemented prior to operation of the site. 

 
Green Infrastructure 
 

• Site should look to minimise impact on River Avon SAC. Potential for undevelopable 
areas to create additional habitat. 

• Other essential GI and BAP habitat and species requirements will be determined at or 
prior to master planning. 

 
Drainage and Water 
 

• Development at this site will require off site connecting supply main from agreed point 
on the existing network. 

• On-site sewers provided by developers with separate systems of drainage, limited 
spare capacity available in local foul network. 

• Off-site link sewer to agreed point of connection subject to engineering appraisal. 
• Network modelling to confirm the scope and extent of capacity improvements to 

downstream network. A contribution towards a management and mitigation of 
phosphate levels in the River Avon SAC catchment and the threat to protected 
species as well as its implementation. 

 
Emergency Services 
 

271 
 Page 477



• Contribution to the provision of a new community fire station or improvements to 
existing facilities in order to provide a comprehensive and flexible responses to future 
emergencies. 

 
Renewable Energy 
 

• 10% renewable energy generated on or near the site.  
 
 
These infrastructure requirements will be negotiated and delivered on a site by site basis as 
part of section 106 agreements until the Wiltshire wide DPD on planning obligations to 
incorporate the CIL, setting out a tariff approach is adopted. 
 
Place Shaping Requirements 
 

In addition to the provisions of 'Creating Places' and saved Local Plan policies, master 
planning of this site needs to specifically address: 

 
• care will have to be taken to ensure the built form integrates well with existing natural 

features, as well as the proposed development to the north and the existing 
development to the east 

• archaeological investigations are undertaken prior to finalisation of the site design 
with the design responding to finds, as required by English Heritage 

• the tree screen is retained between the development and the road, helping screen 
views from Wilton Park and providing a green break between the built up areas of 
Wilton and Salisbury visibility splays at the entrance do not require major tree loss 

• development is shelved within the chalk pit and does not exceed the height of the 
current development on site (which is not visible in views from Wilton Park), and  

• lighting is low level and does not intrude above the height of the tree screen and is 
designed to minimise skyglow. 

 
Strategic Linkages 
 
Linkages with the allocated site Fugglestone Red and existing development to the east of the 
site so that the new employment community can integrate with the existing. 
 
Delivery Mechanism 
 
The site should be the subject of partnership between private and public sector based on 
frontloading a master plan. This master plan will guide the private sector led delivery of the 
site. 
 
Key Delivery Milestones, Monitoring and Review 
 
This site has been chosen not only because strategically it can make a significant 
contribution to meeting local needs through regeneration, but also because early discussions 
with land owners have encouraged the Local Planning Authority that this site can be brought 
forward within the first 5 years. 
 
In order to expedite the delivery of development within this period the council will work 
closely with the developers and landowners to facilitate delivery, and will expect to see 
significant, tangible progress towards a planning application within 18 months of the date of 
adoption of the Core Strategy. This work should include master planning, community 
engagement and progress on the necessary assessments. If the council is concerned that 

272 
 Page 478



significant progress is not being made on the preparation of a planning application, or that, 
subsequent to the grant of planning permission, as identified through regular monitoring work, 
there does not appear to be a reasonable prospect of development commencing in a timely 
manner, a review into the delivery of the site will be instigated. This review will comprise: 
 

• detailed dialogue with the landowner, developer and their agents to ascertain the 
cause of delay 

• an update of the Strategic Housing Market Availability Assessment to identify whether 
market demand has reduced or is being met through other sources 

• a further independent viability study of the site to assess its delivery 
• using the Council’s influence to try and remove any barriers identified that stand in the 

way of progress, such as working with statutory consultees and the community, and 
• as a last resort, if the Council feels that the new evidence renders the site 

undeliverable, a new allocation or allocations equivalent to the Strategic Allocation will 
be considered through the appropriate development plan process. 

 
An independent viability review of the site will be undertake by Wiltshire Council within two 
years to review the standards of delivery set in view of the projected recovery from the 
recession of 2009. This review will not be undertaken where the developer has 
demonstrated commitment through delivery in the first two years of the strategy. 

 
 

 

273 
 Page 479



Appendix B: List of topic papers 
 
In order to identify the challenges that Wiltshire faces and to demonstrate that the proposals in 
this strategy are truly deliverable, a detailed collation, production and scrutiny of evidence 
has been used. A detailed collation of this evidence is provided in the series of Topic Papers, 
which support this strategy. 
 
Topic Paper 1: Climate Change 
 
Topic Paper 2: Housing 
 
Topic Paper 3: Settlement Strategy  

Topic Paper 4: Rural Signposting Tool  

Topic Paper 5: Natural Environment  

Topic Paper 6: Retail 

Topic Paper 7: Economy 
 
Topic Paper 8: Infrastructure and Planning Obligations 
 
Topic Paper 9: Built and Historic Environment 
 
Topic Paper 10: Transport 
 
Topic Paper 11: Green Infrastructure  

Topic Paper 12: Site Selection Process  

Topic Paper 13: Military Issues 

Topic Paper 14: Building Resilient Communities 
 
Topic Paper 15: Housing Requirement Technical Paper 
 
Topic Paper 16: Gypsy and Travellers 
 
 
 
 
 

274 
 Page 480



 

Appendix C: Housing Trajectory of Wiltshire Core Strategy 
 
Housing land supply 
 
A housing land supply statement is presented in this appendix for the purposes of 
demonstrating that there is an adequate supply of housing land in accordance with current 
guidance. The assessment also takes account of additional evidence that has been received 
since the publication of the July 2014 Housing Land Supply Statement (HLSS). The supply is 
represented graphically in the housing trajectories. 
 
The housing supply and trajectories are obtained by working with site representatives to 
establish site specific delivery timetables for all large sites113

 (including permissions, local 
plan allocations, strategic site allocations, and neighbourhood plan allocations). A standard 
delivery rate is applied to all small permitted sites. 
 
The framework permits Local Planning Authorities to make an allowance for windfall 
development across the plan period, where there is compelling evidence that such sites 
have become available and will continue to provide a reliable source of supply. In Wiltshire, 
from 2006 to 2011, some 35% of all development was on windfall sites. The delivery strategy 
supports the delivery of such sites by prioritising brownfield development within the 
settlement framework. However, the level of windfall permissions has declined in the current 
housing market and in order to be conservative this reduced level is assumed to come 
forward over the plan period. It is expected that windfall delivery will pick up with the 
economy, and this will reduce the requirement to deliver through neighbourhood plans 
and/or a Site Allocations DPD. 
 
Following the five year period (2014-19) an additional allowance is made for sites delivered 
through neighbourhood plans and/or a Site Allocations DPD in accordance with the delivery 
strategy. This conforms to the framework which allows the supply for years 6-10 and 11-15 
to be identified at broad locations.  
 
The respective contributions from these sources of supply are represented in the housing 
trajectories and is summarised in table C1. The contribution from windfall and from 
neighbourhood plans and/or a Site Allocations DPD are combined in recognition of 
complementary delivery from these sources. 
 
Table C1: Sources of supply 
Housing 
Market 
Area 

Requirement 
2006 - 2026 

Housing already 
provided for 

Housing to be identified 

Completions 
2006 -14 

Specific 
committed 
sites 

Strategic 
sites 

Conservative 
windfall 
allowance 

Remainder 
to be 
identified114 

East 
Wiltshire 

5,940 2,713 1,597 695 127 808 

North 
and West 
Wiltshire 

24,740 9,955 4,687 4,840 1,688 3,570 

South 10,420 3,547 1991 5,100 449 0 

113 A large sites consists of 10 or more dwellings. 
114 This will be delivered through neighbourhood plans and/or a Site Allocations DPD as well as through 
additional windfall delivery in excess of the conservative allowance. 
 

275 
 

                                                           

Page 481



Wiltshire 
 
The above table demonstrates that of the total housing requirement for 42,000 homes, some 
35,125115

 are identified on specific sites. At the very least a further 2,264 are expected to be 
delivered on unidentified windfall sites. This leaves at most 4,611 homes to be identified 
through neighbourhood plans and/or a Site Allocations DPD. 
 
The framework requires that an additional contingency of 5% is demonstrated relative to the 
five year requirement, and where there has been a record of persistent under-delivery a 
contingency of 20% is required. This equates to a requirement to demonstrate 5.25 years 
supply, or with persistent under-delivery 6 years supply. 
 
The current assessment of five year land supply with a base date of April 2014 is presented 
in table C2. 
 
Table C2: Five year land supply 
Area Housing 

requirement 
2006-2026 

Housing 
completions 
2006-2014 

Five year 
housing 
requirement 
2014-2019 

Deliverable 
supply 
2014-2019 

Number of 
years 
deliverable 
supply 

East Wiltshire 5,940 2,713 1,345 1,752 6.52 
North and West 
Wiltshire 

24,740 9,955 6,160 6,685 5.43 

South Wiltshire 10,420 3,547 2,864 3,203 5.59 
 
It is evident that there is a sufficient level of supply for all Housing Market Areas compared to 
the requirement including contingency of 5%. The Wiltshire Core Strategy Inspector 
concluded in his final report that there was no record of persistent under-delivery in any of 
the Housing Market Areas, and so a sufficient supply is demonstrated. 
 
Gypsy and Traveller land supply 
Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (March 2012, DCLG) requires that a sufficient supply of 
sites are identified for five and ten years and where possible for 15 years. 
 
A number of specific deliverable Gypsy and Traveller sites are known, consisting of those 
that have achieved permission since April 2011, those that have permission but have not yet 
been developed. Considering these alone, the land supply assessment in table C3 is 
achieved. 
 

115 Excluding the permissions for 900 dwellings at Moredon Bridge and Ridgeway Farm, West of Swindon. 

276 
 

                                                           

Page 482



 

Table C3: Gypsy and Traveller land supply116 
 
Housing 
Market 
Area 

Requirement 
2011-16 

Completions 
2011-14 

Requirement 
2016-21 

Five year land 
requirement 
2014-19 

Deliverable 
supply 
2014-19 

Years 
of land 
supply 

North 
and West 
Wiltshire 26 27 22 12 10 4.10 

South 
Wiltshire 37 2 19 46 0 0.00 

East 
Wiltshire 3 0 1 4 0 0.00 

Wiltshire 66 29 42 62 10 0.80 

 
Wiltshire Council is committed to bringing forward a Gypsy and Traveller Site Allocations 
DPD which will address the existing deficit in supply. Applications that are submitted before 
the DPD is prepared will be assessed against the general criteria set in Core Policy 47. 
 
Housing Trajectories 

Each HMA housing trajectory shows annual scales of housing development over the plan 
period.  They show dwellings completed each year from 2006 to the present and forecast 
completions from the present to the end of the plan period.  This includes known 
commitments and an allowance for small windfall sites only and will be supplemented by 
further sites such as those identified in Neighbourhood Plans and the Housing Site 
Allocations DPDs as well as on other windfall sites.  Delivery rates are informed by evidence 
collated from each individual house builder about anticipated starts on sites and rates of 
sales using their market experience, information from council officers and historic delivery 
rates on similar sized sites.  

 
The profile of housing delivery varies between the HMAs and is illustrated in Figures one to 
three, which are discussed in turn below. Housing land supply remains relatively strong in 
the south, reflecting decisions that have already been taken about sites through the adopted 
South Wiltshire Core Strategy.  The trajectory shows a sufficient supply of deliverable land to 
support a five year supply.   
 

116 The methodology for calculating the 5 year supply of Gypsy and Traveller pitches is currently under 
review which may result in minor alterations to these figures. 
 

277 
 

                                                           

Page 483



0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900 Housing Trajectory for South Wiltshire HMA

Completions

Local Plan Allocations

Strategic Sites 

Windfall Sites

Plan Annual Requirement

Requirement Taking account of 
delivery
Remaining Annual Requirement

 

Figure one: Housing Trajectory 2006-2026: South Housing Market Area 

 

 

The North and West HMA shows the predicted impact of large strategic sites becoming a 
significant component of land supply now that the WCS is progressing to adoption.  It shows 
a need for more land to be allocated for housing towards the end of the plan period within a 
Housing Site Allocation DPD and a need for strategic sites to be allocated at Chippenham, 
as part of the Chippenham Site Allocation DPD.  Scheduled for adoption by July 2015117 the 
Housing Site Allocation DPD will help sustain the higher rates of house building instigated by 
the growth plans of the core strategy continuing the significant boost to housing supply the 
trajectory requirements indicate.  The trajectory indicates that there is a sufficient supply of 
deliverable land to support a five year supply.  

 

117 Wiltshire Council Local Development Scheme 2014 

278 
 

                                                           

Page 484



0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

2000 Housing Trajectory for North and West Wiltshire HMA

Completions

Permissions (including S106)

Local Plan Allocations

Strategic Sites 

Neighbourhood Plan

Windfall Allowance

Plan Annual Requirement

Requirement Taking account of delivery

Remaining Annual Requirement

 

Figure two: Housing Trajectory 2006-2026: North and West Housing Market Area118 

 

The much smaller East HMA shows a similar pattern to the North and West with house 
building rates from strategic sites expecting to peak in 2016-19 followed by the Housing Site 
Allocation DPD supplementing land supply with deliverable sites thereafter for the remainder 
of the plan period.  The trajectory shows a sufficient supply of deliverable land to support a 
five year supply. 

 

 

118 Strategic site allocations do not include land at Chippenham (former draft strategic sites in the submitted core strategy) 
considered ‘deliverable’ in terms of five year housing land supply.  This source of supply has not been included.  

279 
 

                                                           

Page 485



0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700 Housing Trajectory for East Wiltshire HMA

Completions

Local Plan Allocations

Strategic Sites 

Windfall Sites

Plan Annual Requirement

Requirement Taking account of 
delivery
Remaining Annual Requirement

 

Figure three: Housing Trajectory 2006-2026: East Housing Market Area 

 

Affordable housing trajectory for the Wiltshire Core Strategy 

The National Planning Policy Framework requires Local Planning Authorities to illustrate the 
expected rate of affordable housing delivery through an affordable housing trajectory. 
 
East HMA Affordable Housing Trajectory 
 
Figure Four below identifies the affordable housing trajectory for the East Housing Market 
Area. 
 

280 
 Page 486



 

 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200 Affordable housing trajectory for East Wiltshire HMA

Windfall

Strategic allocations

Local Plan 
allocations
Permissions

 
 
Figure Four – East HMA Affordable Housing Trajectory 
 
The number of affordable completions for the East HMA between 2006 and 2014 totals 788 
dwellings. This is equivalent to 29% of all completions within the East HMA during this 
period. 
 
 
 

North and West HMA Affordable Housing Trajectory 
Figure Five below identifies the affordable housing trajectory for the North and West Housing 
Market Area. 
 

281 
 Page 487



0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700 Affordable housing trajectory for North and West Wiltshire HMA

Windfall

Neighbourhood Plan 
allocations
Strategic allocations

Local Plan allocations

Permissions

 
 
Figure Five – North and West HMA Affordable Housing Trajectory 
 
 
The number of affordable completions for the North and West HMA between 2006 and 
2014 totals 2,870 dwellings. This is equivalent to 29% of all completions within the North and 
West HMA during this period. 
 
 
South HMA Affordable Housing Trajectory 
Figure Six below identifies the affordable housing trajectory for the South Housing Market 
Area. 
 

282 
 Page 488



0

50

100

150

200

250

300 Affordable housing trajectory for South Wiltshire HMA

Windfall

Strategic allocations

Local Plan 
allocations
Permissions

 
 
Figure Six – South HMA Affordable Housing Trajectory 
 
The number of affordable completions for the South HMA between 2006 and 2014 totals 
1,154 dwellings. This is equivalent to 33% of all completions within the North and West HMA 
during this period. 
 
No trajectories are presented for the West of Swindon, as this is an allowance rather than a 
requirement and consists of two sites. 
 

283 
 Page 489



 

Appendix D: Saved policies and policies replaced 
The saved policies that follow relate to the former District Council Local Plans, West 
Wiltshire Leisure and Recreation Development Plan Document, and the South Wiltshire 
Core Strategy. 
 
The position with regard to the Wiltshire and Swindon Structure Plan 2016 is as follows: 
 
Under the transitional arrangements of Section 8 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004, the Secretary of State directed that the majority of the Wiltshire and Swindon 
Structure Plan 2016 polices be saved beyond the transition period that ended on 31st March 
2009. Under Section 109 (5) of The Localism Act the Secretary of State may by order revoke 
the whole or any part of a direction under paragraph 1(3) of Schedule 8 to the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (directions preserving development plan policies) if and so 
far as it relates to a policy contained in a structure plan. It is expected that such revocation 
will occur before the adoption of both the Wiltshire and Swindon Borough Core Strategies. If 
in the unlikely event such revocation has not been issued by the time of adoption the Core 
Strategies then all the remaining Structure Plan Policies will be superseded by the respective 
Core Strategy depending on the geographical extent of the policy. Until either revocation of the 
saved Structure Plan policies or adoption of the Core Strategy, the Wiltshire and Swindon 
Structure Plan 2016 remains part of the respective Development Plan of the two local 
planning authorities. 
 
Where the saved policies are to be replaced or will not be saved within the Core Strategy, 
the policies maps will be amended accordingly. 

Existing policy To be replaced by WCS or continue to save? 

Kennet District Local Plan - Adopted April 
2004 

 

 

PD1 Development & Design 

 

Replaced by CP57 (Ensuring high quality design 

and place shaping). 

HC1 Strategic housing provision 

 

Replaced by CP1 (Settlement Strategy), CP2 

(Delivery Strategy) and the Area Strategies. 

HC2 Housing allocations 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Do not continue to save the following allocations: 

• Quakers Walk, Devizes (230 dwellings) – 

site is already under development 

• The North Gate/Wharf/Devizes Hospital 

(about 150 dwellings) – PCT ownership is 

expected to continue 

• Roundway Mill, Devizes (30 dwellings) – 

built out 

• Former Le Marchant Barracks, Devizes 

(50 dwellings) – built out  

284 
 Page 490



Existing policy To be replaced by WCS or continue to save? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

HC2 Housing allocations 

 

• Naughton Avenue, Devizes (100 

dwellings) – site is already under 

development 

• Chopping Knife Lane, Marlborough (150 

dwellings) – site is already under 

development 

• Pewsey Hospital Phase II (110 dwellings) 

– built out 

Continue to save the following allocations: 

• Garden Centre, Granby Gardens, 

Ludgershall (130 dwellings) 

• Broomcroft Road/Avonside area, 

Pewsey (30 dwellings) 

• North East Quadrant, Tidworth (150 

dwellings) 

HC5 Net housing density Replaced by CP57 (Ensuring high quality 

design and place shaping). 

HC6 Efficient use of land Replaced by CP57 (Ensuring high quality 

design and place shaping). 

HC7Housing layout Replaced by CP57 (Ensuring high quality 

design and place shaping). 

HC9 Quakers Walk Do not continue to save. Permitted development 

under construction. 

HC10 The North Gate, the Wharf and Devizes 

Hospital 

Do not continue to save. PCT ownership is 

expected to continue. 

HC11 Devizes Hospital Do not continue to save. PCT ownership is 

expected to continue. 

HC12 Roundway Mill Do not continue to save. Development 

complete. 

HC13 Former Le Marchant  Barracks Do not continue to save. Development 

complete. 

HC14 Naughton Avenue, Devizes Do not continue to save. Site is already under 

development. 

HC15 Chopping Knife Lane Do not continue to save. Permitted development 

under construction. 

HC16 Garden Centre, Granby Gardens 

 

Continue to save. 

HC17 Pewsey Hospital Phase II Do not continue to save. Development 

285 
 Page 491



Existing policy To be replaced by WCS or continue to save? 

complete. 

 

HC18 Broomcroft Road/Avonside area 

 

Continue to save. 

HC19 North East Quadrant 

 

Continue to save. 

HC20 Old Rectory/Portando  House Do not continue to save. Development 

complete. 

HC22 Villages with a range of facilities Replaced by CP1 (Settlement Strategy) and 

CP2 (Delivery Strategy). 

HC23 Housing in Avebury 

 

Replaced by CP1 (Settlement Strategy) and 

CP2 (Delivery Strategy). 

 

HC24 Villages with limited facilities 

 

Replaced by CP1 (Settlement Strategy) and 

CP2 (Delivery Strategy). 

HC25 Replacement of existing dwellings 

 

Continue to save 

HC26 Housing in the countryside 

 

Replaced by CP1 (Settlement Strategy), CP2 

(Delivery Strategy) and CP48 (Supporting rural 

life). 

HC28 Affordable homes target 

 

Replaced by CP43 (Providing affordable homes). 

HC29 Definition of affordable housing 

 

Replaced by CP43 (Providing affordable homes). 

 

HC30 Affordable Housing on Large Sites 

 

Replaced by CP43 (Providing affordable homes). 

 

HC31 Integration of affordable housing 

 

Replaced by CP43 (Providing affordable homes). 

 

HC32 Affordable Housing Contributions in Rural 

Areas 

 

Replaced by CP43 (Providing affordable homes) 

and CP44 (Rural exceptions sites). 

HC33 Rural Exceptions Policy 

 

Replaced by CP44 (Rural exceptions sites). 

HC34 Recreation provision on large housing 

sites 

Continue to save. 

HC35 Recreation provision on small housing 

sites 

Continue to save. 

 

286 
 Page 492



Existing policy To be replaced by WCS or continue to save? 

HC37 Demand for Education 

 

Continue to save. 

 

HC38 New Primary School in Devizes 

 

Do not continue to save. Permitted development. 

 

HC42 Additional social & community needs 

 

Replaced by CP3 (Infrastructure requirements). 

HC45 Gypsy sites Replaced by CP47 (Meeting the needs of 

Gypsies and Travellers). 

 

ED1 Strategic employment allocations Do not continue to save. General allocations policy 

which is no-longer needed. 

 

ED3 Nursteed Road, Devizes 

 

Continue to save 

ED4 Hambleton Avenue, Devizes 

 

Do not continue to save. The employment 

potential has been eroded and the remaining area 

could not be classed as a strategic site. 

ED5 Marlborough Road, Pewsey 

 

Continue to save. 

 

ED7 Protect strategic employment sites 

 

Replaced by CP35 (Existing employment sites). 

ED8 Employment development on unallocated 

sites 

Replaced by CP34 (Additional employment land). 

 

ED9 Rural employment locations 

 

Replaced by CP34 (Additional employment land). 

 

ED10 Employment development within or on the 

edge of villages 

Replaced by CP34 (Additional employment land). 

 

ED11 Employment Development in Avebury 

 

Replaced by CP34 (Additional employment land) 

and CP59 (The Stonehenge, Avebury and 

associated sites World Heritage Site and its 

setting). 

ED12 Protecting employment and within villages 

 

Replaced by CP35 (Existing Employment sites) 

and CP39 (Tourist development). 

ED13 Protecting employment and tourism uses 

on the edge of villages 

 

Replaced by CP35 (Existing Employment sites) 

and CP39 (Tourist development) and CP48 

(Supporting rural life). 

ED16 Farm shops Replaced by CP48 (Supporting rural life). 

287 
 Page 493



Existing policy To be replaced by WCS or continue to save? 

  

 

ED17 Town centre development 

 

Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring the conservation of 

the historic environment) and CP38 (Retail and 

leisure). 

ED18 Prime shopping areas 

 

Continue to save. 

ED19 Devizes and Marlborough Town Centres 

 

Continue to save. 

ED20 Retail Dev’t in Devizes Town Centre 

 

Continue to save. 

ED21 The North gate, The Wharf and Devizes 

Hospital 

Continue to save. 

ED22 Lower Wharf, Devizes 

 

Continue to save. 

ED24 New development in service centres 

 

Continue to save. 

ED28 Shopping facilities in rural areas 

 

Replaced by CP48 (Supporting rural life). 

 

ED29 Retention of social & community uses 

 

Replaced CP49 (Protection of services and 

community facilities). 

AT1 Transport appraisal process 

 

Replaced by CP61 (Transport and development) 

and CP62 (Development impacts on the transport 

network). 

AT9 Motor vehicle parking standards 

 

Replaced by CP64 (Demand management). 

 

AT10 Developer contributions 

 

Replaced by CP3 (Infrastructure requirements) 

and CP61 (Transport and development). 

 

AT18 Intermodal freight facilities 

 

Replaced by CP65 (Movement of goods). 

 

AT24 Riverside walks in Marlborough and 

Pewsey 

Continue to save. 

 

AT25 A342 –A3026 Western Link Road 

 

Continue to save. 

NR3 Local sites 

 

Replaced by CP50 (Biodiversity and 

Geodiversity). 

288 
 Page 494



Existing policy To be replaced by WCS or continue to save? 

NR4 Nature conservation outside designated 

sites 

Replaced by CP50 (Biodiversity and 

Geodiversity). 

NR6 Sustainability and protection of the 

countryside 

 

Replaced by CP1 (Settlement Strategy) and 

CP2 (Delivery Strategy). 

 

NR7 Protection of the landscape 

 

Replaced by CP51 (Landscape). 

 

NR19 Renewable energy proposals 

 

Replaced by CP42 (Standalone Renewable 

Energy Installations). 

HH1 Protection of archaeological remains 

 

Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring the conservation of 

the historic environment). 

HH3 Avebury World Heritage Site 

 

Replaced by CP59 (The Stonehenge, Avebury 

and associated sites World Heritage Site and its 

setting). 

HH10 Areas of minimum change 

 

Continue to save.  

 

HH11 Marlborough area of special quality 

 

Replaced by CP57 (Ensuring high quality design 

and place shaping). 

TR2 Facilities for boat users on the Kennet and 

Avon Canal 

Continue to save. 

TR4 Permanent off-channel boating facilities at 

Martinslade/ Upper Foxhangers 

Do not continue to save. Already complete 

TR6 Tourist facilities in the Avebury World 

Heritage Site 

Continue to save. 

TR7 Facilities for visitors to Avebury 

 

Continue to save. 

TR8 Visitor accommodation in the Avebury World 

Heritage Site 

Continue to save. 

TR9 Car parking in Avebury World Heritage Site 

 

Continue to save. 

TR17 Existing Outdoor Sport & Recreation 

Facilities 

Continue to save. 

TR20 Protection of allotments Continue to save. 

 

North Wiltshire Local Plan 2011-Adopted June 2006 

 

289 
 Page 495



Existing policy To be replaced by WCS or continue to save? 

C1 Sustainability Core Policy 

 

Replaced by CP1 (Settlement Strategy) and CP57 

(Ensuring high quality design and place shaping). 

C2 Community Infrastructure Core Policy 

 

Replaced by CP3 (Infrastructure requirements). 

C3 Development Control Core Policy Replaced by CP57 (Ensuring high quality design 

and place shaping). 

C4 Business Development Core Policy Replaced by CP35 (Existing employment sites). 

 

NE1 Western Wiltshire Green Belt 

 

No longer required. Repeats PPG2 

(Greenbelts)/draft NPPF. However GB boundary 

must be shown on policies map. 

NE4 Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty Replaced by CP51 (Landscape) 

 

NE5 Nature Conservation Sites of International 

Importance 

No longer required. Repeats national policy 

/ legislation. 

NE6 Nature Conservation Sites of National 

Importance 

No longer required. Repeats national policy 

/ legislation. 

NE7 Nature Conservation Sites of Local 

Importance 

Replaced by CP50 (Biodiversity and 

Geodiversity). 

NE8 Nature Conservation Sites in the Cotswold 

Water Park 

Replaced by CP50 (Biodiversity and 

Geodiversity). 

NE9 Protection of Species No longer required. Repeats national policy 

/ legislation. 

NE10 Managing Nature Conservation Features Replaced by CP50 (Biodiversity and 

Geodiversity). 

NE11 Conserving Biodiversity Replaced by CP50 (Biodiversity and 

Geodiversity) 

NE12 Woodland Continue to save. 

 

NE13 The Great Western Community Forest Replaced by CP52 (green infrastructure). 

 

NE14 Trees and the control of new development Continue to save. 

 

NE15 The landscape character of the 

countryside 

Replaced by CP51 (Landscape). 

NE16 Renewable energy Replaced by CP42 (Standalone Renewable 

290 
 Page 496



Existing policy To be replaced by WCS or continue to save? 

Energy Installations). 

 

NE17 Contaminated land Replaced by CP56 (Contaminated land). 

 

NE18 Noise and pollution Continue to save. 

 

NE19 Ministry of Defence land Replaced by CP37 (Re-use of military 

establishments). 

NE20 Re-use of military establishments in the 

countryside 

Replaced by CP37 (Re-use of military 

establishments). 

HE1 Development in Conservation Areas 

 

Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

historic environment). 

HE2 Demolition in Conservation Areas 

 

Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

historic environment). 

HE3 Historic Parks and Gardens 

 

Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

historic environment). 

HE4 Development, demolition or alterations 

involving listed buildings 

Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

historic environment). 

HE5 Scheduled Ancient Monuments and 

nationally important features 

Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

historic environment). 

HE6 Locally important archaeological sites Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

historic environment). 

HE7 Enabling development – historic 

environment 

Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

historic environment). 

HE8 Archaeological evaluation Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

historic environment). 

T1 Minimising the need to travel Replaced by CP60 (Sustainable transport) 

and CP61 (Transport and development). 

T2 Transport Assessment and Travel Plans Replaced by CP61 (Transport and development). 

 

T3 Parking Replaced by CP64 (Demand management). 

 

T4 Cycling, Walking and Public Transport Replaced by CP61 (Transport and development). 

 

T5 Safeguarding Continue to save. 

H1 Required level of residential development No longer relevant. Refers to period 

291 
 Page 497



Existing policy To be replaced by WCS or continue to save? 

1991-2011. 

 

H2 Allocated residential sites Do not save the following allocations: 

• Works Site, Pound Mead/Valley Road, 

Corsham (20 dwellings) – site is already 

under development. 

• Works Site, Pound Mead, Corsham (20 

dwellings) – site is already under 

development. 

• Cattlemarket Site, Cocklebury Road, 

Chippenham (as part of a mixed use 

scheme) (150 dwellings) - site is largely 

developed, remainder expected to be 

developed in coming years. 

• Flowers Site, Wood Lane, Chippenham 

(as part of a mixed use scheme) (50 

dwellings) – built out. 

• Works Site, The Forty, Cricklade (12 

dwellings) – site is already under 

development. 

• Outdoor Swimming Pool, Malmesbury 

(18 dwellings) – built out. 

• The Elms, Green Lane, Sherston (12 

dwellings) – built out. 

• Former St Ivel Site, Wootton Bassett (as 

part of a mixed use scheme) (280 

dwellings) – site is already under 

development. 

• Filands School, Malmesbury (140 

dwellings) – built out. 

• Springfield School, Calne (110 dwellings) 

- the school is not intended to be closed 

and so is undeliverable for housing. 

• Goldney Avenue, Chippenham (60 

dwellings) – built out. 

• Primary School, Tetbury Hill, Malmesbury 

(30 dwellings) – built out 

 

292 
 Page 498



Existing policy To be replaced by WCS or continue to save? 

 

 

Continue to save the following allocations: 

• Quemerford House and Land, Calne 

(16 dwellings) 

• Lower Quemerford Mill, Calne (12 

dwellings) 

• Works, Cocklebury Road, Chippenham 

(as part of a mixed use scheme) (66 

dwellings) 

• Foundary Lane, Chippenham (as part of a 

mixed use scheme) (250 dwellings) 

• Land at Preston Lane, Lyneham (15 

dwellings) 

• AB Carter Haulage Contractors, 14 

Happy Land, Ashton Keynes (11 

dwellings) 

• Brook Farm, Great Somerford (30 

dwellings) 

• Chicken Factory, Sutton Benger (60 

dwellings as part of a mixed use 

development) 

• Rugby Club, Stoneover Lane, Wootton 

Bassett (100 dwellings) 

• Station Road, Calne (100 dwellings) 

H3 Residential development within framework 

boundaries 

Replaced by CP1 (Settlement Strategy) and 

CP2 (Delivery Strategy). 

H4 Residential development in the open 

countryside 

Continue to save. 

H5 Affordable housing in urban areas Replaced by CP43 (Providing affordable homes). 

 

H6 Affordable housing in rural areas Replaced by CP43 (Providing affordable homes). 

 

H7 Affordable housing on rural exception sites Replaced by CP44 (Rural exceptions sites). 

 

H8 Residential extensions Replaced by CP57 (Ensuring high quality design 

and place shaping). 

293 
 Page 499



Existing policy To be replaced by WCS or continue to save? 

H9 Gypsy sites Replaced by CP47 (Meeting the needs of 

Gypsies and Travellers). 

BD1 Employment land 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

BD1 Employment land 

Do not save the following allocations: 

• Hunters Moon, Chippenham (5 ha) – not 

deliverable for employment 

• Cocklebury Road, Chippenham (as part of 

a mixed use scheme) (2.5 ha) – built out 

• Littlefields (Bath Road), Chippenham 

(13.2 ha) – built out 

• Braydon Lane, Cricklade (2.7 ha) – built 

out 

• Interface Business Park, Wootton  

• Bassett (1.85 ha) – built out 

• Former St Ivel Site, Wootton Bassett 

(as part of a mixed use scheme) (3 ha)– 

built out 

• East of Leafield Industrial Estate, 

Corsham (3.29 ha) – no need for 

allocation 

 

Continue to save the following allocations: 

• East of Beversbrook Farm and Porte 

Marsh Industrial Estate, Calne (4.4 ha) 

• Garden Centre, Malmesbury (3.9 ha) 

• Land to the North of Tetbury Hill, 

Malmesbury (1 ha) 

• Brickworks, Purton (3.1 ha) – 1.0ha 

remaining 

• Templars Way, Wootton Bassett (3.44 ha) 

BD2 Safeguarding existing business uses Replaced by CP35 (Existing employment sites). 

 

BD3 Business development on unallocated sites Replaced by CP34 (Additional employment land). 

 

BD4 Business development within or on edge of 

villages 

Replaced by CP34 (Additional employment land). 

BD5 Rural business development Replaced by CP34 (Additional employment land) 

294 
 Page 500



Existing policy To be replaced by WCS or continue to save? 

and CP48 (Supporting rural life). 

BD6 Re-use of rural buildings Replaced by CP48 (Supporting rural life). 

 

BD7 Farm diversification Replaced by CP34 (Additional employment land) 

and CP48 (Supporting rural life). 

BD9 Signs and advertisements Replaced by CP57 (Ensuring high quality design 

and place shaping). 

R1 Town centre primary frontage areas Continue to save. 

 

R2 Town centre secondary frontage areas Continue to save. 

 

R3 Retail designations Replaced by CP9 (Chippenham Central 

Areas of Opportunity). 

R4 Proposals outside town centre primary and 

town centre secondary frontage areas 

Replaced by CP38 (Retail and Leisure). 

R5 Local shops and services Replaced by CP38 (Retail and Leisure) and 

CP48 (Supporting rural life). 

R6 Existing local shops and services Replaced by CP49 (Protection of services and 

community facilities). 

R7 Upper floors in town centres Continue to save. 

 

CF1 Local community and education facilities Note that the first paragraph of the policy will be 

superseded by CP2 (Delivery Strategy). 

• Land off Blackwell Hams, Pewsham Way, 

Chippenham (proposed community hall) 

• Stoneover Lane, Wootton Bassett 

(proposed school) 

• Barn at Derriads Farm, Chippenham 

(proposed community use) 

 

Do not continue to safeguard the following sites: 

• Land between Knockdown Lane and 

Sopworth Lane (proposed school) – a  

new school has been built in Sherston on 

a different site 

CF2 Leisure facilities and open space Continue to save. 

295 
 Page 501



Existing policy To be replaced by WCS or continue to save? 

 

CF3 Provisions of open space Continue to save. 

 

TM2 Wilts and Berks/Thames Severn Canals Replaced by CP53 (Wilts & Berks and Thames 

and Severn Canals). 

TM3 Swindon and Cricklade Railway Line Continue to save. 

 

TM4 The Thames Path National Trail Continue to save. 

 

West Wiltshire District Plan 1st Alteration- Adopted June 2004 

GB1 Western Wiltshire Green Belt No longer relevant as covered by NPPF. 

 

GB3 Safeguarded Land Bradford on Avon No longer relevant as assessment of housing 

requirement beyond 2011 has now been 

undertaken. 

C1 Countryside Protection Replaced by CP50 (biodiversity and geodiversity), 

CP51 (landscape), CP52 (green infrastructure), 

CP2 (Delivery Strategy), CP34 (additional 

employment land) and CP48 (Supporting rural 

life). 

C2 Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty No longer required. Repeats national policy. 

 

C3 Special Landscape Areas Continue to save. Will be subject to a forthcoming 

review. 

C4 Landscape Setting Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

historic environment). 

C6 Areas of High Ecological Value, Regionally 

Important Geological or Geomorphological Sites 

(RIGS), and Sites of Nature Conservation 

Interest (SNCIs) 

Replaced by CP50 (Biodiversity and 

Geodiversity). 

C6a Landscape Features Replaced by CP50 (Biodiversity and 

Geodiversity) and CP51 (Landscape). 

C9 Rivers Replaced by CP50 (Biodiversity and 

Geodiversity), CP51 (Landscape), CP52 (Green 

Infrastructure) and CP67 (Flood risk). 

C10 Local Nature Reserves Replaced by CP50 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity) 

296 
 Page 502



Existing policy To be replaced by WCS or continue to save? 

and CP52 (Green Infrastructure). 

C11 Military Land Replaced by CP37 (Re-use of military 

establishments) 

C12 Redundant Military Land Replaced by CP37 (Re-use of military 

establishments). 

C15 Archaeological Assessment Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

historic environment). 

C17 Conservation Areas Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

historic environment). 

C18 New Development in Conservation Areas Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

historic environment). 

C19 Alterations in Conservation Areas Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

historic environment). 

C20 Change of Use in Conservation Areas Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

historic environment). 

C21 Planning Permission in Conservation Areas Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

historic environment). 

C22 Demolition in Conservation Areas Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

historic environment). 

C23 Street Scene Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

historic environment). 

C24 Advertisements Replaced by CP57 (Ensuring high quality design 

and place shaping). 

C25 Shopfronts Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

historic environment). 

C26 Maintenance of Buildings Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

historic environment). 

C28 Alterations and Extensions to Listed 

Buildings 

Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

historic environment). 

C30 Skylines Replaced by CP57 (Ensuring high quality design 

and place shaping). 

C31a Design Replaced by CP57 (Ensuring high quality design 

and place shaping). 

C32 Landscaping Replaced by CP57 (Ensuring high quality design 

and place shaping). 

C33 Recycling Do not continue to save. Waste and Recycling  

service not looking to increase number of local 

297 
 Page 503



Existing policy To be replaced by WCS or continue to save? 

recycling centres. Service provision is now 

focussed on supporting household collection (e.g. 

bins, storage facilities etc). Policy WCS6 in the 

Wiltshire and Swindon Waste Core Strategy 

provides a more up-to-date and flexible basis for 

securing developer contributions. 

C34a Resource Consumption and Reduction Replaced by CP41 (Sustainable Construction and 

Low-Carbon energy). 

C34 Renewable Energy Replaced by CP42 (Standalone Renewable 

Energy Installations). 

C35 Light Pollution Replaced by CP57 (Ensuring high quality design 

and place shaping). 

C37 Contaminated Land Replaced by CP56 (Contaminated land). 

 

C38 Nuisance Replaced by CP57 (Ensuring high quality design 

and place shaping). 

C39 Environmental Enhancement Continue to save. 

 

C40 Tree Planting Continue to save. 

 

C41 Areas of Opportunity Continue to save for the following sites: 

• Land East of Edward Street, Westbury 

• Vivash Park 

• Land at the Midlands, Holt 

 

Do not continue to  save for the following site: 

• Land at former GEC site, Beanacre 

Road, Melksham - built out 

R7 Trowbridge Cricket Ground Continue to save. 

 

R10 Poulton Field Bradford On Avon Continue to save. 

 

R12 Allotments Continue to save. 

 

R13 Sailing Lakes Continue to save. 

 

298 
 Page 504



Existing policy To be replaced by WCS or continue to save? 

R15 Development at Golf Courses Continue to save. 

 

 

H1 Further Housing Development Within Towns Replaced by CP2 (Delivery Strategy), CP3 

(Infrastructure requirements), CP50 (Biodiversity 

and geodiversity), CP52 (green infrastructure), 

CP57 (Ensuring high quality design and place 

shaping), CP61 (Transport and development), 

CP67 (Flood risk), and CP68 (Water resources). 

H2 Affordable Housing Within Towns and 

Villages 

Replaced by CP43 (Providing affordable homes). 

H3 Urban Brownfield Allocations 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Continue to save the following allocations: 

• Holtbrook Lane, Trowbridge (20 

dwellings) 

• Station Road, Westbury (90 dwellings) 

• Land off Oldfield Road, Westbury (30 

dwellings) 

• Land at West Street, Warminster (12 

dwellings) 

• Rear of Westbury Road, Warminster 

(10 dwellings) 

• Station Road, Warminster (30 

dwellings) 

 

Do not save the following allocations: 

• Frome Road, Trowbridge (15 dwellings) 

-built out 

• Silver St Lane, Trowbridge (15 

dwellings) - built out 

• Cedar Grove, Trowbridge (15 dwellings)- 

the Council owns and do not believe 

this site will come forward 

• County Way, Trowbridge (76 dwellings) -

built out 

• Rear of Wesley Road, Trowbridge (20 

dwellings) - The remainder of the site is 

occupied by a social club which has no 

299 
 Page 505



Existing policy To be replaced by WCS or continue to save? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

H3 Urban Brownfield Allocations 

intention of relocating 

• Bythesea Road, Trowbridge (20 

dwellings)- Site is largely developed, 

remainder expected to be developed in 

coming years 

• Hilperton Road, Trowbridge (15 

dwellings) - Cannot demonstrate that 

the site will be delivered 

• TA Centre, Bythesea Road, Trowbridge 

(59 dwellings) - built out 

• Uitenage Farm, Westbury (63 dwellings) -

built out 

• Coalyard, Bratton Road, Westbury (52 

dwellings) - built out 

• Becks Mill, Westbury (50 dwellings) - 

built out 

• R/0 Vicarage St, West St, Warminster 

(20 dwellings) - Much of the site has a 

covenant preventing development; the 

remainder may be able to be brought 

forward but is not demonstrably 

deliverable 

• Land off George Street, Warminster (30 

dwellings) - The majority of the site has 

been built out, and the remainder is 

occupied by a shop 

• Land fronting Boot Hill, Warminster (18 

dwellings) – built out 

• Fairfield Road, Warminster (98 dwellings) 

– Developed for alternative uses 

• Imber Road, Warminster (15 dwellings) 

- This site is an orchard that the 

landowner does not wish to develop 

H4 Urban Mixed Use Brownfield Allocations Continue to save the following allocations: 

• Court Street, Trowbridge 

 

Do not save the following allocations: 

300 
 Page 506



Existing policy To be replaced by WCS or continue to save? 

• Kingston Mills, Bradford on Avon - site is 

largely developed, remainder expected to 

be developed in coming years 

• Stratton House, Melksham – built out 

• Land at Shails Lane/Broad Street, 

Trowbridge – built out 

• Former Brewery Site, Trowbridge - site is 

largely developed, remainder expected to 

be developed in coming years 

• Ashton Mill, West Ashton Road, 

Trowbridge - no proposal to develop the 

site at present. If it was to be developed 

the owner would look for retail 

development 

• Yeoman Way, Trowbridge – built out 

• Land at Market Place / East Street, 

Warminster - the site is not considered 

developable 

• Land off The Close, Warminster - the site 

is not considered developable 

H6 Land East of Melksham Do not continue to save. Site is largely developed, 

remainder expected to be developed in coming 

years. 

H7 Staverton Triangle Do not continue to save. Unlikely to come forward. 

H7A New Terrace Staverton Do not continue to save. Built out. 

 

H8 Land at Paxcroft Way, Trowbridge Do not continue to save. Built out. 

 

H8a Land South of The Grange, Trowbridge Do not continue to save. Site is largely developed, 

remainder expected to be developed in coming 

years. 

H8b Blue Hills, Devizes Road Continue to save. 

 

H8c Land North of Green Lane, Trowbridge Continue to save. 

 

H9 Land at Southview, Trowbridge Do not continue to save. Site is largely developed, 

301 
 Page 507



Existing policy To be replaced by WCS or continue to save? 

remainder expected to be developed in coming 

years. 

H11 land South of Paxcroft Mead, Trowbridge Continue to save. 

 

 

H12 Land North of Victoria Road, Warminster Do not continue to save. Site is largely developed, 

remainder expected to be developed in coming 

years. 

H13a Land Adjacent to Westbury Hospital Continue to save. 

 

H13 Leigh Park, Westbury Do not continue to save. Site is largely developed, 

remainder expected to be developed in coming 

years. 

H14 Land at Station Road, Westbury Do not continue to save. This site is being 

designated as a strategic site. 

H16 Flat Conversions Continue to save. 

 

H17 Village Policy Limits Replaced by CP1 (Settlement Strategy) and 

CP2 (Delivery Strategy). 

H18 Areas of Minimum Change Continue to save. 

 

H19 Development in Open Countryside Replaced by CP2 (Delivery Strategy) and 

CP48 (Supporting rural life). 

H20 Replacement Dwellings Continue to save. 

 

H21 Conversions of Rural Buildings Replaced by CP48 (Supporting rural life). 

 

H22 Affordable Housing on Rural Exception 

Sites 

Replaced by CP44 (Rural exceptions sites). 

H23 New Housing Near Intensive Livestock 

Units 

Replaced by CP57 (Ensuring High Quality Design 

and Place Shaping) 

 

H24 New Housing Design Replaced by CP57 (Ensuring high quality design 

and place shaping). 

E1A New Employment Land Allocation: West 

Ashton Road, Trowbridge (12.1 ha) 

Continue to save. 

302 
 Page 508



Existing policy To be replaced by WCS or continue to save? 

E1B New Employment Land Allocation: south 

and west of Bowerhill industrial estate, 

Melksham (34.5 ha) 

Continue to save. 

E1C New Employment Land Allocation: Station 

Road, Westbury (4 ha) 

Do not continue to save. Not deliverable for 

employment. 

E1D New Employment Land Allocation: 

Northacre/Brook Lane Trading Estate, Westbury 

(13 ha) 

Continue to save. 

E2 Employment Policy Areas Replaced by CP35 (Existing employment sites). 

E4 Premises Outside Employment Policy Areas Replaced by CP34 (Additional employment land). 

E5 Loss of Employment Floorspace Replaced by CP35 (Existing employment sites). 

E6 Rural Employment Replaced by CP34 (Additional employment land). 

E7 Farm Diversification Replaced by CP34 (Additional employment land). 

E8 Rural Conversions Replaced by CP48 (Supporting Rural Life) 

 

E10 Horse Related Development Continue to save. 

 

T1a Westbury Bypass Package Replaced by CP66 (Strategic Road Network) 

 

T2 A36 Trunk Road Do not continue to save. Funding bids for A36 

Heytesbury to Codford Improvements and A303 

Wyle to Stockton Wood were unsuccessful. Some 

parts of Trowbridge Inner Relief Road were built 

and the significant remaining stages were 

abandoned some years ago. 

T4 New Distributor Roads Continue to save. 

 

T5 New Link Roads Continue to save. 

 

T6 Railway Services Replaced by CP66 (Strategic transport network). 

T7 Westbury – Swindon Railway Services Continue to save. 

 

T8 Melksham Railway Station Continue to save. 

 

T8a Rail Freight Facility Continue to save. 

 

303 
 Page 509



Existing policy To be replaced by WCS or continue to save? 

T9 Bus Services Replaced by CP60 (Sustainable transport), CP61 

(Transport and development) and CP63 

(Transport strategies). 

T10 Car Parking Replaced by CP64 (Demand management). 

 

T11 Cycleways Replaced by CP60 (Sustainable transport), CP61 

(Transport and development) and CP63 

(Transport strategies). 

T12 Footpaths and Bridleways Replaced by CP60 (Sustainable transport), CP61 

(Transport and development) and CP63 

(Transport strategies). 

SP1 Town Centre Shopping 

 

Continue to save. 

SP2 Land at Court Street/ Castle Street, 

Trowbridge 

Continue to save. 

SP3 Out of Centre Shopping Replaced by CP38 (Retail and leisure). 

SP4 Primary Retail Frontages Continue to save. 

 

SP5 Secondary Retail Frontages Continue to save. 

 

SP6 Local Shopping in Towns and Villages Continue to save. Note that the first paragraph of 

the policy will be superseded by CP38 (Retail and 

leisure) and CP48 (Supporting rural life). 

SP7 Village Shops Replaced by CP49 (Protection of services and 

community facilities). 

LE1 Leisure and Entertainment Replaced by CP38 (Retail and leisure). 

LE2 St Stephens Place, Trowbridge Continue to save. 

 

TC1 Upper Floor Uses in Town Centres Continue to save. 

 

TC2 Traffic management and pedestrian Priority Continue to save. 

 

TO1 Tourist Attractions Replaced by CP39 (Tourist development). 

 

TO2 Minor Tourist Facilities Replaced by CP39 (Tourist development). 

 

304 
 Page 510



Existing policy To be replaced by WCS or continue to save? 

TO3 Hotels, Guest Houses and Self Catering 

Accommodation 

Replaced by CP39 (Tourist development). 

TO4 Camping, Caravans, Holiday Homes Replaced by CP39 (Tourist development). 

 

 

CF1 Community Facilities and Services General Replaced by CP49 (Protection of services and 

community facilities). 

CF2 Re-Use of Community Facilities Replaced by CP49 (Protection of services and 

community facilities). 

CF3 Villages and Rural Areas Replaced by CP49 (Protection of services and 

community facilities). 

S2 Primary Schools Continue to save. 

 

CF6 Leigh Park Do not continue to save. Site has been developed 

for retail and residential uses. 

CF7 Bowerhill Continue to save. 

 

CF8 Community Health Continue to save. 

 

CF9 Bradford on Avon Police Station Continue to save. 

 

CF10 Cemeteries Continue to save. 

 

CF11 Travelling Show People Replaced by CP47 (Meeting the needs of 

Gypsies and Travellers). 

CF12 Gypsy Caravan Sites Replaced by CP47 (Meeting the needs of 

Gypsies and Travellers). 

U1a Foul Water Disposal Continue to save. 

 

U2 Surface Water Disposal Replaced by CP67 (Flood risk). 

 

U4 Groundwater Source Protection Areas Replaced by CP68 (Water resources). 

 

U4a Sewage Treatment Works Continue to save. 

 

305 
 Page 511



Existing policy To be replaced by WCS or continue to save? 

U5 Sewage Treatment Works Buffer Zones Continue to save. 

 

U6 Telecommunications Continue to save. 

 

 

I1 Implementation Replaced by CP3 (Infrastructure requirements). 

 

I2 The Arts Continue to save. 

 

I3 Access for Everyone Continue to save. 

 

West Wiltshire Leisure and Recreation DPD- Adopted February 2009 

LP1 Protection and enhancement of existing 

open space or sport and recreation provision 

Continue to save. 

LP2 Proposals that involve the loss of open 

space or sport and recreation provision 

Continue to save. 

LP3 Review of low value sites Continue to save. 

 

LP4 Providing recreation facilities in new 

developments 

Continue to save. 

LP5 New sport and recreation facilities Continue to save. 

 

OS1 New artificial turf pitch provision Continue to save. 

 

OS2 New grass pitch provision Continue to save. 

 

CR1 Footpaths and rights of way Continue to save. 

 

CR2 Country Parks Continue to save. 

 

CR3 Greenspace Network Continue to save. 

 

GM1 Maintenance of existing open space Continue to save. 

 

GM2 Management and maintenance of new or Continue to save. 

306 
 Page 512



Existing policy To be replaced by WCS or continue to save? 

enhanced open space 

GM3 Future management partnerships Continue to save. 

 

IS1 Indoor Leisure Centres Continue to save. 

 

IS2 Joint indoor leisure centres Continue to save. 

 

YP1 Children’s play areas Continue to save. 

 

YP2 Provision for teenagers Continue to save. 

 

WR1 River based recreation Continue to save. 

 

WR2 Kennet and Avon Canal Continue to save. 

 

WR3 Wilts and Berks Canal Replaced by CP16 (Melksham link project) and 

CP53 (Wilts & Berks and Thames and Severn 

Canals). 

SC1 Dual-use of school facilities Continue to save. 

 

Salisbury District Local Plan 2011- Adopted June 2003 

G1 General principles for development policies Replaced by CP57 (Ensuring high quality design 

and place shaping). 

G2 General criteria for development Replaced by CP57 (Ensuring High Quality Design 

and Place Shaping). 

 

G3 The water environment (Abstraction) Replaced by CP68 (Water resources). 

 

G5 The water environment (Water Services) No longer required. Covered by PPS 23 and 

Circular 03/99. 

G7 The water environment (Development 

Restraint Areas) 

Continue to save. 

G8 The water environment (Groundwater Source 

Protection Areas) 

Deleted within South Wiltshire Core Strategy 

(SWCS). 

G9 Planning Obligations Replaced by CP3 (Infrastructure requirements). 

 

307 
 Page 513



Existing policy To be replaced by WCS or continue to save? 

G10 Enabling Development Continue to save. 

 

G12 MOD land Replaced by CP37 (Re-use of military 

establishments). 

 

G13 MOD land Replaced by CP37 (Re-use of military 

establishments). 

D1 General Townscape (Extensive 

Development) 

Replaced by CP57 (Ensuring high quality design 

and place shaping). 

D2 General Townscape (Infill Development) Replaced by CP57 (Ensuring high quality design 

and place shaping). 

D3 General Townscape (Extensions) Replaced by CP57 (Ensuring high quality design 

and place shaping). 

D4 Salisbury Townscape (Chequers) Continue to save. 

 

D5 Salisbury Townscape (Open Space) Continue to save. 

 

D6 Roofscape and skyline Deleted by Core Policy 8 of the SWCS. 

 

D7 Site Analysis Replaced by CP57 (Ensuring high quality design 

and place shaping). 

D8 Public Art Continue to save. 

 

H1 Housing (district wide) Deleted by Core Policy 2 of the SWCS. 

 

H2 D Housing (Salisbury Old Sarum) Continue to save. 

 

H2 E Housing (Salisbury District Hospital) Continue to save. 

 

H2 F Housing (Salisbury Downton Road) Do not continue to save – site now predominantly 

built out. 

H3 Housing (Old Manor Hospital) Continue to save. 

 

H4 Housing (Eastern Chequers) Continue to save. 

 

H5 Housing (Salt Lane car park) Continue to save. 

308 
 Page 514



Existing policy To be replaced by WCS or continue to save? 

 

H6 Housing (Brown Street Car Park) Continue to save. 

 

H7 Housing (Salisbury Central Area) Continue to save. 

 

H8 Housing (Salisbury HPB) Continue to save. 

 

H9 Housing (Boscombe Road, Amesbury) Do not continue to save – now predominantly built 

out. 

H10 Housing (RAF Baverstock, Dinton) Continue to save. 

 

H11 A Housing (Downton Wick Lane) Do not continue to save – now built out 

 

H12 Housing (Netheravon Road, Durrington) Do not continue to save – predominantly built out. 

 

H14 Housing (Weaveland Road, Tisbury) Continue to save. 

 

H15 Housing (Bulbridge Estate) Continue to save 

 

H16 Residential Development within Housing 

PolicyBoundaries 

Do not continue to save. 

 

H17 Important Open Spaces within Housing 

Policy Boundaries 

Continue to save. 

H18 Amenity open space within Housing Policy 

Boundaries 

Continue to save. 

H19 Housing restraint areas Do not continue to save. 

 

H20 New residential within Special Restraint 

Areas 

Do not continue to save. 

 

H21 Extensions etc within Special Restraint 

Areas 

Do not continue to save. 

 

H22 Application of Housing Policy Boundaries Replaced by CP2 (Delivery Strategy). 

 

H23 Residential development outside Housing 

Policy Boundaries 

Replaced by CP2 (Delivery Strategy). 

309 
 Page 515



Existing policy To be replaced by WCS or continue to save? 

H24 Housing for the elderly Replaced byCP46 (Meeting the needs of 

Wiltshire’s vulnerable and older people). 

H25 Affordable housing Deleted by Core Policy 3 of the SWC. 

 

 

H26 Rural exceptions Deleted by Core Policy 3 of the SWCS. 

 

H27 Permanent Housing for Rural Workers Replaced by CP48 (Supporting rural life). 

 

H28 Temporary Housing for Rural Workers Continue to save. 

 

H29 Removal of Conditions regarding Housing 

for Rural Workers 

Continue to save. 

H30 Replacement Dwellings in the Countryside Continue to save. 

 

H31 Extensions to Dwellings in the Countryside Continue to save. 

 

H32 Mobile Homes Continue to save. 

 

H33 Accommodation for Dependent Persons Continue to save. 

 

H34 Gypsy Sites Deleted by Core Policy 4 of the SWCS. (To be 

replaced by CP47 (Meeting the needs of Gypsies 

and Travellers) of the WCS). 

E1 Employment (Land at Old Sarum) Continue to save. 

 

E2 Employment (London Road site) Deleted by Core Policy 5 of the SWCS / Built out. 

 

E3 Employment (Central Salisbury) Continue to save. 

 

E4 Employment (Salisbury Chequers) Continue to save. 

 

E5 Employment (Salisbury Brown Street) Continue to save. 

 

E6 Employment (Salisbury Old Manor) Continue to save. 

310 
 Page 516



Existing policy To be replaced by WCS or continue to save? 

 

E7 Employment (Salisbury Southampton Road) Continue to save. 

 

E8A Employment (Porton Road, Amesbury) Deleted within SWCS as site has extant consent 

(SWCS). 

E8B Land at Boscombe and Porton Down Continue to save. 

 

E10 Employment- Dinton Continue to save. 

 

E12 Land at Mere Continue to save. 

 

E14A Land at Hindon Lane Continue to save. 

 

E14B Tisbury Continue to save. 

 

E16 Employment – Change of use of allocated 

land 

Deleted by Core Policy 5 of the SWCS. 

E17 New Employment Development Replaced by CP34 (Additional employment land). 

 

E18 New Employment Development in Special 

Restraint Areas 

Do not continue to save. 

 

E19 Employment in the countryside (existing 

sites) 

Continue to save. 

E21 Employment in the countryside (change of 

use) 

Replaced by CP48 (Supporting rural life). 

CN1 Demolition of Listed Buildings Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

historic environment). 

CN2 Demolition of Listed Buildings Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

historic environment). 

CN3 Listed Buildings Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

historic environment). 

CN4 Changes of use in Conservation Areas Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

historic environment). 

CN5 Listed Building cartilage development Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

historic environment). 

CN6 Change of use of Listed agricultural Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

311 
 Page 517



Existing policy To be replaced by WCS or continue to save? 

buildings historic environment). 

CN7 Residential use of Listed agricultural 

buildings 

Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

historic environment). 

CN8 Development in Conservation Areas Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

historic environment). 

CN9 Demolition in Conservation Areas Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

historic environment). 

CN10 Open Spaces in Conservation Areas Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

historic environment). 

CN11 Views in and out of Conservation Areas Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

historic environment). 

CN12 Features in Conservation Areas Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

historic environment). 

CN13 Retention of Shopfronts in Conservation 

Areas 

Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

historic environment). 

CN14 Shopfronts Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

historic environment). 

CN15 Internally illuminated signs in 

Conservation Areas 

Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

historic environment). 

CN16 Shopfront Grilles Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

historic environment). 

CN17 Trees Continue to save. 

CN18 Historic Parks and Gardens Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

historic environment). 

CN19 Environmental Enhancement Replaced by CP52 (Green infrastructure), CP57 

(Ensuring high quality design and place shaping) 

and CP58 (Ensuring the conservation of the 

historic environment). 

CN20 Archaeology Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

historic environment). 

CN21 Archaeological Assessments Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

historic environment). 

CN22 Preservation of Archaeological Remains Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

historic environment). 

CN23 Archaeological implications of 

development in Salisbury, Amesbury, Downton, 

Hindon, Mere, Old Sarum, Shrewton, Tilshead 

Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

historic environment). 

312 
 Page 518



Existing policy To be replaced by WCS or continue to save? 

and Wilton 

CN24 Stonehenge WHS Replaced by CP58 (Ensuring conservation of the 

historic environment) and CP59 (The 

Stonehenge, Avebury and associated sites World 

Heritage Site and its setting). 

C2 Development in the Countryside Replaced by CP48 (Supporting rural life). 

 

C3 Small scale utility development in the 

Countryside 

Replaced by CP48 (Supporting rural life). 

C4 AONB No longer required. Repeats national policy 

(PPS7/draft NPPF). 

C5 AONB No longer required. Repeats national policy 

(PPS7/draft NPPF). 

C6 Special Landscape Area Continue to save. Will be subject to a forthcoming 

review. 

C7 Landscape Setting of Salisbury and Wilton Replaced by CP51 (Landscape). 

 

C8 Landscape (Trees and hedging) Replaced by CP51 (Landscape) and CP50 

(Biodiversity and Geodiversity). 

C9 Loss of woodland Continue to save. 

 

C11 Nature Conservation Replaced by CP50 (Biodiversity and 

Geodiversity). 

C12 Protected species No longer required. Repeats national policy 

/ legislation. 

C13 Enhancement of retained wildlife sites Replaced by CP50 (Biodiversity and 

Geodiversity). 

C14 Features of geological or geomorphological 

importance 

Replaced by CP50 (Biodiversity and 

Geodiversity). 

C15 Nature Conservation Replaced by CP50 (Biodiversity and 

Geodiversity). 

C16 Local Nature Reserves Replaced by CP50 (Biodiversity and 

Geodiversity). 

C17 Conservation of rivers and river valleys Replaced by CP52 (Green Infrastructure). 

 

C18 Development affecting rivers and river Continue to save. 

313 
 Page 519



Existing policy To be replaced by WCS or continue to save? 

valleys 

C19 Best and most versatile agricultural land No longer required. Repeats national policy. 

 

C20 Agricultural, forestry and horticultural 

development 

Repeats permitted development rights. 

C21 Farm diversification Continue to save. 

 

C22 Change of Use & Conversion of Buildings Replaced by CP48 (Supporting rural life). 

 

C23 Change of use of large houses in the 

countryside 

Continue to save. 

C24 Extensions to buildings in the countryside Continue to save. 

 

HA1 Development in the New Forest Deleted and replaced by New Forest National Park 

Core Strategy and Development Management 

Policies DPD (adopted 9 December 2010). 

HA2 Housing within the New Forest Villages Deleted and replaced by New Forest National Park 

Core Strategy and Development Management 

Policies DPD (adopted 9 December 2010). 

HA3 Commoner’s dwellings in the New Forest Deleted and replaced by New Forest National Park 

Core Strategy and Development Management 

Policies DPD (adopted 9 December 2010). 

HA4 Replacement of existing dwellings in the 

New Forest 

Deleted and replaced by New Forest National Park 

Core Strategy and Development Management 

Policies DPD (adopted 9 December 2010). 

HA5 Small-scale business development in the 

New Forest 

Deleted and replaced by New Forest National Park 

Core Strategy and Development Management 

Policies DPD (adopted 9 December 2010). 

HA6 Extensions or redevelopment of existing 

business premises in the New Forest 

Deleted and replaced by New Forest National Park 

Core Strategy and Development Management 

Policies DPD (adopted 9 December 2010). 

HA7 Change of use of buildings in the New 

Forest 

Deleted and replaced by New Forest National Park 

Core Strategy and Development Management 

Policies DPD (adopted 9 December 2010). 

HA8 Indoor sports and recreation facilities in the 

New Forest 
Deleted and replaced by New Forest National Park 

Core Strategy and Development Management 

Policies DPD (adopted 9 December 2010). 

314 
 Page 520



Existing policy To be replaced by WCS or continue to save? 

HA9 Outdoor recreation facilities in the New 

Forest 

Deleted and replaced by New Forest National Park 

Core Strategy and Development Management 

Policies DPD (adopted 9 December 2010). 

 

 

HA10 Golf courses in the New Forest Deleted and replaced by New Forest National Park 

Core Strategy and Development Management 

Policies DPD (adopted 9 December 2010). 

HA11 Riding establishments in the New Forest Deleted and replaced by New Forest National Park 

Core Strategy and Development Management 

Policies DPD (adopted 9 December 2010). 

HA12 Private non-commercial stables in the 

New Forest 

Deleted and replaced by New Forest National Park 

Core Strategy and Development Management 

Policies DPD (adopted 9 December 2010). 

HA13 Tourist attractions in the New Forest Deleted and replaced by New Forest National Park 

Core Strategy and Development Management 

Policies DPD (adopted 9 December 2010). 

HA14 New hotels in the New Forest Deleted and replaced by New Forest National Park 

Core Strategy and Development Management 

Policies DPD (adopted 9 December 2010). 

HA15 Change of use of buildings to hotel, B&B, 

guest house or self-catering accommodation in 

the New Forest 

Deleted and replaced by New Forest National Park 

Core Strategy and Development Management 

Policies DPD (adopted 9 December 2010). 

HA16 Holiday chalet accommodation in the New 

Forest 

Deleted and replaced by New Forest National Park 

Core Strategy and Development Management 

Policies DPD (adopted 9 December 2010). 

S1 Primary Shopping Frontages in Salisbury and 

Amesbury 

Continue to save. 

S2 Secondary Shopping Areas in Salisbury and 

Amesbury 

Continue to save. 

S3 Location of Retail Development Continue to save. 

 

S5 Shopping (Brown Street Car Park) Continue to save. 

 

S6 The Maltings Deleted by Core Policy 7 of the SWCS. 

 

S7 London Road Deleted by Core Policy 7 of the SWCS / has 

315 
 Page 521



Existing policy To be replaced by WCS or continue to save? 

extant consent. 

S9 Local shops Replaced by CP48 (Supporting rural life). 

 

S10 Shopfronts Continue to save. 

 

S11 Farm shops Replaced by CP48 (Supporting rural life). 

 

R1A Sports and Leisure Continue to save. 

 

R1C Outdoor Recreation Continue to save. 

 

R2 Open Space Provision Continue to save. 

 

R3 Open Space Provision Continue to save. 

 

R4 Indoor Community and Leisure Provision Continue to save. 

 

R5 Protection of Outdoor Facilities Continue to save. 

 

R6 Urban Parks Continue to save. 

 

R7 Dual use of educational facilities Continue to save. 

 

R8 New Sports and Recreation Provision 

(Stockport Road, Amesbury) 

Continue to save. 

R9 New Sports and Recreation Provision (Wick 

Lane, Downton) 

Continue to save. 

R10 New Sports and Recreation Provision 

(Netheravon Road, Durrington) 

Continue to save. 

R11 New Sports and Recreation Provision (The 

Street, West Knoyle) 

Continue to save. 

R12 New Sports and Recreation Provision (The 

Avenue, Wilton) 

Continue to save. 

R13 New Sports and Recreation Provision 

(Middleton, Winterslow) 

Continue to save. 

R14 New Leisure Provision (London Road, Deleted by SWCS as site built out (SWCS) 

316 
 Page 522



Existing policy To be replaced by WCS or continue to save? 

Salisbury) 

R15 Golf courses Continue to save. 

 

R16 Developments With River Frontages And 

Public Access 

Continue to save. 

R17 Public Rights of Way (Existing network) Replaced by CP52 (Green infrastructure). 

 

R18 Public rights of way (increased access) Replaced by CP52 (Green infrastructure). 

 

R20 Allotments Continue to save. 

 

TR1 Transport (Salisbury Urban Area) Replaced by CP63 (Transport strategies). 

 

TR2 Salisbury Market Place Car Parking Replaced by CP63 (Transport Strategies) and 

CP64 (Demand management), and Policy PS2 in 

the LTP3 Car Parking Strategy. 

TR3 Salisbury Coach Strategy Replaced by CP63 (Transport Strategies) and 

Policy PS9 in the LTP3 Car Parking Strategy. 

TR4 The former eastern goods yard Deleted by the SWCS as site already built out. 

 

TR5 Commutation of Car Parking Replaced by CP3 (Infrastructure requirements) 

and CP61 (Transport and development). 

TR6 Private non-residential car parks Replaced by CP64 (Demand management) and 

Policy PS4 and PS5 in the LTP3 Car Parking 

Strategy. 

TR7 Residents parking schemes Do not continue to save. Replaced by PS8 of the 

LTP3 Car Parking Strategy. 

TR8 Park and Ride Deleted by the SWCS as all Park and Ride sites 

are now built out and operating. 

TR9 City Centre Parking Replaced by CP63 (Transport strategies) and 

CP64 (Demand management), and Policy PS2 in 

the LTP3 Car Parking Strategy. 

TR10 Brunel Link Do not continue to save – see report ‘Review of 

Road Schemes Revealed on Land Charges 

Searches’ (Ref. HT-030-10). 

TR11 Off Street Parking Spaces Replaced by CP64 (Demand management) and 

317 
 Page 523



Existing policy To be replaced by WCS or continue to save? 

Policy PS4 and PS6 in the LTP3 Car Parking 

Strategy. 

TR12 Transport Requirements in Major 

Developments 

Replaced by CP61 (Transport and development) 

and CP62 (Development impacts on the transport 

network). 

TR13 Extensions to public footpath, bridleway 

and cycle way networks 

Replaced by CP60 (Sustainable transport) 

and CP61 (Transport and development). 

TR14 Secure bicycle parking spaces Replaced by CP61 (Transport and development). 

TR15 Highway safety measures in villages Replaced by CP60 (Sustainable transport) 

and CP65 (Movement of goods). 

TR16 Existing Bus and Rail Services Replaced by CP60 (Sustainable transport) 

and CP66 (Strategic transport network). 

TR17 New Rail Development Replaced by CP65 (Movement of goods) and 

CP66 (Strategic transport network). 

TR18 Measures to assist motorcycling Replaced by CP61 (Transport and development). 

 

TR20 A350 Shaftesbury Eastern Bypass Continue to save. 

 

T1 Tourist attractions and facilities Replaced by CP39 (Tourist development). 

 

T2 Tourist attractions in the Countryside Replaced by CP39 (Tourist development). 

 

T3 Stonehenge WHS visitor centre Replaced by CP6 (Stonehenge) 

 

T4 Tourist Accommodation Deleted by Core Policy 24 of the SWCS. 

 

T6 Change of use to tourist accommodation Deleted by Core Policy 24 of the SWCS. 

 

T7 Tourist accommodation in the countryside Replaced by CP39 (Tourist development). 

 

T8 Camping sites in the AONB Replaced by CP39 (Tourist development). 

 

T9 Touring caravans and tents Replaced by CP39 (Tourist development). 

 

PS1 Community Facilities Continue to save. 

318 
 Page 524



Existing policy To be replaced by WCS or continue to save? 

 

PS2 Nursing homes Replaced by CP46 (Meeting the needs of 

Wiltshire’s vulnerable and older people). 

PS3 Facilities and services within smaller 

settlements 

Replaced by Core Policy 22 of the SWCS. 

PS4 New school sites at Landford and Shrewton Continue to save. 

 

PS 5 New education facilities Continue to save. 

 

PS 6 Playgroups, childminding facilities and day 

nurseries 

Continue to save. 

 

PS7 Telecommunications Continue to save. 

 

PS8 Renewable Energy Replaced by CP42 (Standalone Renewable 

Energy Installations). 

PS9 Cemetery (Fugglestone Red) Replaced by CP2 (Delivery Strategy) (cemetery 

provided within Fugglestone Red allocation). 

South Wiltshire Core Strategy-Approved by Full Council 7 February 2012 

Core Policy 1 - The Settlement Strategy and 

distribution of growth in south Wiltshire 

Replaced and incorporated into CP1 (Settlement 

Strategy). 

Core Policy 2: Strategic Allocations Incorporated into CP2 (Delivery Strategy). 

 

Core Policy 3 - Meeting Local Needs for Affordable 

Housing 

Incorporated and amended by CP43 (Providing 

affordable homes). 

Core Policy 4 - Making adequate provision for 

gypsies and travellers 

Amended by CP47 (Meeting the needs of 

Gypsies and Travellers). 

Core Policy 5 - Employment Land Taken forward and broadened to cover the whole 

of Wiltshire by CP35 (Existing employment sites). 

Core Policy 6 - Meeting Salisbury's Housing 

Needs 

Replaced by CP45 (Meeting Wiltshire’s housing 

needs). 

Core Policy 7 - Maltings / Central Car Park Taken forward and re-numbered as CP21 

(Maltings / Central Car Park). 

Core Policy 8 Salisbury Skyline Taken forward and re-numbered as CP22 

(Salisbury Skyline). 

Core Policy 9 - Old Sarum Airfield Taken forward and re-numbered as CP23 (Old 

Sarum Airfield). 

319 
 Page 525



Existing policy To be replaced by WCS or continue to save? 

Core Policy 10 - Meeting Housing Needs in 

Wilton Community Area 

Replaced by CP45 (Meeting Wiltshire’s housing 

needs). 

Core Policy 11 - Meeting the housing needs for 

the Amesbury Community Area 

Replaced by CP45 (Meeting Wiltshire’s housing 

needs). 

 

Core Policy 12 - Porton Down Taken forward and re-numbered as CP5 (Porton 

Down). 

Core Policy 13 - Stonehenge Incorporated and re-numbered as CP6 

(Stonehenge). 

Core Policy 14 - Meeting Housing Needs In The 

Southern Wiltshire Community Area 

Replaced by CP45 (Meeting Wiltshire’s housing 

needs). 

Core Policy 15 - New Forest National Park Taken forward and re-numbered as CP25 (New 

Forest National Park). 

Core Policy 16 - Meeting Housing Needs In The 

Mere Community Area 

Replaced by CP45 (Meeting Wiltshire’s housing 

needs). 

Core Policy 17 - Meeting Housing Needs in the 

Tisbury Community Area 

Replaced by CP45 (Meeting Wiltshire’s housing 

needs). 

Core Policy 18 - Lifetime Homes Standards Replaced by CP46 (Meeting the needs of 

Wiltshire’s vulnerable and older people). 

Core Policy 19 - Water Efficiency and the River 

Avon Special Area of Conservation 

Replaced by CP68 (Water Resources). 

Core Policy 20- Pollution and phosphate Levels 

in the Water Environment 

Re-worded and broadened to cover the whole of 

Wiltshire by CP69 (Protection of the River Avon 

SAC), although thrust of policy is similar. 

Core Policy 22- Protection of Services and 

Community Facilities 

Taken forward and broadened to cover the whole 

of Wiltshire by CP49 (Protection of Services and 

Community Facilities). 

Core Policy 23 - Green infrastructure and Habitat 

networks 

Taken forward and reworded into CP50 

(Biodiversity and Geodiversity) and CP52 (Green 

Infrastructure). 

Core Policy 24 - Hotels, Bed and Breakfasts, 

Guest Houses and Conference Facilities 

Taken forward and broadened to cover the whole 

of Wiltshire by CP40 (Hotels, Bed and Breakfasts, 

Guest Houses and Conference Facilities). 

 

320 
 Page 526



 

Appendix E: List of settlement boundaries retained 
Principal Settlements  
 
Chippenham 
Trowbridge 
Salisbury 
 

Market Towns 
 
Amesbury (including Bulford and Durrington) Marlborough 
Bradford on Avon Melksham 
Calne Royal Wootton Bassett 
Corsham Tidworth and Ludgershall 
Devizes Warminster 
Malmesbury Westbury 
 

Local Service Centres 
 
Cricklade Pewsey 
Downton Tisbury 
Market Lavington Wilton 
Mere  
 

Large Villages  
 
Aldbourne Lyneham 
Alderbury Morgans Vale / Woodfalls 
Ashton Keynes Netheravon 
Atworth North Bradley 
Baydon Oaksey 
Box Pitton 
Bratton Porton 
Broadchalke Potterne 
Broad Hinton Purton 
Bromham Ramsbury 
Burbage Rowde 
Chapmanslade Rudloe 
Christian Malford Seend 
Codford Semington 
Colerne Shalbourne 
Collingbourne Ducis Shaw / Whitley 
Coombe Bissett Sherston 
Corsley Shrewton 
Crudwell Southwick 
Derry Hill / Studley Steeple Ashton 
Dilton Marsh Sutton Benger 
Dinton Sutton Veny 
Fovant The Winterbournes 
Great Bedwyn Tilshead 
 Upavon 
Great Somerford Urchfont 
Great Wishford West Lavington / Littleton Pannell 
Heytesbury Westwood 
Hilperton Whiteparish 
Hindon Winsley 
Holt Winterslow / Middle Winterslow 
Hullavington Worton 

321 
 Page 527



Kington St Michael  Yatton Keynell 
Ludwell  
 

Appendix F: List of settlement boundaries removed 
 
The lists below show settlements where there is no longer a settlement boundary proposed, 
this includes all Small Villages and settlements outside the settlement hierarchy. The lists 
show where there was a former boundary in place, which will be removed by this Core 
Strategy. 
 
List 1 – Settlements identified as Small Villages that do not have a boundary 
 

All Cannings East Grafton 
Allington East Grimstead 
Alton Priors/Alton Barnes East Knoyle 
Ansty Easterton 
Avebury/Trusloe Easton Royal 
Axford Ebbesbourne Wake 
Barford St Martin Edington/Tinhead 
Beanacre Enford 
Beckhampton Erlestoke 
Berryfield  
Berwick St James Everleigh 
Berwick St John Farley 
Biddestone Figheldean/Ablington 
Bishop Cannings Firsdown/Winterbourne 
Bishopstone Fonthill Bishop 
Bodenham Fonthill Gifford 
Bowerchalke Froxfield 
Bradenstoke Fyfield 
Bremhill Gastard 
Brinkworth Gomeldon 
Britford Great Cheverell 
Broad Town Great Durnford 
Broughton Gifford Ham 
Bulkington Hanging Langford 
Burton Heddington 
Charlton (Malmesbury CA) Hilcott 
Charlton (Tisbury CA) Hilmarton 
Charlton All Saints Hook 
Charlton St Peter Horningsham 
Cherhill Kilmington 
Chilmark Kington Langley 
Chilton Foliat Lacock 
Chirton Langley Burrell 
Chitterne Latton 
Cholderton Lea 
Collingbourne Kingston Limpley Stoke 

322 
 Page 528



Compton Bassett Little Bedwyn 
Compton Chamberlayne Lockeridge 
Corston Longbridge Deverill 
Crockerton Lopcombe Corner 
Dauntsey Lower Stanton St Quintin 
Donhead St Andrew Lower Woodford 
Donhead St Mary Luckington 

 
Lydiard Millicent West Overton 
Staverton Westwells 
Steeple Langford Wilcot 
Stockton Wingfield 
Stoford Winterbourne Bassett 
Stourton Winterbourne Monkton 
Sutton Mandeville Winterbourne Stoke 
Swallowcliffe Woodborough 
Teffont Magna & Teffont Evias Wootton Rivers 
The Chutes Wylye 
Tollard Royal Yarnbrook 
Upper Minety Zeals 
Upper Seagry Yarnbrook 
Upton Scudamore Zeals 
West Ashton 
West Dean 
West Grimstead 

 

 
 

List 2 – Settlements not identified in the settlement hierarchy that formerly had a 
boundary 
 
Barkers Hill Winterbourne Hurdcott 
Boscombe Idmiston 
Chicklade Lake 
Chicksgrove Petersfinger 
Fisherton De La Mere Sutton Row 
Ford West Knoyle 
Great Hinton Wick 
Homington Wilsford 
Hugglers Hole/Sedgehill  

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

323 
 Page 529



 

Appendix G: Principal Employment Areas 
 
The following maps identify the Principal Employment Areas set out in the Community Area 
Strategies. These sites form part of the Policies Maps. 
 
Figure G.1 Principal Employment Areas in Amesbury Community Area 
 

 

324 
 Page 530



 

Figure G.2 Principal Employment Areas in Bradford on Avon Community Area 
 

 
 
 

325 
 Page 531



 

Figure G.3 Principal Employment Areas in Calne Community Area 
 

 
 

326 
 Page 532



 

Figure G.4 Principal Employment Areas in Chippenham Community Area 
 

 
 

327 
 Page 533



 

Figure G.5 Principal Employment Areas in Corsham Community Area 
 

 
 

328 
 Page 534



 

Figure G.6 Principal Employment Areas in Devizes Community Area 
 

 
 
 

329 
 Page 535



 

Figure G.7 Principal Employment Areas in Malrnesbury Community Area 
 

 
 

330 
 Page 536



 

Figure G.8 Principal Employment Areas in Marlborough Community Area 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

331 
 Page 537



 

332 
 Page 538



 

Figure G.9 Principal Employment Areas in Melksham Community Area 
 

 
 
 

333 
 Page 539



 

Figure G.10 Principal Employment Areas in Mere Community Area 
 

 
 
 
 

334 
 Page 540



 

Figure G.11Principal Employment Areas in Royal Wootton Bassett and Cricklade Community Area 
 

 
 
 

335 
 Page 541



 

Figure G.12 Principal Employment Areas in and around Salisbury 
 

 
 
 

336 
 Page 542



 

Figure G.13 Principal Employment Areas in  Downton 
 

 
 
 

337 
 Page 543



 

Figure G.14 Principal Employment Areas in Tidworth Community Area 
 

 
 
 
 
 

338 
 Page 544



 

Figure G.15 Principal Employment Areas in Trowbridge Community Area 
 

 
 
 

339 
 Page 545



 

Figure G.16 Principal Employment Areas in Warminster Community Area 
 

 
 
 
 
 

340 
 Page 546



 

Figure G.17 Principal Employment Areas in Westbury Community Area 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

341 
 Page 547



 

Appendix H: Policies Map 
 
Wiltshire Council is preparing this Wiltshire Core Strategy Development Plan Document as part 
of Wiltshire’s Local Development Framework (LDF). The LDF includes adopted policies maps 
to explain geographically the adopted policies and proposals of the Development Plan 
Documents relating to Wiltshire. The Policies Map is revised when new policies and proposals 
are adopted. 
 
The Policies Map identifies areas of protection, such as nationally protected landscape and 
internationally, nationally and locally-designated areas and sites of conservation interest; show 
areas at risk from flooding; and allocate sites for particular land use and development 
proposals included in any adopted development plan document and set out the areas to 
which specific policies apply. 
 
This Appendix formally outlines what constitutes the Policies Map for Wiltshire and the 
Proposed Changes to it as planned through this Core Strategy. This will be available in a 
graphical format for Submission to the Secretary of State. 
 
The adopted Policies Map for Wiltshire comprises the policies maps contained within: 
 

i. Kennet District Local Plan 2011 (adopted April 2004) - certain policies saved by the 
Secretary of State on 26 September 2007 

ii. North Wiltshire Local Plan 2011 (adopted June 2006) - certain policies saved by the 
Secretary of State on 27 June 2009 

iii. Salisbury District Local Plan 2011 (adopted June 2003) - certain policies saved by the 
Secretary of State on 26 September 2007, as amended by the South Wiltshire 
Core Strategy (adopted 7 February 2012) 

iv. West Wiltshire District Plan 1st Alteration (adopted June 2004) - certain policies saved 
by the Secretary of State on 26 September 2009, as amended by  

v. West Wiltshire Leisure and Recreation Development Plan Document (adopted 
February 2009) 

 
In addition, for Minerals and Waste matters, which are prepared jointly with Swindon Borough 
Council and cover a different plan area (Wiltshire and Swindon Borough), a separate map has 
been prepared. This also forms part of the Policies Map for Wiltshire. 
 
Changes to the Policies Map 
 
The changes to the adopted policies maps, set out in (i) to (v) above, as proposed through 
this Core Strategy are set out below: 
 

a. Removal of boundaries/notations relating to policies that are no longer saved: 
 
Following legislative changes the Secretary of State ‘saved’ certain policies from the 
Local Plans for continued uses pending replacement by new Development Plan 
Documents, including the Wiltshire Core Strategy. The policies maps were not re-printed 
following this exercise and those policies ‘not saved’ and consequently no longer in effect, 
have not been removed from the Policies Maps although their continued appearance there 
should be disregarded. 
 

342 
 Page 548



This Core Strategy proposes that further policies from Local Plans are no longer ‘saved’ 
and in effect replaced by new policies and proposals. Associated changes to the policies 
maps are therefore needed for those saved Local Plan policies and proposals that will be 
placed by the Wiltshire Core Strategy as set out in Appendix D. This will include the removal of 
site allocations as well as policy boundaries and changes to the Key on the policies maps. 
 
Settlement boundaries of those villages identified within Appendix E will be deleted where 
they are not being retained. 
 

343 
 Page 549



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 550



CM09611 App3 

APPENDIX 3 
 

Update to the Sustainability Appraisal of the Wiltshire Core Strategy 
 
The Sustainability Appraisal (SA) has promoted sustainable development through the 
integration of environmental, social and economic considerations into the Wiltshire Core 
Strategy. This requirement is set out in Section 19 (5) of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act, 2004 and Paragraph 165 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  
The SA incorporates the requirements of the European Directive on Strategic 
Environmental Assessment which assesses the significant environmental effects of the 
Core Strategy.   
 
The SA has been undertaken through an iterative process throughout the Core Strategy 
preparation period, including the consideration of reasonable alternatives.  A number of 
iterations of the SA have been consulted on, including assessments of modifications to 
the Core Strategy recommended before and after the examination in public. The 
various SA documents produced to inform the Core Strategy, including web links, are 
listed below in chronological order (taken as a whole, this series of documents sets out 
the process followed and justification for the assessment of policies in detail):   
 

• Wiltshire SA Draft Scoping Report and associated topic papers (Wiltshire 
Council, January 2009) – available at: 
http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/ldfsustainabilityappraisal.htm 
 

• Wiltshire 2026 SA Report (Wiltshire Council, October 2009) - available at: 
http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/wiltshire2026.htm 
 

• Wiltshire SA Scoping Report and associated topic papers (Wiltshire Council, 
April 2010) – available at: 
http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/ldfsustainabilityappraisal.htm 
 

• Wiltshire Core Strategy Interim SA Report (Wiltshire Council, June 2011) – 
available at: http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/wcsconsult2011.htm 
 

• Wiltshire Core Strategy Consultation SA Report (Wiltshire Council, January 
2012) – available at: 
http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/wiltshirecorestrategypresubmissionconsultation.htm 
 

• Wiltshire Core Strategy Submission SA Report (Wiltshire Council, June 2012) – 
available at: http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/submissionofwiltshirecorestrategy.htm 
 

• Wiltshire Core Strategy SA Report Focussed Consultation Document (Wiltshire 
Council, September 2012) – available at: 
http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/corestrategydocuments.htm?directory=Examination%
20Documents (document refs EXAM/ 05 – EXAM/05E) 
 

• Wiltshire Core Strategy SA Report Addendum (Wiltshire Council, August 2013) – 
available at: 
http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/corestrategydocuments.htm?directory=Examination%
20Documents (document ref EXAM/57) 
 

• Wiltshire Core Strategy SA Report Addendum (Wiltshire Council, April 2014) – 
available at: 
http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/corestrategydocuments.htm?directory=Examination%
20Documents (document ref EXAM/99) 

 Page 551



CM09611 App3 

Conclusions on the assessment of modifications to the Core Strategy 
 
In light of the time which has elapsed between the publication of the most recent SA 
Addendum Report in April 2014, which considered the effects of a number of changes 
to the Core Strategy (outlined in examination documents EXAM/73, EXAM/74 and 
EXAM/90A), and the decisions now to be taken by Cabinet and full Council committees, 
officers have undertaken a review of any additional material considerations which may 
have arisen since April 2014 which could affect the effects assessment and conclusions 
of the SA. These include the Inspector’s own modifications to the Core Strategy 
included within the Inspector’s final report on soundness, received by the Council in 
December 2014.  
 
It is considered that any main modifications made to the Core Strategy since April 2014 
will not lead to additional significant effects that have not already been considered and 
documented in the various iterations of the SA, or undermine its conclusions on the 
sustainability of the Core Strategy. Any minor modifications would also not be likely to 
lead to additional significant effects not already considered in the assessment. The 
Inspector’s final report on soundness states in paragraph 6 that ‘the main modifications 
that go to soundness have been subject to public consultation and, where necessary, 
SA’ and therefore it is considered no further changes to the SA are necessary.  
 
A full Sustainability Appraisal adoption statement, incorporating detail on the following, 
will be provided and made publicly available upon adoption of the Core Strategy: 
 

• sustainability considerations - how these have been integrated into the Core 
Strategy 

 

• how the SA has been taken into account during the preparation of the Core 
Strategy 
 

• how opinions expressed in response to consultations on the SA have been taken 
into account 
 

• the reasons for choosing the Core Strategy as adopted, in light of other 
reasonable alternatives considered 
 

• measures to be taken to monitor the significant environmental effects of the 
implementation of the Core Strategy 

 
 

Page 552



APPENDIX 4 

Addendum to the Habitats Regulations Assessment of the Wiltshire Core Strategy  

The Process Followed 

Under Regulation 102 of the Habitats Regulations, the Council is required to undertake an 

appropriate assessment of any land use plan likely to have a significant effect upon the 

network of European designated sites known as Natura 2000.  A number of likely significant 

effects were identified at the screening stage and a full appropriate assessment of the plan 

was carried out in accordance with Regulation 102 and updated as necessary throughout 

the development of the plan.   

Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) is an iterative process and a series of HRA 

documents have been produced by the Council to support the development of the Wiltshire 

Core Strategy and have helped shape the policies therein.  This series of documents starts 

with the ‘Wiltshire Core Strategy – Assessment of the Core Strategy Options under the 

Habitats Regulations’ (October 2009) and continues until the most recent ‘Wiltshire Core 

Strategy: Updated Habitats Regulations Assessment’ (April 2014)1.  Taken as a whole, this 

series of documents sets out the process followed and justification for the assessment of 

policies in detail, and ultimately concludes that the Wiltshire Core Strategy would not have 

an adverse effect upon the integrity of the Natura 2000 network, either alone or in 

combination with other plans or projects.   

Natural England has been consulted on all iterations of the HRA, and the Council has had 

regard to their responses as our statutory nature conservation body, at each stage of 

developing the plan.  The Council has also worked with Natural England and relevant parties 

in developing strategic mitigation measures to address potential effects of development upon 

the Natura 2000 network, and has gained Natural England’s support for the implementation 

of those measures as effective mitigation for the plan2.  The Environment Agency has also 

been consulted at each stage of the plan, and the Council has also had particular regard to 

its responses in assessing any potential effects upon aquatic European designations.  Both 

Natural England and the Environment Agency concurred with the conclusion of the April 

2014 HRA, subject to provision of modelling evidence confirming that the Army Basing 

Programme would not have any ‘in-combination’ effects34, which has now been shared with 

them (see below).     

The Inspector has also carefully interrogated the HRA procedure as part of his examination 

of the plan, and has confirmed in his report that he is satisfied that this legal requirement has 

been fulfilled: 

‘The Council has demonstrated through its HRA and the work with partners how it intends to 

address the Natura 2000 sites within the county. The evidence does not lead me to find that 

the proposed approach is legally flawed, inflexible, unclear or will not be effective in 

implementation.’ (paragraph 151) 

 

                                                           
1
 http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/wcs-examination-exam-89a.pdf  

2
 Statement of Common Ground as Agreed Between Wiltshire Council and Natural England Concerning the 
Wiltshire Core Strategy http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/corestrategypositionstatement?directory=SoCG&fileref=9  
3
 Letter from Charles Routh to Wiltshire Council dated 27

th
 May, 2014 

4
 Email from Katherine Burt to Wiltshire Council dated 27

th
 May 2014 Page 553



Conclusions of the April 2014 HRA 

In light of the time which has elapsed between the issue of the April 2014 HRA and the 

decisions now to be taken by Cabinet and full Council committees, officers have undertaken 

a review to identify any material considerations which may have arisen during the 

intervening period that could affect the conclusions of that assessment.  These 

considerations included, but are not limited to: 

(a) The Inspector’s report – Having reviewed the main modifications subsequently added 

or rejected by the Inspector since the April 2014 HRA56, officers are confident that 

none would materially affect the assessment of the relevant policies in the April 2014 

HRA (Section 4 / Appendix 1), while minor modifications would also not have any 

material effect on that assessment.  

(b) In-combination effects – Neighbouring development plans have progressed relatively 

little since April 2014, and none of the updated plans have changed so significantly 

as to alter the conclusions of the April 2014 HRA (Section 5 / Appendix 2).   

(c) Allocations – Some strategic allocations within the Wiltshire Core Strategy have now 

been subject to full project level HRA including the Kingston Farm housing allocation 

(Bradford on Avon) and the Hawkeridge employment allocation (Westbury).  Both of 

those project level HRA confirm that the allocated sites would not affect the integrity 

of the Natura 2000 network, supporting the conclusions of the April 2014 HRA. 

(d) Rebasing – no applications have yet been submitted and the masterplan proposals 

remain largely the same as they were in April 2014.  However, further modelling work 

on the effects of water abstraction on the River Avon Special Area of Conservation 

(SAC), including in-combination effects with the Wiltshire Core Strategy, has been 

carried out (as referred to in the statutory consultees’ responses to the April 2014 

HRA).  This modelling demonstrates that the Army Rebasing proposals would result 

in a small percentage increase in abstraction of water, but that the remaining existing 

water abstraction from the MoD boreholes may need to incorporate mitigation to 

minimise potential effects.  It also demonstrates that any in-combination effects with 

the public water abstractions necessary to supply the Wiltshire Core Strategy 

development are unlikely, and the statutory consultees are satisfied that mitigation 

measures are available to ensure that there would be no adverse effect upon the 

River Avon SAC.  Therefore the results of the recent modelling work support the 

conclusions of the in-combination assessment of the April 2014 HRA (Section 5 / 

Appendix 2). 

(e) Nutrient Management Plan – A draft of the Nutrient Management Plan for the River 

Avon SAC has now been jointly produced by Environment Agency, Natural England 

and Wiltshire Council and is currently out for public consultation.  This document 

provides a long-term, credible strategy for reducing phosphate levels in the river in 

order to achieve favourable conservation status, while also taking the growth 

projected by the Wiltshire Core Strategy into account.  The document is in line with 

the approach set out in CP69 and supports the conclusions of the April 2014 HRA. 

Natural England and the Environment Agency concur that the above points would not 

materially alter the conclusions of the April 2014 HRA.   

                                                           
5
Wiltshire Core Strategy: Inspector’s Proposed Modifications (EXAM/97A) - http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/wcs-
examination-exam-97a.pdf  
6
 Wiltshire Core Strategy Inspector’s Report - http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/wiltshire-core-strateg-01-
december2014-inspectors-final-report.pdf  Page 554



 

Conclusions 

The Wiltshire Core Strategy has been subject to HRA including appropriate assessment in 

accordance with the Habitats Regulations to the satisfaction of the Inspector and the 

statutory consultees.  Upon review of the April 2014 HRA, the Council is confident that the 

conclusions of that assessment remain valid.  The HRA process has therefore objectively 

concluded that the Wiltshire Core Strategy would not have an adverse effect upon the 

Natura 2000 network, either alone or in combination with other plans or projects. 

Page 555



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 556



CM09607/1 

       
Wiltshire Council 
 
Cabinet 
 
16 December 2014 
 

 
Subject:  Swindon and Wiltshire Local Enterprise Partnership 

Governance 
 
Cabinet Member:  Cllr Jane Scott OBE 
 Leader of the Council 
 
Key Decision: No 
 

 

 
Executive Summary 
 
The Swindon and Wiltshire Local Enterprise Partnership (SWLEP) continues to 
develop and mature as an executive body for setting economic development strategy 
and for guiding growth and investment across the Swindon and Wiltshire area. The 
Swindon and Wiltshire Growth Deal announced in July 2014 allocates £129 million of 
Local Growth Fund resources to the SWLEP to support a range of capital investment 
projects throughout Swindon and Wiltshire between 2015 and 2021. 
 
As a consequence of this increase in the scope and scale of the SWLEP role and 
associated activity, a new governance process has been developed with the 
collaboration and input of Wiltshire Council, Swindon Borough Council and SWLEP. 
The arrangements will strengthen the existing decision making process ensuring 
democratic accountability and scrutiny of SWLEP process and decision making whilst 
strengthening the strategic partnership between SWLEP and the two Unitary 
Authorities. 
 
This report summarises these arrangements. 
 

 
 

 
Proposals 
 
(i) That Cabinet notes and agrees the proposed governance structure for SWLEP 

activities, including the Swindon and Wiltshire Growth Deal as proposed by the 
Swindon and Wiltshire Local Enterprise Partnership Secretariat and presented 
to the SWLEP Board for approval on 9 September 2014. 

 
(ii) That Cabinet approves the Swindon and Wiltshire Local Enterprise Partnership 

Governance Structure as set out in Appendix 1. 
 
 
 

Page 557

Agenda Item 8



CM09607/1 

(iii) That Cabinet authorises the Director of Economic Development and Planning 
and the Monitoring Officer for Wiltshire Council, in consultation with the Leader 
of the Council, to undertake the necessary actions, including changes to the 
Council’s Constitution, to enable the implementation of the governance structure 
set out in Appendix 1. 

 

(iv) That Cabinet agrees to consult Swindon Borough Council in the event of any 
changes to Wiltshire Council’s constitution that may impact upon or affect their 
corporate or political structures and committees. 

 

 
 

 
Reasons for Proposals 
 
To: 
 
(i) Ensure that SWLEP activity is undertaken with robust and democratically 

accountable governance arrangements between the two Unitary Authorities and 
the SWLEP. 

 
(ii) Ensure that the decision making regarding allocations of funding and resources 

made available through the SWLEP Board is agreed in an open and transparent 
way. 

 

 
 

 
Dr Carlton Brand 
Corporate Director 
 

Page 558



CM09607/1 

Wiltshire Council 
 
Cabinet 
 
16 December 2014 
 

 
Subject:  Swindon and Wiltshire Local Enterprise Partnership 
                      Governance 
 
Cabinet Member:  Cllr Jane Scott OBE 
 Leader of the Council 
   
Key Decision: No  
 

 
Purpose of Report 
 

1. This report invites Cabinet Members to review and agree the governance 
arrangements that have been developed by Wiltshire Council in partnership with 
Swindon Borough Council and the Swindon and Wiltshire Local Enterprise 
Partnership (SWLEP). The arrangements described in this report strengthen 
previous governance structures within the SWLEP. These arrangements have 
been developed in light of the significant increases in funding allocation and 
investment decision making which is now a regular feature of the SWLEP portfolio 
of activities. In particular, the governance structures support the delivery of the 
£129 million Swindon and Wiltshire Growth Deal.  

 
Relevance to the Council’s Business Plan 
 

2. The following key actions and outcomes in the Council’s Business Plan are 
relevant to this report: 
 
Key Action Two: Stimulate economic growth in partnership with the SWLEP 
Outcome One: Wiltshire has a thriving and growing economy 
Outcome Three: Everyone lives in a high quality environment 

3. The Swindon and Wiltshire Growth Deal provides much needed capital investment 
towards a range of infrastructure projects that underpin our economy, including 
highways improvements, urban regeneration and business and economic 
development. 

4. In addition, the Local Growth Fund provides an opportunity to bridge viability gaps 
that exist to bring forward strategic housing sites identified in the Draft Wiltshire 
Core Strategy as well as other housing sites that increase the availability of 
affordable housing in Wiltshire. 

 
Background 
 

5. Building on the approach set out in the Local Growth White Paper (October 2010), 
Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs) have been central to the vision to ensure 
Local Authorities and the local business community work together to influence 
local economic growth strategy and the allocation of resources that stimulate 

Page 559



CM09607/1 

economic growth. This has been achieved through programmes such as the 
Growing Places Infrastructure Fund, The Growth HUB and the Swindon and 
Wiltshire Business HUB. The most recent and most significant of these funding 
mechanisms has been the £12 billion Local Growth Fund, allocated between LEPs 
in July 2014 as part of a ‘Growth Deal’ between the LEP and central government. 

6. The Swindon and Wiltshire Growth Deal was announced by central government 
on 7 July 2014, allocating £129 million to a series of projects throughout Swindon 
and Wiltshire. As part of the allocation SWLEP were required to strengthen their 
governance arrangements ahead of the funding being made available. 

7. Wiltshire Council officers from Economic Development and Planning and Legal 
Services have worked in collaboration with Swindon Borough Council and SWLEP 
to develop a robust and clear governance process. The process is designed to 
ensure that democratic accountability is maintained amongst the decision making 
structures of the SWLEP and that both finance and delivery of projects is 
controlled, monitored and reviewed. 

8. A report detailing the governance arrangements was presented to the SWLEP 
Board and agreed on 9 September 2014. The arrangements have also been 
reviewed and accepted by the Cabinet Members of Swindon Borough Council. 

 
Main Considerations for the Council 
 

9. The remainder of this report will highlight the governance arrangements that have 
been developed as part of the collaborative process described above. 

10. The image below shows the organisational structure that has been proposed as 
part of the SWLEP Governance arrangements. These are described below. 

 
 Swindon and Wiltshire Local Enterprise Partnership Board  
 

Page 560



CM09607/1 

11. The SWLEP Board of 14 members reflects HM Government’s desire to ensure 
that business leaders are engaged and involved in setting local economic 
priorities. The SWLEP Board will remain the primary decision making body in 
taking the Growth Deal programme forward and will be supported by the SWLEP 
Secretariat and SWLEP staff. The SWLEP Director and staff are seconded to the 
SWLEP by Wiltshire Council. The SWLEP Board has primary responsibility for the 
development, review and refreshing of the Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) and the 
successful and effective delivery of the SEP and the Local Growth Deal. The 
Board will also have final responsibility for signing off transport schemes, on the 
basis of recommendations from the Local Transport Subgroup. 

 
 SWLEP Secretariat 
 

12. The key source of advice to the SWLEP will continue to be the SWLEP Secretariat 
which comprises the SWLEP Director and the two Directors responsible for 
economic development in each of the two Unitary Authorities.  
 

 Joint Strategic Economic Committee 
 

13. The  formal Joint Strategic Economic Committee (JSEC) is set up under Sections 
101(5), 102 of the Local Government Act 1972, Section 9EB of the Local 
Government Act 2000 and Regulation 11 of the Local Authorities (Arrangements 
for the Discharge of Functions (England) Regulations 2012.  

 
14. The membership of the JSEC is comprised of six voting members, including the 

Elected Leader, Deputy Leader and the Cabinet Member holding the Economic 
Development Portfolio of each Unitary Authority. In addition, the Chair of the 
SWLEP and two other SWLEP Board members attend as non-voting members. In 
the event of any circumstance where the JSEC cannot reach agreement on an 
issue pertaining to the SEP, the issue in hand will be referred back to the SWLEP 
Board for review. The JSEC is chaired by the Elected Leader of one of the Unitary 
Authorities and will rotate annually between Swindon Borough Council and 
Wiltshire Council.  The first chair role will be held by Wiltshire Council. 

 
15. The primary tasks of the Joint Strategic Economic Committee will be to: 

 

• Act as a single voice for Local Government in Swindon and Wiltshire in 
relation to the delivery of the SEP and Local Growth Deals;  

• Facilitate and enable collaboration between the two Unitary Authorities on 
economic development and related matters; 

• Provide local democratic accountability for the delivery of the SEP and the 
use of public resources to fund the implementation of the Strategic 
Economic Plan and Local Growth Deals (including supporting Wiltshire 
Council’s role as the accountable body); 

• Provide political oversight of the marshalling and co-ordination of Local 
Government’s contribution to the delivery of the SEP and Local Growth 
Deals;  

• Act as formal link between Local Government and the SWLEP. 
 

16. The JSEC will operate as an open and transparent body and will be serviced by 
Wiltshire Council’s Democratic Services  team alongside Wiltshire Council as the 
delegated Accountable Body for the SWLEP. A key role of the JSEC will be to 

Page 561



CM09607/1 

formally agree and sign off key decisions and actions within the agreed terms of 
reference in an open, transparent and publically accessible environment, subject 
to the statutory provisions on access to information in relation to confidential or 
exempt items of business.  The JSEC will operate alongside the SWLEP Board. 
The papers of the JSEC will be made public in the same way that other Council 
Committee papers are made public. This will again strengthen the public 
accountability element of the Growth Deal governance arrangements. 

 
 SWLEP Commissioning Group 
 

17. The SWLEP Commissioning Group has a strategic oversight in ensuring the 
efficient delivery of the projects funded by the LGF and is comprised of SWLEP 
Chair, Vice Chair, Chief Executive Swindon Borough Council and Corporate 
Director Wiltshire Council supported by the SWLEP Secretariat. 

 
18. This Commissioning Group is accountable to both the JSEC and the SWLEP 

Board and has responsibility for advising the SWLEP Board on future Local 
Growth Deal propositions supported by material provided through the officer of 
both Unitary Authorities and the SWLEP. 

 
19. The Commissioning Group will ensure that: 

 

• The arrangements put in place conform to legal requirements with regard 
to freedom of information, equalities, the environment and other matters; 

• Public funds are used appropriately; 

• There is independence between scheme promoter and the decision 
making body in order to avoid conflict of interest; 

• Official records of proceedings relating to the investment decisions are 
maintained; 

• Regular progress reports and updates are scheduled with appropriate 
Government teams. 

 
 Joint Overview and Scrutiny Task Group 

 
20. The Joint Overview and Scrutiny Task Group is comprised of four elected 

members from the two Unitary Authority Overview and Scrutiny functions and is 
understood to be the first of its kind in the country. The Task Group acts as a 
critical friend, developing an overview of strategies and plans and providing 
independent scrutiny of the work of the SWLEP Board and JSEC.   

21. In order to maintain appropriate separation of responsibilities, Swindon Borough 
Council will assume the management of the joint scrutiny process, whilst Wiltshire 
Council acts as the Accountable Body for the SWLEP. 

Page 562



CM09607/1 

 SWLEP Joint Planning Working Party 
 

22. The existing Joint Planning Working Party will be strengthened and will develop a 
collaborative approach to spatial planning for the two Councils, in particular 
addressing planning for the longer term growth in the area and its environs. In 
addition, the two Unitary Authorities will adopt a joint approach to the duty to 
cooperate with neighbouring councils. 

 

 Subgroups and the Local Transport Body 
 

23. It is proposed that the Local Transport Body (LTB) should become a Local 
Transport Subgroup of the SWLEP Board. Its role would be to advise the SWLEP 
on transport issues, including proposed schemes and relative priority and progress 
with the delivery of existing schemes. Responsibility for the final sign-off of 
transport schemes would sit with the SWLEP Board on the basis of 
recommendations from the Subgroup. 

 

 SWLEP Delivery and Performance Team 
 

24. A Delivery and Performance Team has been established to lead the Programme 
Management activities of the Growth Deal. It will be chaired by the SWLEP 
Director of Programmes and Partnerships and will comprise a delegated Growth 
Deal Programme Manager from each of the Unitary Authorities and the SWLEP.  
This Team forms the key reporting mechanism on progress, risks, issues and 
benefits realisation and will provide bi-monthly highlight reports to the 
Commissioning Group. The Team will also provide the SWLEP Board with 
information and detail relating to future schemes and negotiations. 

 
Safeguarding Implications 
 
25. There are no safeguarding issues related to this report. 
 
Public Health Implications 
 

26. The local economy is a known contributor to the wider determinants of health. A 
struggling local economy can lead to higher unemployment throughout the local 
population. This in turn can impact on the mental and physical health of the 
population in terms of increasing levels of personal debt and associated mental ill 
health, fuel poverty, child poverty and homelessness. 

 
27. The Strategic Economic Plan delivered through nationally competitive Growth 

Deals aims to deliver over 25,500 jobs in Wiltshire and attracts over £500 million 
of private sector investment to our economy. This will help ensure that Wiltshire’s 
economy remains strong and resilient and that employment figures remain high. 

 
Environmental and Climate Change Considerations  
 

28. Through the development of the Growth Deal there will be an increase in demand 
for and consumption of energy in Wiltshire. However, these proposed 
developments also present opportunities for innovative and pioneering solutions in 
terms of meeting the challenges ahead of rising energy costs and disrupted 
supply. 

Page 563



CM09607/1 

29. The Growth Deal offers the chance to support the necessary transition to a low 
carbon economy which will reduce energy costs and consumption, as well as 
securing supply for businesses and residents. Through the Growth Deal Wiltshire 
can develop and grow into a low carbon business destination of choice. 

 
30. The planned housing, road improvements, and business growth and expansion, 

provides an opportunity to embed the development of a low carbon infrastructure 
and sustainable building practices. This in turn will also support the local skills 
agenda offering opportunities for apprenticeships, up-skilling of the workforce and 
supporting emerging technologies and patent development. 

  
31. The planned road and rail improvements will also ensure that innovative 

sustainable transport solutions and networks are fully explored. This will enable 
affordable low carbon travel throughout the county for business, domestic and 
tourism. 

 
Equalities Impact of the Proposal 
 

32. The Department for Business, Innovation and Skills published its Equality Impact 
Assessment (EQIA) for Growth Deals in July 2014. The report concludes that the 
Growth Deal programme has no adverse impact on any protected group and that 
the proposed funding decision is neutral in advancing equality of opportunity 
between persons who share the relevant protected characteristic and persons who 
do not share it. 

 
Risk Assessment 
 
33. The SWLEP Delivery and Performance Team have developed programme level 

risk registers and project level risk registers and have embedded a robust 
process for risk and issue monitoring and management based on PRINCE2 Best 
Practice Management. 

 
34. This is reviewed and agreed by the SWLEP Commissioning Group at regular 

intervals in programme development and delivery. 
 
Risks that may arise if the proposed decision and related work is not taken 
 
35. Robust and accountable delivery and governance arrangements between the 

two Unitary Authorities and the SWLEP are a condition of the Growth Deal 
between central government and SWLEP.  Failure to adopt developed and 
accountable governance process will limit the opportunities to leverage funds 
through the Growth Deal process and will potentially jeopardise future funding 
allocations. 

 
Risks that may arise if the proposed decision is taken and actions that will be 
taken to manage these risks 
 
36. In accepting the proposed SWLEP governance arrangements Cabinet agree to 

decisions on economic growth and development within the scope of the 
governance framework to be passed on to the SWLEP Board with limited ability 
to influence decisions on inward investment and devolved funding use. 

 

Page 564



CM09607/1 

 
Financial Implications 
 
37. Whilst there are financial implications linked with the Growth Deal and future 

development of the Strategic Economic Plan, there are no direct financial 
implications to Wiltshire Council through the agreement of the governance 
arrangements described in this report. 

 
38. The Growth Deal sets out a clear framework for investment which is necessary 

for continued economic growth in Swindon and Wiltshire. In developing 
propositions brought forward to the SWLEP Board for review, a cycle of project 
development and benefits assessment will be carried out to ensure value for 
money. This process will be carried out in line with the processes and 
methodology for appraising and evaluating projects as set out in HM Treasury’s 
“The Green Book”. 

 
Legal Implications 
 
39. These governance arrangements have been developed with the input of legal 

officers from both Unitary Authorities and satisfy the necessary legal 
requirements. The statutory basis for the JSEC is set out in paragraph 13 above. 
 

40. It has been agreed that Wiltshire Council will consult Swindon Council and the 
SWLEP on any proposed changes to its constitution that may materially affect 
the JSEC. 
 

41. In order to establish the JSEC formally it is proposed that the Leader will 
delegate executive authority to the JSEC in accordance with the agreed terms of 
reference. As required under paragraph 9 of the Cabinet Procedure Rules in Part 
7 of the Constitution this amendment to the scheme of delegation will be 
reported to the next ordinary meeting of the Council.  
 

42. The governance framework will be kept under review to ensure that it remains fit 
for purpose. 

 
Options Considered 
 
43. To: 

 
(i) Do Nothing – Without reviewing and strengthening the governance of the 

SWLEP the £129 million allocation may be withheld by central 
government stalling the projects that it is due to deliver. 
 

(ii) Accept proposed structure – Accept and support the proposed 
governance structure as it is. 
 

(iii) Accept in part – Elements of the structure could be accepted with a 
request to review part of the structure. 
 

(iv) Accept with future review – Accept the proposed governance structure 
with agreement to a future review of practice and activity. 

 

Page 565



CM09607/1 

Conclusions 
 
44. The proposed arrangements, subject to adoption, will provide the SWLEP with a 

clear, democratically accountable and robust decision making process with 
dedicated officer support, overview and scrutiny and partnership development 
between the two Unitary Authorities and SWLEP. 

 
45. Ongoing engagement with the SWLEP meets core components of the current 

Wiltshire Council Business Plan, and is essential to unlock funding through 
future Growth Deals and other economic growth programmes that are delivered 
through the SWLEP.  

 
 
Alistair Cunningham 
Associate Director – Economic Development and Planning 
 
 
 
 
Report Author: 
Jay Gascoigne 
Strategic Economic Programmes Manager 
Jay.gascoigne@wiltshire.gov.uk 
20 November 2014 

 

 
The following unpublished documents have been relied on in the preparation of 
this report: 
 
 Growth Deal and Local Growth Fund Governance and Delivery Arrangements – 
 SWLEP Governance Paper issued to BIS Sept 2014 
 
Appendix 1  
 
Swindon and Wiltshire Local Enterprise Partnership Governance Structure 
 
  

Page 566



 

Growth Deal and Local Growth Fund
Governance and Delivery 
Arrangements 

 

Introduction 

This paper outlines for the Board 

response to feedback on our proposed governance arrangements as submitted in Section 6 

of the Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) in March 2014.  This additional submission forms part 

of the Growth Deal and confirms 

Partnership (SWLEP) will take

place. It was set out to demonstrate our commitment to ensuring that we are able to make 

difficult, robust, transparent value for money decisions and implement

structured around the headings in the G

the questions posed in that request

implemented.  

Context  

The draft Swindon and Wiltshire SEP

approach to governance and delivery, with 

proposals. The final version of our submitted SEP 

including plans to develop the 

arrangements and address the resourcing of the LEP. 

While this progress was recognised by 

feedback from BIS has been that 

Growth Deal document states that: 

“As part of the deal, the LEP will: 

• Strengthen governance

that investment decisions are robust and represent good value for money, ensuring 

delivery of agreed actions, clarifying how the Local Transport Body (LTB) role will be 

delivered within the LEP struc

between the Unitary Authorities.”

Clarifying and strengthening our arrangements will also help the Secretariat to take forward 

the further negotiations with 

meeting. SWLEP awaits Central Government guidance on the expected role of the LTB and 

will ensure compliance with required arrangements.

Overview 

We are working on arrangements that will 

assess and deliver the projects outlined in our 

Fund (LGF). Collectively they provide the decision making process with support, scrutiny and 

partnership development between our two 

knowledge and experience of our 

the functions of a Joint Strategic Economic Committee

Local Growth Fund 
Governance and Delivery 

 

 

paper outlines for the Board the content of a submission made to Government 

response to feedback on our proposed governance arrangements as submitted in Section 6 

of the Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) in March 2014.  This additional submission forms part 

and confirms the steps the Swindon and Wiltshire L

take to put effective governance and delivery arrangements in 

demonstrate our commitment to ensuring that we are able to make 

difficult, robust, transparent value for money decisions and implement 

red around the headings in the Government's request for clarification and addresses 

the questions posed in that request but will be kept under review to ensure best practice is 

Wiltshire SEP submitted in December 2013, summarily 

approach to governance and delivery, with a commitment to further development of the 

The final version of our submitted SEP in March 2014 did contain more detail

to develop the Joint Strategic Economic Committee and associated scrutiny 

and address the resourcing of the LEP.  

While this progress was recognised by Central Government, both the formal and informal 

feedback from BIS has been that we need to further strengthen our arrangements.

eal document states that:  

As part of the deal, the LEP will:  

Strengthen governance by ensuring appropriate governance structures, ensuring 

that investment decisions are robust and represent good value for money, ensuring 

delivery of agreed actions, clarifying how the Local Transport Body (LTB) role will be 

delivered within the LEP structure, and increasing collaboration and joint work 

between the Unitary Authorities.”  

Clarifying and strengthening our arrangements will also help the Secretariat to take forward 

the further negotiations with Central Government to which the Board agreed 

SWLEP awaits Central Government guidance on the expected role of the LTB and 

will ensure compliance with required arrangements. 

We are working on arrangements that will provide a robust platform on which to develop, 

r the projects outlined in our Growth Deal and funded by the Local Growth 

. Collectively they provide the decision making process with support, scrutiny and 

partnership development between our two Unitary Authorities, bringing together the 

knowledge and experience of our democratically elected executive colleagues to carry out 

the functions of a Joint Strategic Economic Committee (JSEC). In addition

 

APPENDIX ONE 

1 

a submission made to Government in 

response to feedback on our proposed governance arrangements as submitted in Section 6 

of the Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) in March 2014.  This additional submission forms part 

ndon and Wiltshire Local Enterprise 

to put effective governance and delivery arrangements in 

demonstrate our commitment to ensuring that we are able to make 

 them. The note is 

overnment's request for clarification and addresses 

but will be kept under review to ensure best practice is 

summarily described the 

a commitment to further development of the 

did contain more detail, 

Committee and associated scrutiny 

overnment, both the formal and informal 

further strengthen our arrangements. Our 

by ensuring appropriate governance structures, ensuring 

that investment decisions are robust and represent good value for money, ensuring 

delivery of agreed actions, clarifying how the Local Transport Body (LTB) role will be 

ture, and increasing collaboration and joint work 

Clarifying and strengthening our arrangements will also help the Secretariat to take forward 

the Board agreed at its July 

SWLEP awaits Central Government guidance on the expected role of the LTB and 

provide a robust platform on which to develop, 

and funded by the Local Growth 

. Collectively they provide the decision making process with support, scrutiny and 

uthorities, bringing together the 

colleagues to carry out 

. In addition, we are also 

Page 567



 

Growth Deal and Local Growth Fund
Governance and Delivery 
Arrangements 

 

 developing a Joint Overview and Scrutiny Task

from both of our two Unitary A

Councillors and ensure democratic accountability

These functions strengthen and support the abilities of the SWLEP Boa

the senior decision making body. The Chai

Borough Council and Corporate Director Wiltshire Council 

supported by the SWLEP Secretariat 

the Growth Deal. The Commissioning Group

Joint Strategic Economic Committee 

progress reports and recommendations 

In recognition of the advantages of joint working on spatial planning across the two Unitary 

Authorities, Swindon and Wiltshire Councils will strengthen further an existing Joint Working 

Party to take forward a collaborative approach to the de

the SWLEP area. This group will provide strategic analysis of spatial requirements to the 

SWLEP Board, based on the economic strategy of the LEP. 

Structures and membership

Swindon and Wiltshire Local Enterprise 

The appointment of Barry Dennington

Government’s desire to ensure that 

local economic priorities. The SWLEP Board will remain the primary dec

taking the Growth Deal programme forward and will be supported by the SWLEP 

and SWLEP staff described in more detail below.

The LEP Board has primary responsibility for:

• The development, review and refreshing of the 

• The successful and effective delivery of the SEP and the Local Growth Deal.
 

The Board will also have final responsibility for signing off transport schemes, on the basis of 

recommendations from the 

‘Subgroups and the Local Transport Body

 

The LEP Secretariat will develop the practical arrangements for this and 

amendment to the LEP Board’s Terms of Reference

The SWLEP Board is constituted in such a way as to ensure that this process is business

led, with the active involvement of Local G

two Unitary Authorities as Board members, the role of the J

Committee and the composition of the LEP Secretariat

 

Joint Strategic Economic Committee

The  formal Joint Strategic Economic 

102 of the Local Government Act 1972, section 9EB of the Local Government Act 2000 and 

Local Growth Fund 
Governance and Delivery 

 

 

developing a Joint Overview and Scrutiny Task Group formed of non-executive C

from both of our two Unitary Authorities. This will afford SWLEP the support of the elected 

and ensure democratic accountability.   

These functions strengthen and support the abilities of the SWLEP Boa

the senior decision making body. The Chair, Vice Chair of SWLEP, Chief Executive Swindon 

Borough Council and Corporate Director Wiltshire Council will form a Commissioning

supported by the SWLEP Secretariat who will be responsible for overseeing the

Commissioning Group will report directly to the SWLEP Board 

Joint Strategic Economic Committee on progress, issues and risks as well as present 

recommendations to the SWLEP Board members. 

In recognition of the advantages of joint working on spatial planning across the two Unitary 

Authorities, Swindon and Wiltshire Councils will strengthen further an existing Joint Working 

Party to take forward a collaborative approach to the development of strategic planning in 

the SWLEP area. This group will provide strategic analysis of spatial requirements to the 

SWLEP Board, based on the economic strategy of the LEP.  

Structures and membership 

Swindon and Wiltshire Local Enterprise Partnership Board 

Barry Dennington to lead the Board of 14 members

ensure that business leaders are engaged and involved 

The SWLEP Board will remain the primary decisi

programme forward and will be supported by the SWLEP 

and SWLEP staff described in more detail below. 

oard has primary responsibility for: 

The development, review and refreshing of the Strategic Economic Plan;

The successful and effective delivery of the SEP and the Local Growth Deal.

oard will also have final responsibility for signing off transport schemes, on the basis of 

recommendations from the Local Transport Subgroup (please see section below on 

Subgroups and the Local Transport Body’ for background detail).  

will develop the practical arrangements for this and 

the LEP Board’s Terms of Reference as appropriate. 

rd is constituted in such a way as to ensure that this process is business

lvement of Local Government through the role of the 

Unitary Authorities as Board members, the role of the Joint Strategic Economic 

tee and the composition of the LEP Secretariat.  

Economic Committee 

Economic Committee (JSEC) is set up under 

102 of the Local Government Act 1972, section 9EB of the Local Government Act 2000 and 

 

APPENDIX ONE 

2 

executive Councillors 

the support of the elected 

These functions strengthen and support the abilities of the SWLEP Board who will remain 

, Chief Executive Swindon 

Commissioning Group 

for overseeing the delivery of 

will report directly to the SWLEP Board and the 

on progress, issues and risks as well as present 

In recognition of the advantages of joint working on spatial planning across the two Unitary 

Authorities, Swindon and Wiltshire Councils will strengthen further an existing Joint Working 

velopment of strategic planning in 

the SWLEP area. This group will provide strategic analysis of spatial requirements to the 

members reflects HM 

are engaged and involved in setting 

ision making body in 

programme forward and will be supported by the SWLEP Secretariat 

Strategic Economic Plan; 

The successful and effective delivery of the SEP and the Local Growth Deal. 

oard will also have final responsibility for signing off transport schemes, on the basis of 

please see section below on 

will develop the practical arrangements for this and suggest an 

rd is constituted in such a way as to ensure that this process is business-

overnment through the role of the Leaders of the 

Strategic Economic 

set up under sections 101(5), 

102 of the Local Government Act 1972, section 9EB of the Local Government Act 2000 and 

Page 568



 

Growth Deal and Local Growth Fund
Governance and Delivery 
Arrangements 

 

Regulation 11 of the Local Authorities (Arrangements for the Discharge of 

(England) Regulations 2012

completed by the end of June and thereafter, 

decision to establish the JSEC

the JSEC had hoped to meet 

The membership of the JSEC

Leader, Deputy Leader and 

Portfolio of each Unitary Authority. In addition

SWLEP Board members shall attend as non

circumstance where the JSEC 

the issue in hand will be referred back to the SWLEP Board for review.

The JSEC will be Chaired by the

rotate annually between Swindon Borough Council and Wiltshire Council.  The first Chair 

role will be held by Wiltshire Council.

The SWLEP Board were asked 

July meeting. 

The primary tasks of the Joint Strategic Economic Committee will be to:

• Act as a single voice for 
delivery of the SEP and local Growth Deals

• Facilitate and enable collaboration between the two 
development and related matters;

• Provide local democratic accountability for the delivery of the SEP and the use of 
public resources to fund the implementation of the St
Local Growth Deals (including supporting Wiltshire
body); 

• Provide political oversight of the ma
Government’s contribution to the delive

• Act as formal link between Local G
 

The draft Terms of Reference 

The JSEC will operate as an open and transparent body

Council’s Democratic Services department

Accountable Body for the SW

off key decisions and actions 

and publically accessible environment

information in relation to confidential or exempt items of business.  

alongside the SWLEP Board. 

as many other Council Committee

element of the Growth Deal governance arrangements.

Local Growth Fund 
Governance and Delivery 

 

 

Regulation 11 of the Local Authorities (Arrangements for the Discharge of 

2012. We submitted to Government that this

by the end of June and thereafter, each Unitary Authority would 

JSEC. Government had noted that prior to these formal 

 for the first time in shadow form in June 2014.

JSEC will comprise six voting members, including the Elected 

Leader, Deputy Leader and the Cabinet Member holding the Economic Development 

Authority. In addition, the Chair of the SWLEP and two

shall attend as non-voting members. In the event of any 

JSEC cannot reach agreement on an issue pertaining to the SEP

the issue in hand will be referred back to the SWLEP Board for review. 

Chaired by the Elected Leader of one of the Unitary Authorities and will 

Swindon Borough Council and Wiltshire Council.  The first Chair 

role will be held by Wiltshire Council. 

asked to formally welcome the establishment of the 

The primary tasks of the Joint Strategic Economic Committee will be to: 

Act as a single voice for Local Government in Swindon and Wiltshire in relation to the
delivery of the SEP and local Growth Deals;  

Facilitate and enable collaboration between the two Unitary Authorities on economic 
development and related matters; 

Provide local democratic accountability for the delivery of the SEP and the use of 
und the implementation of the Strategic E
including supporting Wiltshire Council’s role as the accountable 

Provide political oversight of the marshalling and co-ordination of L
overnment’s contribution to the delivery of the SEP and Local Grow

Act as formal link between Local Government and the LEP. 

The draft Terms of Reference agreed by the shadow JSEC are set out in Appendix 1

will operate as an open and transparent body and will be serviced by 

Democratic Services department] alongside Wiltshire Council as the delegated 

SWLEP. A key role of the JSEC will be to formally agree and sign 

off key decisions and actions within the agreed terms of reference in an open, transparen

and publically accessible environment, subject to the statutory provisions on access to 

information in relation to confidential or exempt items of business.  The JSEC

 The papers of the JSEC will be made public in t

any other Council Committee. This will again strengthen the public accountability 

governance arrangements. 

 

APPENDIX ONE 

3 

Regulation 11 of the Local Authorities (Arrangements for the Discharge of Functions 

We submitted to Government that this work would be 

would take a formal 

rior to these formal decisions, 

une 2014. 

voting members, including the Elected 

the Cabinet Member holding the Economic Development 

, the Chair of the SWLEP and two other 

In the event of any 

on an issue pertaining to the SEP, 

Elected Leader of one of the Unitary Authorities and will 

Swindon Borough Council and Wiltshire Council.  The first Chair 

ablishment of the JSEC at its 

overnment in Swindon and Wiltshire in relation to the 

uthorities on economic 

Provide local democratic accountability for the delivery of the SEP and the use of 
Economic Plan and 

Council’s role as the accountable 

ordination of Local 
ry of the SEP and Local Growth Deals;  

out in Appendix 1. 

and will be serviced by [Wiltshire 

alongside Wiltshire Council as the delegated 

will be to formally agree and sign 

in an open, transparent 

, subject to the statutory provisions on access to 

JSEC will operate 

will be made public in the same way 

accountability 

Page 569



 

Growth Deal and Local Growth Fund
Governance and Delivery 
Arrangements 

 

Wiltshire Council will consult Swindon Council and the SWLEP on any proposed changes to 

its constitution that may materially affect the JSEC.

 

SWLEP Commissioning Group

We are creating a new Commissioning Group

delivery of the Growth Deal

Commissioning Group will have

projects funded by the LGF

Executive Swindon Borough Council and Corporate Director Wiltshire Council supported by 

the SWLEP Secretariat. 

From time to time the Commissioning Group

Group to support and advise on specific areas of work.

This Commissioning Group will be accountable to both the 

will have responsibility for advising the 

propositions supported by material provided through the officer support functions described 

below. We will further explore how this 

arrangements being developed for the European Structural and Investment Fund (ESIF) 

requirements. 

The Commissioning Group will receive bi

the relevant Programme Managers. This mechanism will provide both

governing structures of the Growth Deal

between the Commissioning Group

Commissioning Group will report to the 

available to the public, providing a vehicle for transparency and wider public accountability.

The Commissioning Group will ensure that:

• The arrangements put in place conform to legal requirements with regard to freedom 

of information, equalities, the environment and other matters;

• Public funds are used appropriately;

• There is independence between scheme promoter and the decision making body in 

order to avoid conflict of interest;

• Official records of proceedings relating to the investmen

• Regular progress reports and updates are scheduled with appropriate Government 

teams. 

Joint Overview and Scrutiny Task Group

We have recently established a J

elected members from the two Unitary 

Group will act as a critical friend, developing an overview of strategies and plans and 

providing independent scrutiny of the work of the SWLEP Board and JSEC, evaluating their 

activities from the perspectives of effectiveness, efficiency and efficacy.  

Local Growth Fund 
Governance and Delivery 

 

 

Wiltshire Council will consult Swindon Council and the SWLEP on any proposed changes to 

hat may materially affect the JSEC. 

Commissioning Group 

Commissioning Group which will be tasked to ensure t

delivery of the Growth Deal projects supported by the Local Growth Fund. 

will have a strategic oversight in ensuring the efficien

funded by the LGF and will be comprised of SWLEP Chair, Vice Chair, 

Executive Swindon Borough Council and Corporate Director Wiltshire Council supported by 

Commissioning Group may co-opt other subject specialists 

to support and advise on specific areas of work. 

will be accountable to both the JSEC and the SWLEP Board

will have responsibility for advising the SWLEP Board on future Local Growth Deal 

supported by material provided through the officer support functions described 

l further explore how this Commissioning Group aligns with governanc

arrangements being developed for the European Structural and Investment Fund (ESIF) 

will receive bi-monthly reports on the status of each project from 

anagers. This mechanism will provide both timely updates to the

governing structures of the Growth Deal whilst also ensuring information is distributed 

Commissioning Group, the JSEC and the SWLEP Board where relevant.

will report to the SWLEP Board and JSEC, whose papers will be 

available to the public, providing a vehicle for transparency and wider public accountability.

will ensure that: 

The arrangements put in place conform to legal requirements with regard to freedom 

equalities, the environment and other matters; 

Public funds are used appropriately; 

There is independence between scheme promoter and the decision making body in 

order to avoid conflict of interest; 

Official records of proceedings relating to the investment decisions are maintained;

Regular progress reports and updates are scheduled with appropriate Government 

Joint Overview and Scrutiny Task Group 

established a Joint Overview and Scrutiny Task Group comprised of 

the two Unitary Authority overview and scrutiny functions. The T

will act as a critical friend, developing an overview of strategies and plans and 

providing independent scrutiny of the work of the SWLEP Board and JSEC, evaluating their 

from the perspectives of effectiveness, efficiency and efficacy.   

 

APPENDIX ONE 

4 

Wiltshire Council will consult Swindon Council and the SWLEP on any proposed changes to 

which will be tasked to ensure the effective 

projects supported by the Local Growth Fund. The 

in ensuring the efficient delivery of the 

Chair, Vice Chair, Chief 

Executive Swindon Borough Council and Corporate Director Wiltshire Council supported by 

ubject specialists into the 

and the SWLEP Board and 

LEP Board on future Local Growth Deal 

supported by material provided through the officer support functions described 

aligns with governance 

arrangements being developed for the European Structural and Investment Fund (ESIF) 

monthly reports on the status of each project from 

timely updates to the 

whilst also ensuring information is distributed 

and the SWLEP Board where relevant. The 

ose papers will be 

available to the public, providing a vehicle for transparency and wider public accountability. 

The arrangements put in place conform to legal requirements with regard to freedom 

There is independence between scheme promoter and the decision making body in 

t decisions are maintained; 

Regular progress reports and updates are scheduled with appropriate Government 

Task Group comprised of 

ew and scrutiny functions. The Task 

will act as a critical friend, developing an overview of strategies and plans and 

providing independent scrutiny of the work of the SWLEP Board and JSEC, evaluating their 

 

Page 570



 

Growth Deal and Local Growth Fund
Governance and Delivery 
Arrangements 

 

The Task Group comprises four elected 

giving a full membership of eight. 

developed and are due to be finalised at the G

to be September 2014). In order to maintain appropriate separation of responsibilities, 

[Swindon Borough Council] will assume the management of the joint scrut

Wiltshire Council acts as the accountable body for the SWLEP.

SWLEP Joint Planning Working Party

Swindon and Wiltshire Councils are committed to further collaboration where it can add 

value to the businesses and residents of the area. T

approach to spatial planning between the two Unitary Authorities. 

Working Party will be strengthened and will develop a collaborative approach to spatial 

planning for the two Councils, a

of Swindon and its hinterland. In addition, the two Unitary Authorities will adopt a joint 

approach to the duty to cooperate with neighbouring councils in order to provide greater 

certainty for businesses and, as a consequence, confidence in the businesses to invest in 

the area. 

The SWLEP Joint Planning Working Party

boundary issues related to the development and implementation of planning policy matters. 

It will undertake a joint study to inform the long term planning of West Swindon/North 

Wiltshire in the context of cross b

LEPs Further opportunities for collaboration will also be explored.

Subgroups and the Local Transport Body

The SWLEP Board has develo

specific areas of the business and 

develop further our existing programmes and to support any future programmes.

Subject to guidance and agreement from Department for Transport (DfT),

that the Local Transport Body should become a Local Transport Subgroup of the 

Board. Its role would be to advise the SWLEP Board on transport issues, including proposed 

schemes and relative priority and progress with the delivery of

Responsibility for the final sign off of transport schemes would sit with the 

the basis of recommendations from the Subgroup. 

would be through the JSEC. We are happy to confirm 

• We are currently consulting

• We are committed to using the existing LTB assurance framework.

SWLEP Secretariat 

The key source of advice to the 

comprises the SWLEP Director and 

in each of the two Unitary Authorities. Recognising the importance of this role, we previously 

commissioned a short development programme to enhance the effectiveness of the 

Secretariat and build capacity to support the 

Local Growth Fund 
Governance and Delivery 

 

 

four elected Councillors from each of the two Unitary

giving a full membership of eight. Terms of Reference for the group are currently being 

re due to be finalised at the Group’s still to be scheduled 

In order to maintain appropriate separation of responsibilities, 

will assume the management of the joint scrut

Wiltshire Council acts as the accountable body for the SWLEP. 

Planning Working Party 

Swindon and Wiltshire Councils are committed to further collaboration where it can add 

value to the businesses and residents of the area. This is particularly relevant to 

between the two Unitary Authorities. The existing 

strengthened and will develop a collaborative approach to spatial 

planning for the two Councils, and address in particular, planning for the longer term growth 

of Swindon and its hinterland. In addition, the two Unitary Authorities will adopt a joint 

approach to the duty to cooperate with neighbouring councils in order to provide greater 

businesses and, as a consequence, confidence in the businesses to invest in 

Planning Working Party will consider and advise the JSEC on cross

boundary issues related to the development and implementation of planning policy matters. 

It will undertake a joint study to inform the long term planning of West Swindon/North 

Wiltshire in the context of cross boundary issues, both within SWLEP and with adjacent 

Further opportunities for collaboration will also be explored. 

ps and the Local Transport Body 

developed a number of functioning Subgroups 

specific areas of the business and plan to continue to utilise this resource where we can to 

our existing programmes and to support any future programmes.

Subject to guidance and agreement from Department for Transport (DfT),

that the Local Transport Body should become a Local Transport Subgroup of the 

Board. Its role would be to advise the SWLEP Board on transport issues, including proposed 

schemes and relative priority and progress with the delivery of approved/funded schemes. 

Responsibility for the final sign off of transport schemes would sit with the 

the basis of recommendations from the Subgroup. Public transparency of these projects 

We are happy to confirm that: 

ing DfT on this proposal; 

We are committed to using the existing LTB assurance framework. 

The key source of advice to the SWLEP will continue to be the SWLEP Secretariat which 

LEP Director and the two Directors responsible for economic development 

in each of the two Unitary Authorities. Recognising the importance of this role, we previously 

commissioned a short development programme to enhance the effectiveness of the 

t and build capacity to support the SWLEP Board. Building on the process 

 

APPENDIX ONE 

5 

illors from each of the two Unitary Authorities, 

are currently being 

 first meeting (likely 

In order to maintain appropriate separation of responsibilities, 

will assume the management of the joint scrutiny process, whilst 

Swindon and Wiltshire Councils are committed to further collaboration where it can add 

his is particularly relevant to the joint 

The existing Joint Planning 

strengthened and will develop a collaborative approach to spatial 

nd address in particular, planning for the longer term growth 

of Swindon and its hinterland. In addition, the two Unitary Authorities will adopt a joint 

approach to the duty to cooperate with neighbouring councils in order to provide greater 

businesses and, as a consequence, confidence in the businesses to invest in 

will consider and advise the JSEC on cross-

boundary issues related to the development and implementation of planning policy matters. 

It will undertake a joint study to inform the long term planning of West Swindon/North 

oundary issues, both within SWLEP and with adjacent 

groups that advise on 

esource where we can to 

our existing programmes and to support any future programmes. 

Subject to guidance and agreement from Department for Transport (DfT), we are proposing 

that the Local Transport Body should become a Local Transport Subgroup of the SWLEP 

Board. Its role would be to advise the SWLEP Board on transport issues, including proposed 

approved/funded schemes. 

Responsibility for the final sign off of transport schemes would sit with the SWLEP Board on 

Public transparency of these projects 

LEP Secretariat which 

responsible for economic development 

in each of the two Unitary Authorities. Recognising the importance of this role, we previously 

commissioned a short development programme to enhance the effectiveness of the 

LEP Board. Building on the process 

Page 571



 

Growth Deal and Local Growth Fund
Governance and Delivery 
Arrangements 

 

adopted during the SEP development, we will continue to convene a wider Officer Group 

comprising staff from the two Unitary Authorities responsible for leading on different 

elements of the SEP. 

Shared Intelligence, the consultants appointed to support the development and 

implementation of the Growth Deal, 

strengthening their joint working. 

SWLEP Delivery and Performance Team

A Delivery and Performance Team 

Management activities of the Growth Deal

comprise a delegated Growth Deal

Authorities and the SWLEP Programme Manager. 

economic development service leads or their nominees wi

monthly. This Team forms the key reporting mechanism on progress, risks, issues and 

benefits realisation and will provide bi

The Team will also provide the SWLEP Board with information and detail relating to future 

schemes and negotiations. 

The Commissioning Group will us best practice t

management framework for the Local Growth Fund projects and ensure it operates across 

both Unitary Authorities.  

 

 

Local Growth Fund 
Governance and Delivery 

 

 

adopted during the SEP development, we will continue to convene a wider Officer Group 

comprising staff from the two Unitary Authorities responsible for leading on different 

Shared Intelligence, the consultants appointed to support the development and 

implementation of the Growth Deal, are providing support to the Secretariat and 

strengthening their joint working.  

SWLEP Delivery and Performance Team 

Performance Team has now been established to lead the Programme 

of the Growth Deal. It will be chaired by the SWLEP Director

a delegated Growth Deal Programme Manager from each of the Unitary

Authorities and the SWLEP Programme Manager.  In addition, relevant transport and 

economic development service leads or their nominees will attend the Te

eam forms the key reporting mechanism on progress, risks, issues and 

provide bi-monthly highlight reports to the Commissioning Group

eam will also provide the SWLEP Board with information and detail relating to future 

The Commissioning Group will us best practice to establish a common performance 

management framework for the Local Growth Fund projects and ensure it operates across 

 

APPENDIX ONE 

6 

adopted during the SEP development, we will continue to convene a wider Officer Group 

comprising staff from the two Unitary Authorities responsible for leading on different 

Shared Intelligence, the consultants appointed to support the development and 

are providing support to the Secretariat and 

established to lead the Programme 

LEP Director and will 

from each of the Unitary 

relevant transport and 

eam meetings held 

eam forms the key reporting mechanism on progress, risks, issues and 

Commissioning Group. 

eam will also provide the SWLEP Board with information and detail relating to future 

o establish a common performance 

management framework for the Local Growth Fund projects and ensure it operates across 

Page 572



 

Growth Deal and Local Growth Fund
Governance and Delivery Arrangements

 

 

 

NB. Fig.1 below shows the full governance structure in diagrammatic form.

 

Local Growth Fund 
Governance and Delivery Arrangements 

 

 

NB. Fig.1 below shows the full governance structure in diagrammatic form. 

 

7 

 

P
age 573



 

Growth Deal and Local Growth Fund
Governance and Delivery 
Arrangements 

 

 

 

Ensuring value for money

Our Growth Deal sets out a clear framework for investment which is necessary in order to 

enable economic growth in Swindon and Wiltshire. We are putting in place arrangements to 

ensure that investment decisions are robust, evidenc

good value for money.  

In developing propositions brought forward to

of project development and benefits assessment will be carried out to ensure value for 

money is achieved. This process will be 

methodology for appraising and evaluating projects as set out in HM Treasury’s ‘The Green 

Book’. This will ensure that decisions taken by the SWLEP Board members are made in the 

knowledge of a well researched and develope

quantified benefits appraisal, including benefit cost ratios.

For appraisal of future projects

process, the relevant Unitary Authority 

development of a Strategic Outline Ca

prior to renewed negotiation the following spring. Each SOC will contain detail on each of the 

five cases proposed by the Green Book method, including:

• Overview and description of the project;

• Alignment to national, local and SWLEP policy, strategy and objectives;

• Thorough options analysis and developm

• Economic assessment of benefits of each option;

• Development of a benefit cost

• Detail regarding procurement, partner commitment and thorough risk assessment;

• Breakdown of costs, committed funds 

• Detail regarding Project M

governance recommendations

The SOC will establish a sound platform on which strategic decisions can be made by the 

SWLEP Board members as recommended by the 

money, deliverability, strategic fit and benefits realisation. Once a decision has been made 

by SWLEP Board members each SOC wi

Business Case prepared for submission to HM Government as part of 

We will continue to benefit from 

from the Local Growth Fund in 2016

Star Chamber to review our draft set of projects. It included an inde

a transport adviser and colleagues from the HCA an

at least once a year to act as an independent appraisal panel which will assess projects 

proposed for inclusion in our programme for future years

Local Growth Fund 
Governance and Delivery 

 

 

 

Ensuring value for money 

sets out a clear framework for investment which is necessary in order to 

enable economic growth in Swindon and Wiltshire. We are putting in place arrangements to 

ensure that investment decisions are robust, evidence-based and transparent and

ns brought forward to the SWLEP Board for review, 

of project development and benefits assessment will be carried out to ensure value for 

money is achieved. This process will be carried out in line with the processes and 

methodology for appraising and evaluating projects as set out in HM Treasury’s ‘The Green 

Book’. This will ensure that decisions taken by the SWLEP Board members are made in the 

knowledge of a well researched and developed evidence base and alongside robust 

quantified benefits appraisal, including benefit cost ratios. 

For appraisal of future projects being brought forward through the Local 

, the relevant Unitary Authority Growth Deal Programme Manager wi

a Strategic Outline Case (SOC) for each proposed project

prior to renewed negotiation the following spring. Each SOC will contain detail on each of the 

five cases proposed by the Green Book method, including: 

rview and description of the project; 

lignment to national, local and SWLEP policy, strategy and objectives;

horough options analysis and development of the ‘prioritised list’; 

conomic assessment of benefits of each option; 

evelopment of a benefit cost ratio for the preferred option; 

etail regarding procurement, partner commitment and thorough risk assessment;

reakdown of costs, committed funds (both private and public) and funding timescales;

Management, communications strategy, project tolerances and 

recommendations. 

The SOC will establish a sound platform on which strategic decisions can be made by the 

as recommended by the Commissioning Group, 

money, deliverability, strategic fit and benefits realisation. Once a decision has been made 

by SWLEP Board members each SOC will then be further developed in

submission to HM Government as part of renewed negotiati

to benefit from external assessment before submitting projects for funding 

und in 2016-17 and beyond. In developing our SEP we convened a 

hamber to review our draft set of projects. It included an independent appraisal expert, 

transport adviser and colleagues from the HCA and SFA. We will convene a similar

as an independent appraisal panel which will assess projects 

our programme for future years. 

 

8 

sets out a clear framework for investment which is necessary in order to 

enable economic growth in Swindon and Wiltshire. We are putting in place arrangements to 

based and transparent and represent 

for review, an annual cycle 

of project development and benefits assessment will be carried out to ensure value for 

in line with the processes and 

methodology for appraising and evaluating projects as set out in HM Treasury’s ‘The Green 

Book’. This will ensure that decisions taken by the SWLEP Board members are made in the 

d evidence base and alongside robust 

Local Growth Deal 

anager will oversee the 

se (SOC) for each proposed project in the autumn 

prior to renewed negotiation the following spring. Each SOC will contain detail on each of the 

lignment to national, local and SWLEP policy, strategy and objectives; 

etail regarding procurement, partner commitment and thorough risk assessment; 

and funding timescales; 

anagement, communications strategy, project tolerances and 

The SOC will establish a sound platform on which strategic decisions can be made by the 

, based on value for 

money, deliverability, strategic fit and benefits realisation. Once a decision has been made 

ll then be further developed into an Outline 

renewed negotiations. 

projects for funding 

veloping our SEP we convened a 

ent appraisal expert, 

convene a similar group 

as an independent appraisal panel which will assess projects 

Page 574



 

Growth Deal and Local Growth Fund
Governance and Delivery 
Arrangements 

 

 

 

All SWLEP programmes will be subject to the 

Authorities.  

Resourcing the SWLEP

A key feature of our approach is the deployment of C

of the SEP and Local Growth Deal. We are also

contributions but recognise the need to consolidate and extend the dedicated support 

available to the SWLEP in order to ensure 

it receives appropriate advice and guidance, has the capacity to engage with business 

supported in its role as promoter of the Growth Deal

programmes.  

Currently the LEP has three approved

of the Growth Deal, the SWLEP B

structure which includes: 

• A SWLEP Director; 

• A Programme Manager (to be responsible for the delivery of the 

whole and any projects whi

Projects such as City Deal and BD

• A Business Engagement Officer

• A Communications Officer

• A Policy Officer (new post)

• An Executive Administrator

Further information, including job descriptions and options for funding the

posts will be an addendum to this paper ahead of a subset of the Board meeting on 1

August. 

NB. Fig.2 below shows the proposed LEP structure

Local Growth Fund 
Governance and Delivery 

 

 

 

LEP programmes will be subject to the audit procedures of the two Unitary 

LEP 

approach is the deployment of Council resources to support the 

Growth Deal. We are also exploring the scope for private sector 

recognise the need to consolidate and extend the dedicated support 

EP in order to ensure the business of the SWLEP is 

ppropriate advice and guidance, has the capacity to engage with business 

as promoter of the Growth Deal and other economic development 

Currently the LEP has three approved and funded posts but in order to deliver t

LEP Board will be asked at its September meeting 

anager (to be responsible for the delivery of the work 

any projects which are not the responsibility of the two Unitary Authorities

Projects such as City Deal and BD-Net will have dedicated Project Managers appointed;

A Business Engagement Officer (new post); 

fficer (new post); 

(new post); 

dministrator/Events Officer. 

Further information, including job descriptions and options for funding the

to this paper ahead of a subset of the Board meeting on 1

proposed LEP structure 

 

9 

audit procedures of the two Unitary 

ouncil resources to support the delivery 

the scope for private sector 

recognise the need to consolidate and extend the dedicated support 

is well managed, that 

ppropriate advice and guidance, has the capacity to engage with business and is 

and other economic development 

posts but in order to deliver the full extent 

at its September meeting to approve a 

work programme as a 

ch are not the responsibility of the two Unitary Authorities). 

Net will have dedicated Project Managers appointed; 

Further information, including job descriptions and options for funding the additional three 

to this paper ahead of a subset of the Board meeting on 1st 

Page 575



 

Growth Deal and Local Growth Fund
Governance and Delivery 
Arrangements 

 

 

 

 

Delivery, risk and accountability arrangements

The primary responsibility for ensuring effective delivery of

Growth Fund will lie with the two Unitary Authoritie

Project Manager and each Council will appoint a Programme M

responsibility for the delivery of the projects for which

SWLEP’s Programme Manager will 

and be responsible for projects 

responsibility and agreement has been established by the S

will be identified for each of these projects.

A programme of project and programme management is currently being established and 

be modelled on the robust programme management processes in place at 

Authorities, using PRINCE2 programme m

 

Local Growth Fund 
Governance and Delivery 

 

 

 

Delivery, risk and accountability arrangements 

The primary responsibility for ensuring effective delivery of the projects funded

Growth Fund will lie with the two Unitary Authorities. Each project will have 

and each Council will appoint a Programme Manager with overall 

responsibility for the delivery of the projects for which the Council is responsible. The 

anager will have overall reporting responsibility for t

be responsible for projects where a particular Local Authority has not taken 

nt has been established by the Secretariat. A P

will be identified for each of these projects. 

d programme management is currently being established and 

modelled on the robust programme management processes in place at 

PRINCE2 programme management methodology. 

 

10 

 

funded by the Local 

s. Each project will have an identified 

anager with overall 

ouncil is responsible. The 

have overall reporting responsibility for the Growth Deal 

where a particular Local Authority has not taken 

. A Project Manager 

d programme management is currently being established and will 

modelled on the robust programme management processes in place at the Unitary 

Page 576



 

Growth Deal and Local Growth Fund
Governance and Delivery 
Arrangements 

 

 

 

Included within this structure are the following 

• An overall project planner will be maintained by the SWLEP Programme Manager and 

this will cover the key reporting dates to the SWLEP Board and JSEC, as well as 

recording all major milestones relating to overall and specific

• Regular programme meetings 

Delivery and Performance T

• Highlight reports – highlight rep

the projects and programmes that they are responsible for. These will be made available 

bi-monthly and will be distributed to the SWLEP 

reports will include updated risk register, issues register, budget performance, period 

progress and next period workload.

• Risk Register – each Programme M

register for ongoing monitoring of process and progress. A traffic light system reporting 

mechanism will be aligned to this register to identify serious issues and

• Each Project Manager 

stakeholders with a clearly articulated brief, outline business case, communications 

strategy and agreed project tolerances.

• Each Programme Manager will keep a 

and will report to the SWLEP 

• The SWLEP Programme Manager will be responsible for collating bi

performance information to provide assurance to the SWLEP B

consistent templates and records that will underpin the overall risk register.

 

Local Growth Fund 
Governance and Delivery 

 

 

 

Included within this structure are the following programme management functions:

An overall project planner will be maintained by the SWLEP Programme Manager and 

this will cover the key reporting dates to the SWLEP Board and JSEC, as well as 

recording all major milestones relating to overall and specific project mobilisation.

Regular programme meetings – carried out through the functions of the SWLEP 

Performance Team. Monthly meeting. 

highlight reports will be forwarded by each Programme 

mmes that they are responsible for. These will be made available 

monthly and will be distributed to the SWLEP Commissioning Group

reports will include updated risk register, issues register, budget performance, period 

riod workload. 

Programme Manager will maintain a weekly risk and issues 

register for ongoing monitoring of process and progress. A traffic light system reporting 

mechanism will be aligned to this register to identify serious issues and

Manager will develop a project initiation document available to all 

stakeholders with a clearly articulated brief, outline business case, communications 

strategy and agreed project tolerances. 

anager will keep a monthly record of expenditure on each project 

and will report to the SWLEP Commissioning Group when tolerances are breached.

The SWLEP Programme Manager will be responsible for collating bi

performance information to provide assurance to the SWLEP Board

consistent templates and records that will underpin the overall risk register.

 

 

11 

programme management functions: 

An overall project planner will be maintained by the SWLEP Programme Manager and 

this will cover the key reporting dates to the SWLEP Board and JSEC, as well as 

project mobilisation. 

ugh the functions of the SWLEP 

rogramme Manager for 

mmes that they are responsible for. These will be made available 

Commissioning Group. The Highlight 

reports will include updated risk register, issues register, budget performance, period 

anager will maintain a weekly risk and issues 

register for ongoing monitoring of process and progress. A traffic light system reporting 

mechanism will be aligned to this register to identify serious issues and risks early. 

will develop a project initiation document available to all 

stakeholders with a clearly articulated brief, outline business case, communications 

record of expenditure on each project 

when tolerances are breached. 

The SWLEP Programme Manager will be responsible for collating bi-monthly 

oard using a series of 

consistent templates and records that will underpin the overall risk register. 

Page 577



 

Growth Deal and Local Growth Fund
Governance and Delivery 
Arrangements 

 

 

 

 
 

APPENDIX 1: JOINT STRATEGIC EC

Swindon and Wiltshire Joint Strategic Economic Committee 

revised terms of reference,

 
1. Purpose 
 
To provide local democratic and financial accountability for the Swindon and Wilts

Strategic Economic Plan (

related funding streams.

 
2.  Governance 

 
2.1   The Swindon and Wiltshire 

established as a joint committee under sections 101(5),102 of the Local Government 

Act 1972, section 9EB of the Local Government Act 2000 and Regulation 11 of the 

Local Authorities (Arr

Regulations2012.  

 

2.2  The JSEC comprises Swindon Borough Council and Wiltshire Council as the two 

Unitary Authorities in the area covered by the Swindon and Wiltshire 

 
2.3  Political proportionality rules do not apply to the JSE

 
3.  Functions 

 
3.1  The functions delegated to the 

 

• To act as a single voice for local government in Swindon and Wiltshire in relation to 

the delivery of the SEP and local Growth Deal

• To facilitate and enable

development and related matters;

• Provide local democratic accountability for the delivery of the SEP and the use of 

public resources to fund the 

Local Growth Deals (including supporting Wiltshire’s Council’s role as the 

accountable body); 

• Provide political oversight of the marshalling and co

Government’s contribution to the deliv

• Act as formal link between 

 

Local Growth Fund 
Governance and Delivery 

 

 

 

: JOINT STRATEGIC ECONOMIC COMMITTEE

Swindon and Wiltshire Joint Strategic Economic Committee - Constit

rence, membership and procedure rule

To provide local democratic and financial accountability for the Swindon and Wilts

Strategic Economic Plan (SEP), the use of the Local Growth Fund 

related funding streams. 

The Swindon and Wiltshire Joint Strategic Economic Committee (JSE

established as a joint committee under sections 101(5),102 of the Local Government 

Act 1972, section 9EB of the Local Government Act 2000 and Regulation 11 of the 

Local Authorities (Arrangements for the Discharge of Functions (England) 

C comprises Swindon Borough Council and Wiltshire Council as the two 

in the area covered by the Swindon and Wiltshire 

y rules do not apply to the JSEC as so constituted. 

functions delegated to the JSEC by the Unitary Authorities are as follows:

To act as a single voice for local government in Swindon and Wiltshire in relation to 

the SEP and local Growth Deals; 

To facilitate and enable collaboration between the two Authorities on economic 

development and related matters; 

Provide local democratic accountability for the delivery of the SEP and the use of 

public resources to fund the implementation of the Strategic E

eals (including supporting Wiltshire’s Council’s role as the 

Provide political oversight of the marshalling and co-ordination of 

overnment’s contribution to the delivery of the SEP and Local Growth 

Act as formal link between Local Government and the LEP. 

 

 

12 

ONOMIC COMMITTEE 

Constitution: 

les. 

To provide local democratic and financial accountability for the Swindon and Wiltshire 

SEP), the use of the Local Growth Fund (LGF) and other 

Joint Strategic Economic Committee (JSEC) is 

established as a joint committee under sections 101(5),102 of the Local Government 

Act 1972, section 9EB of the Local Government Act 2000 and Regulation 11 of the 

Functions (England) 

C comprises Swindon Borough Council and Wiltshire Council as the two 

in the area covered by the Swindon and Wiltshire SEP.  

C as so constituted.  

are as follows: 

To act as a single voice for local government in Swindon and Wiltshire in relation to 

uthorities on economic 

Provide local democratic accountability for the delivery of the SEP and the use of 

Economic Plan and 

eals (including supporting Wiltshire’s Council’s role as the 

ordination of Local 

rowth Deals;  

Page 578



 

Growth Deal and Local Growth Fund
Governance and Delivery 
Arrangements 

 

 

 

4.  Membership 

 
4.1     Membership of the JSE

 

Voting: 

 

a. 3 Executive members of each council to include;

 

     i.   The Leader 

     ii.  Deputy Leader 

     iii. Cabinet Member holding the portfolio which includes Economic Development

 

Non-voting 

 

b. Chairman of the SWLEP plus two

Business community. 

 

4.2    Each Unitary Authority shall ap

members. The substitute member shall be a Cabinet Member 

shall have the same rights of speaking and voting at meetings as the member for 

whom the substitution is made.

 
4.3     Each member of the JSE

appointing local Authority, the Leader 

case may be. 

 

5. Voting 

 

5.1  One member one vote for each Unitary Authority member.

 

5.2  Except as otherwise provided, any matter shall be decided by a majority of the votes 

of the voting members present. 

However, In the event of any circumstance where the JSEC cannot reach agreement 

on an issue pertaining to the SEP, the issue in hand will b

SWLEP Board for review.

 

6. Quorum 

 

6.1 The quorum for a meeting shall be four voting members, including at least one 

            member from each council. No business shall be transacted unless a quorum is 

Local Growth Fund 
Governance and Delivery 

 

 

 

Membership of the JSEC shall comprise: 

a. 3 Executive members of each council to include; 

Member holding the portfolio which includes Economic Development

b. Chairman of the SWLEP plus two other SWLEP Board Members who are from the 

 

Each Unitary Authority shall appoint up to three named substitutes 

e substitute member shall be a Cabinet Member of the A

shall have the same rights of speaking and voting at meetings as the member for 

whom the substitution is made. 

member of the JSEC shall remain in office until removed or repl

uthority, the Leader of their Council or the SWLEP

One member one vote for each Unitary Authority member. 

Except as otherwise provided, any matter shall be decided by a majority of the votes 

of the voting members present.  

However, In the event of any circumstance where the JSEC cannot reach agreement 

on an issue pertaining to the SEP, the issue in hand will be referred back to the 

SWLEP Board for review. 

The quorum for a meeting shall be four voting members, including at least one 

member from each council. No business shall be transacted unless a quorum is 

 

13 

Member holding the portfolio which includes Economic Development 

SWLEP Board Members who are from the 

 for their voting 

of the Authority and 

shall have the same rights of speaking and voting at meetings as the member for 

C shall remain in office until removed or replaced by their 

or the SWLEP Board, as the 

Except as otherwise provided, any matter shall be decided by a majority of the votes 

However, In the event of any circumstance where the JSEC cannot reach agreement 

e referred back to the 

The quorum for a meeting shall be four voting members, including at least one  

member from each council. No business shall be transacted unless a quorum is  

Page 579



 

Growth Deal and Local Growth Fund
Governance and Delivery 
Arrangements 

 

 

 

            present.  If a quorum ceases to be present during a meeting the meeting shall be 

            adjourned to a date to be agreed or determined by the Chair.

 

7.  Chair and Vice-Chair

 

7.1 The Chairmanship a

between the Elected Leaders of each C

meeting the Vice Chair will preside.  If ne

Chair for that meeting from those present.

 

8.  Meetings 

 

8.1 The JSEC shall meet quarterly and at such other times as may be agreed.

 

8.2 A meeting of the JSE

the receipt of a written request of any two voting members addres

secretary to the JSEC.  No busi

transacted at that meeting.

 

8.3 The agenda and supporting papers shall be circulated electron

of the JSEC at least 5 clear days before the meeting.

 

8.4 The agenda for any meeting

Leaders of both Councils.

 

8.5 Where a member of the 

their substitute to attend and inform the secretary of this as soon as possible b

the meeting. 

 

8.6 Except as otherwise provided, meetings shall be conducted in accordance with the 

rules of procedure in Part 4 of Wiltshire Council’s Constitution.

 

9. Access to Meetings and Information

 

9.1 The Access to information rules in Part 5

apply to proceedings of the 

 

9.2 Any Freedom of Informat

 the relevant Council to deal with in accordance with the relevant legislation.  Where 

 the request relates to both 

responding to the request.

 

 

Local Growth Fund 
Governance and Delivery 

 

 

 

present.  If a quorum ceases to be present during a meeting the meeting shall be 

adjourned to a date to be agreed or determined by the Chair. 

Chair 

The Chairmanship and Vice Chairmanship of the JSEC sha

Elected Leaders of each Council. If the Chair is not present at any 

meeting the Vice Chair will preside.  If neither Leader is present the JSE

Chair for that meeting from those present. 

shall meet quarterly and at such other times as may be agreed.

A meeting of the JSEC shall be convened by the Chair within twenty

the receipt of a written request of any two voting members addres

C.  No business other than that specified in the request shall be 

transacted at that meeting. 

The agenda and supporting papers shall be circulated electronically to the members 

C at least 5 clear days before the meeting. 

The agenda for any meeting shall be settled by the secretary in consultation with the 

ouncils.  

Where a member of the JSEC is unable to attend any meeting they shall arrange for 

their substitute to attend and inform the secretary of this as soon as possible b

Except as otherwise provided, meetings shall be conducted in accordance with the 

rules of procedure in Part 4 of Wiltshire Council’s Constitution. 

Access to Meetings and Information 

The Access to information rules in Part 5 of Wiltshire Council’s Constitution shall

apply to proceedings of the JSEC. 

Any Freedom of Information requests received by the JSEC shall be directed to 

ouncil to deal with in accordance with the relevant legislation.  Where 

the request relates to both Councils they shall liaise with each other before

responding to the request. 

 

14 

present.  If a quorum ceases to be present during a meeting the meeting shall be  

C shall rotate annually 

the Chair is not present at any 

eader is present the JSEC will elect a 

shall meet quarterly and at such other times as may be agreed. 

C shall be convened by the Chair within twenty-eight days of 

the receipt of a written request of any two voting members addressed to the 

ness other than that specified in the request shall be 

ically to the members 

shall be settled by the secretary in consultation with the  

C is unable to attend any meeting they shall arrange for 

their substitute to attend and inform the secretary of this as soon as possible before 

Except as otherwise provided, meetings shall be conducted in accordance with the 

of Wiltshire Council’s Constitution shall 

C shall be directed to  

ouncil to deal with in accordance with the relevant legislation.  Where  

ouncils they shall liaise with each other before 

Page 580



 

Growth Deal and Local Growth Fund
Governance and Delivery 
Arrangements 

 

 

 

10.  Hosting and Administration

 

10.1 Hosting of the JSEC shall be rotated between Swindon Borough Council and 

Wiltshire Council. The secretary to the JSEC shall be 

also provide support through the services of the 

Section 151 Officer and the monitoring officer/director of legal and governance.

 

10.2 The secretary shall keep a proper account of money received and expended 

administration of the 

equally between the two C

  

10.2  Wiltshire Council shall be the Accountable Body for the purposes of the Growth

  Fund and other funding relating to the S

 

 

11. Code of Conduct and Declaration of Interests

 

11.1 Members of the JSEC shall be subject to their own 

            including the rules on declaration of interests.

 

 

12.  Overview and Scrutiny Arrangements

 

12.1 The decisions and business of the 

            scrutiny functions of each 

            agreed between the C

 

 

13. Variation and Dissolution

 

13.1 The constitution of the 

            agreement of the voting members.

Local Growth Fund 
Governance and Delivery 

 

 

 

Hosting and Administration 

C shall be rotated between Swindon Borough Council and 

The secretary to the JSEC shall be from Wiltshire Council 

also provide support through the services of the Council’s Director of Finance /

Section 151 Officer and the monitoring officer/director of legal and governance.

eep a proper account of money received and expended 

administration of the JSEC and the costs incurred shall be shared 

two Councils. 

Wiltshire Council shall be the Accountable Body for the purposes of the Growth

d other funding relating to the Swindon and Wiltshire SEP.

Code of Conduct and Declaration of Interests 

C shall be subject to their own Council’s Code of Conduct, 

including the rules on declaration of interests. 

Overview and Scrutiny Arrangements 

ecisions and business of the JSEC shall be subject to the overview and 

scrutiny functions of each Council and any joint overview and scrutiny arrangements 

Councils. 

Variation and Dissolution 

The constitution of the JSEC may be varied or dissolved by the unanimous 

agreement of the voting members.  

 

15 

C shall be rotated between Swindon Borough Council and 

from Wiltshire Council who will 

ouncil’s Director of Finance / 

Section 151 Officer and the monitoring officer/director of legal and governance. 

eep a proper account of money received and expended on the 

C and the costs incurred shall be shared  

Wiltshire Council shall be the Accountable Body for the purposes of the Growth 

SEP. 

ouncil’s Code of Conduct,  

C shall be subject to the overview and  

ouncil and any joint overview and scrutiny arrangements  

C may be varied or dissolved by the unanimous  

Page 581



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 582



CM09605/F  

Wiltshire Council 
 
Cabinet 
 
16 December 2014 
 

 
Subject:  Wiltshire Local Flood Risk Management Strategy 

 
Cabinet Member:  Councillor Jonathan Seed – Campuses, Area Boards, 

Libraries, Leisure and Flooding 
 
Key Decision: No  

 

 
Executive Summary 
 
Flooding is a serious issue in Wiltshire, with extensive flooding in the north of the 
county taking place in 2007 and 2008, and more recently across the whole county in 
2014, when over 500 properties were affected. 
 
Wiltshire Council is the Lead Local Flood Authority for the county and has prepared a 
Local Flood Risk Management Strategy to describe its approach to flooding and how it 
will work with other organisations. 
 
Wiltshire Council’s Local Flood Risk Strategy seeks to: 
 

• Improve knowledge regarding flood risk 

• Improve protection from flooding 

• Improve resilience to flooding 

• Improve the environment 

• Improve communications about flooding issues 
 
Wiltshire Council cannot deliver the objectives of the local strategy without the 
assistance of others. The Council works with other risk management authorities, 
especially the Environment Agency and water companies, local town and parish 
councils, community groups, other local authorities and residents and communities that 
are affected by flooding. 
 
The Council is carrying out a public consultation on its proposed Local Flood Risk 
Management Strategy.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 583

Agenda Item 9



CM09605/F  

 
Proposal 
 
Cabinet is requested to:  
 
(i) note that consultation is being undertaken on the proposed Wiltshire Local 

Flood Risk Management Strategy and  
 
(ii) consider the proposed Local Flood Risk Management Strategy, and delegate 

final approval of the Strategy to Cllr Jonathon Seed, Cabinet Member for 
Communities, Campuses, Area Boards, Leisure, Libraries and Flooding, 
following consideration of the response to the current consultations.  

  
  
 

 
 

 
Reason for Proposal 
 
There is a need to adopt a Local Flood Risk Management Strategy, and a public 
consultation is being undertaken as part of the development process. 
 
 
 

 
 

 
Dr Carlton Brand 
Corporate Director 
 

Page 584



CM09605/F  

Wiltshire Council 
 
Cabinet 
 
16 December 2014 
 

 
Subject:  Wiltshire Local Flood Risk Management Strategy 

 
Cabinet Member:  Councillor Jonathan Seed – Campuses, Area Boards, 

Libraries, Leisure and Flooding 
 
Key Decision: No 
 

 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. To consider the proposed Wiltshire Local Flood Risk Management Strategy and 

delegate final approval of the Strategy to Cllr Jonathon Seed, Cabinet Member 
for Communities, Campuses, Area Boards, Leisure, Libraries and Flooding, 
following consideration of the response to the current consultations.  

 
Relevance to the Council’s Business Plan 
 
2. The overall aim of the response strategy is to support the Wiltshire Council 

Business Plan vision to create stronger and more resilient communities. The 
suggested improvements meet the Business Plan outcomes of: 

 

• People work together, solve problems locally and participate in decisions 
that affect them, and 

• People feel safe and are as protected as possible from harm. 
 
Background 
 
3. The Flood and Water Management Act 2010 requires Wiltshire Council to 

develop a Local Flood Risk Management Strategy (LFRMS). The Council is 
responsible for maintaining, applying and monitoring the strategy, and ensuring 
that it is consistent with the National Flood and Coastal Risk Management 
Strategy. 

 
4. Wiltshire experienced severe flooding between December 2013 and March 

2014, with over 500 properties flooded and a number of roads having to be 
closed to traffic. Many communities in Wiltshire were also affected by the 
flooding in 2007 and in 2008. Many communities in Wiltshire have experienced 
at first hand the damage, distress and disruption that flooding can cause. 
 

5. Flood risk within Wiltshire is often a complex interaction between river, surface, 
ground water and sewer flooding, and the local geology is a significant factor. 
The northern part of the county is predominately underlain by clay, with flooding 
generally caused by river or excessive surface water runoff. The south of the 
county is characterised by underlying chalk deposits, with potential risk of 
ground water flooding in many areas. 

Page 585



CM09605/F  

6. The risk of flooding is increasing due to pressures in urban environments, and 
with climate change more severe rainfall events are predicted. These will create 
additional challenges for communities and have implications for new 
developments. 

 

7. The Council’s Strategic Flood Risk Management Group is chaired by a Cabinet 
Member portfolio holder, Councillor Seed, who works closely with the Chairs of 
the three Operational Flood Working Groups, currently chaired by Councillors 
Hewitt and Jacobs. 

  

8. The Operational Flood Working Groups cover the north and south of the county, 
based broadly on river catchment areas, with a separate group for Salisbury, 
and usually meet every two months. The meetings are generally attended by 
representatives from the Environment Agency, Wessex Water, Thames Water, 
Highways Agency, Wiltshire Fire and Rescue, Canal and Waterways Trust and 
other organisations having an interest in flooding and drainage matters, 
including town and parish councils. 

 

9. The Council has a significant budget for drainage improvement and flood 
alleviation of works, and bids for additional funding as opportunities arise to help 
in implementing its strategy. 

 
Main Considerations for the Council 

 
10. The LFRMS is included as Appendix 1 of this report and explains: 
 

• The roles and responsibilities of Wiltshire Council as a Risk Management 
Authority and its management functions. 

• How the Council works with neighbouring authorities and others 

• The objectives for managing local flood risk 

• The measures proposed to meet these objectives 

• How technically and financially and when these measures will be 
implemented. 

• How we will develop, maintain, apply and monitor our LFRMS 
 

11. The aim of the strategy is to work with stakeholders, local communities and 
organisations responsible for managing flood risk to enable a better 
understanding of flood risk and thereby reduce the risk of flooding within the 
county where it is technically, environmentally, socially and cost-effective to do 
so. 

 
12. It is proposed to adopt the following objectives to: 
 

• Improve knowledge regarding flood risk 

• Improve protection from flooding 

• Improve resilience to flooding 

• Improve the environment 

• Improve communications about flooding issues 
 
 
 

Page 586



CM09605/F  

13. The Local Flood Risk Management Strategy describes responsibilities with 
regard to flood risk, the types of flood risk and how flood risk is managed in 
Wiltshire. Self help by affected residents and communities is a major thrust of 
the strategy.  Local communities are encouraged to prepare Flood Plans and 
appoint Flood Wardens, and residents are encouraged to take measures to 
protect their property and reduce the potential effects of flooding. 

 
Consultation 
 

14. The Council is seeking the views of the public, local councils, other organisations 
and the public regarding the proposed strategy. The public and others will be 
invited to comment in writing or through the Council’s website and an invitation 
to comment will be included in the Parish Newsletter. 

 
15. The document has already been discussed informally with the Environment 

Agency, and will be circulated to adjoining authorities and other organisations. 
 

16. The draft document was considered by the Environment Select Committee at its 
meeting on 28 October and comments about emphasising the responsibilities of 
property and landowners have been incorporated in the document. 
 

17. The results of the consultation will be considered by Cllr Jonathon Seed, Cabinet 
Member for Communities, Campuses, Area Boards, Leisure, Libraries and 
Flooding.  

 

Safeguarding Implications 
 

18. Does not apply. 
 
Public Health Implications 
 
19. Flooding can have serious health implications, not only from the risk of injury and 

drowning, but also from pollution when sewers and industrial sites are affected. 
Having a strategy to reduce the impact of flooding is important to help protect our 
communities. The stress caused to those affected by flooding, and the 
disturbance and disruption should not be under estimated. 

 
20. Flooding also has implications for road safety, especially with regard to standing 

water on high speed roads. 
 
Environmental and Climate Change Considerations 
 
21. The projections for future climate change are that it is likely that winters will 

become significantly wetter and extreme winter precipitation will increase. In 
summer there is likely to be less overall rainfall but intense heavy downpours 
are anticipated. As the main cause of surface water flooding is this storm rainfall, 
there is likely to be an increased risk of river and surface water flooding, but there 
is also likely to be an increase in groundwater flooding. 

 
22. The proposed Wiltshire LFRMS takes the implications of climate change into 

account in Appendix 1 of that document. 
 
 
 

Page 587



CM09605/F  

Equalities Impact of the Proposal 
 
23. No significant factors have been identified. 
 
Risk Assessment 
 

24. Since flooding is a serious issue for Wiltshire there is a reputational risk in not 
developing the strategy and being seen to have a clear approach to how we 
tackle the issues and are pro-active in our flood management across the county 
recognising the increasing risk posed by predicted wetter weather. 

 
Risks that may arise if the proposed decision and related work is not taken 
 
25. There are no decisions required at this time, and no significant risks associated 

with the development of the strategy at this stage. 
 
Risks that may arise if the proposed decision is taken and actions that will be 
taken to manage these risks 
 
26. There are no significant risks associated with the development of the strategy at 

this stage. 
 
Financial Implications 
 
27. There are no direct financial implications in connection with the strategy at this 

stage. However, it is important that a strategy is developed to support funding 
bids from DEFRA and other funding sources in the future. 

 
Legal Implications 
 
28. Preparing a Local Flood Risk Management Strategy is a requirement of the Flood 

and Water Management Act. 
 
Options Considered 
 
29. It is a legal requirement for the Council to prepare a Flood Risk Management 

Strategy, and the current document for consultation has been prepared on that 
basis. Not preparing a strategy was not an option. 

 
Conclusions 
 
30. There is a need to adopt a Local Flood Risk Management Strategy, and a public 

consultation is being undertaken as part of the development process. 
 
Parvis Khansari 
Associate Director Highways and Transport 
 
Report Author: 
Peter Binley 
Head of Highways Asset Management 
Tel No. 01225-713412 
Date of Report: 7 November 2014 

 

Page 588



CM09605/F  

 
The following unpublished documents have been relied on in the preparation of 
this Report: 
 
 None  
 
Appendices: 
  
 Appendix 1 – Wiltshire Local Flood Risk Management Strategy 

Page 589



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 590



1 
 

APPENDIX 1 

Wiltshire Local Flood Risk 
Management Strategy 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

November 2014 
  

Page 591



2 
 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 592



3 
 

Wiltshire Local Flood Risk Management Strategy 
          
Contents 
 
Executive Summary 
 
Section 1 Introduction  
   Key principles of Local Flood Risk Management Strategy 
   Prioritising investment in reducing flood risk 
   Individual responsibility 
   Sustainable benefits 
   Policies, legislation and regulations 
   Spatial planning 
   Emergency planning 
   Environmental Considerations 
   
Section 2 Aims and Objectives 
 
Section 3 Responsibilities of the Council and other Risk Management Authorities 
   Wiltshire Council 

Regional Flood and Coastal Committees 
   Environment Agency 
   Water Companies 
   Other Flood Risk Management Stakeholders 
 
Section 4 Understanding the Flood Risk in Wiltshire 
   Type of flood risk 
   River flooding 
   Surface water 
   Groundwater 
   Sewer Flooding 
   Breach or failure of reservoirs, dams or canals 
   Highway Flooding 
   Historic Recorded Flooding 

Climate Change 
 
Section 5 Managing Local Flood Risk 
   Improving Knowledge 

Improving Protection 
Improving Resilience 
Improving the Environment 
Improving Communications 

 
Section 6 Funding 
   Flood Defence Grant Aid 

Local Levy 
Local Authority Funding 
Private Funding 
Charitable Trusts and Non Government Agencies 
Community Fundraising 
City, Town and Parish Councils 
Other Funding Sources 
Non Financial Contributions 

    

Page 593



4 
 

 
Section 7 Governance 

Wiltshire Council 
Strategic Flood Risk Management Group 
Operational Flood Risk Management Groups 
Delivery of Strategy 
Monitoring and Reviewing 
Resources to Deliver the Strategy 

 
APPENDIX 1 – Environmental Considerations 
APPENDIX 2 – Flood Risk Management Stakeholders 
APPENDIX 3 – Resources to Deliver Strategy 
APPENDIX 4 – Medium Term Plan 
   
 
 
 
 
Acronyms used in this document 
 
CIL – Community Infrastructure Levy 
EA – Environment Agency 
FDGIA – Flood Defence Grant Aid 
LFRMS – Local Flood Risk Management Strategy 
LLFA - Lead Local Flood Authority 
LRF – Local Resilience Forum 
SAB – Sustainable Drainage Approval Body 
SuDs – Sustainable Drainage Systems 
 
   
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

  

Page 594



5 
 

Wiltshire Local Flood Risk Management Strategy 

Executive Summary 

Flooding is a serious issue in Wiltshire, with extensive flooding in the north of the county 
taking place in 2007 and 2008, and more recently across the whole county in 2014, when 
over 500 properties were affected. 

Wiltshire Council is the Lead Local Flood Authority for the county and has prepared a Local 
Flood Risk Management Strategy to describe its approach to flooding and how it will work 
with other organisations. 

Flood risk within Wiltshire is often a complex interaction between river, surface, ground water 
and sewer flooding, and the local geology is a significant factor. The northern part of the 
county is predominately underlain by clay, with flooding generally caused by river or 
excessive surface water runoff. The south of the county is characterised by underlying chalk 
deposits, with potential risk of ground water flooding in many areas. 

Wiltshire Council’s Local Flood Risk Strategy seeks to 
 

 Improve knowledge regarding flood risk 
 Improve protection from flooding 
 Improve resilience to flooding 
 Improve the environment 
 Improve communications about flooding issues 

 

Wiltshire Council cannot deliver the objectives of the local strategy without the assistance of 
others. The Council works with other risk management authorities, especially the 
Environment Agency and water companies, local town and parish councils, community 
groups, other local authorities and the public. 

The Council’s Strategic Flood Risk Management Group is chaired by a Cabinet member 
portfolio holder, Councillor Seed, who works closely with the Chairs of the three Operational 
Flood Working Groups, currently chaired by Councillors Hewitt and Jacobs.  

The Operational Flood Working Groups cover the north and south of the county, based 
broadly on river catchment areas, with a separate group for Salisbury, and usually meet 
every two months. The meetings are generally attended by representatives from the 
Environment Agency, Wessex Water, Thames Water, Highways Agency, Wiltshire Fire and 
Rescue, Canal and Waterways Trust and other organisations having an interest in flooding 
and drainage matters, including town and parish councils. 

The Council has a significant budget for drainage improvement and flood alleviation of 
works, which is £1,000,000 in 2014/15, and bids for additional funding as opportunities arise 
to help in implementing its strategy. 

  

Page 595



6 
 

 

 flood risk 

 

Vision 

 

Aims 

 

Objectives 

Strategy 
Measures 

Im
p

ro
ve

 r
e

si
lie

n
ce

 to
 fl

o
o

d
in

g 

Im
pr

ov
e 

pr
ot

ec
tio

n
 f

ro
m

 
flo

o
d

in
g 

Im
p

ro
ve

 k
no

w
le

d
ge

 r
eg

a
rd

in
g 

flo
o

d
 r

is
k 

To work with 
stakeholders, 

local 
communities 

and 
organisations 

responsible for 
flood risk 

management 

Working together to manage local flood risk in Wiltshire 

To enable a 
better 

understanding 
of flood risk 

To reduce the 
risk of flooding 

where it is 
technically, 

environmentally 
and socially 

cost effective to 
do so 

Im
p

ro
ve

 th
e

 e
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
t 

Im
p

ro
ve

 c
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a

tio
n

s 
a

b
ou

t 
flo

o
d

in
g

 is
su

e
s 

Studies 

Collecting 
data 

Working 
with others 

Analysing 
incidents 

Surveying 
assets 

Sharing 
knowledge 

 

Structural 
and non- 
structural 
measures 

Assess full 
benefits of 
schemes 

Explore 
joint 

funding 
with others 

Develop 
Medium 

Term Plan 

Develop 
longer term 
proposals 

Work with 
LRF 

Prepare 
Flood Plan 

Operation-
al Flood 
Plans 

Work with 
others to 
develop 
Flood 

Wardens 

Encourage 
use of 
flood 

warning 
service 

Maintain 
drainage 
assets 

Enhance-
ment 

measures 
in schemes 

Planning 
Conditions 

Drainage 
consents 

Develop-
ment SuDs 

SuDs 
Approval 

Body 

Area 
Boards 

Operation-
al Flood 
Working 
Groups 

Flood 
awareness 

events 

Press 
website 

and social 
media 

Encourage 
self help 

Page 596



7 
 

Introduction 

 
The Flood and Water Management Act 2010 requires Wiltshire Council to develop a Local 
Flood Risk Management Strategy (LFRMS). The Council is responsible for maintaining, 
applying and monitoring the strategy, and ensuring that it is consistent with the National 
Flood and Coastal Risk Management Strategy. 
 
The risk of flooding is increasing due to pressures in urban environments, and with climate 
change more severe rainfall events are predicted. These will create additional challenges for 
communities and have implications for new developments. 
 
Wiltshire experienced severe flooding between December 2013 and March 2014, with over 
500 properties flooded and a number of roads having to be closed to traffic. Many 
communities in Wiltshire were also affected by the flooding in 2007 and in 2008. Many 
communities in Wiltshire have experienced at first hand the damage and disruption that 
flooding can cause. 

 

There was 
widespread flooding 
across Wiltshire 
between December 
2013 and March 2014 
with over 500 
properties affected 

Page 597



8 
 

As the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) Wiltshire Council is required under the legislation 
to:- 
 

 Develop a Local Flood Risk Management Strategy 
 Manage the risk of flooding from surface water, groundwater and smaller 

watercourses. 
 Investigate significant flood incidents 
 Maintain a register of significant drainage assets 
 Act as the approving body for adopting and maintaining Sustainable Drainage 

Systems (SuDs) on new developments when the legislation is introduced. 
 
As lead LLFA the Council has the responsibility to coordinate the management of flood risk. 
The production of the LFRMS will enable the council to put in place the appropriate 
framework to ensure that the potential type and scale of flooding in the county and the 
associated risks are understood. The LFRMS will set out appropriate objectives, and include 
proposals on how they will be achieved.  
 
The LFRMS explains:- 
 

 The roles and responsibilities of Wiltshire Council as a Risk Management Authority 
and its management functions. 

 How the council works with neighbouring authorities and others 
 The objectives for managing local flood risk 
 The measures proposed to meet these objectives 
 How  and when these measures will implemented, both technically and financially. 
 How we will develop, maintain, apply and monitor our LFRMS 

 

 
 
Key Principles of Local Flood Risk Management Strategy 
 
Wiltshire Council works closely with other Risk Management Authorities, stakeholders and 
local town and parish councils to better understand the flood risk and the actions that can be 
taken to reduce the risk to themselves and their communities. 
 
The LFRMS has been developed in partnership with the other Risk Management Authorities 
as working together is essential if an effective local flood risk strategy is to be developed for 
the county. 
 
Prioritising investment in reducing flood risk 
 
One of the principles of the LFRMS is to prioritise investment to ensure that where possible 
priority is given to those areas at greatest risk. However, consideration needs to be given to 
the cost to benefit ratio of schemes to ensure that investment is appropriate. It may be that 

Flooding caused 
significant damage and 
disruption in Wiltshire in 
2014, including here at 
Pitton where ground 
water flooding lasted 
several weeks. 

Page 598



9 
 

some areas of greatest risk are not or cannot be protected against flooding, whilst other 
areas at less risk have a more economically viable solution. 
  

  
 
The Council will work with Defra, the Environment Agency (EA), town and parish councils 
and others to enable the less cost effective schemes to go ahead where possible. 
 
Wiltshire is the 14th largest county in England and it is not possible to provide detailed 
information on all future investment needs at this stage. In order to ensure the local strategy 
is effective the Council will work with its partners, stakeholders, town and parish councils and 
residents to ensure that the plan is updated on a regular basis, and that objectives and 
achievements are monitored.  
 
The types of flood risk in Wiltshire are described in Section 4 of this strategy. The modelling 
of potential surface water flooding indicates that the communities in Wiltshire with the most 
properties at risk of flooding are Salisbury, Trowbridge, Warminster and Calne.  
 
The flooding in Wiltshire between December 2013 and March 2014 affected a wide 
geographical area, but the villages of Aldbourne and Great Bedwyn were particularly badly 
affected, and the A360 near Tilshead was a particular concern. 
 
Future development in the county is likely to focus on Trowbridge, Chippenham and 
Salisbury and Surface Water Management Plans have been developed for these towns.  
 
The Council’s Strategic Flood Risk Management Group meets every six months to review 
the progress on flood alleviation and the work of the Operational Flood Working Groups. As 
the understanding of flood risk in Wiltshire develops, the group will review the LFRMS, which 
will be amended to take account of additional information and changed circumstances. This 
Group will also review the Medium Term Plan to set priorities for future investment in flood 
risk management. 
 
Individual responsibility 
 
Residents in Wiltshire have a vital part to play in this strategy. The responsibility for the 
protection of property against flood risk lies with the property owner. In addition Risk 
Management Authorities have legal powers and duties to manage flood risk within the 
county, but individuals, communities and businesses all have their part to play.   

Householders must take their flood alleviation responsibilities seriously and take the lead in 
protecting their homes against flood risk.  They must ensure that water flow through drains 
and ditches, and that watercourses are not impeded by blockage by inappropriate items or 
substances. It is particularly important that property owners do not fill in drains and 
watercourses in order to extend gardens without taking careful advice on and accepting any 
resultant flood risk. Property owners should protect their homes appropriately against flood 

At Marlborough a flood 
alleviation scheme was 
jointly funded by the 
Environment Agency, 
Wiltshire Council and 
Marlborough Town 
Council. 

Page 599



10 
 

risk by investing in individual property protection measures, especially if they are known to 
be at risk or have previously flooded.  

Landowners need to manage and maintain their ditches and watercourses appropriately in 
order to reduce the flood risk for local communities.   

Local communities 
 
Town and Parish Councils, businesses and landowners need to work together and take 
actions to help manage the flood risk. It is strongly recommended that communities with 
properties subject to flood risk work closely with Wiltshire Council, develop a robust flood 
plan and appoint flood warden(s), and they must do so if they wish to access Wiltshire 
Council funding and support for flood alleviation.  As the lead local flood authority, Wiltshire 
Council will need to secure funding for flood defence schemes, but communities, individuals 
and businesses need to be aware that local contributions may be increasingly needed to 
ensure the implementation of specific schemes.  

Policies, Legislation and Regulations 
 
The LFRMS has strong links with other plans, policies and legislation such as those for the 
emergency, spatial and planning services. The strategy may need to be reviewed and 
amended in the light of any changing legislation, policies or circumstances. 
 
Spatial planning 
 
Wiltshire’s spatial planning service is required by national planning policy to ensure that 
development is safe from flooding and does not increase flood risk elsewhere.  This strategy 
will support the work of the Council’s spatial planning team in ensuring that flood risk is given 
adequate consideration in the development and review of planning policy; the consideration 
of planning applications; and the negotiation of suitable development contributions are 
obtained to reduce the future impacts of flooding. 
 
Emergency Planning 
 
The Local Resilience Forum (LRF) was established in response to the Civil Contingencies 
Act 2004 and is aligned to the local police district. The aim of the forum is to ensure that 
relevant agencies and organisations plan and work together to ensure a co-ordinated 
response to emergencies that could have a significant impact. The LRF is made up of local 
Authorities, Environment Agency and health authorities, emergency services and others, and 
is responsible for planning and responding to emergencies, including flooding incidents.  
 
The Council’s Emergency Planning service does not duplicate the work of the LRF, but 
concentrates instead on ensuring that they have the best available data and information on 
flood risk and how they will deal with an emergency. The Council’s Weather and Emergency 
Team and the Drainage Team work with the Council’s consultants and contractors to 
respond to emergency events as required, which includes responding to flooding events. 
 
Environmental Considerations 
 
A number of the rivers and watercourses in Wiltshire have a high ecological value, with 
many designated for their internationally recognised significance as Special Areas of 
Conservation, and national importance as Sites of Special Scientific Interest. In many cases 
water quality is an important aspect determining their ecological value.  
 

Page 600



11 
 

In addition a large proportion of the county (over 60% of the area) is within Areas of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty, and many of the bridges are listed buildings or scheduled 
Ancient Monuments, which can make it difficult to address flood risk because of the level of 
protection applied to the structures. Water quality is also an issue with regard to the aquifers 
and water supply, and many of the watercourses have an amenity value to the local 
community. 
 

 
 
The LFRMS needs to be sustainable and ensure that any investment has benefits for both 
communities and the environment. This could be by ensuring that we work with nature where 
possible, especially when considering hard engineering solutions. The environmental 
benefits and impacts will be considered for each scheme during the development of options 
and proposals. 
 
In recent flooding the vulnerability of sewage systems to groundwater flooding has been a 
particular issue, especially where high groundwater levels have persisted for some time. The 
potential surcharging of combined sewers in some urban areas is concern. 
 
A summary of the main environmental factors considered in the development of the strategy 
are included in Appendix 1.   
 

  

Drainage schemes in 
Wiltshire have provided 
the opportunity to 
establish and renew 
ponds, and improve the 
local environment. 

Page 601



12 
 

2. Aims and Objectives 
 
Strategy Aim 
 
The aim of the strategy is to work with stakeholders, local communities and organisations 
responsible for managing flood risk to enable a better understanding of flood risk and 
thereby reduce the risk of flooding within the county where it is technically, environmentally, 
socially and cost effective to do so. 
 
Strategy Objectives 
 
Wiltshire Council has adopted the following objectives to:- 
 

 Improve knowledge regarding flood risk 
 Improve protection from flooding 
 Improve resilience to flooding 
 Improve the environment 
 Improve communications about flooding issues 

 

Wiltshire Council will seek to 
 

 Improve the level of understanding of local flood risk amongst partners and 
stakeholders, 

 Ensure that local communities, residents and businesses understand their 
responsibilities with regard to local flood risk management, 

 Maximise the partnership working with flood risk partners and stakeholders, 
 Actively manage flood risk associated with new development proposals 
 Ensure the approach to Flood Risk Management is sustainable and balance the 

economic, environmental and social benefits from policies and programmes, 
 Improve or maintain the capacity of existing drainage systems by targeted 

maintenance where appropriate, 
 Encourage responsible maintenance of privately owned flood defence and drainage 

assets, 
 Establish a policy on water management, and use available information on flood risk 

to assess the suitability of the allocation of sites for different land uses through the 
local development framework, 

 Maximise opportunities to reduce surface water runoff from catchments, 
 Identify projects and programmes which are affordable and maximise capital funding 

from external sources, 
 Ensure environmental consequences are considered in the design, construction and 

implementation of proposed flood risk management measures. 
 

Wiltshire Council cannot deliver the objectives of the strategy on its own, and will continue to 
work with other stakeholders. Key stakeholders include: 
 

 Flood Risk Management Authorities as defined by the Flood and Water Management 
Act 2010, which includes the Environment Agency, Water Companies and other local 
authorities, 

 Other flood risk management stakeholders who have a responsibility for drainage 
and flood risk management, or may be affected by the local strategy, including 
Network Rail, Highways Agency, English Heritage, Canal and Waterways Trust, 
Natural England, 

Page 602



13 
 

 Town and parish councils, local flood action groups, communities, businesses and 
individuals. 

 
On specific projects, such as flood alleviation schemes, the Council often establishes local 
project teams to establish strong links with local communities, and works in partnership with 
other flood risk management authorities, including the Environment Agency, water 
companies and town and parish councils.  
 
Wiltshire Council has already established good links with many flood risk management 
stakeholders and the public, and works with them through the Strategic Flood Risk 
Management Group and the Operational Flood Working Groups. 
 

  

Page 603



14 
 

3. Responsibilities and Functions of the Council and other Risk 
Management Authorities 

 
Wiltshire Council 
 
The Flood and Water Management Act gives Wiltshire Council the responsibility of the Lead 
Local Flood Authority for the county, and with this comes several responsibilities and 
functions:- 
 

 To develop, maintain, apply and monitor a strategy for local flood risk management, 
which is guided by the national strategy. 

 Strategic leadership of local flood risk management authorities. 
 The powers to request information from people in connection with their authority as 

Lead flood risk management authority. 
 A duty to investigate and publish reports on flood risk incidents in Wiltshire, where 

appropriate and necessary, and to identify which authorities have the relevant flood 
risk management functions and what they have done or intend to do. 

 A duty to maintain a register of structures or features that have significant effect on 
flood risk. 

 Power to undertake work to manage flood risk from surface water runoff or 
groundwater. 

 To act as the Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDs) approving body when the 
legislation is enacted, with responsibility for approval, inspection, adoption and 
maintenance of new sustainable drainage systems. 

 Responsibility for determining whether a third party can undertake works on ordinary 
watercourses that may affect water flow. 

 To contribute to the achievement of sustainable development in the exercise of flood 
risk management functions and to have regard to relevant guidance. 

 
Regional Flood and Coastal Committee 
 
The Regional Flood and Coastal Committees are responsible for guiding flood and coastal 
risk management activities within catchments and along coasts, advising on and approving 
programmes of work for their areas as well as raising local levies to fund local priority 
projects and works in partnership with others. All lead local flood authorities in the region 
have representation on the committee, which is proportionate to the number of properties in 
their area. 
 
Wiltshire is part of the Wessex and Thames Regional Flood and Coastal Committees, and 
has one member on the Wessex Committee and is represented by the Oxfordshire County 
Council representative on the Thames Committee. The committees are responsible for 
administering the local levy, which is a fund paid into by each authority in the region.  
 
Environment Agency  
 
The Environment Agency has specific responsibilities in relation to flood risk management 
and these include:- 
 

 Strategic overview of flood and coastal erosion risk, including flooding from the sea, 
rivers, surface and ground water, 

 Development of the national strategy to cover all forms of flood risk, 

Page 604



15 
 

 Responsible for managing the risk of flooding from main rivers, the sea and 
reservoirs. This includes operating, maintaining and replacing flood risk management 
installations such as sluices, pumping stations, flood barriers and gates,  

 Powers to request information from any person in connection with the Environment 
Agency’s flood and coastal erosion risk management functions, 

 A duty to report to Ministers on flood risk management including implementation of 
strategies, 

 A statutory consultee to the SuD’s approving body on sustainable drainage, 
 The ability to issue levies to lead local flood authorities. 

 
The county of Wiltshire is covered by two regional EA offices which are based on the 
catchments areas within the county. Three small areas in the north, east and south of the 
county are in the South East Region. The majority of the county is in the Wessex area, and 
the primary link with Wiltshire is the Blandford Forum office.  
 
Water Companies 
 
Wiltshire is in the area of four water companies, Wessex, Thames, Southern and Sempcorp 
Bournemouth and Veolia. The two main companies are Wessex Water and Thames Water. 
Wessex Water covers the largest part of Wiltshire, with Thames Water mainly concentrated 
in the north of the county.  
 
The water companies are responsible for maintaining and operating the condition of the 
sewage systems, comprising of foul water, surface and combined sewage systems. 
Their responsibilities include the adoption of private sewers, and they will be statutory 
consultees to the SuDs approving process. 
 
The flood risk management responsibilities of sewage companies include:- 
 

 Responding to flooding incidents, 
 Producing a DG5 register which lists those properties that have experienced a sewer 

flood, 
 Working to alleviate sewer flooding problems. 

 
Other Flood Risk Management Stakeholders. 
 
Other organisations have a role to play in local flood risk management, and have a 
responsibility for drainage of flood risk management, or may be affected by the strategy. 
They may require engagement for support in flood alleviation projects, dealing with flooding 
issues or to provide information. Other stakeholders include landowners, Ministry of Defence 
(MoD), Network Rail, Highways Agency, and public utilities. The Council works with these 
stakeholders individually or through the Operational Flood Working Groups. 
 
The Highways Agency are responsible for the motorway and trunk road network, and 
manage extensive drainage systems, including bridges and culverts carrying the roads 
across rivers and watercourses. Wiltshire Council is the local highway authority responsible 
for most of the other roads in the county.  
 
A list of the main stakeholders in Wiltshire with regard to flood risk management is included 
in Appendix 2. 
 
 
  

  

Page 605



16 
 

4. Understanding Flood Risk in Wiltshire 
 
Types of flood risk  
 
Flood risk within Wiltshire is often a complex interaction between river, surface, ground water 
and sewer flooding, and the local geology can be a significant factor.  
 
The type of flood risk that occurs in different parts of Wiltshire is influenced by the two main 
geological areas within the county, each covering almost half the county. The northern area 
is predominately underlain by clay deposits, and the southern area is mainly underlain by 
chalk. Each of these areas has different characteristics, and different flooding mechanisms. 
 

 
 
The geological characteristics in the northern half of the county often leads to potentially high 
runoff rates because of the impermeable nature of the clay deposits and associated soil 
structure, which can often have effects similar to those experienced with large paved areas 
during periods of heavy rain. This can give rise to rapid flooding and property inundation in 
some circumstances. 
 
The southern area is predominately underlain by chalk aquifers. The aquifers act as 
underground reservoirs storing water. When these reservoirs reach a state of saturation due 
to capacity constraints, groundwater flooding can occur. Overland flow can also occur, 
thereby compounding the issue and leading to the filling up of local watercourses and 

The northern part of the county is 
predominantly on clay with surface 
water flooding being a significant 
cause of flooding. In the south there 
is chalk with more ground water 
flooding issues 

Page 606



17 
 

agricultural drainage ditches. Properties can be affected by groundwater flooding through 
water rising upwards from below ground, as well as by surface water flooding. When the 
aquifer’s reach or exceed their natural storage capacity, further prolonged rainfall will lead to 
surface water runoff, often causing further flooding. 
 
Substantial work has been carried out by the EA in connection with flooding from main rivers 
in recent years, and the understanding of the mechanisms of how individual rivers operate 
has improved significantly. However, knowledge regarding flooding from other sources such 
as groundwater, surface water runoff and ordinary watercourses is less developed.  
 
In Wiltshire there can be combinations of surface water runoff, groundwater flooding and 
flooding from main rivers occurring at the same time.  
 
River flooding  
 
There are five main river systems within Wiltshire. The EA is responsible for rivers and some 
watercourses designated as being of strategic importance. These include the Thames, 
Bristol and Hampshire Avon, Dunn and Stour, and the main tributaries of these rivers.  
 

 

There are five main river 
systems within Wiltshire: 
the Thames, Bristol and 
Hampshire Avon, Dunn 
and Stour 

Page 607



18 
 

 
Wiltshire’s Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) and Catchment Flood Management 
Plans (CFMP) identify flooding from rivers as a risk in the urban areas of Bradford on Avon, 
Chippenham, Malmesbury, Marlborough, Melksham and Warminster and Salisbury. 
 
The Hampshire Avon, including the Nadder, Wylye, Till, Bourne, Ebble and Nine Mile River 
have tributaries within Wiltshire. This catchment is 96km long and includes most of the south 
of the county. Much of this system has a typical chalk stream character, with winterbournes 
in the upper reaches. The Nadder and some of the upper reaches of the Avon are fed from 
clay catchments and can rise and fall quickly in response to rainfall. Communities in 
Wiltshire alongside the river include Upavon, Durrington, Amesbury and Salisbury, all of 
which have previously been affected by flooding. 
 

 
 
The Bristol Avon, includes the Biss, By, Semington and Brinkworth Brooks and River 
Marden in Wiltshire. This catchment is 2,308 km2 and covers the north west of the county. It 
is fed by calcareous water from its tributaries, flows through impervious clays, and rises 
quickly after rainfall. Communities within Wiltshire affected by flooding from the Bristol Avon 
include Malmesbury, Chippenham, Melksham and Bradford on Avon. 
 

 
 
 
 

In 2014 Wiltshire Council 
worked with the Environment 
Agency to install temporary 
flood barriers to help protect 
Bradford on Avon from 
flooding from the Bristol Avon. 

In early 2014 high river levels on the 
Hampshire Avon at Salisbury were a 
concern. There was a risk of serious 
flooding in the city through a 
combination of river, surface water 
and ground water flooding. 

Page 608



19 
 

The Thames, which includes the Upper River Kennet, and the Ray, Cole, Key, 
Churn, Bydemill Brook, Swill Brook and Thames within Wiltshire. This catchment is 9,948 
km2, part of which covers the north-east part of the county. The Kennet within Wiltshire has a 
typical chalk stream character. The remaining rivers are spring-fed from the Cotswold 
limestone and are lowland clay rivers influenced by calcareous clays. Only a small part of 
the Thames flows through Wiltshire, but Cricklade has been affected by flooding from this 
river in recent years. 
 
The River Dun, is a very small part of the upper catchment of the Test and lies in the south-
east corner of the county. The river has a chalk stream character in Wiltshire. The major 
settlement affected by flooding from the Dun within Wiltshire is the market town of 
Marlborough. 
 
The headwaters of the Dorset Stour, the Shreen and Ashfield waters, rise in the south-west 
of the county.  The source of the River Stour lies within the Stourhead Estate, where it forms 
part of a series of artificial lakes and reservoirs before flowing south into Dorset. 
 
The EA carries out mapping and modelling of main rivers and uses this information to 
prepare flood maps of those areas at risk. The maps are derived from modelling, and data 
collected from past events. They show the potential extent of flooding, and help predict the 
likely impact of future flood events. The information is published, and has proved helpful in 
increasing awareness of flood risk. 
 
The Environment Agency has produced catchment flood management plans for every 
catchment in England and Wales, and Wiltshire is covered by three catchment management 
plans:- 

 The Bristol Avon Catchment Management plan covers the areas around 
Malmesbury, Chippenham, Calne, Devizes and Westbury 

 The Hampshire Avon Catchment Management plan covers the areas of Pewsey, 
Warminster, Amesbury, Salisbury and Downton 

 The Thames Catchment Management Plan covers the areas around Cricklade  
 
These plans aim to identify the flood risks and factors that contribute to flooding incidents 
and how these risks should be managed over the medium to long term.  A range of policy 
options are outlined in the plans as well as options of how the flood risk should be managed 
in each area according to the type of flooding.  
 
Surface Water  
 
Surface water flooding, also known as pluvial flooding, occurs when prolonged periods of 
rain falls on saturated ground. As the water cannot percolate into the ground it tends to 
generate run off which flows over the surface and ponds in low lying areas. This type of 
flooding is also often associated with high intensity rain storms which can be of short 
duration. The circumstances that lead to surface water flooding from storm events are 
generally linked to saturated ground conditions, or rain water falling on hard impervious land. 
 
Drainage systems can be quickly overrun by sudden increases in surface water, causing 
water to flow or pond on the surface.  This type of flooding can be very difficult to predict, 
and until recently comparatively little was known about the mechanisms of surface water 
flooding.  
 

Page 609



20 
 

 
 
Surface water flooding is much better understood as a result of recent national and local 
modelling and mapping. The Preliminary Flood Risk Assessment (PFRA) 2010 required that 
all the available data was analysed from the Environment Agency and local information was 
drawn together and is known as the “agreed surface water information”. This is being 
reviewed and updated. The Flood Map for Surface Water represents the best information 
available on areas which are most likely to flood, and is a key source of information on the 
risk of surface water flooding. 
 
Surface Water Management Plans (SWMP) have been prepared for the larger towns of 
Chippenham, Trowbridge and Salisbury. Further studies are being considered for other 
towns, including Melksham and Malmesbury. From the work carried out so far indications of 
the numbers of properties at risk in some specific areas have been identified. 
 
Community Area of Potential Problem  Approximate number of 

Properties at risk for a 
flood with a 1 in 30 chance 
in any given year. 

Trowbridge Bramley Lane Area 150 
 Timbrell Street Area 165 
 Drynham Road Area 300 
Chippenham Langley Park 230 
 Eastern Avenue 320 
 High Street 125 
 Hardenhuish Brook 500 
Salisbury Central 1100 
 Churchill Way area 690 
 Bemerton 490 
 Laverstock 670 

 
In 2012/13 the villages of Great Bedwyn and Whitley experienced high intensity storms, 
which deposited large volumes of water over the area in a short space of time resulting in 
drainage systems being overwhelmed and properties flooding as a result of surface water 
runoff. The extensive flooding in Wiltshire in 2013/14 included significant problems with 
surface water runoff as well as flooding from groundwater. 
  

Surface water flooding can 
occur with little warning as a 
result of intense rainfall as at 
Bradford on Avon on 
Christmas Eve in 2013. 

Page 610



21 
 

 
 
It is estimated from surface water modelling carried out for Defra that over 16,000 properties 
in Wiltshire are at risk of surface water flooding in an extreme event. Over half of the 
properties at risk are located in ten settlements: 
 

 
 
The assessment gives an indication of the scale of possible risk, but does not provide 
sufficient information to enable individual properties to be identified. Flooding from surface 
water is a potentially serious issue for many communities in Wiltshire. 
 
Groundwater Flooding 
 
Groundwater flooding occurs as a result of water rising to the surface from the underlying 
rock strata, known as aquifers. Groundwater flooding within Wiltshire mainly occurs in the 
south of the county, due to the nature of the underlying chalk deposits, when the water 
tables are high, and additional rainfall causes the aquifers to fill and the water to rise out of 
the ground. This type of flooding can continue for weeks, even months, as until the 
groundwater levels start to drop the water remains on the surface. Often there is little that 
can be done to prevent groundwater flooding, and protecting properties at risk of this type of 
flooding can be both difficult and expensive. 
  

Community Number of
Properties at risk 

Salisbury 2100
Trowbridge 1600
Warminster 1200
Calne 1100
Melksham 790
Westbury 690
Chippenham 690
Pewsey 610
Aldbourne 600
Marlborough 570

At Tollard Royal surface 
water flooding damage to 
a building required the 
road to be closed to traffic 
in 2014. 

Page 611



22 
 

 
 
Current understanding of groundwater flooding is limited because of the technical 
complexities of understanding the flow and emergence of groundwater. The current 
approach focuses on areas that are known to be susceptible to groundwater flooding. 
 
The EA have produced maps detailing Areas Susceptible to Groundwater Flooding, but the 
level of confidence in the accuracy of the information means the maps should only be used 
to identify broad areas at risk rather than individual properties. The areas most susceptible to 
groundwater flooding in Wiltshire are in the south and south-east of the county, which are on 
the chalk aquifer, but there are areas in the north of the county that are also susceptible to 
groundwater, particularly those areas underlain by sand and gravel deposits. 
 
In 2012 groundwater levels rose significantly in the Salisbury area, and there were concerns 
about the possibility of flooding in the south west of the county, but fortunately levels 
reduced in the spring. However, in 2013/14 the ground water levels rose to their highest 
levels recorded and there was flooding at many locations, especially in the south of the 
county.    
 
Sewer Flooding 
 
In times of high intensity or prolonged rainfall events the capacity of sewer systems can be 
exceeded, with consequent problems. They can also be affected by groundwater entering 
the systems. Wessex Water and Thames Water manage many of the water sewers within 
the county, and the Council works with the water companies regarding sewer related 
flooding incidents.     
 
There have been sewer related flooding incidents in recent years with both Wessex Water 
and Thames Water systems. The incidents are often related to local surface water or 
groundwater flooding. 
 

Ground water 
flooding affected the 
A360 for a number 
of weeks in 2014, 
requiring temporary 
traffic management 
measures to be 
introduced. 

Page 612



23 
 

 
 
In recent flood events both Thames and Wessex Water have used road tankers in rural 
communities to help reduce the risk of flooding and contamination from the high levels of 
groundwater affecting their systems. There are significant costs associated with the use of 
tankers during prolonged flooding events as experienced in 2014. 
 
Breach or failure of reservoir, dam or canals 
 
The inspection and maintenance of reservoirs is strictly governed by legislation as a flood 
incident could involve a significant amount of water and debris, and the management of flood 
risk from dams and reservoirs is vital. Reservoirs are categorised according to size, risk and 
location.  Information about reservoirs within Wiltshire is held by the EA and Local Resilience 
Forum. 
 
There is a potential risk of flooding from other sources such as canals, which are the 
responsibility of the Canal and Waterways Trust. Work is being undertaken by volunteers to 
reinstate a number of the disused canals in Wiltshire, with some sections of disused canal 
having already been restored. This work has the potential to assist in reducing flood risk, but 
in some cases there may be flood risk implications, and consequently the Council has 
established a close working relationship with those promoting schemes and with the Canal 
and Waterways Trust. 
 
Highway Flooding 
 
Wiltshire Council is the authority responsible for the provision and management of most of 
the highways within the county, and for the provision, maintenance and management of 
most highway drainage. The Highways Agency is responsible for the motorway and Trunk 
Road network (M4, A303, A36, and A419), and there are a number of private roads, 
including roads owned by the MoD. 
 
Historic information on flooding of highways is very limited and has been mainly used to 
inform maintenance procedures. The annual maintenance programme for highway drainage 
takes into account areas of known flood risk, and there is a regular programme of gully 
emptying and cleansing. As part of most major carriageway maintenance schemes, the 
existing highway drainage is inspected, repaired or replaced as needed. 
 
The Council’s local highways engineers report flooding incidents to the drainage team for 
investigation and the development of schemes. Information on incidents is also received 
from members of the public, town and parish councils and also from the operational team 
who respond to incidents on the highway. This information is recorded in order to add to the 
understanding of flooding within the county, and to assist in developing future schemes to 
improve drainage. 
 
 

Groundwater 
caused serious 
sewer flooding in 
the village of 
Aldbourne in 2014  

Page 613



24 
 

 
 
The priority with regard to highway drainage is to ensure that high speed roads are kept 
clear of standing water as far as possible for safety reasons, but in extreme flood events the 
highway network can be disrupted by wide spread flooding. In recent flood events it became 
necessary to temporarily close some roads until flood levels reduced. 
 
The Highways Agency is responsible for motorways and trunk roads, including maintaining 
the structures and drainage infrastructure. The Council works with the Highways Agency to 
reduce the flood risk associated with these roads. 
 
Historic Records of Flood Risk  
 
Information about past flooding is often difficult to obtain and any records held do not 
necessarily contain complete information, such as depth, speed and direction of flow or size 
of area affected. It can be difficult to obtain the information required to improve our 
knowledge of flood risk.  
 
Wiltshire council have been responsible for land drainage since it became a unitary authority 
in 2009. The information held by the former district councils is mainly in paper format and 
can be difficult to review and analyse. The town and parish council records are stored in 
paper format and considerable resources are necessary to access them, and many do not 
record all incidents. Information is also often anecdotal as there are few records and 
insufficient data is available to provide definitive conclusions regarding the consequences of 
historic flooding. An initial screening exercise was carried out for the Preliminary Flood Risk 
Assessment (PFRA) which indicated that the information generally lacks the necessary 
details to be a valuable contribution to our knowledge of flood risk. 
 
Following a request from Wiltshire Council for community flooding information in 2009/10 
some historical information was gathered directly from the town and parish councils which 
gives an indication of  the number of properties affected by previous flooding events:- 
 
Community Approximate number of properties 

reported as having flooded 
Dauntsey 46 
Purton 41 
Teffont Evias 37 
Leigh 35 
Minety 31 
Crudwell 31 
Shalbourne 22 
Easterton 20 

 
 

A number of roads in 
Wiltshire had to be 
closed or traffic 
movements restricted 
because of flooding 
in 2014. 

Page 614



25 
 

 
 
 
During the flooding in 2013/14 the communities with the most residential properties reported 
as having experienced flooding were: 
 
Community 
 

Approximate number of properties 
reported as having flooded 

Aldbourne 35 
Great Bedwyn 20 
Bishopstrow 20 
Salisbury 15 
Chilmark 14 
Codford 15 
Dauntsey 13 
Coombe Bissett 13 
Tilshead 11 
Bradford on Avon 10 
Malmesbury 9 
The Altons 9 
Boynton and Corton 8 
Fovant 8 
Melksham Without 8 
Beanacre 7 
Britford 7 

 
It is apparent that there are often more properties flooded than are reported to the Council, 
but the information collected during these events does help identify some of the areas at 
potential risk. The establishment of Flood Wardens and closer working with the parish and 
town councils is helping to obtain more accurate information. There can be a reluctance to 
report property flooding because of concerns about effects on insurance premiums and 
property values. The Council is working with those communities most at risk of flooding to 
help develop Flood Plans and establish Flood Wardens 
. 
Climate Change 
 
The projections for future climate change are that it is likely that winters will become 
significantly wetter and extreme winter precipitation will increase. In summer there is likely to 
be less overall rainfall but intense heavy downpours are anticipated. As the main cause of 
surface water flooding is this storm rainfall, there is likely to be an increased risk of river and 
surface water flooding, but there is also likely to be an increase in groundwater flooding. 
 
Climate UK anticipates that without action to address climate change we could see 
increases in the frequency of flooding affecting people’s homes and wellbeing, especially for 
vulnerable groups and the operation of businesses and critical infrastructure systems. Data 

Wiltshire Council’s 
staff and contractors 
responded to many 
requests for 
assistance during the 
flooding in 2014. 

Page 615



26 
 

within the UK Climate Change Risk Assessment suggests that 1 in 100 year flood events in 
the UK are projected, on average, to become approximately twice as frequent by the 2050s, 
and three to five times more frequent by the 2080s. 
 
Surface water management plans and strategic flood risk assessments take account of the 
potential impacts of climate change, which is limited by our current knowledge. Climate 
change has significant implications for flood risk and needs to be considered when 
assessing potential risk and developing new proposals. 
 
 

  

Page 616



27 
 

5. Managing local flood risk 
 
Wiltshire Council’s Local Flood Risk Strategy will seek to 
 

 Improve knowledge regarding flood risk 
 Improve protection from flooding 
 Improve resilience to flooding 
 Improve the environment 
 Improve communications about flooding issues 

 
Improving Knowledge 
 
In order to understand the county’s flood risk better a number of studies have been 
completed or will be undertaken. 
 
Study 
 

Description 

Preliminary Flood 
Risk Assessment 
(PFRA) 
 
 

This document provides a summary of historic and predicted flood 
risk across Wiltshire and was completed in 2011.  No areas of 
significant flood risk in accordance with the legislation were identified. 
This assessment will be updated every 6 years. 

Strategic Flood 
Risk Assessment 
(SFRA 

The National Planning Policy Framework requires that local planning 
authorities address the risk of flooding by directing development 
away from areas at risk of flooding.  In order to achieve this aim, local 
planning authorities are advised to prepare and maintain a Strategic 
Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) utilising data provided by the 
Environment Agency.  The SFRA is used as a tool for the purposes 
of preparing local plans and assisting with the process of determining 
planning applications.  In terms of content, the SFRA presents a 
series of maps detailing the areal extent of critical flood risk zones 
associated with main watercourses across Wiltshire.  In addition, it 
provides practical policy advice on the application of the ‘sequential’ 
and ‘exception’ tests.  
  

EA updated Map 
for Surface Water 
Flooding 
 
 

The map for surface water provides information on areas within 
Wiltshire susceptible to surface water flooding.  

Surface Water 
Management 
Plans 
 
 

SWMPs have been prepared by Wiltshire Council for Trowbridge, 
Chippenham and Salisbury. Further studies are being actively 
considered for Warminster, Malmesbury, Melksham and Bradford on 
Avon. Further studies will be undertaken as resources permit. 

Local Catchment 
studies 
 
 
 

Studies are currently being carried out by Wiltshire Council regarding 
flood risk in the local communities affected by the 2013/14 flooding, 
including Tilshead, Chilmark, Chitterne and others. A study in Castle 
Combe is being undertaken by the EA with assistance from Wiltshire 
Council. Consideration will be given to further local studies in 
response to particular events. 

Other Studies 
 
 

Site specific studies will be undertaken at locations of particular risk 
of flooding as identified by the Council’s Operational Flood Working 
Groups. These will often involve partner organisations.  

Page 617



28 
 

 
The Council will work with other organisations in order to get a better understanding of flood 
risk in Wiltshire. The Council will support the EA with regard to collecting information, studies 
and surveys where there is a common interest in understanding the causes of flooding. The 
Council will work with other organisations to develop a standard method of recording flood 
events in order to ensure consistency and accuracy of reporting.  
 
The Council will work with other organisations with responsibility for infrastructure that may 
have flood risk implications, including Network Rail, Highways Agency, the Canal and 
Waterways Trust, MoD, landowners, town and parish councils. The Council will share 
information with other organisations as required, especially in connection with partnership 
and project working, and will establish early in the development of projects what can be 
shared and how. 
 
The Council will record and analyse flooding incidents in order to get a better understanding 
of the causes and potential means of mitigation and flood protection, including working with 
the LRF, emergency services, local Councils and others holding relevant information. 
 

 
 
The Council as LLFA will investigate flood incidents and determine which authority has the 
relevant flood risk management functions. The outcome of the investigation will be reported 
to the relevant flood risk management authority. The criteria for investigation will be as has 
been agreed by the South West Flood Risk Managers Forum, which would be where five or 
more residential properties are flooded, or one or more non-residential, or where critical 
services or infrastructure are flooded. Other incidents may be investigated subject to 
resources.  
 
The Council will establish and maintain a register of structures and features, which in the 
opinion of the authority are likely to have a significant effect on flood risk in its area and 
record information about each of them which includes the state of repair and ownership. This 
is a requirement of Section 21 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010.  
 
The coordination of joint working and sharing of knowledge with others at a local level will be 
managed through the Operational Flood Working Groups. 
 
  

Wiltshire Council 
has a programme 
of CCTV drainage 
surveys to record 
and maintain its 
drainage assets.  

Page 618



29 
 

Improving Protection 
 
The council will consider a wide range of approaches from an early stage to focus on the 
places with greatest flood risk. Specific measures to reduce the flood risk at particular 
locations will be developed following studies, surveys and modelling as required to identify 
appropriate proposals. The measures will generally be consistent with the following 
principals:  
 

 Studies may be undertaken to identify suitable mitigation measures to reduce 
flooding at specific locations, 

 Structural, non-structural or adaptation measures may be proposed, 
 Measures proposed should generally provide a wide range of protection, 
 The benefits and costs associated with proposals will be considered, 
 Funding from others should be encouraged in order to identify opportunities for joint 

funding of proposals,  
 Measures which are not feasible should be discarded at an early stage, 
 A preliminary assessment should be carried out of potential funding sources and how 

to access them. 
 The cost and benefit of the proposals should include social, heritage, ecological 

considerations, 
 Engagement with stakeholders, local Councils, members and the public should be 

undertaken to encourage involvement, 
 The preferred measures should have benefits which justify the costs,   
 The preferred measures should have a reasonable chance of being funded, and 

consideration should be given to the beneficiaries providing a degree of funding. 
 The preferred measures should contribute towards sustainable development,  

 
In view of the high cost of large scale flood protection measures and the limited budgets 
available, it is unlikely that the Council will be able to fund large scale schemes. Where there 
is a realistic chance of success and appropriate measures are identified the Council will 
explore joint funding of schemes with others. 
 
The Council has a Medium Term Programme which is included as Appendix 4. The list of 
schemes will be regularly reviewed and agreed by the Council’s Strategic Flood Risk 
Management Group in conjunction with the Operational Flood Working Groups. The 
programme may be reviewed and adjusted to reflect circumstances, improved knowledge or 
changed conditions. 
 

 

Page 619



30 
 

 
 
In the longer term the Council will work with other organisations, including the EA to identify 
options for reducing flood risk in the largest communities and those most at risk. This will 
include proposals for Salisbury, Trowbridge, Warminster and those towns and villages with 
the most properties at risk. 
 
Individual property protection measures may be a realistic option in many places, and where 
appropriate property owners will be encouraged to install such protection. Funding from the 
Council or other sources for individual properties is unlikely to be available in most cases, 
and property owners need to be aware of their responsibility to protect their own property. 
 
Where physical flood protection is not feasible consideration will be given to measures to 
increase resilience and recovery. 
 
  

Wiltshire Council has an extensive 
programme of flood alleviation and 
drainage improvement works, with an 
annual budget of currently £1,000,000 

Page 620



31 
 

Improving Resilience 
 
Wiltshire Council will continue to be a member of the Local Resilience Forum (LRF), and will 
work closely with other organisations, including the EA, health and emergency services to 
improve the response to emergencies, including flooding. Wiltshire Council will usually take 
the lead in dealing with recovery from any flooding incident. 
 
The Council has developed operational plans for the Severe Weather and Drainage team, 
which focus on those areas most at risk of flooding. Information on the extent of possible 
flooding and vulnerable highways and services will be available for use by operational staff 
in the event of flooding incidents. This information will be updated in the event of incidents or 
as further information become available. 
 

 
 
The Council will encourage town and parish councils to prepare emergency plans, 
specifically if they have previously experienced or are at risk of flooding. Support will be 
provided for the use of Flood Wardens to help local communities to cope with flooding 
incidents, including the provision of equipment and training where appropriate. 
 
The Council will encourage residents, businesses and communities to make use of the EA’s 
free flood warning service to those who are at risk of flooding. However, it is appreciated that 
similar flood warnings do not currently exist for surface water flooding or groundwater 
flooding, and the Council will work with the EA in developing warnings for this type of 
flooding. 
 
  

Wiltshire Council has an established 
network of Flood Wardens, and 
works with the Environment Agency 
on workshops and awareness 
events. 

Page 621



32 
 

Improving the Environment 
 
Wiltshire Council will renew and maintain its drainage assets so that they function effectively 
and work correctly. In many cases there are currently limited records of drainage assets, and 
a programme of recording and reviewing their condition has been underway for a number of 
years. This process, including the use of CCTV surveys of the drainage systems will 
continue as funding allows. 
 

  
 
When upgrading or improvement works are undertaken on watercourses the Council will 
have regard to the environmental and ecological considerations to reduce the impact of the 
scheme, and where practicable will improve environmental protection. The Council will work 
jointly with town and parish councils and other organisations, on enhancement works when 
appropriate opportunities arise. 
 
The Council will carry out consenting and enforcement on ordinary watercourses to control 
activities that might have an adverse effect on flooding. The Council has the authority to 
attach reasonable conditions to any Consent issued under Section 23 of the Land Drainage 
Act. Landowners considering carrying out any works affecting a watercourse are encouraged 
to contact the Council’s drainage team at an early stage. 
 

 
 
The Council recognises that new development can affect the occurrence and significance of 
flood events. However, new development can also provide opportunities to reduce flood risk 

Wiltshire Council has an 
ongoing programme of 
CCTV surveys of 
drainage systems to 
identify where they are 
not working properly. 

Page 622



33 
 

through sustainable drainage systems and improved design codes to deliver increased 
resilience. The opening up of river corridors, and use of open spaces for temporary storage 
of water in times of flood, will be encouraged provided this does not lead to unacceptable 
impacts on the environment. 
 
Sustainable Drainage Approval Body 
 
Once the relevant legislative provisions have been enacted the Council will become the 
Sustainable Drainage Approval Body (SAB) for Wiltshire, and this will ensure close links with 
the planning approval process associated with the management of new developments. It is 
intended that through the requirement for sustainable drainage systems, new development 
will not add to flood risk in Wiltshire.  
 
The role of the SAB will be to determine whether proposed drainage systems for new 
developments, including the redevelopment of land and buildings, are acceptable and fit for 
purpose before construction begins, as well as ensure that proposed drainage systems 
meet national standards for design, construction, operation and maintenance. 
 

 
 
Adaptation to the potential effects of climate change on flood risk is likely to be a gradual 
process, and resilience to flooding is expected to progressively increase. The current 
modelled impacts of climate change on flood risk underline the need for effective surface 
water management. Detailed surface water management plans will continue to model the 
possible impact of climate change, and therefore enable consideration of the need to identify 
and prioritise mitigation actions. 
 
The Council will use the SAB process to work with other organisations, including 
neighbouring authorities to reduce flood risk, and encourage appropriate development. 
 
  

New developments and 
drainage schemes in 
Wiltshire have provided 
opportunities to introduce 
ponds and swales to 
improve water quality and 
habitat

Page 623



34 
 

Improving Communications 
 
Wiltshire Council communications with town and parish councils and community groups 
regarding flooding issues will be mainly through the Area Boards, Operational Flood Working 
Groups, Parish Newsletters, or with individual communities on specific projects. 
 
Communications will need to be effective to ensure that residents and businesses are fully 
informed about the work Wiltshire Council is doing to reduce the likelihood of future flooding. 
They also need to be informed of the flood risk they face, any actions they can take to 
mitigate that risk, how they can be actively involved in flood risk management mitigation 
work, and what precautions to take in the event of a flooding incident. 
 
The Council, together with other risk management authorities, will continue to identify the 
risk of flooding across the county, and will encourage local communities to take actions to 
mitigate this risk. The key messages to be communicated are: 
 

 How we are working with different organisations to deliver local flood risk 
management and the importance of their involvement. 

 How individuals and communities should take responsibility to reduce the impact and 
their vulnerability to flooding. 

 Recognising that we cannot prevent all flooding, but by working together we can try 
and manage the risk thereby mitigating and reducing the probability and 
consequences of flooding 

 
Where communities are at serious risk of flooding, stakeholders will be engaged in the 
development of proposals. This will include other risk management authorities, the public, 
businesses, town and parish councils and any local community groups as appropriate. As 
proposals are developed they should consider how stakeholders will be engaged in the plan 
at the right level, and at the appropriate stage, to ensure that as far as possible the proposed 
works are supported by the stakeholders and are appropriately funded.   
 

 
 
The nature and consequences of flooding vary between locations and communities, as does 
the best means of engaging with them. A variety of methods may be used to engage with the 
local community, including assistance from the Area Board, town and parish councils, and 
the use of local radio, leaflets, adverts on community notice boards, or drop in sessions.  
 
Wiltshire Council will use its website, press, radio, television and social media to create 
awareness of what it is doing with regard to the management of flood risk, and to 
communicate important messages to the public. An open and transparent approach will help 
assure the public of the Council’s ongoing commitment to flood risk management. 
 
In times of widespread flooding when limited resources are stretched, and with the difficulty 
in moving resources during flood events, it would not be realistic to expect the Council to be 
able to attend every incident. Public expectations will need to become more focussed on self 
help rather than relying on the local authority or others to protect them from flooding. The 

Wiltshire Council holds regular 
flood awareness events, 
including this one in June 2014 
with the Environment Agency 
and Dorset County Council at 
Salisbury. 

Page 624



35 
 

message from the Council will need to be consistent in reminding home owners and 
businesses of their responsibility to protect their own properties from flooding. 
 
 
    

  

Page 625



36 
 

6. Funding 
 
Funding is a key element of managing flood risk, and can be a constraint on progress. 
Without funding schemes are unlikely to be progressed, and consideration must be given to 
how the Council funds flood alleviation, resistance, resilience and asset maintenance in 
order to full fill its role as the LFRM for the county both now and in the future. 
 
Currently flood risk management in Wiltshire is comparatively well funded compared to many 
other local authorities, with funding of £1,000,000 for 2014/15. In addition the Council has 
been awarded £282,000 for emergency repairs following the 2013/14 flooding. The Council 
will continue to bid for funding as opportunities arise. 
 
Funding can be sourced in various ways, and the following gives a brief outline of where the 
Council may consider raising money in order to fund actions and priorities. As a rural county 
Wiltshire can have difficulty in competing with the larger urban conurbations for grant aid 
towards flood alleviation schemes, and although that does not preclude the county from 
making applications as and when opportunities arise, consideration needs be given to other 
funding streams. 
 
Flood Defence Grant Aid (FDGiA) 
 
Government funding is provided through Defra and is administered and managed by the EA, 
with approval from the Regional Flood & Coastal Committees (RFCC). The FDGiA has 
historically been the major source of funding for both flood risk management and coastal 
defence schemes.   
 
To apply for funding for flood defence schemes strict criteria need to be met, particularly to 
demonstrate that the expected whole-life benefits exceed the whole life costs of the scheme. 
Additionally projects need a strong partnership base, and should investigate all possible 
benefits to help obtain contributions from other sources, which includes ensuring that 
outcomes of these measures do not just involve the capital construction outcomes but also 
touch on health, education and deprivation. 
 
Local Levy 
 
This levy is made up of contributions from Local Authorities and is used to support flood risk 
management projects that do not attract FDGiA funding. This allows locally important 
projects to take place, and where schemes can demonstrate that the outcomes will help 
regional priorities it is more likely to attract this type of funding. 
 
Schemes at Crudwell and Easterton were beneficiaries of local levy funding for Individual 
Property Protection Schemes, which were carried out in conjunction with the Environment 
Agency in 2011/12. 
 
Local Authority Funding 
 
As well as funding specifically available to Wiltshire in their role as LLFA, the Council also 
has its own funding for capital projects and revenue programmes which may be used for 
flood risk management purposes. Currently an ongoing programme of flood alleviation and 
drainage schemes are co-ordinated through the Operational Flood Working Groups. 

Page 626



37 
 

 
 
Some flood alleviation schemes could potentially deliver benefits across the Council’s wide 
range of responsibilities. A combination of revenue, capital and additional funding could 
make it possible to develop schemes for flood risk management that could deliver a multiple 
range of benefits. An example of this would be SuDs, which not only perform a means of 
attenuating water flow, but can also enhance biodiversity for flora and fauna, and provide 
recreational facilities. 
 
Funds accrued through the application of planning obligations and Community Infrastructure 
Levy (CIL) could provide a source of funding for drainage improvement and flood alleviation 
schemes. 
 
Private Funding  
 
There is a potential for private funding of schemes where a private individual or company 
would benefit the most from a proposed measure, such as their land being better protected. 
Companies or individuals could contribute to flood risk management measures, but any 
funding they provide would probably have to be seen to be providing a clear commercial 
benefit to themselves. Sponsorship currently provides little funding support, but where there 
is a good business case this could be an effective method of securing financial support. 
 
Private sector partnerships and initiatives could be formed to promote specific schemes, but 
are unlikely to be viable in most cases because of the potentially high start up costs, and 
because private companies generally want to see a return in their investment in the short to 
medium term.  The timing and management of these schemes would need to be carefully 
considered. 
 
Developer contributions, LEP and other funding associated with development has potential 
to provide funding for flood risk reduction works, especially in those areas where significant 
development is proposed.  
 
Charitable Trusts & non Government Organisations 
 
Grants from charitable trusts and non government organisations are a potential source of 
funding particularly for schemes that are relatively small and localised.  There are many 
trusts that exist to support wildlife, communities, poverty, education etc. and if a scheme can 
show benefits there is no reason why applications cannot be made to support new schemes 
in appropriate cases.   
 
Community Fundraising 
 
Although it can be a time consuming way of raising small amounts of money, community 
fundraising is a good way of raising community engagement and spirit, and can assist in 
helping a scheme apply for additional funding. It may be a relevant way of raising funds for 
specific schemes in some cases.  

Wiltshire Council funds 
drainage improvement 
and flood alleviation 
schemes to help reduce 
the flood risk for local 
communities.  

Page 627



38 
 

City, Town and Parish Councils 
 

 
 
Local funding may be available for particular schemes, where they have a wider community 
benefit. The emphasis is likely to be on community involvement and volunteering, and local 
voluntary groups should consider this option if they have a suitable scheme. However the 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) could provide a funding source in the future.  
 
Local community involvement can help in obtaining agreements from landowners, and help 
implement schemes, which has proved helpful in the past. City, town and parish councils are 
also able to raise funding through Council Tax parish precepts. 
 
Other funding sources 
 
Public appeals, Lottery, European Union and Defra grants and pilots are other ways of 
accessing money, each of them requiring specific criteria for qualification and awareness of 
them should be taken into account when considering raising funds for a scheme. Before 
preparing bids it will be necessary to ensure there are sufficient resources to prepare the bid 
and a reasonable chance of success.  
 
Non- Financial Contributions 
 
In some cases contributions can be made in other ways, for example by others providing 
land, material or even volunteer labour. This can be an effective way of getting work done at 
minimum cost, and has proved effective when landowners have been keen to see schemes 
implemented. 
  

Working with local 
communities and 
landowners can reduce 
costs and help implement 
schemes as at Winterslow. 

Page 628



39 
 

7. Governance 
 
Wiltshire Council 
 
Wiltshire Council as LLFA will continue to endeavour to make the best use of its resources 
and provide value for money with regard to flood risk management and ensure that the 
responsibilities and duties under the legislation are conducted openly, honestly and are 
accountable. 
 
Wiltshire Council cannot deliver the objectives of the local strategy without the assistance of 
others. The Council needs to work with other Risk Management Authorities, Flood Risk 
Management Stakeholders, community groups and the public. 
 
Wiltshire Council has an established Flood Risk Management Governance Structure, with 
the overall governance of flood risk management regularly reviewed by the Council’s 
Environmental Select Committee. 
 
Strategic Flood Risk Management Group 
 
The Council’s Strategic Flood Risk Management Group is chaired by a Cabinet member 
portfolio holder, who works closely with the Chairs of the Operational Flood Working Groups.   
 
Members of the Strategic Flood Risk Management Group include:- 
 

 The Portfolio Holder for Flooding – Councillor Seed, 
 Chairs of Operational Flood Working Groups – Councillors Jacobs and Hewitt, 
 Wiltshire Council’s Corporate Directors, Carlton Brand and Maggie Rae 
 Wiltshire Council’s Associate Directors for Economic Development and Planning, and 

Highways and Transport,  
 Environment Agency, 
 Wessex Water, 
 Wiltshire Council’s Emergency Planning and Drainage teams, 
 Highways Agency and Network Rail, 

 
The Strategic Group usually meets annually, and oversees the work of the Operational Flood 
Working Groups, which generally meet every two months. The Strategic Group sets and 
reviews the strategy with regard to flood risk managements, and monitors delivery of the 
Council’s strategies and duties. 
 
Operational Flood Working Groups 
 
There are three Operational Flood Working Groups, which cover the north and south of the 
county, based broadly on river catchment areas, with a separate group for Salisbury. The 
meetings usually take place every two months, and are attended by representatives from the 
EA, Wessex Water, Thames Water, Highways Agency, Wiltshire Fire and Rescue, Canal 
and Waterways Trust and other organisations having an interest in flooding and drainage 
matters.  Town and parish councils are invited to contribute to the meetings in connection 
with issues in their areas. 
 
Following consideration of specific flooding issues at the Operational Flood Working Groups, 
the Council has undertaken a number of joint schemes with the EA, Wessex Water and 
Thames Water, and town and parish councils. These have demonstrated the value of 
partnership working, which is needed to tackle these often complex issues. Project teams 

Page 629



40 
 

have been formed to deliver specific studies, flood alleviation schemes, or individual property 
protection projects. 
There are other Council departments and services that have a role in aspects of local flood 
risk management, including spatial and emergency planning, and there is an open invitation 
for them and other stakeholders to attend the flood working groups as appropriate. 
 
Delivery 
 
The delivery of the Council’s flood risk management service depends to a large extent on the 
Council’s Drainage Team, which forms part of the Highways Asset Management and 
Commissioning Team in Highways and Transport. The team with a staff of five, which is 
being increased to eight, works closely with other Council teams having an interest in 
drainage and flooding issues, and deals with the current and future proposed programme of 
drainage and flood alleviation works within the County. 
 
The team works closely with the Operational Flood Working Groups and supports the 
operation of the groups. The drainage team is supported by Atkins, the Council’s Highway 
Consultant, who can provide specialist technical advice on a wide range of drainage 
aspects, and Balfour Beatty Living Places, who are the Council’s main contractor for 
drainage works. Performance of the contractors and their supply chains are monitored 
through the contract management processes set up to manage the Wiltshire Highways and 
Streetscene Contract, which are reported annually. 
 
Monitoring and Reviewing  
 
The LFRMS will remain a live document and will be reviewed as required by the Strategic 
Flood Risk Management Group. Changes may need to be made to the strategy, which could 
be as a result of:- 
 

 Significant flood events that affect the Council’s prioritisation of works. 
 Important changes to available information used to assess flood risk 
 Policy changes affecting the roles and responsibilities of Wiltshire as a LLFA 
 The monitoring identifying that the Local Strategy is not achieving its objectives 

 
Resource to Deliver the Strategy 
 
Resources are needed for the management and activities of the LLFA. As a unitary authority 
Wiltshire Council has been able to integrate many of the functions and activities into the 
existing structure within the Highways Asset Management, Local, Spatial Planning and 
Emergency Planning teams.   
 
The introduction of a SuDs Approval Body in accordance with the Flood and Water 
Management Act 2010 may require additional resources to meet these requirements when 
that part of the legislation is enacted. In the longer term the maintenance of the sustainable 
drainage installations will have a need for resources, and the funding for this is uncertain at 
present. 
 
The resource requirements will continue to be reviewed by the Strategic Flood Risk 
Management Group, and taken into account in the Council’s budget setting process. 
 
 

 
 
  

Page 630



41 
 

APPENDIX 1 – Environmental Considerations 
 
Factor 
 

Considerations 

Population The need to manage flood risk for the benefit of the increasing 
and ageing population in Wiltshire. The necessary residential 
development required to house the growing population needs to 
be delivered in locations, and using techniques, that are 
sustainable and protect and enhance the qualities that contribute 
to high levels of resident satisfaction. 

Health Protection from hazards associated with flooding. People’s mental 
and physical health can be affected by the perceived risk of 
flooding and contaminated flood water. There is the potential to 
better manage risks to reduce these effects. There may be 
opportunities to improve public access to recreational features, 
goods and public services that could make a material difference to 
their health and quality of life. 

Economy There is a need to manage flood risk to critical infrastructure and 
material assets so that the infrastructure required for economic 
prosperity continues to function. There is the potential for flooding 
to disrupt critical transport infrastructure such as rail and road 
networks which could have considerable implications to the 
economy. Changes in the frequency and extent of flooding leading 
to consequent changes in the use of land, could affect its 
versatility or productivity. 

Biodiversity Changes in flood risk, frequency or changes in water levels that 
have the potential to adversely affect nature conservation, 
biodiversity and landscape features through habitat loss or 
fragmentation. Alternatively, such changes may present 
opportunities to improve the condition of existing habitats or 
create new biodiversity and landscape features. 

Water Environment Groundwater reserves are important for private and public water 
supplies. Construction, changes in flood risk to areas of potentially 
contaminated land and changes in flood frequency associated 
could lead to changes in overground and underground water 
bodies. Such changes may affect a water body’s ability to achieve 
and maintain good chemical and ecological status. 

Geology and Soils The relationship between the geology of an area and overlying 
soils is a significant factor in determining flood risk. Flooding could 
result in changes in the use of land, affecting its versatility and 
productivity. However, Grade One agricultural land at risk of 
flooding is often no coincidence, as the flooding of land with 
nutrient-rich sediment creates fertile soil. It is important to 
maintain access to the best and most productive agricultural land 
for economic and social benefit. Aquifers are important sources of 
water supply, and can be adversely affected by development 
unless appropriate controls are implemented. 

Page 631



42 
 

Factor 
 

Considerations 

Landscape and Townscape 
 
 
 

Changes in water levels or land use have the potential to 
adversely affect landscape features. However, such changes may 
present opportunities to create new and interesting landscape 
features. 

Historic Environment Changes or alterations to flooding regimes that can adversely 
affect historic environment sites and their settings. Schemes may 
also manage the flood risk to heritage features or lead to 
improved access to historic environment sites. 
 

Air Quality The construction activity of physical flood risk alleviation schemes 
could increase emission levels of atmospheric pollutants locally, 
but these would be short duration effects. Flood risk alleviation 
schemes themselves are unlikely to have any effect on air quality. 

Transport Flooding has the potential to disrupt critical transport infrastructure 
(such as road or rail networks).The location of such infrastructure 
may influence the range of available flood risk management 
options.  

Waste Flooding has the potential to adversely affect waste treatment and 
related sites. The construction of physical flood risk alleviation 
schemes have the potential to produce waste which should be 
minimised through efficient design and management of waste 
products. 

 
 

  

Page 632



43 
 

Appendix 2 - Additional Flood Risk Management Stakeholders  

Stakeholder 

 

LRFM Role Method of Engagement 

Area Boards Represent town and parish 
councils as a group to the 
county council 

Area Board meetings, advice 
and information as required. 

Association of British 
Insurers (ABI) 

Represent the insurance 
industry and work with 
government, regulation & policy 
makers 

Advice and comments where 
necessary. 

Canal & River Trust Ownership and maintenance of 
waterways in England & Wales 
as well as  associated assets  

Invitation to OFWG and 
consultation on schemes. 

DEFRA Department for Rural Affairs 
and responsible for setting 
policy for FRM 

Consultation and enquiry 

English Heritage Government advisor on historic 
places and heritage 

Consultation and enquiry as 
required 

Highways Agency Responsible for M4/A303 & 
A419 through Wiltshire 

Invite to OFWG and 
consultation where necessary 

Housing Associations Social housing accommodation 
providers 

Providing and sharing 
information on vulnerable 
properties and advice 

Land owners/estates Maintenance of flow of water as 
riparian owners  

Consultation with regard to flow 
or access to land for schemes 

Local Government 
Association (LGA) 

Lobbying and support of local 
authorities 

Sharing best practice 

Met Office Provision of weather alerts and 
flood guidance statements 

Liaison through LRF and 
Emergency response team 

National Farmers Union Represents farmers at local and 
national level 

Consultation as required 

Natural England Advisor the government on 
safeguarding England’s natural 
environment 

Consultation as required 

National Flood Forum Support and advice to 
communities and individuals  

Consultation as required, 
attendance at flood seminars 

Neighbouring authorities LFRM authorities and sharing 
on information on river 
catchments 

Consultation as required 

Network Rail Responsible for rail network 
which includes assets such as 
culverts and bridges 

Standing invite to OFWG 
meetings. Consult on schemes 
as required 

Regional Flood & Coastal 
Committee’s 

Bring together LFRM 
authorities, administer local levy 
for flood defence schemes 

Applications for funding, consult 
as necessary 

Town and Parish Councils Source of local knowledge and 
consultees in planning process 

Standing invite to OFWG 
meetings. Consultation as 
required 

Universities  Develop and assist with 
knowledge and projects 

As required 

Utility companies Other than water companies, 
assist in flood alleviation work to 
protect assets 

Consultation as required. 

Businesses Employment and economic 
aspects 

Consultation as required 

Page 633



44 
 

 
 

Appendix 3 – Resources to Deliver Strategy 
 
 
Activity  Resource/Team 

 
Develop, deliver, apply and monitor the local 
strategy 

Strategic Management Group/Highways Asset 
Management Team 

Management and partnership working 
 

Operational Flood Working Groups/Highways 
Asset Management Team 

Commenting on planning applications and 
interaction with spatial planning 

Operational Flood Working Groups/Drainage 
Engineers/Spatial Planning teams 

Studies and management of studies to 
understand flood risk and deliver schemes 

Drainage Team/Atkins and other consultants for 
Wiltshire Council as required 

Community awareness and engagement with the 
public 

Drainage Team/ Local Highways and Streetscene 
Team 

Investigating flooding incidents 
 

Drainage Team/ Operational Flood Working 
Groups 

Developing a maintenance programme and 
schedule for assets  

Highways Asset Management Team, Local 
Highways Team 

Designating features or structures Drainage and Structures Teams in Highways 
Asset Management  

Consenting and enforcing works for Ordinary 
Watercourses 

Drainage Team 

SUDS Approval Body 
 

To be confirmed when legislation introduced. 

 
  

Page 634



45 
 

Appendix 4 

Wiltshire Medium Term Plan 

Scheme 
 

Background Proposal Financial 
Information

Aldbourne The community of Aldbourne has experienced 
flooding from groundwater and the sewerage 
system a number of times in the last 20-years. 
Surface water flooding of the highways is also 
a frequent occurrence. 10 residential 
properties have been reported as being 
affected by the flooding, of which 
approximately 5 experienced internal flooding. 
As a result of these flood events the local 
community have formed a Drainage 
Improvement Group (DIG) to establish the 
causes of the sewer and groundwater flooding 
in the village, and identify and implement the 
range of solutions which could address it.  
The EA flood maps indicate that 172 
residential properties are at risk from surface 
water flooding (30-year deep), and 33 
residential properties from fluvial flooding 
(Flood Zone 3). 
  

This project has been developed in 
consultation with the Environment Agency 
and has received funding for a desk top 
study and works with Lottage Road and 
Goddards Lane to upgrade the culvert. 
Thames Water has a program of sewer 
lining and sealing of their apparatus, this is 
ongoing.  Thames Water are currently 
proposing a scheme to separate the surface 
water and groundwater flows from the sewer 
network, thus reducing sewer flooding. This 
scheme will improve surface water drainage 
to help reduce the risk of property and sewer 
flooding. Funding is in place to enable the 
scheme to be implemented in 2014. 

Scheme Cost 
£180,000 
Estimated 
Discounted 
Benefits 
£600,000 
 

Great Bedwyn The village of Great Bedwyn suffers from 
frequent surface water flooding of residential 
property. Flood maps show 69 residential 
properties are at risk of surface water flooding 
during a 1 in 30 year rainfall event. 
Community assets are also at risk including a 
Doctors Surgery, Electricity Sub Station and 
Community Centre. Historical records show 
several instances of internal property flooding 
(notably in 2000, 2003, 2008 and 2012) in 
addition to flooding of gardens and 
recreational areas. 
 

The works include a combination of 
attenuation features and drainage ditches to 
attenuate and divert surface water away 
from properties.  The scheme will be 
designed to provide a 1 in 30 year standard 
of protection for 69 residential properties 
across the 3 areas at very significant risk of 
surface water flooding. The proposed works 
will seek to provide a sustainable solution 
providing environmental and community 
benefits in addition to reducing flood risk. A 
bid has been submitted for funding in 2015.   
Thames Water has a program of sewer 
lining and sealing of their apparatus as 
sewers become inundated and cause 
flooding to homes. 
We are working with Network Rail and 
Thames Water to minimise flooding risk.  

Scheme Cost 
£475,000 
Estimated 
Discounted 
Benefits 
£1,278,000 

Tilshead Tilshead has suffered flooding from the river 
Til. Surface water is conveyed downstream to 
the village of Tilshead through a combination 
of open valley bed, culverts and open 
channel. The extreme rainfall events in 
combination with very high ground water 
levels experienced in December 2013, 
January and February 2014 meant flows in 
the Til exceeded the capacity of the culverts 
and surface water sewer system causing 
public highway and property flooding. Based 
on surface water flood maps 55 properties are 
at risk of flooding in a 3.3% AEP event. 
 

Construction of an upstream flood storage 
area to attenuate flow in order for the 
existing drainage system downstream to 
operate within the limitations of its capacity. 
This attenuation will aim to reduce risk 
flooding of infrastructure and properties. 
This lost cost, innovative scheme based 
solution will seek to reduce the risk of 
groundwater flooding but PLP may still be 
required to mitigate against groundwater 
flood risk. Assumed standards of protection 
(current and proposed) and construction 
costs are best estimates based on available 
data. 

Scheme Cost 
£195,000 
Estimated 
Discounted 
Benefits 
£1,856,417 

Winterslow The village of Middle Winterslow is 
susceptible to frequent surface water flooding. 
13 residential properties suffer persistent 
flooding of front and back gardens preventing 
safe access and egress from properties; for 
many properties this flooding occurs several 
times a year and is on the threshold of 
causing internal flooding. Flood maps show 
properties are at risk of deep surface water 
flooding during a 1 in 30 year rainfall event, 
based on historic records and anecdotal 
evidence it is considered that the standard of 
protection (SoP) against internal flooding is 
currently 1 in 5 year. In 2008 the Environment 

The proposed works for Stage 2 of this 
scheme include new overflow pipework 
within the highway to manage excess flow 
from the soakaways installed during Stage 
1. The pipework will divert flows away from 
properties, taking flow under the highway 
with an outfall into a new infiltration trench 
behind 1 Witt Lane. It is considered that 
Stage 2 will increase the standard of 
protection to 1 in 50 years for 13 properties. 
Scheme implementation will be programmed 
when funding source is confirmed. 

Scheme Cost 
£80,000 
Estimated 
Discounted 
Benefits 
£1,856,417 

Page 635



46 
 

Scheme 
 

Background Proposal Financial 
Information

Agency commissioned a study to investigate 
and propose a solution to the flooding 
problems in Middle Winterslow. Using the 
information provided by the 2008 study, 
Wiltshire Council have carried out £50,000 of 
Capital Works constructing Stage 1 of a 
scheme to manage surface water in the 
village. 
  

Orcheston Orcheston has been flooded by the large 
volume of floodwater conveyed downstream 
from Tilshead. Surface water flooding occurs 
at the northern edge of the village from a 
tributary upstream of Rockery Farm. This is 
due to the low capacity of the shallow channel 
and the flat valley. Flooding in this part of the 
village mainly affects an access road to 
residences and gardens. Based on surface 
water flood maps 28 properties are at risk of 
flooding in a 3.3% AEP event. The village is 
also susceptible to groundwater flooding. 
 
 

Construction of an upstream flood storage 
area to attenuate flow in order for the 
existing drainage system downstream to 
operate within the limitations of its capacity. 
This attenuation will aim to reduce risk 
flooding of infrastructure and properties. 
This lost cost, innovative scheme based 
solution will seek to reduce the risk of 
ground and surface water flooding but PLP 
may still be required to mitigate against 
groundwater flood risk. Scheme details are 
being developed to confirm standards of 
protection (current and proposed) and 
construction costs. 
 

Scheme Cost 
£75,000 
Estimated 
Discounted 
Benefits 
£945,085 

Dilton Marsh During severe downpours and after periods of 
persistent heavy rain, flooding affected 
properties between Petticoat Lane and 
Lansdowne Close at the village of Dilton 
Marsh. This is due to the culvert network 
capacity being exceeded and surcharged flow 
emanating from manhole chambers. Surface 
water collects in the rear gardens of no. 10 
and 11 Lansdowne Close due to inadequate 
capacity of the surface water gulley’s in the 
gardens and driveways at these properties. 
Surface water flood maps show 16 properties 
are at risk of flooding in a 3.3% AEP event.  
 

Replacement part of the existing surface 
water drainage network is proposed. The 
preferred option is being discussed with 
landowners to enable the early 
implementation of this scheme, which will be 
funded by Wiltshire Council. Implementation 
is anticipated in 2014. 
 

Scheme Cost 
£123,000 
Estimated 
Discounted 
Benefits 
£269,174 

Chitterne Chitterne has been subject to flooding from 
the Chitterne Brook, a winterbourne. During 
recent storm events (December 2013 - 
February 2014) runoff from the upland 
catchment exceeded the capacity of the 
Chitterne Brook and structures inundating 
roads and causing property flooding. Surface 
water flood maps show 40 properties are at 
risk of flooding in a 3.3% AEP event.  
Flooding from groundwater sources is also an 
issue in Chitterne. 
 

Construction of an upstream flood storage 
area to attenuate flow so the existing 
drainage system operates within the 
limitations of its capacity. This attenuation 
will aim to reduce risk flooding of 
infrastructure and properties. This lost cost, 
innovative scheme based solution will seek 
to reduce the risk of groundwater flooding 
but PLP may still be required to mitigate 
against groundwater flood risk. Scheme 
details are being developed to confirm 
standards of protection (current and 
proposed) and construction costs. Additional 
works to be carried out in water meadows to 
improve conveyance  
 

Scheme Cost 
£135,000 
Estimated 
Discounted 
Benefits 
£1,350,122 

Forest Road, 
Melksham 

Residential properties and the main access 
route along Forest Road have been subject to 
regular surface water flooding due to the 
insufficient capacity of the drainage network; 
as a result over 20 residential properties are 
at risk of flooding in the Forest Road area. 
Drainage investigation and repairs have been 
undertaken in 2007 and 2012; these 
confirmed that one of the key issues is the 
reduction in pipe diameter from 375mm to 
300mm, which limits the flow capacity of the 
network, resulting in flooding. In addition, 
during the last investigation in 2012 it was 
evident that the entire pipe length had 
deteriorated in condition since 2007, thus 
increasing the risk of collapse or blockage in 
the near future. 
   

The proposed works are to construct a new 
1250mm diameter pipe within the highway, 
upgrading the existing 375/300mm pipes 
and thus providing a significant increase in 
the piped networks capacity. The works 
include diverting the existing undersized 
network away from properties, garages and 
private gardens, instead routing the pipes 
along the highway. All lateral pipes will be 
constructed of porous piping to allow the 
ingress of groundwater into the system to 
limit flooding from this source. Scheme 
implementation will be programmed when 
funding source is confirmed. 

Scheme Cost 
£153,000 
Estimated 
Discounted 
Benefits 
£1,477,000 

Page 636



47 
 

Scheme 
 

Background Proposal Financial 
Information

Other schemes Following the extensive flooding between 
December 2013 and March 2014 a number of 
communities in Wiltshire experienced 
flooding. Investigations are underway to 
establish the causes and extent of flooding, 
working with the local communities and Flood 
Wardens. 
 

The Council has been working with the 
communities to encourage take up of flood 
support grants, and to identify maintenance 
and flood protection measures that the 
community can assist with. As investigations 
into previous flooding continue it is 
anticipated that further schemes will be 
identified for inclusion in the Medium Term 
Plan. 

To be 
confirmed 

 

 

  

Page 637



48 
 

 

This document was published by Wiltshire Council. 
 

You can contact us in the following ways: 
 
By telephone 
0300 456 0100 
 
By post 
Wiltshire Council, County Hall, Bythesea Road, Trowbridge, Wiltshire BA14 8JN 
 
By email 
drainage@wiltshire.gov.uk 
 
By web 
www.wiltshire.gov.uk 

Page 638



       
Wiltshire Council 
 
Cabinet 
 
16 December 2014 
 

 
Subject:  Flood Response Operational Plan 
 
Cabinet member:   Councillor Jonathan Seed – Campuses, Area Boards, 

Libraries, Leisure and Flooding 
   
  Councillor Keith Humphries - Public Health, Protection   
Services, Adult Care and Housing (exc strategic 
housing) 

 
Key Decision: No  
 

 

Executive Summary 
 
During the winter of 2013/14, over 500 homes and businesses in Wiltshire 
suffered the worst flooding in a generation.   
 
Between December 2013 and March 2014, Wiltshire Council successfully 
led the coordination of council departments and other agencies in response 
to this difficult period.  
 
Following this unprecedented and protracted flood event, a comprehensive 
review of all the learning from the multi-agency coordinated response to 
flooding has been carried out. The learning has been used to update 
existing plans to form a new Wiltshire Council Flood Response Operational 
Plan. 
 
The new Plan aims to: 
 

• Clearly set out the warning triggers, and actions that need to be taken 
before and during flooding; 

• Accurately reflect current command and control structures within 
Wiltshire Council; 

• Clarify roles and responsibilities of officers; 

• Establish lines of communication; 

• Link to proactive community resilience and flood preventative work. 
 
Wiltshire Council cannot deliver the objectives of the Flood Response 
Operational Plan without the collaboration of many partners. The Council works 
effectively with other partners of the Wiltshire and Swindon Local Resilience 
Forum during the response phase of flooding incidents.  
 
Critical to the success of this plan will be the emerging Wiltshire Local Flood 

Page 639

Agenda Item 10



Risk Management Strategy, and the extensive flood prevention work carried 
out by the county’s three Strategic Flood Working Groups. 
 
 

 

Proposal 
 
Cabinet is requested to consider and approve the Wiltshire Flood Response 
Operational Plan. 
 

 

Reason for Proposal 
 
To improve Wiltshire Council’s preparedness and response to future incidents of 
flooding.  
 
 

 

Maggie Rae 
Corporate Director 
 

Page 640



Wiltshire Council 
 
Cabinet 
 
16 December 2014 
 

 
Subject:  Flood Response Operational Plan 
 
Cabinet member:   Councillor Jonathan Seed – Campuses, Area Boards, 

Libraries, Leisure and Flooding 
   
  Councillor Keith Humphries - Public Health, Protection   
Services, Adult Care and Housing (exc strategic 
housing) 

 
Key Decision: No 

 
Purpose of Report 
 
1.  To seek Cabinet’s approval of the Wiltshire Flood Response Operational 

Plan, which is attached as Appendix 1 to this report. 
 
Relevance to the Council’s Business Plan 
 
2. The overall aim of the Wiltshire Flood Response Operational Plan (‘The 

Plan’) is to support the Wiltshire Council Business Plan vision to create 
stronger and more resilient communities. The suggested improvements 
meet the Business Plan outcomes of: 

 
• People work together, solve problems locally and participate in 

decisions that affect them, and 
• People feel safe and are as protected as possible from harm. 

 
 
Main Considerations for the Council 
 
3.  The Wiltshire Flood Response Operational Plan is a practical guide for 

departments involved in protecting residents, businesses and 
infrastructure during flooding incidents. The Plan embeds the learning 
from previous flooding incidents, and is an important element of the 
county’s preparedness for future flooding incidents. The Plan compliments 
the multi-agency Wiltshire and Swindon Local Resilience Forum Severe 
Weather Guide, and recognises its important link with the community 
resilience work carried out by Parish and Town Councils.  

 
Background 
 
4.1 The Civil Contingencies Act 2004 requires Wiltshire Council to work with 

partners to consider local risks and to prepare plans to respond to these 
risks. The Council is responsible for maintaining an emergency response 

Page 641



plan for flooding and The Wiltshire Flood Response Operational Plan 
fulfils this obligation.   

 
4.2 Wiltshire experienced severe flooding between December 2013 and 

March 2014, with over 500 residential and business properties flooded 
and a number of roads having to be closed to traffic. The response to 
these incidents was prolonged and effective. 

 
4.3  A series of debriefs have taken place within Wiltshire Council and with 

partners. The purpose of these debriefs was to capture areas of good 
practice and to address areas for improvement. The Flood Response 
Operational Plan has incorporated these improvements.  

 
4.4  The risk of flooding is increasing due to pressures in urban environments, 

and with climate change more severe rainfall events are predicted. These 
will create additional challenges for communities and have implications for 
new developments. 

 
4.5  The Wiltshire Flood Response Operational Plan compliments and does 

not duplicate flood prevention work that is undertaken by the Council. The 
Local Flood Risk Management Strategy describes responsibilities with 
regard to flood risk, the types of flood risk and how flood risk is managed 
in Wiltshire. Flood prevention work is coordinated by Wiltshire Council’s 
Strategic Flood Working Groups. 

 
4.6  The Wiltshire Flood Response Operational Plan specifies the council’s 

response when alerted that flooding is imminent or when flooding has 
occurred. If a major incident is declared, further information on incident 
management is found in the Wiltshire Council Major Incident Plan. The 
Plan also supports the Wiltshire and Swindon Local Resilience Forum’s 
Severe Weather Guide. 

 
Safeguarding Implications 
 
5.  Any safeguarding issues will be managed through existing safeguarding 

procedures for children and adults.  
 
Public Health Implications 
 
6. Flooding can cause clear public health risks. The effects of flooding on 

health are extensive and significant, ranging from death and injuries from 
accidents caused by fast flowing and rising water, to infectious diseases 
and mental health problems. 

 
Environmental and Climate Change Considerations  
 
7. The world’s climate and weather patterns are changing. Global 

temperatures are rising, causing more extreme weather events, like 
flooding. The council has a Climate Change Adaptation Plan which sets 
out the expected changes in climate for Wiltshire and how the council 
plans to respond.  This Flood Response Operational Plan is part of the 
council's response. 

Page 642



 
 
 
Equalities Impact of the Proposal 
 
8. The Plan will be applied having regard to equalities legislative duties, 

council policy and other relevant officer Codes of Conduct. During a 
flooding incident, vulnerable people are identified and located through 
existing mechanisms, through communication with partners, and by using 
knowledge from the local community.  Training and exercising will reflect 
the need for all partners to work to the same high standards.  

 
Risk Assessment 
 
9.  The need for a flood response operational plan has been decided due to 

the high risk of flooding incidents in the county. The adoption of The Plan 
will significantly improve command, coordination and response 
arrangements at the Council.  

 
Risks that may arise if the proposed decision and related work is not taken 
 
10.  If The Plan is not adopted, the existing plan will continue to be used. 

However, the existing plan does not build on the learning from recent 
flooding incidents, and therefore can no longer be considered as best 
practice.  

 
Risks that may arise if the proposed decision is taken and actions that will 
be taken to manage these risks 
 
11.  If the new plan is adopted, departments will require training and exercising 

in relation to it. This will be developed by relevant departments.  
 
Financial Implications 
 
12. Adoption of The Wiltshire Flood Response Operational Plan does not 

require any extra expenditure.  
 
Legal Implications 
 
13. The Plan is part of a series of plans that are required under the Civil 

Contingencies Act 2004. Through the Flood Response Operational Plan, 
Wiltshire Council will have considered relevant risks and have in place 
plans to control or mitigate disruptive challenges caused by the risk of 
flooding. 

 
Options Considered 
 
14. Because of the extensive learning from previous flood incidents, making 

no change to the current Flood response plan was not considered to be a 
viable option.  

 
 

Page 643



Conclusions 
 
15.1 Rain, river and groundwater flooding each create a high risk to the 

residents, businesses and infrastructure of Wiltshire. It is by having in 
place a simple and effective plan that the County will be able to coordinate 
successful responses to flooding incidents. 

 
15.2 The new plan takes the learning from previous flooding incidents, and puts 

in place clear triggers for actions. Roles and responsibilities are defined, 
and a command and control structure better reflects best practice.  

 
15.3  Guidance relating to messaging and advice to the public is considered 

within the plan and will assist in improving advice that is provided to the 
public during flooding events.  

 
Proposal 
 
16.  Cabinet is requested to consider and approve the Wiltshire Flood Response 

Operational Plan. 
 
 
Reason for Proposal 
 
17. To improve Wiltshire Council’s preparedness and response to future 

incidents of flooding.  
 
 
 
 
Frances Chinemana 
Associate Director Public Health 
 

 
Report Author: 
 Surriya Subramaniam 

Head of Public Protection  
(Emergency Planning Resilience and Response) 
01225 716695 
surriya.subramaniam@wiltshire.gov.uk 

 
Background Papers 
 
None 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix 1 Wiltshire Flood Response Operational Plan 
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

Page 644



 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Wiltshire Council 

Flood Response  
Operational Plan 

Page 645



 
 
Relationship with Other Strategic Flooding Plans and groups: 
 

 

Contents 

 
1. Introduction ............................................................................................................ 4 

2. Summary Action Card ............................................................................................ 5 

3. The Assessment Process ....................................................................................... 6 

4. Command, Control and Communication ................................................................ 7 

5. Issues to Consider .................................................................................................. 8 

5.1 General Resources .............................................................................................. 8 

5.2 In-house Resources ............................................................................................. 9 

6. Communications ................................................................................................... 10 

6.1 Warning and Informing the Public ...................................................................... 10 

6.2 Information / Media Arrangements. .................................................................... 10 

7. Health Precautions and Advice ............................................................................ 10 

7.1 Specific Health Risks .......................................................................................... 11 

7.2 Disruption to Mains Water .................................................................................. 11 

7.3 Disruption to Power ............................................................................................ 11 

7.4 Clean-up Advice ................................................................................................. 11 

8. Appendix A ........................................................................................................... 12 

A.1 Introduction ........................................................................................................ 12 

A.2 Generic Planning Assumptions for Flooding ...................................................... 12 

A.3 The Risk of Flooding .......................................................................................... 14 

A.4 Environment Agency Flood Warning System ..................................................... 15 

Page 646



9. Appendix B: Plan Administration .......................................................................... 22 

Page 647



OFFICIAL 
 

In
tr

od
uc

tio
n 

A
ct

io
n 

C
ar

d 
A

ct
iv

at
io

n 
C

om
m

s 
A

pp
en

di
ce

s 

1. Introduction  
 
Plan Title: Wiltshire Flood Response Operational Plan  
Plan Author: Surriya Subramaniam 
Date of Publication: 11 November 2014 
Review Date: 10 October 2015, or if triggered after flooding 
Training Requirements: Wiltshire Council Training 
Training Date: 21 November and 9 December 2014 
Exercise Requirements: Annual 
Exercise Date: TBC 
 
Document History 
Version Date Comments Reviewer 
0.1 25.09.14 First Draft  Surriya Subramaniam 
0.2 25.09.14 Second Draft Surriya Subramaniam 
0.3 08.10.14 Third Draft Debbie Haynes 
    
    
 

Purpose Operational Plans for Wiltshire Council’s response to flooding events 

Background 
Information 

Flooding is one of the highest risks faced by Wiltshire’s communities. Due to 
the geography of the county, there are issues from river, rain and 
groundwater flooding. The county is experienced at dealing with flooding, 
and has learnt from previous flooding incidents. The county has a well 
developed Local Flood Risk Management Strategy, and Operational Flood 
Response Groups. In addition, many Parish and Town Councils have taken 
responsibility to engage their communities in preventing and protecting 
against flooding.   

Emergency 
Definition 

The definition of emergency is found in the Wiltshire Council Major Incident 
Plan and is taken from the Civil Contingencies Act 2004. 

Aim The aim of this plan is to provide an overview of Wiltshire Council’s 
arrangements during flooding and for identifying clear roles, responsibilities 
and dependencies with other agencies.  

Objectives The aim will be achieved by providing: 

 Action cards  
 Situation reporting and clear communication 
 Identifying risks and mitigations 

Scope The scope of this plan covers Wiltshire Council’s responsibilities during 
flooding, and  

 All Wiltshire Council departments having a role,  
 All the agencies that will be involved in the delivery of a multi-agency 

response and recovery.    

Links to 
other plans 

This template will link to all relevant Wiltshire Council and LRF emergency 
plans, many of which are specified in ‘Issues to Consider’ in section 4 below. 
Preparing for, and mitigating the effects of flooding is a continuous role of the 
Council in line with Local Flood Risk Management Strategy. The critical 
preventative work of Operational Flood Working Groups is recognised, and 
this operational plan will compliment them by providing additional detail in the 
event of actual flooding and its consequences.

Page 648



OFFICIAL 
 

In
tr

od
uc

tio
n 

A
ct

io
n 

C
ar

d 
A

ct
iv

at
io

n 
C

om
m

s 
A

pp
en

di
ce

s 

2. Summary Action Card 
Risk  Trigger Actual or forecast Impact Key Actions (not exhaustive) 

0.  
(Low flood risk) 

No flood warning / alerts and / or 
no warnings of severe weather 
in force that may result in 
flooding. 

No flooding occurring No specific response, normal awareness of possible 
flood risk.  
 
Drainage Team, Environment Agency and 
Emergency Planning teams to coordinate community 
resilience 

1.  
(Moderate flood 

risk) 

 

EA Flood alerts in force, and / or 
Met Office Yellow Warnings of 
severe weather in force that may 
result in flooding and / or 
Flood Forecasting Centre’s 
Flood Guidance Statement 
indicating potential flooding 
and/or minor impact flooding. 

Low impact flooding of 
fields, gardens and minor 
roads. 

Highways Duty Engineers to monitor, and cross-
reference with Wiltshire-specific forecasts.  
 
Emergency Planning share information, especially 
for weekend out-of-hours staff.   
 
Maintain a heightened awareness of flood risk. 

2.  
(Substantial 
flood risk) 

 

EA Flood Warnings in force, 
  and / or 
Met Office Amber Severe 
Weather Warnings in force that 
are likely to result in flooding 
  and/or 
Flood Forecasting Centre’s 
Flood Guidance Statement 
indicating potential flooding  
  and / or 
Reports of property flooding. 

As level 1, plus: 
Flooding of homes 
Flooding of Businesses  
Flooding of major road 
infrastructure 
Flooding of rail infrastructure 
Significant Flood Plain 
inundation 
High risk to caravan and 
campsites 
Potential damage to flood 
defences 
Contamination/ Pollution 

As for level 1, plus: 
Duty AD to lead internal response and agree 
resources with Duty CD, as required.  
Duty CD to represent Wiltshire Council at multi-
agency level / National level, and link with media. 
- Obtain situational awareness  
- Attendance to FastCon or Op Link teleconference 
- Consider Wiltshire Council’s role in multi-agency 
responses, including vulnerable people searches by 
Adult Social Care, evacuation to rest centres, etc 
- Put in place gold, silver and bronze structure, with 
appropriate services represented.  
- Consider the need for Communications support at 
internal and external response meetings. To prepare 
press releases, Customer Service Unit briefing, daily 
briefings to stakeholders, updating website/social 
media, and monitoring external social media.  
- Consider deployment of Local Authority Liaison 
Officer to the location of flooding to gather 
information. 
- Consider Out of Hours calls brought in-house. 
-Consider Business Continuity issues. 
 
Highways Duty Engineers – providing detailed 
weather forecasts and predictions. Consider putting 
appropriate staff and contractors on standby, and 
invoking call handling protocol.  
 
Emergency Planning consider opening incident room 
and provide Tactical advice to Duty AD and Duty CD 
Consider collating information from services and 
distribute a Situation Report. 
Contact necessary voluntary groups.  
 
Drainage Team to liaise with Environment Agency 
and consider standing up Parish, Flood coordinators 
and wardens. 

3.  
(Severe flood 

risk) 

 

Severe flood warnings or 
multiple Flood Warnings in force, 
  and / or 
Met Office Red Warnings of 
severe weather in force that are 
highly likely to result in flooding 
  and/or 
Flood Forecasting Centre’s 
Flood Guidance Statement 
indicating potential flooding 
  and / or 
Reports of significant, 
catastrophic flooding. 

As level 2, plus: 
Large numbers properties 
expected to flood within the 
LRF area 
Large numbers of people 
affected 
High risk to life 
Severe adverse impact on 
local infrastructure 
Severe impact on the 
capacity of responders 
Potential flood defence 
failures/ overtopping 

As for level 2, plus: Control Centres open, consider 
activating 24 hour capability if required.  
 
AD to work with CD to agree appropriate response.  
Provide appropriate representation at Multi-agency 
control centres  
 
Emergency Planning to provide situational 
awareness to AD and CD.  
-Consider all relevant ‘Issues to consider’ (p7) 
-Relevant responders to  support multi-agency media 
arrangements 
 

4.  
(Recovery) 

Flood warnings / severe flood 
warnings downgraded 
and / or EA Warnings No Longer 
in Force and / or  No Met Office 
warnings of severe weather in 
force that may result in flooding  

Flood water receding. Wiltshire Council lead Recovery Phase and will 
follow the principles set out in the Wiltshire Council 
Recovery Plan. 
 

 

Page 649



OFFICIAL 
 

In
tr

od
uc

tio
n 

A
ct

io
n 

C
ar

d 
A

ct
iv

at
io

n 
C

om
m

s 
A

pp
en

di
ce

s 

3. The Assessment Process 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Yes 

 
Situation continues 

to be monitored  

No 

No 

No 

Declare Major Incident  

Yes 

Yes 

Establish a Tactical and/or  
Strategic  

Co-ordination Group 

Intelligence and live information from:  
 Operational response,  
 Flood Forecasting Centre Yellow, Amber or 

Red Flood Guidance Statement  
 Environment Agency Flood Warning(s)  
 Met Office Severe Weather Warnings 
 Duty Engineers Wiltshire weather forecasts 

 
Assessment of situation carried out by Wiltshire Council 
Associate Director refer to Issues to Consider (below). 

Taking into account information provided by Wiltshire 
Council Departments and Partner agencies 

Is a Telecon required? 
(Any agency can 

initiate Operation Link 
or EA FASTCON)

 

Declare a 
Major 

Incident?

 

Does situation warrant 
Tactical (TCG) and/or 
Strategic Coordination 

Group (SCG)?

 

Page 650



OFFICIAL 
 

Plan Title       Page 7 of 22 
Version (Date) 

4. Command, Control and Communication 

 
 
 

Corpoprate 
Director

Associate Director

Communications 
Advisor

EPRR

Tactical Advisor

Duty Engineers

Highways Drainage Team

Public Health Adult Social Care

Care Homes

Childrens

Schools

Elected Members
Senior 

Management
Operational 

Communications

CSU
Web / Social 

Media
Parish Councils

Voluntary 
Organisations

P
age 651



OFFICIAL 
 

Plan Title Flood Response Operational Plan  Page 8 of 22 
Version (Date) v1.0 Dec 2014 

In
tr

od
uc

tio
n 

A
ct

io
n 

C
ar

d 
A

ct
iv

at
io

n 
Is

su
es

 
C

om
m

s 
A

pp
en

di
ce

s 

5. Issues to Consider 

5.1 General Resources 

 
 
The Tactical and Strategic Co-ordination Groups should use the standard agenda 
(Emergency Planning to provide from Emergency Multi Agency Plan). The issues in the table 
above should be considered as part of the multi-agency discussions at Tactical and Strategic 
Co-ordination Groups. 
 
The reference documents detailed in the table above should be used to inform the response 
to the relevant issue. 
 
All documents are available on Resilience Direct or from the listed document owner. 

ISSUE REFERENCE PROCESS OWNER 
Emergency Actions 
Vulnerable People Adult Social Care search flood risk 

areas by postcode 
Adult Social Care 

Evacuation and Shelter 
 

Welfare Plan (includes Rest Centre, 
Humanitarian Assistance and Multi 
Faith) 

Adult Social Care, and supported by 
EPRR team.  
 

Transport and Traffic 
management 

LRF Transport Plan (incorporating 4x4 
Protocol) 

Duty Engineer 

Voluntary Agency Support VASEC Guide and Directory Wiltshire Council 
Search and Rescue  LRF Search and Rescue Guide Wiltshire Fire and Rescue Service 
Critical Infrastructure 
 

Information from Wiltshire Police and 
GIS 

Wiltshire Police with Wiltshire 
Council sand Category 2 responders 

Reservoirs LRF Generic Offsite Reservoirs Plan  
and 
Onsite Reservoir Plans 

Wiltshire Council 
 
Reservoir Undertaker(s):  
Environment Agency 
Water companies 

Contamination and Pollution Environment Agency Operational 
Instructions 
FRS/ EA MOUs 
EA Waste Disposal Guidance 

Environment Agency 
Environment Agency/ Wiltshire FRS 
Environment Agency 

Information Sources 
Information and Intelligence Situation Report  

CRIP 
Emergency Planning 
Wiltshire Police 

Flood Visualisation and 
Incident mapping 

EA Fluvial, Surface Water and 
Groundwater Flood Maps; Reservoir 
inundation mapping 

Environment Agency 
 

Wiltshire Flood Information Flood Risk Management Strategy 
Flood Supporting Information Document

Drainage Team 
Environment Agency 

Generic Flood information for 
the public 

Environment Agency 
PHE 

Wiltshire Council 
 

Communications    
Media and Public 
Communications 

LRF Media Guide 
LRF Warning and Informing Protocol 

Wiltshire Police 
Wiltshire Police 

Inter Agency  
Communications 
 

LRF Resilient Telecommunications 
Guide 
LRF Bronze Interoperability Document 

Wiltshire Police 
 
Wiltshire Police 

Community Communications  Groundbase Flood Wardens Database 
Community Emergency Volunteers 

Environment Agency 
Drainage Team 

Recovery 
Recovery Recovery Plans 

 
Wiltshire Council 
Swindon Borough Council 

Page 652



OFFICIAL 
 

Plan Title Flood Response Operational Plan  Page 9 of 22 
Version (Date) v1.0 Dec 2014 

In
tr

od
uc

tio
n 

A
ct

io
n 

C
ar

d 
A

ct
iv

at
io

n 
Is

su
es

 
C

om
m

s 
A

pp
en

di
ce

s 

 
 

5.2 In-house Resources  
 
The following resources can be obtained from the stated Wiltshire Council teams.  
 
All the teams and organisations listed in this plan can be contacted by using the 
Emergency Contact Directory, which is kept and maintained by the Emergency 
Planning Resilience and Response Team.  
 
 

Resource Tasked by 
4x4 Duty Engineers 
Call Handlers Emergency Planning 
Cones Duty Engineers 
Control Room Emergency Planning 
Evacuation Adult Social Care 
Flood Plans Drainage Team 
GIS Emergency Planning 
Highways Officers Duty Engineers 
Local Authority Liaison Officer (LAIO) Public Protection 
Loggist Emergency Planning 
Mapping Emergency Planning 
Military LRF 
Parish Contacts Drainage Team 
Portaloos Duty Engineers 
Pumping Equipment Duty Engineers 
Road Closures Duty Engineers 
Road Signs Duty Engineers 
Sandbags Duty engineers 
Situation Reports Emergency Planning 
Voluntary Groups Emergency Planning 
 
        

Page 653



OFFICIAL 
 

Plan Title Flood Response Operational Plan  Page 10 of 22 
Version (Date) v1.0 Dec 2014 

In
tr

od
uc

tio
n 

A
ct

io
n 

C
ar

d 
A

ct
iv

at
io

n 
Is

su
es

 
C

om
m

s 
A

pp
en

di
ce

s 

6. Communications 
 

6.1 Warning and Informing the Public  
 

The LRF Warning and Informing Guide details procedures for the issuing of guidance and 
information to the public prior to, during and following an incident. 
It is also essential that advice for organisations which raise awareness and promote self help 
prior to and during a flooding event are maintained.  These include: 

 
 The Environment Agency’s Floodline Warnings Direct System; 
 Wiltshire Council website to be updated with information of Service disruption, 

including road closures.  
 Highways Agency Information Line (HAIL) 08457 50 40 30 & e-mail;  
 AA Road Watch to broadcast warnings; 
 The Environment Agency website at www.environment-agency.gov.uk/flood  
       -  Leaflets produced by the EA, with information and advice; 
 The Met Office website at; http://www.metoffice.gov.uk/ 
 Local radio stations; 
 During major events, regional or national television may broadcast flood warning 

information; 
 
Information to specific local areas can be passed through the Flood Warden network.  

6.2 Information / Media Arrangements. 
 

The LRF Major Incident Media Guide sets out procedures for the gathering and 
dissemination of information during incidents. Lists of current flood warnings, road closures 
and details of flooded areas should be published as appropriate by the agencies involved.  

Flooding: Advice for the Public (PDF, 5.3 MB) 
http://www.hpa.org.uk/webc/HPAwebFile/HPAweb_C/1317140405287 

 
7. Health Precautions and Advice 
 
Practical flooding health and safety advice can be provided by the Environment Agency, 
Health Protection Agency, NHS Wiltshire, NHS Swindon, Wiltshire Council and Swindon 
Borough Council Environmental Health Officers. General Advice may include: 

 
 Move to a safe area if life is at risk; 
 Prevent water from entering property if possible; 
 Switch off electricity and gas supplies at the mains; 
 Move valuable possessions above floor areas liable to be flooded; 
 Do not walk, drive or swim through floodwater (fast flows and missing manhole covers 

and other hidden dangers may be present); 
 Be aware of hidden dips in roads; 
 Floodwater may contain sewage effluent; 
 Do not eat or drink anything contaminated by flood water; 
 Do not handle wet electrical equipment; 
 Ventilate property but be aware of security risks; 
 Remind householders not to throw everything away. Evidence of damage for 

insurance purposes. 
 

Page 654



OFFICIAL 
 

Plan Title Flood Response Operational Plan  Page 11 of 22 
Version (Date) v1.0 Dec 2014 

In
tr

od
uc

tio
n 

A
ct

io
n 

C
ar

d 
A

ct
iv

at
io

n 
Is

su
es

 
C

om
m

s 
A

pp
en

di
ce

s 

Further Information is available at: 

 Flooding and mental health: Essential information for front-line responders (PDF, 175 
KB) 
http://www.hpa.org.uk/webc/HPAwebFile/HPAweb_C/1317140780425 

 Health advice: General information about mental health (PDF, 164 KB) 
http://www.hpa.org.uk/webc/HPAwebFile/HPAweb_C/1317140780334 

 

 7.1 Specific Health Risks 
 

 Risks from sewage contamination of water and other possible risks from infectious 
diseases; 

 Risks from chemical contamination; 
 Risks posed by carbon monoxide fumes from the use of generators and other fuel 

powered equipment brought indoors to dry out buildings. 
 

7.2 Disruption to Mains Water 
 
 Bottle feeding babies without access to mains water supply;  
 Sanitation, in particular risks from blocked toilets and waste disposal; 
 Hygiene advice in a situation where access to water is limited;  
 Water quality during re-connection including adequacy of proposed sampling strategy. 

 

7.3 Disruption to Power 
 

 If no electricity and cannot boil water. 
 Danger to health if no heating 
 

7.4 Clean-up Advice 
 
Practical health advice on clean-up can be provided by the Health Protection Agency, NHS 
Wiltshire, NHS Swindon, Wiltshire Council and Swindon Borough Council Environmental 
Health Officers with regard to the following issues: 

 Private dwelling and public buildings/areas (such as schools playing/sporting fields; 
 Health risks associated with prolonged contact with water;   
 Advice on what to do with foodstuffs (natural produce or tinned) exposed to 

floodwater;  
 Flooded gardens/allotment produce; 
 Fruit trees/bushes; 
 Dried/tinned foods. 
 Advice on avoidance of displaced rodents. 

 
More detailed guidance can be found in the Appendix  

Floods – how to clean up your home safely (PDF, 176 KB) 
http://www.hpa.org.uk/webc/HPAwebFile/HPAweb_C/1317140784662 

Page 655



OFFICIAL 
 

Plan Title Flood Response Operational Plan  Page 12 of 22 
Version (Date) v1.0 Dec 2014 

In
tr

od
uc

tio
n 

A
ct

iv
at

io
n 

A
ct

io
n 

C
ar

ds
 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

A
pp

en
di

ce
s 

 

Flood Supporting 
Information 

8. Appendix A 
 

 
 
 
A.1 Introduction 
 
The aim of this document is to provide additional information in support of the flooding 
section of the Severe Weather Guide. 
 
A.2 Generic Planning Assumptions for Flooding  
 
The following non exhaustive list of generic items should be referred to when undertaking 
flooding planning: 
 
 Evacuation and/or shelter of people;  
 People becoming stranded throughout the affected area and in need of rescue. Severe 

weather may impede rescue efforts;  
 Possible fatalities and casualties; 
 Requirement to locate missing persons; 
 Temporary accommodation may be required. Length of time required will vary and 

may be for a significant length of time; 
 Contamination of water supplies; 
 Loss of other essential services (water; electricity; telecommunications); 
 Health hazards due to sewer back up in homes and buildings; 
 Failure of drainage systems; 
 Rescue of livestock and disposal of dead animals; 
 Widespread structural damage, blocked roads and bridges through debris; 
 Transport disruption and closure of main routes caused by debris and structural 

damage to bridges ;  
 Security of cordoned areas; 
 Self evacuation of some people and the possible requirement to assist people with 

transport to alternative accommodation; 
 Owing to the nature of flooding events recovery operations are likely to be prolonged. 

This will include drying out of homes and infrastructure and repairing damage. 
 A single fluvial event or a regional event occurring following sustained heavy rainfall; 
 Possible flooding of a large urban area affecting a significant number of properties. 

Page 656



OFFICIAL 
 

Plan Title Flood Response Operational Plan  Page 13 of 22 
Version (Date) v1.0 Dec 2014 

In
tr

od
uc

tio
n 

A
ct

iv
at

io
n 

A
ct

io
n 

C
ar

ds
 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

A
pp

en
di

ce
s 

 Evacuation due to overtopping of defences; 
 Some notice to evacuate would be received. 

 
Flooding of properties in both rural and urban areas; 
 
 Closure of roads, rail links and bridges; 
 Stranded people requiring rescue; 
 Failure of drainage systems due to water run-off. 

 

Wiltshire Towns that could be affected by flooding in a 1 in 
200 year flooding event.  
 

Properties at risk 
from surface water 
flooding 

Salisbury 
 

1476 

Chippenham 
 

1192 

Westbury 
 

1174 

Trowbridge 
 

935 

Devizes 
 

866 

Warminster 
 

751 

Calne 
 

652 

Corsham 
 

642 

Bradford on Avon 
 

445 

Melksham 
 

387 

Marlborough 
 

374 

Wootton Bassett 
 

345 

Ludgershall 
 

276 

Tidworth 
 

274 

Amesbury 
 

270 

Pewsey 
 

161 

Malmesbury 
 

120 

Towns total 10340 
Rural communities within Wiltshire 7680 
Combined total number of households at risk of 1 in 200 
year flooding within Wiltshire 

 
18020 

Page 657



OFFICIAL 
 

Plan Title Flood Response Operational Plan  Page 14 of 22 
Version (Date) v1.0 Dec 2014 

In
tr

od
uc

tio
n 

A
ct

iv
at

io
n 

A
ct

io
n 

C
ar

ds
 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

A
pp

en
di

ce
s 

 
 
A.3 The Risk of Flooding 

 
3.1 Background  
 
The assessment of the risk of severe flooding in Wiltshire and Swindon is contained in the 
Community Risk Register. This plan is an element of the response to potential major and 
significant flooding in Wiltshire and Swindon. Consequences will depend upon the exposure 
of people and property to the hazard and their respective vulnerability to harm. 
 
The chances of flooding are increasing due in part to climate change. Increased winter 
rainfall, and more intense summer rainfall add to existing risks. 
 
Within Wiltshire floods are mostly events that result either from excessive rainfall that leads 
to pluvial flooding or to rivers overflowing their banks. In urban areas, drainage systems may 
have inadequate capacity or become blocked leading to flooding also. In the southern half of 
Wiltshire underlying chalk provides an increased risk of Groundwater flooding as 
experienced in winter 2002/3. 
 
Types of response have included the construction of raised defences by walls or 
embankments or other structural measures such as pumped drainage systems and flood 
storage areas. These defences limit the chance and consequences of flooding.  However 
they do not eliminate the chance of flooding entirely and large scale protection against 
groundwater inundation is not possible. 
 
3.2 Sources of Flooding  
 
River (Fluvial) Flooding – A river overtopping its banks leading to flooding is usually caused 
by prolonged periods of heavy rainfall. Fluvial flooding can be both deep and high velocity, 
depending on the nature of the river catchment.  The Environment Agency Flood Zones 2 
and 3 define the area that could be affected by flooding, either from rivers or the sea, if there 
were no defences. 
 
Details of Wiltshire properties at risk are as follows (as of August 2014): 
 
Signed up to Floodline Warnings Direct (FWD): 3012 
The Environment Agency will monitor and warn for fluvial flooding where systems and 
procedures are in place.  
 
Fluvial Flooding is considered a Very High Risk within the community risk register for 
Swindon and Wiltshire. 
 
Reservoirs Breach – This refers to a collapse of a reservoir dam located within Wiltshire & 
Swindon.   
 
Flooding from these would be instantaneous with significant movement of debris (possibly 
including vehicles) and sediment. 
 
Reservoirs Breach is considered a medium risk for Swindon and Wiltshire. 
 
There are two types of reservoir plans, on site and off site.  The on site plan is the 
responsibility of the undertaker.  Specific off site plans for Reservoirs within Wiltshire & 
Swindon will be prepared in accordance with guidance received from DEFRA. 

Page 658



OFFICIAL 
 

Plan Title Flood Response Operational Plan  Page 15 of 22 
Version (Date) v1.0 Dec 2014 

In
tr

od
uc

tio
n 

A
ct

iv
at

io
n 

A
ct

io
n 

C
ar

ds
 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

A
pp

en
di

ce
s 

 
Detailed inundation mapping is now available.  Outline maps are on the EA website and 
more detailed mapping is being placed on the National Resilience Extranet. 
 
Groundwater Flooding – Groundwater flooding is the result of a rise in the water table to 
above the rock or soil that makes up the land surface. The problem is most common in areas 
with chalk strata but can occur in any area with underlying permeable deposits, including 
sands and gravels.  
 
Groundwater flooding is significant in Wiltshire particularly in a band across the south of the 
county, where the underlying rock is primarily chalk. We are currently unable to determine 
exact numbers of properties at risk from ground water sources but experience from the 
winter of 2002/3 showed the potential impact to be significant. 
 
Groundwater flooding is considered a high risk for Wiltshire and Swindon. 
 
Surface Water Flooding – This usually happens where drainage systems are unable to cope 
with heavy spells of rainfall. It will be most problematic when catchments are already 
saturated or frozen and in urban areas with impermeable surfaces. It will usually occur 
rapidly, but be relatively short lived.  
 
Accurately predicting and mapping surface water flooding is currently not possible. The best 
available information is provided by the Met Office Severe Weather Warnings and a local 
understanding of the most commonly effected areas. Indicative surface water mapping has 
been issued by the Environment Agency but should be used as guidance only.  
Surface Water flooding is considered a high risk for Wiltshire. 
N.B. All at risk property data is approximate. 
 
 
A.4 Environment Agency Flood Warning System 
 
The Environment Agency (EA) issue warnings of potential flooding from main rivers. The EA 
aim to give at least two hours warning of river flooding. 
 
Flood warnings are currently only issued for flooding from a river. Ground water information 
is available from Floodline in addition to information on river flooding. A Groundwater flood 
warning service for Wiltshire and Swindon is being developed. 
Severe weather warnings are issued by the Met Office and emailed to local authorities and 
others by Highways Control Centre (HCC). It also provides severe weather information in 
relation to highways and this may include forecasts of very heavy precipitation which could 
lead to flash flooding. 
It is sometimes difficult to distinguish between sources of flooding. For example, 
groundwater and surface water flooding can often appear to be similar. 
 
 FLUVIAL  River flooding 
 PLUVIAL                     Rainwater flooding 
 FLASH   Roads, ditches, fields 
 GROUNDWATER High water table 
 SEWAGE  Sewers, rising mains and pumping stations     
 POTABLE WATER Mains failure 

 
 
 
 

Page 659



OFFICIAL 
 

Plan Title Flood Response Operational Plan  Page 16 of 22 
Version (Date) v1.0 Dec 2014 

In
tr

od
uc

tio
n 

A
ct

iv
at

io
n 

A
ct

io
n 

C
ar

ds
 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

A
pp

en
di

ce
s 

A.5 Sources of Information 
(from Joint Responder Training, by Environment Agency, Met Office and Flood Forecasting Centre.) 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 660



OFFICIAL 
 

Plan Title Flood Response Operational Plan  Page 17 of 22 
Version (Date) v1.0 Dec 2014 

In
tr

od
uc

tio
n 

A
ct

iv
at

io
n 

A
ct

io
n 

C
ar

ds
 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

A
pp

en
di

ce
s 

 
In England and Wales the Environment Agency operates a flood warning service in areas at 
risk of flooding from rivers. If flooding is forecast, warnings are issued using a set of three 
easily recognisable codes.  Latest information on Flood Warning Codes is available at 
www.environment-agency.gov.uk/flood   
 
The EA issue four flood codes as follows: 

Generic Flood Alert 
Information 

What it means 
Flooding is possible. 
Be prepared. 

When it’s used Two hours to two days in advance of flooding. 

Triggers 
Forecasts that indicate that flooding from rivers may be 
possible. 

Forecast intense rainfall for rivers that respond very rapidly. 

Impact on the ground 

Flooding of fields, recreation land and car parks. 

Flooding of minor roads. 

Flooding of farmland. 

Advice to the public/media 

Be prepared to act on your flood plan. 

Prepare a flood kit of essential items. 

Avoid walking, cycling or driving through flood water. 

Farmers should consider moving livestock and equipment 
away from areas likely to flood. 

Call Floodline on 0345 988 1188 for up-to-date flooding 
information. 

Monitor local water levels on the Environment Agency 
website 

Advice to operational 
organisations and 
emergency responders. 

Check your flood response plans to see how your 
organisation needs to respond. 

Speak to your local Environment Agency Flood Warning Duty 
Officer for the latest forecast information. 

Dial into Flood Advisory Service teleconferences. 

Advise the public to call Floodline on 0345 988 1188 for up-
to-date flooding information. 

Please report any flooding in your area to your local 
Environment Agency office. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 661



OFFICIAL 
 

Plan Title Flood Response Operational Plan  Page 18 of 22 
Version (Date) v1.0 Dec 2014 

In
tr

od
uc

tio
n 

A
ct

iv
at

io
n 

A
ct

io
n 

C
ar

ds
 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

A
pp

en
di

ce
s 

 
 

Generic Flood Warning 
Information 

What it means 
Flooding is expected. 
Immediate action required. 

When it’s used Half an hour to one day in advance of flooding.  

Triggers 
Heavy rainfall forecast to cause flash flooding of rivers. 

Forecast flooding from rivers. 

Impact on the ground 

Flooding of homes and businesses. 

Flooding of rail infrastructure. 

Flooding to roads with major impacts. 

Extensive flood plain inundation (including caravan parks or 
campsites). 

Flooding of major tourist/recreational attractions. 

Advice to the  public/media 

Protect yourself, your family and help others. 

Move family, pets and valuables to a safe place. 

Turn off gas, electricity and water supplies if safe to do so. 

Put flood protection equipment in place. 

If you are caught in a flash flood, get to higher ground. 

Call Floodline on 0345 988 1188 for up-to-date information. 

Advice to operational 
organisations and 
emergency responders 

Check flood response plans for actions required at this stage.

Advise the public to call Floodline on 0345 988 1188 for up-
to-date flooding information. 

Please report any flooding in your area to your local 
Environment Agency office. 

 
  

Page 662



OFFICIAL 
 

Plan Title Flood Response Operational Plan  Page 19 of 22 
Version (Date) v1.0 Dec 2014 

In
tr

od
uc

tio
n 

A
ct

iv
at

io
n 

A
ct

io
n 

C
ar

ds
 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

A
pp

en
di

ce
s 

Generic Severe Flood 
Warning Information 

What it means 
Severe flooding. 
Danger to life. 

When it’s used 
When flooding poses a significant risk to life or significant 
disruption to communities. 

Triggers 

Actual flooding where the conditions pose a significant risk to 
life and/or widespread disruption to communities. 

On-site observations from flooded locations. 

A breach in defences or failure barrier or dam that is likely to 
cause significant risk to life. 

Discussions with partners. 

Impact on the ground 

Deep and fast flowing water. 

Debris in the water causing danger. 

Potential or observed collapse of buildings and structures. 

Communities isolated by flood waters. 

Critical infrastructure for communities disabled. 

Large number of evacuees. 

Advice to the public/media 

Stay in a safe place with a means of escape. 

Be ready should you need to evacuate from your home. 

Co-operate with the emergency services. 

Call 999 if you are in immediate danger. 

Call Floodline on 0345 988 1188 for up-to-date flooding 
information. 

Advice to operational 
organisations and 
emergency responders 

Check flood response plans for actions required at this 
stage. 

Advise the public to put their safety first and to be ready to 
evacuate should the authorities decide it’s needed. 

Develop clear messages for local communities and the 
public. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 663



OFFICIAL 
 

Plan Title Flood Response Operational Plan  Page 20 of 22 
Version (Date) v1.0 Dec 2014 

In
tr

od
uc

tio
n 

A
ct

iv
at

io
n 

A
ct

io
n 

C
ar

ds
 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

A
pp

en
di

ce
s 

 
 

Generic Information 
Warning No Longer in 
Force 

 

What it means No further flooding is currently expected for your area. 

When it’s used 
When a flood warning or severe flood warning is no longer in 
force. 

Triggers 

Risk of flooding has passed. 

River levels have dropped back below severe flood warning or 
flood warning levels and no further flooding is expected. 

Professional judgment and discussions with partners agree 
that a severe flood warning status is no longer needed. 

Impact on the ground 

No new impacts expected from flooding, however there may 
still be: 

 Standing water following flooding; 

 Flooded properties; 

 Flooded or damaged infrastructure. 

Advice to the public/media 

Be careful. Flood water may still be around for several days 
and could be contaminated. 

If you've been flooded, ring your insurance company as soon 
as possible. 

Advice to operational 
organisations and 
emergency responders 

Recovery phase will have started. 

Advise the public to call Floodline on 0345 988 1188 for 
advice on what to do if they have been affected by flooding. 

 
 
 
 
A.6 FLOOD FORECASTING CENTRE (FFC) 
 
The Flood Forecasting Centre (FFC) is a partnership between the Environment Agency and 
the Met Office, combining meteorology and hydrology expertise to forecast for river, tidal and 
coastal flooding as well as extreme rainfall which may lead to surface water flooding. 
  
The FFC provides the best possible intelligence and support to existing Environment Agency 
flood warning and Met Office weather warning services for England and Wales. 
 
The FFC provides the following services: 
 
 Extreme Rainfall Guidance & Alert Service 
 National Flood Guidance Statements 
 Web Service 

 
These services are designed to assist Category 1 and 2 Responders in planning and 
preparing for flood events. 
 
 

Page 664



OFFICIAL 
 

Plan Title Flood Response Operational Plan  Page 21 of 22 
Version (Date) v1.0 Dec 2014 

In
tr

od
uc

tio
n 

A
ct

iv
at

io
n 

A
ct

io
n 

C
ar

ds
 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

A
pp

en
di

ce
s 

A.7 Community Resilience 
 
The Environment Agency and Wiltshire Council Teams (Drainage Team and Emergency 
Planning Risk and Resilience) have worked with Parish and Town Councils to encourage the 
development of local flood plans that cover practical advice and information. 
 
 
 
 

Page 665



 

Plan Title Flood Response Operational Plan  Page 22 of 22 
Version (Date) v1.0 Dec 2014 

9. Appendix B: Plan Administration 
 
Document History 
Version Date Comments Reviewer 
0.1  25.09.14 First Draft Plan  S.Subramaniam
1.0 25.11.14 Plan for Cabinet approval S.Subramaniam
    
    
    
 
Amendment History 
Version Date Comments Pages Reviewer 
     
     
     
     
     
 
Distribution List 
Name of Organisation Format Copies  Date 
    
    
    
    
    
 
Training Schedule 
Date  Training Details Location 
   
   
   
   
   
 
Exercise Schedule 
Date  Exercise Details Location 
   
   
   
   
   
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 666



       
Wiltshire Council 
 
Cabinet 
 
16 December 2014 
 

 
Subject:   Wiltshire Council –  

CQC Inspection at Bradbury House and Shared Lives 
(adult Placement) service 

 
Cabinet member:   Councillor Keith Humphries - Public Health, Protection   

Services, Adult Care and Housing (exc strategic 
housing) 

 
Key Decision:        No 

 

Executive Summary 
 
This report is to inform Cabinet of the recent CQC inspections carried out at 2 
Wiltshire Council Adult Care services, Bradbury House Salisbury and Wiltshire 
Shared Lives (Adult Placement) 
  
Bradbury House Short Break/Emergency Placement Service Salisbury 
received a glowing Care Quality Commission (CQC) Inspection in 
September 2014. 
 
CQC inspected five standards as part of a routine inspection on 17 September 
2014.  All five standards met the required standard and the Inspection Report 
reflects the care and quality of service offered to customers at Bradbury House. 
At the time of the report being written the new Red, Amber, Green (RAG rating) 
of services was not in place but would have given this service (green rating)   
 
Example statements in the inspection report: 
 
Is the service safe? 
People had been cared for in an environment that was safe, clean and well 
maintained. The design of the home allowed good access to all areas and 
security measures provided safety for people using the service. 
 
 
Wiltshire Shared Lives (Adult Placement Service)  
 
Had a CQC inspection on the 7th August 2014 and received Good (green rating) 
in all 5 areas included in the inspection and reflects the high standard of support 
given by the Shared Lives Team to Carers and the people supported by Carers 
to live or stay in their homes. 
 
Example statements in the inspection report: 
 
‘People using the service told us they were supported to live as independently 

Page 667

Agenda Item 11(a)



as was possible for them. The adult placement service officers conducted 

regular review meetings to ensure that people’s safety was always a part of an 

on-going monitoring process.’ 

 

 ‘People using the service told us they felt “good” about using the service and 

the way it worked for them. People were able to have organised visits before 

making a choice about whether this was the placement for them.’ 
 
‘All of the people we spoke with, both people using the service and adult 

placement carers said the service was very effective in achieving the 

outcome  of providing a good life to people. People said they thought the 

service worked hard to match people with the correct placement.’ 

 

 
 

Proposal: 
 
That Cabinet note the key outcomes of the CQC inspections in relation to the 
Council run services and the level of managerial input required in order to 
achieve such positive outcomes, which gives assurance to the Council that 
quality services are being provided 
 

 

Reason for Proposal 
 
To ensure that Cabinet is updated on the service provision being delivered by 
the Council’s adult care direct provider service 

 

 
Maggie Rae 
Corporate Director 
 

 
  

Page 668



Wiltshire Council 
 
Cabinet 
 
16 December 2014 

 
Subject:   Wiltshire Council direct provision –  

CQC registered care services for adults 
 

Cabinet member:  Councillor Keith Humphries - Public Health, Protection   
Services, Adult Care and Housing (exc strategic 
housing) 

   
Key Decision: No 
 

 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. Wiltshire Council Adult Social Care both commissions placements in 

registered care services for all our customer groups (older people, older 

people with dementia, people with physical disabilities and adults with 

learning disabilities) and is also a direct provider of those services for adults 

with learning disabilities.  These services are delivered within and managed 

by adult care operations 

 
2. This Cabinet report briefs and updates members on two of the services 

provided in-house and advises on the achievements in terms of CQC ratings 

of those services as well as the management systems which are put in place 

to ensure that Wiltshire Council leads the way in terms of the delivery of 

quality services.   

 
3. The Care Quality Commission (CQC) is the independent regulator of health 

and social care services in England. The Health and Social Care Act 2008 

established CQC, and sets out their powers to regulate health and social 

care services and to take enforcement action. CQC registers services that 

demonstrate that they meet legal requirements, and after registration, checks 

that they continue to do this.  All services regulated must comply with the 

law, but in particular, they must comply with the Health and Social Care Act 

2008 and the Regulations made under it, which are the Care Quality 

Commission (Registration) Regulations 2009 and the Health and Social Care 

Act 2008 (Regulated Activities) Regulations 2010. 

 
CQC Regulatory requirements 
 
4. Each registered service, by law must have a suitable person registered as a 

manager for that service, legally known as the “Registered Manager”.  Staff 

in these roles are employed by the Council but approved via a regulatory 

application and interview with CQC.  Registered Managers are responsible 

Page 669



for the delivery of the service in accordance with regulatory requirement and 

good practice. 

 
5. Wiltshire Council as the “owner” of these services has to appoint a 

“Responsible Individual” – a legal title and the holder of this role (currently 

James Cawley, Service Director Adult Care Commissioning and Strategy) is 

personally and professionally as well as organisationally responsible for the 

delivery of the service in accordance with regulatory requirement and good 

practice.  The holder of this role is also interviewed and must be approved by 

CQC. 

 
6. The regulations are highly detailed and set out requirements whereby CQC 

must be notified of key events so that they can ensure they are being dealt 

with in accordance with law and regulation.  Such events will include: 

 

• A safeguarding alert (this could include a disciplinary matter with a staff 
member) 

• A significant complaint about the service 

• The significant illness of a resident or accident or death of a resident or 
service user 

• An accident or death of a member of staff if it occurs on the premises or 
whilst working with residents or service users 

• The absence of the registered manager or responsible individual for more 
than a month if that person is sick or absent from work for any other 
reason 

• Failure to deliver any one of the minimum standards required for quality 
service delivery 

• Any incident where the Police are involved 
 
7. It is also expected that the “Responsible Individual” undertakes directly or 

delegates the undertaking of regular quality audits at each of the premises 

and services, this currently happens at least four times a year.  The outcome 

of these audits is reported back to CQC.  In Wiltshire these are undertaken 

by James Cawley, Rhonda Ward, Malcolm Wilson and Christopher Lyne. 

 
8. CQC will undertake annual visits at care homes and the main registered 

premises for the delivery of the shared lives service.  An extract of CQC 

feedback above on each of these registered services together with the 

rigorous and robust audit and management of the service, provides evidence 

for Members that a quality service is being delivered. 

 
Background Information - Services directly provided by Wiltshire Council 
 
9. Wiltshire Council directly provides the following registered care services for 

adults with learning disabilities: 

 
 
 

Page 670



Bradbury House  
 
10. Bradbury House is a fully adapted modern single storey property in Old 

Sarum, Salisbury and is registered to support 10 people with varying needs, 

within the design it has a separated self contained area with 2 bedrooms that 

can support emergency placements or people whose behaviour may be 

challenging.  There is one registered manager for this building. 

 
11. Bradbury House provides planned and emergency short term respite care for 

up to ten people with a learning disability at any one time. The service 

supports approximately 60 people and their families and is the main provider 

of respite care in the Salisbury area. People who use the service may have 

additional physical care needs.  The design of the building allows space for 

customers who require wheelchairs or walking aids and there is good access 

to all areas.  Security measures are in place providing safety for customers 

using the service.  Any maintenance issues within the building are logged 

appropriately and repairs carried out in a timely manner by contractors 

procured by the Council.  Maintenance and service checks are carried out 

regularly and recorded.  Health and Safety Risk Assessments that cover all 

areas of the service are in place.  Accident and Incident Reports are 

recorded and forwarded to the Health & Safety manager and detail how the 

situation has been managed afterwards.  

   
Wiltshire Shared Lives (Adult Placement Service)  
 
12. Offers an assessment to potential carers, ongoing support to approved 

carers and a placement service to adults (akin to foster care).  The team 

recruit and support a range of carers across the County who provide support 

in their own home to adults on a short or long term basis, carers can also 

offer support to people in the community or at the customers own home.  

 
13. The service currently supports around 30 carers across the County who 

provide around 35 placements to adults with learning disabilities, people with 

mental health needs, and people who have aging or older issues (akin to 

foster care).   

 
Shared Lives (Adult Placement) Carers 
 
14. Shared Lives carers may be single or couples, with or without children living 

at the family home.  They are allowed to have one, two or three customers 

living or staying with them, depending upon their facilities.  The suitability of 

each Carer is assessed over several months by the Shared Lives 

assessment team and the process includes: 

 

• The completion of Common Induction Standards training with exercises 

designed to prepare people for this role; 

• Evaluation of the family’s circumstances, capabilities and values; 

Page 671



• DBS checks (formally CRB); 

• References from GP, professionals and friends; and 

• The assessor’s report on their suitability.  

 

15. Prospective Shared Lives carers are then interviewed by the Shared Lives 

Approval Panel who consider the application and give final approval. 

 
o The CQC report for Bradbury House is at Appendix 1 

 
o The CQC report for Wiltshire Shared Lives (Adult Placement Service) is at 

Appendix 2 
 
 
Main Considerations for the Council 
 
Safeguarding Considerations 
 
Risk Assessment, Managing Risk & Safeguarding 
 
16. The business of adult social care is in managing risk and in supporting others 

to be as independent as possible whilst managing the risks that their 

vulnerability contributes to. 

 
17. The prime aim is to support customers to be as independent as possible 

whilst ensuring that they remain safe and that they and their families have 

confidence in the quality of care delivered.  In order to deliver this our 

staff/carers have to be well trained and all participate in the adult social care 

induction programme so they see the value of their work in relation to the 

wider adult social care responsibility.   

 
18. They also undertake mandatory training on: 

 

• Safeguarding vulnerable adults (and children) and information on how to 
assess and refer / alert a safeguarding issue; 

• First Aid, Food Hygiene Manual Handling; and 

• Common induction standards specific to staff working with people with a 
learning disability.   

 
19. The emphasis on all training is for staff/carers to work in a person-centred 

way and also includes full induction in managing risk for individuals, 

understanding/ familiarisation with many of the different health issues and 

disabilities which are particular to their customer group 

 
20. All staff receives regular one to one supervision from their line manager and 

annual appraisal 

 

Page 672



21. Quarterly quality audit visits assess delivery of the service against nationally 

agreed minimum standards for delivery, as regulated by CQC, as well as 

Wiltshire management and quality assurance requirements.   

 

22. There is a feedback loop in that the outcomes of the quarterly audits are 

addressed with each registered manager and reviewed the subsequent visit 

to ensure that any issues raised in the previous visit have been addressed 

 
Public Health Implications 
 
23. This is an update on the services currently provided no decisions required. 

 
Environmental and Climate Change Considerations 
 
24. This is an update on the services currently provided no decisions required.  

 
Equalities Impact of the Proposal 
 
25. This is an update on the services currently provided no decisions required. 

 
Risk Assessment 

26. This is an update on the services currently provided no decisions required.  

 
Risks that may arise if the proposed decision and related work is not taken 
 
27. This is an update on the services currently provided no decisions required.  

 
Financial Implications  
 
28. This is an update on the services currently provided no decisions required. 

 
 
Legal Implications  
 
29. This is an update on the services currently provided no decisions required. 

 
Options Considered  
 
30. This is an update on the services currently provided no decisions required. 

 
Conclusions  
 
31. This is an update on the services currently provided no decisions required. 

 
 

James Cawley 
Associate Director, Adult Care Commissioning, Safeguarding and Housing 
 

Page 673



 
Report Author:  
Debbie Medlock Interim Service Director – Adult Care Operations] 
 
Contact details:  briefings can be provided by Rhonda Ward (Head of Service) by 
contacting her on rhonda.ward@wiltshire.gov.uk or on 07990 508 507 
 
November 2014 
 
Background Papers 
 
No unpublished documents have been relied on in the preparation of this report. 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix 1 – CQC Report for WILTSHIRE COUNCIL BRADBURY HOUSE 
SALISBURY- SHORT BREAK/EMERGENCY RESPITE SERVICE 
 
Appendix 2 – CQC Report for WILTSHIRE COUNCIL SHARED LIVES / ADULT 
PLACEMENT SERVICE 
 

Page 674



| Inspection Report | Bradbury House | October 2014 www.cqc.org.uk 1

Inspection Report

We are the regulator: Our job is to check whether hospitals, care homes and care 
services are meeting essential standards.

Bradbury House

The Portway,  Salisbury,  SP4 6BT Tel: 01722349144

Date of Inspection: 17 September 2014 Date of Publication: October 
2014

We inspected the following standards as part of a routine inspection. This is what we 
found:

Consent to care and treatment Met this standard

Care and welfare of people who use services Met this standard

Safety and suitability of premises Met this standard

Assessing and monitoring the quality of service 
provision

Met this standard

Complaints Met this standard

Page 675



| Inspection Report | Bradbury House | October 2014 www.cqc.org.uk 2

Details about this location

Registered Provider Wiltshire Council

Registered Manager Ms Susan Gray

Overview of the 
service

Bradbury House provides planned and emergency short 
term respite care for up to ten people with a learning 
disability, some of whom may have additional physical care 
needs. All accommodation is on the ground floor and in 
single rooms. There are shared recreational rooms and 
accessible gardens.

Type of service Care home service without nursing

Regulated activity Accommodation for persons who require nursing or personal
care

Page 676



| Inspection Report | Bradbury House | October 2014 www.cqc.org.uk 3

Contents

When you read this report, you may find it useful to read the sections towards the back 
called 'About CQC inspections' and 'How we define our judgements'. 
 

Page

Summary of this inspection:

Why we carried out this inspection 4

How we carried out this inspection 4

What people told us and what we found 4

More information about the provider 6

Our judgements for each standard inspected:

Consent to care and treatment 7

Care and welfare of people who use services 9

Safety and suitability of premises 11

Assessing and monitoring the quality of service provision 12

Complaints 14

About CQC Inspections 15

How we define our judgements 16

Glossary of terms we use in this report 18

Contact us 20

Page 677



| Inspection Report | Bradbury House | October 2014 www.cqc.org.uk 4

Summary of this inspection

Why we carried out this inspection

This was a routine inspection to check that essential standards of quality and safety 
referred to on the front page were being met. We sometimes describe this as a scheduled 
inspection.

This was an unannounced inspection.

How we carried out this inspection

We looked at the personal care or treatment records of people who use the service, 
carried out a visit on 17 September 2014, observed how people were being cared for and 
checked how people were cared for at each stage of their treatment and care. We talked 
with people who use the service, talked with carers and / or family members and talked 
with staff.

What people told us and what we found

An adult social care inspector carried out this inspection. The focus of the inspection was 
to answer five key questions; is the service safe, effective, caring, responsive and well-
led? 

As part of this inspection we spoke with two people who use the service, three relatives, 
the county manager, the team leader, two care staff and a health professional who works 
with the service. We also reviewed records relating to the management of the home which 
included, three support plans, daily care records, risk assessments, audits, policies and 
maintenance logs. 

Below is a summary of what we found. The summary describes what people using the 
service, their relatives and staff told us, what we observed and the records we looked at.

Is the service safe? 

People had been cared for in an environment that was safe, clean and well maintained. 
The design of the home allowed good access to all areas and security measures provided 
safety for people using the service.

Support plans gave guidance and instruction to staff on how to meet people's needs in a 
way which minimised risk for the individual. They ensured that staff had the information 
necessary to support people safely.

CQC monitors the operation of the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards which applies to care
homes. We spoke with the team leader with regard to the recent Supreme Court ruling and
found they were aware of the ruling and had been in contact with the local authority 
deprivation of liberty safeguards (DoLSs) team. There were no DoLS in place at the time 
of this inspection. 

Page 678



| Inspection Report | Bradbury House | October 2014 www.cqc.org.uk 5

Is the service effective? 

People told us that staff helped them to make decisions and ensured they were happy with
what was happening.  One person told us "I can go out by myself, but I like staff with me, 
they help me find my way." and "I am trying to find a job, some staff help me with this". 
Staff we spoke with showed good understanding of people's needs, seeking consent and 
assisting people to make decisions.

We observed staff supporting people in a professional and patient manner. We saw choice
being offered and explanations given. We saw staff engaged with people and they 
responded positively to this interaction by replying or smiling.

Is the service caring? 

We saw people laughing and enjoying the company of the staff supporting them. Staff 
understood how people communicated and how people would express their likes and 
dislikes during their care and support.  

Throughout the inspection we noted people sought advice from staff and had positive 
interactions with them. We saw people being supported to take part in games and interests
as well as routine activities of daily living such as eating and drinking. 

Relatives we spoke with commented positively on the support their loved ones received. 
For example, one relative said: "they (staff) have learnt mannerisms and behaviours by 
watching carefully and can deal with difficult situations with ….."

Is the service responsive?

People's needs had been assessed before they used the service. People's needs were 
reviewed with them and their relatives as appropriate. Records confirmed people's 
preferences, interests, aspirations and diverse needs had been recorded and care and 
support had been provided that met their wishes. People had access to activities that were
important to them.

We spoke with two people and three relatives of people who use the service. They told us 
they could talk to staff if they were unhappy about something. They all said they felt 
confident they would be listened to. People told us they knew how to make a complaint if 
necessary.

The staff we spoke with were knowledgeable about the complaints procedure and 
confirmed how they would support people to make a complaint if necessary. One staff 
member told us: "if a person has a concern they are encouraged to speak up and they are 
listened to and action is taken." 

Is the service well-led?

People and their relatives said they were consulted about their views and they completed 
satisfaction questionnaires. They told us they could approach staff at any time and they felt
listened to. 

The provider had a quality audit system in place. We saw evidence that when issues had 
been identified, they were managed appropriately. 

Page 679



| Inspection Report | Bradbury House | October 2014 www.cqc.org.uk 6

The provider had an effective system in place to identify, assess and manage risks to the 
health, safety and welfare of people who use the service and others related to the delivery 
of care.

You can see our judgements on the front page of this report. 

More information about the provider

Please see our website www.cqc.org.uk for more information, including our most recent 
judgements against the essential standards. You can contact us using the telephone 
number on the back of the report if you have additional questions.

There is a glossary at the back of this report which has definitions for words and phrases 
we use in the report.

Page 680



| Inspection Report | Bradbury House | October 2014 www.cqc.org.uk 7

 

Our judgements for each standard inspected

Consent to care and treatment Met this standard

Before people are given any examination, care, treatment or support, they should 
be asked if they agree to it

Our judgement

The provider was meeting this standard.

Before people received any care or treatment they were asked for their consent and the 
provider acted in accordance with their wishes.

Reasons for our judgement

Before people received any care or treatment they were asked for their consent and the 
provider acted in accordance with their wishes. During the inspection we observed people 
being offered choices and encouraged to make decisions. We saw that where people were
able they had signed to show agreement to their care plan. 

We spoke with people who told us staff helped them to make decisions and ensured they 
were happy with what was happening. One person told us "I can go out by myself, but I 
like staff with me, they help me find my way." and "I am trying to find a job, some staff help
me with this". Staff we spoke with showed good understanding of people's needs, seeking 
consent and assisting people to make decisions.

Staff we spoke with told us they worked with people to ensure care was provided in the 
way they wanted. One said: "we sit with the person and get their views, we get to know 
their expressions and body language so even if they can't talk we can tell if they like or 
dislike something." Another staff member said: "it is important people have a say in their 
support plan, it's about them and not anyone else."

Where people did not have the capacity to consent, the provider acted in accordance with 
legal requirements. Staff had undertaken training on the mental capacity act and those we 
spoke with were able to tell us about the principles of the act. They told us people's 
consent was monitored by observing people's behaviour, body language and facial 
expressions. 

People's capacity to understand the choices and decisions they were making was 
assessed individually and in relation to a specific decision. If people had difficulties in 
making decisions, guidelines were available in the support plans. We saw the plans had 
detailed records to enable staff to support people to communicate and make their own 
decisions whenever possible.  

Page 681



| Inspection Report | Bradbury House | October 2014 www.cqc.org.uk 8

If a person was assessed as not being able to fully understand the decision that needed to
be made, then the provider held a best interest meeting. We saw evidence of one such 
meeting which showed the provider had included family and other professionals involved 
in the individual's care.

Page 682



| Inspection Report | Bradbury House | October 2014 www.cqc.org.uk 9

Care and welfare of people who use services Met this standard

People should get safe and appropriate care that meets their needs and supports 
their rights

Our judgement

The provider was meeting this standard.

Care and treatment was planned and delivered in a way that was intended to ensure 
people's safety and welfare.

Reasons for our judgement

People's needs were assessed and care and treatment was planned and delivered in line 
with their individual support plan. On the day of the inspection eight people were using the 
service at Bradbury House. We looked at three people's support plans and saw people's 
needs were assessed and their care and treatment planned and developed prior to them 
receiving care. The team leader told us they arranged a staged introduction to the service 
which comprised of a number of tea visits and an overnight stay. This ensured the service 
was able to meet the individual needs of people. People using the service and their family 
confirmed they had been involved in the development of their support plan.

Support plans were detailed and personalised providing information for staff responsible 
for implementing and delivering care and support. Risk assessments were personalised 
and supported the plan. Staff told us they had access to support plans and referred to 
them as necessary. One staff member told us: "support plans give us key guidelines to 
follow such as how to promote a person's independence." 

Support plans were reviewed annually or sooner if a person's needs changed. Staff and 
relatives we spoke with confirmed that reviews took place. A member of staff commented 
"if we find something has changed, it's really important to feed this back, communication is
really important." They gave an example of how they had found a person had an area of 
skin damage which had the risk of developing into a pressure ulcer. They told us this had 
been communicated to the team which had enabled a referral to the district nurse. Risk 
assessments had been completed and care practices put into place in order to prevent 
deterioration in the person's skin. A health care professional we spoke with told us staff 
organised reviews and invited them to attend. Appropriate information was provided to 
inform the professional in their work.

Care and treatment was planned and delivered in a way that was intended to ensure 
people's safety and welfare. People's support plans included risk assessments which 
highlighted risks in areas relevant to their support needs and their lifestyle. For example, 
we saw one person had a risk assessment for the use of a specialist piece of equipment 
and another for going swimming. They contained actions to minimise risks and keep 
people safe. We saw that risk assessments were evaluated regularly and new ones were 

Page 683



| Inspection Report | Bradbury House | October 2014 www.cqc.org.uk 10

completed as people's support needs changed. 

We observed staff supporting people in their daily lives. They were professional and 
patient. We saw people laughing and enjoying the company of the staff supporting them. 
Throughout the inspection we noted people sought advice from staff and had positive 
interactions with them.  We saw people being supported to take part in games and 
interests as well as day to day activities such as eating and drinking. Relatives we spoke 
with commented positively on the support their family members received. For example, 
one relative said: "they (staff) have learnt mannerisms and behaviours by watching 
carefully and can deal with difficult situations with X." Another commented: "X is always 
met with smiles, if X's needs have changed it's noted straight away and it goes in X's file 
so everyone knows."

In the records we reviewed we saw each person had a health action plan. A health action 
plan is a guide to a person's health. It describes the person's health and the best ways to 
support them to get the right treatment and heathcare. In each support plan there was also
had a document called a 'Hospital Passport'. This provided essential information about 
each person to ensure healthcare staff would be able to meet their individual needs and 
have knowledge of what was important to that person should they need to go into hospital.

CQC monitors the operation of the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) which applies
to care homes. We found the provider was aware of a recent Supreme Court judgement 
relating to 'deprivation of liberty' and had liaised with the local authority DoLS team. There 
were no DoLS in place at the time of this inspection. 

There were arrangements in place to deal with foreseeable emergencies. An emergency 
plan was available and included plans to manage any unexpected emergencies which may
arise, such as a fire or power failure. This was to ensure that the needs of people who use 
the service would continue to be met before, during and after any emergency. Each 
person who uses the service had a 'Grab and Go' file containing information essential to 
support the person's wellbeing during an emergency.

Page 684



| Inspection Report | Bradbury House | October 2014 www.cqc.org.uk 11

Safety and suitability of premises Met this standard

People should be cared for in safe and accessible surroundings that support 
their health and welfare

Our judgement

The provider was meeting this standard.

People who use the service, staff and visitors were protected against the risks of unsafe or
unsuitable premises.

Reasons for our judgement

The provider had taken steps to provide care in an environment that was suitably designed
and adequately maintained. The home was a one storey building and people had easy 
access to all areas. The building design allowed space for people to use wheelchairs and 
other walking aids.

All areas of the home were well-kept and well maintained. People and relatives told us that
the home was well designed and always clean. One relative said: "… always seems happy
to spend time at Bradbury House. … loves the fact it is spacious."  We found that there 
were no odours and we saw that bedrooms, toilets, bathing areas and communal areas 
were clean and tidy on the day of the inspection. 

The home had use of a maintenance team of three caretakers. This team was shared with 
other homes run by the provider. They were able to respond quickly if any minor repairs 
were required. We saw the maintenance log book which recorded repairs needed. We 
noted they were carried out in a timely manner. Maintenance checks were carried out and 
we saw examples of up to date records of a variety of daily, weekly and monthly checks. 
Examples included water checks and fire detection equipment testing.

We saw work place Health and Safety risk assessments that covered all areas of safety in 
the home. One example related to control of substances hazardous to health (COSHH), 
this had been reviewed along with the other health and safety risk assessments in 
February 2014. We looked at maintenance records and saw that health and safety checks 
were current. Examples included monthly checks on thermostatic water valves, and an 
asbestos survey which had been carried out in May 2014. The provider kept a log of 
servicing and maintenance checks.

The home ensured the people who use the service were secure. Examples of security 
arrangements included key pad access to the reception area and security lighting. The 
home had fire and generic evacuation procedures to be followed in event of emergencies.

Page 685



| Inspection Report | Bradbury House | October 2014 www.cqc.org.uk 12

Assessing and monitoring the quality of service 
provision

Met this standard

The service should have quality checking systems to manage risks and assure 
the health, welfare and safety of people who receive care

Our judgement

The provider was meeting this standard.

The provider had an effective system to regularly assess and monitor the quality of service
that people receive.

The provider had an effective system in place to identify, assess and manage risks to the 
health, safety and welfare of people who use the service and others.

Reasons for our judgement

People who use the service, their representatives and staff were asked for their views 
about their care and treatment and they were acted on. We saw that quality questionnaires
had been completed by people who use the service and their relatives in November 2013. 
We reviewed the survey responses and saw they were mostly positive. One relative had 
commented that their loved one: "always looks forward to spending time at Bradbury 
House."  Another said: "It's such a relief to be able to relax and not worry about ….." 

A member of staff we spoke with told us they had responsibility for telephoning people and
their relatives after they had had a period of respite care at Bradbury House. We saw from 
the records comments were positive. For example: "we are so thankful for all the hard 
work that has gone into X's support and we are outstandingly pleased" and "X had such a 
lovely time and is looking forward to (the) next visit." One relative we spoke with explained 
how a piece of equipment had been adapted to enable their family member to be more 
comfortable when eating. This had come about through discussion and suggestions made 
to the staff.

The team leader told us that meetings were held for staff on a regular basis of four to six 
weekly. We saw the minutes of meetings held in June and July 2014. Items discussed 
were relevant and focussed on the service and included health and safety, staff training 
and updates on issues related to delivery of care. A staff survey had been conducted in 
January 2014, this produced many positive comments about working at Bradbury House. 
However, it also indicated staff were uncertain of their future. We asked the team leader 
about this and they told us at the time the survey had been conducted there were 
concerns over contracts. They told us this was now more settled and staff we spoke with 
did not share any further concerns with us.

The team leader said the service had an open door policy so people, their relatives and 
staff could bring any concerns, worries or issues and discuss them. Staff we spoke with 

Page 686



| Inspection Report | Bradbury House | October 2014 www.cqc.org.uk 13

confirmed this and told us they were asked for their views on the service, they said they 
felt listened to and supported in their work. 

There was evidence that learning from incidents / investigations took place and 
appropriate changes were implemented. We saw accident and incident forms were 
completed fully, detailing what had happened, what had been done and how the situation 
had been managed afterwards. These reports were sent to the provider's health and safety
manager for further monitoring of trends. Where risks and trends were identified an action 
plan was created to address and rectify the issues identified. Records we reviewed 
showed appropriate actions had been taken to reduce the risks of recurrence. For 
example, following a slip on a wet floor, cleaning staff had received training in the 
importance of using signage to alert people. 

A quality audit was conducted every quarter by a manager of another service run by the 
provider. This audit considered all aspects of the service on a rotational basis. For 
example, support records, financial records, health and safety and staff supervision. We 
reviewed the audits conducted in February and May 2014. We noted that issues raised as 
a result of the audit had been addressed.

Page 687



| Inspection Report | Bradbury House | October 2014 www.cqc.org.uk 14

Complaints Met this standard

People should have their complaints listened to and acted on properly

Our judgement

The provider was meeting this standard.

There was an effective complaints system available.

Reasons for our judgement

People were made aware of the complaints system. This was provided in a format that met
their needs. We spoke with people who use the service and their relatives who told us they
had no complaints about the service but knew how to complain if they needed to. One 
person said: "if I had a complaint I would talk to the staff, yes, they listen to me." A relative 
told us they had made a complaint a number of years ago and it had been dealt with 
satisfactorily but had not had reason to complain since. They went on to explain they had 
open and frank conversations with the staff and felt they were listened to.

The provider had arrangements in place to deal with concerns and complaints. There was 
a written complaints policy in place and on the day of the inspection we noted there were 
copies of the complaints policy on the notice board in the communal area. We spoke with 
the team leader who told us about the complaints policy and informed us the last complaint
had been received on 29 December 2013. We reviewed the complaints log and saw this 
complaint had been investigated and responded to in accordance to the provider's policy.

The staff we spoke with were knowledgeable about the complaints procedure and 
confirmed how they would support people to make a complaint if necessary. We saw the 
complaints policy was available in an easy to read format and staff told us this was useful 
when supporting people to raise concerns. One staff member told us: "if a person has a 
concern they are encouraged to speak up and they are listened to and action is taken." 

Page 688



| Inspection Report | Bradbury House | October 2014 www.cqc.org.uk 15

About CQC inspections

We are the regulator of health and social care in England.

All providers of regulated health and social care services have a legal responsibility to 
make sure they are meeting essential standards of quality and safety. These are the 
standards everyone should be able to expect when they receive care.

The essential standards are described in the Health and Social Care Act 2008 (Regulated 
Activities) Regulations 2010 and the Care Quality Commission (Registration) Regulations 
2009. We regulate against these standards, which we sometimes describe as "government
standards".

We carry out unannounced inspections of all care homes, acute hospitals and domiciliary 
care services in England at least once a year to judge whether or not the essential 
standards are being met. We carry out inspections of other services less often. All of our 
inspections are unannounced unless there is a good reason to let the provider know we 
are coming.

There are 16 essential standards that relate most directly to the quality and safety of care 
and these are grouped into five key areas. When we inspect we could check all or part of 
any of the 16 standards at any time depending on the individual circumstances of the 
service. Because of this we often check different standards at different times.

When we inspect, we always visit and we do things like observe how people are cared for, 
and we talk to people who use the service, to their carers and to staff. We also review 
information we have gathered about the provider, check the service's records and check 
whether the right systems and processes are in place.

We focus on whether or not the provider is meeting the standards and we are guided by 
whether people are experiencing the outcomes they should be able to expect when the 
standards are being met. By outcomes we mean the impact care has on the health, safety 
and welfare of people who use the service, and the experience they have whilst receiving 
it.

Our inspectors judge if any action is required by the provider of the service to improve the 
standard of care being provided. Where providers are non-compliant with the regulations, 
we take enforcement action against them. If we require a service to take action, or if we 
take enforcement action, we re-inspect it before its next routine inspection was due. This 
could mean we re-inspect a service several times in one year. We also might decide to re-
inspect a service if new concerns emerge about it before the next routine inspection.

In between inspections we continually monitor information we have about providers. The 
information comes from the public, the provider, other organisations, and from care 
workers.

You can tell us about your experience of this provider on our website.

Page 689



| Inspection Report | Bradbury House | October 2014 www.cqc.org.uk 16

How we define our judgements

The following pages show our findings and regulatory judgement for each essential 
standard or part of the standard that we inspected. Our judgements are based on the 
ongoing review and analysis of the information gathered by CQC about this provider and 
the evidence collected during this inspection.

We reach one of the following judgements for each essential standard inspected.

 Met this standard This means that the standard was being met in that the 
provider was compliant with the regulation. If we find that 
standards were met, we take no regulatory action but we 
may make comments that may be useful to the provider and 
to the public about minor improvements that could be made.

 Action needed This means that the standard was not being met in that the 
provider was non-compliant with the regulation. 
We may have set a compliance action requiring the provider 
to produce a report setting out how and by when changes 
will be made to make sure they comply with the standard. 
We monitor the implementation of action plans in these 
reports and, if necessary, take further action.
We may have identified a breach of a regulation which is 
more serious, and we will make sure action is taken. We will 
report on this when it is complete.

 Enforcement 
action taken

If the breach of the regulation was more serious, or there 
have been several or continual breaches, we have a range of
actions we take using the criminal and/or civil procedures in 
the Health and Social Care Act 2008 and relevant 
regulations. These enforcement powers include issuing a 
warning notice; restricting or suspending the services a 
provider can offer, or the number of people it can care for; 
issuing fines and formal cautions; in extreme cases, 
cancelling a provider or managers registration or prosecuting
a manager or provider. These enforcement powers are set 
out in law and mean that we can take swift, targeted action 
where services are failing people.

Page 690



| Inspection Report | Bradbury House | October 2014 www.cqc.org.uk 17

How we define our judgements (continued)

Where we find non-compliance with a regulation (or part of a regulation), we state which 
part of the regulation has been breached. Only where there is non compliance with one or 
more of Regulations 9-24 of the Regulated Activity Regulations, will our report include a 
judgement about the level of impact on people who use the service (and others, if 
appropriate to the regulation). This could be a minor, moderate or major impact.

Minor impact - people who use the service experienced poor care that had an impact on 
their health, safety or welfare or there was a risk of this happening. The impact was not 
significant and the matter could be managed or resolved quickly.

Moderate impact - people who use the service experienced poor care that had a 
significant effect on their health, safety or welfare or there was a risk of this happening. 
The matter may need to be resolved quickly.

Major impact - people who use the service experienced poor care that had a serious 
current or long term impact on their health, safety and welfare, or there was a risk of this 
happening. The matter needs to be resolved quickly

We decide the most appropriate action to take to ensure that the necessary changes are 
made. We always follow up to check whether action has been taken to meet the 
standards.

Page 691



| Inspection Report | Bradbury House | October 2014 www.cqc.org.uk 18

Glossary of terms we use in this report

Essential standard

The essential standards of quality and safety are described in our Guidance about 
compliance: Essential standards of quality and safety. They consist of a significant number
of the Health and Social Care Act 2008 (Regulated Activities) Regulations 2010 and the 
Care Quality Commission (Registration) Regulations 2009. These regulations describe the
essential standards of quality and safety that people who use health and adult social care 
services have a right to expect. A full list of the standards can be found within the 
Guidance about compliance. The 16 essential standards are:

Respecting and involving people who use services - Outcome 1 (Regulation 17)

Consent to care and treatment - Outcome 2 (Regulation 18)

Care and welfare of people who use services - Outcome 4 (Regulation 9)

Meeting Nutritional Needs - Outcome 5 (Regulation 14)

Cooperating with other providers - Outcome 6 (Regulation 24)

Safeguarding people who use services from abuse - Outcome 7 (Regulation 11)

Cleanliness and infection control - Outcome 8 (Regulation 12)

Management of medicines - Outcome 9 (Regulation 13)

Safety and suitability of premises - Outcome 10 (Regulation 15)

Safety, availability and suitability of equipment - Outcome 11 (Regulation 16)

Requirements relating to workers - Outcome 12 (Regulation 21)

Staffing - Outcome 13 (Regulation 22)

Supporting Staff - Outcome 14 (Regulation 23)

Assessing and monitoring the quality of service provision - Outcome 16 (Regulation 10)

Complaints - Outcome 17 (Regulation 19)

Records - Outcome 21 (Regulation 20)

Regulated activity

These are prescribed activities related to care and treatment that require registration with 
CQC. These are set out in legislation, and reflect the services provided.

Page 692



| Inspection Report | Bradbury House | October 2014 www.cqc.org.uk 19

Glossary of terms we use in this report (continued)

(Registered) Provider

There are several legal terms relating to the providers of services. These include 
registered person, service provider and registered manager. The term 'provider' means 
anyone with a legal responsibility for ensuring that the requirements of the law are carried 
out. On our website we often refer to providers as a 'service'.

Regulations

We regulate against the Health and Social Care Act 2008 (Regulated Activities) 
Regulations 2010 and the Care Quality Commission (Registration) Regulations 2009.

Responsive inspection

This is carried out at any time in relation to identified concerns.

Routine inspection

This is planned and could occur at any time. We sometimes describe this as a scheduled 
inspection.

Themed inspection

This is targeted to look at specific standards, sectors or types of care.

Page 693



| Inspection Report | Bradbury House | October 2014 www.cqc.org.uk 20

Contact us

Phone: 03000 616161

Email: enquiries@cqc.org.uk

Write to us 
at:

Care Quality Commission
Citygate
Gallowgate
Newcastle upon Tyne
NE1 4PA

Website: www.cqc.org.uk

Copyright Copyright © (2011) Care Quality Commission (CQC). This publication may 
be reproduced in whole or in part, free of charge, in any format or medium provided 
that it is not used for commercial gain. This consent is subject to the material being 
reproduced accurately and on proviso that it is not used in a derogatory manner or 
misleading context. The material should be acknowledged as CQC copyright, with the
title and date of publication of the document specified.

Page 694



20141001 v1 00 Summary inspection report 

 

 
 
 

Wiltshire Council 

Wiltshire Council Adult Placement 
Scheme 
Inspection summary 
CQC carried out an inspection of this care service on 07 August 2014. This is a 
summary of what we found. 
 

Overall rating for this service Good  

Are services at this location safe? 

reccident and emergency 

Good 

 

 

Are services at this location effective? Good 

 

 

Are services at this location caring? Good 

 

 

Are services at this location responsive? Good 

 

 

Are services at this location well-led?  Good 
 
 

 

 

This was an announced inspection which meant the provider knew we would be visiting. This was 
because we wanted to make sure the registered manager would be available to support our 
inspection, or someone who could act on their behalf. The previous inspection was conducted in 
November 2013, we found no concerns at that time. 
 
There was a registered manager in post at Wiltshire Adult Placement Service (The service is currently 
being renamed Wiltshire Shared lives service). A registered manager is a person who has registered 
with the Care Quality Commission to manage the service and has the legal responsibility for meeting 
the requirements of the law; as does the provider. 
 
People using the service were supported by adult placement carers. Wiltshire Adult Placement Service 
offers long-term support to people who are unable to live independently in their own home but would 
like to live with other people in a family orientated setting. The service also offers short-term ‘respite’ 
placements for people whose family or carers may require a break or as a stepping stone for someone 
returning to the community after being in hospital. The service provides a small amount of placements 
to people living semi-independently within the community. This is called family-kinship and offers 
people an advice and guidance service. 
 
Services provided were for adults who may have a range of needs including people with learning 
disabilities, people with acquired head injuries, older people and people who use mental health 
services. At the time of our inspection there were 33 people using the service. 
 
People using the service told us they were supported to live as independently as was possible for 
them. The adult placement service officers conducted regular review meetings to ensure that people’s 
safety was always a part of an on-going monitoring process. 
 

CQC is the independent regulator of all health 
and social care in England. We are given 

powers by the government to register, monitor 
and inspect all health and care services. 

Page 695



20141001 v1 00 Summary inspection report 

 

 
 

People using the service told us they felt “good” about using the service and the way it worked for 
them. People were able to have organised visits before making a choice about whether this was the 
placement for them. All of the people we spoke with, both people using the service and adult 
placement carers said the service was very effective in achieving the outcome of providing a 
good life to people. People said they thought the service worked hard to match people with the correct 
placement. 
 
The adult placement service officers and adult placement carers said they felt supported and had 
received sufficient training and information which supported them to fulfil their roles. Adult placement 
carers undertook a rigorous induction programme before being approved by an independent panel. 
Adult placement carers could not have anyone living with them until they had been approved. 
 
Health and social care professionals who worked with the service spoke positively about the service 
provided. These included social workers and community nurses who supported people accessing the 
service. They felt it was a person centred service which provided a great deal of support to people 
using it. 
 
The adult placement service officers and the registered manager monitored the quality of care and 
support. Officers met with adult placement carers regularly to discuss the placement and what was 
working well or not. People using the service took part in yearly reviews and were encouraged to 
feedback on the care and support they received. 

Summary of findings 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

You can ask your care service for the full report, or find it on our website 
at www.cqc.org.uk or by telephoning 03000 616161 

Page 696

http://www.cqc.org.uk/


       

Wiltshire Council 

 
Cabinet 
 
16 December 2014 
 
 

Subject:       Closure of the Independent Living Fund (ILF) in June 
2015 

 

Cabinet member: Keith Humphries – Public Health, Protection Services, 
Adult Care and Housing (excluding strategic housing) 

 

Key Decision: Yes 
 

 

Executive Summary 

 
The Independent Living Fund (ILF) provides funding for disabled people to live   
in their own homes. Often people receive funding from both their Local 
Authority and ILF. It has been decided to close the ILF and transfer full 
responsibility for supporting these customers to Local Authorities from 1st July 
2015. This paper describes the impact that will have on those customers and 
on Wiltshire Council, and information about how this transfer will happen. 
 

 

 

 
Proposal(s)  

 
The main considerations for Wiltshire Council in this transfer of responsibilities 
are: 

• Assessments of 71 Wiltshire ILF recipients 

• Transfer of funding 

• Transitional Protection 
  
There are financial risks involved in this transfer and we won’t know the full 
costs of the support we will need to fund until after the reassessments have 
taken place. The proposal is to complete reassessments between January 
and March 2015, in order to give ILF recipients enough time to make any 
required alternative arrangements in time for 1st July 2015. It is not our 
intention to fund any transitional payments. 
 
The reason for the closure of the ILF is to enable all customers with a 
disability to be supported by one social care system (through their Local 
Authority) to ensure a more equitable and streamlined service. Therefore the 
transfer of funds will go into the baseline budget for adult social care which will 
be funding the support for these customers after 1st July 2015. 
 

Recommendations: 
 

• Cabinet notes the closure of the ILF and the need to ensure people 
with a disability are treated equably in Wiltshire 

 

• Cabinet agrees the ILF budget transfer to the Adult Care base budget 
Page 697

Agenda Item 11(b)



 

• Cabinet requests an update following the completion of assessments, 
including a report on any potential transitional arrangements required 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Reason for Proposal 
 
Wiltshire Council needs to work in a transparent and equitable way, to meet 
eligible social care needs, whilst managing the potential financial pressures that 
this transfer may cause. 
 
 

 

Maggie Rae 
Corporate Director 

 

Page 698



 

 

Wiltshire Council 
 
Cabinet 
 
16 December 2014  
 

 
Subject:   Closure of the Independent Living Fund (ILF) in June 2015 
 
Cabinet member:  Keith Humphries – Public Health, Protection Services, Adult 

Care and Housing (excluding strategic housing) 
  
Key Decision:  Yes 

 
Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 The Independent Living Fund (ILF) is a discretionary trust managed by the 

Department for Work and Pensions which provides funding to allow disabled 
people to live independently. It works alongside, but outside of, the mainstream 
care and support system. Almost all ILF users receive support from both 
systems, but under different eligibility and charging systems. 

 
1.2 The ILF was permanently closed to new applicants in December 2010. The 

Government consulted on the best way for those currently using the fund to 
become part of local social care arrangements and decided to close the fund in 
March 2015. This initial decision to close the fund was quashed by the High 
Court due to a lack of evidence that the Government had properly considered 
the impact of the closure on their Public Sector Equality Duty. A new decision 
was announced on 6th March 2014 to close the fund on 30th June 2015 and from 
that point local authorities in England, in line with their statutory responsibilities, 
will have sole responsibility for meeting the eligible care and support needs of 
current ILF users. 

 
1.3 The reason for the closure of the ILF is to enable all customers with a disability 

to be supported by one social care system (through their Local Authority) to 
ensure a more equitable and streamlined service. 

 
1.4 The funding transferred to Local Authorities from the Department of Work and 

pensions will go into the baseline budget for Wiltshire Council adult social care, 
which will be supporting and funding these customers from 1st July 2015. 

 
1.5 Some people currently in receipt of support funded through ILF will find that their 

support will reduce once Local Authorities take over full responsibility for meeting 
their social care needs. These changes won’t be apparent until after those 
people are assessed. 

 
1.6 The purpose of this report is to provide information about the closure of the ILF 

and to consider the potential impact on customers and on Wiltshire Council.  
 
 
 

Page 699



 

 

 
Relevance to the Council’s Business Plan 
 

2.1  The work that Wiltshire Council will need to do to work with ILF users following the 
Government’s decision to close the ILF fits within one of our key priorities and one 
of our top 12 actions to meet those priorities, “to protect those who are most 
vulnerable”. 

 
 Main Consideration for the Council 

 
3.1 Assessments: The ILF is reviewing all ILF users across the country (more than 

17,000 people). 71 of these ILF users live in Wiltshire. Within Wiltshire some 
reviews that have happened so far have also involved Wiltshire Council staff. This 
enables the individual to discuss with both organisations the potential implications 
to them of the closure of the ILF fund. 

 
3.2 The ILF review is not a means to agree a new support plan. Wiltshire Council 

Adult Care is planning to start a programme of reassessments in January 2015, to 
enable the process of agreeing new support plans that will be implemented from 
1st July 2015. These reassessments will need to be undertaken in accordance 
with the new Care Act national eligibility criteria.  

 
3.3 It is expected that some packages of support will reduce in monetary value as part 

of this process as the eligibility criteria for ILF support is different to the eligibility 
criteria for social care support. However the DoH has made it clear that working in 
a personalised way and focussing with individuals on the outcomes to be 
achieved, is a way of mitigating the impact of this change. 

 
3.4 To further mitigate the impact, it is also essential that all ILF users and their 

representatives have a clear understanding of how their eligible support needs will 
be met from 1st July 2015 as any changes to support packages need to take into 
account the impact on employees and care providers and ensure that the ILF user 
is able to meet his or her contractual and legal obligations, for example, make 
redundancy payments and give notice periods.   

 
3.5 It is therefore proposed that all reassessments will be undertaken between 

January and March 2015, and will be personalised and outcome focussed, and all 
ILF users will receive a Personal Budget following reassessment – this will enable 
support plans to be as flexible as possible to meet outcomes, whilst ensuring that 
eligible needs are met. 

 
3.6 If it is agreed that an ILF recipient will need to make an employee redundant as a 

result of these changes, they will be supported by their social workers to make the 
relevant request for support from the ILF before it closes. 

 
3.7 It is also proposed that the individual care manager will remain allocated to them 

during the transition, and will undertake a review of support arrangements within 
six months of the reassessment to ensure that the support plan is working well.
  

 
3.8 Transfer of funds: There will be a transfer of funds from DWP to Local Authorities 

via the Department of Communities and Local Government for 2015/2016.  

Page 700



 

 

 
3.9  Local Authorities should be informed about the value of this grant by the end of 

December 2014. 
 
3.10 The grant will come to Local Authorities as a Section 31 grant in June/July 2015. 
 
3.11 The grant will be allocated to the baseline budget for Wiltshire Council adult care. 

This is because the reason why ILF is being abolished is to create a more 
equitable and streamlined system of social care support, delivered through Local 
Authorities, which means that adult care will take over the support and funding 
for these customers. 

 
3.12 In this current financial year ILF funding for Wiltshire residents totals just over 

£1.3 million. 
 
3.13 All ILF users make a personal financial contribution towards their ILF support 

which is separate to their Local Authority financial contribution. As of September 
2014, the total that Wiltshire ILF users contribute to their ILF support is £209,000 
per year.  

 
3.14 Therefore if Wiltshire Council was required to fund the total amount of support 

currently being funded through ILF and ILF contributions, the total cost would be 
£1.5 million. It is anticipated that Wiltshire will receive its portion of the ILF 
money, however the shortfall resulting from peoples’ contributions ceasing would 
present a financial pressure. 

 
3.15 This financial shortfall may be mitigated by the expectation that some ILF 

recipients will receive less support from adult care than they are currently being 
funded for through the ILF. Once ILF recipients have been assessed we will 
know what the cost of their ongoing support will be to Wiltshire Council, and 
whether this presents any cost pressure. 

 
3.16 Eligibility Differences: Because the ILF operates under different eligibility 

criteria to local authorities, ILF funding sometimes meets needs that would be 
assessed by local authorities as being ‘low’ or ‘moderate’ within the current 
eligibility framework and therefore those ILF users will not be eligible for the 
same level of support once ILF ends 

 
3.17 The Care Act 2014 introduces new national eligibility criteria with a minimum 

threshold that all local authorities must meet. It is anticipated that this national 
threshold will be set as a similar level to the current thresholds in Wiltshire. 
There will however be a new emphasis on ‘wellbeing’ within the criteria 

 
3.18 Therefore many people in receipt of ILF are concerned that, once all their 

support is provided by local authorities, their support packages will be reduced 
and it is anticipated that this will be the case for some individuals. Some 
examples of concern are: 

 

• ILF fund book keeping time for ILF recipients to support them to manage 
their funding 
 

Page 701



 

 

• 44 Wiltshire ILF recipients employ personal assistants. There is concern that 
they may be paying them above the rate that Wiltshire Council would fund. 
There is also considerable concern about the financial impact of having to 
make personal assistants redundant if the ILF recipient is no longer entitled 
to this support. 

 

• For some the level of change could be considerable, for example, 
approximately 30 Wiltshire ILF users use their funding to purchase 24 hour 
care however their level of eligible need following LA reassessment may not 
enable them to continue with this level of support 

 
3.19 There is therefore a strong lobby for ILF recipients to be given transitional 

protection against some of the anticipated reductions in support. The 
Government guidance is clear that some support packages will be reduced and 
also suggests that any transitional protection to an individual’s support plan be 
agreed only on an individual basis. This transitional protection could take the 
form of: 

 

• Commitment to fund existing support for a period of time before implementing 
changes 

• Support to fund impact of changes, for example, redundancy costs of personal 
assistants 
 

3.20 It is difficult to estimate the impact the changes will have on people’s lives 
without undertaking the reassessments. Nottinghamshire County Council 
undertook an assessment of 22 of its ILF recipients. In 16 of those cases, there 
would be no proposed change to support (and therefore the local authority will 
have to fund the total current package). 3 cases would require CHC 
assessments (and, if not eligible, again the local authority will have to fund the 
total current package), 3 would experience changes, with one confirmed 
reduction in support – the changes would include reduced support with extra 
cleaning and social time.  

 
3.21 This very small study identified that changes would potentially impact on 14% of 

recipients. Although somewhat reassuring for ILF recipients, this has implications 
for local authorities where the transfer of funding won’t cover the full cost of 
current ILF packages. 

 
3.22 Paying redundancy costs of employees/personal assistants is of particular 

concern to ILF recipients.  The ILF has been clear in its guidance that employing 
a personal assistant means that the ILF recipient becomes an employer, with all 
the responsibilities that entails, including being responsible for paying tax, NI 
contributions, and sick pay and so on, and is required to take out employers’ 
liability insurance. They are therefore responsible for meeting redundancy costs. 

 
3.23 However the ILF does have a means of supporting recipients with redundancy 

payments in specific circumstances. This is dependent on the reason for 
redundancy and this support may not be available for all, or cover all costs, and 
so there may still be some people who will struggle financially to meet their 
employer responsibilities as a result of this change.  

 

Page 702



 

 

3.24 By completing support plans by March 2015, ILF recipients will be able to make a 
timely application to the ILF if they need financial support, as well as give their 
employee the required notice. The social workers completing the assessments 
will need to ensure that ILF recipients are clear about how to make the relevant 
applications for support in these circumstances. 

 
3.25 There will already be cost pressures associated with the Care Act; supporting ILF 

recipients above their eligible needs would add further cost pressure. Our 
intention is to complete all support plans in time for relevant adjustments to 
packages to be made in time for the transfer on 1st July 2015. We therefore have 
no plan to fund transitional protection. 

 
Background 
 
4.1 Within Wiltshire there are 71 adults with disabilities who receive funding from the 

ILF. 
 
4.2   Of those 71 people 70 also receive a service from Wiltshire Council (this means 

there is only one ILF customer in Wiltshire we don’t already provide some 
support to). 

 
4.3 The types of disabilities that ILF recipients have (as provided by the ILF) is as 

follows: 
 

Brain damage (inc head injury) 6 

Cerebral Palsy 12 

Cerebro-vascular (inc stroke) 2 

Down's syndrome 3 

Motor Neurone Disease 2 

Multiple Sclerosis 13 

Muscular Dystrophy or Atrophy 3 

Other 2 

Severe learning disability 13 

Spina bifida 3 

Spinal injury 12 

 

10 live in the East Locality area 

12 live in the South locality area  

26 live in the North Locality area 

23 live in the West Locality area 

 
4.4 The ILF caseload is made up of Group 1 users and Group 2 users  
 
4.5 Group 1 users are those who applied to the original ILF fund set up in 1988 and 

did not require a contribution to their support from their local authority. 

Page 703



 

 

 
4.6 Group 2 users are those who applied for ILF funding when the fund was 
reconstituted in 1993. The key difference is that Group 2 users have care packages 
which include a minimum of between £200 and £340 per week contributed by their 
local authority.  
 
4.7 Within Wiltshire there are: 
   

11 Group 1 users - these have all given ILF permission to share 
their details with Wiltshire Council 
 

60 Group 2 users 
 

 
  
Safeguarding Implications 
 
5.  If Wiltshire Council does not work with ILF and ILF recipients following the 

Government’s decision to close the ILF, there is potential that individuals will be 
left at risk as their critical and substantial needs may not be met after April 2015. 

 
Public Health Implications 
 
6.  It is important that ILF users are supported to make the best decisions and are 

enabled to exercise informed choice throughout this process. Equitable 
distribution of support for all users is to be preferred. An emphasis on wellbeing 
for all users will support the best interest principles, and ensure that support 
offered is holistic.    

 
Corporate Procurement Implications 
 
7.  No implications identified 
 
Equalities Impact of the Proposal 
 

8.1  Wiltshire Council is required to implement the decision to close the ILF. 

 

8.2  It is recognised that this decision will affect people with a disability who are in 
receipt of ILF. To mitigate the impact and address the concerns raised, Wiltshire 
Council will: 

• Manage the work within one team. 

• Communicate the information about how the reassessments will be done with 
all ILF recipients. 

• Provide the opportunity for ILF recipients to find out about other sources of 
support available. 

• Focus on outcomes with people. 

• Ensure reassessments and new support plans are agreed by March 2014 to 
give sufficient time for people to make changes to support if required. 

 

8.3  It is also recognised that the closure of the ILF will mean that all people with a 

Page 704



 

 

disability living in Wiltshire will thereafter be supported within a single system, 
which will ensure fairness and equity across the county.  

 
8.4  Three meetings have been facilitated by Wiltshire Centre for Independent Living 

with Wiltshire Council Managers to discuss the changes, listen to concerns and 
provide updates. Further communication with ILF recipients is intended, 
including arranging a market place event where ILF recipients can meet to 
discuss other sources of support available 

 
Environmental and Climate Change Considerations  
 
9. No implications identified 
 
Risk Assessment 
 
10.1 If people aren’t happy with the level of support they will be offered after July 

2015, there is the potential for large numbers of disputes and complaints that will 
need managing, possibly March - June 2015 being a key time as change 
becomes imminent for the ILF users.  

 
10.2 The council will need to ensure that the work associated with ILF reviews and 

disputes is undertaken in a consistent way as failure to approach this in a 
consistent way could open the Council up to challenge. As one operational team 
will be undertaking the reassessments (the Reassessment Team), there is 
opportunity for there to be consistency in the assessment process and for this 
risk to be minimised. 

 
10.3 There is a financial risk to Wiltshire Council if the whole package of support is 

continued by Wiltshire Council as, even if the whole of the ILF funding is 
transferred across, Wiltshire Council will also need to pick up the cost of the 
individual’s ILF personal contribution. The estimated cost of those ILF 
contributions is £209,000 per year.  

 
10.4 There is a financial risk as the process for transfer of funding is still not clear. 
 
10.5 As individuals highlight concerns about their situations, there is likely to be media 

interest. 
 
Risks that may arise if the proposed decision and related work is not taken 
 
11.1 If relevant work is not undertaken to ensure that new support plans are agreed 

and in place from July 2015, individuals will be left at risk of not having their 
eligible needs met and Wiltshire Council will be placed at financial risk due to 
having to continue to fund ILF funded support 

 
11.2 Not undertaking the work places the reputation of Wiltshire Council at risk and 

opens up the Council to legal challenge as people will not be treated equally and 
Wiltshire Council is not behaving reasonably and fairly. There is potential for 
media interest. 

 
 

Page 705



 

 

Risks that may arise if the proposed decision is taken and actions that will be 
taken to manage these risks 
 
12.1 There will be a need for adult care to undertake the work in a way that provides a 

consistent approach to all ILF users and this will need to be communicated to 
ILF users.  

 
12.2 Disputes will need to be resolved in a timely way to ensure that ILF users aren’t 

left at risk and to ensure that Wiltshire Council will not be funding ineligible needs 
after July 2015, whilst a dispute is being resolved. 

 
Financial Implications 
 
13.1 As described above, in the current financial year ILF funding for Wiltshire 

residents totals just over £1.3 million and contributions made by those ILF 
recipients to their support totals £209,000.  

 
13.2 The financial risks of the closure of the ILF are not yet confirmed because: 
 

• We do not yet know the total funding that will be transferred to us next year, 
although we are expecting this to be out portion of the ILF budget; 

• Final costs associated with this transfer will not be known until all of the ILF 
users have been reassessed against the new eligibility criteria. 

 
13.3 Mitigating factors are: 
 

• It is the intention that all Local Authorities will be informed about the value of 
their transfer of funds by the end of December 2014. 

• All reassessments will be completed by March 2015, enabling us to  
understand by then the total cost of supporting ILF recipients after 1st July 
2015. 

• The timescales planned should provide enough time to put any required 
alternative support arrangements in place (give notice to contracts or 
employees, make applications for support to pay redundancy costs and so 
on). We are not anticipating funding any transitional costs. 

• The transfer of funds will go into the baseline budget for adult social care. 
 

13.4 Funding for subsequent years will be agreed through the established local 
authority budget process. 

 
Legal Implications 
 
14.1 New national minimum eligibility criteria will come in to force 1st April 2015. 

Everyone should be assessed against this. 
 
14.2 The draft Personalisation Policy promotes taking a case by case approach to 

support plans and eligibility. That is, having support plans that meet an 
individual’s outcomes rather than a one size fits all approach, so the costs of 
support will depend on individual situations and circumstances and we may fund 
one thing for one person but not for another as a consequence of this. We would 
not be complying with this policy if we don’t undertake the work in this way. 

Page 706



 

 

 
Options Considered 
 
15.1 No options to consider 
 
Conclusions 
 
16.1 The closure of the ILF fund is inevitable and Wiltshire Council needs to agree 
how it will work with ILF users to reduce risks but provide equitable levels of support. 
There are financial risks involved, as well as risks to the Council’s reputation. 
 
16.2 Recommendations: 

 

• Cabinet notes the closure of the ILF and the need to ensure people with a 
disability are treated equably in Wiltshire 

 

• Cabinet agrees the ILF budget transfer to the Adult Care base budget 
 

• Cabinet requests an update following the completion of assessments, 
including a report on any potential transitional arrangements required 

 
 
James Cawley 

        Associate Director, Adult Care Commissioning, Safeguarding and Housing 
 

 
Report Author: Emma Townsend 
 
Contracts and Commissioning Lead, Specialist Commissioning Team, Adult Care and 
Housing 
 
emma.townsend@witlshire.gov.uk 
 
6th November 2014 
 
Background Papers 
 
The following unpublished documents have been relied on in the preparation of this 
report: None 
 

Page 707



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 708



Wiltshire Council 
 
Cabinet 
 
16 December 2014 

 
 
Subject:  Council Tax Base 2015/16 
 
Cabinet member: Councillor Dick Tonge - Finance, Performance, Risk, 

Procurement and Welfare Reform 
 
Key Decision:  Yes 
 

 
 

Executive Summary 
 
The Council is required to approve its Council Tax Base annually, in 
accordance with the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and The Local 
Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) Regulations 1992. 
 
The Council Tax Base 2015/2016 has to be notified to Major (the Office of the 
Police & Crime Commissioner for Wiltshire & Swindon and Wiltshire Fire and 
Rescue Service) and Local (Town and Parish Councils) Precepting Authorities 
by 31 January 2015.   

 

Proposal 
 
That Cabinet to: 
 

• Consider and approve the Council Tax Base 2015/2016. 
 

• Note that the recommended overall collection rate remains at 99.50% 
which reflects current expectations for collection. 

 

Reason for Proposal 
 
Before the Council Tax can be set by the Council in February 2015 a 
calculation has to be made and approved of the Council Tax Base, which is 
an annual requirement as laid out in the Local Government Act.  

 
 

Carolyn Godfrey 
Corporate Director 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 709

Agenda Item 12



Wiltshire Council 
 
Cabinet 
 
16 December 2014 

 
 
Subject:  Council Tax Base 2015/16 
 
Cabinet member: Councillor Dick Tonge - Finance, Performance, Risk, 

Procurement and Welfare Reform 
 
Key Decision:  Yes 
 

 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. To ensure that the Council Tax Base for 2015/2016 is approved by Cabinet. 
 
Background 
 
2. The Council Tax Base is the taxable capacity of an area (e.g. Wiltshire) or 

part of an area (e.g. a Parish/Town Council). 
 

3. The County of Wiltshire is split into 2 primary taxable areas: the Wiltshire 
Area and the Swindon Area. Wiltshire Council is responsible for setting the 
Council Tax Base for the Wiltshire Area whilst Swindon Borough Council is 
responsible for setting the Council Tax Base for the Swindon Area. 
 

4. The Council Tax Base 2015/2016 has to be notified to Major (the Office of 
the Police & Crime Commissioner for Wiltshire & Swindon and Wiltshire Fire 
and Rescue Service) and Local (Town and Parish Councils) Precepting 
Authorities by 31 January 2015.   

 
Council Tax Base Calculation 
 
5. This is a two stage process: 
 
Completion of CTB1 Form to Central Government 
 
6. The starting point for the calculation is the list of properties and their tax 

band as at 8 September 2014 which has been supplied to the Council by 
the external Valuation Office, which is an executive agency of HM Revenue 
& Customs (HMRC). 

 
7. The list is broken down into Town and Parish order and then adjusted to 

allow for various discounts, reductions and exemptions, for each band, 
which it holds on 6 October 2014. These include: 

 

• Properties which will be entirely exempt so no tax is payable e.g. those 
occupied entirely by students. 

Page 710



• Properties which will attract a 25% reduction e.g. those with a single 
adult occupier. 

• Properties which will attract a 50% reduction e.g. those where all of the 
adult residents qualify for a reduction (certain Care Homes for 
example). 

• Properties which will be treated as being in a lower band because they 
have been adapted for a severely disabled person.  

• Properties which will be on the valuation list but which attract discounts 
or disablement relief or are exempt, for only part of the year. 

• Properties which are in receipt of local council tax support 
 

8. This results in an estimate of the number of full year equivalents within each 
band. 

 
9. Each band is then converted into "band D equivalents" by applying the 

factor laid down by legislation. 
 

Band A B C D E F G H 

Ratio 6/9 7/9 8/9 9/9 11/9 13/9 15/9 18/9 

 
(For example, a band A property is multiplied by 6 and divided by 9 to arrive 
at the “band D equivalent” figure, whilst a band H property is multiplied by 
18 and divided by 9 (equal to multiplying by 2). All these are then added 
together to give a total of “band D equivalents”). 

 
10. The total is then adjusted in respect of class O exempt dwellings (MOD 

properties).   
 

11. This final figure provides a tax base that is submitted to Central 
Government by 17 October 2014. The form was previously used in 
calculating Revenue Support Grant allocations but this is no longer the 
case. 
 

Adjusting CTB1 Tax Base to set Council Tax Base for 2015/2016 
 
12. Additions are made to the tax base for estimates of newly built and 

occupied properties in 2015/2016 and the remaining part of 2014/2015. 
 
13. The Council is then required to decide what its collection rate is likely to be 

and multiply its relevant tax base by this percentage to give its Council Tax 
Base.  In 2014/2015 the Council set its collection rate at 99.50% with an 
adjusted collection rate of 80% where local council tax support reductions 
(discounts) in respect of working age claimants was applied. For 2015/2016 
this report recommends that it is prudent to retain both collection rates at 
99.50% and 80% as this reflects current expectations for collection.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 711



14. The following table summarises the calculation: 
 

 Wiltshire Council Taxbase  
(Number of band D Equivalent 
Properties) 

Approved Council Tax Base 
2014/2015 

167,334.47 

Council Tax Base 2015/2016:  

Council Tax Base per CTB1 
Form (as at 17 October 2014) 

172,016.90 

Adjustment for New Builds 1,632.10 

Adjustment for Collection Rate (2,806.51) 

Council Tax Base 2015/2016 170,842.49 

 
 
15. To calculate the Band D Council Tax for the Council, the Council Tax Base 

is divided into the Council's council tax requirement. This will be finalised 
during January and February, culminating in the Council Tax and overall 
budget being set by Council on 24 February 2014. This date is subject to 
the Council being notified of the major precepting requirements. 

 
16. An estimate of the surplus or deficit on the Council Tax Collection Fund has 

to be made, by law, on or before 15 January 2015. Council Tax surplus or 
deficits will be credited or charged to Wiltshire Council,  the Office of the 
Police & Crime Commissioner for Wiltshire & Swindon and Wiltshire Fire 
and Rescue Service in proportion to their precepts, and will be taken into 
account in setting the 2015/2016 Revenue Budget and Council Tax levels. 

 
17. The Council Tax Base 2015/2016 for the whole of the Wiltshire Area broken 

down for each Town and Parish is set out in Appendix A. The Council Tax 
Base for the Wiltshire Area for 2015/2016 is 170,842.49 band D equivalent 
properties (167,334.47 in 2014/2015). 

 
Main Considerations for the Council 
 
18. The calculation of the Council Tax Base for the year 2015/2016 has to be 

approved. 
 
19. The Chief Finance Officer is given delegated authority to determine the 

estimated Collection Fund balance as at 31 March 2015 by 15 January 
2015.       
 

Risk Assessment 
 
20. There is a low risk that the Council has overestimated the number of band 

D properties. However assumptions on new builds and their occupation are 
prudent and controls are in place to ensure large variations are 
investigated. 

 
21. There is a low risk that the actual collection rate of Council Tax due is less 

than the anticipated level because of the current economic conditions.  This 

Page 712



risk has been assessed within this report has been reflected in the light of 
previous experience. 

 
Equalities and diversity impact of the proposals 
 
22. None have been identified as arising directly from this report. 
 
Financial Implications 
 
23. The financial implications are outlined in the report. 
 
24. The Council Tax Base is used to calculate the level of Council Tax for the 

financial year 2015/2016. 
 

Legal Implications 
 
25. The legal implications are outlined in the executive summary of the report. 
 
Public Health Implications 
 
26. None have been identified as arising directly from this report. 
 
Environmental Implications 
 
27. None have been identified as arising directly from this report. 
 
Safeguarding Implications 
 
28. None have been identified as arising directly from this report. 
 
Assumptions 
 
29. Assumptions assessed were as follows: 

 
a. Determination of number of band D properties (equivalent). 
b. Estimation of new property completions. 
c. Variation in discounts awarded and property exemptions. 
d. Assumption on the level of MOD contribution based on occupancy. 
e. Estimation of number of  band D properties (equivalent) in respect of 

second homes and long term empty properties to add back into the 
Council Tax Base. 

f. Estimation of number of band D properties (equivalent) receiving 
Council Tax Support to reduce from the Council Tax Base. 

g. Consideration on effect of varying levels of collection rate. 
 
Options Considered 
 
30. The setting of the Council Tax Base is not optional, it is a legal requirement. 

 
 
 

 

Page 713



Conclusions 
 
31. Having taken all of the above into account, the Council Tax Base for 

2015/2016 be approved and set as 170,842.49 band D equivalent 
properties. 

 
Michael Hudson - Associate Director Finance 
 

 
 
Report Author: Stuart Donnelly 
Date of report: 6 November 2014 
 
Background Papers 
 
The following unpublished documents have been relied on in the preparation of 
this report: None 
 
Appendices: Appendix A – Council Tax Base for Wiltshire Council 2015/2016   

Page 714



Appendix A

Wiltshire Council Tax Base 2015/2016 

Parish / Town

 2015/2016 

Band D Tax 

Base  Parish / Town

 2015/2016 

Band D Tax 

Base  

Aldbourne Parish Council 770.38       Chirton Parish Council 172.07       

Alderbury Parish Council 929.22       Chitterne Parish Council 132.17       

All Cannings Parish Council 255.85       Cholderton Parish Council 85.01         

Allington Parish Council 189.00       Christian Malford Parish Council 346.18       

Alton Parish Council 107.77       Chute Forest Parish Council 88.31         

Alvediston Parish Meeting 46.87         Chute Parish Council 168.71       

Amesbury Town Council 3,517.22    Clarendon Park Parish Council 110.66       

Ansty Parish Council 70.67         Clyffe Pypard Parish Council 143.52       

Ashton Keynes Parish Council 665.12       Codford Parish Council 334.31       

Atworth Parish Council 476.32       Colerne Parish Council 930.59       

Avebury Parish Council 218.03       Collingbourne Ducis Parish Council 364.40       

Barford St Martin Parish Council 195.24       Collingbourne Kingston Parish Council 213.66       

Baydon Parish Council 283.11       Compton Bassett Parish Council 107.28       

Beechingstoke Parish Council 62.53         Compton Chamberlayne Parish Council 58.41         

Berwick Bassett & W/Bourne Monkton Parish Council 87.75         Coombe Bissett Parish Council 344.72       

Berwick St James Parish Council 74.19         Corsham Town Council 4,364.97    

Berwick St John Parish Council 129.83       Corsley Parish Council 333.92       

Berwick St Leonard Parish Council 15.52         Coulston Parish Council 81.59         

Biddestone Parish Council 246.58       Cricklade Town Council 1,505.80    

Bishops Cannings Parish Council 772.63       Crudwell Parish Council 498.99       

Bishopstone Parish Council 267.87       Dauntsey Parish Council 248.23       

Bishopstrow Parish Council 63.18         Devizes Town Council 3,787.69    

Bowerchalke Parish Council 172.78       Dilton Marsh Parish Council 674.42       

Box Parish Council 1,460.10    Dinton Parish Council 287.97       

Boyton Parish Council 85.85         Donhead St Andrew Parish Council 244.31       

Bradford On Avon Town Council 3,767.78    Donhead St Mary Parish Council 458.37       

Bratton Parish Council 491.71       Downton Parish Council 1,247.02    

Braydon Parish Council 27.36         Durnford Parish Council 173.83       

Bremhill Parish Council 451.47       Durrington Town Council 2,115.83    

Brinkworth Parish Council 590.69       East Kennett Parish Council 50.76         

Britford Parish Council 187.33       East Knoyle Parish Council 336.31       

Broad Hinton & W/Bourne Bassett Parish Council 380.84       Easterton Parish Council 232.08       

Broad Town Parish Council 261.25       Easton Grey Parish Council 42.19         

Broadchalke Parish Council 314.64       Easton Royal Parish Council 136.82       

Brokenborough Parish Council 99.50         Ebbesbourne Wake Parish Council 100.05       

Bromham Parish Council 752.81       Edington Parish Council 324.60       

Broughton Gifford Parish Council 335.73       Enford Parish Council 247.98       

Bulford Parish Council 1,186.68    Erlestoke Parish Council 88.78         

Bulkington Parish Council 118.21       Etchilhampton Parish Council 71.17         

Burbage Parish Council 754.06       Everleigh Parish Council 89.24         

Burcombe Parish Council 61.87         Figheldean Parish Council 220.39       

Buttermere Parish Council 30.89         Firsdown Parish Council 275.47       

Calne Town Council 5,337.54    Fittleton Parish Council 102.45       

Calne Without Parish Council 1,106.55    Fonthill Bishop Parish Council 42.24         

Castle Combe Parish Council 166.67       Fonthill Gifford Parish Council 54.84         

Chapmanslade Parish Council 297.38       Fovant Parish Council 314.66       

Charlton Parish Council 228.25       Froxfield Parish Council 142.64       

Charlton St Peter & Wilsford Parish Council 80.93         Fyfield & West Overton Parish Council 387.12       

Cherhill Parish Council 345.59       Grafton Parish Council 331.03       

Cheverell Magna (Great Cheverell) Parish Council 244.11       Great Bedwyn Parish Council 548.43       

Chicklade Parish Council 36.09         Great Hinton Parish Council 100.69       

Chilmark Parish Council 229.86       Great Somerford Parish Council 363.97       

Chilton Foliat Parish Council 189.62       Great Wishford Parish Council 133.13       

Chippenham Town Council 11,465.93  Grimstead Parish Council 271.52       

Chippenham Without Parish Council 86.17         Grittleton Parish Council 270.00       

Page 715



Appendix A

Wiltshire Council Tax Base 2015/2016 

Parish / Town

 2015/2016 

Band D Tax 

Base  Parish / Town

 2015/2016 

Band D Tax 

Base  

Parish / Town

 2015/2016 

Band D Tax 

Base  Parish / Town

 2015/2016 

Band D Tax 

Base  

Ham Parish Council 105.75       North Wraxall Parish Council 205.80       

Hankerton Parish Council 149.39       Norton & Foxley Parish Meeting 63.58         

Heddington Parish Council 189.00       Norton Bavant Parish Council 55.12         

Heytesbury & Knook Parish Council 330.45       Oaksey Parish Council 226.31       

Heywood Parish Council 290.38       Odstock Parish Council 245.34       

Hilmarton Parish Council 302.01       Ogbourne St Andrew Parish Council 184.17       

Hilperton Parish Council 1,814.20    Ogbourne St George Parish Council 214.03       

Hindon Parish Council 224.47       Orcheston Parish Council 102.12       

Holt Parish Council 661.02       Patney Parish Council 60.78         

Horningsham Parish Council 155.26       Pewsey Parish Council 1,452.17    

Hullavington Parish Council 478.26       Pitton & Farley Parish Council 358.96       

Idmiston Parish Council 870.34       Potterne Parish Council 572.39       

Keevil Parish Council 229.90       Poulshot Parish Council 152.00       

Kilmington Parish Council 131.50       Preshute Parish Council 82.39         

Kington Langley Parish Council 353.25       Purton Parish Council 1,724.79    

Kington St Michael Parish Council 297.85       Quidhampton Parish Council 146.54       

Lacock Parish Council 482.88       Ramsbury Parish Council 907.32       

Landford Parish Council 571.00       Redlynch Parish Council 1,530.82    

Langley Burrell Parish Council 169.03       Roundway Parish Council 1,950.08    

Latton Parish Council 230.79       Rowde Parish Council 483.11       

Laverstock & Ford Parish Council 2,579.44    Royal Wootton Bassett Town Council 4,226.50    

Lea & Cleverton Parish Council 395.76       Rushall Parish Council 73.30         

Leigh Parish Council 136.62       Salisbury City Council 13,820.27  

Limpley Stoke Parish Council 289.48       Savernake Parish Council 134.52       

Little Bedwyn Parish Council 130.24       Seagry Parish Council 161.57       

Little Cheverell Parish Council 78.70         Sedgehill & Semley Parish Council 279.01       

Little Somerford Parish Council 182.79       Seend Parish Council 510.33       

Longbridge Deverill Parish Council 379.97       Semington Parish Council 376.62       

Luckington Parish Council 293.81       Shalbourne Parish Council 319.70       

Ludgershall Town Council 1,330.07    Sherrington Parish Council 34.92         

Lydiard Millicent Parish Council 738.67       Sherston Parish Council 694.53       

Lydiard Tregoze Parish Council 207.37       Shrewton Parish Council 722.03       

Lyneham & Bradenstoke Parish Council 1,452.02    Sopworth Parish Council 63.61         

Maiden Bradley Parish Council 131.06       South Newton Parish Council 225.99       

Malmesbury Town Council 1,896.44    South Wraxall Parish Council 217.77       

Manningford Parish Council 185.59       Southwick Parish Council 712.16       

Marden Parish Council 52.82         St Paul Without 945.08       

Market Lavington Parish Council 731.14       Stanton St Bernard Parish Council 82.83         

Marlborough Town Council 3,171.08    Stanton St Quintin Parish Council 256.05       

Marston Meysey Parish Council 108.62       Stapleford Parish Council 135.06       

Marston Parish Council 76.52         Staverton Parish Council 652.89       

Melksham Town Council 4,382.93    Steeple Ashton Parish Council 425.03       

Melksham Without Parish Council 3,121.00    Steeple Langford Parish Council 232.69       

Mere Parish Council 1,119.81    Stert Parish Council 90.05         

Mildenhall Parish Council 212.48       Stockton Parish Council 78.48         

Milston Parish Council 53.58         Stourton Parish Council 96.41         

Milton Lilbourne Parish Council 260.23       Stratford Tony Parish Council 29.02         

Minety Parish Council 672.66       Sutton Benger Parish Council 467.73       

Monkton Farleigh Parish Council 168.50       Sutton Mandeville Parish Council 136.47       

Netheravon Parish Council 381.60       Sutton Veny Parish Council 306.94       

Netherhampton Parish Council 194.75       Swallowcliffe Parish Council 101.88       

Nettleton Parish Council 326.45       Teffont Parish Council 141.79       

Newton Toney Parish Council 165.30       Tidcombe & Fosbury Parish Council 54.33         

Page 716



Appendix A

Wiltshire Council Tax Base 2015/2016 

Parish / Town

 2015/2016 

Band D Tax 

Base  Parish / Town

 2015/2016 

Band D Tax 

Base  

North Bradley Parish Council 672.55       Tidworth Town Council 2,038.77    

North Newnton Parish Council 188.46       Tilshead Parish Council 133.58       

Page 717



Appendix A

Wiltshire Council Tax Base 2015/2016 

Parish / Town

 2015/2016 

Band D Tax 

Base  Parish / Town

 2015/2016 

Band D Tax 

Base  

Parish / Town

 2015/2016 

Band D Tax 

Base  Parish / Town

 2015/2016 

Band D Tax 

Base  

Tisbury Parish Council 893.69       Whiteparish Parish Council 685.06       

Tockenham Parish Council 114.24       Wilcot & Huish Parish Council 264.09       

Tollard Royal Parish Council 63.88         Wilsford-cum-Lake Parish Council 52.23         

Trowbridge Town Council 10,226.12  Wilton Town Council 1,273.21    

Upavon Parish Council 450.10       Wingfield Parish Council 185.00       

Upper Deverills Parish Council 166.57       Winsley Parish Council 903.84       

Upton Lovell Parish Council 90.72         Winterbourne Parish Council 554.84       

Upton Scudamore Parish Council 135.97       Winterbourne Stoke Parish Council 82.56         

Urchfont Parish Council 490.43       Winterslow Parish Council 874.28       

Warminster Town Council 5,707.03    Woodborough Parish Council 139.74       

West Ashton Parish Council 306.24       Woodford Parish Council 228.35       

West Dean Parish Council 103.81       Wootton Rivers Parish Council 127.68       

West Knoyle Parish Council 63.23         Worton Parish Council 257.68       

West Lavington Parish Council 449.11       Wylye Parish Council 203.40       

West Tisbury Parish Council 267.91       Yatton Keynell Parish Council 365.68       

Westbury Town Council 4,494.73    Zeals Parish Council 256.76       

Westwood Parish Council 470.72       Total Tax Base 170,842.49

Page 718



 
  

 

Wiltshire Council 
 
Cabinet       
 
16 December 2014 

 
Subject:                   Revenue Budget Monitoring Period 7 2014/2015 
 
Cabinet Member:  Cllr Dick Tonge – Finance, Performance, Risk, 

Procurement and Welfare Reform  
 
Key Decision:  No 
 

 

Executive Summary 
 

This report advises members of the revenue budget monitoring position as at the 

end of Period 7 (end of October 2014) for the financial year 2014/2015 with 

suggested actions as appropriate. 

 

Overall therefore the forecasts suggest a £5.309 million overspend if no further 

action is taken. This is 1.6% of the Council’s net budget.  The purpose of budget 

monitoring is to identify such risks in order to allow management to address issues. 

This time last year a £5.684 million overspend was forecast and action taken to 

correct that ensured a balanced budget at year end. Action is currently being 

assessed to identify areas where savings can be made. An updated position will be 

reported to Cabinet in the next budget monitoring report for period 9 (December). 

 
It is forecast that a balanced budget will be achieved by 31 March 2015.  

 

The year-end general fund reserve balance is projected to be £10.965 million. This 

is in line with the Council’s financial plan and recommendations by the Section 151 

Officer.  

 

Proposal 
Cabinet is asked to note the outcome of the period 7 (end of October) budget 
monitoring. 

 

Reason for Proposal 

To inform effective decision making and ensure a sound financial control 

environment.  

 
 

Carolyn Godfrey 

Corporate Director  

Page 719

Agenda Item 13(a)



 
  

 

Wiltshire Council 
 
Cabinet       
 
16 December 2014 

 
Subject:                   Revenue Budget Monitoring Period 7 2014/2015 
 
Cabinet Member:  Cllr Dick Tonge – Finance, Performance, Risk, 

Procurement and Welfare Reform  
 
Key Decision:  No 
 

 

Purpose Of Report 
 
1. To advise members of the revenue budget monitoring position as at the end of 

period 7 (end of October 2014) for the financial year 2014/2015 with suggested 
actions as appropriate. 

 
Background 
 
2. The Council set the 2014/2015 budget at its meeting on 25 February 2014. The 

report focuses on forecast exceptions to meeting the original budget and 
actions required to balance it. Comprehensive appendices showing the 
individual service headings are included in Appendix C. More details on any 
revisions to the original base budgets in year are also included in the report. 
 

Summary 
 

3. The projected year end position for the relevant accounts is set out as follows: 
 

  

Revised 
Budget 
Period 7 

Profiled 
Budget 
to date 

Actual 
to date 

Projected 
Position 
for Year 

Projected 
Overspend/ 

(Underspend) 

Overspend/ 

(Underspend) 

reported at 

period 4 

Movement 

since 

period 4 

  £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m 

£ m £ m 

General 
Fund Total 333.063 349.740 271.058 338.372 5.309 1.770 3.539 

Housing 
Revenue 
Account (1.322) (8.909) (7.232) (1.822) (0.500) (0.500) 0.000 

 
 
4. Budget expenditure is not always spent in equal amounts each month. The 
profiled budget above shows the anticipated budget at the end of period 7. The 
main variance is due to a large amount of grant income due to be received by 
schools in period 12.  

 

Page 720



 
  

 

General Fund Monitoring Update 
 
5. Finance has continued to monitor budgets, with budget managers, with a focus 
on the budgets assessed to be subject to a higher risk of volatility due to factors 
such as changes in demand or assumptions. This has identified the areas where 
costs have risen quicker than forecast.  
 

6. Budget monitoring is an ongoing process and budgets and expenditure are 
reviewed between budget managers and accountants regularly, on a risk based 
approach. As part of continual service improvement, accountancy in process of 
refining the budget reporting process to enhance consistency and timeliness. As 
part of this review these reports exclude commitments in the actual spend 
column, to better show a consistent position. However, known commitments are 
taken into account in calculating the projected position for the year.  
 

7. The period 7 report shows more detailed information and includes a number of 
smaller variances. Full details of service area figures are included in Appendix C.  
 

8. As in previous reports, this report will target large variances and the managerial 
actions arising to help to ensure a balanced budget at year end. As per last year, 
Budget Monitoring reports to members will be taken to Cabinet to cover the 
periods 4, 7, 9 and year end outturn. 
 

Budget Movements in Period 

 

9. There have been a number of budget movements in the period. These are due to 
budget virements and structural changes since the report for budget setting in 
February 2014. A full trail is shown in appendix A. 
 

10. Further details of major virements in the period are included in appendix B. 
 
General Fund Monitoring Details 

 
11. Overall the majority of services spend is in line with budget profiles and forecasts. 
There are a very small number of services which have identified larger variances 
at this stage of the year than originally planned. Service Directors are seeking 
compensating actions to bring these back in line.  

 
12. Overall the period 7 report identifies potential cost pressures of £5.309 million.  
 
Adult Social Care 
 
13. Adult Social Care services are currently projected to overspend by £2.106 million. 
A full review of adult care budgets is ongoing to enable monitoring of care 
budgets in terms of activity and cost.  Current indications are that activity is 
broadly in line with targets with increased packages for care at home and 
reduced residential and nursing placements.  Unit costs are higher than budgeted 
for and this may reflect the increased complexity of those placements that are 
being made. 

Page 721



 
  

 

 
14. Funding allocated at budget setting for demographic growth have not yet been 
allocated across care budgets in full and is being held within the Resources 
Strategy & Commissioning budget.  Growth funding will be allocated to support 
key demographic pressures and to support the priorities within the Better Care 
Plan.  
 

Children’s Social Care 
 

15. Children’s Social Care budgets are projected to overspend by £0.330 million.  
The key risk identified is the cost of agency staff.  The recent decision to support 
recruitment of permanent staff through the application of Market Supplements 
should mitigate against increased numbers of agency staff and it is expected that 
agency costs will reduce during the year. This is after a draw from reserves of 
£0.9 million which was approved by members at period 4. 

 
16. Placements budgets for Looked After Children are not currently projected to 
overspend.  Monitoring of activity indicates that there is an increase in in-house 
foster care placements compared with the budget and a reduction in residential 
and agency foster care placements although unit costs for residential placements 
are higher than budgeted. 

 
Waste 
 
17. Waste is currently forecasting an overspend of £2.700 million. This mainly relates 
to additional costs of waste disposal during the year. Work is ongoing to fully 
clarify the volumes and costs in 2014/2015 financial year. 

 
Legal & Governance 
 
18. Legal & Governance is currently forecasting an overspend of £0.500 million. This 
is mainly due to higher than anticipated spending on agency staff and locums as 
a result of a lack of success in recent recruitment efforts. 

 

Corporate 

19. The Movement on Reserves variance of £0.9 million represents £0.9 million draw 
for Children’s Social Care and approved by members in July 2014.  
 

20. Capital financing is forecast to be £1.0 million underspent at the year end. This is 
partly due to a high level of reprogramming of expenditure after the budget was 
set in February 2014. This reduced spend means there is a reduced planned 
requirement to borrow funds during 2014/2015, reducing the revenue costs of 
servicing the debt.  
 

21. Restructure and Contingency shows an underspend of £0.636 million. There are 
£4 million of savings to be found in the Redundancy and Contingency line. These 
savings will be manifested on the service lines when they occur, so savings can 

Page 722



 
  

 

be allocated during the year.  The savings identified are continually being 
reviewed for robustness and to look for other potential savings.  

 
22. Overall, therefore, the period 7 report identifies potential cost pressures of £5.309 
million.  

 
Housing Revenue Account Monitoring Update 
 
23. Budget figures on the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) have been reviewed as 
part of the regular monitoring process.  

 
24. The HRA is forecast to be £0.500 million underspent on its revenue budgets. This 
is primarily caused by an underspend on the repairs and maintenance function. 
This area is currently being reviewed to realign the budgets going forward.  

 
DEBT MANAGEMENT 
 
25. The following table includes Council’s main areas of debt. This table will be 
expanded in the next monitoring report for outturn. This will include details of 
aged debt and description of the areas of debt. 

 

Type of Debt 

Net Debit 
raised for 

year 

Unpaid Debt to 
End of October 

2014 

Value of debt 
over 1 year 

old 

Bad Debt 
provision 

brought 
forward 

  £ million £ million £ million £ million 

Council Tax 262.759 11.573 5.918 2.594 

Business Rates 144.308 3.545 1.336 0.928 

General Fund N/A 22.184 3.320 2.924 

 
Included in General Fund Debt is £10.5 million of NHS debt. £8.4m raised in June 
2014 with the majority of the remainder raised in October 2014. This £8.4m was paid 
in November, after the end of period 7. 
 
26. The latest monitoring for Council Tax and Business Rates shows that the amount 

and percentage of tax/rates due is below the amount collected for this time last 

year as show in the graphs below. 

 

27. The year on year decrease in Council Tax collection rates is mainly due to 

Council Tax payers being able to schedule their payments over 12 months rather 

than 10. 

  

28. Additionally, Business Rates can also be paid over 12 months instead of 10 

months in the prior year. This has meant that the collection rate is lower than last 

year at this stage, however there has not been an increase in non payment from 

payment plans.    

 

Page 723



 
  

 

  

  

            Council Tax                                                     Business Rates 

 
Reserves 
 
29. The tables below provide the forecast as at period 7 on the general fund balance 
held by the Council. The latest forecast on general fund balances currently 
stands at £10.965 million at 31 March 2015.  
 

30. A draw from reserves of £0.900 million was approved by members at the July 
Cabinet to cover the additional spending on Children’s Social Care. 
 

General Fund Reserve £ million £ million 

Balance as at 1 April 2014   (11.865) 

Original Contribution in 2014/2015 (3.200) 
   

Draw from reserves not required per 
outturn 2013/2014 

3.200 
   

Draw from reserves for Children’s Social 
Care 

0.900 
 

Planned over/(under)spend in reserves 
for year. Currently breakeven. 0.000 

Total Forecast movement   0.900 

Forecast Balance 31 March 2015   (10.965) 

 
31. At present it is assumed that all other areas currently overspending will be on line 
by the year end following management action. A review of the assessment of 
need has been undertaken by the Section 151 Officer to link all the General Fund 
balances to risk.  

 
 

0.00
10.00
20.00
30.00
40.00
50.00
60.00
70.00
80.00
90.00

100.00

A
p

ri
l 

M
a

y

Ju
n

e

Ju
ly

A
u

g
u

st

S
e

p
te

m
b

e
r

O
ct

o
b

e
r

N
o

ve
m

b
e

r

D
e

ce
m

b
e

r

Ja
n

u
a

ry

F
e

b
ru

a
ry

M
a

rc
h

% collected

2013/14

2014/15

0.00

10.00

20.00

30.00

40.00

50.00

60.00

70.00

80.00

90.00

100.00 % collected

2013/14

2014/15

Page 724



 
  

 

Overall Conclusions 
 

32. This report has identified a shortfall if no further action is taken on the general 
fund budget of £5.309 million at period 7 due to cost pressures / shortfalls in 
income. Officers are currently taking action to address this and further monitoring 
reports will be brought to Cabinet throughout 2014/2015. 
 

33. The early identification of potential issues is part of sound and prudent financial 
management. Action to address this year’s forecast should be taken where 
officers have the delegated powers to do so and this is underway. 

 
Implications  

 
34. This report informs member’s decision making. 

 
Risks assessment 

 
35. If the Council fails to take actions to address forecast shortfalls, overspends or 
increases in its costs it will need to draw on reserves. The level of reserves is 
limited and a one off resource that cannot thus be used as a long term 
sustainable strategy for financial stability. Budget monitoring and management, of 
which this report forms part of the control environment, is a mitigating process to 
ensure early identification and action is taken.  
 

Equalities and diversity impact of the proposals 
 

36. None have been identified as arising directly from this report. 
 

Financial implications 
 

37. This is a report from the Chief Finance Officer and the financial implications are 
discussed in the detail of this report. It is forecast that a balanced budget will be 
achieved by 31 March 2015.  
 

Legal Implications 
 

38. None have been identified as arising directly from this report. 
 
Public Health Implications 
 
39. None have been identified as arising directly from this report. 
 
Environmental Implications 
 
40. None have been identified as arising directly from this report. 
 
Safeguarding Implications 
 

Page 725



 
  

 

41. Safeguarding remains a key priority for the Council and this report reflects the 
additional investment for 2014/2015 to support the ongoing spend in looked after 
children and safeguarding. 
 
 
Michael Hudson 
Associate Director - Finance 

 
 
Background Papers  

None 
 
Contact Name: 
Michael Hudson, Associate Director Finance, ext 13601 
michael.hudson@wiltshire.gov.uk 
 
Report Author: Matthew Tiller, Chief Accountant 
 

Appendices: 
Appendix A: Revenue Budget Movements 2014/2015 
Appendix B: Major Virements between Service Areas from Original budget 
Appendix C: Revenue Budget Monitoring Statements 
Appendix D: Forecast Variance Movements 

Page 726



APPENDIX A

Wiltshire Council Revenue Budget Movements 2014/2015

Structural 

Changes

Revised 

Original 

Budget

In Year 

Virements to 

Period 4

Revised 

Budget 

Period 4

In Year 

Virements to 

Period 7

Revised 

Budget 

Period 7

Major Virements 

See Appendix B

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Adult Social Care Operations

Older People 51.025 0.000 51.025 0.045 51.070 (0.579) 50.491 *

Other Vulnerable Adults 9.016 0.000 9.016 0.648 9.664 0.000 9.664

Learning Disability 39.964 0.000 39.964 1.938 41.902 0.000 41.902

Mental Health 21.602 0.000 21.602 (1.872) 19.730 0.050 19.780

Adult Care Commissioning, Safeguarding & Housing

Resources, Strategy & Commissioning 1.618 0.000 1.618 2.445 4.063 0.000 4.063

Housing Services 4.887 0.000 4.887 0.000 4.887 (0.145) 4.742

Public Health & Public Protection

Public Health Grant 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.250 0.250 0.000 0.250

Other Public Health & Public Protection 3.075 0.216 3.291 0.060 3.351 0.000 3.351

Leisure 2.194 (0.052) 2.142 (0.075) 2.067 (0.100) 1.967
Children's Social Care, Integrated Youth & Preventative 

Services & 0-25 SEN/Disability Service

Children's Social Care 30.332 0.000 30.332 1.606 31.938 0.754 32.692 *

0-25 Service: Disabled Children & Adults 13.038 (0.162) 12.876 (0.098) 12.778 0.217 12.995

Integrated Youth & Preventative Services 2.982 (0.347) 2.635 (0.093) 2.542 0.327 2.869
Quality Assurance, Commissioning & Performance, School 

& Early Years Effectiveness

School Effectiveness 3.227 0.000 3.227 0.198 3.425 (0.861) 2.564 *

Business & Commercial Services (0.861) 0.000 (0.861) 0.000 (0.861) 0.861 0.000 *

Safeguarding 1.236 0.000 1.236 0.098 1.334 0.023 1.357

Funding Schools 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Commissioning & Performance 7.565 0.509 8.074 0.053 8.127 0.222 8.349

Economic Development & Planning Services

Economy & Regeneration 3.245 (0.005) 3.240 0.775 4.015 0.707 4.722 *

Development Services 0.723 0.000 0.723 (0.074) 0.649 0.000 0.649

Highways & Transport

Highways Strategic Services 5.672 0.000 5.672 0.178 5.850 0.000 5.850

Public Transport 10.322 0.000 10.322 0.204 10.526 0.000 10.526

Education Transport 7.862 0.000 7.862 (0.150) 7.712 0.000 7.712

Local Highways & Streetscene 9.741 0.000 9.741 1.724 11.465 0.000 11.465

Car Parking (5.941) 0.000 (5.941) 0.000 (5.941) 0.000 (5.941)

Environment & Leisure

Waste 31.978 0.000 31.978 0.000 31.978 0.000 31.978

Environment Services 5.961 (0.216) 5.745 0.052 5.797 0.000 5.797
Communications, Community Area Boards, Libraries, Arts, 

Heritage & Culture

Communications 1.644 0.000 1.644 0.128 1.772 0.020 1.792

Libraries, Arts, Heritage & Culture 4.954 0.057 5.011 0.104 5.115 0.928 6.043 *

Corporate Function & Procurement

Corporate Function & Procurement 4.956 2.419 7.375 0.052 7.427 (0.364) 7.063

Finance

Finance, Revenues & Benefits, & Pensions 3.178 0.000 3.178 (0.071) 3.107 0.000 3.107

Revenues & Benefits - Subsidy 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Legal & Governance

Legal & Governance 2.710 0.000 2.710 0.000 2.710 0.000 2.710

People & Business Services

Human Resources & Organisational Development 4.079 0.000 4.079 0.182 4.261 0.020 4.281

Business Services 2.016 1.576 3.592 0.075 3.667 0.000 3.667

Facilities Management 14.515 0.000 14.515 0.061 14.576 (1.490) 13.086 *

Information Services 11.946 0.000 11.946 0.000 11.946 0.000 11.946

Corporate Directors

Corporate Directors 0.592 0.000 0.592 0.000 0.592 0.113 0.705

Transformation 3.827 (3.995) (0.168) 0.036 (0.132) 0.920 0.788 *

Corporate

Movement on Reserves 3.200 0.000 3.200 (7.888) (4.688) (0.700) (5.388) *

Capital Financing 24.099 0.000 24.099 0.000 24.099 0.100 24.199

Restructure & Contingency 0.070 0.000 0.070 (0.591) (0.521) (1.023) (1.544) *

General Government Grants (17.429) 0.000 (17.429) 0.000 (17.429) 0.000 (17.429)

Corporate Levys 8.243 0.000 8.243 0.000 8.243 0.000 8.243

2014/2015 Budget Requirement 333.063 0.000 333.063 0.000 333.063 0.000 333.063

HRA Budget (1.322) 0.000 (1.322) 0.000 (1.322) 0.000 (1.322)

331.741 0.000 331.741 0.000 331.741 0.000 331.741

More details are given of major virements and structural movements in Appendix B. These areas are marked above with *

Service

Original 

Budget

Page 727



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 728



Major Virements between Services Areas from Period 4 to Period 7APPENDIX B

Net virements over £500,000

£m

Older People

Movement of emergency duty service to chidren's social services (0.725)

Mental Health budget realignment 0.146

In Year Virements period 4-7 (0.579)

Children's Social Care

Movement of emergency duty service from older people 0.725

Other budget realignments 0.029

In Year Virements period 4-7 0.754

School Effectiveness

Merging of Bussines and Commercial Services into School Effectiveness (0.861)

In Year Virements period 4-7 (0.861)

Business and Commercial Services

Merging of Business and Commercial Services into School Effectiveness 0.861

In Year Virements period 4-7 0.861

Economy and Regeneration

Release of Economic growth from contigency 0.707

In Year Virements period 4-7 0.707

Libraries, Arts, Heritage & Culture

Transfer of campus budget from Transformation and Corporate Office 0.755

Release of Areas Boards money from reserves 0.150

Other budget realignments 0.023

In Year Virements period 4-7 0.928

Faciltiy Management

Movement of property from transformation (1.527)

Other budget realignments 0.037

In Year Virements period 4-7 (1.490)

Transformation

Movement of property to faciltiy management 1.527

Transfer of campus budget to Libriaires, Arts, Heritage & Culture (0.584)

Other budget realignments (0.023)

In Year Virements period 4-7 0.920

Movement to/from Reserves

Release from Earmarked Reserves to other services (0.550)

Release of Areas Boards money from reserves (0.150)

In Year Virements period 4-7 (0.700)

Restructure & Contingency

Release of Economic growth from contigency (0.707)

Release of redundancy provsision to other services (0.392)

Transfer of Transformation budgets 0.192

Other budget realignments (0.116)

In Year Virements period 4-7 (1.023)

Please note, these are only the service movements over £500,000. The sum of all virements balances to zero.

Page 729



APPENDIX B

Page 730



Wiltshire Council Revenue Budget Monitoring Statement: Period 7 

 

  
  

  
  

Original 
Budget 
£m 

Revised 
Budget Period 

7 
£m 

Profiled 
Budget to 
Period 7 
£m 

Actual to date 
Projected 
Position 
 for Year 

Projected 
Variation for 

Year: 
Overspend / 
(Underspend) 

Variation as % 
of Revised 
Budget: 

Overspend / 
(Underspend) 

£m £m £m   

                  

Adult Social Care Operations                 

Older People Gross Costs  60.993   61.999   38.807   36.466   63.012   1.013  1.6% 

  Income (9.968) (11.508) (7.301) (6.916) (11.508) 
                     
-                 -    

  Net  51.025   50.491   31.506   29.550   51.504   1.013  2.0% 

                  

Other Vulnerable Adults Gross Costs  9.603   10.252   6.455   7.509   11.761   1.509  14.7% 

  Income (0.587) (0.588) (0.365) (0.522) (0.588) 
                     
-                 -    

  Net  9.016   9.664   6.090   6.987   11.173   1.509  15.6% 

                  

Learning Disability Gross Costs  42.481   44.419   26.465   28.888   45.235   0.816  1.8% 

  Income (2.517) (2.517) (1.556) (0.957) (2.517) 
                     
-                 -    

  Net  39.964   41.902   24.909   27.931   42.718   0.816  1.9% 

                  

Mental Health Gross Costs  25.241   22.979   14.986   14.098   24.158   1.179  5.1% 

  Income (3.639) (3.199) (2.090) (2.035) (3.199) 
                     
-                 -    

  Net  21.602   19.780   12.896   12.063   20.959   1.179  6.0% 

  
 
 
 
                 

P
age 731



Wiltshire Council Revenue Budget Monitoring Statement: Period 7 

 

  
  

  
  

Original 
Budget 
£m 

Revised 
Budget Period 

7 
£m 

Profiled 
Budget to 
Period 7 
£m 

Actual to date 
Projected 
Position 
 for Year 

Projected 
Variation for 

Year: 
Overspend / 
(Underspend) 

Variation as % 
of Revised 
Budget: 

Overspend / 
(Underspend) 

Adult Care Commissioning, 
Safeguarding & Housing                 

Resources, Strategy & 
Commissioning Gross Costs  1.695   4.491   1.195   1.185   2.080  (2.411) (53.7%) 

  Income (0.077) (0.428) (0.395) (0.832) (0.428) 
                     
-                 -    

  Net  1.618   4.063   0.800   0.353   1.652  (2.411) (59.3%) 

                  

Housing Services Gross Costs  7.848   9.401   5.575   5.991   9.668   0.267  2.8% 

  Income (2.961) (4.659) (2.409) (2.238) (4.659) 
                     
-                 -    

  Net  4.887   4.742   3.166   3.753   5.009   0.267  5.6% 

                  
Public Health & Public 
Protection                 

Public Health Grant Gross Costs  14.587   14.837   10.199   9.196   14.837  
                     
-                 -    

  Income (14.587) (14.587) (10.940) (7.295) (14.587) 
                     
-                 -    

  Net              -     0.250  (0.741)  1.901   0.250  
                     
-                 -    

                  
Other Public Health & Public 
Protection Gross Costs  4.234   4.238   2.500   2.295   4.238  

                     
-                 -    

  Income (1.159) (0.887) (0.597) (0.839) (0.887) 
                     
-                 -    

  Net  3.075   3.351   1.903   1.456   3.351  
                     
-                 -    

P
age 732



Wiltshire Council Revenue Budget Monitoring Statement: Period 7 

 

  
  

  
  

Original 
Budget 
£m 

Revised 
Budget Period 

7 
£m 

Profiled 
Budget to 
Period 7 
£m 

Actual to date 
Projected 
Position 
 for Year 

Projected 
Variation for 

Year: 
Overspend / 
(Underspend) 

Variation as % 
of Revised 
Budget: 

Overspend / 
(Underspend) 

                  

Leisure Gross Costs  7.890   7.030   4.342   3.822   6.490  (0.540) (7.7%) 

  Income (5.696) (5.063) (2.954) (2.866) (4.783)  0.280  (5.5%) 

  Net  2.194   1.967   1.388   0.956   1.707  (0.260) (13.2%) 

                  
Children's Social Care, 
Integrated Youth & 
Preventative Services & 0-25 
SEN/Disability Service                 

Children's Social Care Gross Costs  32.208   34.427   18.835   18.743   34.757   0.330  1.0% 

  Income (1.876) (1.735) (0.515) (0.516) (1.735) 
                     
-                 -    

  Net  30.332   32.692   18.320   18.227   33.022   0.330  1.0% 

                  
0-25 Service: Disabled Children 
& Adults Gross Costs  34.802   36.973   21.256   22.429   36.973  

                     
-                 -    

  Income (21.764) (23.978) (0.990) (0.697) (23.978) 
                     
-                 -    

  Net  13.038   12.995   20.266   21.732   12.995  
                     
-                 -    

                  
Integrated Youth & Preventative 
Services Gross Costs  7.614   7.607   5.374   5.367   7.562  (0.045) (0.6%) 

  Income (4.632) (4.738) (0.621) (0.541) (4.738) 
                     
-                 -    

  Net  2.982   2.869   4.753   4.826   2.824  (0.045) (1.6%) 

                  

P
age 733



Wiltshire Council Revenue Budget Monitoring Statement: Period 7 

 

  
  

  
  

Original 
Budget 
£m 

Revised 
Budget Period 

7 
£m 

Profiled 
Budget to 
Period 7 
£m 

Actual to date 
Projected 
Position 
 for Year 

Projected 
Variation for 

Year: 
Overspend / 
(Underspend) 

Variation as % 
of Revised 
Budget: 

Overspend / 
(Underspend) 

Quality Assurance, 
Commissioning & 
Performance, School & Early 
Years Effectiveness                 

School Effectiveness Gross Costs  7.122   6.302   3.689   3.878   6.302  
                     
-                 -    

  Income (3.895) (3.738) (0.564) (0.910) (3.738) 
                     
-                 -    

  Net  3.227   2.564   3.125   2.968   2.564  
                     
-                 -    

                  
Business & Commercial 
Services Gross Costs (0.841)              -                 -                 -                 -    

                     
-      

  Income (0.020)              -                 -                 -                 -    
                     
-      

  Net (0.861)              -                 -                 -                 -    
                     
-      

                  

Safeguarding Gross Costs  1.389   1.527   0.884   0.891   1.527  
                     
-                 -    

  Income (0.153) (0.170) (0.083) (0.134) (0.170) 
                     
-                 -    

  Net  1.236   1.357   0.801   0.757   1.357  
                     
-                 -    

                  

Funding Schools Gross Costs  280.049   264.750   131.881   58.869   264.750  
                     
-                 -    

  Income (280.049) (264.750) (3.831) (19.508) (264.750)                                   -    

P
age 734



Wiltshire Council Revenue Budget Monitoring Statement: Period 7 

 

  
  

  
  

Original 
Budget 
£m 

Revised 
Budget Period 

7 
£m 

Profiled 
Budget to 
Period 7 
£m 

Actual to date 
Projected 
Position 
 for Year 

Projected 
Variation for 

Year: 
Overspend / 
(Underspend) 

Variation as % 
of Revised 
Budget: 

Overspend / 
(Underspend) 

-    

  Net              -                 -     128.050   39.361               -    
                     
-      

                  

Commissioning & Performance Gross Costs  31.326   32.646   19.896   19.710   32.924   0.278  0.9% 

  Income (23.761) (24.297) (2.373) (0.084) (24.297) 
                     
-                 -    

  Net  7.565   8.349   17.523   19.626   8.627   0.278  3.3% 

                  
Economic Development & 
Planning Services                 

Economy & Regeneration Gross Costs  3.615   5.551   3.149   3.666   5.551  
                     
-                 -    

  Income (0.370) (0.829) (0.484) (0.355) (0.829) 
                     
-                 -    

  Net  3.245   4.722   2.665   3.311   4.722  
                     
-                 -    

                  

Development Services Gross Costs  5.132   5.315   3.100   3.095   5.315  
                     
-                 -    

  Income (4.409) (4.666) (3.054) (3.318) (4.666) 
                     
-                 -    

  Net  0.723   0.649   0.046  (0.223)  0.649  
                     
-                 -    

                  

Highways & Transport                 

Highways Strategic Services Gross Costs  8.282   8.352   4.676   4.186   8.352                                    -    

P
age 735



Wiltshire Council Revenue Budget Monitoring Statement: Period 7 

 

  
  

  
  

Original 
Budget 
£m 

Revised 
Budget Period 

7 
£m 

Profiled 
Budget to 
Period 7 
£m 

Actual to date 
Projected 
Position 
 for Year 

Projected 
Variation for 

Year: 
Overspend / 
(Underspend) 

Variation as % 
of Revised 
Budget: 

Overspend / 
(Underspend) 

-    

  Income (2.610) (2.502) (0.876) (0.814) (2.502) 
                     
-                 -    

  Net  5.672   5.850   3.800   3.372   5.850  
                     
-                 -    

                  

Public Transport Gross Costs  13.974   12.661   7.098   7.565   12.859   0.198  1.6% 

  Income (3.652) (2.135) (1.570) (1.456) (2.135) 
                     
-                 -    

  Net  10.322   10.526   5.528   6.109   10.724   0.198  1.9% 

                  

Education Transport Gross Costs  8.466   8.401   4.030   4.002   8.274  (0.127) (1.5%) 

  Income (0.604) (0.689) (0.740) (0.690) (0.689) 
                     
-                 -    

  Net  7.862   7.712   3.290   3.312   7.585  (0.127) (1.6%) 

                  

Local Highways & Streetscene Gross Costs  10.452   12.057   6.700   3.204   12.107   0.050  0.4% 

  Income (0.711) (0.592) (0.521) (0.496) (0.592) 
                     
-                 -    

  Net  9.741   11.465   6.179   2.708   11.515   0.050  0.4% 

                  

Car Parking Gross Costs  1.725   1.725   1.010   1.066   1.725  
                     
-                 -    

  Income (7.666) (7.666) (4.369) (4.100) (7.516)  0.150  (2.0%) 

  Net (5.941) (5.941) (3.359) (3.034) (5.791)  0.150  (2.5%) 

                  

P
age 736



Wiltshire Council Revenue Budget Monitoring Statement: Period 7 

 

  
  

  
  

Original 
Budget 
£m 

Revised 
Budget Period 

7 
£m 

Profiled 
Budget to 
Period 7 
£m 

Actual to date 
Projected 
Position 
 for Year 

Projected 
Variation for 

Year: 
Overspend / 
(Underspend) 

Variation as % 
of Revised 
Budget: 

Overspend / 
(Underspend) 

Waste & Environment                 

Waste Gross Costs  35.828   35.387   18.258   19.993   38.062   2.675  7.6% 

  Income (3.850) (3.409) (1.941) (1.897) (3.384)  0.025  (0.7%) 

  Net  31.978   31.978   16.317   18.096   34.678   2.700  8.4% 

                  

Environment Services Gross Costs  7.351   7.384   4.465   4.665   7.397   0.013  0.2% 

  Income (1.390) (1.587) (0.978) (0.903) (1.389)  0.198  (12.5%) 

  Net  5.961   5.797   3.487   3.762   6.008   0.211  3.6% 

                  
Communications, Community 
Area Boards, Libraries, Arts, 
Heritage & Culture                 

Communications Gross Costs  1.749   1.872   1.154   1.249   1.872  
                     
-                 -    

  Income (0.105) (0.080) (0.047)              -    (0.080) 
                     
-                 -    

  Net  1.644   1.792   1.107   1.249   1.792  
                     
-                 -    

                  
Libraries, Arts, Heritage & 
Culture Gross Costs  5.983   7.650   4.553   5.501   7.650  

                     
-                 -    

  Income (1.029) (1.607) (0.896) (0.863) (1.607) 
                     
-                 -    

  Net  4.954   6.043   3.657   4.638   6.043  
                     
-                 -    

  
                 

P
age 737



Wiltshire Council Revenue Budget Monitoring Statement: Period 7 

 

  
  

  
  

Original 
Budget 
£m 

Revised 
Budget Period 

7 
£m 

Profiled 
Budget to 
Period 7 
£m 

Actual to date 
Projected 
Position 
 for Year 

Projected 
Variation for 

Year: 
Overspend / 
(Underspend) 

Variation as % 
of Revised 
Budget: 

Overspend / 
(Underspend) 

Corporate Function & 
Procurement                 
Corporate Function & 
Procurement Gross Costs  5.137   7.635   4.872   5.959   7.835   0.200  2.6% 

  Income (0.181) (0.572) (0.355) (0.684) (0.572) 
                     
-                 -    

  Net  4.956   7.063   4.517   5.275   7.263   0.200  2.8% 

                  

Finance                 
Finance, Revenues & Benefits, 
& Pensions Gross Costs  15.885   15.117   8.381   8.732   15.117  

                     
-                 -    

  Income (12.707) (12.010) (5.030) (5.224) (12.010) 
                     
-                 -    

  Net  3.178   3.107   3.351   3.508   3.107  
                     
-                 -    

                  

Revenues & Benefits - Subsidy Gross Costs  118.775   118.775   71.266   71.783   118.525  (0.250) (0.2%) 

  Income (118.775) (118.775) (68.950) (68.950) (118.775) 
                     
-                 -    

  Net              -                 -     2.316   2.833  (0.250) (0.250)   

                  

Legal & Governance                 

Legal & Governance Gross Costs  4.476   4.629   2.506   3.733   5.129   0.500  10.8% 

  Income (1.766) (1.919) (0.982) (1.509) (1.919) 
                     
-                 -    

  Net  2.710   2.710   1.524   2.224   3.210   0.500  18.5% 

                  

P
age 738



Wiltshire Council Revenue Budget Monitoring Statement: Period 7 

 

  
  

  
  

Original 
Budget 
£m 

Revised 
Budget Period 

7 
£m 

Profiled 
Budget to 
Period 7 
£m 

Actual to date 
Projected 
Position 
 for Year 

Projected 
Variation for 

Year: 
Overspend / 
(Underspend) 

Variation as % 
of Revised 
Budget: 

Overspend / 
(Underspend) 

People & Business Services                 
Human Resources & 
Organisational Development Gross Costs  5.820   6.022   3.464   3.358   6.022  

                     
-                 -    

  Income (1.741) (1.741) (1.177) (1.253) (1.741) 
                     
-                 -    

  Net  4.079   4.281   2.287   2.105   4.281  
                     
-                 -    

                  

Business Services Gross Costs  3.854   5.631   3.760   4.608   5.631  
                     
-                 -    

  Income (1.838) (1.964) (1.587) (1.716) (1.964) 
                     
-                 -    

  Net  2.016   3.667   2.173   2.892   3.667  
                     
-                 -    

                  
Strategic Asset & Facilities 
Management Gross Costs  14.870   16.494   12.302   10.870   16.650   0.156  0.9% 

  Income (0.355) (3.408) (2.264) (3.317) (3.477) (0.069) 2.0% 

  Net  14.515   13.086   10.038   7.553   13.173   0.087  0.7% 

                  

Information Services Gross Costs  12.248   13.416   7.828   10.466   13.416  
                     
-                 -    

  Income (0.302) (1.470) (0.613) (0.383) (1.470) 
                     
-                 -    

  Net  11.946   11.946   7.215   10.083   11.946  
                     
-                 -    

                  

P
age 739



Wiltshire Council Revenue Budget Monitoring Statement: Period 7 

 

  
  

  
  

Original 
Budget 
£m 

Revised 
Budget Period 

7 
£m 

Profiled 
Budget to 
Period 7 
£m 

Actual to date 
Projected 
Position 
 for Year 

Projected 
Variation for 

Year: 
Overspend / 
(Underspend) 

Variation as % 
of Revised 
Budget: 

Overspend / 
(Underspend) 

Corporate Directors                 

Corporate Directors Gross Costs  0.619   0.732   0.475   0.516   0.732  
                     
-                 -    

  Income (0.027) (0.027) (0.008) (0.007) (0.027) 
                     
-                 -    

  Net  0.592   0.705   0.467   0.509   0.705  
                     
-                 -    

                  

Transformation Gross Costs  6.895   0.826   0.482   0.471   0.826  
                     
-                 -    

  Income (3.068) (0.038) (0.022)              -    (0.038) 
                     
-                 -    

  Net  3.827   0.788   0.460   0.471   0.788  
                     
-                 -    

                  

Corporate                 

Movement on Reserves    3.200  (5.388) (2.621) (4.488) (4.488)  0.900  (16.7%) 

Capital Financing    24.099   24.199   5.346   4.635   23.199  (1.000) (4.1%) 

Restructure & Contingency    0.070  (1.544) (4.215)  0.211  (2.180) (0.636) 41.2% 

General Government Grants   (17.429) (17.429) (5.437) (6.922) (17.429) 
                     
-                 -    

Corporate Levys    8.243   8.243   4.847   4.422   7.893  (0.350) (4.2%) 

  Net  18.183   8.081  (2.080) (2.142)  6.995  (1.086) (13.4%) 

  
 
 
                 

P
age 740



Wiltshire Council Revenue Budget Monitoring Statement: Period 7 

 

  
  

  
  

Original 
Budget 
£m 

Revised 
Budget Period 

7 
£m 

Profiled 
Budget to 
Period 7 
£m 

Actual to date 
Projected 
Position 
 for Year 

Projected 
Variation for 

Year: 
Overspend / 
(Underspend) 

Variation as % 
of Revised 
Budget: 

Overspend / 
(Underspend) 

Wiltshire Council General 
Fund Total 

Gross 
Costs  877.560   867.591   483.788   415.883   872.316   4.725  0.5% 

  Income (544.497) (534.528) (134.048) (144.825) (533.944)  0.584  (0.1%) 

  Net  333.063   333.063   349.740   271.058   338.372   5.309  1.6% 

                  
Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA) Gross Costs  24.561   24.561   6.023   7.669   24.061  (0.500) (2.0%) 

  Income (25.883) (25.883) (14.932) (14.901) (25.883) 
                     
-                 -    

  Net (1.322) (1.322) (8.909) (7.232) (1.822) (0.500) 37.8% 

                  

Total Including HRA 
Gross 
Costs  902.121   892.152   489.811   423.552   896.377   4.225  0.5% 

  Income (570.380) (560.411) (148.980) (159.726) (559.827)  0.584  (0.1%) 

  Net  331.741   331.741   340.831   263.826   336.550   4.809  1.4% 

 

P
age 741



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 742



Wiltshire Council Forecast Variance Movements Appendix D

Variance Reported 

for Period 4

Movement in 

Period

Variance Reported 

for Period 7

Adult Social Care Operations £m

Older People 1.573 (0.560) 1.013

Other Vulnerable Adults 1.249 0.260 1.509

Learning Disability 0.530 0.286 0.816

Mental Health 0.851 0.328 1.179

Adult Care Commissioning, Safeguarding & Housing

Resources, Strategy & Commissioning (2.447) 0.036 (2.411)

Housing Services 0.000 0.267 0.267

Public Health & Public Protection

Public Health Grant 0.000 0.000 0.000

Other Public Health & Public Protection 0.000 0.000 0.000

Leisure (0.350) 0.090 (0.260)
Children's Social Care, Integrated Youth & Preventative 

Services & 0-25 SEN/Disability Service

Children's Social Care 0.076 0.254 0.330

0-25 Service: Disabled Children & Adults 0.000 0.000 0.000

Integrated Youth & Preventative Services 0.000 (0.045) (0.045)
Quality Assurance, Commissioning & Performance, School & 

Early Years Effectiveness

School Effectiveness 0.000 0.000 0.000

Safeguarding 0.000 0.000 0.000

Funding Schools 0.000 0.000 0.000

Commissioning & Performance 0.000 0.278 0.278

Economic Development & Planning Services

Economy & Regeneration 0.000 0.000 0.000

Development Services 0.000 0.000 0.000

Highways & Transport

Highways Strategic Services 0.000 0.000 0.000

Public Transport 0.500 (0.302) 0.198

Education Transport 0.000 (0.127) (0.127)

Local Highways & Streetscene 0.000 0.050 0.050

Car Parking 0.000 0.150 0.150

Environment & Leisure

Waste 1.000 1.700 2.700

Environment Services 0.000 0.211 0.211
Communications, Community Area Boards, Libraries, Arts, 

Heritage & Culture

Communications 0.000 0.000 0.000

Libraries, Arts, Heritage & Culture 0.000 0.000 0.000

Corporate Function & Procurement

Corporate Function & Procurement 0.000 0.200 0.200

Finance

Finance, Revenues & Benefits, & Pensions 0.000 0.000 0.000

Revenues & Benefits - Subsidy (0.162) (0.088) (0.250)

Legal & Governance

Legal & Governance 0.000 0.500 0.500

People & Business Services

Human Resources & Organisational Development 0.000 0.000 0.000

Business Services 0.000 0.000 0.000

Strategic Asset & Facilities Management 0.500 (0.413) 0.087

Information Services 0.000 0.000 0.000

Corporate Directors

Corporate Directors 0.000 0.000 0.000

Transformation 0.000 0.000 0.000

Corporate

Movement on Reserves 0.900 0.000 0.900

Capital Financing (1.000) 0.000 (1.000)

Restructure & Contingency (0.812) 0.176 (0.636)

General Government Grants (0.638) 0.638 0.000

Corporate Levys 0.000 (0.350) (0.350)

TOTAL FORECAST VARIANCE MOVEMENT 1.770 3.539 5.309

HRA Budget (0.500) 0.000 (0.500)

Page 743



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 744



Wiltshire Council      
 
Cabinet 
 
16 December 2014 
______________________________________________________________ 

 
Subject:    Capital Monitoring Period 7 2014/2015  
 
Cabinet member:   Councillor Dick Tonge 

Finance, Performance, Risk, Procurement & Welfare 
Reform 

 
Key Decision:  No 
______________________________________________________________ 
 
 

Executive Summary  
 
The report details changes to the budget made since the 2014/2015 budget 
was set in February 2014 over and above the changes detailed in the Period 
4 report.  
 
The report reflects the position of the 2014/2015 spend against budget as at 
Period 7 (as at 31 October 2014). 
 

 

Proposal 
 
To note the budget movements undertaken to the capital programme (shown 
in Appendices A and B). 
 

 

Reason for Proposals 
 
To inform Cabinet of the position of the 2014/2015 capital programme as at 
Period 7 (31 October 2014), including highlighting any budget changes. 
 

 

Carolyn Godfrey 
Corporate Director 

Page 745

Agenda Item 13(b)



Wiltshire Council      
 
Cabinet 
 
16 December 2014 
______________________________________________________________ 

 
Subject:    Capital Monitoring Period 7 2014/2015  
 
Cabinet member:   Councillor Dick Tonge 

Finance, Performance, Risk, Procurement & Welfare 
Reform 
 

Key Decision:  No 
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. To inform Cabinet on the position of the 2014/2015 Capital Programme 

as at Period 7 (31 October 2014), including highlighting budget changes. 
A budget monitoring report to members is taken to Cabinet Capital 
Assets Committee quarterly in September, December, March and June. 
This report focuses on major variations in budget. 

 
Budget Movements 
 
2. The original budget for 2014/2015 was presented to the Council as part 

of the budget meeting on 25 February 2014. Since that date there have 
been a number of changes to the budget for 2014/2015, largely due to 
reprogramming of budget from 2013/2014 and also into 2015/2016.   
Additional funding has also been made available from grant 
announcements and other various sources. The changes to the budget 
since it was last amended in the Period 4 monitoring report are 
summarised in the table below, a fuller breakdown of the changes made 
at a scheme by scheme level is attached as Appendix A. 

Page 746



Breakdown of Budget Amendments from Period 4 Budget to Period 7 
Budget (as at 31 October) 

 

 £m Notes 

 
Budget Period 4 2014/2015 
 

 
179.943 

 

 
Additions/amendments to the Capital Programme 2014/2015 since Period 4 Budget 

 

 
Additional Budgets added to Programme 
 

 
16.220 

 
See Appendices A and B 
section 1 and 3 for further 
details 
 

 
Government Grant Amendments  
 

 
0.012 

 
See Appendix A for further 
details 
 

Budgets returned to Central Funding (1.037) See Appendix A for further 
details 

 
Budgets reprogrammed from 2014/2015 into 
2015/2016 
 

 
(52.792) 

 
See Appendices A and B 
section 2 for further details 
 

 
Current Budget Period 7 2014/2015  
 

 
142.346 

 

 
3. The budget additions shown above largely reflect increases in funding 

being available and brought into the programme under the Chief 
Financial Officer delegated authority. They largely comprise of additional 
grants from Central Government, Section 106 contributions and other 
contributions used to finance capital spend within the capital programme. 
Further information on the budget movements at an individual scheme 
level is shown in Appendix A and in further detail in Appendix B. 

 
4. As part of this report £1.037 million has been returned to central funding 

for schemes that have now completed or final accounts agreed and 
underspends identified. This budget can be reallocated to other schemes 
in the future. 
 

5. The budgets that have been reprogrammed into 2015/2016 are shown in 
further detail in Appendices A and B, and are also explained in the 
narrative for schemes in Appendix C. 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 747



Summary of Position as at 31 October 2014 
 
6. The current budget for the year 2014/2015 is £142.346 million. Actual 

spend on schemes as at 31 October 2014 was £37.042 million. A full 
breakdown of these figures is attached in Appendix A. 
  

7. At present there are no anticipated significantly overspending schemes.  
 

8. Significant reprogramming of budget into 2015/2016 has taken place in 
this report to reflect when work is due to be carried out across various 
schemes within the programme.  Further reprogramming is anticipated 
across the programme; these areas will be examined with budget 
managers and actioned as part of the next monitoring report in March. 

 
9. The planned reprogramming has been factored into the estimates for the 

Capital Financing budgets. This revenue budget is currently estimated to 
be £1.0 million underspent at the year end mainly due to the 
reprogramming of budgets from 2014/2015 into later years. 
 

10. Further information on the movements undertaken and the forecast 
position of some of the larger schemes is set out in Appendix C, along 
with updates on the capital receipts received during 2014/2015.  
 

Risks Assessment 
 
11. The capital budget for 2014/2015, as detailed in this report, has been 

revised to approximately £142 million. Within any capital programme 
there are a number of potential risks such as from cost overruns or lower 
than expected levels of capital receipts. Such issues will be highlighted 
as soon as they establish themselves through the quarterly reporting 
process. Members may wish to bear in mind that the capital programme 
has been set for four years and therefore risks will be appraised over the 
whole period. 

 
Equality and Diversity Impact of the Proposal 
 
12. None have been identified as arising directly from this report. 
 
Financial Implications 
 
13. This is a report from the Chief Finance Officer and the financial 

implications are discussed in the detail of this report. 
 

Legal Implications 
 
14. None have been identified as arising directly from this report. 
 
Public Health Implications 
 
15. None have been identified as arising directly from this report. 

Page 748



Environmental Implications 
 
16. Wiltshire Council is now included in the Carbon Reduction Commitment 

(CRC); the UK’s mandatory climate change and energy saving scheme. 
The objectives of the scheme are to improve energy efficiency and 
reduce carbon dioxide emissions. It is calculated that 79% of the 
Council’s carbon footprint comes from energy use in buildings. Capital 
schemes therefore have the potential to greatly increase or decrease 
carbon emissions, for example schemes making council buildings more 
energy efficient will reduce the Council’s carbon footprint. There are no 
direct impacts of this report, however there are a number of schemes in 
the capital programme that are planned to enable energy efficiency 
benefits for the council. 

 
Safeguarding Implications 
  
17. None have been identified as arising directly from this report. 
 
 
Michael Hudson 
Associate Director – Finance 

 
 
 
Background Papers  
 

None 
 
Contact Name: 

 
Michael Hudson, Associate Director Finance, ext 13601 
Michael.hudson@wiltshire.gov.uk 
 
Report Author: Stuart Donnelly, Principal Accountant. 

 
Appendices: 

Appendix A – 2014/2015 budget movements and spend to 31 October 
2014 
Appendix B – Delegated authority for budget movements 
Appendix C – Narrative on specific schemes 

Page 749



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 750



Appendix A

Scheme Name Period 4 Budget

Budget 

Movements 

between 

Schemes

Additional 

Budgets added 

to Programme 

(Section 1 

Appendix B)

Grant 

Amendments

Budgets returned 

to Central 

Funding

Budgets 

reprogrammed 

from 2014/2015 

into 2015/2016 

(Section 2 

Appendix B)

Current Budget 

Period 7 

2014/2015

Spend to 31 

October 2014

Spend to 31 

October 2014

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m %

Education Schemes

Sarum Academy Salisbury 1.924 (0.920) 1.004 0.334 33.27%

Basic Need 11.237 (0.736) (4.049) 6.452 1.177 18.24%

Schools Maintenance & Modernisation 7.869 0.025 (2.563) 5.331 2.628 49.30%

Devolved Formula Capital 0.897 0.897 0.530 59.09%

Access and Inclusion 0.657 (0.130) 0.527 0.308 58.44%

DCSF Targeted Capital 14-19 SEN 0.447 (0.060) 0.387 0.283 73.13%

New Schools 9.453 0.896 3.114 (1.850) 11.613 4.148 35.72%

School Expansions & Replacements 1.470 0.127 (0.731) 0.866 0.008 0.92%

Early Years & Childcare 0.288 0.030 0.318 0.075 23.58%

Other Education Schemes 0.120 0.120 0.010 8.33%

Universal Infant Free School Meals Capital 2014-15 1.013 1.013 0.893 88.15%

Total Education Schemes 35.375 (0.005) 3.271 (0.920) (9.193) 28.528 10.394 36.43%

Highways Schemes

Integrated Transport 4.081 (0.929) 3.152 0.584 18.53%

Structural Maintenance (Grant & Council Funded) 21.003 21.003 4.838 23.03%

Highways Severe Weather Recovery Scheme 1.105 1.105 0.000 0.00%

Pothole Fund Grant 3.063 3.063 0.000 0.00%

Bowerhill Portal Way Improvement Works 1.100 1.100 0.000 0.00%

Highway flooding prevention and Land Drainage schemes 1.000 1.000 0.120 12.00%

Aldbourne Flood Alleviation Scheme 0.150 0.150 0.000 0.00%

Flooding Repair & Renewal 0.024 0.024 0.139 579.17%

Additional Highway Works 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.00%

A350 Chippenham (Pinch Point) 1.905 1.905 0.769 40.37%

Bridges 3.000 3.000 0.414 13.80%

Local Sustainable Transport Fund 0.821 0.012 (0.023) 0.810 0.180 22.22%

Street Lighting 1.306 1.306 0.432 33.08%

Salisbury Market Place (inc New Canal and Blue Boar Row) 0.016 0.016 0.156 975.00%

Total Highways Schemes 38.574 0.000 0.000 0.012 (0.023) (0.929) 37.634 7.632 20.28%

Campus and Operational Delivery Schemes

Hub Programme Office Rationalisation 0.000 1.593 1.593 1.373 86.19%

Operational Estate 3.923 (3.065) 0.858 0.357 41.61%

Depot & Office Strategy 0.500 0.001 0.501 0.000 0.00%

Campus - Live Schemes 39.765 1.754 6.073 (17.722) 29.870 5.231 17.51%

Campus - In Development 0.000 0.047 0.047 0.003 6.38%

Total CAOD Schemes 44.188 0.330 6.073 0.000 0.000 (17.722) 32.869 6.964 21.19%

Other Property Schemes

Buildings Repair & Maintenance 3.256 (0.330) 0.003 2.929 0.668 22.81%

Total Property Schemes 3.256 (0.330) 0.003 0.000 0.000 0.000 2.929 0.668 22.81%

Housing Schemes

Disabled Facilities Grants 2.560 2.560 1.370 53.52%

Other Housing Grants 1.948 (1.448) 0.500 0.001 0.20%

Affordable Housing including Commuted Sums 0.937 (0.934) 0.003 0.003 100.00%

Gypsies and Travellers Projects (inc H&S Works) 2.909 4.799 (4.952) 2.756 0.987 35.81%

New Housing 0.454 (0.411) 0.043 0.014 32.56%

HRA - Refurbishment of Council Stock 15.038 (5.169) 9.869 3.383 34.28%

Bungalow Programme 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.00%

Social Care Infrastructure & Strategy 3.190 (2.690) 0.500 0.395 79.00%

Total Housing Schemes 27.036 0.000 4.799 0.000 0.000 (15.604) 16.231 6.153 37.91%

2014/2015 Budget Breakdown

Capital Programme Budget Movements and Spend to 31 October 2014/2015

P
age 751



Appendix A

Scheme Name Period 4 Budget

Budget 

Movements 

between 

Schemes

Additional 

Budgets added 

to Programme 

(Section 1 

Appendix B)

Grant 

Amendments

Budgets returned 

to Central 

Funding

Budgets 

reprogrammed 

from 2014/2015 

into 2015/2016 

(Section 2 

Appendix B)

Current Budget 

Period 7 

2014/2015

Spend to 31 

October 2014

Spend to 31 

October 2014

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m %

2014/2015 Budget Breakdown

Capital Programme Budget Movements and Spend to 31 October 2014/2015

Waste Schemes

Waste Transformation 0.920 (0.159) 0.761 0.622 81.73%

Waste Management 0.057 0.057 0.039 68.42%

Total Waste Schemes 0.977 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 (0.159) 0.818 0.661 80.81%

ICT Schemes

SAP Development 0.627 (0.500) 0.127 0.000 0.00%

SAP Hardward Insourcing & Support 0.000 1.426 (0.254) 1.172 0.000 0.00%

ICT Schemes 5.798 (1.426) (4.372) 0.000 0.000 0.00%

Next Generation Network 0.000 0.300 0.300 0.000 0.00%

Windows 8.1 0.000 0.200 0.200 0.000 0.00%

Total ICT Schemes 6.425 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 (4.626) 1.799 0.000 0.00%

Other Schemes

Carbon Reduction Schemes 2.182 0.070 2.252 0.260 11.55%

Oil to Biomass Schemes 1.563 0.005 1.568 0.336 21.43%

Area Boards and LPSA PRG Reward Grants 0.838 0.838 0.057 6.80%

Other Economic Development Schemes 0.270 (0.081) 0.189 0.003 1.59%

Porton Science Park 0.246 0.246 0.001 0.41%

Rural Estates 0.606 0.606 0.008 1.32%

Wiltshire Online 11.786 0.004 (3.589) 8.201 0.901 10.99%

Fleet Vehicles 3.779 3.779 0.407 10.77%

Passenger Transport Capital 0.413 0.413 0.369 89.35%

Other Schemes including cross cutting systems 0.205 (0.013) 0.192 0.228 118.75%

Public Health Schemes 0.117 0.117 0.000 0.00%

Learning Management System 0.200 (0.036) 0.164 0.000 0.00%

Fitness Equipment for Leisure Centres 0.707 (0.434) 0.273 0.000 0.00%

Salisbury CCTV 0.500 (0.500) 0.000 0.000 0.00%

UTC - Wilton Rd Police Station Site 0.000 2.000 2.000 2.000 100.00%

Churchyards & Cemeteries 0.658 0.658 0.000 0.00%

Libraries, Heritage and Art 0.042 0.042 0.000 0.00%

Total Other Schemes 24.112 0.005 2.074 0.000 (0.094) (4.559) 21.538 4.570 21.22%

Total 2014/2015 Programme 179.943 (0.000) 16.220 0.012 (1.037) (52.792) 142.346 37.042 26.02%

P
age 752



Appendix B

CCAC Meeting

Financial Year: 2014/2015

SECTION 1 - DELEGATED CFO POWERS

Project Name: New Schools

Budget Change: 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017

3,114,132

Funding Source: Contributions towards new primary school at Clackers Brook site received from Diocese of Salisbury & Developers

Project Name: School Expansions & Replacements

Budget Change: 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017

126,872

Funding Source: Section 106 contributions to expansion works at Wyvern College and Laverstock St Josephs

Project Name: Early Years & Childcare

Budget Change: 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017

30,000

Funding Source: Contribution from Pre-School towards capital works

Project Name: Campus - Live Schemes

Budget Change: 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017

6,073,000

Funding Source: Contributions from Wiltshire Police, Developers and various 3rd parties towards Campus projects

Project Name: Buildings Repair & Maintenance

Budget Change: 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017

2,510

Funding Source: Langley Fitzurse School contributuion towards Bell Tower works

Project Name: Gypsies and Travellers Projects (inc H&S Works)

Budget Change: 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017

2,929,014

Funding Source: HCA Grant allocations for phase 1 & 2 works at Thingley, Lode Hill, Fairhaven, Dairyhouse and Oak Tree Field

Project Name: Carbon Reduction Schemes

Budget Change: 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017

70,000

Funding Source: Budget not to be given up as per period 4 report

Project Name: Wiltshire Online

Budget Change: 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017

4,390

Funding Source: Receipts received from sales of reconditioned laptops

12,349,918 Total Delegated Changes Approved by Section 151 Officer

CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER (CFO) - EXERCISE OF DELEGATED POWERS & REQUESTS FOR 

ADDITIONAL RESOURCES WITHIN THE CAPITAL PROGRAMME

16 December 2014

"Adjustment/addition of scheme in the capital programme which has no effect on the net funding position of the programme

i.e. Additional resources available in the form of Grant, Section 106 contributions etc which fund the addition, "

Page 753



Appendix B

CCAC Meeting

Financial Year: 2014/2015

CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER (CFO) - EXERCISE OF DELEGATED POWERS & REQUESTS FOR 

ADDITIONAL RESOURCES WITHIN THE CAPITAL PROGRAMME

16 December 2014

SECTION 2 - DELEGATED CFO POWERS

Project Name: Basic Need

Budget Change: 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017

(4,048,556) 4,048,556

Notes: Reprogramming of Schemes to match anticipated expenditure between financial years

Project Name: Schools Maintenance & Modernisation

Budget Change: 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017

(2,562,766) 2,562,766

Notes:

Project Name: New Schools

Budget Change: 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017

(1,850,000) 1,850,000

Notes:

Project Name: School Expansions & Replacements

Budget Change: 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017

(731,203) 731,203

Notes:

Project Name: Integrated Transport

Budget Change: 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017

(929,000) 929,000

Notes:

Project Name: Campus - Live

Budget Change: 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017

(17,722,609) 17,722,609

Notes:

Project Name: Other Housing Grants

Budget Change: 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017

(1,447,588) 1,447,588

Notes:

Project Name: Affordable Housing including Commuted Sums

Budget Change: 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017

(933,547) 933,547

Notes:

Project Name: Gypsies and Travellers Projects (inc H&S Works)

Budget Change: 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017

(4,952,426) 4,952,426

Notes:

Project Name: New Housing

Budget Change: 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017

(411,129) 411,129

Notes:

Project Name: HRA - Refurbishment of Council Stock

Budget Change: 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017

(5,168,737) 5,168,737

Notes:

Project Name: Social Care Infrastructure & Strategy

Budget Change: 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017

(2,689,993) 2,689,993

Notes:

"Schemes within the capital programme which require the reprogramming of expenditure between years due to scheme 

not progressing as originally anticipated or other circumstances"

Page 754



Appendix B

CCAC Meeting

Financial Year: 2014/2015

CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER (CFO) - EXERCISE OF DELEGATED POWERS & REQUESTS FOR 

ADDITIONAL RESOURCES WITHIN THE CAPITAL PROGRAMME

16 December 2014

Project Name: Waste Transformation

Budget Change: 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017

(158,999) 158,999

Notes:

Project Name: SAP Hardward Insourcing & Support

Budget Change: 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017

(254,000) 254,000

Notes:

Project Name: ICT Schemes

Budget Change: 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017

(4,372,000) 4,372,000

Notes:

Project Name: Wiltshire Online

Budget Change: 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017

(3,589,376) 3,589,376

Notes:

Project Name: Learning Management System

Budget Change: 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017

(35,625) 35,625

Notes:

Project Name: Fitness Equipment for Leisure Centres

Budget Change: 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017

(433,500) 433,500

Notes:

Project Name: Salisbury CCTV

Budget Change: 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017

(500,000) 500,000

Notes:

52,791,054 Total Re-programming between years

Page 755



Appendix B

CCAC Meeting

Financial Year: 2014/2015

CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER (CFO) - EXERCISE OF DELEGATED POWERS & REQUESTS FOR 

ADDITIONAL RESOURCES WITHIN THE CAPITAL PROGRAMME

16 December 2014

SECTION 3 - REQUESTS TO CABINET FOR ADDITIONAL RESOURCES

Project Name: Gypsies and Travellers Projects (inc H&S Works)

Budget Change: 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017

920,000

Funding Source: Wiltshire Council borrowing agreed for phase 1 works at Thingley, Lode Hill and Fairhaven

Project Name: Gypsies and Travellers Projects (inc H&S Works)

Budget Change: 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017

950,000

Funding Source: Wiltshire Council borrowing agreed for phase 2 works at Dairyhouse and Oak Tree Field

Project Name: UTC - Wilton Rd Police Station Site

Budget Change: 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017

2,000,000

Funding Source: Wiltshire Council borrowing agreed to enable the South Wiltshire University Technical College

3,870,000 

In the exercise of my delegated powers (Section 1 and 2), I hereby authorise the amendments to the Capital Programme 

summarised above.

CHIEF FINANCE 

OFFICER:
Michael Hudson

DATE: December 2014

"Adjustment/addition of scheme to the capital programme which places an additional funding requirement on the programme"

Total requests for additional resources

Page 756



 Appendix C 
 

Further Period 7 Information on Schemes in the Capital Programme and Funding 
Sources 
 
Education Schemes 

 
1. Basic Need Schemes are underway at varying stages at a number of school 

sites across Wiltshire. £4.049 million of budget has been reprogrammed into 
2015/2016 to reflect the anticipated cash flows of the projects.  £1.000 million 
of this relates to an expansion scheme at Wellington Academy due for 
completion by September 2015.  Significant reprogramming has also taken 
place for schemes at Downton Primary and Pembroke Park Primary. 

 
2. Schools maintenance and modernisation schemes also continue at varying 

stages across Wiltshire’s schools.  Significant reprogramming has occurred 
on modernisation schemes with £2.563 million budget reprogrammed into 
2015/2016. This includes £0.280 million for a scheme at Stratford-sub-Castle 
and £0.250 million for the amalgamation of Infants and Junior Schools at 
Cricklade St Sampsons. 

 
3. Reprogramming of £1.850 million budget has taken place in the new schools 

scheme relating to the build project at Salisbury Greentrees.  Also £3.114 
million in contributions from Developers and the Diocese have been received 
for the scheme to re-site Forest and Sandridge School at Clackers Brook. 

 
Highways Schemes 

 
4. £0.929 million of reprogramming has taken place on Integrated Transport 

with schemes at Suffers, Needles and Turtle Bridge being delayed until next 
year.  £0.450 million and £0.264 million in orders have been raised with BBLP 
and Atkins respectively so far in 2014/2015. 

 
5. £7.300 million has been certified to the end of September on Structural 

Maintenance Schemes.  Orders to BBLP have been placed to the value of 
£17.000 million and a further £2.800 million to Atkins.  Invoicing from BBLP 
has been slow this year although now up to speed; this year is also unusual 
as we plan to do more work in the second half of the year.  The cost of the 
disposing of Tar bound materials is increasing the cost of some schemes 
significantly which is being examined by Budget Managers. 

 
Campus and Operational Delivery Schemes 

 
6. Corsham Campus is now open following completion of phase 1. The 

approved campus programme is scheduled to be delivered by the end of 
2017.  Campus budgets have been reprogrammed to reflect delivery of the 
schemes and to capture all contributions. Further details are available in the 
“Delivery of the Campus Programme Position Statement” Cabinet report 
dated 11 November 2014. 
 

 
 

Page 757



 Appendix C 
 

Housing Schemes 
 

7. As at period 7 total spend on Gypsy and Traveller Schemes is £0.987 million 
against the current budget of £2.756 million for 2014/2015. Phase 2 of the 
project for Fairhaven and Lode hill are still ongoing with a plan for completion 
at the end of March 2015, there is a slight delay in completing the Thingley 
site which is now planned to complete in June 2015. 
 

8. HRA refurbishment of Council Stock as at 31 October 2014 has expenditure 
and commitments of £3.383 million against the current budget of £9.869 
million. This budget has been reviewed since period 4 and £5.169 million of 
the original £15.038 million budget has been reprogrammed into 2015/2016 
to reflect planned timing of expenditure.  

 
Other Schemes 
 
9. The Wiltshire Online project is well underway with deployment on track. 

Quarterly payments are now being made to BT and grant funds being 
received from BDUK. Significant expenditure will be incurred during 
2014/2015 as the majority of the work takes place and infrastructure is put in 
place across Wiltshire. 

 
Funding of the Capital Programme 

 
10. The capital programme is funded by 3 principal sources; grants & 

contributions, capital receipts and borrowing.  
  

11. Grants and Contributions fund the largest proportion of the programme, the 
total received in these areas as at 31 October 2014 is £33.206 million 
combined, In total it is estimated that around £60.253 million of grants will be 
used to finance the capital programme in 2014/2015. 

 
12. As at the end of October 2014 a total of £5.638 million of income has been 

received from Capital Receipts from the proceeds of fixed asset sales. These 
include general asset disposals such as the sale of Coombe End Court in 
Marlborough plus sales under the Council Housing Right to Buy (RTB) 
scheme. The amount required for the year to balance the capital programme 
is around £17.477 million. This will be monitored closely during the year. 

 
13. Borrowing makes up the final element of financing the capital programme, 

and before any major reprogramming is factored in during later periods, a 
total of around £64.618 million is currently required to be borrowed to fund 
the budget. It is however envisaged that this will drop considerably over the 
coming months as further budgets are reprogrammed into 2015/2016. 

Page 758


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Minutes - Capital Assets Committee
	7 Adoption of Wiltshire Core Strategy
	Appendix 1 - Inspector's Report
	175. Core Policy 57 ‘Ensuring high quality design and place shaping’ draws on a reasonably comprehensive and broad evidence base that includes evolving national policy and documents such as the Urban Design Compendium, the Manual for Streets and the 2009 publication ‘Planning for places - delivering good design through core strategies’.  

	Appendix 2 - adoption text
	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4

	8 Swindon and Wiltshire Local Enterprise Partnership Governance
	SWLEP  Governance - Report - Appendix 1

	9 Wiltshire Local Flood Risk Management Strategy
	Appendix 1 - Strategy

	10 Flood Operational Response Plan
	Appendix 1 - Plan

	11(a) CQC Inspection at Bradbury House and Shared Lives (Adult Placement) Service
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	11(b) Independent Living Fund
	12 Council Tax Base 2015/16
	Appendix 1

	13(a) Revenue Budget Monitoring
	Report 13a - Appx A - Revenue Budget Monitoring
	Report 13a - Appx B - Revenue Budget Monitoring
	Report 13a - Appx C - Revenue Budget Monitoring
	Report 13a - Appx D - Revenue Budget Monitoring

	13(b) Capital Budget Monitoring
	Report 13b - Appx A - Capital Monitoring Report Period 7
	Report 13b - Appx B - Capital Monitoring Report Period 7
	Report 13b - Appx C - Capital Monitoring Report Period 7




